
 
 

 
West Northamptonshire Council 

www.westnorthants.gov.uk  

Council 
A meeting of the Council will be held in the Great Hall, The Guildhall, St 
Giles Street, Northampton, NN1 1DE on Thursday 29 September 2022 at 

6.00 pm 
Councillors are hereby summoned to attend 

 
Agenda  

1.  Apologies for Absence  
 

 
2.  Declarations of Interest  

Members are asked to declare any interest and the nature of that interest which they 
may have in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 
 

 
3.  Minutes of Council (Pages 9 - 24) 

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 30th June 2022. 
  
 

 
4.  Chairman's Announcements  

To receive communications from the Chairman of the Council.  
  
 

 
5.  Public Participation  

(1) Receipt of Petitions (if any) from Local Government Electors for the District 
 
(2) Questions (if any) from the Public 
 

 
6.  Priority Opposition Motion  

Priority Opposition Motion 
  
Proposed: Cllr. Bob Purser  
Seconded: Cllr Wendy Randall  
  
“The level of street rubbish, fly tipping, overflowing waste bins, and bags of refuse 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



waiting to be collected on the streets of Northampton, for example the Wellingborough 
Road, is shocking and out of control, as is fly tipping in rural areas, bringing West 
Northamptonshire into disrepute.  
  
We recognise the efforts of staff to collect rubbish and keep our streets clean, the 
work of neighbourhood wardens and the efforts of many voluntary groups including 
the Litter Wombles and local Councillors.  
  
The causes of this are multiple. Nonetheless the current situation is unacceptable, 
and solutions are urgently needed.  
  
We call on West Northamptonshire Council as a contribution to its aim to be ‘clean 
and green’ to support all who want a clean and tidy town and convene a summit of all 
interested and concerned parties including the Town and Parish Councils to  

       Identify the location of rubbish, fly tipping, overflowing waste bins, and bags of 
refuse and causes of fly-tipping and Identify litter hotspots 

       Develop an education plan for the public especially for areas of high-density 
housing  

       Enforce schedule four of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 where it is 
active in the footprint of the former Northampton Borough Council and address 
the ability to widen its coverage to include the whole of West Northants, 
enabling the Council to seize and remove abandoned trolleys and then charge 
the owners for their return.  

       Promote the use of cameras and legal and other action enforcement action 
available to tackle it.  

       Review the Council’s bulk waste and enforcement of fly tipping regulations in 
both urban and rural settings  

       Improve integration of Council services with that of contractors  
       Review the collection of commercial and domestic rubbish e.g. shops and flats 

putting out bags on the streets, progress in the introduction of recycling bins.  
       Review street cleaning services and its schedule of priority areas.  

  
And to draw up an integrated action plan to clean up West Northamptonshire.” 
 

 
7.  Cabinet Reports and Record of Decisions Taken by the Cabinet (Pages 25 - 106) 

 
 
Items of Business 
 
8.  Cost of Living increase: How West Northamptonshire Council is supporting 

residents (Pages 107 - 116) 
 

 
9.  Annual Report from the Pensions Committee (Pages 117 - 126) 

 
 
10.  Annual Report from the Local Pension Board (Pages 127 - 134) 

 
 
11.  Updates to the Constitution (Pages 135 - 430) 

 
 Page 2



12.  Annual Reports from Overview and Scrutiny (Pages 431 - 458) 
 

 
13.  Proposal to establish a new 250 place, ‘all-through’ Special Educational Needs 

& Disability (SEND) School for pupils with Autistic Spectrum Condition (ASC) at 
Tiffield St John’s site, Tiffield (Pages 459 - 464) 
 

 
14.  Exclusion of Press and Public  

The following report(s) contain exempt information as defined in the following 
paragraph(s) of Part 1, Schedule 12A of Local Government Act 1972. 
  
Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information).  
  
Members are reminded that whilst the following item(s) have been marked as exempt, 
it is for the meeting to decide whether or not to consider each of them in private or in 
public. In making the decision, members should balance the interests of individuals or 
the Council itself in having access to the information. In considering their discretion 
members should also be mindful of the advice of Council Officers.  
  
Should Members decide not to make a decision in public, they are recommended to 
resolve as follows:  
  
“That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the public and press be 
excluded from the meeting for the following item(s) of business on the grounds that, if 
the public and press were present, it would be likely that exempt information falling 
under the provisions of Schedule 12A, Part I, Paragraph 3 would be disclosed to 
them, and that in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.” 
 

 
15.  Death management and related services (Pages 465 - 478) 

 
 
Return to Public Session 
 
16.  Motions  

To debate any motions which have been submitted with advance notice, in 
accordance with the Council’s Procedure Rules.  
  
Motion 1 
  
Proposed by:  Cllr Sally Beardsworth  
Seconded by: Cllr Rose Humphreys  
  
“Council notes the significant challenge that inflation and staggeringly high energy 
price rises are having on West Northamptonshire’s residents.    
  
Council further notes that the rise in the energy cap will make the situation far worse 
for many, and in some cases potentially unmanageable.  
  
Without suitable support and potential early intervention where necessary, West Page 3



Northants council could face additional pressures on its services in the future.  Taking 
an early, broad and proactive approach is a prudent measure to help prevent this 
situation emerging.  
  
We acknowledge the report presented to Cabinet on 13th September however fine 
words alone will not suffice and believe that this council must act urgently to do all that 
it can to generate and promote actions to support those most in need through this 
cost-of-living crisis.  
  
Council therefore resolves to:  
  

       Establish, with immediate effect, a cross-party Cost of Living Task Force, as 
part of the Anti-Poverty working group, to explore how this council can do all 
that it can to identify further potential ideas and options to support residents 
who are most in need during this particularly challenging time.  

       This ‘task force’ should ideally include representation from all relevant council 
directorates, multi-agency and voluntary sector representation from across 
West Northamptonshire and the group’s membership/terms of reference 
reviewed and/or clearly established.  

       Ensure that the first meeting of this group takes place within the first two weeks 
of October and is run, initially, in the form of a workshop to ensure that ideas 
are translated into solid actions, rapidly.  The group will further meet monthly 
schedule of for the following six months to review and track progress.“ 

  
Motion 2  
  
Proposed: Cllr. Danielle Stone  
Seconded: Cllr. Emma Roberts  
  
“Personal budgets have been a success for many disabled people but there are areas 
of improvement that need addressing.   
  
The culture of fear that disabled residents face. 
  
This arises from judgements made about the decisions disabled people might make, 
or pragmatic choices made because of contextual factors.  
  
The culture of blame that disabled residents face.  
  
The market is beset with the perennial problems of low pay and poor conditions. 
Carers are leaving their jobs for better remunerated work in supermarkets and 
warehouses.  
  
In turn, our disabled residents face the stress of finding and paying for their care in a 
broken market. As well as blame for budgeting issues arising from having to navigate 
a broken system during a financial crisis.  
  
There are simple measures that can alleviate both of these issues:  
  
Training must be offered to practitioners to ensure we dispel the cultures of fear and 
blame.  
  
Adopting a more flexible approach to the provision of care using a combination of self-
employed personal assistants, directly employed, local authority staff and agency staff 
where needed will be helpful.  Page 4



  
The Council therefore asks Cabinet to commit to:  

1.     Training to reduce the culture of fear and blame 
2.     Co- producing with disabled people a strategy based on a social model of care.  
3.     Adopting flexible models of care provision and where direct care is the chosen 

option a process must be in place to support the client as the employer.” 
 

 
17.  Urgent Business (previously agreed with the Chairman)  

The Chairman to advise whether they have agreed to any items of urgent business 
being admitted to the agenda. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Catherine Whitehead 
Proper Officer 
21 September 2022 
 
 
Council Members: 

Councillor André González De Savage 
(Chairman) 
 

Councillor John Shephard (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Ann Addison 
Councillor Rufia Ashraf 

Councillor Jamal Alwahabi 

Councillor Azizur Rahman Councillor Anthony S. Bagot-Webb 
Councillor Fiona Baker Councillor Dermot Bambridge 
Councillor Harry Barrett Councillor William Barter 
Councillor Sally Beardsworth Councillor Phil Bignell 
Councillor Lizzy Bowen Councillor Rebecca Breese 
Councillor Adam Brown Councillor Michael Brown 
Councillor Muna Cali Councillor Alan Chantler 
Councillor Pinder Chauhan Councillor Nazim Choudary 
Councillor Imran Ahmed Chowdhury BEM Councillor Paul Clark 
Councillor Stephen Clarke Councillor Maggie Clubley 
Councillor Fiona Cole Councillor Raymond Connolly 
Councillor Karen Cooper Councillor Daniel Cribbin 
Councillor Julie Davenport Councillor Janice Duffy 
Councillor Paul Dyball Councillor Gareth Eales 
Councillor Terrie Eales Councillor Alison Eastwood 
Councillor Penelope Flavell Councillor Louisa Fowler Page 5



Councillor Rupert Frost Councillor Jo Gilford 
Councillor Terry Gilford Councillor Matt Golby 
Councillor Andrew Grant Councillor Mike Hallam 
Councillor Enam Haque Councillor Lauryn Harrington-Carter 
Councillor Jonathan Harris Councillor Cheryl Hawes 
Councillor Rosie Herring Councillor Stephen Hibbert 
Councillor James Hill Councillor Nigel Hinch 
Councillor Keith Holland-Delamere Councillor Mark Hughes 
Councillor Rosie Humphreys Councillor Cecile Irving-Swift 
Councillor David James Councillor Koulla Jolley 
Councillor Paul Joyce Councillor Andrew Kilbride 
Councillor Anna King Councillor Jamie Lane 
Councillor Phil Larratt Councillor Daniel Lister 
Councillor Malcolm Longley Councillor Greg Lunn 
Councillor Charles Manners Councillor Peter Matten 
Councillor Ian McCord Councillor Dennis Meredith 
Councillor Colin Morgan Councillor Charles Morton 
Councillor Jonathan Nunn Councillor Kevin Parker 
Councillor Suresh Patel Councillor Ken Pritchard 
Councillor Bob Purser Councillor Wendy Randall 
Councillor Emma Roberts Councillor Jake Roberts 
Councillor Sam Rumens Councillor Cathrine Russell 
Councillor Lisa Samiotis Councillor Brian Sargeant 
Councillor Sue Sharps Councillor Zoe Smith 
Councillor David Smith Councillor Laura Stevenson 
Councillor Richard Solesbury-Timms Councillor Winston Strachan 
Councillor Danielle Stone Councillor Walter Tarasiewicz 
Councillor Nick Sturges-Alex  
Councillor Mike Warren  
 
 
 
 
Information about this Agenda 
 
Apologies for Absence 
Apologies for absence and the appointment of substitute Members should be notified to 
democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk prior to the start of the meeting.  
 
 
Declarations of Interest 
Members are asked to declare interests at item 2 on the agenda or if arriving after the start Page 6

mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk


 

of the meeting, at the start of the relevant agenda item 
 
 
Local Government and Finance Act 1992 – Budget Setting, Contracts & 
Supplementary Estimates 
Members are reminded that any member who is two months in arrears with Council Tax 
must declare that fact and may speak but not vote on any decision which involves budget 
setting, extending or agreeing contracts or incurring expenditure not provided for in the 
agreed budget for a given year and could affect calculations on the level of Council Tax. 
 
 
Evacuation Procedure 
If a continuous fire alarm sounds you must evacuate the building via the nearest available 
fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to the assembly area as directed by 
Democratic Services staff and await further instructions.  
 
 
Access to Meetings 
If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of these papers or 
special access facilities) please contact the officer named below, giving as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 
 
 
Mobile Phones 
Please ensure that any device is switched to silent operation or switched off. 
 
 
Queries Regarding this Agenda 
If you have any queries about this agenda please contact Democratic Services via the 
following:  
 
Email: democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk  
 
Or by writing to:  
 
West Northamptonshire Council 
One Angel Square 
Angel Street 
Northampton 
NN1 1ED 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

Council 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Council held at Great Hall, The Guildhall, St Giles Street, 
Northampton, NN1 1DE on Thursday 30 June 2022 at 6.00 pm. 
 
Present Councillor Andre Gonzalez De Savage (Chairman) 

Councillor John Shephard (Vice-Chairman) 
 Councillor Ann Addison 

Councillor Rufia Ashraf 
Councillor Jamal Alwahabi 
Councillor Azizur Rahman 
Councillor Anthony S. Bagot-Webb 
Councillor Dermot Bambridge 
Councillor Harry Barrett 
Councillor William Barter 
Councillor Sally Beardsworth 
Councillor Lizzy Bowen 
Councillor Rebecca Breese 
Councillor Adam Brown 
Councillor Michael Brown 
Councillor Muna Cali 
Councillor Nazim Choudary 
Councillor Imran Ahmed Chowdhury BEM 
Councillor Paul Clark 
Councillor Stephen Clarke 
Councillor Maggie Clubley 
Councillor Fiona Cole 
Councillor Raymond Connolly 
Councillor Daniel Cribbin 
Councillor Janice Duffy 
Councillor Penelope Flavell 
Councillor Louisa Fowler 
Councillor Rupert Frost 
Councillor Jo Gilford 
Councillor Mike Hallam 
Councillor Enam Haque 
Councillor Lauryn Harrington-Carter 
Councillor Jonathan Harris 
Councillor Stephen Hibbert 
Councillor James Hill 
Councillor Keith Holland-Delamere 
Councillor Mark Hughes 
Councillor Rosie Humphreys 
Councillor Cecile Irving-Swift 
Councillor David James 
Councillor Paul Joyce 
Councillor Andrew Kilbride 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



Council - 30 June 2022 
 

Councillor Jamie Lane 
Councillor Phil Larratt 
Councillor Daniel Lister 
Councillor Malcolm Longley 
Councillor Greg Lunn 
Councillor Peter Matten 
Councillor Ian McCord 
Councillor Dennis Meredith 
Councillor Charles Morton 
Councillor Jonathan Nunn 
Councillor Kevin Parker 
Councillor Suresh Patel 
Councillor Bob Purser 
Councillor Wendy Randall 
Councillor Emma Roberts 
Councillor Jake Roberts 
Councillor Sam Rumens 
Councillor Cathrine Russell 
Councillor Lisa Samiotis 
Councillor Brian Sargeant 
Councillor Sue Sharps 
Councillor Zoe Smith 
Councillor Laura Stevenson 
Councillor Danielle Stone 
Councillor Winston Strachan 
Councillor Nick Sturges-Alex 
Councillor Walter Tarasiewicz 
Councillor Mike Warren 
 

Apologies 
for 
Absence: 
 

Councillor Fiona Baker 
Councillor Phil Bignell 
Councillor Alan Chantler 
Councillor Pinder Chauhan 
Councillor Karen Cooper 
Councillor Julie Davenport 
Councillor Paul Dyball 
Councillor Gareth Eales 
Councillor Terrie Eales 
Councillor Alison Eastwood 
Councillor Terry Gilford 
Councillor Matt Golby 
Councillor Andrew Grant 
Councillor Cheryl Hawes 
Councillor Rosie Herring 
Councillor Nigel Hinch 
Councillor Koulla Jolley 
Councillor Anna King 
Councillor Charles Manners 
Councillor Colin Morgan 
Councillor Ken Pritchard 

Page 10



Council - 30 June 2022 
 

Councillor David Smith 
Councillor Richard Solesbury-Timms 

Officers   
 

33. Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Baker, Bignell, Chauhan, 
Chantler, Cooper, Davenport, Dyball, Eastwood, G Eales, T Eales, T Gilford, Golby, 
Grant, Hawes, Herring, Hinch, Jolley, King, Manners, Morgan, Pritchard, Z Smith, 
and Solesbury-Timms. 
 

34. Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest by Members. 
 

35. Minutes of Council  
 
Subject to the addition that Councillor Barter was absent and sent apologies to the 
meeting, the minutes of the annual meeting of Council held on 19th May 2022 were 
agreed and signed by the Chairman. 
 

36. Chairman's Announcements  
 
The Chairman announced the sad passing of former South Northamptonshire District 
Councillor and Northamptonshire County Councillor Ian Morris, following a short 
illness. Ian was elected to South Northamptonshire District Council in 2011 and 
served until 2017. He was a member of Northamptonshire County Council from 2013 
until 2021. He served in a number of roles, notably as Cabinet Member for Transport, 
Highways, Environment and Public Protection and then as Cabinet Member for Adult 
Social Care and Public Health, a role which saw him play a prominent part in the 
management of the COVID 19 pandemic in the county. On South Northamptonshire 
Council he served on a number of committees, including Policy Review and 
Development, Community and Resources and the Scrutiny Committee. 
  
The Chairman also announced the sad passing of former Northamptonshire County 
Councillor Rosemary Bromwich. She represented the Towcester division on 
Northamptonshire County Council from 1997 to 2012. She served as Cabinet 
Member for Community Services from 2005 to 2006 and then as Cabinet Member for 
Adult Care from 2007 to 2009. She was Chairman of the Council from 2010 to 2011 
and also served on the Police Authority. Rosemary was married to Nick and had two 
children, Janice and Neil and two grandchildren, James and Poppy. 
  
Jo Gordon, on behalf of the Royal & Derngate Theatre, addressed Council and gave 
a reading in honour of former Councillor Morris and highlighted some of the important 
work he did for the theatre.  
  
Councillor Bowen recalled memories of working with former Councillor Morris when 
she first became an elected member and subsequent years and expressed her 
heartfelt sadness over the loss of a dear friend. 
  

Page 11



Council - 30 June 2022 
 

Councillor Randall offered her condolences to the family of former Councillor Morris 
on behalf of the Labour group. 
  
Councillor Beardsworth commented that former Councillor Morris was always a kind 
and personable man; she was shocked to discover of his passing and said that he 
would be sorely missed. 
  
Councillor Meredith expressed his shock and sadness at the passing of former 
Councillor Morris; he would remember him fondly and offered his condolences to 
Councillor Morris’s family. 
  
The Chairman led Council in a minute’s applause in honour of former Councillors Ian 
Morris and Rosemary Bromwich.  
  
The Chairman advised that he had written to former Councillor Morris’s family on 
behalf of the Council, and that details of a memorial service had been circulated to all 
Members, and that further information around the memorial service was available on 
Councillor Morris’s Facebook page. 
  
The Chairman stated that he and the Vice-Chairman had had the pleasure of 
representing Council at a number of other events, including numerous Queen’s 
Jubilee events, Windrush Day, Northampton Pride, Armed Forces Day, and 
Northampton Carnival. He was also very pleased to greet the Duke of Gloucester this 
morning at Northampton Museum and Art Gallery, and asked Members to please get 
in touch with the Chairman’s administration team if they had events that they would 
like the Chairman to attend. 
  
The Vice-Chairman commended the Mayor of Northampton in respect of a reception 
that he arranged on 23rd June for Ukrainian Constitution Day 
  
The Chairman reminded Council that the Mayor of Northampton was completing a 
sponsored walk around Abington Park on 30th July to raise money for his chosen 
charity and asked Members to give their support. 
 

37. Public Participation  
 

(1) The Chairman advised of 1 request to submit a petition. 
 
Hayley Moore presented a petition which related to the safety of Towcester Road and 
commented that she had witnessed the accident that had taken place on 10th June, 
as well as many instances of dangerous driving beforehand. She stated that calming 
measures on the road needed introducing, including reducing the limit to 30mph. 
 
Councillor Larratt, as the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport, Highways and 
Waste, confirmed that a written response to the petition would be provided in due 
course, and that all aspects of road safety in the area would be thoroughly 
investigated. 
 

Page 12



Council - 30 June 2022 
 

(2) There was 1 question from a member of the public. A response from the 
relevant Cabinet Member had been provided and no supplementary question 
was asked. 

 
38. Priority Opposition Motion  

 
Councillor Randall proposed and Councillor Purser seconded: 
 
“The West Northamptonshire Council wishes to re-assert the importance of the 
‘Nolan principles’ of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, 
honesty and leadership for all in public life. These principles serve as the foundations 
of our Councillor Code of Conduct and underpin how Councillors must behave when 
carrying out their duties.  
 
The honour of becoming an elected representative comes with the responsibility of 
maintaining and building the confidence in which the democratic political process is 
held, both for central and local governments. These principles guide not only how 
decisions and functions are carried out by elected members, but also how they treat 
officers, the public and their colleagues. 
 
In light of the attention these principles are receiving locally and nationally, this 
Council therefore notes: 

• The seven Nolan Principles of Public Life (selflessness, integrity, objectivity, 
accountability, openness, honesty, and leadership) underpin the conduct and 
behaviour expected of our elected representatives nationally and locally.  

• The obligation as a Council and as individual Councillors to adhere to these 
principles at all times.  

This Council resolves: 
• To defend and protect these principles as a matter of duty, so as to maintain 

and build the confidence of residents in their democratic institutions. 
• That members should confront and report actions or omissions by other 

members of this council that appear to be contrary to the Code of Conduct 
adopted by the Council, which includes and reflects the Nolan Principles. 

 
Councillor Nunn, as Leader, responded by noting that adherence to the Nolan 
Principles of Public Life was set out in the Members’ Code of Conduct within the 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution and stated that he and his group felt 
that the motion was a wasted opportunity, when the opposition group could have put 
forward suggestions and ideas for Council and the administration to work towards. 
 
Councillor Randall commented that residents of West Northamptonshire felt angry 
and let down by recent events in central government and that the motion was put 
forward to reassure residents that the Nolan Principles of Public Life were adhered to 
by Members of West Northamptonshire Council. 
 
Upon requisition of a vote, the motion was carried. 
 

39. Cabinet Reports and Record of Decisions Taken by the Cabinet  
 

Page 13



Council - 30 June 2022 
 

Councillor Nunn presented his report as Leader of the Council and highlighted the 
salient points. In response to questions, the Leader confirmed that he would raise 
issues relating to the Council’s website to the relevant people. He advised that there 
was no intention from the administration to increase councillor allowances; a review 
had recently taken place. He also confirmed that he was happy for Cabinet to receive 
Scrutiny reports and updates in any format. 
 
Councillor Brown presented his report as Deputy Leader of the Council and 
highlighted the salient points. In response to questions, he confirmed that the housing 
enforcement team were working through their list of suspected illegal HMO properties 
to ascertain their status. He further confirmed that he had no intention, as the Cabinet 
Member for Housing, to participate in the government’s Right to Buy scheme. He 
reiterated comments made in respect of the great work by Northamptonshire Fire & 
Rescue and the Highways department for quicky responding to a fire at Far Cotton. 
In respect of safe public spaces for women who were non-English speakers, the 
Deputy Leader stated that he would be happy to work with anyone to look at more 
venues, and in respect of councillors who were HMO landlords, he advised that they 
were required to declare these properties on their Register of Interests. 
 
Councillor Breese presented her report as Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, 
Built Environment and Rural Affairs and highlighted the salient points. In response to 
questions, she advised that any policy changes in respect of the Northampton Local 
Plan would reverse its progress by several years. A number of successful 
appointments had been made in the Development Management team and with 
regard to outstanding CIL and Section 106 issues relating to predecessor authorities, 
she confirmed that it would take another month to determine the scope of these 
issues. With regards to a question around the Employment Sites SPD 
(Supplementary Planning Document) and the reference point at Swan Valley, 
Junction 15A, this was raised at the Planning Policy Committee on 28th June as a 
reference point as not being acknowledged and further work would be done around 
this point during the forthcoming consultation exercise. With regard to proposed unit 
sizes, she noted that the large units were also raised at the Planning Policy 
Committee meeting; the existence of a “large” unit must be acknowledged following 
“small” and “medium”, however there was no intention to build large units. 
 
In Councillor Baker’s absence, Councillor Nunn presented her report and highlighted 
the salient points. He advised that Ofsted reports were published on the Ofsted 
website. Further questions would be taken to Councillor Baker, as Cabinet Member 
for Children, Families and Education, for a response in due course. 
 
In Councillor Smith’s absence, Councillor Nunn presented his report and highlighted 
the salient points. In response to questions, he confirmed that Neighbourhood 
Wardens were valued and supported, and would welcome talks with anyone 
regarding new ideas for partnership working around community safety. Regarding the 
issuing of Private Hire Vehicle licences, he stated that the Council’s fundamental 
principle as a regulatory authority was to keep people safe in taxis and said that he 
would investigate enquiries around slowness of service. He echoed comments 
around the success of the Knife Angel project. In terms of gender-neutral language 
used throughout the authority, the Leader welcomed the idea of further discussions 
taking place with groups such as young people and the LGBTQ+ society and 

Page 14



Council - 30 June 2022 
 

congratulated those involved in Pride for organising such a successful event. 
Regarding the Community Safety Strategy, the Leader assured Council that the 
whole of West Northamptonshire was referenced in reports where applicable, unless 
there were specific, Northampton-related issues that were being reported. 
 
Councillor Lister submitted his report as Cabinet Member for Economic Development, 
Town Centre Regeneration and Growth and highlighted the salient points. 
 
Due to the time limit applicable to this item, the remaining reports were noted. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
Council noted the Cabinet Member Reports and the decision records from 12th April 
2022, 3rd May 2022, and 14th June 2022. 
 

40. Integrated Care System and future role of the Health and Wellbeing Board  
 
Councillor Nunn presented and proposed the report which sought to update Council 
on progress towards the Northamptonshire Integrated Care System (ICS) and to gain 
Council’s support for its planned implementation as described in the report. The 
report also asked Members to note the nomination process for the Council’s 
representative on the Integrated Care Board (ICB), to approve the West Health and 
Wellbeing Board Terms of Reference for the ICS, to note the chairing arrangements 
for the Integrated Care Partnership Board, to note the proposed governance structure 
for the Integrated Care Partnership (West Place), to note the proposed Local Area 
Partnerships (LAPs) for the West Place as part of the ICP, and to note the proposal 
for one elected member per unitary ward to sit on LAPs. 
 
Councillor Brown seconded the report. 
 
Members made comments as follows: 

• A multi-agency approach was the best way to make a significant difference to 
the benefit of residents 

• Members had concerns around back-door privatisation 
• Members should be aware of how big the job would be before putting 

themselves forward for it 
• Ward Members should have conversations with each other to determine who 

would be the most appropriate to sit on LAPs. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
Council: 
 

(a) Noted the nomination process for West Northamptonshire Council’s 
representative on the Integrated Care Board (ICB) which was approved by 
Cabinet on the 14th June 2022 is subject to Page 96 strict legal requirements 
and that the nomination will be made by the Leader of the Council in 
consultation with the Director of Legal and Democratic Services.  

(b) Approved the West Health and Wellbeing Board Terms of Reference for the 
Integrated Care System from the 1st July 2022. 

Page 15



Council - 30 June 2022 
 

(c) Noted the proposed governance structure for the Integrated Care Partnership 
(West Place) which were approved at the Integrated Care Partnership Shadow 
Board on the 31st May 2022 and the West Health and Wellbeing Board on the 
7th June 2022  

(d) Noted the chairing arrangements for the Integrated Care Partnership Board.  
(e) Noted the proposed Local Area Partnerships (LAP’s) for the West Place as 

part of the ICP following consultation with stakeholders 
(f) Noted the proposal for one elected member per unitary ward to sit on each of 

the nine Local Area Partnerships.  
(g) Noted that further updates would be presented to Cabinet, Council and People 

Scrutiny as the ICS developed to ensure the Council had appropriate 
oversight. 

 
41. Local Government Boundary Review: Council Size Submission  

 
Councillor Hallam presented and proposed the report which sought Council’s 
agreement of the draft council size submission as recommended by the Democracy 
and Standards Committee meeting at their meeting held on 16th June 2022, and to 
note that the report did not consider warding numbers, patterns or size, which would 
be the subject of the next stage of the review. 
 
Councillor Patel seconded the report. 
 
Members made comment as follows: 

• Concern was raised regarding the likely increase in Member workloads 
following devolution 

• Officers and members of the working group were praised for the work that 
went into producing the report 

• More consideration should have been given to where Members would be 
placed and how ward proportions were worked out 

• Due to the diversity of areas across West Northamptonshire, even a small 
increase in residents falling under a new ward could equate to several streets 
in one location, or an entire village in another. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
Council: 
 

(a) Noted the work of the cross-party working group and the Democracy and 
Standards Committee on the first phase of electoral arrangements for West 
Northamptonshire; 

(b) Approved the submission document set out at Appendix A of the report for 
submission to the LGBCE;  

(c) Approved a council size number of the Committee’s recommended range of 
77-82 councillors; and 

(d) Delegated authority to the Director of Legal and Democratic Services in 
consultation with the Chair of the Democracy and Standards Committee to 
make any amendments to the proposed submission to the LGBCE and to 
finalise the appendices to the submission in light of any comments from the 
Council and any minor or typographical changes identified. 

Page 16



Council - 30 June 2022 
 

 
42. Annual Report from the Audit Committee  

 
Councillor Irving-Swift presented and proposed the report which sought to advise 
Council on the activities of the Audit and Governance Committee over the financial 
year 2021-22. 
 
Councillor Hughes seconded the report. 
 
Councillors made comments as follows: 

• The Audit and Governance Committee was a good place to gauge the health 
of the authority 

• Some Members felt that the Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee 
should be independent/of an opposition party 

• Concern was raised around the lack of resources in the Finance Department 
• The current Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee was doing a good 

job and had no issue with challenging colleagues in the same political group 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
Council considered the Audit and Governance Committee Annual report which was 
considered and endorsed by the Audit and Governance Committee at their meeting 
held on the 22 June 2022. 
 

43. Annual Report 2021/2022 of the Democracy and Standards Committee  
 
Councillor Patel presented and proposed the report which sought to advise Council 
on the Annual Report of the Democracy and Standards Committee for 2021/2022. 
The report noted the work undertaken by the Committee over its first year. 
 
Councillor Irving-Swift seconded the report. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
Council: 
  

a) Noted the Annual Report 2021/2022 of the Democracy and Standards 
Committee. 

 
44. Updates to the Constitution  

 
Councillor Patel presented and proposed the report which sought to provide an 
update on behalf of the Democracy & Standards Committee on a number of minor 
updates to the Constitution made by the Monitoring Officer under delegated authority, 
to propose revised arrangements for Priority Opposition Motions set out at Paragraph 
26 of the Council Procedure Rules, and to recommend the revised Constitution for 
adoption. 
 
Councillor Brown seconded the report. 
 

Page 17



Council - 30 June 2022 
 

The Chairman notified Council that an amendment had been submitted by the Labour 
group, copies of which had been circulated to Members. 
 
Councillor Randall moved, and Councillor Purser seconded the amendment. 
 
Members debated the amendment and made comments as follows: 

• The recommendations as set out in the original report were representative and 
democratic; it was important that different perspectives were heard. 

• Some Members felt that it was undemocratic to suggest that only the main 
opposition group should get a chance to put forward the main opposition 
motion 

 
Upon requisition of a vote the amendment was carried, and the recommendations as 
amended were approved. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
Council: 
 

a) Noted and approve the updates to the Constitution as set out in Section 5, with 
the exception of the revised arrangements at 5.2, and 

b) Rejected the recommendation of the Democracy and Standards Committee in 
relation to 5.2.9 of the report and instead asked the Committee to reconsider 
the recommendation. 

 
45. Weston Favell Health and Wellbeing Hub  

 
Councillor Lister presented and proposed the report which sought to update Council 
on the Weston Favell Health and Wellbeing project, and to seek approval from 
Council to fund £25.1m towards the costs for the Weston Favell Health and 
Wellbeing Hub project, subject to the project being successful in its Levelling Up 
Fund (LUF) application for £20m. 
 
Councillor Frost seconded the report. 
 
Members made comments as follows: 

• Some Members stated that they would like all councillors and voluntary 
organisations involved in the project to be consulted sooner in the process 

• Public transport to and from Weston Favell from other parts of the town would 
need to be increased to cope with the anticipated increase in demand, as well 
as other areas of infrastructure. 

• Affordability was key when developing the plan for the Hub and people from all 
walks of life would be welcome. 

• Some Members raised concern around setting the Council’s budget around 
decisions that had already been taken. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
Council: 
 

Page 18



Council - 30 June 2022 
 

a) Noted the progress made to date on the Weston Favell Health and Wellbeing 
Hub. 

b) Approved in principle West Northamptonshire Council capital funding of 
£25.1m (for the financial year 23/24) for the Weston Favell Health and 
Wellbeing Hub, subject  

• to the bid to the Levelling Up Fund being successful and;  
• to a final delegated decision by the Executive Director of Finance with 

the benefit of a full business case in consultation with the Executive 
Director of Place, Economy and Environment; the Director of Legal and 
Democratic Services, the Cabinet Member for Finance and Cabinet 
Member for Economic Devleopment, Town Centre Regeneration and 
Growth. 

c) Noted the use of £0.25m pipeline projects one off revenue budget to continue 
to develop the Weston Favell Health and Wellbeing Hub project ahead of the 
announcement of the Levelling Up Fund in late 2022. 

 
46. Chief Officer Appointments  

 
Councillor Hallam presented and proposed the report which sought Council’s 
approval for the appointment of Sally Burns as Director of Public Health (DPH) for 
West Northamptonshire Council and for a proposed remuneration package in excess 
of £100,000. 
 
Councillor Nunn seconded the report. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. Council approved the proposed appointment and remuneration. 
 

47. Motions  
 
Motion 1 
 
Councillor Parker proposed and Councillor Irving-Swift seconded: 
 
“This Council recognises the importance of green spaces, and more importantly, 
green spaces which are accessible to all, physically and financially.  
 
Within West Northamptonshire Council, we have Brixworth Country Park, and  
Daventry Country Park both offering the chance to engage in both physical and 
mental health activities, with Daventry including open water swimming during the 
summer months, and also the Brampton Valley Way which is part of the Sustrans 
national cycle network. These are all great places for families and individuals alike 
where all can enjoy the benefits of physical activity and mental wellbeing.  
 
However, this council notes that there are disparities in the fees charged at the 
various country parks and recommends that a review is undertaken in order to 
thoroughly analyse the costs, the harmonising of charges and to consider as and 
when to implement as necessary.” 
 

Page 19



Council - 30 June 2022 
 

Councillor Harris proposed and Councillor Beardsworth seconded an amendment to 
the motion. 
 
Amended motion to read: 
 
“This Council recognises the importance of green spaces, and more importantly, 
green spaces which are accessible to all, physically and financially.   
 
“Within West Northamptonshire Council, we have Brixworth Country Park, and 
Daventry Country Park both offering the chance to engage in both physical and 
mental health activities, with Daventry including open water swimming during the 
summer months, and also the Brampton Valley Way which is part of the Sustrans 
national cycle network. These are all great places for families and individuals alike 
where all can enjoy the benefits of physical activity and mental wellbeing. 
 
However, this council notes that there are disparities in the fees charged at the 
various country parks. 
 
This council therefore proposes to: 
 
Undertake a review to thoroughly analyse and review pricing structures to create 
parity, implement outcomes as necessary, to include free parking access for Blue 
Badge holders.  
 
Explore wider options for a short-term minimum parking window to enable those 
taking part in park run activities to be able to pay a pro-rata rate for an hour rather 
than a full 4-hour fee.  
 
Through an invest to save analysis, explore wider use of technology, which could 
potentially utilise ANPR, for example.” 
 
Councillor Parker accepted the amendment to the motion. 
 
Members debated the motion and made the following comments: 

• Motions could be put forward by any member of any political group 
• The issue was too complicated with too many factors to be dealt with by a 

motion 
• Residents should be encouraged to visit parks, however, inherited disparities 

between parking rates would drive some away and needed resolving 
• A budgeted strategy was needed; there were also disparities amongst car 

parks in Northampton town centre due to similar reasons that were losing the 
town money 

 
Upon requisition of a vote, the motion as amended was carried. 
 
Motion 2 
 
Councillor Harris proposed and Councillor Humphreys seconded: 
 

Page 20



Council - 30 June 2022 
 

“On 1 April 2022, Ofgem increased the energy price cap by 54%. In light of the 
increased energy price cap, the average standard tariff energy bill will increase by 
£693 per year. The average pre-pay meter energy bill will increase by £708 per year 
(Ofgem, 2022). 
 
On 6 April 2022, the Government increased National Insurance by 1.25 percentage 
points, which is projected to cost the average West Northants family an additional 
£108 per year.  
 
The Government has suspended the pensions ‘triple lock’ for 2022/3, meaning that 
pensioners will see a rise of 3.1% this year (instead of 8.3% under the triple lock 
formula). This year, this will cost a West Northants resident on the full new state 
pension an average of £487. 
 
Whilst the government finally, and belatedly, has imposed a ‘Windfall Tax’ on the 
super profits of oil and gas companies (proposed initially by the Liberal Democrats 
last year and subsequently Labour), it still will not be sufficient for many residents of 
West Northamptonshire with the cap rising again this coming Autumn.  
 
The recent ‘State of Hunger’ report from the Trussell Trust provides for shocking 
reading: 

• 49% increase in the number of children supported by a food bank in the 
Trussell Trust network between 2018/19 and 2019/20 

• 700,000 households used a food bank in 2019/20. The proportion of couples 
with children referred to a food bank increased from 19% in early 2020 to 24% 
during the Covid-19 pandemic in mid-2020. 

• 6 in 10 of working age people referred to a food bank in early 2020 had a 
disability, over three times more than in the general population 

• 95% of people referred to food banks are destitute 
• Food bank use is driven by economic need – that is, not having enough 

money to buy food once essential bills have been paid. 
 
The report goes on to indicate a key contributing factor and two background factors 
contributing to the significant growth of food bank use: 

• The main factor is linked to Universal credit; people having to wait 5 weeks for 
the first UC payment, very low rate of standard UC allowance, deductions from 
UC to repay UC advances and other dates, low Local Housing Allowance 
(LHA) rates and LHA caps, ‘bedroom tax’ and the structure and process of the 
Personal Independence Payment (PIP) assessment. 

• The contributing factors – ill health or adverse life experiences (such as 
household separation or eviction) and the lack of informal and/or formal 
support. 

 
This Council therefore declares a ‘Cost of Living Emergency’ and calls on the 
Government to: 

1. Immediately reduce the standard rate of VAT from 20% to 17.5% for one year, 
saving the average West Northants household a further £600 this year 

2. Immediately re-introduce the pensions triple lock to support West 
Northamptonshire’s pensioners. 

Page 21



Council - 30 June 2022 
 

3. Urgently review the effectiveness of the Social Security system and restore the 
£20 per week Universal Credit cut. 

 
 And furthermore to: 

4. Create a cross-party oversight/working group to work with council officers to 
generate ideas and formulate practical actions to help alleviate the looming 
disaster for many households. 

5. Explore (through point four) the role that the forthcoming Integrated Care 
System can immediately bring to bear on this situation once they are out in 
place from 1st July 2022.” 

 
Members debated the motion.  
 
At 21:45 the Chairman drew Council’s attention to Rule 10 of the Council Procedure 
Rules: 
 
10  Extension of the meeting  
10.1  If the business of a Council meeting has not been concluded by 9.45 pm, the 

Chair will draw the attention of the meeting to the time and to this Rule.  
10.2  In the case of any motions or recommendations on the agenda that have not 

been dealt with by 9.45 pm the Chair will decide whether to end the meeting or 
to deal with the outstanding matters provided that those matters can 
reasonably be dealt with by 10.00pm. 

10.3 Where the outstanding matters cannot be dealt with by that time each item will 
be put to the vote without further debate and a vote will be taken on whether 
the item should be accepted, rejected, referred, deferred or withdrawn. 

 
Councillor Harris requested that the motion be withdrawn from the agenda. 
 
The Chairman accepted the request, and the motion was withdrawn. 
 
Motion 3 
 
Councillor Holland-Delamere requested that the motion be withdrawn from the 
agenda. 
 
The Chairman accepted the request, and the motion was withdrawn. 
 
Motion 4 
 
Councillor Purser requested that the motion be withdrawn from the agenda. 
 
The Chairman accepted the request, and the motion was withdrawn. 
 

48. Urgent Business (previously agreed with the Chairman)  
 
There was no urgent business on this occasion. 
 
 
 

Page 22



Council - 30 June 2022 
 

The meeting closed at 10.00 pm 
 
 

 Chairman:   
   
 Date:  
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report of Councillor Jonathan Nunn 
Leader of the Council 

 
Thursday 29th September 2022 

We have all been filled with great sorrow and deep sadness since learning of the death of 
Queen Elizabeth II. 
 
Queen Elizabeth II was a tireless servant of this country, a most compassionate and caring 
sovereign, and she will be desperately missed by millions of people across the globe.  We were 
very fortunate to welcome her to Northamptonshire on several occasions, and these special 
moments will live long in the memory of local people. 
 
We continue to pass our sympathies to our newly proclaimed monarch, His Majesty King 
Charles III, and our thoughts are with him and his family as they make the huge adjustment to 
life without the late Queen. 
 
This council reacted quickly to the news, playing its important part in the implementation of 
Operation London Bridge, which sets out the way that we pay respects and proclaim the new 
monarch locally, and I am sure that all members will join me in thanking the Chief Executive, 
Assistant Chief Executive, Directors, and all staff colleagues involved. 
 
Particular thanks are due to our Communications Department during this time, for helping to 
organise the various stages and events involved, and for keeping people advised both before 
and after events associated with the death of Queen Elizabeth II, some of which I mention later 
in this report. 
 
 
Since our last meeting I have worked with the Cabinet, Members, the Chief Executive, Directors 
and Officers across all areas of the Council.  Many of these activities and issues are referred 
to in more detail in Cabinet colleagues’ reports. 
 
 
Recruitment 
I wanted members to be aware of the senior appointments that have recently been made, all 
of which: 

• Fill gaps in our structure and teams, or  
• Strengthen our ability to manage specific key services, or  
• Put a permanent colleague into a role previously just covered on an interim basis, or 
• Enable WNC to manage service outputs independently of a previous joint arrangement 

with North Northants. 
 
Members will recall the appointment of Jane Carr as Director, Communities and Opportunities 
to increase capacity in important areas such as regeneration, economic development, and 
housing, and of Sally Burns as WNC’s own Director of Public Health, both appointments having 
been confirmed by full council.  We have since made a number of other appointments, 
including: 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



• Ben Pearson – AD Education, taking over from the great work that Chris Kiernan has 
done as interim AD, Ben has immediately begun by supporting and strengthening our 
vital SEND services. 

• Tony Challinor – AD Commissioning & Partnerships, Children’s Services, focusing now 
on the west, rather than as a shared role with North Northants. 

• Rebecca Wilshire – Senior Advisor, Children’s Social Care.  Having worked with 
Doncaster’s Children’s Trust Rebecca brings valuable experience and ideas. 

• Louise Seymour – AD Place Shaping.  Having delivered successful regeneration, 
tourism and other projects in Leicester, Louise will be focusing on the vitality of our towns 
in West Northants. 

• A number of appointments have been made in the Planning dept, both internal 
promotions and the recruitment of eight new Planning staff to the team. 

• Asst. Director Planning – recent interviews have taken place and an offer has been made 
to a candidate.  Meantime, Colin Walker will be continuing for the foreseeable future to 
drive through the Planning Improvement work, and it is planned that Colin will stay with 
us until after the new AD is in place.  In addition, Artemis Christophi will be joining us as 
Interim Head of Planning Delivery, to support the implementation of the Planning 
Improvement work 

• Highways Contract Management Team – recruitment is underway for this team, to 
ensure that the Highways contract is well managed and delivers for the council, residents 
and businesses. 

 
 
WNC’s Financial Position 
Although other reports set out the detailed position regarding department budgets and the 
council’s overall financial position, I wanted to comment here on our approach to reporting our 
finances. 
 
Since we made members, staff and the wider public aware that we had a projected over-spend 
for the current year’s budget (£7.6M), we have seen many other councils report similar, in many 
cases far worse, projected year end over-spends.  However, our primary concern is clearly for 
our own council’s budget, and the administration believes that, given the financial history of our 
legacy councils particularly NCC, we have a responsibility to report fully, openly, and honestly, 
and to do that in a timely manner, so that is what we have done. 
 
There is little doubt that councils are facing budget challenges as we are, particularly in the 
demand-led services such as Children and Adults Services, and we have also seen additional 
demand for other services such as Temporary Accommodation.  Covid funding also no longer 
covers some income shortfalls that we continue to experience, such as reduced parking 
charges income.  Service demand increases are further compounded by increased costs for 
many of the goods, services and utilities that the council buys, and at the time of setting our 
budget nobody was anticipating the level of inflation that we are currently seeing, and thereby 
the scale of nationally agreed staffing costs. 
 
The actions that we are taking are beginning to work, focused as they are on providing a 
challenge and a double-check on spending, and a drive for efficiency, not reductions in 
services. 
 
 
  

Page 26



Communications: 
We are immensely proud of the way that our communities have come together to pay their 
respects following the passing of Queen Elizabeth ll.  The council was involved in the delivery 
and the awareness publicity for associated local and county-wide events, including: 
 
Evensong 

A service of Choral Evensong took place at All Saints Church in Northampton on 9th 
September, in celebration of the life of Queen Elizabeth II. 
 
The event brought together civic leaders including the Lord Lieutenant of Northamptonshire 
and Deputy Lieutenants, the High Sheriff, the Chairmen of West and North Northamptonshire 
Councils, mayors and other council representatives, the judiciary, military, public services such 
as police and fire, and inter-faith leaders. 
 
Wreath Laying, Floral Tributes and Books of Condolence 
Wreaths were laid by civic leaders on 10th September in the Memorial Gardens at All Saints 
Church in memory of Queen Elizabeth II. 
 
Five wreaths were laid by civic figures including: James Saunders Watson Esq, Lord-
Lieutenant of Northants, Dominic Hopkins DL, Under Sheriff of Northamptonshire, André 
Gonzalez De Savage, Chairman of West Northamptonshire Council, Cllr Larry Henson, 
Chairman of North Northamptonshire Council and Cllr Dennis Meredith, Mayor of Northampton. 
 
Members of the public were invited to lay their own floral tributes, and I was delighted that (in 
addition to the Chairman’s wreathe on behalf of the whole council) both myself and Cllr Wendy 
Randall, as Leader of the main opposition party, were able to demonstrate WNC’s cross-party 
feelings of sorrow by laying wreaths on behalf of our groups. 
 
Books of condolence were also opened across West Northamptonshire for the public to leave 
their own messages. 
 
Proclamation: 
Hundreds of people gathered outside All Saints Church in Northampton on Sunday 11th 
September for an historic ceremony, when The High Sheriff of Northamptonshire, Crispin 
Holborow DL, formally proclaimed the beginning of King Charles III's reign to the people of 
Northamptonshire. 
 
The High Sheriff read the Accession Proclamation at the ceremony, which began at 12:45pm, 
with the proclamation being made at 1pm.  Everyone from across Northamptonshire was invited 
along to witness this significant event, and town centre road closures were put in place to 
ensure the safety of anyone who did so.  From 2:30pm onwards, Mayors read the same 
proclamation in their respective towns across Northamptonshire, as did Parish Council Chairs. 
 
In recognition of the new Sovereign, flags were flown at full mast from the time of the principal 
proclamation at midday on Saturday 10th September, until the local proclamations took place 
at 1pm on Sunday 11th September, when they returned to half-mast as The Queen’s mourning 
period continued. 
 
  

Page 27

https://www.westnorthants.gov.uk/news/books-condolence-and-floral-tributes


Services of Remembrance for Queen Elizabeth II 
Faith communities from across Northamptonshire came together to pay their respects in 
services of remembrance including a Service of Remembrance at All Saints Church in 
Northampton on Sunday 18th September.  The service was live streamed on social media and 
provided an opportunity for individuals to come together and give thanks for the unparalleled 
service, duty and love that Queen Elizabeth II gave to this nation and across the world. 
 
Website 
Our council’s website was quickly altered to reflect the period of mourning, and became a key 
source of up to date information on issues such as where to find books of condolence, and the 
related events that were taking place in West Northants. 
 
Financial Position 

Communications have been developed to highlight clearly the actions the council is taking to 
deal with the fresh wave of significant financial challenges emerging as issues for WNC, and 
for many local authorities. 
 
Special Educational Needs and Disability 
Communications have been developed to support proposals to develop a new 250 place school 
for children with Special Educational Needs and disabilities, and to outline the council’s 
commitment to listening to concerns from parents of children with special educational needs 
and disabilities. 
 
Regeneration 

Communications to promote WNC’s funding bids worth a total of £63.5 million to the 
government’s Levelling up fund, and key regeneration developments including Vulcan Works.  
 
Parish Briefings 

We continue to receive positive feedback on our monthly briefing newsletter for town and parish 
councils, updating on key information and events from across West Northants. 
 
Members Briefings 

Thank you to those members who continue to comment positively on this weekly update.  We 
are aware that many members have work and other community commitments, and so we 
continually seek to make the weekly briefing the concise summary that enables members to 
keep abreast of the most important news, and the things that you want/need to know, so would 
urge all members to read through the short articles on important matters that it contains each 
week. 
 
 
Business Intelligence, Policy and Performance: 
Performance 
Completion of Quarter One Corporate Performance Dashboard, monitoring progress against 
the delivery of our Corporate Plan and Priorities. 
 
Multiple Adult Social Care and Education & Early Years statutory returns have been submitted 
and preparation has been carried out for new pupil and client level statutory returns for Early 
Years/Education and Adult Social Care. 

Page 28



 
Collaborative working has been undertaken with Children’s Trust colleagues to prepare for the 
anticipated Ofsted inspection. 
 
Support has also been provided into the development of Local Area Profiles, using the Local 
Insights tool as well as offline work, and into developing and improving reporting in Adult Social 
Care, enhancing the department’s ability to manage budgets and improve Data Quality. 
 
Website Improvement 
Work continues on our website project to improve the quality of information and online services 
available to our residents.  Thank you to those councillors who have provided help with testing 
new areas and providing feedback. 
 
Reorganisation 
Work is underway to ensure that our Business Intelligence Team are able to meet the needs 
of our new council. 
 
 
Sustainability: 

The Northamptonshire ACRE(Action with Communities in Rural England) conference took 
place on Monday 12th September and I delivered a presentation on the council’s sustainability 
commitments and work to develop our Sustainability work plan.  Members of our Sustainability 
team were also on hand to assist and engage with the parish councils and other groups that 
attended the event. 
 
Our workplan areas of focus include: 

• Planning & land use 
• Transport  
• Building, housing and infrastructure 
• Commercial and industrial 
• Energy generation and heating 
• Natural Environment and Biodiversity 
• Agriculture and Food 
• Waste 
• Emissions 
• Education & Youth 
• Public Health 
• Community, Engagement and Placemaking  

 
Work is underway to calculate the baseline emissions data for our first year using the Local 
Government Association Emissions Tool.  This will enable benchmarking with comparable local 
authorities. 
 
We are glad to have welcomed new colleagues to the Sustainability team, which is now up to 
strength following recent recruitment, enabling progress on other projects such as our Staff 
Sustainability Network.  The team have also been meeting with each Director and Cabinet 
member to understand sustainability challenges and opportunities across the whole council. 
 
 
  

Page 29



Transformation update: 
Following the decision to integrate transformation resources into directorates, to closer align 
priorities and to enhance accountability, the teams have been delivering a wide range of 
projects and programmes guided by their respective Executive Directors.  Highlights of these 
include: 
 
Place 
The Post Room Aggregation project has delivered the move of Angel Square function to the 
Guildhall.  A training and awareness day was held on 22nd July with the provider of the outgoing 
mail service, PSL.  This was well attended, and PSL saw a significant increase in system log 
in requests to facilitate the move to digital post, which is a key benefit linked to the financial 
efficiencies the project is designed to deliver. 
 
Work continues in the Planning service; a programme of improvement work has been created 
with six main work streams covering areas such as CIL/Section 106, Process Improvement, 
and the Local Plan.  Work continues supporting Building Control to repatriate members of the 
team previously working within the Daventry area via a shared service model.  
 
Soft market testing has commenced for the new Assets Management system.  This project will 
combine all legacy data onto one system, and will have the potential to provide capacity for 
other service areas in the future to further rationalise systems and drive efficiencies. 
 
Communities and Opportunities 
The Housing Solutions project is currently developing a full business case for November 2022 
to fully assess the options and benefits that can be achieved in this area, and a series of staff 
workshops were held during August to engage with front line staff to seek their view on where 
efficiencies can be made to drive productivity. 
 
The Debt & Money Advice project is also aiming to deliver a full business case with the aim of 
bringing together processes, information and expertise to maximise the benefits for residents. 
External stakeholders in this complex environment have been engaged in the outcome of the 
project and with that backing, work to understand how customers use these services is currently 
under way. Alongside this quantitative analysis workshops with front line staff are also taking 
place to understand the operational issues that need to be resolved.   
 
 
Disaggregation: The impact assessment of disaggregating Libraries is currently moving 
through joint governance. 
 
People 
The ‘Social Care Reform - Market Management’ Project has been recently initiated to 
proactively engage with legislative change that will result in significant changes to current 
arrangements across social care, and the structure of care provision/funding, including a cap 
on individual’s personal care costs.  Amongst the aspects of this project, there will be the 
inclusion of workstreams such as Mobilisation, Governance, Market Shaping & Sustainability, 
and Strategic Finance. 
 
A project to support the Social Care Regulatory Compliance has delivered new senior 
practitioner roles, and audited current policies and practices including delivering a new 
assurance process and self-audit process from September 2022.  Furthermore, the project has 

Page 30



analysed the first cut of data from the CQC regional exercise to understand West 
Northamptonshire’s performance. 
 
Disaggregation projects continue to move at pace, with teams from Public Health, School 
Admissions and Safeguarding teams being disaggregated in September and October, and the 
corresponding staff being moved across and welcomed to West Northants. 
 
Corporate 
The Customer Services programme has been focusing on the final stages of procurement for 
the CXM system, and new contracts have now been signed.  The programme team continue 
to work closely with the project team to replace the Telephony systems, and create a stable 
and more flexible platform for some of our service centres.  Work also continues to develop the 
mailbot project to gain more automation and drive efficiencies across all customer interactions.  
Initial work has been delivered on setting up a Continuous Improvement Programme to 
continually look for and drive productivity gains which will benefit residents and staff. 
 
Following the decision to close the Lodge Road office in Daventry, the Future Ways of Working 
programme has created a new workstream to manage this work.  Significant work is required 
to ensure that staff are supported and to give them the equipment and environment that they 
need, and this will be done.  The West Ways of working Strategy has been published, which 
supports and underpins the appropriate hybrid working model and Worker Types for West 
Northants.  Procurement has commenced for the Hardware refresh to ensure that all staff have 
the right technology to support them. 
 
A new Exit Interview process including amendments to procedure and supporting resources 
has been developed.  Alongside this the build of new recruitment process has been completed 
and is entering its first testing stages.  The programme has also facilitated the delivery of the 
first ‘Our West Welcome’ Corporate induction sessions.  These sessions are important to 
ensure that all new staff feel that they know the structure of the council, its aims and objectives, 
and the culture and values that we are seeking to create.  A great deal of positive feedback has 
been received for the first sessions, that have been run for around 75 staff. 
 
The Pay and Grading Project continues at pace following minimal questions raised from the 
staff, in part because of extensive consultation, and currently all role profiles have been 
completed to support a desk top exercise on schedule before formal panels commence. 
 
Finance 
Transformation’s work in this directorate has been concentrated on supporting the budget 
process, through understanding the current mitigations in the Medium Term Financial Plan, and 
resulting financial benefits, by supporting the budget taskforce, and driving new projects and 
initiatives. 
 
 
 
Councillor Jonathan Nunn 
Leader of the Council 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of Councillor Adam Brown 
Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for 

Housing, Culture & Leisure 
 

September 2022 
 
HOUSING 
 
Housing Strategy and Partnership 
 
West Northants Housing Strategy 
The new West Northants Housing Strategy has been written and was presented and 
recommended for approval at Cabinet on the 23 September.  The strategy was 
developed through extensive consultation and engagement with stakeholders, 
partners and members.   
 
The formal consultation on the emerging themes and priorities ran from 14th April – 
24th May 2022.  We had nearly 600 responses analysed, with 257 completing the 
whole questionnaire and over 280 comments in total from a variety of groups and 
individuals including residents, registered providers, voluntary and charitable 
organisations, statutory bodies and parish/town councils. 
 
The Housing Strategy has four themes.  The themes are: 
• Deliver homes people need and can afford 
• Improve the quality, standard and safety of homes and housing services 
• Support residents to live healthy, safe, independent, and active lives 
• Support thriving and sustainable communities  
 
These themes are supported by 14 strategic priorities. Each of the strategic priorities 
identify a number of actions required to deliver the priority. 
 
Following adoption of the strategy a Delivery Action Plan will be developed, this will 
set out the specific actions and targets for the delivery of the Housing Strategy. This 
will be prepared with partners. 
 
Homes England funding  
Home England announced in August that following bids submitted, we had been 
successful in Homes England funding for two schemes that will be delivered by 
Northampton Partnership Homes.  The schemes that received this funding are: 
 
Avenue Campus – This development will deliver 170 new homes.  Demolition works 
are currently taken place on the site, and construction works will commence straight 
after.  The current development programme indicates that the works will be complete 
early 2025. 
 
Belgrave House (The Clockhouse) – This is a 1960’s constructed office building, which 
will be converted into 122 new 1 and 2-bedroom apartments. The necessary works 
are currently taking place to prepare the building for development.   

Page 33



 

 
Social Housing Decarbonisation Fund (SHDF) 
The SHDF Demonstrator scheme has enabled the planned investment programme to 
optimise a whole house retrofit programme for a selection of properties across 
Northampton, with the explicit aim of improving energy performance.  
 
The project will have retrofitted 150 solid wall homes in the areas of Kingsthorpe and 
Kingsley.  These house types were targeted due to the poor energy performance of 
solid wall homes and high levels of fuel poverty in these areas.    The demonstrator 
scheme is nearly complete with anticipated finish by the end of September 2022.   
 
WNC/NPH have also been successful in obtaining funding through Wave 1 of the 
SHDF, this will see a further 429 properties benefitting from this scheme. 
 
Homelessness and Housing Solutions 
 
The Homelessness & Housing Solutions Team and Housing Strategy & Partnerships 
Team worked together earlier in the year to complete a rough sleeping self-
assessment toolkit and apply to secure additional funding through the Government’s 
Rough Sleeping Initiative.  Over recent weeks the Government has announced that 
West Northamptonshire Council has secured £2,311,493 through Rough Sleeper 
Initiative 5 to support those sleeping rough or at risk of rough sleeping over the period 
2022 – 2025.   
 
Private Sector Housing 
 
Landlords Forum 
On Tuesday 6th September 2022, the Council ran its successful landlords forum. The 
meeting, attended by around 40 private sector landlords representing properties 
across West Northamptonshire, heard from officers and partners. The agenda for the 
meeting including controlling fly-tipping and waste disposal from rented properties, the 
options for improving access to temporary accommodation, a legal update, and a 
further update on funding being made available for energy efficiency. The next meeting 
is scheduled for December 2022. 
 
HMO Task & Finish Group 
The housing team, continue to support the Portfolio Holder and selected Councillors 
on a cross party HMO (houses in multiple occupation) Working Group. The group have 
heard from officers on the available legislative requirements regarding both planning 
and property licensing. The group will now start to gather evidence from local 
residents, businesses, and partners regarding HMOs in our community. The group 
hope that its recommendations will be presented to WMC Planning Policy in October 
/ November 2022. 
 
Homes for Ukraine 
Officers from the Council’s Private Sector Housing Team have continued to undertake 
inspections of properties being offered under the Homes for Ukraine Scheme. The 
inspections, being undertaken to ensure that properties meet the minimum safety 
standards, have been completed in many properties that the Council would not 
routinely visit. The properties are not usually homes that the council would routinely 

Page 34



 

visit as they are owner occupied properties and single-family occupancy private 
rentals. This has provided the Council with new and additional information regarding 
housing standard across West Northamptonshire. To date, 325 properties have been 
visited by the Private Sector Housing Team, with inspections being undertaken, and 
advice being provided particularly regarding gas and fire safety. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
CULTURE & LEISURE 
 
The Library Service  
 
This year’s Libraries Summer Reading Challenge entitled “Gadgeteers” has been 
underway since July.  Books and activities themed around science, technology and 
inventions have been encouraging children from 4 - 11 to keep up their reading 
practice over the long summer school break by reading 6 books and collecting stickers.  
On completion of this they receive a certificate and medal to reward their hard work.  
For children between 0 – 4 there is also a mini challenge to keep them involved over 
the Summer too and for the first time we are running a 6-book challenge for adults so 
that teachers and parents can encourage their children to take part and lead by 
example.   
 
Library staff and volunteers attended over 100 school assemblies to promote the 
challenge and our libraries have been full of families joining up to take part in the 
challenge and attend Gadget themed events. By week 3 of the summer holidays, we 
had seen 7035 children signing up, an increase of 428% on those who had joined by 
this time in 2021 demonstrating families’ confidence in using libraries post-Covid.  So 
far 942 adults have signed up to the 6-book adult challenge.  All the challenges 
continue until the week after children return to school. 
 
On Monday 25th July, St James Library re-opened in its new home at the Doddridge 
Centre.  After several years of negotiations, seeking expressions of interest and 
exploring business models the hard work has paid off and the community in St James 
have local access to library services.  The new library is managed by the Doddridge 
Centre and supported by WNC Library Plus to provide a range of book stock and other 
services.   
 
Support for Ukrainians resettling in West Northants continues in our libraries with the 
newest support group beginning to run at Weston Favell Library.  The library will also 
be running free English lessons from 9th September for an initial cohort of 10 Ukrainian 
learners, funded by the Modern School of Language.  On Monday 15th August a job 
club at the Central Library was attended by 40 resettled citizens (Ukrainians and 
Afghans) where they discussed jobs, interviews and training courses.   
 
Sport & Active Lives 
 
Leisure Centres 

Page 35



 

Sport & Active Lives team working closely with contracted leisure operators to monitor 
impact of rise in utilities costs.  SLM/Everyone Active approached WNC with a 
proposal to increase casual swim costs by up to 10% to help mitigate utilities increase 
of just under £100k this year.  Proposal has been approved as the impact on 
customers can be limited through the various alternative swimming options at the 
Daventry and Moulton leisure centres (membership, swim pass etc).  This action will 
not achieve full cost recovery, but the operator does not want to impose further (in 
year) price increases at this moment in time.   
 
Further mitigations are being explored to support leisure operators.  The Public Sector 
Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS) provides grants for public sector bodies to fund 
energy efficiency and heat decarbonisation measures in public sector buildings 
including leisure centres.  WNC are reviewing sites for inclusion in a wider bid to the 
scheme and WNC’s Assets Team is leading this project, working with consultants 
Leisure Energy with a submission due in September.  Northampton leisure centres will 
not be included due to WNC £1.8m plant improvement project which is underway.    
 
Benchmarking review for the Parkwood Leisure contract (Brackley and Towcester 
leisure centres) begins in October.  This process will review financial operations from 
the first six years of the contract, setting a revised contract management fee for the 
next six years of the contract.  WNC Leisure, Finance and Legal colleagues form a 
working group with the leisure operator.     
 
Archives and Heritage Service  
The period from 1 April to date has been one of adjustment of service provision, as 
the threat from Covid-19 reduced, and maintenance of basic levels of professional 
work, prior to the agreed staff restructure being implemented. This will add some 
much-needed staff capacity to a very small team. Once these are in post, work on the 
important service Accreditation application will be able to proceed.   
 
Adjustments to the public services procedures have been made to support both 
researchers and documents, and to encourage more people to visit, regardless of 
whether they have made appointments or not. It is vitally important that local people 
are aware of the service and use the resources, whether to support the development 
of local neighbourhood plans, the writing of a village history, the study of an individual’s 
family history or the research for educational projects. 
 
On the collections side, the most important work has been preparing for an important 
accession of records from St Andrew’s Hospital, Northampton. St Andrew’s was 
formerly the county’s private asylum and since then has become a leading institution 
in the treatment and research of mental health and related illnesses. The collection 
will therefore be invaluable both to those wishing to trace the history of ancestors who 
were treated in the asylum and to medical historians researching changes in approach 
within this area of medicine. 
 
Some welcome buildings work was undertaken in June and July. The building, that 
was specially designed for the specialist storage of and public access to archives, is 
now over 30 years old and, inevitably, showing signs of that age. It is hoped that further 
works can be done to ensure the building can remain as ‘fit for purpose’ for the joint 
authorities for the foreseeable future. 

Page 36



 

 
The Service includes the Historic Environment Record (HER). Funding has been 
secured from Historic England for the conversion of Northamptonshire data, that is 
currently on the National Record of the Historic Environment, to the local database. 
Northamptonshire is one of the first and leading authorities to undertake this work. It 
will be of great benefit to all users, both private and commercial, because the result 
will be that the data for the county is much more comprehensive. HER data includes 
scheduled ancient monuments, archaeological sites, listed and historic buildings, 
churches, historic parks and gardens, battlefields, finds spots etc. 
 
 
Councillor Adam Brown 
Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Housing, Culture & Leisure 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report of Councillor Rebecca Breese 
Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, Built 

Environment & Rural Affairs 
 

September 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Transformation Work 
 
There are multiple areas of transformation that are taking place in the Planning service. at the 
core of it are 6 improvement workstreams, which are being driven by a range of staff from within 
and outside of Planning.  A strong governance framework and support framework has been put 
in place around these workstreams, which will not just provide oversight but also help to unblock 
issues where and when they appear. 
 
Engagement on this work is making progress, with regular reporting to EPB, as well as regular 
sessions with myself as Portfolio Holder, together with Leader/Deputy and senior officers.  
We’ve also recently started meetings with Planning Committee chairs and vice chairs, and we 
are planning to provide an update to all Members in an open session scheduled for early 
October.  Finally, we are considering setting up an agents/applicants forum in the coming 
months as part of improving the flow of customer feedback and helping to build external 
relationships.  Parish and Town Councils will also form part of our emerging communications 
agenda. 
 
Strategic Plan 
 
A report on the responses from 2,000 respondents making approximately 11,000 individual 
representations on the Options and Call for Sites consultations was considered at the June 
Policy Committee. 
Work is progressing on the production of the plan and the evidence base necessary to support 
policies in it. 
 
Northampton Part 2 Plan 
 
At the June Policy Committee Members agreed that consultation could take place on proposed 
modifications to the plan.  The modifications have been identified by the Local Plan Inspectors 
as necessary to make the plan sound.  29 responses were received to the consultation, and 
these have now been sent to the Inspectors for their consideration.   Subject to the timely 
receipt of the Inspectors Report, it is intended that a report be presented to October Planning 
Policy Committee and then November Council requesting that the plan be adopted.   
 
Employment areas SPD 
 
Over 300 responses have been received to the consultation on the Employment Areas SPD. 
Staffed exhibitions were held at the Forum in Towcester and in Old Stratford. 

Page 39



The responses are now being analysed, and it is intended that a report on the consultation and 
way forward will be presented to Policy Committee in October. 
 
Planning Policy Committee 
 
Art the June Policy Committee members agreed to make the reviewed neighbourhood plan for 
Kilsby and to adopt Conservation Area appraisals for Cottesbrooke and Canons 
Ashby and to agree a Housing Delivery Action Plan for Northampton. 
 
Development Management 
 
Planning application caseloads continue to be very high, and we are taking steps to recruit to 
vacant posts and also bringing in agency staff to try and reduce the backlog of work.  One of 
the steps taken was a ‘focus week’ where planning teams spent five days working closely 
together processing new planning applications and determining decisions on existing 
cases.  Throughout the week decisions on 273 cases were determined, nearly four times the 
average decisions made in one week.  

 
We are going through a period of transformation of the service and are consulting and engaging 
with staff on a new structure so that it feels and functions as one team rather than three 
separate ones.  We have engaged a series of workstreams to help form that structure, create 
a vision, and improve processes.  We have also received approval from IT of delivering a single 
planning software system across the West which will greatly help the work of the team to share 
resources and work pressures across the west. 
 
Enforcement Management 
 
The Enforcement Team is being brought together under a single manager who will be 
responsible for the whole service, rather than the previous arrangement of separate teams for 
each Planning area.  This is in line with a WNC Enforcement Policy applying across the whole 
area.  This is to improve the ability of staff to work across WNC and therefore resilience. 
 
Councillor Rebecca Breese 
Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning, Built Environment & Rural Affairs 

Page 40



 

Report of Councillor Phil Larratt 
Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport, 

Highways and Waste Services 
 

29th September 2022 
 
 
Highways and Transport Services 
 
Highways Service Disaggregation 
On 12 September the previous countywide highways service disaggregated into 2 teams – one 
for each authority and the team serving North Northants relocated from One Angel Square. The 
WNC team also has undergone a restructure which came into effect on the same day and is 
now led by Nick Henstock who has been appointed to the new role of Assistant Director for 
Highways and Transport.  
 
I wish to put on record my thanks to Fiona Unett who has worked amazingly hard over the last 
2 years leading both the Highways and Waste Teams – in future Fiona will lead the Waste team 
as she continues as the Assistant Director for Waste.  
 
The Highways and Transport team is now beginning to recruit to roles that are necessary to 
allow the team to function independently. 
 
North West Relief Road   
 
Works started on site in April 2022 and are programmed to last for 104 weeks.  The project 
team continue to work hard to ensure that affected landowners, residents and the travelling 
public are all kept up to date with progress and any potential impact of the works.  
  
After a slow start on site, work is now progressing well with the earthwork's operations in 
particular, benefitting from the recent dry weather. Other works since commencement include 
creation of haul roads, fencing, drainage and excavation of drainage ponds.   
  
Archaeological investigations have progressed well, but the archaeological team has recently 
uncovered artifacts that are considered to merit further exploration. The impacts of this work 
on the overall programme, including costs, are currently being considered by the project team 
although it should be noted that the possibility of such finds was considered and is allowed for 
within the Council’s risk and contingency allowances for the project.  
  
Works to divert Rights of Way are ongoing and it is hoped that these will help to unlock 
commencement of development at Dallington Grange. The North West Relief Road team are 
working closely with the developers and their designers to ensure that both the new road and 
the development, which includes phase 1 of the relief road, are not delayed.    
  
Tree and hedge clearance works are complete although the team have had to deal with a lot 
of criticism from local residents due to the sensitivity of removing trees from land the public 
have enjoyed recreational access to for many years. Tree and hedge clearance has been kept 
to an absolute minimum and the site team have managed to save 8 mature oak trees by 
introducing minor design changes on the ground which is very positive news.   
  

Page 41



Off-site mitigation works are required in Boughton village, and these have been agreed in 
principle with Boughton Parish Council following a series of very constructive meetings. Kier 
and WSP have now commenced feasibility work to assess the viability of the proposals agreed 
with Boughton Parish Council and we hope to implement these as soon as practicable to help 
mitigate the existing traffic problems experienced in the village which are predicted to be 
exacerbated by the North West Relief Road without intervention.   
  
New Highways Contract  
Mobilisation of the new contract has progressed well, and the new service began on 12 
September. I attended the induction event with the Kier staff to welcome them as our colleagues 
in this new venture together. Over the first 3-4 months of the contract Kier will be visiting all the 
communities in West Northamptonshire to carry out works to improve the environment for 
residents and all road users, this will include sign and bollard cleaning, white lining, footway 
clearance and vegetation clearance. 
 
Active Travel  
We have secured money from the Department for Transport for funding to help develop a new 
Active Travel strategy for West Northamptonshire. This strategy can be used to identify 
improvements to our active travel schemes, which in turn will ensure that we can prioritise key 
routes across our area, creating a network that will encourage more walking and cycling thereby 
reducing congestion and contribute to the Council’s carbon reduction targets. 
 
Following the briefing held with Place and Overview Scrutiny committee, a draft ambition 
statement, the first phase of developing the strategy, has been prepared and this was 
presented at an oversight group on 12th September. Feedback will be used to steer the 
development of this new strategy. A draft strategy will be prepared by December 2022, with a 
further oversight group in January to consider it.  
 
Work on the Daventry Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIP) is well 
underway. Site audits were completed in August and draft proposals have been presented to 
stakeholders for their feedback. A first draft of the LCWIP will be available in October 2022. 
 
Discussions are still ongoing between us, the Department for Transport (DfT), HS2, EKFB and 
National Highways around securing safe provision for active travel on the proposed A43 
overbridge over HS2 in line with our vision to create an active travel route between Brackley 
and Silverstone. Following a review by DfT of draft design proposals for the bridge, a focused, 
technical workshop is being held in early October to take this forward.  
 
Following submission of our Self-Assessment form to Active Travel England, we have received 
an indicative revenue funding allocation of £152,723 from the Capability and Ambition Fund 
2022/23. The deadline for submitting our proposals is 30th September. 
 
Transport – Buses & Rail  
Cabinet agreed to form an Enhanced Partnership with local bus operators in April 2022.  This 
is one of the key steps in delivering the Government’s National Bus Strategy - Bus Back Better 
- within West Northamptonshire.  Unfortunately, along with many other authorities, we were 
unsuccessful in securing any Government funding to take forward improvements to our bus 
network.   
We are currently progressing two key elements of work to progress our work on buses.  The 
first is to work with commercial bus operators to co-design a sustainable network of services 

Page 42



following the end of Government financial support for the loss of passengers.  This funding was 
originally expected to end in October, but Government has now announced that funding will 
continue until March 2023.  The second linked piece of work is looking at how we improve the 
provision of bus services for rural areas.  A cross party steering group will continue to meet 
quarterly to help review and shape the work related to the implementation of the strategy. 
Arrangements have been made to continue financial support for the 200 bus service between 
Banbury and Daventry at least until January 2023, and subject to the recently announced 
Council spending restrictions, support may also be given jointly with Oxfordshire County 
Council to reintroduce the 500 bus between Brackley and Banbury on a Sunday. 
The forthcoming possible loss of the 89 service, that serves villages bordering Milton Keynes, 
is a matter of concern, especially as it was operating on a commercial basis without subsidy.  
I’m engaging with the relevant cabinet member in Milton Keynes to establish what options may 
be available to provide services in this area. 
Cabinet agreed in July a paper setting out our aspirations for improved rail services for West 
Northamptonshire once the opening of HS2 has released capacity on the existing rail network.   
 
Waste Management Services  
  
Waste Collections   
 
The refuse and recycling collections continue to perform at good level with few complaints.  
 
Current subscriptions to the garden waste service now stand at just under 90,000, with high 
levels of participation across the area.  Around half of the unwanted bins in the South area 
have now been collected and this is due to be completed by the end of October. Unwanted 
bins are being repaired where required and re-used within West Northamptonshire.  
 
Household Waste Recycling Centres continue to operate with no issues.  
 
The team are starting to gear up resources to develop a new WNC waste strategy which will 
help align the future vision of the Council for waste services with our statutory duties, taking 
into account new and emerging legislation. Members and residents will be engaged with this 
work to ensure that the strategy reflects the Council’s priorities.   
 
Litter and Street Cleansing   
 
Crews continue to cleanse the public spaces in around West Northants, flytipping is still an 
issue in hotspots and colleagues continue to liaise with the Environmental Protection Team to 
reduce this anti-social behaviour. Dialogue with, and support for the Northamptonshire Litter 
Wombles is also on-going and very positive, the group have benefitted from funding from the 
Northamptonshire Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner to buy more equipment.   
 
Environment 
 
Management 
 
It was not possible to recruit a Head of Public Realm & Heritage. In the light of the Council’s 
financial challenges and the office optimisation programme, a merger of the Facilities and Public 
Realm & Heritage teams is being tested.  
 

Page 43



Parks and Open Spaces 
 
Community Garden Project at the Racecourse 
A community garden project has started in the fenced off grounds of the stand-alone depot 
known as the “White Building”, which is located in the centre of the Racecourse. The project 
has been kick started by Groundwork, an environmental charity, and supported by Segro who 
have provided the initial funding. 
 
The aim of the Groundwork Green Team will be to work alongside the WNC Park Ranger with 
a team of 10 learners recruited from the local area for two days a week for six weeks, equating 
to sixty hours of learning support. 
 
The purpose of the project is to upskill disadvantaged, long-term unemployed and vulnerable 
members of the local community via landscaping and construction along with Carbon Literacy 
accredited training, and Health & Safety Level 1 accredited certification. 
 
The site is intended to be utilised as a community focused food growing and educational facility 
complete with woodworking workshop, potting shed and storage facility. 
 
Green Flag Awards 
In June the Green Flag Judges visited the parks that were entered for the awards, which were 
Bradlaugh Fields, Abington Park, Delapre Park, Daventry Country Park, and Brixworth Country 
Park / Pitsford Water in partnership with Anglia Water. All were successful in retaining their 
Green Flag status, and I thank our staff, especially our Park Wardens, for all their hard work 
in this achievement. 
 
Borough Hill 
Borough Hill has a history of human habitation dating into prehistory. Remains have been found 
on the hill of two Bronze Age barrows, two Iron Age hillforts, one of which is the fourth largest 
found in Britain, and later there was a Roman villa and farming settlement. In the early 1920s 
the BBC erected a 720-foot transmission mast on top of the hill. This has now been removed. 
The hill is now scheduled as an ancient monument.  
 
To ensure visitors to Borough Hill share in the knowledge and experience of this magnificent 
landmark, WNC has now installed a number of interpretation boards around the Hill. 
 
Everdon Outdoor Learning Centre 
Everdon Outdoor Learning Centre is located in a superb rural setting in the attractive village of 
Everdon, near Daventry. The facility provides schools and groups with the opportunity to 
sample outdoor activities such as orienteering, cross-country navigation and team building 
games, on a residential or day basis. 
 
The Team welcome groups from schools, nurseries, playgroups, Scouts, Cubs, Guides, 
Rainbows and Brownies. Since Covid, groups have realised the importance of being able to get 
out and about in the fresh air and to enjoy the natural wonders of the outdoors. 
 

Page 44



This realisation has boosted the number of bookings for the use the Outdoor Learning Centre, 
as the Team are now taking reservations for 2024, and have had to recruit a Senior Educational 
Ranger to help with the increase in demand. The service is also using space at other WNC 
parks to enhance its offer. 
 
Dry spell  
During the prolonged dry spell in our weather, unfortunately we have had some issues with 
fires within our parks. The worst ones being at Borough Hill in Daventry and in Northampton 
Bradlaugh Fields, Ladybridge Drive and Kingsthorpe Rec. Unfortunately, the latter two having 
play equipment badly damaged by the fire. It is the intention to replace all the damaged play 
equipment as soon as possible. 
 
Water bodies in a number of parks suffered during the prolonged dry weather. As rain has 
returned these should begin to recover.  However, we will seek to address these issues in the 
long term through our nature recovery plan. 
 
Climate Strategies 
 
Three strategies are in various stages of progress to support the Council’s achievement of net 
zero by 2030: 
 

• Estate Climate Strategy: Work is well underway; with an understanding of emissions the 
Council is responsible for being established and a range of measures to address these 
being explored. In the light of the Council’s financial challenges, it is proposed to 
accelerate assessment of potential for photovoltaic (solar cell) production of electricity. 

• Construction & Maintenance Climate Strategy: Work is underway. A wide range of 
material exists and is being assimilated.  

• Fleet Climate Strategy: We have secured a free Fleet review from the Energy Saving 
Trust. The Trust deliver a fully funded fleet consultancy programme on behalf of the 
Department for Transport, that will identify opportunities for WNC to decarbonise road 
transport fleets & transition (ideally) to zero emission vehicles, thereby contributing to 
our aim to be net zero carbon by 2030. Whole-life cost, and energy and carbon 
comparisons will underpin recommendations to change. In September, the initial 
meeting with the Trust and contract managers with fleet responsibilities will take 
place. 

 
All three Strategies seek to address scope 1, 2, and 3 emissions relevant to their functional 
scope. The Estate Climate Strategy will be expected to resolve any emissions which cannot be 
mitigated within the other Strategies. 
 
Local Nature Recovery Strategy 
 
July Cabinet approved the Council’s desire to be the responsible authority for a local nature 
recovery area of West Northamptonshire. Changes within Government may have resulted in 
some delays, but it is hoped that the regulations, guidance, and funding will be announced this 
autumn. Further funding of perhaps £120-170k is expected. 
  

Page 45



 
Flood Management 
 
The Council has a vital role as Lead Local Flood Authority and Land Drainage Authority. The 
service responds to large number of formal consultations and investigates flooding incidents. 
Strategically it works to identify and secure measures to reduce the risk of flooding to homes 
and businesses. 
  
Due to ongoing issues with external providers and the cost of existing agency staff, the Council 
is now advertising to recruit a full in-house technical team, which should deliver a better service 
through efficiencies as well as securing local knowledge. Work will then also be able to 
commence on updating the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy, which will define how we 
plan to manage local sources of flood risk in the district. The additional capacity would also 
then allow for delivery of these measures. In the meantime, the Council is making progress 
with a number of communities including Long Buckby, Deanshanger, Collingtree and Yelvertoft. 
  
The Resilience and Innovation Northamptonshire (RAIN) project, led by the Council, is awaiting 
final approval from the Environment Agency of its business case, before the delivery phase can 
commence. The project will deliver catchment, community and property-level flood resilience 
measures to communities in the Wootton Brook and Harpers Brook catchments. 
 
Parking and CCTV 
  
We have completed a procurement exercise to introduce new parking payment systems in nine 
Northampton town centre car parks to improve the customer experience and introduce more 
flexibility for visitors looking to park, as well as reduce operating costs. Work will be completed 
before the Christmas season.  
 
Work has started on producing tenders for a variety of contracts that are due to renew in April 
2023, these include, CCTV monitoring, CCTV maintenance and car park cleaning contracts 
  
As part of the roll out of new payment equipment in the town centre car parks, options are 
also being explored with the new provider to enhance the parking offer at both Brixworth and 
Daventry Country parks. 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Phil Larratt 
Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport, Highways and Waste Services 

Page 46



 

 

Report of Councillor David Smith  
Cabinet Member for Community Safety, engagement, 

and regulatory services 
 

September 2022 
 
Community Safety 
 
Community Safety Strategy  
Continued development of the Community Safety Partnership Strategy through stakeholder 
engagement, draft priorities have been developed with 15 partner organisations. Anticipate a 
draft to be completed by November 2022.   
  
Domestic Abuse  
Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Coordinator post appointed to this week. The coordinator 
will act as West Northants Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Champion and support the 
delivery of West Northants Domestic Abuse Strategy and the continuing development of West 
Northants Domestic Abuse Partnership Board. The role will co-ordinate and support the work 
of the Community Safety Partnership and its task and finish groups, focus on Domestic Abuse 
and Sexual Violence reduction initiatives within West Northants and lead on the procurement 
and contract management of Domestic Abuse Services funded by West Northants Council.  
 
Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) 
Due to the need to recruit to fill two vacancies in our Anti-Social Behaviour Team, we have 
sought the opportunity to look across our locality areas, to ensure that we are consistent in 
our approach to supporting both victims and taking action against those causing anti-social 
behaviour within our neighbourhoods.  We now have three officers who will cover the whole 
of the West Northants area. The officers will receive and investigate direct complaints utilising 
the anti-social behaviour legislation and by working with the police and partner organisations 
take appropriate action to tackle anti-social behaviour and hate crime.  
 
Knife Crime 
As part of the knife angel legacy plan, the augmented reality Knife Angel is available for 
schools, groups and individuals to view in Northampton’s Central Museum until the end of 
October. 
 
Three Knife Amnesty Bins have been ordered and work is underway to secure permissions for 
two locations in Northampton and one in Daventry.  Delivery is expected late November.  
 
Partnership support offered for Northants Police Weeks of Action Against Serious Violence, 
activity during the week included: 

• An additional session of major bleed control training in Rectory Farm Community 
Centre for volunteers and professionals working in the community.  

• A well-known fly tipping hotspot cleared, a place known for hiding weapons and 
associated with drug dealing next to a Primary School. 

• Kicks football groups at Northampton Academy ran with arranged educational input 
from various youth support services. 

 
Safer Streets  

Page 47



 

 

A Home Office bid for £100,000 for physical community safety improvements and youth 
provision in Blackthorn and Bellinge was successful.  Currently obtaining quotes to reinstate 
6 CCTV cameras in Blackthorn and Bellinge and looking at feasibility of installing a new camera 
in a Blackthorn anti-social behaviour/criminal activity hot spot.  The bid also includes 
Improvements to underpasses in Blackthorn and under Great Billing Way between 
Blackthorn/Rectory Farm and Billing/Ecton Brook, including lighting upgrades, clearing and 
deep cleansing.  Youth provision will also be in place for Bellinge, this will be informed by the 
safety mapping work which will be completed in the area by youth provider Free2Talk with 
young people and the schools. 
 
Community Engagement  
 
School Engagement  
Plans continue for October’s Young Citizens Scheme (face to face community safety event 
with our primary schools across West Northants), to promote healthy, safe and strong 
individuals and communities. Participants will become better citizens, be safer in their schools 
and communities, online and on the roads; be better equipped to make choices and 
understand the consequences of their actions; be better informed of how to react in an 
emergency and have a better understanding of and relationship with the range of agencies 
which operate in West Northants. 
 
Not all schools are able to attend Young Citizens, so we have commissioned Amplitude Media 
to produce a series of animations which cover this range of subjects. The project is now 
complete, and we are in the process of launching the programme to both schools, youth 
groups and any professionals working with young people.  
 
West Northamptonshire Council is working in partnership with The Indian Hindu Welfare 
Organisation (IHWO) engaging with schools across the West to take up the invitation to be 
part of this year’s Diwali Light Parade in Northampton Town Centre on Saturday 15 October 
2022.  Over the past 21 years, the Hindu community has presented a fabulous parade, with 
many different local schools and communities, full of amazing lanterns and costumes.  Festive 
Road CIC - who have a brilliant track record in working with community groups and schools - 
are offering a one-day lantern-making workshop for up to 30 pupils. This a great opportunity 
for children to learn not only the skills to make specific lanterns for the October parade, but 
also about Diwali Lights.  We have 6 schools who have been selected to take part. 
 
Community Forums and Events  
Bike marking and crime prevention event held on the Racecourse on Saturday 9 July in 
partnership with Northants Police to offer free security cycle marking along with information 
and advice. The public were also informed of the recent improvements to CCTV in the park, 
addition of new help points, and the introduction of a new park watch scheme as part of the 
Safer Streets 3 project.  
 
Remembering Srebrenica civic event held at the Guildhall Courtyard on Monday 11 July. 
Speeches made by the Vice Chairman, Northampton’s Mayor, Chair of Northampton Inter Faith 
Forum and Northants Police, followed by a minute of silence and the lighting of 11 candles by 
dignitaries across the West.  
 
Ukraine Independence Day event held at the Guildhall Courtyard and Great Hall on Wednesday 
24th August where West Northamptonshire residents, Ukrainian families and hosts joined the 
nation in commemorating Ukraine’s declared independence from the Soviet Union.  Speeches 

Page 48



 

 

were made by our Chairman, Our Leader, and a Ukrainian community member.  A national 
dance by Ukrainian dancer followed. Members of the public were invited to lay sunflowers. 
 
Personal Safety session delivered to staff at Northampton General Hospital on Wednesday 27 
July with a focus on preventing violence against women and girls. Over 230 personal safety 
items given out and 91 people signed up to Police Neighbourhood Alert scheme. 
 
International Youth Day was held on Northampton Racecourse on Friday 12 August followed 
by youth engagement days on 15 and 16 August in Towcester and Daventry respectively. 
Youth Day brought together partners providing services for young people and offered activity 
tasters. Some activity had to be reduced as a result of the heatwave, but good engagement 
and networking was seen across the event. Consultation took place with young people to 
scope out the expansion of the forum was conducted across all three events, with current 
Youth Forum members surveying their peers. Plans to develop are plans to set up new Youth 
Forums in the Daventry and South Northants localities with a view to creating an overarching 
Youth Parliament for West Northants, giving young people the opportunity to engage in local 
democracy. The current Youth Forum members have provided views and feedback on what 
this might look like and how to engage other young people. Three drop-in sessions have been 
arranged in August to tie in with International Youth Day to start engaging young people in 
each locality around the future plans.  
 
West Northamptonshire Council has been supporting the newly formed trustee board for 
Southbrook Community Centre, Daventry with advice and guidance to help set them up with 
the Charity Commission and become fully constituted to open the centre back up from closing 
since the pandemic.  In partnership with Food for Thought Charity they opened their first 
Community Larder on Wednesday 27 July to run throughout the school holidays to support 
our most vulnerable families, the community run service aims to provide a consistent supply 
of produce at fair prices and at the same time preventing unnecessary food waste.  Every 
week the centre seen over 70 residents, with most signing up to the DWP Household Support 
Fund. 
 
West Northamptonshire Council has been working in partnership with Northamptonshire 
General Practice Alliance in helping to set up Happy Cafes in Daventry and Moulton.  Focussing 
on low level mental health and wellbeing and based on scientific research the Ten Keys to 
Happier Living are explored through the Action for Happiness social movement.  Talks have 
also been held with multiple partners and faith groups in Towcester to identify gaps and 
opportunities for service provision. 
 
Resettlement Schemes 
 
Homes for Ukraine 
We currently have approximately 500 Ukrainians living with sponsors across West Northants. 
All our sponsors and families have had an initial visit from a support worker, some families as 
expected require additional support, whilst others need very limited support. In order to 
increase our offer of services we are working towards ensuring services are accessible and 
delivered at a neighbourhood level. We have created several hubs within our libraries, which 
are being used to deliver:  job clubs with our economic development team; support from DWP 
with access to benefits; ESOL classes; fire service drop in’s for free home fire safety checks; 
and support from the police’s community engagement team.  
 
The support workers are based at the hubs listed below offering direct support to our families 
and sponsors: 

Page 49



 

 

Mondays  Moulton Community Centre (NN3 7AX)  2pm – 4pm  
Tuesdays  Brackley Library (NN13 6AJ)    2pm – 4pm  
Thursdays  Towcester Library (NN12 6AD)   2pm – 4pm  
Fridays  Brixworth Library (NN6 9DS)    1pm – 3pm  
Fridays  Weston Favell Library (NN3 8JZ)  12.30pm – 3pm 
 
Development of the hubs continues.  Alongside this work we are also focusing on rematching 
the families whose sponsors do not wish to continue post six-months. We are aware of these 
families and are working hard to secure alternative placements.  
  
Afghan Bridging Hotels 
There are currently 280 Afghans across our two bridging hotels.  We are seeing families move 
out, but they are quickly replaced by new families arriving from third countries.   
  
Some examples of activity across the hotels include: Debutots (dramatic play and storytelling 
for 6 months - 7-year-olds), sports activity sessions, Learn2Live youth group, cricket courses 
with the Steelbacks, coffee mornings for the Women with local Muslim Women Groups, Adult 
Learning, providing ESOL and cultural awareness courses, hate crime awareness sessions and 
engagement from the local neighbourhood policing teams. Community events have also been 
arranged for the families and British Red Cross and our Domestic Abuse services have provided 
awareness sessions focused on women’s’ rights in the UK. 
 
The focus at the hotels is very much based on move on support, backed up by the 
government’s newly devised housing pathway, allowing Afghan Nationals to find their own 
private sector accommodation. 
 
Afghan Resettlement 
We have pledged to accommodate and resettle 10 households and have recently sourced and 
secured our first private tenancy.  The team are working on getting the property ready for a 
family at one of our hotels to move into.  
 
REGULATORY SERVICES 
  
A multi-agency vehicle check involving our Neighbourhood wardens, Trading Standards team 
and the DVSA and Police took place on one of the hottest days in August at locations in 
Towcester and Upper Heyford. The Police targeted work vehicles including those with trailers 
and machinery as there has been an increase in rural crime relating to the theft of farm 
machinery. Neighbourhood Wardens checked that operators held the correct 
paperwork/license to carry waste and provided advice and guidance on how to correctly 
dispose of commercial waste    Trading Standards provided advice to those in business to 
ensure that they are trading safely and fairly in West Northamptonshire. At the end of one of 
the shifts, the High Sherriff of Northampton who had been observing the checks treated those 
involved to refreshments in recognition of their hard work. 
 
A new ‘No Cold Calling Zone’ has been set up in a residential street in Woodford Halse, thanks 
to our Trading Standards Team working with local police and residents with Neighbourhood 
Wardens helping with erecting the signage.  A no cold calling zone is a designated area where 
the residents declare they will no longer accept traders calling at their homes without an 
appointment. They are clearly signposted, sending a clear message to uninvited callers that 
they are not welcome.  

Page 50



 

 

There are strict criteria for where zones can be located. They must be small areas – for 
example individual streets or sheltered housing areas - where there are higher than average 
levels of doorstep crime and many of the residents are elderly or vulnerable.  
This is the 38th such zone to be designated in West Northamptonshire. 
 
Environmental protection and Health Protection team members from across the area having 
been working together in recent weeks to carry out checks at the Shambala festival at 
Kelmarsh Hall.  Colleagues from the Health Protection team have carried out checks on the 
wide range of mobile food vehicles and catering facilities and reviewed the safety of a range 
of temporary structures.  Environmental Protection team members oversee the noise control 
measures at the festival and work alongside organisers and their noise consultants who 
employ some highly sophisticated technology to monitor noise levels in the surrounding 
villages. 
 
Throughout this year, Northamptonshire Police Chief Inspectors are having surge weeks to 
target Serious and Organised Crime areas. As part of that initiative, our Trading Standards 
team and Northamptonshire Police carried out operations at two Northampton premises 
suspected to be supplying illegal tobacco. Whilst no illegal tobacco was identified on this 
occasion, further visits across WNC will continue as part of the fight against Serious and 
Organised Crime and the links to human trafficking and modern slavery. 
 
A shop sold an e-cigarette to a 16-year-old girl during test purchasing operations carried out 
by our Trading Standards team in August. 
Two girls were used, under the supervision of Trading Standards officers, with one visiting 
visited 7 shops and the other 6 shops, attempting to buy e-cigarettes or cigarettes. The legal 
age to buy these in the UK is 18. 
12 of the shops refused the sales; however, one of the shops sold an e-cigarette after making 
no checks at all and will now face further investigation. 
All of the shops chosen for the exercise were the subject of complaints regarding underage 
sales, and shopkeepers across West Northamptonshire are being reminded of the proof-of-
age checks they must make before selling tobacco or e-cigarettes. Most businesses do this by 
operating a Challenge 25 policy. If a customer looks under the age of 25, proof of age is 
required, and staff must be trained to verify the customer’s age before selling age-restricted 
products. 
 
The Licensing team have reviewed and taken enforcement action against 15 drivers in the last 
five months, this has included revocations, suspensions, refuse to renew etc. and some may 
have been detailed investigations taking place over weeks.  The team have been attending 
schools to carry out multi-agency checks and have picked up some matters that have resulted 
in possible ongoing investigations and may result in cautions etc.  This work was paused 
during the school summer holidays. 
 
Neighbourhood Wardens and the Kingdom LA Support Team continue to issue fixed penalty 
notices for fly tipping and littering offences and have had a number of successful prosecutions 
in the last few weeks.  These related to cases in the Castle, St Georges and Headlands areas 
of Northamptonshire. 
 
A coordinated campaign to encourage residents to care about their local area will be launched 
in the coming weeks.  This will highlight work that is being carried out to deal with fly tipping 
and other environmental crime and highlight how we can all work together to make West 
Northants a better place to live work and thrive. 
 

Page 51



 

 

Working in collaboration with North Northants Council, Regulatory Services have developed a 
new online Event notification form and background process to ensure that Regulatory partners 
are duly notified in a timely manner and have the opportunity to support event organisers to 
hold safe events.  The key aim of the partnership is to provide a quality assured process for 
multi-agency consideration of the safety of events in North and West Northants.  Detail of the 
newly formed West and North Event Safety Partnership and the online form can be found at 
www.westnorthants.gov.uk/esp including a list of guidance documents that event organisers 
can access to help them ensure the organisation of a safe event.  
 
Councillor David Smith 
Cabinet Member for Community Safety, Engagement and Regulatory 
Services 

Page 52

http://www.westnorthants.gov.uk/esp


Report of Councillor Daniel Lister 
Cabinet Member for Economic 

Development, Town Centre 
Regeneration and Growth 

September 2022 

 
 
Major Projects and Regeneration Summary 
 
Northampton Bike Park 
 
The new £725k bike park that has been created on part of the land which was being used as part of 
Delapré Golf Centre until around six years ago has now opened to the public. Project was funded by 
West Northamptonshire Council and Sport England and is the only facility of its kind within two hours 
of the site. The park has been constructed by On Track, one of the top mountain bike park builders in 
the country who also designed and built Bike Park Wales, the largest Bike Park in Europe. 
 
Aimed at attracting enthusiasts from West Northants and beyond, it features a range of facilities for all 
abilities of rider, from a skills area for children on balance bikes, up to the most demanding trails for 
experts in mountain and BMX biking, all free to use. 
 
The new facility offers: 

• A multi-user green trail, which is an easy, dual-direction cycle route across the site, connecting 
Houghton Hill to the underpass for the A45  

• Blue (moderate), red (difficult) and black (severe) off-road mountain bike trails for different 
abilities with dual tracks which will allow head-to-head riding  

• Five gathering spots where riders can meet to discuss the next section of track, and coaching 
can be provided  

• Climb sections – which are uphill sections to test endurance 
• A mountain bike skills area  

 
The bike park is due to open to the public in the autumn  
 
Vulcan Works 
 
Northampton’s revamped Vulcan Works played host to visitors in August for a tour of the newly 
refurbished site including Andrew Lewer MP, West Northamptonshire’s councillors, members of the 
council’s regeneration team, funding partners and operators ahead of the full opening. 
 
Originally a Grade II listed ironworks factory, Vulcan Works was built in 1875 for engineering company 
Mobbs & Co and was later turned into a leather warehouse. It is considered one of the best surviving 
engineering works for production of boot and shoe industry machinery. The building has been 
transformed into a mixture of renovation and new build and is located in the area between Guildhall 
Road, Angel Street, Fetter Street and St John's Street within Northampton's Cultural Quarter. 
 
Over the past few years it has undergone a £14 million regeneration project which has involved the 
refurbishment of the old iron stonework factories along Guildhall Road, the refurbishment of the former 
museum store and the creation of a new three-storey building on the corner of St John's Street and 
Fetter Street as well as constructing a new block on Angel Street. The development has created 68 
lettable units, including office, studio and managed workshop space specifically aimed at start-ups and 
growing businesses within the creative industry. Units range from 10m2 to 100m2. 
 

Page 53



The operators for the hub have been appointed in September 2022 and the mobilisation to get it open 
has started. It is expected that the hub will be open to businesses in January 2023.  
 
Mulberry Place, Daventry 
 
The new cinema at Mulberry Place, Daventry, is continuing to operate successfully with the operator 
demonstrating that they are keen to establish themselves as part of the local economy and 
community. It has been good to see the positive response by the public to the new cinema on social 
media with the public realm outside the cinema has seen good use in the summer months. 
 
The two restaurant units that sit within the Mulberry Place scheme will have a pizza restaurant and 
burger restaurant are continuing to progress.  The tenant is progressing with the fit out of the units 
and has announced that they will be opening to the public on the 10th October.  WNC are continuing to 
assist where we can with sorting out issues. 
 
Four Waterside and Marefair 
 
The Council took a report to Cabinet on the 13th September to approve the business cases for Four 
Waterside and Marefair development sites. The funding secured through the Towns Fund and Enterprise 
Zone Business Rates Uplift will unlock a cleared 4-acre site opposite Northampton train station, 
transforming the gateway into the town centre.  
 
Four Waterside will deliver much needed residential, high quality Grade A office space and a four star 
hotel. Marefair will see the delivery of high quality residential scheme as well as a heritage park 
celebrating and showcasing the rich heritage and history of the former Northampton Castle and Middle 
Aged Saxon Settlement. 
 
The Four Waterside site and the residential element of Marefair will be delivered via a Development 
Agreement and the heritage park element of Marefair will be directly delivered by the Council. 
Procurement documentation for the Development Agreement has started to be drafted with the launch 
planned for this winter.  
 
It is expected that works for the Heritage Park will start on site in Winter 2023 and be completed by 
Spring 2025. Four Waterside will see works finish in 2027.  
 
The Council are also exploring further funding for the Marefair Heritage Park through the National 
Lottery Heritage Fund with an Expression of Interest submitted on the 16th September and a second 
application to be submitted in November.  
 
Levelling Up Fund 
 
The submission into the Levelling Up Fund was made on 28th July, the final four projects that were 
submitted were: Moulton College Development of Animal Welfare Training Facilities, Weston Favell 
Health and Wellbeing Hub, Maggies Northampton Cancer Support Clinic and Delapre Abbey Stable 
Blocks and Wellbeing Hub, this is currently being considered by government with an announcement 
expected around the time of the autumn budget statement. 
 
 
Northampton Market Square 
 
Tender submission for the transformation of Northampton Market Square have been received with these 
currently being evaluated ahead of an appointment being made later this month. 
 

Page 54



Work on Market Square – due to start in early 2023 – will include resurfacing using high quality natural 
materials, a major new water feature, additional trees, new public seating, redesigned market stalls 
and a new lighting scheme. Works are due to complete in Winter 2024.  
 
Work to relocate the market traders while the main works are undertaken continues with a planning 
application for the temporary location on Commercial Street Car park submitted earlier this month. 
 
Sponne Arcade Car Park 
 
Jenkins Wier were approved as the contractor to begin works to increase the size of Sponne Arcade in 
Towcester at Cabinet in June. The works will see the demolition of the former co-op building in 
Towcester which has become vacant it has lay dormant for many years and has been subject to 
vandalism, break-ins, other anti-social behaviour. The project will see increased car park capacity, which 
allows for greater accessibility for disabled and family parking, motorcycle bays, a bicycle shelter, as 
well as landscaped boarders, improved lighting, CCTV and seating along the main pathway that joins 
Richmond Road with Watling Street, a vital pedestrian link for the town. 
 
Works are due to start on site in October 2022 and finish in March 2023.  
 
Old Black Lion 
Works to restore the vacant Old Black Lion pub in Northampton commenced in June, with the works 
due to bring the building back to its former coach House splendour adding to the heritage Gateway 
area of Northampton. 
 
A contractor has been appointed for the works which are due to start on site in early 2023 and finish 
in Spring 2024.  
 
Watermeadows 
 
Works on the first 2 phases of work at the Watermeadows in Towcester are now complete, with the 
third phase, which will be to remove the damage weir, being progressed. Phase 3 works are due to be 
complete in Spring 2023.  
 
 
Economy Team Summary 
  
UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 
  
WNC has developed and submitted the WNC Investment Plan outlining how the WNC allocation of 
£5,426,224 of UKSPF will be used across 12 government-provided interventions which align with the 
three investment priorities Communities and Place, Supporting Local Business and People and Skills.  
  
In developing the Investment Plan, WNC engaged with councillors, organisations across the public, 
private and third sectors, internal services and MPs to identify the opportunities and challenges for the 
area, to inform the selection of interventions and the allocation of funding. 
  
Multiply Funding 
  
In June 2022, WNC submitted its Multiply Funding Investment Plan to the Department for Education 
(DfE), to draw down £1.9m funding for 2022 to 2025 to support Adult Numeracy in West 
Northamptonshire.   
  
Multiply Funding is part of the UKSPF, which replaces the European Social Fund and is one of the first 
programme areas under the UKSPF People and Skills Pillar. The Multiply funding required WNC to 

Page 55



develop a separate investment plan for bespoke adult numeracy programmes, against a national menu 
of interventions. 
 
WNC have recently been advised that the DfE have approved the WNC Multiply Investment Plan and 
have confirmed West Northamptonshire will receive the full first year allocation of Multiply Funding of 
£574,774.19. 
  
Supporting Local Businesses  
  
Supporting local employers, as well as attracting new ones into the area, continues be a high priority 
for the Economy Team. The team have been dealing with a variety of enquiries from businesses looking 
for new premises in the area, as well as looking for support with accessing funding, growing their 
business and networking opportunities.   
  
The Economy team’s social media posts and monthly business e-newsletter of latest news, local 
initiatives and opportunities, events, information, and more is seen by a huge number of businesses.  
  
The Economy team continue to actively promote their business support activities and recently attended 
the Northamptonshire Chamber of Commerce’s Business Expo. 
  
Supporting Local Employment  
  
The Economy Team continue to provide employment support and work with residents and employers 
to ensure local vacancies are filled by local people. 
  
The Economy team produce a monthly employment e-newsletter which promotes the latest jobs fairs, 
vacancies and training opportunities and signposts to a variety of employment support partners the 
team works with. 
  
On Monday 15 August, in partnership with DWP, the Economy team delivered a Ukrainian Refugee 
Employment Support event in partnership with DWP at Northampton Central Library.  The event was 
attended by local employers and support providers including Futures For You and Travis Perkins and 
provided a variety of free help and support to apply, find work and information of the latest local 
vacancies.   
  
Supporting the Local Visitor Economy 
  
The Economy Team continue to support the Visitor Economy and work with a variety of partners to 
promote local attractions, events and everything West Northamptonshire has to offer. 
  
The Economy team have been working with Northamptonshire Surprise and North Northamptonshire 
Council to develop the ‘Go Northamptonshire’ Autumn/Winter 2022 marketing campaign to raise the 
profile of Northamptonshire and attract day and overnights visitors to the area.  
  
The team have also been supporting the annual Heritage Open Days campaign for September 2022, 
working with a variety of local businesses and attractions to take part, deliver events, tours and more. 
A dedicated page on the WNC website published the businesses and attractions taking part to celebrate 
the heritage and culture in West Northamptonshire. 
 
The “Explore West Northants” App has been launched to showcase local businesses, attractions, events, 
walking paths and more. It has been developed to promote everything West Northants has to offer and 
allow residents and visitors to explore the wide variety of things to see, do and enjoy. The Economy 
Team have been working closely with a variety of partners and local businesses to promote the app 
since its launch.  

Page 56



 
The App was funded through Welcome Back Funding for a two-year period to support residents and 
visitors back to the High Streets. The Economy Team have been expanding the app capabilities by 
enhancing its use to beyond focussing on the West Northamptonshire High Streets, to allow every 
business in West Northants to benefit from the platform. The app includes a growing number of 
businesses, attractions, events and discounts/offers to showcase everything to explore and enjoy in 
West Northamptonshire.  
 
Since launching to the public in July, there have already been over 500 downloads of the platform and 
the Economy Team have long-term plans to engage with residents and visitors to utilise this tool. The 
app allows businesses, stakeholders and attractions to publicise events and offers, including local 
libraries, leisure centres and town councils who are all live on ExploreWN. The app has also been 
converted into a website to increase engagement - http://explorewn.co.uk/ 
  
There are plans to upgrade the ExploreWN app based on user need, exploring opportunities for loyalty 
schemes and trails. Currently organisations can offer in-person offers/discounts to attract physical 
footfall into the town, promote physical events to attract residents and visitors into the area and to 
utilise local amenities. Organisations can promote themselves, their social media and website, 
communicate directly through the platform, offer delivery and click-and-collect, plus operate through 
the app, using it as an e-commerce tool. It is a robust offer focused on increasing footfall and local 
spend, whilst also offering virtual services. This will also safeguard businesses if there was a need to 
close or small businesses who don’t yet have a physical premise or even a website. The app is a way 
to allow organisations to be discovered, to drive footfall across all of West Northants and to boost the 
local economy. 
  
Feedback from one of our local attractions was “Sulgrave Manor has so much to offer residents, visitors 
and the community. The Explore West Northants app not only allows us to engage with new and existing 
customers, but we can promote events and offers on there too! This is a fantastic initiative by West 
Northants Council and we hope every business, attraction, resident and visitor use this innovative tool.” 
 
 
Councillor Daniel Lister 
Cabinet Member for Economic Development, Town Centre Regeneration & Growth 
  
 
 

Page 57

http://explorewn.co.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report of Councillor Matt Golby 
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care & 

Public Health 
 

Date 29th September 2022 
 
 
ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
 
 
The integrated Care System work continues to develop at pace. The Integrated Care Board 
that replaced the CCG has been in place since the 1st July 2022. The governance structure 
supporting the Health & Wellbeing Board is nearly fully operationalised and the Outcomes 
Framework is in its final draft and reflects the full ambition of what the Integrated Care 
Northamptonshire wants to achieve across the system across health and care, education, 
safe communities, housing and employment.  The outcomes framework is a key part of the 
Integrated Care Strategy that sets the key strategic priorities of the ICN. The first pioneer 
Local Area Partnerships LAPs for West Northamptonshire Council will be meeting by mid 
October.  
 
The telehealth/Assistive technology project supported by Call Care is now in its 3rd month of 
implementation.  We are undertaking an initial analysis of the data but the feedback from the 
GPs involved is that it is enabling them to intervene earlier because of the instant access to 
clinical data and has reduced the day to day demands on GP time from care homes.  
 
The preparation for the introduction of CQC regulation for Local Authorities is continuing to 
progress.  From next month we will have in place the Assurance and Performance Board that 
will oversee quality and assurance across adult social care.  We continue to lead on the regional 
ADASS work for inspection readiness. 
 
In October 2020, Adult services implemented a new Target Operating Model which included a 
new approach to assessing called the three conversations. As the model has now been in place 
for over 18 months it was felt that a review should be completed. A six-week programme of 
engagement sessions and workshops has since taken place to seek the views of staff, to 
understand what is working and where improvements could be made. The outcomes of the 
sessions alongside analysis of the demand across the teams is being collated in a final report 
to enable next steps to be decided.  
 
Adult services continues to work across the ICS Mental Health and Learning Disability and 
Autism collaborative looking at community services, crisis services to reduce the need for 
people to access hospital and services and support to discharge people from hospitals as 
quickly as possible.  
 
The Moving into Adulthood Devleopment Manager is working on a comprehensive moving into 
adulthood action plan to identify the steps required to ensure Young People are appropriately 
supported when they require support from Adult Services. This will be linked with actions taking 
place in the Children’s Trust and across Education services.   
 
The Social Care Charging Reform programme is starting to make progress towards 
understanding what the impacts will be on people, and for us as a Council. We have completed 

Page 59



our analysis of the self-funder market which is helping us to inform the significance of 
implementation as well as to understand what the changes to self-funding rates will mean to 
us. We are continuing to work on the Fair Cost of Care and Market Sustainability requirements 
and our intention is that a full update, including financial analysis, will be brought to Cabinet in 
November for discussion. 
 
In preparation for reform, we are currently working on 2 key commissioning projects for home 
care and care homes, with a view that this will enable sufficient contracted care capacity to 
manage the demands that reform will bring. Further updates and proposals will be brought to 
cabinet later this year. 
 
Adults Services is also pleased to announce that in 2022 we will be introducing an online 
financial assessment tool, which will help people to digitally provide us with the information 
required to ascertain their contribution towards the cost of their care. The tool will also have the 
ability to calculate a person’s entitlement to state benefits, and support them to make an 
application for these benefits. 
 
The commissioning team is also making great strides in working in partnership with our housing 
teams, with a view that adult social care needs are identified and address via the WNC Housing 
Strategy. This would include supported living / accommodation, extra care housing and other 
supported housing settings. 
 
The Transfer of Care Hub is working well and responding to the many referrals we receive on 
a daily basis from the acute hospital.  The number of people with a no “right to remain” in 
Northampton General Hospital remains a challenge for us as a system and we are exploring 
alternative ways of working with NGH and ICS.  An integrated review of the Transfer of Care 
Hub has commenced with both NGH and NHFT. 
 
Pathway 1 (supporting people with short term support at home on discharge from hospital) 
remodel review has taken place which recommended a structural and operational change to 
Reablement West.  This change has now taken place and RW will commence their new 
operating model on the 19 September 2022.  This provided us the opportunity to increase the 
number of front-facing staff as well as produce new job descriptions which were evaluated at a 
higher grade.  Recruitment is going well.  Reablement West had a CQC inspection visit 
yesterday, and we will receive feedback on Friday 16th September. 
 
Pathway 2 (supporting people with short term support in a residential placement on discharge 
from hospital) remodel review is taking place.  The outcome of the review will provide us with 
an opportunity to develop an integrated 51 bedded Recovery & Independence Centre at Turn 
Furlong.  A draft memorandum of understanding is being developed between WNC and NHFT 
and a draft Standard Operating Procedure is being developed to provide clear guidance and 
practice to both WNC and NHFT operational staff.  Recruitment within WNC and NHFT is going 
well. 
 
 
PUBLIC HEALTH 
 
Consultation with staff on disaggregation of public health management, commissioning and 
wellbeing services has completed for transition to new North and West services by the 1st 
October.  
 

Page 60



New projects commissioned include the community cooking and growing programme (provided 
by Hope and Groundworks). Progress and development of existing projects include: public 
engagement events as part of our “Well Northants” community development programme and 
the development of neighbourhood profiles in preparation for community voting days, where 
the community will decide how funding is allocated, between November and January; 
continuation of the parent infant relationship programme for families aged 0-2;  
extension of the breast-feeding peer support project to cover Northampton. 
 
Work to support the Integrated Care System development has included: development of a 
summary JSNA to inform the ICS Strategy; development of a first iteration of the ICP Outcomes 
Framework; participation in Action Learning sets as part of the Population Health Management 
(PHM) Programme – working with primary care to use PHM approaches to identify priorities 
and develop prevention interventions. 
 
Other strategic work has included: development of a Sexual Health Network and sector-led 
improvement work in this area; completion and publication of the Suicide Prevention Strategy 
and development of the Mental Health Prevention Concordat and associated action plan; 
development of a prioritised Antipoverty Strategy Action Plan and as part of this a proposal for 
a social welfare alliance; publication of the Health Inequalities Plan. We are also working closely 
with Children’s services to explore the development of ‘Family Hubs’ in West Northants.  
 
Data and intelligence work has included: the survey of oral health of 5-year-olds and SHEU 
(schools health education unit) survey in primary and secondary schools; development of an 
all-age Mental Health JSNA and Mental Health Awareness and Training for community and 
workforce across the system. 
 
The Household Support Fund2 (HSF2) distribution of funds is continuing to operate until 30th 
September 2022, and funds can be utilised by recipients before 31st October 2022. The 
allocation provided to WNC is £2.6m, to be distributed equally between; 
 

1. Families with Children,  
2. Pensioners,  
3. Households Severely Impacted by rising costs 

 
The HSF operational team, in place within the PH Recovery and Wellbeing Programme, are 
overseeing and closely monitoring the run rates on a weekly basis to ensure that the DWP 
guidelines are being complied with and that the allocated funds are being maximised across 
the 3 segments. 
 
Of the £2.6m allocated to WNC by DWP, over £2.5m has either been spent or committed. 
Over £1.2m has been issued to support families with children since the start of the scheme 
and over 10k children have benefited. In addition, WNC HSF2 has issued an additional £20k 
cash donation to the Food Alliance Network FAAWN to provide additional support to 
households with families who may suffer food poverty once the scheme has closed. 
 
Pensioners have now redeemed 80% of the post office cash vouchers issued. A £60k cash 
donation is in the process of being paid to voluntary organisations @ £15k per organisation 
supporting the pensioner cohort. The organisations to receive the funds are; Age Concern, 
Age UK, Alzheimer's Society, Dementia UK. 1059 disabled pensioners have applied for the 
additional funds at £100, these are being issued currently. 
 

Page 61



Northamptonshire Community Foundation (NCF) have practically distributed 100% of their 
stock to households via local voluntary organisations. 
 
Public Health has also consulted with partners across Northamptonshire to develop the 
Combating Drugs Partnership with plans submitted to central government in August. The 
Partnership will be established in Autumn, with Northamptonshire councils working with a range 
of stakeholders including probation, the police, the Police and Crime Commissioner, and the 
ICB.  
 
Finally, with regards to Health Protection, the Public Health team has refreshed its Local 
Outbreak Management Plan for Northamptonshire. This includes surge plans and procedures 
for incident management, vaccination, test and trace and standing up the operation battle 
rhythm for Covid-19 response and recovery. Between May and June, the Public Health Covid 
Mobile Vaccination Outreach Programme has operated 36 clinics in West Northants and 
administered 1,013 vaccinations (including 1st, 2nd and booster doses) visiting 
neighbourhoods where vaccine take up is low.  
 
Broader work around vaccination, screening and infection prevention and control has focused 
on reaching those experiencing inequalities including at the Afghan Bridging hotel/Asylum 
Hotels, with Ukraine support groups, and outreach with homeless communities. With focused 
work on monkey pox prevention for high risk groups. 
 
 
 
Councillor Matt Golby 
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care & Public Health 

Page 62



 

Report of Councillor Malcolm Longley 
Cabinet Member for Finance 

 
September 2022 

 
 
  
 

 
 

Assets & Environment 
 
Property Strategy and Estates 
 
Since the last update, we are continuing to implement the new structure. Recruitment remains 
a challenge with numerous vacant posts in the structure.  
 
It remains vital to understand the Council’s estate and ensure income due is received. In 
particular, work has continued regularising the estates data of the former Northampton Borough 
Council (NBC) with a comprehensive review of all lease data from the former commercial estate 
nearing completion.  
 
Key projects updates: 
 

• Estates Management Database Procurement – Work is progressing on the 
procurement of a new estates management database that will replace the four separate 
processes that existed in the predecessor councils. We have commenced soft market 
testing to refine our expectations / requirements before we start a full procurement 
exercise later this year. The new system will be in place by March 2024.  

• Estates Coding – A standardised estates coding for the Council has been agreed. The 
Asset Records Team have mapped all locations. We are currently reviewing the 
structure of the properties to determine if additional coding rationalisation can be 
achieved. The new codes will facilitate the consolidation of existing 60 costs centres, to 
support effective financial management. 

• Asset Valuations – A new asset valuation schedule has been created but will need to 
be updated following recent work on the audits. We are currently in the process of 
tendering for a new external valuer. Tenders have been received and we aim to have a 
decision by mid-September. We are also continuing to support Finance with the closure 
of the 2020/21 accounts. 

• Aged Debt – We are currently working with Debt Recovery to agree processes for wider 
tenant engagement and to pursue aged debt. We are also considering the potential 
impact that the Commercial Rent (Coronavirus) Bill may have on the Council’s ability to 
recover all the debt.  

• Portfolio Review – We have continued to review the corporate portfolio and identify 
outstanding lease events. We are currently working on a process to ensure that these 
are implemented, to ensure that we generate the maximum revenue returns as soon as 
possible.  

Page 63



• EPC Assessment – As part of the above portfolio review, we are also assessing current 
energy performance certificate (EPC) assessments, principally within the investment 
category at this stage, and are in the process of procuring an EPC on those properties 
where one is currently not available, or where it has previously expired. This is to assess 
the potential impact on the Council of the changes to the Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standards (MEES) which come into force in 2023 and which could require expenditure 
to achieve the required MEES ratings. 

 
Facilities Management 
 
FM Structure 
We are continuing with the implementation of the new FM structure; the focus has initially been 
on the FM senior management team. The Northampton Area Facilities Manager post has 
recently been filled by Shelley Parker, former Guildhall Facilities Manager. Recruitment to the 
‘Rural’ Area Manager is at interview stage and is expected to be concluded in the next two 
weeks. We have also permanently recruited Samantha Chauhan as the local Facilities 
Manager for One Angel Square, County Hall and the Vaccination Centre. Samantha previously 
occupied this post on an agency basis.  
 
Due to the challenge recruiting to the Head of Public Realm position, the Public Realm team 
will temporarily merge with the Facilities Management team reporting to the Head of Facilities. 
There are clear synergies and differences between the two service areas. There is potential for 
this arrangement to become permanent, but this will dependant on the success of the 
temporary arrangement.  
 
Current projects 
There are several projects underway which the Facilities Management team are either leading 
or have a key role within: 
• Budget mitigations – We have provided several options for budget mitigations, with a 

proposed in year saving of £130K and a 2023/24 saving of £320K.  
• Postal integration – The project sees the four former post services become one WNC 

service, based at the Guildhall. Following the implementation of hybrid mail and the 
redirection of post, the One Angel Square post room has now closed. All services, apart 
from Parking and the Stop Smoking team, are now using the electronic mail service for 
outgoing mail. The two remaining services expected to be onboard in the next few weeks. 
Once completed we look forward to the integration of the services in Daventry and 
Towcester, whilst also facilitating the closure of Lodge Road. 

• Office optimisation – Working to create a property portfolio that fits the needs of WNC 
both in turns of accommodation and budget.  

• Decommissioning of Lodge Road and establishment of the Abbey – FM will take the 
lead role in relocating services to new accommodation, decommissioning, and closing the 
building.  

• Integrating the Facilities Management Helpdesk service across WNC – The 
requirement is currently managed slightly differently across WNC. With the expected 
outcome to have one integrated Property Helpdesk for WNC. The required systems 
elements are almost complete, and we are hoping to go live with Towcester in the autumn. 

• Integrated access control system for WNC – Cabinet approved the budget of £80k. The 
IT Team is currently reviewing the proposed solution to determine what changes would be 
preferred so the start of implementation is temporarily paused until that work has been 
completed. Implementation of the works is being managed by the Construction Team. 

Page 64



• St Johns and the Vulcan Works – The Service has worked across Assets & Environment 
to transfer the operational ownership of these facilities to the new provider, procured by the 
Regeneration team. FM continues to support this site until the transfer is completed. Oxford 
Innovations have now been appointed as the operating contractor for these sites and we 
are in the process of handing over the operational control of the site to the it. 

• Installation of new Intruder alarms – 13 corporate property sites have been completed 
and the IT Team will be adding data links.  

• Work Driver Policy – We have created the draft policy is currently with the Health and 
Safety policy subgroup for review. We hope to be able to launch the policy in the autumn.  

• Fire Warden and First Aid requirements – Agreed process and supplementary payments 
of £250pa, paid monthly, awarded to those staff that carry out Fire Warden, First Aid and 
Mental Health First Aid for WNC. Working through the final processes with the expected 
launch to be in the autumn.  

 
Works 
 
Property Maintenance & Assurance 
 
Term maintenance contracts 
Electrical and building fabric term maintenance contracts have been let on a 4-year basis to 
local suppliers that have serviced previously districts, borough and county councils. Further 
procurement activities continue to be procured as contracts existing prior to vesting day expire. 
 
Statutory and mandatory compliance 
Statutory compliance continues to be delivered as we bring together data and information from 
previous councils. Procure continues to put in place 4-year term contracts for asbestos, radon 
and water management.    
 
Planned maintenance and minor works 
A wide range of works continue, including: 
 
Judges Lodgings: areas of the lodgings have been redecorated and floor finished replaced. It 
is intended to continue with the works to the exterior of the lodgings and roof. Subject to 
approval works will proceed to isolate building services so that the Lodgings are separated from 
neighbouring Sessions House. 
 
Wootton Hall Park: Ex-DVLA and Bolton House have now been demolished and subject to the 
relocation of the met lab attached to Trading Standards these buildings will also be demolished.   
 
Temporary accommodation: Working with housing colleagues to provide 18 houses in Daventry 
for essential temporary accommodation for the most vulnerable within the area is ongoing. 12 
houses are now suitable for use. 
  
Historic Monuments: Repairs to various structures are being procured. 
  
Northampton PFI Schools 
 
External consultants have been appointed to rebuild the PFI affordability model which will 
enable further discussion with the Department for Education to seek to recover additional facility 
management costs. 
 

Page 65



The first phase works to enable Hunsbury Park Primary to take SEND pupils has been 
completed. Works are now proceeding to complete the second phase for October half term and 
then the final new build to be complete by September 2023. Works have been completed as 
Blackthorn’s Primary and The Duston secondary school. Works also continue at Northampton 
School for Girls. Various schools to carry out modifications, and to meet special educational 
needs and disability (SEND) needs has continued. 
 
The PFI Project team have been tackling the contractor in respect of its performance which has 
led to discussions with the Contractor and their FM contractor, Amey, at director level.   
 
Policies 
Both fire and radon policies have been signed off by the joint health and safety committee and 
are now live Council policies.  
 
Construction The team is working on a wide range of projects from feasibility to construction. 
Highlights among the construction projects include: 
 

Mulberry Place, Daventry: The cinema operator is still being pursued to complete the lease. 
Work is ongoing on the tripartite agreement between the contractor, the operator and the 
Council which will facilitate the settlement of the operator's costs which it incurred whilst the 
contractor was rectifying the ceiling drop rod issues which, in turn, delayed the fit out works. 
The Council is not required to pay any of those costs. The restaurant tenant’s fit-out works have 
been much slower than anticipated, but these are likely to be open during September 2022. 

Marie Weller Primary School, Towcester: The new primary school opened in September 2022, 
but the contractor is yet complete the correction of defects and some that were to be completed 
during the summer holiday remain. Dialogue with the contractor is ongoing.  

Radstone Primary School, Brackley and Silverstone Primary School: Legal work between the 
Council and the liquidated original contractor’s administrators is ongoing. 

Elderly People's Homes (EPH): Refurbishment of water damaged shower facilities, undertaking 
works that have been identified via Fire Risk Assessments (FRA) and undertaking works that 
have been identified via building condition surveys. 

Braunston – Daventry Cycle Track Phase 2 (from Canal & River Trust (CRT) access track near 
Braunston Tunnel West Portal to Braunston village via the Grand Union Canal towpath and 
existing highway). As a significant section is on CRT land, this requires its cooperation and 
partnership working. The Council has commissioned CRT to investigate options for the Phase 
2 route and this is nearly completed with a draft report being produced for discussion. Funding 
from the Council’s CIL fund is being sought for a further £500k to fund Phase 2. 

Northampton Guildhall heating: The feasibility work to replace and relocate the boilers at the 
Guildhall is ongoing. Various options have been investigated, but further work is required as 
the existing cooling system has failed and there may be an opportunity to replace that also. 
The preferred option to replace the heating system will improve energy efficiency and access 
for easier installation, maintenance and replacement with little heritage impact.  

Professional services framework: The successful and unsuccessful contractors have been 
notified and the award made with no legal challenges. The contracts are being completed by 

Page 66



the Council’s lawyers which will allow the framework to be used. The legal work is taking longer 
than anticipated, but it is hoped that the framework will be open for use in September 2022. 

Northampton Leisure Centres: The major scheme of replacement plant and equipment 
approved originally by the former NBC Cabinet is being implemented. The first phase of works 
has been completed. Options for work at Danes Camp have been evaluated and costed as 
have options for a second phase of work for Mounts Baths. It has been found that, due to the 
age and condition of some heating, ventilation and electrical equipment, more replacement and 
refurbishment works was necessary and is still required to achieve the original intended 
performance.  

Whilst undertaking design and installation work, it was discovered that works to reduce fire risk 
at the leisure centres is likely to be required and so a budget was approved by Cabinet in 
February 2022 for any works identified by a Fire Risk Assessment (FRA). The FRAs are nearing 
completion, but additional investigation is needed regarding adequacy of fire compartmentation 
required to block the spread of fire. The works will be undertaken separately to the energy 
efficiency works described above. 

Units 4-14 High March, Daventry: This project is to convert and refurbish six existing, individual, 
dilapidated commercial units that are adjacent to each other in a block to create circa 30,000 
sq ft for a single tenant that needs to expand its business. A budget of £1.8 million has been 
approved. Multidisciplinary consultants have undertaken design and costings on options 
ranging from a basic refurbishment at circa £1.0m to achieving undertaking a refurbishment at 
£3.9 million which would achieve net zero in operation. Options are now being considered.  

Completion of Highway Infrastructure at Middlemore Residential Estate, Daventry: 
Unfortunately, no tenders were received for completion of the remaining unsurfaced length of 
carriageway and footway. An alternative procurement route through the Council’s construction 
frameworks is being pursued.  

Legacy Bridge, Grand Union Canal Towpath, Braunston: This Canal & River Trust (CRT) 
project to replace an existing narrow footbridge which carries the towpath over an entrance to 
Braunston Marina has been subject to design changes which has resulted in more expensive 
foundations being required. The estimate cost has increased from £330k to £650k and the CRT 
will not be able to undertake this project without securing external funding.  

Delapre Park – Active Travel Scheme and Cycle Hub: With the assistance of the Council, 
Delapre Park made an application to the Government's Active Social Prescribing Fund for circa 
£1.5 million as a Social Prescribing Pilot. The proposal was awarded £93k revenue funding to 
develop a feasibility project and this was submitted to the Department for Transport at the end 
of April 2022 with a hope to secure further revenue funding of £150k per year for three years 
to operate a pilot project. Unfortunately, the application for pilot project funding was 
unsuccessful. Options are being developed for the delivery of this project, one being to work 
with the Council’s Highways Team to try to secure further Government Active Travel funding 
when it becomes available in the future. Applications have been submitted internally for CIL 
funding and Public Health Grant funding to support the implementation of the project should 
future Government grant not be awarded or is insufficient. 

Delapre Park – Gate Lodge Conversion – Feasibility work has been completed and it has been 
concluded that the currently vacant and dilapidated lodge could be renovated and reconfigured 
to provide office and meeting accommodation for the Far Cotton & Delapre Community Council. 

Page 67



Funding will be sought to establish a budget to develop the project supported by a business 
case. Bat surveys are currently being undertaken and a cost estimate is being produced. 

Abington Park (East) Toilets: The existing toilet block and changing facilities on the eastern 
part of the park are subjected to repeated vandalism and the flat roof of the changing facilities 
is a health and safety concern as people climb on to it and that could result in injury. The project 
is to relocate the facilities to a location where they are subject to greater natural surveillance to 
deter vandalism, and to demolish the existing facilities. The preferred location will be 
determined by consultation with users of the park, an assessment of whether the preferred 
location is reasonably practicable in terms of capital and revenue costs associated with the 
location and whether it would meet the objectives of security and practicality. The initial cost 
estimate is £1.2m and it is proposed that this be funded from CIL. This is awaiting approval of 
funding. 

Queen’s Green Canopy: To celebrate the platinum jubilee of Queen Elizabeth II in 2022, the 
Queen’s Green Canopy (QGC) tree planting initiative has been created. This “invites people 
from across the United Kingdom to “Plant a Tree for the Jubilee”. WNC's role has two aspects: 
Firstly, engaging with parish councils and community groups to help them achieve suitable 
planting. Secondly, to agree and secure planting on WNC land. In both cases this needs to 
include consideration of the future management of maintenance of the trees. In order to deliver 
the second aspect, it will be necessary to have funding for the purchasing and planting of semi-
mature trees on WNC land. Unfortunately, an application for Public Health Grant funding was 
declined so funding remains an issue. The Council has purchased commemorative plaques 
which are now available for organisations/groups to collect and place at their planting project. 

Long Buckby Flood Alleviation Scheme: Working with the Flood & Water Team to deliver a 
flood alleviation scheme which is at design stage. Investigations into utility locations and pipe 
conditions along with statutory approvals from Anglian Water are ongoing. The works will 
temporarily prevent access to an agricultural field, so the framer requires the investigation 
works to be delayed until September 2022 after harvest. The project has a series of 
complications and risks which need to be addressed before work can commence. 

New Towcester Care Home: Initial feasibility work has enabled a site to be identified in 
Towcester. This can now be taken forward with further investigation and discussion with 
stakeholders to determine if constructing a new care home with circa 100 bedrooms to enhance 
provision in the area is viable. Funding will be sought to establish a budget to undertake more 
detailed feasibility work supported by a business case. This is ongoing. 

Refurbishment of New Street Toilets, Daventry: This is a legacy project and being delivered 
through the Council’s construction framework. The works are nearing a start on site, but this 
will not commence until the contract for the works has been completed and communications 
with interested parties have been completed to advise of the temporary closure whilst work is 
undertaken. Temporary toilets will be provided. 

Northampton Central Library: A budget of £425k was approved to address building condition 
problems identified by a condition survey. These works identified mainly relate to the roof and 
fenestration. The works are currently at design and specification stage. 
 
Abington Museum: A budget of £270k was approved to replace the defective heating system, 
improve ventilation and radon issues. Design options are being produced. 
 

Page 68



Booth Meadow House: Works to refurbish roofing and cladding are required and design options 
are being produced. 
 
Replacement of Footbridges in Northampton: The Council owns several bridges in parks and 
open spaces and three at Kingsthorpe Nature Reserve have been identified as being in very 
poor condition need to be replaced. A budget of £100k was approved for this year, but 
additional funds will be required to undertake the works. Design and procurement options are 
being considered. 
 
Northampton Childrens Trust Projects: Property condition surveys have identified a significant 
scope of refurbishment works that are required to keep the properties safe, warm and dry. A 
programme is being produced to implement works to address this. Properties where works are 
being planned are: 
 

• Welford House – Phase 1 complete, Phase 2 in design. 
• Arnold House – currently at design/specification stage for showers. 
• Family Forum Centre, Weston Favel 
• Daventry West Children’s Centre  
• Kingsthorpe Grove Children’s Centre 
• Farm Youth Community Centre 
• Blackthorne Community Centre 
• Thorplands Community Centre 

Proposed new schools: Feasibility work is proceeding on the following: 

• New 2FE primary school on the Overstone Leys SUE funded from S106 contributions. 
• New 2 FE primary school on Norwood Farm SUE funded from S106 contributions. 
• Conversion of a former young people’s secure unit at St John’s, Tiffield to provide an 

extension to the existing Gateway SEND School which is on the same site. This is 
feasible, but the estimated cost was significantly above the target budget, so this is being 
considered further.  

• New SEND school, also at St John’s Tiffield. Feasibility work is being undertaken to see 
how the site can accommodate a new all-through 250 place school.  

Other school works: 

• Work is in progress on the provision of new toilets and a covered outside play area at 
Pitsford Primary School. This is currently being procured. 

• Project at Harlestone Primary School to provide a new MUGA and playing fields 
drainage, funded from S106 contributions, is underway. Phase 1 is in progress and 
Phase 2 will be undertaken when planning permission has been obtained. 

• Conversion of an existing building at the Dantre and Southbrook Learning Village 
(DSLV) at Daventry for SEND provision with a budget of £500k. Design work has been 
completed and a planning application has been submitted, decision awaited. 

• Energy efficiency – a project has been proposed for Council maintained schools which 
are suffering escalating energy costs. Consultants are being procured to assess what 
approaches can be taken to improve energy efficiency. 

• Planned major maintenance: These works continue to be undertaken in phases whereby 
each school has a condition survey completed to identify issues. Works are then 

Page 69



undertaken to ensure that they are safe, warm and dry. Works include roof 
replacements, fenestration, drainage, structural and internal improvements.  

 
 
Councillor Malcolm Longley 
Cabinet Member for Finance 

Page 70



 Report of Councillor Mike Hallam 
Cabinet Member for HR & Corporate Services 

 
9th September 2022 

 
1) Customer Services 
 
Meet customers where they are  

We now have a rolling programme of outreach surgeries in several locations (Brackley, 
Brixworth, Weston Favell, Moulton, St James), with more locations in the near future. These 
are proving very popular, and we are collating the learning and working with colleagues in 
other departments (Housing, Revenues and Benefits etc) as well as partner organisations 
(Citizen Advice, Community Law Service) to ensure we have the right representation to 
service the communities we interact with. It has been very positive to see parish councillors 
and community leads reaching out to ask for our attendance at various events, as this has 
allowed us to engage with people who would otherwise be harder to reach.  

 
Consolidating resources  

The department are focusing on ensuring there is enough flexibility built into our structures 
and ways of working to adapt to any changes we may see in the organisation (for example, 
moving out of the Lodge Road offices) or in society (an offer which is fit for purpose in the 
context of the Cost-of-Living pressures). As such, staff continue to be trained on a wide 
range of services, and management structures are being reviewed to build more capacity 
at operational level.  

 
Disseminating learning throughout the organisation  

The Customer Experience e-learning module is now part of the mandatory training package 
for new starters, which is an excellent opportunity for staff to familiarise themselves with 
the offer of the Council, our values and standards of service. The first week in October is 
also National Customer Services Week, so we will plan a series of activities building on the 
success of last year’s events and promote the value of excellent customer experience across 
all areas of WNC.  

 
Improving the customer experience through our website content  

The focus of this workstream has been on improving the accessibility of our online presence, 
to increase people’s ability to interact with us via the web. This has taken the shape of the 
‘look and feel’ of web pages, navigation options, re-writing content. We are now supporting 
the Web team to review the online forms customers use to submit service requests, so they 
are easy to use, intuitive, but also reduce double-keying and duplication once they reach 
us.  

 
Emergency planning and Business Continuity  

Great progress has been made under both workstreams, with Strategic and Tactical 
Command training delivered by the Emergency Planning College to our senior management 
team, as well as in-house training to loggists, incident liaison officers and reception centre 
managers identified on a volunteering basis across WNC. This is excellent progress, as it 

Page 71



allows us to build a network of trained and confident staff who can support both the 
organisation and their communities in case of emergency.  

 
September is preparedness month, with Northamptonshire leading the national 30 Days, 
30 Ways campaign via social media and throughout the LGA network, with a focus on 
increasing awareness in the population of potential risks and the actions each household 
can take to be prepared and respond adequately to emergencies.  

 
More than half of service areas in various locations have been engaged with to bring our 
Business Continuity impact assessment, plans and practices to a high standard which will 
allow us to continue to deliver services in case of loss of premises, IT, staff or contractors. 
An awareness campaign has also been run with local businesses to make them aware of 
the tools available to them to ensure they have the right contingencies in place.  

 
 
2) Legal and Democratic Services 

Legal and Information Governance 

The new Head of Legal, Sarah Hall, has been appointed and is starting with the Council on 
31st October 2022.  The team has continued to deal with a high volume of legal work on behalf 
of teams across the council for example the team successfully prosecuted 2 individuals for fly 
tipping who were fined in total £500 and ordered to pay the Council £1k in costs.   The project 
to review the future provision of legal services has continued and will be referred to Cabinet 
for a decision.   
 
The Information Governance team have continued to process information requests and provide 
advice over the summer including 125 requests (FOI’s and EIR’s) in July and 122 in August. 
Total cases recorded including Subject Access Requests, data incidents, GDPR advice and police 
enquiries were 222 in July and 253 in August.  Joint work has been undertaken with the North 
to complete nine DPIA’s (Data Protection Impact Assessments) to ensure all personal data 
connected to the highway disaggregation was considered and protected. The Data Protection 
Officer is also producing data breach reports for individual managers to assist them in 
identifying and mitigating common data incidents to further improve the Council’s compliance 
with UK GDPR. 
  
The ongoing review of the initial set of Privacy Notices is nearing completion. This has included 
standardising the format, adding services that required their own and updating notices 
following services changes and disaggregation.  The service continues to support the 
Information Governance workstreams for the delivery of the ICS (Integrated Care System) with 
our health colleagues. The team also successfully submitted the Council’s DSPT (Data Securities 
and Protections Toolkit) on 30th June providing our health colleagues throughout the county 
with ongoing data assurance and allowing data sharing agreements to continue. Without this 
assurance it would be difficult to drive forward the ICS and other joint health projects such as 
the planned integrated care hub at Turn Furlong. 

 

 

Page 72



Coroners and Registration  

The summer is inevitably a very busy period for weddings for the West Registration Service 
and this year has been particularly busy after Covid. In July 195 couples and in August 246 
couples were married by the service.  Ceremonies online is progressing. This project was 
delayed in the West due to an extended semi live testing period in the North. But it is hopeful 
that the service will be going live from September.   
 
Work has been done to establish an overarching plan for dealing with a mass fatality event in 
the country.  The draft Mass Fatality plan is out to consultation to all relevant stakeholders 
(Police, NHS, Fire etc) and consultation ends on 16th September. A tabletop exercise is 
currently being planned for the County for 21st October. The exercise will start at Police 
Headquarters in the morning and will involve The Leys Body Store in the afternoon.  The team 
has also supported the business case for the provision of death management services.  

Democratic and Elections 

The first stage of the review of ward boundaries has been completed and the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England have accepted the Councils submission and agreed on a 77-
council size for West Northants Council from the next local elections in 2025.  Work is now 
underway by the elections and democratic services teams to draw up the map of the new 
wards and to support the Democracy and Standards Committee in preparing a submission on 
ward boundaries.  The report will be presented to the Council meeting on 3rd November 
2022.    

The Democratic Services team has been shortlisted by the Association of Democratic Services 
Officers in the ‘Team of the Year’ category for their annual awards. It is a great achievement 
to be shortlisted for the award.  The winners will be decided in November.  In the meantime, 
the team have now finished hearing the coordinated admission appeals lodged during the 2021-
22 academic year. The team arranged a total of 592 appeal hearings, supporting families 
through the appeals process in time for the start of the new school year. 

3) Human Resources  
  
Attracting and Retaining Talent 

• Work has been ongoing with the agency Fluid to create our WNC employer brand, key 
to help us stand out from our competitors to attract new talent.  A preferred concept 
has been chosen and we will be launching the new branding across our print and social 
media vacancy advertising in the early Autumn.   

• Aligned to this we will launching our new recruitment solution in late September which 
should help managers to better manage recruitment and facilitate improved reporting, 
it will also improve the applicant journey and make applying for a role at WNC easier 
and quicker, including via mobile phone. 

• Continuing to work with managers and services on identified ‘hard to fill’ roles.  
• New corporate induction programme launched in August, our West Way is a face to face 

induction, with associated videos and revised guidance for inducting new starters now 
available on the intranet. 

• Pay, Reward and Recognition: Feedback received from the Trade Unions on the new 
WNC pay structure and associated terms and conditions. No significant issued received 

Page 73



and we are moving forward with a collective agreement in September over the terms 
and conditions.  

• Under 34s survey carried out around benefits. 
• Cycle to Work scheme to be launched this month and continuing to publicise other 

lifestyle benefits and our Pennies from Heaven charity giving scheme.  
• Recognition - First birthday celebrations THRIVE awards and the Kudoboard for peer-

to-peer recognition. 
• Activity now commencing on additional employee benefits and recognition including long 

service, volunteer days etc. 
 
Achieving our Goals Through Our High Performing and Flexible Workforce 

• Leadership and Management: We have got our first cohort of staff who wish to become 
mentors and we will launching the mentoring programme in the Autumn 

• Diversity and Inclusion: We have launched a second EDI data improvement campaign 
to increase the number of equality monitoring responses. 

 
 

Creating a Culture of Engagement and Wellbeing 
• Culture and Engagement: Analysis has been undertaken in relation to the themes from 

the THRIVE Big Conversation with the workforce and action planning underway. 
• Drafting of the behaviours framework is complete and will be rolled out in the Autumn.  
• Work underway to plan for our first managers marketplace event in November to assist 

with collaboration and understanding of directorates priorities for all managers.  
• West way of working strategy has now been published. 
• Wellbeing:  Our Wellbeing Strategy has been drafted and will be launched in the 

Autumn.  
 
4) Digital, Technology and Innovation 
 
Strategy 
Cabinet recently approved our very first WNC Digital, Technology & Innovation Strategy. This 
three-year plan sets out our mission to use technology to do more, for less, quicker in the 
delivery of public services. Its twelve key initiatives and sixty-five activities act as our roadmap 
to achieve a vision of West Northamptonshire as a leader among local authorities in the 
employment of technology to deliver maximum public good. 
 
Disaggregation 
Members of the Joint Committee on Shared Services will soon meet to: 

• Agree the dates to disaggregate the Digital service, one of six services within our Digital, 
Technology & Innovation (DTI) division. This will mean that NNC will run their own 
digital team and we will hand over responsibility for software and website development. 

• Commission a detailed investigation and options appraisal, offering members a series of 
timed and costed choices on the potential disaggregation of more of the DTI division, 
for examination and discussion with our counterparts at NNC. 

 
Key projects 

• The DTI division is committed to finding ways to help increase productivity and realise financial 
savings - doing more, for less and quicker. To that end, a new architecture team is being 

Page 74



formed to identify greater efficiencies that can be made in consolidating and 
streamlining our 800+ systems in operation. 

• Mindful of the need to rapidly identify and deploy new technology developments that 
can help us achieve this vision, our DTI division will be staying an open technology fair 
at One Angel Square in November. This event, primarily aimed at members and 
directors, will offer a direct opportunity to interact with and experience some of these 
new developments. Invitations will be issued in the coming weeks. 

• We are launching our new internal e-recruitment system in the coming weeks that will 
streamline our recruiting process, speed up getting roles to market, reduce management 
time spent on the recruitment process and provide a far better candidate experience to 
people applying to work at West Northamptonshire. 

• Procurement is underway on our telephony replacement project that will standardise 
phone and comms tools across all council properties, better empower internal staff with 
modern tools and support flexible working and provide savings on existing spend is 
ongoing. We have been doing work to better tailor the needs to better support 
colleagues working remotely and this has now moved into procurement.  

• A hardware replacement project to select and deploy new personal computer hardware 
to staff, and meet workforce needs as well as support flexible working. This is now 
entering procurement and is particularly timely as it will aid the closure and exit from 
our Lodge Road offices in Daventry.  

• Replacing our income management system. This is in delivery, running until April next 
year (as it is shared across four councils). As well as modernising and streamlining the 
system, it will allow the removal of another £100k system.  

• Replacing our internal helpdesk system. The existing tool was first built in 1985 and is 
major inhibitor for technical staff as well as a frustrating customer experience. This is 
due to complete this month. 

• We have been working to support Northamptonshire Partnership Homes in the life 
extension of their existing housing system, and the commissioning of suitable a 
replacement over the next two years. 

• Supporting the development of key business changes and transformation projects across 
Place, HR, Legal, Communities, Adults and in the Children’s Trust.  

 
 
Councillor Mike Hallam  
Cabinet Member for HR & Corporate Services 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report of Councillor Fiona Baker 
Cabinet Member for Children, Families & 

Education 
 

September 2022 
 
 
WNC CHILDREN’S SERVICES SENIOR LEADERSHIP TEAM  
 
For the first time, the Council has a fully staffed senior leadership team. 
 
Rebecca Wilshire - Joined on 1st September as Deputy DCS, her role will be working in 
partnership with the Trust to enable line of sight for the Council, Rebecca will review, support 
and offer challenge in order to ensure DCS and Lead Member have appropriate line of 
sight.  Rebecca has over 25 years experience of working with children, young people and 
families, her experience has been across both private and public sector and her most recent 
role was as Director of Social Care and Deputy Chief Executive in a Children's Trust. 
Rebecca's previous roles as a senior leader have all been linked to service improvement.  
 
Ben Pearson joined the Council in August as the new Assistant Director for Education. Ben 
joins us from Bedford Borough Council where he was the Chief Education Officer, having 
held similar senior roles within other Councils and with the Learning & Skills Council. Ben led 
the local area SEND partnership in Bedford who moved from being recognised as having 
significant weaknesses to be appointed by the Department for Education as a Sector Led 
Improvement Partner for SEND within 4 years. 
 
The third member of the Children’s Leadership team is Tony Challinor who joined as 
Assistant Director for Commissioning & Partnerships.  Tony held a similar joint role across 
North and West Northants Councils for the preceding 12 months.  Tony has worked in the 
private sector as well as in public service, including commissioning adult and children’s 
services in NE London, being head of Commissioning at the Ministry of Justice and being 
Chief Executive of a UK Government international trading arm focusing on criminal justice 
settings.   
 
 
NORTHAMPTONSHIRE CHILDREN’S TRUST (NCT) 
  
NCT produced its business plan in June 2022 for the period April 2022 to the year 2025/26. 
(https://wnugov.sharepoint.com/sites/WNC-ChildrensTrust/Business 
plan/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2FWNC-ChildrensTrust%2FBusiness 
plan%2FNorthamptonshireChildrensTrust_BusinessPlan2022-23-2025-
26%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2FWNC-ChildrensTrust%2FBusiness plan) 
 
The Trust reported a small underspend in its 2021/22 budget once reserves and grants were 
applied.  Significant pressures were reported that would impact on 2022/23, particularly around 
placement workforce costs.  
 
In July NCT reported an improvement in the recruitment of social workers.  It also reported that 
an Ofsted Inspecting Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) was likely in September 

Page 77

https://wnugov.sharepoint.com/sites/WNC-ChildrensTrust/Business%20plan/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2FWNC-ChildrensTrust%2FBusiness%20plan%2FNorthamptonshireChildrensTrust_BusinessPlan2022-23-2025-26.pdf&parent=%2Fsites%2FWNC-ChildrensTrust%2FBusiness%20plan
https://wnugov.sharepoint.com/sites/WNC-ChildrensTrust/Business%20plan/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2FWNC-ChildrensTrust%2FBusiness%20plan%2FNorthamptonshireChildrensTrust_BusinessPlan2022-23-2025-26.pdf&parent=%2Fsites%2FWNC-ChildrensTrust%2FBusiness%20plan
https://wnugov.sharepoint.com/sites/WNC-ChildrensTrust/Business%20plan/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2FWNC-ChildrensTrust%2FBusiness%20plan%2FNorthamptonshireChildrensTrust_BusinessPlan2022-23-2025-26.pdf&parent=%2Fsites%2FWNC-ChildrensTrust%2FBusiness%20plan
https://wnugov.sharepoint.com/sites/WNC-ChildrensTrust/Business%20plan/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2FWNC-ChildrensTrust%2FBusiness%20plan%2FNorthamptonshireChildrensTrust_BusinessPlan2022-23-2025-26.pdf&parent=%2Fsites%2FWNC-ChildrensTrust%2FBusiness%20plan


2022.  ILACS applies to both social care and education services, and so would involve both the 
Council and the Trust. 
 
 
EDUCATION 
Education Inclusion Partnership team (EIPT) 
As of 1st September 2022, EIPT became known as the School Attendance Support Service and 
became part of the School Effectiveness Service (managed by Katie Morlidge) 
 
School Effectiveness 
As of 1st September, 4 of our maintained primary schools became academies, as detailed 
below; 

• Deanshanger Primary School – Grand Union Partnership MAT 
• Rothersthorpe CE Primary School – Innovate MAT 
• Paulersbury CE Primary School – Innovate MAT 
• Cogenhoe Primary School – Nene Valley Partnership  

 
SEND 
 
Petition held on 6 September outside OAS. This was arranged by a group of parents 
complaining about a lack of specialist facilities to meet their children’s needs. All parents that 
attended have been engaged by the service – individual meetings have been held with any 
parent that requested one. System-wide improvements being introduced to improve 
communication timeliness and quality. 
 
250 new specialist places being created in local special and mainstream schools this year. This 
will be followed by the commissioning of a new 250 place special school in Tiffield, subject to 
DfE approval. 
 
The Council has launched a programme to improve the consistency, efficacy and effectiveness 
of funding for children with SEND. This work is being co-produced with local school leaders 
and national SEND experts and is designed to lead to improved outcomes for children within 
WNC schools.  
 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS 
 
New team transferred to WNC on 1 September 2022 after disaggregation. 
The admissions process for September 2023 has now opened for primary and  secondary 
applications. The deadline for applying for a secondary place is 31 October 2022 and 15 
January 2023. 
 
Councillor Fiona Baker 
Cabinet Member for Children, Families & Education) 

Page 78



 

 

 
 

Summary of the decisions taken at the meeting of the 
Cabinet held on Tuesday 12 July 2022 

 
1. Date of publication of this summary: 13 July 2022 
 
2. Deadline for requests for call-in (detailing reasons for doing so): 20th July 2022 
 
3. Earliest date for implementation of decisions: 21st July 2022 
 
4. Urgent decisions taken and not subject to the call-in procedure: 13th July 2022 
 
 

Agenda Item and Recommendations Decision 

 
Agenda Item 6 
Revenue Monitoring, Provisional 
Outturn 2021-22 and 2022-23 Financial 
Outlook 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: That Cabinet; 

a) Noted the provisional outturn 
position for 2021-22; 

b) Approved the use of contingency 
budgets requested in section 5.83 
and service carry forward requests 
in Appendix B 

c) Approved the agreed debt write-off 
requests that are greater than 
£25,000 as detailed in section 8. 

d) Noted the financial risks and issues 
identified for 2022-23. 

 
REASONS RESOLVED: To ensure that 
the Authority complied with its financial 
regulations. 
 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: None 

 
Agenda Item 7 
General Fund Capital and Housing 
Revenue Account Capital Monitoring, 
Provisional Outturn 2021-22 and 
Revised Capital Programme for 2022-26 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: Cabinet;  

a) Noted the 2021-22 provisional 
capital outturn position for WNC 
general fund and HRA; 

b) Noted the proposed capital carry 
forwards for the GF capital 
programme which are required as a 
result of rephasing in the 2021-22 
programme. These are detailed in 
appendix A; 

c) Noted the proposed capital carry 

Page 79



 

 

forwards for the HRA capital 
programme which are required as a 
result of rephasing in the 2021-22 
programme. These are detailed in 
appendix B; 

d) Noted the revised GF capital 
programme for 2022-26 (appendix 
C) including the new schemes 
which had been added to the 
programme since the 2022-23 
budget was approved in February 
2022. 

e) Noted the revised HRA capital 
programme for 2022-26 (appendix 
D) including the new schemes 
which have been added to the 
programme since the 2022-23 
budget was approved in February 
2022. 

 
REASONS RESOLVED: 

 This in 
accordance with the policy of the 
Council and Constitution. 

 To ensure that 
the Authority complies with its 
financial regulations. 

 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: None 

 
Agenda Item 8 
Proposal to establish a 50 place Special 
Educational Needs & Disability (SEND) 
unit for pupils with a primary need of 
Autistic Spectrum Condition (ASC) at 
Hunsbury Park Primary School, 
Northampton 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: That Cabinet;  

a) Approved the establishment of a 50 
place SEND unit for pupils with a 
primary need of ASC at Hunsbury 
Park Primary School, Northampton. 

b) Noted the responses received 
during the 4 week period of 
consultation on the proposal that 
was conducted in May/June 2022. 

c) Delegated responsibility to Director 
of Children’s Services, in 
conjunction with the relevant 
portfolio holder to enter into all 
necessary contracts related to the 
delivery pf the proposed SEND unit. 

 
REASONS RESOLVED: 

1. The proposal would help ensure 
that the Council is able to fulfil its 
statutory obligation of providing a 
sufficiency of SEND places within 
West Northamptonshire. 

Page 80



 

 

2. The proposal would provide an 
increased number of SEND places 
and would help ensure that children 
with additional needs were able to 
access education in a provision that 
is best placed to meet their 
individual needs. 

3. The proposal could be considered 
to benefit all West 
Northamptonshire primary schools 
as it will reduce the need for 
mainstream school settings to 
provide places to children with 
additional needs where that 
provision is not best placed to meet 
a child’s additional needs. 

4. The recommended course of action 
was the most cost-effective and 
would reduce pressure on the High 
Needs Block (HNB) element of the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) via 
a reduction in the number of 
children being required to be placed 
in more expensive out of county and 
independent provisions to meet their 
individual needs. 

5. The Council and its customers 
would receive the maximum benefit 
from the option proposed. 

 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: 
None 

 
Agenda Item 9 
Digital, Technology & Innovation 
Strategy 2022 - 2025 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: That Cabinet approved the 
Digital, Technology & Innovation Strategy 
2022-2025 and supports its 
implementation across the Council. 
 
REASONS RESOLVED: 

1. The Strategy allowed us to align the 
use of technology and digital with 
the wider Council vision and 
priorities, including our Corporate 
Plan. 

2. Adopting the Strategy ensured that 
we have a clear mandate and 
objectives with which to commission 
projects and programmes of work 
that deliver organisational 
transformation through technology. 
It also gives us a clear framework 
within which we can design our 

Page 81



 

 

internal digital, technology and 
innovation capabilities to meet those 
objectives. 

 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: None 

 
Agenda Item 10 
Pay and Grading Proposal 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: That Cabinet; 

a) Noted the proposal made to the 
Trade Unions in respect of the new 
pay structure and the remaining 
‘day one’ terms and conditions. 

b) Note the forward implementation 
plan. 

c) Note the budget implications. 
 
REASONS RESOLVED: 

 The development of the pay 
structure sought to ensure that pay 
was transparent, equitable and fair 
at WNC. 

 A pay structure underpinned by job 
evaluation would promote fairness 
and in doing so helps mitigate the 
risk of equal pay claims. 

 There is a requirement to complete 
the activity which commenced pre-
Vesting Day on determining the 
remaining ‘day one’ terms and 
conditions. 

 
ALTENATIVE OPTIONS: 
None 

 
Agenda Item 11 
West Coast Partnership 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: That Cabinet agreed the 
aspirations for future rail services as set 
out in paragraph 8 for the purposes of 
continuing discussions with West Coast 
Partnership (WCP). 
 
REASONS RESOLVED: 
There was an opportunity to influence 
emerging proposals in favour of West 
Northamptonshire. Direct contact with 
West Coast Partnership had been agreed 
by the DfT. Without constructive contact, 
the proposals now under development may 
not fully reflect the specific needs of West 
Northamptonshire in the face of alternative 
and even conflicting requirements. 
 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: 

Page 82



 

 

None 

 
Agenda Item 12 
Health Protection Service, Food & Feed 
Standards Service, Spray Paint 
Enforcement and the Tobacco 
Enforcement Plans 2022-23 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: That Cabinet: 

a) Approved the Health Protection 
Service Plan for the year 1 April 
2022 to 31 March 2023. 

b) Approved the Food & Feed 
Standards Service Plan for the year 
1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023. 

c) Approved the Spray Paint 
Enforcement Plan for 2022-23 

d) Approved the Tobacco Enforcement 
Plan for 2022-23 

 
REASONS RESOLVED: 
The recommendations were necessary to 
accord with the requirements of the Food 
Standards Agency and the Health & Safety 
Executive. 
 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: 
None 

 
Agenda Item 13 
Improvements to Property Access 
Control System 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: Cabinet approve a new 
capital budget of £80k in 2022/23 to 
upgrade the existing One Angel Square 
access control system and change the 
Guildhall system to unify access across 
Northampton corporate offices. 
 
REASONS RESOLVED:  

1. The Council needed to have secure 
arrangements for accessing its 
buildings, but the One Angel Square 
access control server is outdated 
and at risk of failure, and the 
Guildhall access control system is 
vulnerable to controller failure and 
needs updating to remedy this. 

2. Once the upgraded system is 
implemented, staff who access One 
Angel Square, the Guildhall or their 
associated buildings would only 
need a single card, promoting a 
common organisational identity and 
efficient working. 

3. The upgraded system would also 
allow the Council’s offices in other 
locations to be included in the 
future. 

 

Page 83



 

 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: The Council 
had five main options: 

1. Do nothing. No capital investment 
needed. This leaves an operational 
risk should a controller at Guildhall 
or the server at Angel fail. 

2. Upgrade only, leave systems 
isolated £9k capital investment 
needed. Systems remain separate 
so multiple cards needed. 
Resilience issues remain. 

3. Upgrade and Northampton 
unification. £70k capital investment 
needed. This involves upgrading the 
Angel server and changing the 
system at the Guildhall. Rural 
offices remain separate for now. 

4. Upgrade and Northampton 
unification; separate rural unification 
£82k capital investment needed. 
Additional to (3) easier access 
between rural offices. 

5. Upgrade and full WNC unification. 
£120k capital investment needed. 
This involves both upgrading the 
OAS server and changing the 
systems at all WNC corporate 
offices (Northampton, Daventry & 
Towcester).  

 
Agenda Item 14 
Local Nature Recovery Strategy 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: Cabinet agreed that West 
Northamptonshire Council accepted 
appointment as the responsible authority 
for the local nature recovery strategy 
(LNRS) for West Northamptonshire. 
 
REASONS RESOLVED:  

1. Under the Environment Act 2021, 
England is required to be divided 
into areas for the production of 
LNRSs. 

2. It was considered helpful for West 
Northamptonshire to be such an 
area, allowing the new council to 
lead work which it could co-ordinate 
with, for example, its Tree Strategy 
& Policy, and its local plans. 

3. Being appointed as the responsible 
authority for an LNRS area which is 
coterminous with West 
Northamptonshire means there are 
no complexities from having to 

Page 84



 

 

secure agreement with other 
councils over a wider area. 

4. It is also likely, but not certain, that 
being a single-council LNRS area 
will be financially beneficial in terms 
of ‘new burdens’ funding for the 
work involved. 

5. DEFRA has provisionally agreed 
that West Northamptonshire can be 
a LNRS area and WNC the 
responsible authority. It is therefore 
helpful to confirm the Council’s 
acceptance of this. 

 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
The Council had the following options. 

1. To accept designation as the 
responsible authority for the LNRS 
for West Northamptonshire. For the 
reasons given above, this seems 
the most desirable course of action. 

2. To accept West Northamptonshire 
as the area for a LNRS but not 
accept designation as the 
responsible authority. It seems 
unlikely that DEFRA would accept 
this, but if it did it would presumably 
result in Natural England being 
appointed as the responsible 
authority, thus losing the Council’s 
opportunity to shape the process 
and strategy. 

3. To argue for a different area for 
production of an LNRS covering 
West Northamptonshire. This would 
lose the clarity and simplicity of a 
West Northamptonshire LNRS. It 
might open up further opportunities 
for economies of scale in working, 
but many of these can be secured 
by two (or more) LNRS areas 
working together in any event. 

 
Agenda Item 15 
Asset Disposal 
 
 

 
RESOLVED:  
That authority was given to the Assistant 
Director of Assets & Environment to: 

1. Transfer the assets listed within 
Appendix A to the relevant parish 
councils on the basis set out in the 
report. 

2. Consider, in consultation with the 
Finance Portfolio Holder and the 

Page 85



 

 

Environment, Transport, Highways 
and Waste Portfolio Holder, any 
objections to disposals of open 
space following publication of the 
intention to dispose required by 
Section 123(2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and either 
proceed with each affected disposal 
or cease that disposal. 

3. Offer the freehold of each shop 
listed in Appendix B for transfer to 
the current tenant at the price 
established by a current Red Book 
valuation commissioned by the 
Council from an independent 
consultant, and if that offer is 
accepted to proceed with the 
disposal. Any disposal is to contain 
a restrictive covenant (or similar) to 
ensure that the ground floor of each 
property currently used for retail 
remains in commercial use. 

4. Following the completion of a ‘best 
and final’ offer process, negotiate 
and agree terms for a lease and 
agreement for lease for a battery 
energy storage facility (BESF) on 
the Council’s land at Booth 
Meadow, Northampton as set out in 
the report, and enter into any 
documentation required to 
implement this. 

5. In consultation with the Finance 
Portfolio Holder agree terms for the 
disposal of land off the A45 London 
Road, Daventry as set out in the 
report, and enter into any 
documentation required to 
implement this. 

6. Dispose off-market the land off 
Warwick Street, Daventry as set out 
in the report. 

 
It is further recommended that: 

1. It is noted that investment would be 
required to replace the income 
provided by the estate shops in 
accordance with budget item 2223-
B6-019. 

2. The Assistant Director Assets & 
Environment was authorised, in 
consultation with the Executive 

Page 86



 

 

Director Finance, Director of Legal 
and Democratic and Monitoring 
Officer, and the Finance Portfolio 
Holder, to authorise and agree 
terms for lettings for BESFs similar 
to those proposed for Booth 
Meadow, and that the Constitution 
be amended accordingly. 

3. Cabinet acknowledged the 
competitive bidding process for the 
land off the A45 London Road, 
Daventry that has been undertaken 
by the other landowners is suitable 
to achieve best consideration from 
the disposal. 

 
REASONS RESOLVED: 
Overview 

1. It was sensible for the Council to 
review its estate and ensure it 
delivers the best overall value, 
taking policy and financial 
considerations together, to the 
residents of West 
Northamptonshire. Parish council 
transfers 

2. The Council had received several 
requests from parish councils to 
transfer various parcels of public 
open space useful to their local 
communities from the Council to 
them. 

3. It was considered that such assets 
are of purely local benefit and as 
such are better managed by those 
closer to them. 

4. Strategic interests would be 
protected by the Council having 
retain rights to re-acquire land or 
rights over land for £1 if it was 
required for infrastructure or if the 
parish council wished to dispose of 
it. 

5. As these transfers were proposed to 
be for the sum of £1, the disposals 
would be at less than best 
consideration. This is justified by the 
community benefits from local 
control and management of the 
sites, which would be protected by 
restrictions on future use. 
Northampton Estate shops, 

Page 87



 

 

6. To meet the Council’s obligation not 
to dispose of freeholds at less than 
the best consideration reasonably 
obtainable. 

7. Whilst respecting number 6, to 
maximise the opportunity for 
existing tenants to purchase shops 
they currently operate. 

8. Sought to protect the commercial 
function of these shops given its 
importance to the local communities 
they serve. Booth Meadow 
Proposed BESF and other Potential 
BESFs 

9. Secured the best financial return for 
the Council from the Booth Meadow 
BESF proposal. 

10. To maximise the opportunity to 
secure BESF at other locations 
within the Councils portfolio. 

11. To maximise the opportunity for the 
delivery of a BESF at Booth 
Meadow and in other locations, in 
the interests of sustainability, 
carbon reduction, and removing 
barriers to development from 
constraints in electricity supply. 
Land off A45 London Road, 
Daventry 

12. The land was surplus to 
requirements and was being held 
with longer term development 
aspirations in mind. The site had 
been actively marketed jointly with 
the other associated landowners. 
The disposal would fulfil the 
objectives of good estate 
management. 

13. The redevelopment of the Site 
would see a key strategic area of 
Daventry developed which would 
align with the proposed West 
Northamptonshire Spatial Vision, 
Strategic Plan Objective 13: 
Economic Advantage. 

14. To generate a capital receipt for the 
Council in the short term, which 
would be difficult to obtain if it were 
not included as part of the larger 
development opportunity. 

15. To comply with the obligations on 
the Council to obtain the best 

Page 88



 

 

consideration reasonably obtainable 
in a freehold land disposal. Land off 
Warwick Street, Daventry 

16. The land is no longer required by 
the Council and its disposal would 
fulfil the objectives for which it was 
originally acquired and held. The 
disposal would fulfil the objectives of 
good estate management, and 
provide a means for the land to be 
put to beneficial use 

17. To generate a capital receipt in the 
short term. 

18. To comply with the obligation on the 
Council to obtain the best 
consideration reasonably obtainable 
in a freehold land disposal. 

19. To support the strategy set out in 
the Daventry Town Centre Vision 
2035. 

 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS. 
The Council has the following options. 
 
Parish council transfers 

1. Retain the land. This is clearly 
possible, but would not offer the 
opportunity to increase community 
ownership and control, with the 
benefits this brings. 

2. Dispose of the land without controls. 
This is also possible, and should 
secure the community benefits 
sought. It may, however, lead to the 
loss of open space and other 
community assets. It may also 
prevent WNC from securing the 
interests of West Northamptonshire 
more widely. 

3. Dispose of the land with the 
proposed controls. This appears to 
achieve the best overall mix of 
benefits, whilst mitigating the risks 
involved. 

 
Northampton estate shops 

1. Retain the properties. No further 
specific actions would be required. 
This would doubtless cause some 
dissatisfaction from the tenants. It 
would also be contrary to the 
expectations of the 2022-23 budget. 

Page 89



 

 

2. Dispose of the properties to existing 
tenants at whatever prices can be 
achieved. This may well involve 
disposals at under value. These 
may not be achievable in light of the 
Council’s legal obligations (see legal 
implications) and would seem hard 
to justify. Other tenants would not 
receive similar benefits, and other 
retailers would not receive any 
benefit. The Council’s taxpayers 
would have, in effect, have 
subsidised a few private individuals. 

3. Disposal of the properties on the 
open market. This would maximise 
the chance of quick and market 
value disposals. However, it would 
decrease the chances of 
consolidating ownership and 
occupation. 

4. Disposal of properties to current 
tenants at market values. This is the 
proposed course of action and 
appears to best balance the desire 
to offer existing tenants the chance 
to invest in their own businesses 
with the Council’s duties to its wider 
residents. 

5. The Council also has choices about 
what to do with the disposal receipt. 
The decision expected by the 
budget is that the receipts would be 
ring-fenced for re-investment to 
secure an alternative income. The 
other option would, clearly, be to not 
do that, but (for example) to reduce 
future capital borrowing 
requirements. Given the budget 
position and the benefit from income 
generation ring-fencing is 
recommended. 

 
Booth Meadow proposed battery energy 
storage facility 

1. Do nothing. The land could continue 
to be used for storage of school 
mobile classroom and other 
ancillary items. While the land has 
historically been well utilised for this 
purpose, the need has significantly 
reduced and as such this is unlikely 
to be required. The Council would 

Page 90



 

 

not also receive any income from 
the site and would retain the 
maintenance obligations. 

2. Apply for planning permission for 
conventional development and seek 
to sell the land with the benefit of a 
permission. This is something that 
has been considered in the past. 
However conventional development 
is difficult in this location. In 
addition, development of part is 
likely to be complicated because of 
the other occupiers of the site. 

3. Apply for planning permission and 
electricity network access for a BES 
facility itself. Whilst this is 
theoretically possible the Council 
does not have expertise in this area, 
and would need to choose to make 
the investments required if a return 
was to be obtained. This approach 
may therefore delay or prevent a 
beneficial use being made of the 
land. 

4. Select one of the operators to 
pursue the necessary permissions 
and if successful build and operate 
a BES facility. This option should 
deliver the facility relatively quickly 
and with minimal requirement for 
Council engagement. 

 

 There are sub-options for option 4 
relating to the way the operator is 
selected. However, it is considered 
that the approach identified above is 
most likely to result in the best 
financial return to the Council. 

 The area of land that is proposed to 
be used at Booth Meadow House is 
currently undeveloped grass land 
utilised for the storage of surplus 
school mobile classrooms and other 
associated items. Demand for this 
use is low. Other than the storage 
use, the proposed BSEF should not 
have any impact on the other users 
of the site. While the proposal may 
restrict the continued use of the site 
for storage, and the Council could 
decide not to enter into any 
agreement on that basis, the 

Page 91



 

 

benefits derived through the rental 
income are considered to outweigh 
loss of provision. 

 By approving option 4 in the report 
the Council should be able to 
generate a significant level of 
income from an area of the Booth 
Meadow House site that is currently 
a maintenance liability. Such an 
approach would therefore support 
the effective use of the Council’s 
assets, maximising the value of its 
assets and support the creation of a 
sustainable and stable electrical 
network. 

 
Other potential BESF sites 

 As outlined above, the surplus 
capacity available at any given sub-
station is allocated on a first come 
first served basis. These may well 
be in areas where there are multiple 
landowners and therefore 
competitors to host a BESF. To 
maximise these opportunities, the 
Council needs to be able to react 
swiftly to future requests and ensure 
that it is in a position to commit to 
proposals quickly so as not to lose 
out to proposed schemes on land 
owned by others. The 
recommendations as set out in this 
report would support this. 

 
Land off A45 London Road, Daventry 

1. Do nothing at this time – At present 
the Council’s land offers little benefit 
either from a financial or economic 
perspective to the Council. It is 
currently held on a tenancy at will to 
an adjoining landowner (one of the 
other landowners in the consortium) 
at a peppercorn fee for storage. 
Therefore, its future even for this 
use is limited should development 
proceed. 

2. Agree to the proposed disposal – If 
the Council’s interest was included 
as part of the larger development, 
its disposal would assist in the 
realisation of a capital receipt likely 
to be more than what could be 

Page 92



 

 

realised if the land was disposed in 
isolation. In addition to obtaining a 
significant capital receipt the 
inclusion of the Council’s land would 
assist and facilitate the development 
of one of strategic sites in area 
which would align with one of the 
objectives of the Council as set out 
in the Settlements & Countryside 
Local Plan. The development would 
also result in inward investment, job 
creation and economic growth. 

3. It is therefore concluded that 
proceeding with a disposal 
alongside the landowner consortium 
(option 2) represents the best option 
for the Council. 

 
Land off Warwick Street, Daventry 

1. Do nothing. The Council could 
continue to hold the site within its 
asset base in its current use. 
However, this offers no amenity 
value to the town centre or the 
Council’s objectives and would be a 
continuing management liability. 
Furthermore, this approach would 
be contrary to principals of good 
asset management where a 
redundant asset should be disposed 
to generate a capital receipt that the 
Council can deploy for other 
purposes. 

2. Market the site for development. 
While it is likely that there will be 
interest from the wider market, the 
offer that has been put forward by 
McCarthy Stone is considered to 
exceed the value that could 
reasonably be expected from an 
open market disposal. The 
McCarthy Stone offer is 
unconditional but their agents where 
clear that if the Council proceeded 
to market, the offer received would 
be resubmitted but would be 
conditional on planning permission 
being secured. Thus, a certain 
receipt would be substituted for an 
uncertain, and potentially lower, 
one. It is not possible for the Council 
to be absolutely certain that a 

Page 93



 

 

competitive bidding process would 
not result in a higher value being 
obtained, but it appears unlikely. 

3. Proceed with the unconditional offer 
received as it is considered to 
represent best consideration and 
would be supported by the 
independent Red Book valuation. 
The proposal is also considered to 
align with the strategic aims of the 
Council. 

4. On balance the option to proceed 
with the disposal to McCarthy Stone 
(option 3) is recommended. This 
would deliver on a number of useful 
outcomes and has no obvious 
disadvantages. 

 
Agenda Item 16 
UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: Cabinet;  

a) Noted the progress of developing 
the WNC UKSPF Investment Plan, 
including data analysis, review of 
feedback from the Member 
engagement, focus group 
workshops and online survey 
consultations, provided as an 
appendix to this report. 

b) Noted that an Investment Plan to 
secure this funding must be 
developed, including which 
interventions will be funded per 
annum 

c) Noted that under existing delegated 
powers, officers would submit the 
UKSPF Investment Plan by 1st 
August 2022 to the DLUHC and 
update Cabinet in September 

 
REASONS RESOLVED: 

a) To ensure West Northamptonshire 
benefits from this grant funding to 
enhance the community, boost the 
economy and support local 
residents and businesses. 

b) To maintain ongoing economic 
growth within the area, particular 
with the impending loss of EU 
funding and the need to utilise 
UKSPF to deliver positive economic 
development within the community. 

c) To enable the Council to submit the 
UKSPF Investment Plan by 1st 

Page 94



 

 

August 2022. 
 
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS.  

 To not develop and submit an 
Investment Plan for the UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund would result in a 
loss of major potential investment 
into the area, which would be used 
to support the community and place, 
business support and people and 
skills. 

 
 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Summary of the decisions taken at the meeting of the 
Cabinet held on Tuesday 13 September 2022 

 
1. Date of publication of this summary: 13 September 2022 
 
2. Deadline for requests for call-in (detailing reasons for doing so): 20th September 2022 
 
3. Earliest date for implementation of decisions: 21st September 2022 
 
4. Urgent decisions taken and not subject to the call-in procedure: 13 September 2022 
 
 
Agenda Item and Recommendations Decision  
 
Agenda Item 6 
Recommendations submitted by 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 
 

 
RESOLVED:  

a)     The consultation process for 
Levelling Up - Round 3 was 
reviewed in order that early in the 
consultation process all ward 
Members and the voluntary sector 
are included as consultees 
(recommendation from Place 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee). 

b)    Cabinet recognised the need to 
improve performance from the 
current position of 47% of children 
in care receiving an initial health 
assessment within 28 days of 
entering care (recommendation 
from People Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee). 

c)    Cabinet looked into issues arising 
from the change of use of Riverside 
House from office space to housing 
that have affected its continued 
suitability as a site for outpatient 
renal dialysis, in order to support 
effective partnership working 
(recommendation from People 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee). 

  
REASONS RESOLVED: 
The recommendations sought to bring to 
the attention of the Cabinet issues 
identified by the Council’s overview and 

Page 97



 

 

scrutiny committees arising from recent 
scrutiny work. 
  
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: 
None  

 
Agenda Item 7 
Youth Justice Plan 22/23 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: Cabinet recommended to 
Council the approval of the Youth Justice 
Plan 2022-23. 
  
REASONS RESOLVED: 
As well as being a requirement of statute, 
the Youth Justice Plan forms part of the 
Council’s Policy Framework and approval 
by the Council is therefore required. 
  
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: 
None  

 
Agenda Item 8 
Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2023-24 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: That Cabinet.  
a) Noted the contents of this report 
b) Approved the proposed LCTRS for 
2023-24 as outlined in the report. 
c) Recommended to Council a no change 
LCTRS for 2023-24. 
  
REASONS RESOLVED: 
To enable a Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme to be agreed for West Northants 
Council for the financial year 2023-24 and 
be approved by Council and in place by 31 
January 2023. 
  
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: 

         Modelling has been carried out to 
show the financial impact of 
retaining the current scheme as 
shown in the table below. A 1% 
increase in the minimum payment 
would result in a reduction in 
expenditure of £142,521 (compared 
to £155,00 in 2022-2023). 

         In light of the on-going impacts 
from the COVID pandemic and the 
current economic climate members 
may wish to retain the current level 
of 20% minimum contribution and 
recommend to Council a no change 
LCTRS for 2023-2024. LCTRS 
Regulations for pensioners must be 
increased in line with uprating 

Page 98



 

 

announced by DLUHC and the 
working age Regulations uprated in 
line with those announced by the 
Department for Work and Pensions 
(DWP).  

 
Agenda Item 9 
Establishing a new 250 place, 'all-
through' special educational needs and 
disability (SEND) School for pupils with 
autistic spectrum condition (ASC), with 
speech, language and communication 
needs (SLCN) and severe learning 
difficulties (SLD) at Tiffield St John's 
site, Tiffield, West Northamptonshire. 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: That Cabinet: 

a)    Noted that the selection process for 
the new school involves the Council 
putting forward a recommendation 
to the DfE for the preferred trust, 
following a rigorous selection 
process. 

b)    Note the linked paper, ‘St John 
Tiffield property arrangements’ on 
the use of the St John’s Tiffield Site, 
St. John’s Road, Tiffield, NN12 8AA 
for the new school. 

c)    Agreed in principle borrowing up to 
£10,000,000 to make up the 
shortfall for the cost of building the 
new school, which is up to £23m, 
with delegated authority to the s151 
officer to amend the capital 
programme once full feasibility 
works are completed. Note that the 
remaining cost of the build will be 
met through capital grant funding 
received by the Council. 

  
Note: the estimated building and capital 
required is subject to construction cost 
inflation. This had been estimated at one 
per cent per month currently. 
Compounded, this could be as much as 
13-14 per cent a year. Delay in 
construction work will lead to further risk of 
cost rises. 
  
REASONS RESOLVED: 

1.    The proposed new school will help 
to ensure that the council is able to 
fulfil its statutory obligation of 
providing a sufficiency of ASC, 
SLCN and SLD SEND places within 
West Northamptonshire in future 
years. It will also provide new 
learners with access to excellent 
specialist provision that will 
significantly improve future lifelong 
outcomes. 

2.    The establishment of a new ‘all-
Page 99



 

 

through’ special school can also be 
considered a benefit to all of West 
Northamptonshire’s mainstream 
primary and secondary schools. It 
will reduce placements at a 
mainstream school setting where a 
child’s needs can only be 
appropriately met at a special 
school. 

3.    The new school will also reduce 
pressure on the high needs block 
(HNB) element of the dedicated 
schools grant (DSG) via a reduction 
in the number of children being 
required to be placed in out of 
county and independent provisions 
to meet their individual needs. The 
average cost of an independent 
placement is £61,000 whilst the 
average cost at a non-independent 
school is £25,000 – a reduction on 
average of £36,000 per place. 

4.    Based on previous placements, 
around 50 per cent of the expected 
new school intake, would have been 
placed at an independent placement 
due to the lack of state-sector 
funded special schools or resourced 
provisions. Placements at the new 
school will result in approximate net 
cost avoidance of £4,000,000 once 
the school is full. A reduction in 
spend against the revenue general 
fund is also expected to be secured 
through reduced home to school 
transport costs as a result of fewer 
further away placements being 
made. 
  

Note: cost avoidance is NOT the same as 
a cost-saving. It is not cashable as the 
council will be spending more money each 
year on the extra costs of pupils who have 
significant additional needs. For example, 
100 pupils 
with the level of need requiring a place at 
the new free special school will cost 
approximately £2,500,000. This was an 
extra cost to the high needs budget. 
However, if these places are not available, 
independent schools 
places will be required, at a cost of 

Page 100



 

 

£6,100,000. While this enables a large cost 
avoidance of £3,600,000, it is still 
additional expenditure. 
  

1.    The new free school will enable the 
Council to make savings where a 
child is currently placed in an 
independent or out of county school 
and the parent agrees to a transfer 
of their child to a state-funded 
special school. For every 10 who do 
this, a cost saving of £360,000 will 
be made (independent cost of 
£610,000 becomes a £250,000 cost 
in a state-funded special school). 

2.    The new free school should reduce 
the number of appeals lodged to the 
First-tier Tribunal (Special 
Educational Needs and Disability) 
by families in WNC requesting a 
special school place. In turn, this will 
reduce the cost of defending 
appeals. 

  
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: 
  

1.    If the capital funding required to 
fund and build the school is not 
approved: this option would result in 
the failure of WNC fulfilling its 
statutory obligation of providing a 
sufficiency of ASC, SLCN and SLD 
SEND places in West 
Northamptonshire in future years. It 
would result in the requirement to 
utilise places in increasingly distant 
and more expensive places within 
the independent sector, which 
would place a further strain on the 
HNB of the DSG and the home to 
school transport budget, which is a 
strain on the general fund. If WNC 
cannot demonstrate that it is able to 
manage its DSG allocation in a 
balanced position (or have plans to 
do so) this would result in 
intervention by the DfE. This will 
prevent WNC from addressing 
issues relating to the timely 
provision of places in an appropriate 
setting for pupils in receipt of an 
education, health and care (EHC) 

Page 101



 

 

plan. This option was discounted for 
these reasons. 

2.    It might be possible to site the 
school elsewhere. However, this is 
likely to be a more expensive option 
- potentially several million pounds – 
as there will be a significant capital 
cost attached to any alternative 
land. The St John’s Tiffield site will 
be run on a 125 year lease with no 
capital costs incurred through a site 
purchase.  

 
Agenda Item 10 
Hackney Carriage (Taxi) Tariff Fare 
Increase 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: 
Cabinet considered the proposed WNC 
Hackney Carriage Tariff table of fares at 
shown in Appendix B and resolved to vary 
the three existing hackney carriage tariff 
fare tables currently in force in the WNC 
taxi licensing area accordingly. 
  
REASONS RESOLVED: 

1.    The option proposed aligns all 
existing hackney carriage tariff fare 
tables to create a consistent set of 
fares for all hackney carriage 
journeys undertaken across the 
WNC area, providing consistency 
for members of the public whilst 
benefiting the licensed trade. Due to 
the rising cost of fuel and in order 
for the licensing trade to make a 
sufficient income, it is essential a 
review of fares is undertaken. 

2.    The increase proposed took into 
consideration a % increase in the 
cost of taxi journeys that strikes a 
balance between an increase in 
income for the trade and the impact 
of increased taxi fares upon 
members of the public. 

  
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: 

1.    Cabinet can resolve to vary the 
three existing WNC Hackney 
Carriage tariff table of fares in line 
with the document at Appendix B, 
as recommended in the report. 

2.    Cabinet can resolve not to vary the 
three existing WNC Hackney 
Carriage tariff table of fares in line 
with the document at Appendix B 

Page 102



 

 

and instead resolve to recommend 
whatever tariff table of fares it 
decides is more appropriate. 
However, Cabinet should be mindful 
that any increase in fares, especially 
one higher than proposed at 
Appendix B, will be passed onto 
those using public transport and for 
this reason this option is not 
recommended. 

3.    Cabinet can resolve not to 
recommend any variation of the 
three existing WNC Hackney 
Carriage tariff table of fares. This 
option is not recommended, for the 
reasons set out in report.   

 
Agenda Item 11 
Award of Transitional Contract for 
Highway Professional Services 
 
 

 
RESOLVED:  
Cabinet agreed to award a transition 
contract to WSP via an appropriate 
framework to mitigate the financial and 
reputational risks to the Council and 
potential delays. The value of the proposed 
contract would be above £500,000.  
  
REASONS RESOLVED: 
To mitigate the financial and reputational 
risks to the Council and potential delays 
associated with ongoing activity and 
projects that are currently being delivered 
by KierWSP utilising WSP resources that 
would not TUPE to kier at the end of the 
current contract.  
  
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: 

1.    As is normal at the point of one 
contract ending and another 
beginning there are a number of 
significant projects and activities 
that WSP are engaged in delivering 
that will not be completed or at the 
end of a design stage. 

2.    The Council has a number of 
options regarding how to manage 
these projects namely: 

•      Passing them onto the new 
Highways Services supplier, Kier, to 
pick up the remaining work and 
continue it until it is completed. 

•      Procuring a new supplier to pick up 
the remaining work and continue it 
until it is completed. 

Page 103



 

 

•      Procuring a contract with WSP Ltd to 
continue with the work until it is 
completed or at a suitable stage to 
hand over to another supplier. 

1.    Either of the first two options would 
result in additional risks and cost to 
the Council. This is because a new 
supplier who had not previously 
worked on the project would need to 
satisfy themselves as to the 
adequacy of any previous work 
undertaken by others prior to taking 
on liability for that design – if indeed 
they were willing to do so. 

2.    They would also result in delays to 
projects while this process took 
place and furthermore whilst the 
new supplier became acquainted 
with the project. 

3.    The third option awarding a contract 
to WSP to continue the projects and 
activities would not result in these 
risks. 

  
 
   

 
Agenda Item 12 
Decision taken by the Leader of the 
Council under urgency procedures: 
Renewal of Microsoft 365 licences 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: That Cabinet noted the 
decisions taken by the Leader of the 
Council set out at Appendix A. 
  
REASONS RESOLVED:  

1.    Where decisions that would 
otherwise be taken by the Leader 
and Cabinet have been taken by the 
Leader alone, in the interests of 
transparency, the decision is 
reported to the next available 
meeting of the Cabinet. 

2.    The decision taken provided the 
authority for the Council to renew 
our Microsoft 365 licences, which 
are critical to the functioning of 
council systems. 

3.    Full reasons for the decision taken 
are set out in the decision records 
appended to this report. 

  
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: 
None  

  

Page 104



 

 

Agenda Item 13 
Cost of Living increase: How West 
Northamptonshire Council is supporting 
residents 
 
 

RESOLVED: Cabinet noted the contents of 
the report and tasked the all-party Anti-
Poverty Working Group to oversee the 
actions planned for the next 
year and support the development of other 
interventions that respond to local need. 
  
REASONS RESOLVED:  
West Northants Council is committed to 
ensuring that children, young people and 
adults will be supported to live their best 
lives through delivery of a number of aims. 
Some of these will be negatively impacted 
if no action is taken to mitigate the impact 
of the financial hardship: 

         Children and young people are 
supported to get the best start in life 
with high aspirations promoted for 
everyone 

         When people ask for help, we help 
them get back on track and regain 
independence 

         Reduced poverty with more help for 
people in a crisis and greater 
access to education and 
employment 

         People have access to information 
and support to help them stay well 
and make positive choices 

         We support families to thrive and 
provide early help when they face 
crisis. 

  
This is also underpinned by the Council’s 
Anti-Poverty Strategy aims and approach. 
  
ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: 
None  

 
Agenda Item 15 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax 
Reduction Risk Based Verification 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: The recommendations as set 
out in the report, which was exempt from 
publication, were approved’ 

 
 
Agenda Item 16 
Budgets for death management and 
related services 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: The recommendations as set 
out in the report, which was exempt from 
publication, were approved,  

 
  

Page 105



 

 

Agenda Item 17 
Management of St John’s Tiffield site 
 
 

RESOLVED: The recommendations as set 
out in the report, which was exempt from 
publication, were approved.  

 
 
Agenda Item 18 
Towns Fund: Four Waterside and 
Marefair Business Case and Delivery 
Strategy 
 
 

 
RESOLVED: The recommendations as set 
out in the report, which was exempt from 
publication, were approved.  

 
 

Page 106



 
 
 

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL 
COUNCIL 

 
 29th September 2022 

 
Councillor Mike Hallam, Portfolio Holder for Corporate and HR 

 

 

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers 
West MO/ Head of Legal  Jeanette McGarry  24/08/2022 
West S151  Martin Henry 22/08/2022 
Other Director/ SME Sarah Reed 24/08/2022 
Communications Lead/ Head 
of Communications 
 

Becky Hutson 24/08/2022 

 
List of Appendices 
 
None 
 
 

1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1  This report provides Council with an overview of the national drivers and impact of the cost-of-living 

increases experienced across Europe and the UK on residents of West Northamptonshire, and the 
actions taken by the Council to support the most vulnerable residents as well as opportunities for 
future actions. 

 
2. Executive Summary 

 
2.1  Increases in costs such as fuel, energy and day to day living costs are impacting on households across 

the country.  The Council is concerned about the increased cost of living and associated financial 
resilience and wellbeing of communities across West Northamptonshire.  Whilst there are some 
measures to mitigate the impacts being implemented at a national level, the Council has been 
proactive in taking actions to advise and support households and communities, aligned to the work 
done on the Anti-Poverty Strategy.  

 

Report Title 
 

Cost of Living increase: How West Northamptonshire Council is 
supporting residents   

Report Author Luiza Morris-Warren, Assistant Director of Customer and 
Corporate Services, Luiza.morris-warren@westnorthants.gov.uk 

Page 107

Agenda Item 8



 
 
2.2  Moving forward, the Council’s response will need to be evidence led and dynamic in order to 

respond to the changing needs of our communities.  This requires a corporate response from across 
a range of teams and will require engagement and links with key partners and our communities.  

 
3. Recommendations 

 
3.2  It is recommended that Council: 

 
a) Note the contents of the report 
b) Task the all-party Anti-Poverty Working Group to oversee the actions planned for the next 

year and support the development of other interventions that respond to local need. 
 

 
4. Reason for Recommendations (NOTE: this section is mandatory and must be completed) 

 
West Northants Council is committed to ensuring that children, young people and adults will be 
supported to live their best lives through delivery of a number of aims.  Some of these will be 
negatively impacted if no action is taken to mitigate the impact of the financial hardship:   

 
• Children and young people are supported to get the best start in life with high aspirations 

promoted for everyone   
• When people ask for help, we help them get back on track and regain independence   
• Reduced poverty with more help for people in a crisis and greater access to education and 

employment   
• People have access to information and support to help them stay well and make positive 

choices   
• We support families to thrive and provide early help when they face crisis.  

 
This is also underpinned by the Council’s Anti-Poverty Strategy aims and approach. 

 
 

5. Report Background 
 
5.1  The national background   
  
5.1.1  The cost of living is the price you pay to maintain a certain standard of living.  This can be 

affected by a variety of things, including tax rises, inflation and rising energy bills.  
 

5.1.2 Drivers: Currently, this is being affected by well-documented global events: the recovery from 
the Covid-19 pandemic, the war in Ukraine which has seen a number of European countries 
cease trade with Russia (with a significant impact on cost of crude oil), and trade routes from 
Ukraine and Russia (two of the biggest exporters of agricultural produce) disrupted or ceased.   

 
5.1.3 Inflation: The rate of inflation in the UK is currently at a 40-year high, 10.1% as of July, and 

expected to continue to rise this autumn.  Consumer prices, as measured by the Consumer Prices 
Index (CPI), were 9.4% higher in June 2022 than a year before.  Increases in the costs of 

Page 108



 
 

consumer goods, underpinned by strong demand from consumers and supply chain bottlenecks, 
have been one factor behind rising inflation.  

 
5.1.4 Fuel prices: These have been consistently rising in the past year – please see below.  
 

  
Source: BEIS   
  
5.1.5  Energy prices: The energy price cap dictates bills for more than 23 million households and 

provides an estimate of the bill price based on average use. It is predicted that by October this 
year, the price cap will rise to £3,359 for typical use (this is a 70% increase), with a further rise to 
£3,616 for typical use in January 2023.  This will represent a 163% increase on energy costs in the 
winter 2021-22.   

 
5.1.6  Impact on households: Poorer households are currently experiencing higher inflation – on 

average – than better-off households.  This is because energy costs – the major driver of recent 
inflation – makes up a greater proportion of household budgets for low-income 
households.  Low-income households spend a larger proportion than average on energy and 
food so will be more affected by price increases.  Overall, recent Government support for 
households benefits low-income households the most.   

 
5.2  The local background   

 
5.2.1 Population: The area of West Northants has seen a population increase since the last Census 

(2011 to 2021) of 13.5%, compared to a 6.6% increase across England.   This increase was 30% in 
over 65s since 2011.  

 
5.2.2 Deprivation: 14.0% of the LSOAs in West Northamptonshire are considered deprived.  31 of 

these 32 deprived LSOAs are found in Northampton, the remaining one being in Daventry.   
  

Page 109



 
 
5.2.3 Children living in low income households: There are approximately 13,858 (2020-21 

provisional) children under 19 living in low income families across West Northants - this 
number has decreased by 2.7% compared to five years ago, compared to an increase of 17.4% 
across England as a whole.   

 
5.2.4    Businesses: 90.2% of businesses in West Northamptonshire are micro businesses (0-9 

employees), a slightly higher proportion than the England average (89.8%).  Micro-businesses 
are more susceptible to risk and also generate less tax return.   

 
5.2.5 Employment: In the year to end December 2021, the employment rate in West 

Northamptonshire rose to 75.7% after two quarters below the England average for the first 
time since the timeseries began in 2008.   

  
Currently, 11.0% of the resident population of West Northamptonshire aged 16-64 are believed 
to be self-employed.  This is the highest proportion since the year ending June 2020 and back 
above the England average.    

 
5.2.6 Unemployment: In West Northamptonshire, the unemployment rate increased faster during 

the pandemic than the England average but is now showing a sharp dip bringing it closer in line 
with the national figure.  The rate is 4.3% for males (small sample) against an England average 
of 4.7% and 5.9% for females (also small sample), well above the England average of 4.4%.   

 
5.2.7 House prices: Currently the average house price in WNC is just under £10K less (-3.3%) than the 

England average.    
  
5.2.8 Benefits: 28,184 households claim Housing Benefit or are in receipt of Universal Credit and 

claiming assistance with housing costs (as of September 2021).  
 
5.3  What residents are telling us   
 
 Below is a summary of feedback received at the front door from customers:   

• Reliance on the £150 rebate, Free School Meals and the Household Support Fund vouchers  
• Reliance on food banks or the food packs from the One Stop Shop (some people have run out 

of the 5 packs/ year they are entitled to by June)   
• Lack of financial contingencies – no savings or alternative sources of income   
• Risk of debt and pay day loans   
• Inability to afford utilities (internet, mobile phone)  
• Reduction in the ability to travel (cost of petrol, bus fares)   
• Highlighting the lack of budgeting and cooking skills   
• Stigma around any support which can be perceived as ‘charity’ or ‘hand outs’   
• Lack of connectivity – language, digital skills, transport, social networks   
• Lack of awareness of what help is available (previously had no need to seek support from the 

Council and services). 
  

6. Issues and Choices – the response provided by West Northants Council 
 

Page 110



 
 

An update on activity carried out to date and underway as part of the Council’s cost of living 
response is included below.  This work is constantly under review to reflect the changing economic 
situation in the country.  As inflation rates continue to rise, and we collate better intelligence of 
impact on services, we will continue to redefine our support offer.  

 
6.1        Customer Services:  
 

• The team is focusing on providing a reliable, easily accessible universal offer which focuses on 
prevention of issues escalating by giving residents the information they need, and signposting 
and referring to appropriate services; 

• Identifying needs at the earliest opportunity – missed payments, enquiries about additional 
payments from the Council, enquiries about loans or additional support etc. – whenever possible, 
we will engage in a more in-depth conversation to find out how else we can support people to 
prevent them from falling into hardship;  

• Putting people in contact with the right services, at the right time, in the right way;   
• Helping people navigate the complex landscape of public services by collocating with the relevant 

providers and being available where people are; 
• Resolving as many issues as possible at every point of contact – one contact, several transactions/ 

tasks completed;   
• Outreach work carried out between Customer Services, Libraries, Adults Social Care, Debt and 

Money Advice, Housing and Tenancy Support (Brackley, Weston Favell, East Hunsbury, Moulton, 
Dodderidge Centre with more locations to follow). 

  
6.2       Communications and engagement 
 
The Council is working to ensure all residents are kept informed and engaged on the range of both local 
and national support, advice and financial assistance available to them during these challenging times, 
and is continuing to develop and increase its communications activities across a broad range of channels, 
working with partners including community groups and parish councils to do so. 
Some of the activities already undertaken to date include the following: 
 

Household Support Fund (HSF) publicity - ongoing 
Communications for Round One of the HSF included news releases and updates, social media 
and newsletter articles including the parish and members’ briefings, with partners encouraged 
to share the information on their own channels.   
Communications for Round Two are currently underway, including news updates targeted at 
specific groups who will benefit from the fund. Comms has supported DWP initiatives and 
administered Government funding via voluntary sector organisations and have planned comms 
tactically so that these organisations are not inundated with enquiries. The Communications 
and Customer Services Teams have worked together to coordinate an agreed response for 
enquiries received through our call centres.   
 
Cost of Living Support – web information and signposting   
A  Cost of Living Support web area has been created which includes signposting information on 
all support available via WNC, the Government and local organisations such as Citizens Advice 
and foodbanks. Since the page went live a few weeks ago it has been viewed over 3,000 times by 

Page 111

https://www.westnorthants.gov.uk/community-safety-and-emergencies/cost-living-support


 
 

1,776 unique users. The web section has been promoted via news releases and updates service 
area meetings, Anna’s Blog, social media and Member’s and Parish Briefings. 
 
Social media   
With over 20,000 residents now following the Council’s social media accounts, these channels 
are playing a valuable role in keeping residents updated.  Alongside West Northants social 
media posts, the Council has been actively sharing Government and DWP posts around the 
Cost-of-Living crisis as well as signposting to local community support.  With the council seeing 
good levels of engagement, social media and video activity will continue to be developed in line 
with the situation.   
  
Partner communications 
Alongside information being shared in Members and Parish briefings, the service is working on 
developing further comms resources for Parishes and local communities as challenges continue 
for residents.  The Communications team is exploring how to reach rural areas and ‘hard to 
reach’ communities and groups, and expanding what is available to members to then share 
with residents and their communities.  Service areas are being regularly engaged and contacted 
for updates as the cost of living crisis continues. 

 
  

6.3        Revenues and Benefits   
 
The Revenues and Benefits team are working with partners to help to support residents with the rising 
cost of living.  
  

• The team has administered the Government’s Council Tax fuel rebate scheme for all those 
eligible residents in bands A to D.  West Northamptonshire Council received an allocation of 
£21,982,350 and to date £19,985,100 has been delivered to 133,234 residents.  This 
represents 91.89% of the original funding allocation.   

• The Council’s discretionary fund of £700k will be launched shortly and will be targeted at 
the most vulnerable households who live in Council Tax Bands E to H. This will be delivered 
from September onwards and will support around 4,700 residents. 

• Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs) are made by the team to help those residents 
whose rent may not be covered by Housing Benefit or Universal Credit.  We have seen an 
increase in the numbers of awards: as of August 2022, 379 payments totalling £182,000 
compared to 357 awards in August 2021 totalling £139,000.  Whilst the cost of living crisis 
hasn’t as yet had a big impact, we are seeing applications from people who are living on the 
limit of their finances, and this will only get harder during the winter months.  

• An exceptional hardship fund has been established by the Council to help vulnerable 
residents and those who are experiencing financial hardship with payments of their Council 
Tax.  The scheme has been updated to allow more taxpayers to be supported, and to date 
149 awards have been made totalling £45,000 compared to 16 awards in 2021-2022 
totalling £2,229. 

• The Debt and Money Advice team offer a service to some of our most vulnerable residents, 
including maximising income and financial gains, debt and budgeting advice and working 
with partners to prevent homelessness and help residents to pay their rent and Council Tax. 
The source of referrals to the small in-house team is changing and the team are seeing an Page 112



 
 

increase in demand influenced by many issues including the current cost of living crisis.  A 
full review of current service delivery is underway including the in-house provision and 
external contracts such as Citizens Advice, with the aim of looking at the need and provision 
required across West Northants. 

  
6.4       Communities and Opportunities   

 
• Within the Housing and Community lead departments it has been noted that there is an 

increase of customers dealing with difficult financial situations.  These customers are being 
given different links to pages on our website, and others to provide them with up-to-date 
information.  

• There is an Autumn/Winter working group currently being set up by Head of Community 
Safety and Engagement in Housing and Communities, in readiness for some of the challenges, 
on what else can be done to allow residents to allow their money to travel further.  Ideas are 
being put forward and they will be meeting soon.  
 

6.5        Public Health  
 

There is a clear link between poverty and health – poor health outcomes can be escalated 
 and/ or driven by poverty.  It’s vital therefore that we try to tackle the causes of the causes of 
 poor health such as money and debt, fuel poverty, and housing issues.   
  

‘Poverty Hurts’ – Pledging Winter Fuel Payments to the most vulnerable residents  
  

• Working in partnership with Northamptonshire Community Fund (NCF) to support their 
‘Poverty Hurts’ campaign to enable residents who can do so, to pledge all or part of their 
Winter Fuel Allowance by donating it to the Poverty Hurts Fund.   

• Funding raised will be distributed by NCF via grants to local VCS partners who provide support 
to vulnerable households.  

• An ambitious target could be £1,000,000 based on donations of 2500 residents pledging £400 
each – but residents will be encouraged to donate part or all of their allowance.  

• The framing and communication of this action will be vital to entice residents - who are able to 
- to make the pledge. 

• This action piggy backs into an existing campaign which has high levels of good governance and 
a track record of delivery, minimising risk to WNC. 

• The major action and only commitment required of WNC is to partner in a communications and 
PR drive with NCF to encourage pledge making and showcase where the NCF are able to 
allocate the funding to our most vulnerable residents. 

• The Poverty Hurts campaign goes live on 1 September 2022. 
 
6.6       Household Support Fund – phase 2  
 

• The vouchers for schools were issued w/c 4th July, ahead of the normal distribution period  
• The current redemption rate of 86% (vouchers expire 6th September) is the highest achieved to 

date  
• For the first time, the awards have included FSM approved children who are educated at home  Page 113



 
 

• The extra funding provided by Public Health has allowed the weekly allowance to be raised to 
£20 per week, per child (from £15 per week, per child) and set for the full 6 weeks of the school 
holidays   

• The use of Post Office cash vouchers has been tested during HSF2 for pensioners. Other than a 
few instances most pensioners prefer the use of the Post Office cash voucher over the standard 
food vouchers.  

• The redemption rate of 55% within 10 days is excellent (the vouchers were issued 9th August)  
• NCF have enrolled 36 voluntary organisations across the region to distribute vouchers on a 

proactive basis. The distribution went live on 29th July.  
• The food vouchers reached particular groups of people in hardship that we would not have 

identified if the distribution had been an open application process.  
• The distribution rate has experienced a slow start, but we are now seeing 1,000+ vouchers 

being issued per week.  
 
6.7     The Anti-Poverty cross-party working group  
 
In order to provide the right levels of governance and oversight to the work carried out by the Council 
and to ensure that the voice of residents and communities is taken into account when developing 
action plans, a cross-party working group has been set up.  The various work strands emerging across 
the Council will be updating this group and ensuring that the impact of interventions is visible.  
 

  
7. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
7.1  Resources and Financial 
7.1.1    The Council could choose not to develop a local response to the cost-of-living crisis. This  is not 

recommended as it would not be in line with the Council’s commitment to help and support its 
communities at a time when communities are likely to be experiencing financial pressures. 

 
7.1.2    There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. However,  resources and 

staff  time will be refocussed/ reallocated to support households as required. (For example, case 
management team support).  Where possible the actions and associated evidence base may be 
used to seek external funding to support our communities, for example, via the UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund.  

 
7.1.3     The Council must also note that cost of living increases may impact on the ability of households 

to pay key household costs such as rent and council tax.  Every effort must be made to support 
households who are struggling to ensure they can meet their financial obligations.  

 
  

7.2  Legal  
 
7.2.1  There are no direct legal or governance implications arising from this report.  However, any 

future activities will be subject to further reports to Council and will be compliant with legislation 
and good governance. 

 
7.3  Equality and Safeguarding Implications Page 114



 
 

 
7.3.1  These are set out within section 5.2 of this report and the Anti-Poverty action plan has been 

developed with these risk factors and at-risk groups in mind.  
 

 
7.4        Community Safety Implications 
 
7.4.1  There are no community safety issues arising directly from this report.  

 
7.5        Environmental and Climate Change Implications 

 
7.5.1  There are no environmental and climate change implications arising directly from this report. 

However, the Council must remain alert to the importance of energy efficiency measures, 
particularly from a housing perspective, in supporting households with rising energy costs. 
 
The Council’s lead officers for climate and environment are part of the cost-of-living group  
and are supporting the ongoing development and delivery of the cost-of-living action plan.  

 
7.6       Other Implications 
 
7.6.1 Health and Wellbeing Implications: The cost-of-living pressures facing households are likely to 

impact on the health, wellbeing and resilience of our communities. The cost-of living plan seeks 
to address this.  

 
7.6.2 Human Resource Implications: There is great appreciation and awareness that the squeeze on 

household budgets does impact on the Council’s own workforce.  The pay claim for 2022 has not 
been settled with consultation and discussion between unions and employers is ongoing.  
Communication and support are in place and ongoing to ensure colleagues are aware of and 
access the mental wellbeing and financial support available to them at the right time.  Our 
colleagues provide invaluable services to the community so we will do our very best to ensure 
they are well supported during this period of uncertainty and financial pressure.  

 
 

8. Background Papers 
 
None 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL 
Council 

 
 29th September 2022 

 
Councillor Malcolm Longley, Cabinet Member for Finance and Chair of the 

Pension Committee  
 

 

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers 
West MO Catherine Whitehead 20/9/2022 
West S151  Martin Henry 01/09/2022 
Communications 
Lead/Head of 
Communications 

Claire Hughes  Sent 9/9/2022 

 
List of Appendices 
 
None 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
1.1 To report on the work of the Pension Fund Committee over the previous year. 

 
2. Executive Summary 
2.1 The report sets out the Governance, Oversight and Investment activities undertaken by the 

Committee during 2021-22, including the approval of various policies and strategies. 
 
3. Recommendations 
3.1 Council is recommended to note the content of the report. 
 
4. Reason for Recommendations  

Report Title 
 

Pension Committee Annual Report 2021-22 
 

Report Author Mark Whitby, Head of Pensions  
Mark.Whitby@westnorthants.gov.uk 

Page 117

Agenda Item 9



 
 
4.1 To update Council on the work of the Committee during 2021-22 promoting good governance 

and oversight. 
 
5. Report Background 
5.1 Part 3B of the Constitution states that the Northamptonshire Pension Committee has delegated 

responsibility, with regards to the Northamptonshire Local Government Pension Fund, for: 
 
• Funding Strategy; 
• Investment Strategy; 
• Administration Strategy; 
• Communication Strategy; 
• Discretions; 
• Governance; and 
• Risk Management. 
 

5.2 It is the responsibility of the Pension Committee to develop and maintain strategies, policies 
and procedures, thus ensuring effective governance, oversight and accountability is upheld on 
behalf of the Fund’s stakeholders. 
 

5.3 The information contained in section 6 of this report demonstrates the key decisions and 
approvals that have been made by the Pension Committee during 2021/22, supported by the 
Investment Sub-Committee. 

 
6. Issues and Choices 

Key Governance Activities of the Pension Committee 
 

6.1 Approval of the Pension Fund Annual Business Plan and Medium-Term Strategy 
 

6.1.1 Each year the Pension Committee agrees a Pension Fund Business Plan and Medium-Term 
Strategy that sets out how the Fund’s objectives will be met and other key priorities for the 
year and following two years. The Strategy also details performance indicators for the Fund and 
an estimate of the Fund account. 
 

6.1.2 The purpose of the business plan is to: 
• Explain the background and objectives of West Northamptonshire Council in respect of the 

management of the Northamptonshire Pension Fund. 
• Document the priorities and improvements to be implemented by the Pensions Service during 

the next three years to help achieve those objectives. 
• Enable progress and performance to be monitored in relation to established priorities; and 
• Provide a clear vision for the next three years. 
 

6.1.2 The Pension Committee receives regular updates on how the Fund is meeting its objectives via 
Business Plan Update reports.  
 

6.1.4 The Pension Committee approved the Annual Business Plan and Medium-Term Strategy in June 
2021.  

Page 118



 
 
 
6.2 Approval of the Northamptonshire Pension Fund Communication Plan 

 
6.2.1 The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 require the Pension Fund to prepare, 

maintain and publish a written statement setting out its policy concerning communications 
with members and scheme employers.  
 

6.2.2 The Communications Plan is produced annually to support the Communication Strategy and 
outlines the Fund’s planned communication activities on a monthly basis for each stakeholder 
group. As well as setting out planned newsletters, surveys, employer training and web updates 
the plan also highlights some of the Fund’s key initiatives for the year. 

 
6.2.2 At the June 2021 meeting of the Pension Committee the Communication Plan for 2021/22, 

which outlined the core communication activities for the year, was approved.  
 
6.3 Approval of the Governance Policy and Compliance Statement  

 
6.3.1 The Governance Policy and Compliance Statement, as required under the Local Government 

Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, details the governance arrangements for the 
Northamptonshire Pension Fund as administered by West Northamptonshire Council. 
 

6.3.2 The governance structure of the Northamptonshire Pension Fund was reviewed in November 
2020 in preparation for the creation of the new administering authority, West 
Northamptonshire Council. The governance structure mirrors the arrangements previously in 
place for Northamptonshire County Council. 

 
6.3.3 The governance structure was incorporated into the Constitution of West Northamptonshire 

Council and was approved at the first Council meeting in May 2021. It is reflected in the 
Governance Policy and Compliance Statement which was subsequently approved by the 
Pension Committee in July 2021.  

 
6.4 Approval of the Admission Bodies, Scheme Employers and Bulk Transfer Policy  

 
6.4.1 The Admission Bodies, Scheme Employers and Bulk Transfer Policy outlines the Fund’s policies 

regarding the treatment of admitted bodies and scheme employers in a range of scenarios, 
particularly their entry and exit from the Fund, and the bulk transfer of pension rights into and 
out of the Fund. 
 

6.4.2 In September 2020 the LGPS Regulations were amended to allow the Fund to recalculate 
employer contributions outside of the triennial formal valuation and to allow greater flexibility 
around managing the exit of an employer from the Fund. 

 
6.4.3 A revised Admission Bodies, Scheme Employers and Bulk Transfer Policy, reflecting this 

regulation change, was approved by the Pension Committee in October 2021.  
 
6.5 Approval of the Cyber Strategy  

 Page 119



 
 
6.5.1 The increasing threat to Pension Funds of cyber-crime activities is a significant concern across 

the pensions industry. This has resulted in industry bodies such as the Pension Regulator and 
the Pensions Administration Standards Association (PASA) issuing guidance on how Funds 
should mitigate their risks of a cyber-event occurring. 
 

6.5.2 The Pensions Regulator is clear in its expectations that LGPS Funds cannot simply rely upon 
their host authority to ensure all the necessary safeguards are in place to protect against a 
cyber-event occurring.  

 
6.5.3 A Cyber Strategy was produced in conjunction with the Fund’s governance advisors and their 

specialist cyber security team along with a detailed action plan to ensure the Fund is aware of 
the potential risks it faces and to mitigate them where possible. The strategy and action plan 
were approved by the Pension Committee in October 2021.  

 
6.6 Multiple Investment Strategies  

 
6.6.1 The Committee had previously approved an activity within the Fund’s business plan to 

investigate the use of multiple employer investment strategies. Officers engaged the Fund 
actuary to carry out asset-liability modelling against different investment strategies to 
determine if better funding outcomes could be achieved for different groups of employers by 
having access to different investment strategies. 
 

6.6.2 At the meeting in October 2021, the Pension Committee agreed not to implement Multiple 
Investment Strategies at this time.  

 
6.7 Approval of the Training Strategy  

 
6.7.1 A Training Strategy is required to assist the Pension Committee, Local Pension Board and senior 

officers of the Northamptonshire Pension Fund to ensure the Fund is managed and assisted by 
individuals who have the appropriate level of knowledge and skills as required by the Pensions 
Act 2004 and as enforced by the Pensions Regulator. 
 

6.7.2 A revised Training Strategy was approved by the Pension Committee in December 2021.  
 
6.8 Approval of the Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy  

 
6.8.1 The administering authority is responsible for ensuring appropriate policies are in place for the 

safeguarding of the Fund’s assets through appropriate methods of risk management. It is 
therefore appropriate for the Fund to have in place an Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy. 

 
6.8.2 A revised Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy was approved by the Pension Committee in March 

2022. 
 
6.9 Approval of the Annual Report and Statement of Accounts 

 
6.9.1 The Pension Fund’s Statement of Accounts form part of the West Northamptonshire Council’s 

Statement of Accounts and is covered by the external auditor’s opinion. Page 120



 
 
6.9.2 The Annual Report and Statement of Accounts have been subject to audit fieldwork by the 

County Council’s external auditor. Whilst the external auditor performs a full audit of the 
Statement of Accounts, their work on the Annual Report is limited to a review to ensure 
compliance with guidance and consistency with the Statement of Accounts. 

6.9.3 The Statement of Accounts is the financial representation of every activity that the Fund has 
been directly or indirectly involved with over the course of the financial year. 

6.9.4 They are based on actual transactions accounted for within the Fund’s financial ledger, 
information received from Investment Fund Managers and the Fund’s Custodian, and 
assumptions and estimations utilising the professional judgement of officers in order to give a 
true and fair statement of the Fund’s financial position. 

6.9.5 On 31 March 2022, the net increase for the year was £264.3m, with the Fund’s net assets rising 
to £3,367.7m reflecting strong financial growth mainly due to the outperformance of pooled 
investments. 

6.9.6 The Annual Report in respect of 2021-22 was approved by the Pension Committee in July 2022. 
 

Key Investment Activities of the Pension Fund Committee 

6.10 Decisions surrounding Asset Pooling 
 

6.10.1 The Northamptonshire Pension Fund has continued to work with 10 other Local Government 
Pension Funds in the ACCESS Pool to meet the Government’s asset pooling agenda; to deliver 
scale, strong governance, reduced costs and improved capacity to invest in infrastructure. 

6.10.2 A Pension Committee representative of each ACCESS Fund sits on a Joint Committee, which 
meets quarterly and has oversight of the work of the Pool and delegated authority with regards 
to specific asset pooling functions. Listed assets held within the ACCESS Pool are run by Link 
Fund Solutions, a Financial Conduct Authority regulated “Operator”.  

6.10.3 ACCESS funds have total assets of £60bn (as of 31 March 2022), of which over £35bn (58.5%) 
has been pooled or is under pool governance, serving 3,500 employers with 1.2 million 
members including 310,000 pensioners, delivering net savings since inception in excess of 
£27m. 

6.10.4 In December 2021, MJ Hudson were appointed as implementation advisor for the ACCESS Pool 
alternative / non-listed assets. This covers the four areas set out below: 

• Private Equity 
• Private Debt 
• Infrastructure 
• Property 

Real Estate (property) was approved as the first asset class to be progressed and the ACCESS 
Joint Committee (AJC) approved that OJEU procurements are undertaken for UK Core and 
Global Real Estate and investment manager searches for UK Alternatives. Hampshire County 
Council were appointed as the procurement lead authority.   

6.10.5 The Northamptonshire Pension Fund transferred its first active fund to the Pool in 2018-19. As 
of 31st March 2022, the Fund has pooled over 75% of the Fund’s assets, generating annualised 
fee savings for the 2021/22 financial year resulting from the asset pooling agenda in excess of 

Page 121



 
 

£2.1m.  
 

6.11 Russia, Ukraine Belarus Exposure 
 

6.11.1 As at March 2022, direct exposure to Russian, Ukrainian and Belarusian investments was 
estimated at £0.8m across the Northamptonshire Fund’s pooled and non-pooled investments. 
This represents 0.02% of the Fund’s assets. The Fund will continue to review and monitor its 
investments including approaches to exiting Russian-based investments when it is practicable. 

6.11.2 As of 1 March 2022, the extent of direct Russian-based investment accounted for 0.05% of 
ACCESS Authorities’ pooled assets. 

6.12 Scheme member representation in Asset Pools 
 

6.12.1 The ACCESS Joint Committee agreed proposals enabling each ACCESS Authority’s Local Pension 
Board (LPB) to send two observers, on a rotational basis, to AJC meetings. It was agreed that 
observers from three ACCESS Authority LPBs at a time can attend AJC meetings in person, 
allowing each LPB to be represented at least once a year. 

6.13 Strategic Changes to the Funds Asset Allocation and portfolios. 
 

6.13.1 There were no changes to the Fund’s strategic asset allocation in the year, which remained:  
Equities 55% 
Fixed Income 20% 
Alternatives. 25%  

6.13.2 A review of the Fund Strategic Asset Allocation is scheduled following the triennial Fund 
Valuation Review in 2022/23. This could result in changes to the strategic asset allocation 
above.  

6.14 Review of Investment Strategy Statement  
 

6.14.1  The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 
2016 (“the Regulations”) set out the requirement for the preparation and publication of the 
Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement (ISS). The ISS sets out the Fund’s investment beliefs, 
strategic asset allocation, key investment risks and its approach to RI and Environmental, Social 
and Governance (ESG) issues.  

6.14.2  An enhanced RI policy, which forms part of our overall investment strategy has been 
developed. The new RI policy sets out the Funds approach to sustainable responsible 
investment and will help manage the carbon and climate risks impacting investments. The RI 
policy was agreed following a consultation that was open to scheme members and scheme 
employers and was approved as part of the Investment Strategy Statement by the Pension 
Committee in December 2021.  

6.14.3 In February 2022, the Investment Sub Committee approved decarbonisation targets to reduce 
the carbon emissions of listed equities by 25% by 2024 and by 59% by 2030 together with a 
climate action plan for 2022, 2023 and beyond. 

Page 122



 
 
 

Key Service Activities of the Pension Committee 
 

6.15 Valuation of the Fund  
 

6.15.1 Work has been undertaken with the Fund’s actuarial advisors to prepare for the triennial 
valuation of the Pension Fund. The valuation date is 31 March 2022 with results to be published 
by 31 March 2023 and new employer contribution rates effective from 1 April 2023. The 
Pension Committee have received information via the Business Plan update reports and 
dedicated papers where additional information was required.  

 
6.16 Age Discrimination Remedy  

 
6.16.1 In October 2020, the Pension Committee were presented a report on the McCloud judgement 

following the ruling that the transitional protections offered within the 2013 LGPS regulations 
have been deemed as discriminatory to younger members of the scheme.  
 

6.16.2 The initial transitional protections compared the benefits payable under the current rules 
compared with those payable from the scheme if the rules hadn’t changed in 2014 through the 
use of an ‘underpin’. However, the methodology used within the calculation were more 
beneficial to older members of the scheme and this was ultimately viewed as age 
discriminatory. 

 
6.16.3 There has been a delay on the implementation of the remedy, which was due to come into 

force on 1 April 2022, subsequently deferred until 1 October 2023. In preparation for the 
pending implementation date the Fund has continued to collect data from employers, verify 
data quality and rectify members records where required.  The Pension Committee have 
received updates via the Governance and Compliance Report where appropriate.   

 
6.17 Reports noted by the Pension Committee 

 
6.17.1 During the year the Pension Committee have been presented with various reports consisting of 

a range of information in relation to the administration to the Fund. The Administration Report 
in particular, provides the Committee with the performance of the Fund and performance 
information regarding Scheme Employers.  
Reports such as Asset Pooling, Risk Monitoring and Business Plan updates are delivered to the 
Committee at least biannually where activity in these areas are reported and discussed.  
The Governance and Compliance Report is designed as a best practice report whereby 
compliance can be demonstrated, and information provided to the Committee on current 
issues affecting the operation and management of the Fund.  

 
6.17.2 These reports demonstrate to the Committee that appropriate thought and consideration have 

been provided to the delegated areas under the Constitution and that the Committee can 
challenge information and make recommendations where appropriate. 

6.17.3 All Pension Committee reports highlight risks associated with proposals and appropriate 
mitigations. Risks are monitored throughout the year to ensure they remain fit for purpose. 

 Page 123



 
 
7 Implications (including financial implications) 
7.1 Resources and Financial 

 
7.1.1 There are no resources or financial implications as this report is summarising the work already 

undertaken by the Pension Committee. 
 
7.2 Legal 

 
7.2.1 There are no legal implications arising from the report. 
 
7.3 Risk 

 
7.3.1 The mitigated risks associated with this report has been captured in the Fund’s risk register as 

detailed below -  
 

Risk Residual risk rating 
Information may not be provided to stakeholders as required. Green 
Those charged with governance are unable to fulfil their 
responsibilities effectively. 

Green 

 
7.4 Consultation  

 
7.4.1 Not applicable. 
 
7.5     Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny 

 
7.5.1 The administration of the Local Government Pension Scheme in a non-executive matter and 

therefore consideration by Overview and Scrutiny is not required. 
 
7.6     Climate Impact 

 
7.6.1 This report is for information only and therefore has no climate impact. The Fund’s Responsible 

Investment Policy is contained within its Investment Strategy Statement and sets out how all 
environmental, social and governance factors, including climate risk, are incorporated into 
investment decision making. 

 
7.7     Community Impact 

 
7.7.1 Not applicable. 
 
7.8     Communications  

 
7.8.1 Not applicable. 
 
8     Background Papers 

Page 124



 
 
8.1 Business Plan and Medium-Term Strategy 2021/22 
 Communication Plan 
 Data Improvement Policy 
 Annual Report and Statement of Accounts 
 Investment Strategy Statement 

Governance Policy and Compliance Statement 
Admission Bodies, Scheme Employers and Bulk Transfer Policy 
Cyber Strategy (not published) 
Training Strategy 
Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL 
Council 

 
29th September 2022 

 
Councillor Malcolm Longley: Cabinet Member for Finance 

 

 

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers 
MO  Catherine Whitehead 14/09/2022 
Chief Finance Officer Martin Henry 07/09/2022 
Communications 
Lead/Head of 
Communications 

  

 
List of Appendices 
 
None 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1. The Local Government Scheme Advisory Board Guidance on the creation and operation of Local 

Pension Boards in England and Wales suggests that it is good practice for the Local Pension Board 
to consider publishing an annual report of the Board’s activities for that year. It is consistent with 
good governance practices that the Board should submit this report to the Council in its capacity 
as the Administering Authority. 

 
2. Executive Summary 
 

Report Title 
 

Annual Report of the Local Pension Board 
 

Report Author Paul Hanson 
Democratic Services Manager 
paul.hanson@westnorthants.gov.uk  
 

Page 127

Agenda Item 10



 
 
1.2. The report provides a summary of the work of the Board over the past year.  Council is asked to 

note the Annual Report and raise any comments accordingly. The report has been published on 
the Council’s website and the Pension Fund website. 

 
3. Recommendations 
 
3.1 It is recommended that the Council notes the annual report of the Local Pension Board, set out 

at Section 7 below. 
 

4. Reason for Recommendations  
 

4.1 As stated above, it is good practice for the Local Pension Board to publish an annual report and 
that this report be submitted to the Council in its capacity as the Administering Authority. 

 
5. Report Background 
 
5.1 The Public Services Pensions Act 2013 requires all Public Service Pension Schemes to establish a 

Local Pension Board. The role of the Board is to assist the Administering Authority (West 
Northamptonshire Council) to: 
• Secure compliance with the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) regulations and 

other legislation relating to the governance and administration of the LGPS and also the 
requirements imposed by the Pensions Regulator in relation to the LGPS; and 

• Ensure the effective and efficient governance and administration of the LGPS.  
 

5.2 The Local Pension Board is expected to complement and enhance the Council’s existing 
arrangements for administering the pension scheme.  It does not replace the existing 
arrangements and it is not a decision-making body. Rather, it is designed to act as a critical 
friend to the existing Pension Committee and Investment Sub-Committee. 
 

5.3 The Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment) (Governance) Regulations 2015 relating 
to the creation and ongoing operation of local pension boards were laid before Parliament on 
28th January 2015 and came into force on 20th February 2015. These regulations required the 
Administering Authority (then Northamptonshire County Council) to agree the establishment of 
a Local Pension Board by 1st April 2015.  The Northamptonshire Local Pension Board was 
established on 19 March 2015 and held its first meeting on 6 July 2015. The first meeting of the 
Board under West Northamptonshire Council was held on 1 July 2021. 
 

5.4 The Board’s annual report focuses on demonstrating to the Administering Authority that the 
Board is fulfilling its statutory role by helping the Administering Authority to: 
• secure compliance with the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) regulations and 

other legislation relating to the governance and administration of the LGPS and also the 
requirements imposed by the Pensions Regulator in relation to the LGPS; and 

• ensure the effective and efficient governance and administration of the LGPS.  
 

5.5 Over the course of the past year, the Board has reviewed a range of issues and policies relevant 
to the scheme, including: 
• Administration Performance; Page 128



 
 

• Business Plan updates; 
• Governance and Compliance; 
• Risk Monitoring; 
• Internal Audit; 
• Business Continuity; 
• ACCESS pooling update; and 
• Cyber Resilience. 
 

5.6 The report provides a digest of this activity to the Administering Authority for information.  
 
6. Board Membership 
 
6.1 The Board is composed of three employer representatives and three employee representatives:  

 
Employer representatives 

• Councillor Ken Pritchard (WNC) 
• Councillor Andrew Weatherill (NNC) 
• Julie Petrie (Northampton Partnership Homes) 

 
Employee representatives 

• Alicia Bruce (active member, Moulton College) 
• Katy Downes (deferred member) 
• Kev Standishday (active member, Unison) 

 
6.2 Members who are not appointed by their authorities are recruited via open advertisement to 

all employers or employees respectively. This ensures the widest possible range of employers 
or members have the opportunity to apply. Selection is conducted by officers from Finance and 
Democratic Services teams. 

 
7. Issues and Choices 
 
7.1 The Board’s work programme for 2021-22 is set out below. The Board’s consideration of the 

issues described can involve both pre- and post-scrutiny of policy depending on the timetable 
for policy adoption by the Pension Fund Committee. 
 

7.2 Administration Performance  
 
One of the core functions of the Local Pension Board is to ensure the effective and efficient 
governance and administration of the Scheme.  The Board received information on and 
discussed the following areas: 

• Details of key performance indicators (KPIs), whether they had been met and the 
reasons if they were not met;  

• Details of employee and employer contributions timescales and targets; 
• Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure;  
• Occurrences of breaches of the law; and 
• Employer Admissions and Cessations. Page 129



 
 

 
7.2.1 Through these reports, the Board were provided with an oversight of the performance of the 

administration of the fund and the plans in place to improve performance further. The Board 
have had the opportunity to challenge performance, to note good progress against KPIs and 
also received information about issues such as breaches of the law.  
 

7.2.2 Throughout the period covered by this report, the Board were advised that only one of the 
breaches of the law that had occurred were considered to be material in nature. This related to 
a failure by Prudential to provide annual benefit statements by the statutory deadline of 31 
March 2022. The Board were advised that this breach had been reported to the Pensions 
Regulator and that the relevant Prudential statements had been sent out on 21st April 2022. 
 

7.2.3 At their meeting in April 2022, the Board were advised of a non-reportable data breach that 
had occurred. The Board satisfied themselves that any issues arising were not a result of 
staffing shortages and were pleased to note plans to add a further post to the retirements 
team.  
 

7.2.4 At their meeting in June 2022, the Board reviewed performance against KPIs and noted the 
additional monitoring that would be provided in respect of the target to provide transfer-in 
quotes to scheme member. 
 

7.3 Business Plan updates 
 

7.3.1 It is considered good practice for the Northamptonshire Pension Fund to adopt a Business Plan 
and Medium-Term Strategy that: 

• Sets out the objectives of the Council with regards to the management of the Fund; 
• Documents the priorities and improvements to be implemented during the next three 

years to help achieve those objectives; 
• Enables progress and performance to be monitored in relation to those priorities; and  
• Provides a clear vision for the next three years. 

 
7.3.2 The Board received regular updates on the Business Plan and Medium Term Strategy including 

regular updates on staffing and recruitment. 
 

7.3.3 At their meeting in January 2022, the Board were updated on the appointment of a contractor 
to provide investment advice. The Board sought assurances that performance standards were 
considered as part of the procurement process. The Board were advised that delays by HMRC 
had caused a delay to the commencement of the Guaranteed Minimum Pension Rectification. 
The Board also received an update on the implications of the judgement in the case of Lord 
Chancellor and Secretary of State for Justice versus McCloud, The Secretary of State for the 
Home Department versus Sargeant (the McCloud Judgement) and the implications for the fund.  
 

7.3.4 At their meeting in April 2022, the Board received an update on the Business Plan, including the 
procurement of a strategic investment consultant and global custody services. The Board heard 
that plans to pursue Pension Administration Standards Association (PASA) accreditation had 
been postponed due to the prioritisation of other projects. The Pensions Committee had 

Page 130



 
 

endorsed this decision. The Board noted with concern the progress related to undecided 
leavers but were advised that additional resources had been allocated to address this.  
 

7.3.5 The Board were also updated on the Fund’s Responsible Investment Policy and the carbon 
action plan. In response to enquires from Board members, the Board were advised that the 
fund would be signing up to the UK Stewardship Code. The Board were satisfied that the fund is 
well managed, particularly given the complexity of the scheme.  

 
7.4 Governance and Compliance  

 
7.4.1 It is a requirement for each Administering Authority to have in place a Governance Compliance 

Statement that sets out whether it delegates its functions, or part of its functions under the 
Regulations to a committee, a sub-committee or an officer of the authority. The Administering 
Authority must keep the policy and statement under review and, if revisions are made, it 
should be published, and a copy must be sent to the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government.  
 

7.4.2 The Board received regular updates on Governance and Compliance. In January 2022, the 
Board was advised that new legislation had been enacted in November 2021 to place further 
restrictions on individual member’s rights to transfer out of the scheme. In response to 
enquiries by the Board, the Board were advised that any reported scams would be subject to a 
in-depth investigation. Officers were on high alert to monitor any requests to transfer overseas.  
 

7.4.3 At their April 2022 meeting, the Board were advised of the right of members to attend ACCESS 
Joint Committee meetings. Mr Standish-Day advised he would be happy to attend. The Board 
was advised of a difficulty in filling a vacancy on the Pensions Committee and were advised 
further efforts to fill the vacancy would be made in May-June 2022.  
 

7.4.4 At their meeting in June 2022, the Board were updated on the Governance Compliance 
Statement and new code of practice.  

 
7.5 Risk Monitoring 

 
7.5.1 The Board receives regular updates on risk monitoring, including sight of the full risk register. 

The Board noted the reduction in risk associated with recruitment, following the successful 
recruitment to a number of posts within the team. The Board were advised of updates to the 
risk register related to the members of the Pensions Committee and Local Pension Board 
completing training. 
 

7.5.2 The Board challenged officers to attach timescales to the identified risks relating to reduction of 
carbon. The Board also sought assurance about the direction of travel in relation to risks 
flagged as amber. The Board were advised that not all risks were under the control of the 
Pensions Team, such as the payment of employer contributions. It was agreed that additional 
information would be added to the register to clarify this. 
 

7.6 Internal Audit 
 Page 131



 
 
7.6.1 At its meeting in January 2022, the Board received an update on the Internal Audit of the 

administration of the Fund. The Board were pleased to note the control environment was given 
substantial assurance and compliance was given good assurance. The Board sought assurance 
that process had been made towards implementing the findings of the audit.  
 

7.7 Business Continuity 
 

7.7.1 At its meeting in January 2022, the Board received an update on the Business Continuity Plan, 
which had been updated to reflect the new template implemented by the Council.  

 
7.8 Data Improvement Policy and Plan 

 
7.8.1 The Board received an update in June 2022 on the updated Data Improvement Policy and heard 

that the work required following the McCloud age discrimination remedy had commenced. The 
Board welcomed the introduction of data submission templates as a tool to manage data 
quality. The Board sought assurances about the mechanism for monitoring the action plan, 
which would be via the Administration Report. 

 
7.9 Reporting Breaches of the Law to the Pensions Regulator Policy 

 
7.9.1 The Board were advised that the revised policy would be updated in line with the new Code of 

Practice when it was published. It was acknowledged that changes were likely to be minimal. 
The Board praised the clarity of the policy document. 

 
7.10 Valuation Update 

 
7.10.1 At their meeting in June 2022, the Board received an update on the valuation process. They 

heard that contribution rates for North Northamptonshire Council and West Northamptonshire 
Council would be finalised in the coming months, alongside rates for Northamptonshire Police. 
In response to questions, the Board were advised that a long-term view was taken of 
investment markets and the modelling created enabled the actuary to consider around 5,000 
economic futures over the next 20 years, with the worst 5% scenarios tested against.  
 

7.11 ACCESS pooling update 
 

7.11.1 The Board has received regular updates on the ACCESS asset pool, including reports and 
minutes of the ACCESS Joint Committee.  

 
7.12 Cyber Resilience. 

 
7.12.1 The Board received regular updates relating to cyber resilience work in relation to the fund.  
 
7.13 Work Programme 

 
7.13.1 The Board’s work programme for future meetings is flexible, but is planned to include the 

following: 
 Page 132



 
 

Standing items: 
• Update on progress in achieving key activities in the Fund’s Annual Business Plan and 

Medium Term Strategy. 
• Review of the Fund’s administrative performance (KPIs on core activities and timeliness 

of receipt of employer contributions). 
• Update on governance, compliance and legislative changes affecting the administration 

and management of the LGPS. 
• Update on progress made in the government’s LGPS asset pooling agenda. 
• Review of the Fund’s risk register and associated changes. 
• ACCESS Updates. 

 
November 2022 

• Risk Strategy 
• Internal Audit 
• Annual Report and Statement of Accounts/External Audit  
• Code of Practice Action Plan 
• Climate Change Action Plan 
• Conflicts of Interest Policy 
• Good Governance Review Action Plan  
• Administration Strategy 
• Cyber Resilience  

 
January 2023 

• Overpayment of Pension Policy 
• Review of website and digital communications 
• Communication Strategy and Plan 
• Funding Strategy Statements 
• Cyber Resilience 

 
 
8. Implications (including financial implications) 
 
8.1 Resources and Financial 

 
8.1.1 The report is for information only. There are no resources or financial implications arising from 

the proposals. 
 
8.2 Legal  

 
8.2.1 The report is for information only. There are no legal implications arising from the proposals. 
 
8.3 Risk  

 
8.3.1 The report is for information only. There are no significant risks arising from the proposed 

recommendations in this report. 
 Page 133



 
 
8.4 Consultation  

 
8.4.1 Consultation on the content of the report is undertaken with the Local Pension Board prior to 

submission to full Council. 
 
8.5 Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny 

 
8.5.1 The administration of the Local Government Pension Scheme is a non-executive matter and 

therefore consideration by Overview and Scrutiny is not required. 
 
8.6 Climate Impact 

 
8.6.1 The report is for information only. There is no significant climate impact arising from the 

proposed recommendations in this report. 
 
8.7 Community Impact 

 
8.7.1 The report is for information only. There is no significant community impact arising from the 

proposed recommendations in this report. 
 
8.8 Communications  

 
8.8.1 The report is for information only. There are no communication impact arising from the proposed 

recommendations in this report. 
 
9. Background Papers 
 
9.1 The agendas and reports of the Local Pension Board are published here: Browse meetings - Local 

Pension Board - West Northamptonshire Council (moderngov.co.uk) 

Page 134

https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=164
https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=164


 
 
 

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL 
 

Council 
29 September 2022 

 

 

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers 
Monitoring Officer  Catherine Whitehead 14/09/2022 
Chief Finance Officer 
(S.151 Officer) 

Martin Henry 09/09/2022 

Communications Becky Hutson 09/09/2022 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Draft revised Constitution (available on request from 
democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk) 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to:  

1.1.1 Provide an update on behalf of the Democracy & Standards Committee on a number of 
minor updates to the Constitution made by the Monitoring Officer under delegated 
authority;  

1.1.2 Propose revised arrangements for Priority Opposition Motions set out at Paragraph 26 of 
the Council Procedure Rules;  

1.1.3 Recommend the revised Constitution for adoption. 
 

2. Executive Summary 
 
2.1 The Constitution for West Northamptonshire Council was formally adopted by the West 

Northamptonshire Shadow Authority prior to vesting day (1 April 2021). A major review of the 
Constitution was then undertaken by the Democracy and Standards Committee in the autumn of 
2021, reporting to Council in December 2021. 
 

Report Title 
 

Updates to the Constitution 
 

Report Author Catherine Whitehead 
catherine.whitehead@westnorthants.gov.uk  

Page 135

Agenda Item 11

mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk
mailto:catherine.whitehead@westnorthants.gov.uk


 
 
2.2 Since that time, a number of minor or consequential changes have been made to the Constitution 

by the Monitoring Officer under delegated authority. These are summarised in section 5 below. 
These changes have generally been made to correct errors that have been identified or to ensure 
the Constitution is up-to-date, for example by reflecting changes to the leadership structure.   
 

2.3 Following the Council meeting on 30 June 2022, the Democracy and Standards Committee was 
asked to review the arrangements that were put in place for the consideration of Priority 
Opposition Motions. This is expanded on in Section 5 below.  

 
3. Recommendations 
 
3.1 It is recommended that the Council: 

a) Note and approve the updates to the Constitution as set out in Section 5;  
b) Approve the revised arrangements for Priority Opposition Motions, also set out in Section 5 

below;  
c) Delegate to the Monitoring Officer the power to make these amendments and any 

consequential amendments that may be necessary; and 
d) Note that these changes come into effect following the conclusion of the meeting at which they 

are agreed.  
 

4. Reason for Recommendations  
 
Keeping the Constitution under regular review will help ensure that it is legally compliant, 
complete, reflects the character and culture of the authority and supports effective and efficient 
decision making. 

 
5. Report Background 
 
5.1 Following the review undertaken by the Democracy and Standards Committee in the autumn of 

2021, the Council adopted a revised Constitution at its meeting on 2 December 2021. The 
Monitoring Officer has a standing delegation to make updates to the Constitution, for example 
to ensure it reflects changes to the structure of the Council, to ensure compliance with the law 
or to correct errors that have been identified. 
 

5.2 A number of such changes have been made since the last update in June 2022. These are 
summarised below: 

 
5.2.1 In the scheme of delegation to officers (p.187), the authority to sign any document on 

behalf of the Council that has been allocated to the Monitoring Officer now specifically 
permits the signing of documents by electronic means.  The Contract Procedure Rules 
have also been amended to allow for electronic signature of documents as this improves 
the efficiency of the council and removes the requirement for hard copy printing. 

 
5.2.2 The Proper Officer for Weights and Measures is to be altered to an officer who has the 

relevant qualifications to undertake the role required by statute. The Proper Officer 
appointments for the Regulation and Investigatory Powers Act need to be reviewed and 
amended in accordance with legislation. Page 136



 
 

 
 
 

5.3 Additionally, following the Council meeting held on 30 September 2022 the Democracy and 
Standards Committee was asked to review the rules that were adopted in December 2021 for 
the priority opposition motion. The existing rules state: 
 

26. Priority Opposition Motion 
 

26.1 A member nominated by the Leader of the largest political group not forming part of the 
Administration may move a single Priority Motion on notice (in accordance with Rule 28). 
The total time allowed for the item will be 15 minutes. 
 

26.2 The proposer may speak for up to five minutes, the seconder may speak for up to three 
minutes, and the member responding on behalf of the Administration may speak for up to 
five minutes. The Leader of the largest political group not forming part of the 
Administration may exercise a right of reply for up to two minutes before the motion is 
put to the vote. No other questions or debate shall be allowed.  

 
5.4 The committee was invited to consider the existing rules and determine if any changes should be 

recommended to Council. The committee has proposed the following changes: 
 

26. Priority Opposition Business  
 

26.1 The largest political group not forming part of the Administration may submit one item 
of business to be placed on the agenda of an ordinary meeting of the Council to be treated 
as Priority Opposition Business. The submission shall include a brief description of the item 
of business (which will allow members and the public to understand the nature of the topic 
to be discussed) and the name of the member presenting it. The description and the name 
of the presenter shall be included on the agenda. Notice of the item must be submitted no 
later than the deadline for the receipt of motions (Rule 28). 

 
26.2 Priority Opposition Business shall take the form of a statement and the total time allowed 

for the item will be 15 minutes. The member named on the agenda as presenting the 
statement may speak for up to five minutes. A member responding on behalf of the 
Administration may speak for up to five minutes. The Leader of the largest political group 
not forming part of the Administration may exercise a right of reply for up to five minutes. 
The matter under discussion shall not be put to the vote and no other questions or debate 
shall be allowed.  

 
26.2 Priority Opposition Business shall not be taken at the Annual Meeting, the meeting 

convened to approve the Council’s budget or a meeting called for a specific purpose. 
 

5.5 The committee also recommended that, while the second largest political group not forming part 
of the Administration should not be eligible to submit an item of Priority Opposition Business, 
that group should have the opportunity to place a motion first on the list of motions to be 

Page 137



 
 

debated at a meeting once per year. It is therefore recommended that paragraph 28.10 of the 
Council Procedure Rules be amended as follows: 
 

28.10 The summons for every ordinary meeting of the Council will set out all motions of which 
notice has been duly given, unless the Member giving the notice has intimated in writing, 
when giving it, that they proposed to move it at some later meeting, or has since 
withdrawn it. The motions will be listed in the summons in the order in which they have 
been received, with the exception that the second largest group not forming part of the 
Administration may request that one such motion per municipal year shall be placed first 
on the list referred to above. 

 
 
6. Issues and Choices 
 
6.1 The issues and choices insofar as they relate to Opposition Priority Motions are set out in section 

5 above. 
 

7. Implications (including financial implications) 
 
7.1 Resources and Financial 

 
7.1.1 There are no financial implications arising directly as a result of the Constitution review process. 

 
7.2 Legal  

 
7.2.1 Every local authority is under a legal duty to prepare and keep up to date its Constitution (see 

Appendix B). In particular, section 9P of the Local Government Act 2000 requires the Constitution 
to contain:  
a) a copy of the authority's standing orders;  
b) a copy of the authority's code of conduct;  
c) such information as the Secretary of State may direct; and  
d) such other information (if any) as the authority considers appropriate.  
 

7.2.2 Regular review of the Constitution helps to ensure these legal requirements are met. 
 

7.3 Risk  
 

7.3.1 There are no significant risks arising from this report. Reviewing the Constitution helps to reduce 
any risks that could arise as a result of the Constitution not properly supporting decision making 
and delivery of Council services. 
 

7.4 Consultation  
 

7.4.1 Consultation will be undertaken with this committee prior to recommendations being submitted 
to Cabinet. 

 
7.5 Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny Page 138



 
 

 
7.5.1 Not applicable to this report. 
 
7.6 Climate Impact 

 
7.6.1 There is no climate impact to consider in relation to the recommendation. 
 
7.7 Community Impact 

 
7.7.1 None specific. 
 
8. Background Papers 
 
8.1 None 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONSTITUTION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Approved by the Council 
2 December 2021 

  

Page 141



 

2 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

Contents 
1.0 SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION .................................................................................................................4 

2.0 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION ............................................................................................................................11 

3.0 FULL COUNCIL ..........................................................................................................................................15 

3.1 Role ...............................................................................................................................................................15 

3.2 Executive and Non-Executive Functions .............................................................................................15 

3.3 Local Choice Functions ...........................................................................................................................15 

3.4 Budget and Policy Framework ...............................................................................................................17 

3.5 Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules ...............................................................................18 

3.6 Council Meeting Procedure Rules .........................................................................................................22 

3.7 Committee and Sub-Committee Meeting Procedure Rules ............................................................37 

3.8 General Provisions ....................................................................................................................................39 

4.0 COMMITTEES ...........................................................................................................................................42 

4.1 Committee Structure .................................................................................................................................42 

4.2 Alcohol and Gambling Licensing Committee .....................................................................................43 

4.3 Taxi and General Licensing Committee ...............................................................................................44 

4.4 Strategic Planning Committee ................................................................................................................45 

4.5 Local Area Planning Committees ..........................................................................................................45 

4.6 Democracy and Standards Committee .................................................................................................47 

4.7 Audit and Governance Committee ........................................................................................................48 

4.8 Pensions Fund Committee ......................................................................................................................50 

4.9 Health and Wellbeing Board ...................................................................................................................61 

4.10 Senior Appointments Committee ..........................................................................................................65 

5.0 EXECUTIVE ...............................................................................................................................................66 

5.1 The Role of the Cabinet ............................................................................................................................66 

5.2 Cabinet Arrangements ..............................................................................................................................66 

5.3 Cabinet Procedure Rules .........................................................................................................................70 

5.4 Access to Information Procedure Rules ..............................................................................................73 

6.0 JOINT ARRANGEMENTS ...........................................................................................................................86 

6.1 West and North Shared Services Joint Committee ...........................................................................86 

6.2 Rainsbrook Crematorium Joint Committee ........................................................................................88 

6.3 PATROL Adjudication Joint Committee ...............................................................................................89 

6.4 Northamptonshire Police, Fire and Crime Panel ...............................................................................90 

6.5 Children’s Trust Joint Committee ..........................................................................................................90 

6.6 Northamptonshire Safeguarding Adults Board .................................................................................97 

6.7 Channel Panel .............................................................................................................................................99 

6.8 Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Partnership ...................................................................99 

Page 142



 

3 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

7.0 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ....................................................................................................................101 

7.1 Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements ...............................................................................................101 

7.2 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules ...........................................................................................101 

8.0 COUNCILLORS ........................................................................................................................................111 

8.1 Roles of Councillors and Officer Holders ..........................................................................................111 

8.2 Members’ Code of Conduct ...................................................................................................................116 

8.3 Member Complaints Procedure ...........................................................................................................125 

8.4 Member/Officer Protocol ........................................................................................................................136 

8.5 Planning Protocol ....................................................................................................................................142 

8.6 Protocol on Speaking at Planning Committees ...............................................................................155 

8.7 Scheme of Members’ Allowances ........................................................................................................159 

9.0 OFFICERS ................................................................................................................................................163 

9.1 Management Structure ...........................................................................................................................163 

9.2 Scheme of Delegation to Officers ........................................................................................................169 

9.3 List of Proper Officers ............................................................................................................................193 

9.4 Employee Code of Conduct ..................................................................................................................208 

9.5 Staff Employment Procedure Rules ....................................................................................................217 

9.6 Contract Procedure Rules .....................................................................................................................226 

9.7 Financial Procedure Rules ....................................................................................................................245 

GLOSSARY ...........................................................................................................................................................276 

 

  

Page 143



 

4 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

1.0 SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION 

General 

1.1 The West Northamptonshire Council has agreed this Constitution. The Constitution 
sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and the procedures 
which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to 
local people. Some of these processes are required by the law, while others are a 
matter for the Council to choose. The Council must operate in accordance with its 
Constitution and the rules set out in it. 

1.2 The Constitution is divided into different parts which set out the basic rules governing 
the Council’s business as well as some of the detailed rules. The Council has chosen 
to make decisions through a Leader and Cabinet and this is explained below. 

1.3 The Council’s current corporate objectives and priorities are set out in its Corporate 
Plan. This is available on the Council’s website together with the Council’s Values. 

1.4 The Constitution ensures that the Council’s decision-making and governance 
arrangements support the corporate aims, objectives and priorities effectively and 
efficiently.  It also ensures that the Council meets its legal duties.   

The Constitution and its content  

1.5 The Constitution is divided into nine parts: 

Part 1 - Summary and Explanation: Provides an explanation of what the Council is 
and how it works.  

Part 2 – Public Participation: Explains how the public can get involved in Council 
decision making. 

Part 3 – Council: Explains what the Council is and how the full body of all elected 
Members meet together to make decisions. 

Part 4 – Committees: Sets out the role of each of the different committees of the 
Council and how they make decisions. 

Part 5 – Executive: Explains the role of the Executive which in West 
Northamptonshire is called the Leader and Cabinet. The members of Cabinet have 
portfolios which mean they have special areas of responsibility, but meet together to 
make decisions. 

Part 6 – Joint Arrangements: Sets out the joint arrangements that the Council has 
made to work in partnership with other councils and where decision making is shared 
by two or more councils. Sometimes this is because there is a shared service 
delivered on behalf of two or more councils. 

Page 144



 

5 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

Part 7 – Overview and Scrutiny: Explains the arrangements the Council has put in 
place to ensure that decisions are scrutinised by other members of the Council not 
directly involved in the decision making. 

Part 8 – Councillors: Provides more details about how councillors operate as 
individuals and the measures in place to ensure that councillors maintain high 
standards of conduct. It also shows what payments are made to councillors. 

Part 9 – Officers: Explains the role of the Council’s staff, what the management 
structure of the Council is and which officers make decisions for the Council. It also 
explains the measures in place to ensure that officers making decisions maintain 
high standards of conduct and make decisions in line with expectations set by 
councillors. 

How the Council operates 

1.6 The Council is made up of 93 councillors (excluding vacancies) who are elected 
every four years. Councillors are democratically accountable to residents of their 
electoral ward. The overriding duty of councillors is to the whole community of West 
Northamptonshire, but they have a special duty to their constituents, including those 
who did not vote for them. 

1.7 All councillors meet together and this is called full Council. Meetings of the Council 
are normally open to the public. At these meetings, the councillors decide the 
Council’s overall policies and set the way that the budget will be spent and invested 
each year. The Council appoints the Executive Leader who in turn appoints 
councillors to the Cabinet. 

1.8 The Council also decides on the delegation of certain functions to the Cabinet and 
some committees and joint committees. The Council holds the Cabinet to account 
through the Overview and Scrutiny function, which also provides an opportunity for 
pre-decision involvement in decisions and policy development for the wider 
membership. 

1.9 In performing their various roles, councillors are supported by the officers who give 
advice and implement decisions. Some decisions are delegated to officers to ensure 
that the Council can act quickly and efficiently. Officers also ensure the Council acts 
within the law and uses resources efficiently and effectively. 

Roles of councillors  

1.10 Councillors will:  

(a) collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out several strategic and 
corporate management functions; 

(b) contribute to the good governance of the Council and actively encourage 
community participation and citizen involvement in decision making; 

(c) effectively represent the interests of the communities and individual 
constituents in their own ward; 

(d) respond to constituents' enquiries and representations, fairly and impartially;  
(e) participate in the governance and management of the Council; 

Page 145



 

6 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(f) maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics and observe the Code 
of Conduct for Elected and Co-opted Members and the other Codes and 
Protocols adopted by the Council and set out in Part 8 of this Constitution;  

(g) share responsibility with officers of the Council to act as effective and caring 
corporate parents for looked after children; 

(h) be available to represent the Council on other bodies; and  attend meetings of 
bodies to which they are appointed.  

1.11 Councillors are entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the Members' 
Allowances Scheme set out in Part 8.6 of this Constitution.  

The Chair of the Council  

1.12 The Chair is elected by the full Council at its Annual Meeting each year, which is 
usually held in May.  The Council also elects a Vice Chair, who acts as Chair when 
the Chair is not available. The Chair (and the Vice Chair) undertake civil and 
ceremonial roles on behalf of the Council and represent the Council at events.  

1.13 Although the Chair is an elected politician and is entitled to vote, they are expected 
to be impartial in the way they carry out the role.  

1.14 The Chair presides over meetings of the full Council to ensure that business is carried 
out effectively and has responsibilities for upholding and interpreting this 
Constitution.  Their ruling about this or as to any proceedings of the Council cannot 
be challenged at any meeting of the Council, although their interpretation must have 
regard to the purposes of this Constitution and must be reasonable. Neither the Chair 
nor the Vice Chair can be the Leader or a member of the Cabinet.  

1.15 The Chair is responsible for, and must conduct themselves in accordance with the 
following: 

(a) upholding and promoting the purposes of this Constitution and interpreting it 
with appropriate advice when necessary; 

(b) presiding over meetings of the Full Council to ensure that business is carried 
out efficiently, effectively and fairly between the different political groups whilst 
preserving the rights of councillors and the interests of members of the public; 

(c) ensuring that at Council meetings, matters of concern to local communities 
can be debated through the appropriate councillors; 

(d) ensuring that councillors who are not on the Cabinet or who do not hold the 
Chairpersonship of a main Committee are able to hold those office holders to 
account; 

(e) promoting public involvement in the Council’s affairs and acting as a contact 
between members of the public, organisations and the Council; and 

(f) undertaking such other roles as may be placed upon the office from time to 
time by the Council. 

Council Business 

1.16 At its Annual Meeting (usually in May) the Council will approve its planned calendar 
of business and schedule of meetings but nothing prevents changes being made to 
the calendar of business and schedule of meetings during the following 12 months.  

Page 146



 

7 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

1.17 There are four types of Full Council meeting:  

(a) Annual meetings – take place every year (generally in May) to appoint 
committees etc; 

(b) Ordinary meetings – there are a minimum of five Ordinary meetings per year; 
(c) Extraordinary meetings – meetings called for specific decisions; 
(d) Special purpose meetings - e.g. for the appointment of honorary aldermen and 

alderwomen. 

Meetings are conducted in accordance with the Meeting Procedure Rules in Part 3.2 
of this Constitution.  

1.18 There are some decisions that can only be taken by the full Council. The Council sets 
the Budget and the Policy Framework for the Council. All decisions must be taken 
within the Budget and in accordance with the policy set out and only Council can 
change them.  Details of these are in Part 3. 

1.19 The Council is responsible for electing (and can remove) the Leader who in turn will 
appoint a Deputy Leader and a Cabinet. The Council (mainly through the Overview 
and Scrutiny process and call-in of decisions) is ultimately responsible for holding the 
Cabinet to account. 

How decisions are made 

1.20 The Cabinet is the part of the Council responsible for most day-to-day decisions. The 
Cabinet is made up of a Leader appointed by the full Council and between two and 
nine other councillors appointed by the Leader.   

1.21 When Key Decisions (these are specific significant decisions defined in Part 5) are 
to be discussed or made, these are published in the Council’s Forward Plan and a 
public notice is placed on the Council’s website. If these decisions are to be 
discussed at a meeting of the Cabinet, this will generally be open for the public to 
attend except where Confidential or Exempt Information (defined in Part 5) is being 
discussed. The Cabinet generally has to make decisions that are in line with the 
Council’s overall policies and budget. If it wishes to make a decision that is not 
consistent with existing policies and budget, this must usually be referred to full 
Council to decide.  

Principles of Decision Making 

1.22 All council decisions will be made in the best interests of the communities of West 
Northamptonshire and in accordance with the following principles: 

(a) take into account all relevant considerations and ignore those which are 
irrelevant 

(b) compliance with finance, contract and all other procedure rules, statutory 
requirements, guidance and codes of practice 

(c) compliance with the Budget and Policy Framework, including directorate and 
service budgets, business plans and any other policies, arrangements, 
procedures, rules, practices or protocols in force from time to time 

Page 147



 

8 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(d) due consultation and proper advice is taken and consideration of alternative 
options before decisions are reached 

(e) impartiality and an absence of bias, pre-determination or conflicts of interest 
(f) any interests are properly declared 
(g) reasons are given for decisions 
(h) decisions are properly recorded and published 
(i) decisions are proportionate to the desired outcome 
(j) assessing the impact on human rights, equality, diversity and sustainability 
(k) a presumption in favour of transparency and openness 
(l) clarity of aims and desired outcomes 
(m) records are kept of decisions taken and reasons are given for them  
(n) following best practice, securing best value and making the most efficient 

and effective use of resources 

1.23 The core objective is to ensure that decisions are made at the most appropriate level 
closest to the local or immediate point of service delivery, or at the level that is closest 
to those who will be affected by the decision in question. 

1.24 The Council has set out to achieve this by putting in place a system of delegation 
known as a ‘cascade of powers’. Under this system its operational powers have been 
delegated to the fullest extent and range possible through the hierarchy of the 
Cabinet, committees and the officer structure. Under this system, power follows 
responsibility so powers ultimately rest where they need to be so that the decisions 
that need to be taken to deliver the authority’s objectives can be taken at the most 
appropriate level. 

1.25 Officers tend to take the majority of operational day-to-day decisions because they 
operate at the point closest to service delivery. For this reason, the Council has 
decided that unless a power or function is specifically reserved by law or in this 
Constitution to the Council, the Cabinet or a committee, it stands delegated to officers 
to the fullest extent necessary to enable them to do everything that their role requires 
of them from time to time. 

1.26 Any ambiguity that may arise as to whether a decision-maker is authorised to take 
any particular decision is to be resolved by reference back up through the hierarchy 
of the ‘chain of cascade’, and legal advice should be sought if necessary. There 
should, however, be a presumption against referring (or calling) decisions back up 
the chain unless it is absolutely necessary to do so.  

1.27 Individual decision-makers may nevertheless consider it would be prudent for a 
decision that would otherwise fall to be taken by them to instead be taken (or ratified) 
by: 

(a) in the case of an officer, by their manager or another officer with equivalent 
authority 

(b) in the case of a decision-maker under a bespoke delegation, by the person 
or body who made that delegation 

1.28 Individual decision-makers should also have particular regard as to whether a 
decision should be made in conjunction with any officer or member and the need to 
consult and take advice as appropriate. 

Page 148



 

9 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

Overview and Scrutiny function – Part 7 

1.29 The Council operates an Overview and Scrutiny function that undertakes a number 
of roles including monitoring the decisions made by the Cabinet, advising the Council 
on forthcoming decisions, and the development of policy. The function can call-in a 
decision which has been made by the Cabinet but not yet implemented. This enables 
consideration as to whether the decision is appropriate and the function may 
recommend that the Cabinet reconsiders the decision. Further details of the call-in 
process are set out in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in Part 7.2. 

1.30 The Overview and Scrutiny function will develop a work programme and support 
policy development, providing scrutiny decisions are made where appropriate, 
holding decision-makers to account and calling-in executive decisions to review any 
concerns about the making of the decision. Further details are set out in Part 7. 
Overview and Scrutiny contributes to the work of the Cabinet and the Council as a 
whole by providing: 

(a) robust arrangements for holding the Cabinet to account; 
(b) effective scrutiny of cross-cutting issues and other public sector bodies; 
(c) clearly defined arrangements and responsibility for scrutiny of strategic and 

other issues; and 
(d) multi-agency scrutiny of local issues within communities. 

Community Forums and Boards – Part 4 

1.31 The Council may decide to establish Community Forums and Boards. These may be 
established to respond to a specific issue or meet on a regular basis to bring forward 
issues in a local area to the attention of the Council. They can also be based around 
specific groups or issues across the whole local authority area. The informal nature 
of the forums allows participation from representatives of other local bodies such as 
parish councillors. Community Forums do not have formal decision-making powers 
but they are able to make representations to the appropriate Committee, Councillor 
or officer. 

The Council’s staff – Part 9 

1.32 The Council has employed staff working in many different ways to deliver services. 
Staff are referred to in this Constitution as officers. They give advice, implement 
decisions and manage the day-to-day delivery of services, ensuring that they operate 
impartially and work with all elected members. The most senior of these is the Chief 
Executive who is also the Head of Paid Service. All officers are required to ensure 
that the Council operates within the law and uses its resources wisely. The Protocol 
which governs the relationships between officers and Members of the Council is in 
Part 8.4. 

Public Participation – Part 2 

1.33 Participation arrangements for members of the public, residents of the area, 
businesses, community organisations, visitors and the Council’s customers are set 

Page 149



 

10 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

out in Part 2. Some of these are legal rights, whilst others depend on the Council’s 
own processes. 

1.34 Where members of the public use specific Council services, for example as a parent 
of a school pupil, they have additional rights. These are not covered in this 
Constitution. 

  

Page 150



 

11 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

2.0 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
2.1 In West Northamptonshire, residents, community organisations, businesses and 

visitors are able to get involved in the management of the area. The Council 
encourages and actively supports people getting involved. Our governance is 
designed to make it easy for people to give us their views to help influence decision 
making and the actions the Council takes. To encourage involvement this section 
has gathered together the key ways in which the public and others outside the 
Council can get involved.  

Councillors 

2.2 The area of West Northamptonshire Council is divided into 31 administrative areas, 
called wards. Each ward has three elected councillors who are elected every four 
years. There is more information about elections and how to register to vote on the 
Council’s website. Although they have responsibility for the whole of the Council 
area, councillors also have a particular responsibility to the residents of their ward.  
Details of who your local councillor is, and how to get in touch with them are available 
on the Council’s website. A councillor may also hold scheduled sessions where 
residents can meet them face to face to talk about issues and to get advice and ask 
their councillor to raise matters with the Council on their behalf.   

Cabinet 

2.3 The Cabinet consists of the Leader and Cabinet Members who are responsible for 
particular services and activities. You can check who the Cabinet Member is for a 
particular matter on the Council’s website. The Cabinet has developed a Forward 
Plan which is also published on the Council’s website. It indicates the most important 
decisions (known as Key Decisions) which the Cabinet will be taking in the future and 
when this is likely to be done, so that anyone can attend the public meetings 
considering those decisions. 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

2.4 The Council has three Overview and Scrutiny committees which deal with separate 
parts of the Council’s work. These committees help the Council to develop new policy 
and act as a “critical friend” to hold decision makers to account. Overview and 
Scrutiny committees also carry out investigations and reviews, and welcome 
suggestions from residents and businesses as to areas they could investigate. 

Community Forums and Boards 

2.5 Community Forums and Boards may take place on specific topics and/or in local 
areas. They are not formal meetings and this gives them a more relaxed way of 
working. A Forum or Board can be made up of residents (including sections of 
residents such as young people), community and voluntary groups, public sector 
bodies and local businesses. 

Can I attend meetings? 

Page 151



 

12 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

2.6 Meetings of the Council, the Cabinet and the committees are open to the public. You 
can also usually watch them live through our website (West Northamptonshire 
Council - YouTube). 

2.7 There are some occasions when we need to discuss confidential details. We can 
only do this when there are legal reasons such as personal information being 
discussed, which means meetings have to go into private session. When this 
happens, a formal decision is made to exclude the press and public from the meeting 
while these issues are discussed. As soon as the item has been dealt with, the public 
can return to the meeting unless there are other confidential items. If an agenda item 
is to be considered in private, this will be clearly marked on the agenda for the 
meeting. 

2.8 The dates and times of our meetings are published on our website and agendas are 
made available at least five days ahead of the meeting, so you can see what items 
will be discussed. 

Can I speak at meetings? 

2.9 You can speak at Council, Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings. 
Statements must be relevant to a matter that is on the agenda for the particular 
meeting.  

2.10 If you wish to make a statement, you must register to do so by 12 noon on the day 
of the meeting by contacting Democratic Services 
(democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk). You will normally be expected to 
attend the meeting to read out your statement. You will have a maximum of 3 minutes 
in which to make your statement, which will be taken into account during the 
subsequent debate on the matter.  

2.11 Up to three speakers are permitted to speak on any agenda item although this may 
be extended at the Chair’s discretion. 

2.12 You can also put questions (up to a maximum of two) to the Chair of the Council, 
members of Cabinet and Chairs of committees. Questions are not generally read out 
because they are circulated prior to the meeting; but if they are, they must be no 
longer than 3 minutes. 

2.13 You will need to submit the question in writing which must be received by 10.00am, 
three clear working days before the meeting of the Council at which it is to be asked. 
Questions need to be framed so as to elicit information rather than make a statement.  

2.14 The total time allowed for questions is a maximum of 30 minutes, but there is a 
discretion of the Chair who, in exercising their discretion, will have regard to the 
business to be transacted at the meeting and the objective of ensuring that the 
meeting is managed efficiently. 

Petitions 

2.15 The Council welcomes petitions and recognises that petitions are one way that 
people express their concerns about issues affecting communities within the West 
Northamptonshire area.  

Page 152

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCDyc2cNcl19OvcGOCuZDTBQ?app=desktop
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCDyc2cNcl19OvcGOCuZDTBQ?app=desktop


 

13 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

2.16 Details of the Council’s Petition Scheme can be found on the website (Petition the 
council | West Northamptonshire Council (westnorthants.gov.uk) or can be requested 
by post from Democratic Services, West Northamptonshire Council, One Angel 
Square, 4 Angel Street, Northampton, NN1 1ED. 

Budget and Policy Development 

2.17 The Council is particularly keen to encourage public participation in the preparation 
of the Council’s budget and in the development of policies so that our residents are 
able to directly influence the framework of decisions. When setting the Budget or 
agreeing policy we will consider options to ensure the maximum opportunity for 
contribution before a decision is finally made by all the councillors sitting in full 
Council. 

Public Consultation 

2.18 We try to consult as widely and as fairly as possible.  Sometimes, with matters such 
as planning and licensing applications, there are specific statutory consultation 
processes that the Council must follow.  Other than this, we will try to consult on 
important decisions as widely as possible and give feedback about the outcome of 
the consultations.  

2.19 We follow principles of good consultation (called Gunning Principles) when we 
consult. This means that we make sure: 

(a) consultation is carried out at a stage when the Council has not made up its 
mind on any proposals; 

(b) we give enough information and reasons for any proposals to enable you to 
understand their impact and respond; 

(c) we give you enough time to consider our proposals and respond to them; and 

(d) we will consider all responses to the consultation when finalising the decision. 

Wider Engagement 

2.20 The Council is keen to engage more generally with the public and in particular with 
those who are seeking British Citizenship and young people about citizenship and 
the role of Local Government in the structure of British Democracy. To do this we 
may run specific engagement sessions or support schools and others in the conduct 
of their own elections. Details of any sessions will be available on the Council and 
Democracy Section of our Website or you can contact Democratic Services to 
request specific involvement.  

Social Media 

2.21 You can also get updates from West Northamptonshire Council on social media and 
by following the Council’s social media. 

2.22 Many local councillors have their own social media accounts too. 

Page 153

https://www.westnorthants.gov.uk/elections-and-voting/petition-council
https://www.westnorthants.gov.uk/elections-and-voting/petition-council


 

14 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

Community Rights 

2.23 The Localism Act 2011 introduced rights and powers for individuals and communities 
to take over public services, community assets and influence planning and 
development. 

2.24 The community rights are a set of powers that give local people a greater say over 
how their community develops. They give local people the chance to decide what is 
built and how their area should develop. Groups of people have the chance to deliver 
local services and develop them into community enterprises. More details can be 
found on the website or by contacting Democratic Services by email 
(democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk) or by post or in person (1 Angel 
Square, Angel St, Northampton NN1 1ED). 

2.25 There are five Community Rights: 

(a) Community Right to Bid - allows communities and parish councils to 
nominate buildings or land for listing by the local authority as an ‘asset of 
community value’. If the asset comes up for sale, the community can ‘pause’ 
the sale and take up to six months to find the funding required to buy the asset. 

(b) Community Right to Build - gives communities the power to build new shops, 
housing or community facilities without going through the normal planning 
process. It gives local organisations the right to bring forward small-scale 
community-led developments. 

(c) Community Right to Challenge - gives local groups the opportunity to 
express their interest in taking over a local service where they think they can do 
it differently and better. 

(d) Community Right to Reclaim Land - allows communities to challenge 
councils and some other public bodies to release their unused and underused 
land so that it can brought back into use. 

(e) Community Asset Transfer - the transfer of management and/or ownership of 
appropriate land or buildings from a public body to a community-based 
organisation, at less than market value, in order to promote social, economic or 
environmental well-being. 

Museums 

2.26 The Council has powers to operate a museum service for public benefit according to 
the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 and the Local Government Act 1972. 
The museum holds collections of objects, artworks and archives for public benefit, 
which should not be distributed for private gain or profit. The museum is a permanent 
institution in the service of the public, which acquires, cares for, researches, and 
makes accessible the collections in its care for the purposes of education, study and 
enjoyment. It is operated by statutory regulation and judicial process and is part of 
the Arts Council England Museum Accreditation scheme, or where this is not 
possible, follows Museum Accreditation practice.   

Page 154

mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk


 

15 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

3.0 FULL COUNCIL 
3.1 Role 

3.1.1 The full Council (or the Council) is the term for the assembly of all of the elected 
members who sit on the Council. There are 93 members on the West 
Northamptonshire Council and they make some decisions together, including:  

(a) Setting the Council’s budget;  
(b) Agreeing the overarching policy of the Council – called the Policy Framework;  
(c) Electing the Executive Leader;  
(d) Appointing the Council’s non-executive committees.  

3.2 Executive and Non-Executive Functions 

3.2.1 Decisions taken by the Council are divided by law into two types: Executive 
and Non-Executive. 

3.2.2 The law1 specifies which functions are the responsibility of the Council, which 
are the responsibility of the Executive (Cabinet), and which may (but need not) be the 
responsibility of the Executive (Local Choice functions). All other functions not specified 
are the responsibility of the Executive. 

3.2.3 The Council operates a Leader and Council form of Executive. References to 
‘the Executive’ means the Leader and Cabinet, with Executive decisions being taken by 
the Leader, Cabinet, Cabinet committees, Cabinet Members or officers under delegated 
authority in accordance with, and in order to implement, the Budget and Policy 
Framework. 

3.2.4 Non-Executive functions are either reserved to the Council or delegated by 
the Council to committees, sub-committees, officers or another local authority. 

3.3 Local Choice Functions 

3.3.1 The law2 describes the decisions that are a matter of local choice. It is up to 
the Council to decide whether or not these functions should be the responsibility of the 
Executive. Having regard to government guidance, the Council has decided that Local 
Choice functions will be Executive or Non-Executive as set out in the table below: 

LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTION STATUS OF 
FUNCTION 

DELEGATION TO 
OFFICERS 

DELEGATION 
TO NON-

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEES 

1. Any function under a local Act 
other than a function specified 
or referred to in regulation 2 or 
Schedule 1.  

Executive The relevant member of 
the Executive Leadership 
Team and where this is 
not clear to be 

- 

 
1 The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 and subsequent 
regulations giving effect to section 13 of the Local Government Act 2000 
2 Schedule 2 of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 

Page 155



 

16 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTION STATUS OF 
FUNCTION 

DELEGATION TO 
OFFICERS 

DELEGATION 
TO NON-

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEES 

determined by the Chief 
Executive 

2. Other than those reserved to 
a Non-Executive committee, the 
determination of appeals against 
any decision made by or on 
behalf of the authority.  

Executive The Leader in 
consultation with the 
Director of Legal and 
Democratic Services 

- 

3. The appointment of review 
boards under regulations under 
section 34(4) (determination of 
claims and reviews) of the 
Social Security Act 1998  

Non-Executive - Education 
Appeals 
Committee 

4. The making of arrangements 
pursuant to section 67(1) of, and 
Schedule 18 to, the 1998 Act 
(reviews of exclusion of pupils). 
This is now s.51A of the 
Education Act 2002 

Non-Executive - Education 
Appeals 
Committee 

5. The making of arrangements 
pursuant to section 94(1) and 
(4) of, and Schedule 24 to, the 
School Standards and 
Framework Act 1998 Act 
(admission appeals) 

Non-Executive - Education 
Appeals 
Committee 

6. The making of arrangements 
pursuant to section 95(2) of, and 
Schedule 25 to, the School 
Standards and Framework 
Act1998 Act (children to whom 
section 87 applies: appeals by 
governing bodies) 

Non-Executive - Education 
Appeals 
Committee 

7. Any function relating to 
contaminated land.  

Executive Executive Director Place, 
Economy and 
Environment 

- 

8. The discharge of any function 
relating to the control of pollution 
or the management of air quality  

Executive Executive Director Place, 
Economy and 
Environment 

- 

9. The service of an abatement 
notice in respect of a statutory 
nuisance  

Executive Executive Director Place, 
Economy and 
Environment 

- 

10. The passing of a resolution 
that Schedule 2 to the Noise 
and Statutory Nuisance Act 
1993 should apply in the 
authority's area  

Executive Executive Director Place, 
Economy and 
Environment 

- 

11. The inspection of the 
authority's area to detect any 
statutory nuisance  

Executive Executive Director Place, 
Economy and 
Environment 

- 

Page 156



 

17 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTION STATUS OF 
FUNCTION 

DELEGATION TO 
OFFICERS 

DELEGATION 
TO NON-

EXECUTIVE 
COMMITTEES 

12. The investigation of any 
complaint as to the existence of 
a statutory nuisance  

Executive Executive Director Place, 
Economy and 
Environment 

- 

13. The obtaining of information 
under section 330 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 
as to interests in land 

Executive Executive Director Place, 
Economy and 
Environment 

- 

14. The making of agreements 
for the execution of highways 
works  

Executive Executive Director Place, 
Economy and 
Environment 

- 

15. The obtaining of particulars of 
persons interested in land under 
section 16 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions Act 1976 

Executive Executive Director Place, 
Economy and 
Environment 

- 

16. The appointment of any 
individual -  
(a) to any office other than an 
office in which they are 
employed by the authority  
(b) to any body other than  
(i) the authority;  
(ii) a joint committee of two or 
more authorities; or  
(c) to any committee or sub-
committee of such a body 

Executive/Non-
Executive 

The Chief Executive 
where the appointment 
relates to Non-Executive 
functions. The Leader 
where the appointment 
relates to Executive 
powers. 

- 

17. The making of agreements 
with other local authorities for 
the placing of staff at the 
disposal of those other 
authorities 

Executive/Non-
Executive 

The Leader where the 
appointment relates to 
Executive powers. 
The Council where the 
appointment relates to 
Non-Executive functions. 

- 

3.4 Budget and Policy Framework 

The Council is responsible for setting the Budget and Policy Framework. This sets out the 
broad financial envelope and the Policy Framework for the individual decisions made by 
the Executive.  

1. Budget 

1.1 The Budget is the identification and allocation of financial resources by the Council, 
including: 

(a) Revenue expenditure 
(b) Contingency and reserve funds 
(c) Council Tax 
(d) Borrowing requirements and limits 
(e) Capital expenditure 

Page 157



 

18 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(f) Medium Term Financial Plan 
(g) Any limitations to, conditions on or rules governing the management of 

budgets, virement between budgets, treatment of underspends, windfall 
income or reserves contained within the Finance and Contract Procedure 
Rules 

2. Policy Framework 

2.1 The Council has agreed that the following list of plans and strategies relevant to its 
functions will sit within the Policy Framework, some of which are required by law3 to 
be decided by Full Council, usually on the recommendation of Cabinet: 

(a) Children and Young People’s Plan 
(b) Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy 
(c) Plans, documents and alterations that together comprise the Local Plan 
(d) Licensing Authority Policy Statement 
(e) Local Transport Plan 
(f) Youth Justice Plan 
(g) The Corporate Plan  
(h) Minerals and Waste Development Framework, comprising the following 

Local Development Documents:  

(i) Minerals and Waste Core Strategy; 
(ii) Locations for Minerals Development; 
(iii) Locations for Waste Development; 
(iv) Control and Management of (Minerals and Waste) Development; 
(v) Development and Implementation Principles for Minerals and Waste 

Development (Supplementary Planning Document).  

3.5 Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 

1. The framework for Executive decisions 

1.1 The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its Budget and Policy Framework 
as set out in 3.4 above. Once the Budget and Policy Framework is in place, it will be 
the Cabinet’s responsibility to take implementation decisions in accordance with it. 

2. Process for developing the Policy Framework 

2.1 The process by which the Budget and Policy Framework shall be developed is: 

(a) The Cabinet will publicise by including in the Forward Plan a timetable for 
making proposals to the Council for the adoption of any plan, strategy or 
budget that forms part of the Budget and Policy Framework, and its 
arrangements for consultation after publication of those initial proposals. The 
Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny committees will also be notified.  

(b) If the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee wishes to respond to the 
Cabinet through that consultation process, then it may do so. The Overview 

 
3 3 Regulation 4 and Schedule 3 of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 
 

Page 158



 

19 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

and Scrutiny Committee may investigate, research or report in detail with 
policy recommendations before the end of the consultation period. The 
Cabinet will take any response from an Overview and Scrutiny Committee into 
account in drawing up firm proposals for submission to the Council, and its 
report to Council will reflect the comments made by consultees and the 
Cabinet’s response.  

(c) Once the Cabinet has approved firm proposals, the Monitoring Officer will 
refer them at the earliest opportunity to the Council for decision.  

(d) In reaching a decision, the Council may adopt the Cabinet’s proposals. But if 
the Council has any objections to the Cabinet’s proposals, then before it 
amends, approves or adopts any plan, strategy or budget, it must inform the 
Leader of those objections and require the Cabinet to reconsider. The Cabinet 
may, within such reasonable period as the Monitoring Officer may determine 
(but which shall not be less than 5 working days), submit revised proposals or 
inform the Council of the Cabinet’s disagreement with the Council’s objections 
and the reasons for this. Once that period has expired, the Council in 
amending, approving or adopting any plan, strategy or budget, must take into 
account any revised proposals and the views of the Cabinet.  

(e) In the case of budget proposals submitted to the Council after 8 February in 
any financial year and any budget proposals submitted following designation 
or nomination by the Secretary of State, then the Council may amend, approve 
or adopt the Cabinet’s proposals and need not require the Cabinet to 
reconsider.  

(f) In approving the Budget and Policy Framework, the Council will also specify 
the extent of virement within the Budget and degree of in-year changes to the 
Policy Framework which may be undertaken by the Cabinet, in accordance 
with Rules 5 and 6 (virement and in-year adjustments). Any other changes to 
the Budget and Policy Framework are reserved to the Council.  

3. Decisions outside the Budget and Policy Framework 

(a) Subject to the provisions of Rule 5 (virement) the Cabinet, committees of the 
Cabinet and any officers, or joint arrangements discharging Executive functions 
may only take decisions which are in line with the Policy Framework. If any of 
these bodies or persons wish to make a decision which is contrary to the Budget 
and Policy Framework, or contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with the 
Budget approved by full Council, then that decision may only be taken by the 
Council, subject to Rule 4 (urgent decisions outside the Budget and Policy 
Framework) below.  

(b) If the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or any officers, or joint arrangements 
discharging Executive functions want to make such a decision, they shall take 
advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer as to 
whether the decision they want to make would be contrary to the Policy 
Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget. If the 
advice of either of those officers is that the decision would not be in line with 
the existing budget and/or Policy Framework, then the decision must be 
referred by that body or person to the Council for decision, unless the decision 
is a matter of urgency - in which case the provisions in Rule 4 (urgent decisions 
outside the Budget and Policy Framework) shall apply.  

Page 159



 

20 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

4. Urgent decisions outside the Budget and Policy Framework 

(a) The Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, specified officers acting under 
urgency provisions, or joint arrangements discharging executive functions may 
take a decision which is contrary to the Council’s Policy Framework or contrary 
to, or not wholly in accordance with, the Budget approved by full Council if the 
decision is a matter of urgency. However, the decision may only be taken:  

(i) if it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the full Council; and  
(ii) if the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee agrees that 

the decision is a matter of urgency.  

(b) The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of full Council 
and the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s consent to 
the decision being taken as a matter of urgency must be noted on the record of 
the decision. In the absence of the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, the consent of the Chair of the Council, shall be obtained - and in 
the absence of both, the consent of the Vice Chair of the Council shall be 
obtained.  

(c) Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the next 
available Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for it and why 
the decision was treated as a matter of urgency.  

5. Virement 

The scheme of virement is set out in the Financial Procedure Rules in Part 9.7 below. 

6. In-year changes to Policy Framework 

The responsibility for agreeing the Budget and Policy Framework lies with the Council, 
and decisions by the Cabinet, or officers, or joint arrangements discharging executive 
functions must be in line with it. No changes to any policy and strategy which make up 
the policy and budget framework may be made by those bodies or individuals except 
those changes:  

(a) necessary to ensure compliance with the law, or ministerial direction; or  
(b) in relation to the Policy Framework in respect of a policy which would normally 

be agreed annually by the Council following consultation, but where the existing 
policy document is silent on the matter under consideration.  

7. Call-in of decisions outside the Budget and Policy Framework 

(a) Council can only consider call-in decisions or proposed decisions which relate 
to an executive decision which is contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary 
to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget. Where councillors are of the 
opinion that this is the case they shall seek advice from the Monitoring Officer 
and/or the Chief Finance Officer.  

(b) In respect of functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet, the 
Monitoring Officer’s report and/or Chief Finance Officer’s report shall be to the 
Cabinet with a copy to every member of the Council. Regardless of whether the 

Page 160



 

21 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

decision is delegated or not, the Cabinet must meet to decide what action to 
take in respect of the Monitoring Officer’s report and/or Chief Finance Officer’s 
report and to prepare a report to Council in the event that the Monitoring Officer 
and/or the Chief Finance Officer conclude that the decision was a departure; 
and to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee if the Monitoring Officer 
and/or the Chief Finance Officer conclude that the decision was not a 
departure.  

(c) If the decision has yet to be made, or has been made but not yet implemented, 
and the advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer is 
that the decision is or would be contrary to the Policy Framework or contrary to 
or not wholly in accordance with the Budget, councillors may, in accordance 
with the call-in procedure set out in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules, refer the matter to Council. In such cases, no further action will be taken 
in respect of the decision or its implementation until the Council has met and 
considered the matter. The Council shall meet within 10 working days of the 
request by members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee unless the 
Executive Leader, or in their absence the Deputy Leader, agrees that the 
Council need not necessarily meet within the specified period. At the meeting 
it will receive a report of the decision or proposals and the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer.  

(d) The Council may either:  

(i) endorse a decision or proposal of the executive decision taker as falling 
within the existing budget and Policy Framework. In this case no further 
action is required, save that the decision of the Council be minuted and 
circulated to all councillors in the normal way; or  

(ii) amend the Council’s financial regulations or policy concerned to 
encompass the decision or proposal of the body responsible for that 
executive function and agree to the decision with immediate effect. In this 
case, no further action is required save that the decision of the Council be 
minuted and circulated to all councillors in the normal way; or  

(iii) where the Council accepts that the decision or proposal is contrary to the 
Policy Framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 
Budget, and does not amend the existing framework to accommodate it, 
require the Cabinet to reconsider the matter in accordance with the advice 
of either the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer.  

  

Page 161



 

22 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

3.6 Council Meeting Procedure Rules 

1. Full Council meetings 

Time and place of meetings 

1.1 All Full Council meetings shall start at 6.00pm or, where it is impracticable to hold the 
meeting at the usual time, such other time as the Chair or the Monitoring Officer shall 
direct. The place of the meeting will be notified on the agenda for the meeting. 

2. Annual Meeting of the Council 

Timing 

2.1 In a year when there is an Ordinary Election of Members, the Annual Meeting shall 
take place within 21 days from the retirement of the outgoing Members. In any other 
year, the Annual Meeting shall take place on such a day in the month of May or June 
as the Council may fix. 

Business 

2.2 At the Annual Meeting the Council will: 

(a) Elect the Chair of the Council who will then preside; 
(b) Appoint the Vice Chair of Council; 
(c) Approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
(d) Receive any declarations of interest from councillors; 
(e) Receive any apologies for absence from councillors; 
(f) Receive any announcements from the Chair; 
(g) Elect the Executive Leader in any year in which the Leader’s term of office 

expires (for a four-year term), or if the office of Leader becomes vacant (for the 
remainder of the four-year term of councillors). The term of office of the Leader 
shall, subject to earlier removal, end on the day of the Annual Meeting following 
the ordinary election of councillors; 

(h) Note the appointments to the role of Deputy Leader and to the Cabinet; 
(i) Receive any announcements from the Leader; 
(j) Appoint at least one Overview and Scrutiny Committee, a Standards Committee, 

an Audit Committee and such other committees as required; 
(k) Approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the year; 
(l) Approve the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance with the political 

balance rules; 
(m) Delegate to the Monitoring Officer the power to appoint councillors to committees 

and sub-committees in accordance with the wishes of the Group Leaders except 
where appointments to those bodies is exercisable only by the Cabinet.  

3. Ordinary Meetings of the Council 

3.1 Ordinary meetings of the Council shall take place in accordance with a programme 
decided at the Council’s Annual Meeting. Ordinary meetings will: 

Page 162



 

23 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(a) Elect a person to preside if both the Chair and the Vice Chair of the Council are 
not present; 

(b) Approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
(c) Receive any declarations of interest from Members; 
(d) Receive any announcements from the Chair and Leader; 
(e) Provide for 30 minutes in total to respond to any questions relating to West 

Northamptonshire Council from members of the public who are residents of, or 
working in West Northamptonshire;  

(f) Provide 15 minutes in total to receive Priority Opposition Business to be notified 
by the Leader of the largest political group not forming part of the Administration. 

(g) Provide 60 minutes in total to receive written reports from Portfolio Holders and 
provide responses to questions from Members; 

(h) Deal with any business adjourned from the last Council meeting; 
(i) Receive a report from the Audit Committee, ordinarily in June and other than in 

a year of ordinary elections, detailing their activities during the past year and 
proposed work programme for the following year for approval by the Council; 

(j) Consider motions; and 
(k) Consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting, including 

consideration of proposals from the Cabinet in relation to the Council’s Budget 
and Policy Framework. 

4. Extraordinary Meetings 

Calling Extraordinary Meetings 

4.1 The Monitoring Officer may call, and those listed below may require the Monitoring 
Officer to call, extraordinary Council meetings in addition to ordinary meetings: 

(a) The Council by resolution; 
(b) The Chair of the Council;  
(c) Any five councillors with a signed request to the Chair of the Council; or 
(d) The Executive Leader. 

Items of Business at Extraordinary Meetings 

4.2 Only business specified in the summons may be transacted at an extraordinary 
meeting of the Council. 

Motion to remove the Leader 

4.3 A motion to remove the Leader from office may only be: 

(a) Made at an extraordinary meeting convened specifically for that purpose not less 
than 21 days from the submission of the motion; 

(b) Submitted in the form of a requisition signed by a majority of the Leading Group 
where that group holds a majority of seats on the Council. 

4.4 Where there is no majority on the Council, the requisition must be signed by not less 
than one third of the members of the Council with members from at least two political 
groups; and 

Page 163



 

24 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

4.5 Where the Council passes a resolution to remove the Leader, a new Leader is to be 
elected at the meeting at which the Leader is removed from office. 

5. Budget meetings of the Council 

5.1 Budget meetings shall: 

(a) Appoint a person to preside if the Chair and Vice Chair are not present; 
(b) Approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
(c) Receive any declarations of interest from councillors; 
(d) Receive announcements from the Chair; 
(e) Receive any statements from members of the public who are residents of, or 

working in, West Northamptonshire relating to an item of business on the public 
part of the agenda of that meeting;  

(f) Receive and consider the Council plan, budget and associated reports; and  
(g) Any other urgent business as agreed by the Chair.   

6. Chair and Vice Chair of the Council 

6.1 The Chair of the Council, or in their absence the Vice Chair (who will have the same 
powers and duties as the Chair), will preside at meetings of the Council. Where both 
the Chair and Vice Chair are absent, the Council will appoint another councillor, other 
than a member of the Cabinet, to chair the meeting, who will have the same powers 
and duties as the Chair. 

Out of Order 

6.2 The Chair may at any time rule out of order and reject any motion, amendment, 
statement, question, representation, answer or written statement which, in 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer: 

(a) Does not relate to a matter for which the Council has responsibility; 
(b) Is defamatory, frivolous, offensive, vexatious, unlawful or otherwise improper or 

irrelevant; 
(c) Requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; 
(d) Names or identifies individual service users, members of staff or members of 

staff of partner agencies; or 
(e) Is otherwise contrary to the law or would place the Council at risk of litigation. 

7. Quorum 

7.1 The quorum of meetings of the Council will be one quarter (rounded up) of the total 
membership. During any meeting, if the Chair counts the number of councillors present 
and declares there is not a quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn immediately. 
Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Chair. If the 
Chair does not fix a date, the remaining business will be considered at the next 
ordinary meeting. 

8. What the Council can decide 

Page 164



 

25 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

8.1 The Council can decide Non-Executive matters and those matters reserved to full 
Council. The Council has no power to decide Executive matters.  The Council sets the 
Budget and Policy Framework within which Executive decisions are made. 

9. Order of business 

9.1 Business shall be dealt with in the order in which it is set out in the agenda unless the 
person presiding at the meeting of the Council decides otherwise. 

10. Extension of the meeting 

10.1 If the business of a Council meeting has not been concluded by 9.45pm, the Chair will 
draw the attention of the meeting to the time and to this Rule. 

10.2 In the case of any motions or recommendations on the agenda that have not been 
dealt with by 9.45 pm the Chair will decide whether to end the meeting or to deal with 
the outstanding matters provided that those matters can reasonably be dealt with by 
10.00pm. 

10.3 Where the outstanding matters cannot be dealt with by that time, each item will be put 
to the vote without further debate and an unrecorded vote will be taken on whether the 
item should be accepted, referred, deferred or withdrawn. 

10.4 Any proposal to refer, defer or withdraw an item that has not yet been dealt with must 
be moved and seconded before any vote is taken in accordance with paragraph 10.3 
above. If such a proposal is made, it shall be voted on without debate. 

11. Urgent business 

11.1 Business cannot be normally dealt with at a Council meeting unless it is included in 
the Summons. The Chair may allow business which is not specified in the Summons 
to be dealt with if it is required by law to be dealt with by a certain date or is brought 
before the Council as a matter of urgency. 

12. Confirmation of minutes 

12.1 Minutes of the last Council meeting shall be confirmed at the next ordinary meeting of 
the Council. 

12.2 Only matters relating to the accuracy of the minutes can be raised, which must be 
done by way of a motion which is proposed, seconded and voted upon. Where no 
issues are raised, or after the motion has been dealt with, the Chair shall initial each 
page and sign the minutes. 

13. Record of Executive Decisions 

13.1 The Record of Executive Decisions, as well as the reports prepared by the Executive 
for the Council will be submitted to the next ordinary meeting of the Council. 

13.2 These will be noted and received by a decision of the Council. 
13.3 Any question about the accuracy of any matter before the Council from the Executive 

must be considered and determined by the Executive. It is not a matter for the Council. 
The Leader is able to make changes on behalf of the Executive but may choose to do 
so only with the agreement of Cabinet. 

14. Matters for decision by the Council 

Page 165



 

26 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

14.1 All matters for decision by the Council shall be included with the agenda, other than 
items of urgency under Rule 11 above. 

14.2 When the item is reached on the agenda, the Leader, the relevant Portfolio Holder, 
the Chair of the relevant Committee or another councillor will, where appropriate, move 
the recommendation or advice of the Cabinet or Committee, or endorsement of a 
Cabinet or a committee decision. Another councillor may second the motion and may 
reserve the right to speak until later in the debate. 

14.3 The Chair cannot ask the Council to agree to withdraw a recommendation of the 
Cabinet or a committee unless new and relevant information has become available 
after the decision of the body concerned. The information must be disclosed to the 
Council. 

15. Procedural Motions that may be moved without notice 

15.1 The following motions and amendments may be moved at a Council meeting without 
notice. 

(a) Appointment of a Chair of the meeting at which the motion is made; 
(b) Motions relating to the accuracy of the minutes of the Council, a committee or 

sub-committee; 
(c) That an item of business specified in the summons should have precedence; 
(d) Reference to the Council, a committee, sub-committee or the Cabinet; 
(e) Appointment of or appointment to committees, sub-committees or the Cabinet 

occasioned by an item mentioned in the summons to the meeting; 
(f) Receipt of Records of Executive Decisions; 
(g) Adoption of recommendations of the Cabinet, committees and Sub- committees 

and any consequent resolutions; 
(h) That leave is given to withdraw a motion; 
(i) That leave is given to alter a motion by the mover of that motion; 
(j) Receipt of reports of officers and any consequent resolutions; 
(k) Extending the time limit for speeches; 
(l) Amendment to reports of which notification has been included within the 

summons of the meeting but where the reports were circulated at a later date 
than the summons; 

(m) That the Council proceeds to the next business; 
(n) That the question be now put; 
(o) That the debate be now adjourned; 
(p) That the Council do now adjourn; 
(q) Authorising the sealing of documents; 
(r) Suspending Meeting Procedure Rules, in accordance with Procedure Rule 50; 
(s) Motion under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) 

to exclude the press and public; 
(t) That a councillor named under Procedure Rule 47 should not be heard further or 

should leave the meeting; and 
(u) Giving consent of the Council where consent of the Council is required by these 

Meeting Procedure Rules. 

16. Public participation at Council meetings 

16.1 The Council welcomes public participation from anyone who lives, works or studies in 
West Northamptonshire, or who has a direct connection to a service provided by the 

Page 166



 

27 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

Council. Public participation can take the form of presenting petitions, making 
statements or asking questions. 

16.2 Questions may also be asked at Cabinet and shall be dealt with as set out in the 
Cabinet Meeting Procedure Rules. 

17. Petitions 

17.1 The Council has adopted a Petitions Scheme and details of this such as: the purpose 
of a petition, the eligibility criteria and relevant thresholds for making petitions, the 
procedure and review mechanisms can be found on the Council’s website (Petition 
the council | West Northamptonshire Council (westnorthants.gov.uk). 

18. Statements 

18.1 Up to three members of the public are permitted to speak for up to three minutes each 
on any agenda item although this may be extended at the Chair’s discretion. 

18.2 Those wishing to make a statement must register to do so at least 24 hours prior to 
the meeting by contacting Democratic Services by email 
(democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk) or by post or in person (1 Angel Square, 
Angel St, Northampton NN1 1ED). 

18.3 Statements must be relevant to the powers and duties of the Council and be clear and 
concise. A statement may be ruled out of order in accordance with the provisions of 
paragraph 6.2. 

19. Public Questions 

19.1 At ordinary meetings of Full Council, questions can be asked by members of the public 
of the Chair of Council, members of Cabinet and Chair of committees.  

19.2 The total time set aside for such questions and answers will be limited to 30 minutes 
which can be extended at the Chair’s discretion. 

20. Notice of public questions 

20.1 No person may submit more than two questions at any one meeting. 
20.2 No question may be sub-divided into more than two related parts. 
20.3 Questions must be delivered in writing or by email to Democratic Services no later 

than 10am, three clear working days before the meeting. The period of notice is to 
allow sufficient time for a response to be formulated. 

20.4 In exceptional circumstances and in cases of urgency, the Chair may allow questions 
without the full period of notice having been given where they are satisfied there is 
sufficient justification. In these circumstances, there is no guarantee that a full reply 
will be given at the meeting. 

20.5 Notice of each question must include the name and address of the questioner, (in 
respect of an organisation, the name of the organisation and the questioner’s position 
within the organisation) and to whom the question is to be put. 

21. Scope of public questions 

21.1 The question must be relevant to the powers and duties of the Council and be clear, 
succinct and concise.  

21.2 A question will be rejected where it: 

Page 167

https://www.westnorthants.gov.uk/elections-and-voting/petition-council
https://www.westnorthants.gov.uk/elections-and-voting/petition-council
mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk


 

28 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(a) Has been ruled out of order in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 6.2; 
(b) Is considered by the Chair to be inappropriate for the particular meeting. 

21.3 The Chair’s ruling on rejection of a question will be final, following consultation with 
the Monitoring Officer. 

21.4 Where a question is rejected on the above grounds, the questioner shall be advised 
of the reasons for rejection. 

22. At the meeting 

22.1 Public questions will be dealt with in order of receipt, subject to the Chair’s discretion 
to group together questions on the same or similar subject. 

22.2 Questions will be taken as read. However, if a questioner wishes to ask their question 
at the meeting, they will be given up to three minutes to ask the question.  

22.3 Subject to time constraints, questions which are submitted by the deadline will be 
answered at the meeting.  

22.4 Clear, concise and succinct written replies will be given to public questions by the 
relevant Cabinet member or committee chair or their nominee, but shall not be the 
subject of any further debate.  

22.5 Any public questions which cannot be dealt with during the time allocated for questions 
will be dealt with by a written response, sent to the questioner where possible within 
five working days of the meeting. A copy of the response will be provided to all 
Members. 

23. Supplementary public questions 

23.1 For each question submitted, the questioner will be permitted to ask one 
supplementary question without notice which must be relevant to the original question 
or arise from the response given. 

23.2 The Chair may reject the supplementary question on the grounds listed in Rule 6.2 
above. 

23.3 The person to whom the question has been put or another Member on their behalf, 
shall answer the supplementary question if they are able to do so at the time. If this is 
not possible, a written response will be provided to the questioner where possible 
within five working days of the meeting. 

24. Form of response 

24.1 A response may take the following forms: 

(a) A direct oral answer; 
(b) Where the answer is contained within a publication of the Council or in any report 

or minutes by reference to those documents; 
(c) A written reply. 

25. No debate on public questions 

25.1 Ordinarily, no debate shall be allowed on questions presented or responses given. In 
exceptional circumstances only, the Chair may allow discussion. No decision can be 
made arising from a question other than to refer it to Full Council, Cabinet or a 

Page 168



 

29 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

committee by way of a motion which shall be moved, seconded and voted on without 
discussion. 

26. Priority Opposition Business 

26.1 The largest political group not forming part of the Administration may submit one item 
of business to be placed on the agenda of an ordinary meeting of the Council to be 
treated as Priority Opposition Business. The submission shall include a brief 
description of the item of business (which will allow members and the public to 
understand the nature of the topic to be discussed) and the name of the member 
presenting it. The description and the name of the presenter shall be included on the 
agenda. Notice of the item must be submitted no later than the deadline for the receipt 
of motions (Rule 28). 

26.2 Priority Opposition Business shall take the form of a statement and the total time 
allowed for the item will be 15 minutes. The member named on the agenda as 
presenting the statement may speak for up to five minutes. A member responding on 
behalf of the Administration may speak for up to five minutes. The Leader of the largest 
political group not forming part of the Administration may exercise a right of reply for 
up to five minutes. The matter under discussion shall not be put to the vote and no 
other questions or debate shall be allowed. 

26.3 Priority Opposition Business shall not be taken at the Annual Meeting, the meeting 
convened to approve the Council's budget or a meeting called for a specific purpose. 

 

27. Questions relating to Portfolio Holder reports 

27.1 Cabinet overviews will be circulated to all Members before the start of the meeting. 
27.2 A period of up to 60 minutes in total will be allowed at Council meetings during which 

Portfolio Holders will be able to give any update required on their report (with a time 
limit of 2 minutes per speaker). 

27.3 Members may then ask the relevant Portfolio Holders questions without notice (with a 
time limit of 2 minutes per speaker). The names of those members wishing to ask 
questions shall be provided to the Chair before the meeting. 

27.4 Each Portfolio Holder will then have a single opportunity to reply to all questions. 
27.5 In order to keep to the 60 minute limit and/or maintain fairness between Members, the 

Chair may limit the number of questions (or further questions) to be asked, either in 
total or by any one Member. 

28. Notices of Motion 

Procedure 

28.1 Notice of every motion (other than a motion which may be moved without notice under 
Procedure Rule 15) shall be given in writing, signed by the Member(s) giving the 
notice, and delivered at least seven clear days before the next meeting of the Council, 
to the Monitoring Officer by whom it shall be dated, in the order in which it is received.  

28.2 Motions that have been received and not ruled Out of Order will be shared with the 
leader of each political group (and/or their nominee) prior to the publication of the 
summons, where possible. 

Page 169



 

30 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

28.3 The number of motions on notice at any one meeting shall not exceed five (not 
including the Priority Opposition Motion) except where they relate to a report on the 
agenda.  

28.4 The largest political group not forming part of the Administration may move up to two 
motions on notice at each Council meeting. Other opposition political groups may 
move a maximum of two motions on notice in total between them. The number of 
motions on notice submitted by the political group(s) forming the Administration shall 
be limited to one. 

28.5 Motions shall be taken in the order of receipt of notice; and the consideration of 
motions shall not take longer than 60 minutes in total. 

Scope 

28.6 Motions must be about matters for which the Council has direct responsibility or 
influence.  

28.7 Motions must be capable of being passed as a formal resolution. 
28.8 The Chair, following consultation with the Monitoring Officer, may rule a motion Out of 

Order under Rule 6.2,  
28.9 A motion will not be accepted if it is substantially the same as a question which has 

been put or an address made by some other person at the same meeting of the Council 
or at another meeting of the Council in the preceding six months. 

Motions to be set out in summons 

28.10 The summons for every ordinary meeting of the Council will set out all motions of 
which notice has been duly given, unless the Member giving the notice has intimated 
in writing, when giving it, that they proposed to move it at some later meeting, or has 
since withdrawn it. The motions will be listed in the summons in the order in which they 
have been received, with the exception that the second largest group not forming part 
of the Administration may request that one such motion per municipal year shall be 
placed first on the list referred to above. 

Withdrawal of Motion which is before the Council 

28.11 Where a notice of motion is before the Council having been formally moved and 
seconded and the mover wishes subsequently to withdraw it, they may do so with the 
consent of the seconder. 

Motions not moved 

28.12 If a motion set out in the summons is not moved either by a councillor who gave 
notice of it or by some other councillor on their behalf it shall, unless postponed by 
consent of the Council, be treated as withdrawn and shall not be moved without fresh 
notice. 

Deferment of a Notice of Motion 

28.13 Where a notice of motion has been moved and seconded, and referred for advice, 
the consideration of the motion may be deferred where the mover and seconder signify 
in writing their agreement to the deferral and the Chair of the Council indicates, in 

Page 170



 

31 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

writing, their agreement on behalf of the Council. The matter would then come to a 
subsequent meeting of the Council for report and decision. 

29. Rules of Debate 

29.1 The rules of debate to be followed at Council meetings are set out below.  

Motions and Amendments 

29.2 No motion or amendment shall be discussed unless it has been proposed and 
seconded. Where required by the Chair, motions or amendments shall be put in writing 
and handed to the Chair before they are further discussed or put to the meeting. At 
meetings other than those of the full Council, the Chair of that meeting may, at their 
discretion, allow a motion or amendment to be put which is not in writing, provided that 
the Chair has concluded that the wording of the motion or amendment is understood 
by all members of the body concerned. This requirement does not apply to motions 
which do not require notice.   

Seconder’s Speech 

29.3 When seconding a motion or amendment, a councillor may advise the Chair that they 
will reserve their right to speak until a later period in the debate. 

Only one councillor to stand at a time 

29.4 When speaking at a Council meeting a councillor shall, if possible, stand and address 
the Chair. While a councillor is speaking the other councillors will remain seated, 
unless rising, if possible, on a point of order or in personal explanation. 

Content and length of speeches 

29.5 A councillor will confine their speech to the question under discussion, a personal 
explanation or a point of order. The speech of the mover of a motion shall not exceed 
five minutes and all other speeches shall not exceed three minutes. 

When a councillor may speak again 

29.6 At a Council meeting a councillor who has spoken on any motion shall not speak again 
whilst it is the subject of debate, except: 

(a) To speak once on an amendment moved by another councillor; 
(b) If the motion has been amended since they last spoke, to move a further 

amendment; 
(c) If their first speech was on an amendment moved by another councillor, to speak 

on the main issue, whether or not the amendment on which they spoke was 
carried; 

(d) In exercise of a right of reply under these rules; 
(e) On a point of order referring to a specific Procedure Rule (which must be cited 

on rising); 
(f) By way of personal explanation; or 

Page 171



 

32 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(g) To move one of the motions specified as being able to be moved without notice, 
when the procedure for moving a motion without notice must be followed. 

29.7 At committees or sub-committees, councillors may, at the discretion of the Chair, 
speak more than once. 

Amendments 

29.8 An amendment to a motion must:  

(a) Be relevant to the motion;  
(b) Add and/or delete a word or words;  
(c) Not introduce a new topic;  
(d) Not negate the motion;  
(e) Be worded so that, if it is agreed by the council, it can be passed as a valid 

resolution. 

29.9 The Chair, following consultation with the Monitoring Officer, may rule an amendment 
Out of Order under Rule 6.3. An amendment will not be accepted if it is substantially 
the same as a motion or amendment which has already been submitted to the same 
meeting of the Council. 

Notice of Amendments 

29.10 Amendments to the Budget and Policy Framework at Budget council meetings must 
be received by the Executive Director Finance at least five clear working days before 
the meeting. A councillor who wishes to propose an amendment to any other report 
included with the summons or a motion submitted on the summons shall be required 
to submit the amendment in writing to the Monitoring Officer before the start of the 
meeting. 

Number of Amendments 

29.11 Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at a time. No further amendment 
shall be moved until the amendment under discussion has been disposed of. 

Status of Amendments 

29.12 If an amendment is lost, another amendment may be moved on the original motion. 
If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended shall take the place of the original 
motion and shall become the motion upon which any further amendment may be 
moved. 

Alterations to Motions or Amendments 

29.13 A councillor may alter a motion or amendment of which they have given notice and 
may also, with the consent of the seconder, alter a motion or amendment which they 
have moved. In both cases, the consent of the meeting is required. There should be 
no discussion on whether consent should or should not be given. 

Page 172



 

33 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

Withdrawal of Motion 

29.14 A motion or amendment may be withdrawn by the mover provided the seconder and 
the meeting, without discussion, agree. Once the mover has asked for permission to 
withdraw, there should be no further discussion, unless the meeting refuses to agree 
to the request. 

Right of Reply 

29.15 The mover of the motion shall have a right to reply at the close of the debate on the 
motion, immediately before it is put to the vote. If an amendment is moved, the mover 
of the original motion shall have a right of reply at the close of the debate on the 
amendment but shall not otherwise speak on it. The mover of the amendment shall 
have no right of reply to the debate on their amendment.   

Motions which may be moved during debate 

29.16 When a motion is under debate no other motion shall be moved except the following: 

(a) To amend the motion (subject to Rule 30.8); 
(b) To adjourn the meeting; 
(c) To adjourn the debate; 
(d) To proceed to the next business; 
(e) To suspend Procedure Rules; 
(f) To refer a matter to the Council, Cabinet, a committee or sub-committee for 

consideration or reconsideration; 
(g) That the question be now put; 
(h) That a councillor be not further heard; 
(i) By the Chair under Procedure Rule 46 that a councillor do leave the meeting; 
(j) A motion under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 

amended) to exclude the public. 

Closure Motions 

29.17 A councillor may move, without comment, at the conclusion of a speech of another 
councillor, “That the Council proceed to the next business”, “That the question be now 
put”, “That the debate be now adjourned”, or “That the Council do now adjourn”. When 
one of these Motions has been seconded the Chair shall proceed as follows: 

(a) On a motion to proceed to next business - unless in their opinion the matter 
before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed, they shall first give the 
mover of the original motion the right of reply, and then put to the vote the motion 
to proceed to next business; 

(b) On a motion that the question be now put - unless in their opinion the matter 
before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed, they shall put to the vote 
the motion that the question be now put and, if it is passed, give the mover of the 
original motion the right of reply before putting the motion to the vote; 

(c) On a motion to adjourn the debate or the meeting - if in their opinion the matter 
before the meeting has been insufficiently discussed on that occasion they shall 

Page 173



 

34 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

put the adjournment motion to the vote without giving the mover of the original 
motion the right of reply on that occasion. 

Points of Order 

29.18 A councillor may rise (or where necessary, instead raise their hand) on a point of 
order or in personal explanation and shall be entitled to be heard immediately. A point 
of order shall relate only to an alleged breach of a Procedure Rule or statutory 
provision and the councillor shall specify the Procedure Rule or statutory provision and 
the way in which they consider it has been breached. A personal explanation shall be 
confined to some material part of a former speech by them which may appear to have 
been misunderstood or misquoted in the current debate. 

Ruling of Chair on a Point of Order/Personal Explanation 

29.19 The ruling of the Chair of the meeting on a point of order or on the admissibility of a 
personal explanation shall not be open to discussion and shall be final. The Chair shall 
consult on any question of interpretation with the Monitoring Officer or their designated 
nominee prior to making a ruling. 

Respect for the Chair 

29.20 At the Council meeting whenever the Chair rises (or where necessary, instead raises 
their hand) during a debate a councillor then standing shall sit down and the Council 
shall be silent. 

30. Rules of Debate at Budget meetings 

30.1 The following rules of debate apply to Budget meetings as defined in Rule 5 above. 

Order, Content and Length of Speeches 

30.2 At a budget meeting of the Council, the following rules shall apply to debate on the 
annual budget. 

30.3 The exact length of speeches for each proposer and management of the debate is at 
the discretion of the Chair and will be announced before the start of the meeting. 

(a) The Chair will call the Executive Leader, or their nominee, to propose the Budget. 
The proposer will move the Budget. The seconder will have up to three minutes 
to second the Budget. 

(b) Once the Budget has been seconded, the Chair will call the other group leaders, 
or their nominees, to speak. Each will be called in order of precedence according 
to the number of councillors in each group. Where two groups have the same 
number of members, the Chair shall exercise their discretion. 

(c) The Leader of the principal opposition group, or their nominee, may make a 
statement or propose an alternative budget or amendment. If an alternative 
budget or amendment has been proposed, the seconder will have up to three 
minutes to speak. 

(d) The Leaders of each of the minor opposition groups, or their nominees, may 
make a statement or propose an alternative budget or amendment. If an 

Page 174



 

35 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

alternative budget or amendment has been proposed, the seconder will have up 
to three minutes to speak. 

(e) If an opposition group proposes an alternative budget or amendment, then after 
each amendment has been seconded it shall be debated. The normal rules of 
debate shall apply. The proposer of the amendment has a right of reply. The 
proposer of the Administration’s budget also has a right of reply prior to the vote. 
Each alternative budget or amendment will be debated and voted in the order 
they were proposed. Each vote must be a recorded vote. 

(f) After each opposition group alternative budget or amendment has been voted 
on, the debate will return to the substantive motion - the Administration’s Budget 
- which may or may not have been amended. 

(g) Prior to the debate on the substantive motion, the mover of the Administration’s 
budget shall be permitted to propose an amendment that is minor in nature. A 
minor amendment is an amendment with a financial impact equal to or below the 
key decision threshold. The normal rules of debate shall apply to the debate on 
a minor amendment. The normal deadlines for the submission of such an 
amendment shall not apply. The mover of the Administration’s budget has a right 
of reply prior to the vote. The vote must be a recorded vote. 

(h) Once the vote has been taken on a minor amendment, or if no such amendment 
has been proposed, the debate on the substantive motion will take place. All 
members of the Council are allowed to contribute to the debate, except the mover 
or seconder of original motion (unless the seconder has reserved their right to 
speak). 

(i) No further amendments are allowed at this stage by any of the members of the 
Council. 

(j) After the debate on the substantive motion, the mover of the Administration’s 
budget has a right of reply (up to 5 minutes). A recorded vote must then be taken 
on the substantive budget (which may have been amended) and the debate is 
concluded. 

Alternative Budgets and Amendments to the Budget 

30.4 In order to be approved, all alternative Budget proposals that any political group or 
member wishes to be considered must be provided in final form, following prior 
consultation and written approval of the Chief Finance Officer, five clear working days 
in advance of the Budget meeting.  

30.5 Any submissions not received within five clear working days of the Budget council 
meeting will not be allowed.  

30.6 Any submissions not prepared in a form acceptable to the Chief Finance Officer as 
being capable of being adopted by the council as a lawful budget will not be allowed. 
The text of all alternative budgets or proposed amendments to the Budget must be 
submitted to the Monitoring Officer by 5pm, five clear working days before the meeting. 
The Monitoring Officer shall comply with the wishes of the Leader of the relevant 
political group in determining when to make the documents available to other 
councillors, the press and public, subject to this being no later than the start of the 
meeting at which the Budget is to be discussed. 

30.7 Alternative budgets or proposed amendments to the Budget will be considered in the 
order set out above. Only one alternative budget or proposed amendments to the 
Budget may be moved and discussed at any one time unless the Chair decides 
otherwise. 

Page 175



 

36 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

30.8 No further amendment may be moved until the alternative budget or amendment to 
the Budget under discussion has been dealt with. 

30.9 If an alternative budget or proposed amendments to the Budget are carried, the motion 
as amended takes the place of the original motion. This becomes the substantive 
motion to which any further amendments which have already been notified are moved. 

31. Rescission of earlier resolution 

31.1 At a meeting of the Council, no motion or amendment shall be moved to rescind any 
resolution of the Council which was passed within the preceding six months or which 
is to the same effect as one which has been rejected within that period. 

31.2 Such a motion may be moved if: 

(a) It is recommended by the Cabinet or a committee; or 
(b) Notice of such motion has been given under Rule 29 and signed by at least one 

third of the total number of councillors (31) who include members from more than 
one political group. 

32. Voting 

32.1 Each Councillor has one vote. 
32.2 Voting will be by a show of hands or, where practical and the means are available to 

those present, by suitable electronic means. 
32.3 When a councillor asks for a recorded vote to be taken, and 10 members of the Council 

(or one quarter of a committee) stand in their places to support the request, the vote 
will be recorded to show whether each Councillor voted for or against the motion or 
abstained.  If necessary, a councillor may raise their hand instead of standing in order 
to indicate their support for a request for a recorded vote.   

32.4 A recorded vote will not be taken if the vote has already begun to be taken by a show 
of hands. 

32.5 A councillor may require, after a vote is completed, that the minutes of the meeting 
record how they voted or abstained. 

32.6 A councillor may, immediately after the item of business is voted upon, request that a 
lost motion or amendment be recorded in the minutes. 

32.7 Where there are equal votes cast for a motion or amendment the Chair or the person 
presiding may exercise a second or casting vote. 

33. Offices and Appointments 

33.1 If on a vote no person receives more than half of the votes cast, the name of the person 
with the least number of votes will be withdrawn. Further votes will be held until one 
person receives a clear majority. 

34. Election of Chair of committees and sub-committees 

34.1 The Chair of every committee and sub-committee excluding the Cabinet will be elected 
at the annual meeting of the Council where possible.  

34.2 The councillor elected to each office must be a member of the relevant committee or 
sub-committee. 

34.3 Where a vacancy occurs in any office, an election will be held at the next ordinary 
meeting of the committee or sub-committee concerned. 

Page 176



 

37 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

34.4 Unless the Council decides otherwise, the election will be conducted by a show of 
hands and may relate to a number of offices.  

35. Urgent business – Non-Executive Matters 

35.1 An item of urgent business which has to be decided before the next meeting of the 
Council and which does not fall within the Executive’s functions and responsibility can 
be determined by the Head of Paid Service, subject to the procedure set out below. 

35.2 Where any matter is urgent and cannot await the next meeting, the Head of Paid 
Service may take the necessary action, provided that they have first consulted the 
relevant Chair (or Vice Chair if the Chair is not available). 

35.3 A copy of the consultation document shall be sent to the appropriate Cabinet Member, 
the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the group leaders and the 
councillors for the area concerned, if the matter particularly affects one or more 
electoral areas. 

35.4 Any such action shall be recorded in writing, consideration being given after 
consultation with the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer. 

35.5 The Monitoring Officer shall supply details of any decision or action taken by the Head 
of Paid Service under these provisions to the next meeting of the committee or sub-
committee that would have taken the decision if it had not been urgent. 

35.6 A report of any action under this Procedure Rule shall be made available by electronic 
means to all councillors. 

 

3.7 Committee and Sub-Committee Meeting Procedure Rules 

1. Programme of meetings 

1.1  Meetings of committees and sub-committees will be set out in the calendar of 
meetings approved by the Council under Rule 1.16 above. Alterations to the 
date, time and/or venue for meetings, as well as the inclusion of additional 
meetings, shall only be where it is impracticable to hold the meeting at the 
usual time and shall be matters for the Chair of each committee to determine 
as set out in Rule 1.2 below. 

1.2  When it is necessary to alter the date, time and/or venue of a meeting, or to 
arrange a special meeting, the Monitoring Officer will consult the Chair of the 
relevant committee or sub-committee before any action is taken. The Chair of 
the committee or sub-committee will then determine the matter. 

2. Chairing 

2.1  Where a Chair and Vice Chair are absent from a meeting of the relevant body, 
a Chair will be appointed from those members of the body present, provided 
the meeting is quorate and subject to any restrictions on the eligibility of 
Executive members for appointment. 

2.2 In committee or sub-committee meetings, whenever the Chair rises from their 
seat (or where necessary, instead raises their hand), the councillors should 
remain in their seats and the committee or sub-committee shall be silent. 

3. Quorum at committees and sub-committees 

Page 177



 

38 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

3.1  No item of business will be transacted at a meeting of a committee or sub-
committee unless there is at least one quarter of the members of the body 
present which will in each case be rounded up.  

3.2 Any variants to Rule 39.1 will be set out in the committee or sub-committee’s 
terms of reference. 

3.3 In the case of the Alcohol and Gambling Licensing Committee and its sub-
committees these Rules are subject to and applied as stated in the Licensing 
Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005. 

4. Minutes of committees and sub-committees 

4.1  The minutes of a committee or sub-committee must be confirmed at its next 
meeting. 

4.2  Only matters relating to the accuracy of the minutes can be raised. Where 
accuracy is questioned, this must be by a motion which is proposed, seconded 
and voted upon. 

4.3  Where no issues of accuracy are raised, or after any motion has been dealt 
with, the Chair shall sign the minutes. 

4.4  The minutes of any sub-committee must be submitted to the next suitable 
meeting of the parent committee by the sub-committee Chair. 

4.5  Members may ask a question or comment on any minute. The Chair of the 
sub-committee will then reply. There will be no debate on any question or 
comment raised under this procedure and no further motions can be moved. 

4.6  Where a Member has a question or comment on an exempt, private or 
confidential Minute, the question or comment must be given in writing to the 
Monitoring Officer at least one hour before the start of the meeting. 

4.7  Any question about the accuracy of any minute of a body must be considered 
and determined by that body at its next suitable meeting. 

5. Requests by Members for items of business to be included on agendas of a 
committee or sub-committee 

5.1  This Rule sets out details of the process by which a councillor can ask for an 
item of business to be included on the agenda of a committee or sub-
committee meeting. 

5.2  This Rule does not apply to special meetings of committees and sub-
committees or to the Cabinet. 

5.3  A councillor may, by notice given to the Monitoring Officer no later than ten 
clear working days before the appropriate meeting, request that an item of 
business be included on the agenda of a committee or sub-committee. 

5.4  A councillor may not give notice of more than one item of business for any one 
meeting. The notice shall state the nature of the business and shall include 
the name of that councillor. A notice may be submitted electronically provided 
the notice has been originated by that councillor. 

5.5  This procedure shall not apply where the item of business, if agreed, would 
have the effect of rescinding or amending any resolution passed by a 
committee or sub-committee of the Council within the preceding 6 months. 

5.6  Items arising from such notices shall appear on the agenda after the ordinary 
public or private agenda items. 

5.7  A member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee has a statutory right to 
have an item, within the remit of that particular body, included on the agenda 

Page 178



 

39 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

and discussed at the next meeting of that body. The restrictions in Rule 41.4 
above on the number of items shall not apply to items submitted under this 
paragraph. 

6. Committee and Sub-Committee Agendas - Urgent items of business 

6.1  Generally, business will only be transacted at meetings of committees and 
sub-committees which appears on the agenda and which has been available 
for public inspection at least five clear working days before the meeting or, 
where the meeting is convened at short notice, from the time the meeting is 
convened. 

6.2  The Chair of the committee or sub-committee may agree to deal with an item 
of business at the meeting if, in their opinion, the matter is urgent given the 
circumstances requiring a decision. The Chair’s ruling and the reasons for 
urgency will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 

7. Attendance of councillors at committees and sub-committees of which they 
are not members 

7.1  Notwithstanding their rights as a member of the public, a councillor may attend 
any meeting of a committee or sub-committee to which they have not been 
appointed, for the purposes of performing their duties as a councillor, including 
when exempt or private and confidential business is transacted. 

7.2  A councillor will be given, when they arrive at the meeting a copy of the agenda 
and relevant papers, subject to any restrictions imposed under the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules. 

7.3  The councillor has no right to vote but may speak with the consent of the Chair 
of the meeting. 

8. Overview and Scrutiny Committees and Sub-Committees 

8.1  In applying these Rules to Overview and Scrutiny committees and sub-
committees, regard shall be had to the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules which are contained in Part 7 of this Constitution. 

3.8 General Provisions 

1. Records of attendance 

1.1  The Monitoring Officer will keep a record of Members attending any meeting 
of the Council, the Cabinet, and any committee or sub-committee. 

2. Disclosure of confidential/exempt matters 

2.1  No Councillor shall disclose to any person the whole or any part of the 
contents of any agenda or any matter arising during the proceedings, report 
or other document which is marked “confidential” or “not for publication” unless 
and until the document has been made available to the public or the press by 
or on behalf of the Council, the Cabinet, a committee or sub-committee.  

2.2 All councillors will familiarise themselves and not contravene the Access to 
Information Rules or the Members’ Code of Conduct set out within the 
Constitution.  

Page 179



 

40 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

3. Substitute Members 

3.1 Political groups may nominate some or all their councillors to be substitutes 
for appointed members of committees, joint committees, sub-committees, 
working groups and panels (and the Monitoring Officer shall have authority to 
give effect to those nominations in accordance with this procedure rule), 
provided that in the case of the: 

(a) Regulatory committees and sub-committees, substitutes must have 
received suitable training 

(b) Scrutiny committees and Audit and Governance Committee, all 
councillors except Cabinet members are permitted to be substitutes 

3.2 Each political group shall notify the Monitoring Officer of its substitute 
members and, in respect of each substitute member, which committees, joint 
committees, sub-committees, working groups and panels they may serve on.  

3.3 Notice of substitution (or any cancellation) stating the name of the substitute 
must be given to Democratic Services before the commencement of the 
meeting concerned. Notification is for each meeting or until further notice. 

3.4 If the original appointed member arrives when the meeting is in progress, the 
substitution will remain effective and the original appointed member will not 
be allowed to participate in the decision making. It is not possible to substitute 
for part of a meeting only unless more than 50% of members of the substantive 
members have declared an interest or are unable to attend and there is (in the 
opinion of Monitoring Officer) a risk that the meeting could become inquorate 
for one or more item. 

3.5 The chair shall inform the meeting of any substitutions before the 
commencement of the meeting. 

3.6 Substitute members have all the powers and duties (including compliance with 
any mandatory training requirements) of any appointed member, but are not 
able to exercise any special powers or duties exercisable by the appointed 
member. 

4. Disorderly conduct by Members 

4.1  If at a meeting any councillor, in the opinion of the person presiding, 
misconducts themselves in any way, the person presiding or any other 
councillor may move “That the councillor be not further heard”. The motion, if 
seconded, shall be put and determined without discussion. 

4.2  If the councillor continues the misconduct, the person presiding may either 
move “That the councillor do leave the meeting” (in which case the motion 
shall be put and determined without seconding or discussion); or adjourn the 
meeting. 

4.3  In the event of general disturbance at any meeting which, in the opinion of the 
person presiding, renders the due and orderly dispatch of business 
impossible, the person presiding will have the power to adjourn the meeting. 

5. Disturbance by members of the public 

Page 180



 

41 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

5.1  If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any meeting the person 
presiding shall issue a warning to them. If they continue, the person presiding 
shall order their removal from the meeting.  

5.2 In cases of general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the 
public, the person presiding shall order that part to be cleared or if necessary 
adjourn the meeting.   

6. Variation and revocation of Procedure Rules 

6.1  Any motion to vary or revoke these Rules shall, when proposed and 
seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of 
the Council. 

7. Suspension of Procedure Rules 

7.1  These Procedure Rules may be suspended in respect of any business at a 
meeting of the Council, a committee or sub-committee where its suspension 
is moved except where this would be in contravention of statute. 

7.2  A motion to suspend Procedure Rules shall not be moved without notice 
unless there shall be present at least one-third of the Members of the Council 
or that committee or sub-committee respectively. 

8. Interpretation of Procedure Rules 

8.1  The ruling of the person presiding as to the construction or application of any 
of these Procedure Rules, or as to any proceedings of the Council, shall not 
be challenged at any meeting. 

8.2  The person presiding, shall consult with the Monitoring Officer or their 
nominee on any question of interpretation. 

9. Submission of Notices by Members – Electronic Means 

9.1  A councillor may communicate, by electronic means, any notice under any of 
the Council’s Procedural Rules to initiate any process or procedure provided 
it is clear that the notice has been originated by that Member. 

  

Page 181



 

42 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

4.0 COMMITTEES 
4.1 Committee Structure 

 

 

 

FU
LL

 C
O

U
N

CI
L

Strategic Planning 
Committee

Local Area Planning 
Committees (x3)

Alcohol & Gambling 
Licensing Committee

Licensing Sub-
Committee

Taxi & General 
Licensing Committee

Licensing Sub-
Committee

Democracy & 
Standards Committee

Hearings Sub-
Committee

Senior Appointments 
Committee

Appeals Sub-
Committee

Audit & Governance 
Committee

Standards Complaints 
Panel

Standards 
Dispensation Panel

Pensions Fund 
Committee

Investment Sub-
Committee

Local Pension Board

Health & Wellbeing 
Board

Sc
ru

tin
y

Co-Ordinating 
Scrutiny Group

Place Scrutiny 
Committee

People Scrutiny 
Committee

Corporate Scrutiny 
Committee

Ca
bi

ne
t

Planning Policy 
Committee

Page 182



 

43 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

4.2 Alcohol and Gambling Licensing Committee 

Members 15: Quorum 5. Appointments will be made having regard to the rules on 
political proportionality. 

(a) The Alcohol and Gambling Licensing Committee is responsible for 
determining licensing policy and applications in accordance with its role and 
functions set out below. 

(b) Members shall not participate as members of the Alcohol and Gambling 
Licensing Committee or any of its sub-committees until they have received 
appropriate training in respect of their functions on the committee or sub-
committees. 

4.2.1 Role and Functions 

(a) To deal with all the licensing functions of the Council under the Licensing Act 
2003 (“the 2003 Act”) and the Gambling Act 2005 (“the 2005 Act”) (except 
such functions as cannot be delegated). 

(b) For the avoidance of doubt, the Alcohol and Gambling Licensing Committee 
shall exercise an advisory role in relation to executive functions. 

(c) To approve licensing policy in compliance with the provisions of the 2003 Act, 
the 2005 Act and any regulations made thereunder (except matters 
specifically reserved by statute to Council or the Cabinet). 

(d) The Alcohol and Gambling Licensing Committee has the power to appoint 
such sub-committees as may from time to time be necessary to discharge its 
duties under the 2003 and 2005 Acts.  

(e) Sub-committees will have full delegated powers to determine all applications 
made under the 2003 and 2005 Acts.  

(f) Each sub-committee will comprise three Members drawn from the Alcohol 
and Gambling Licensing Committee. 

4.2.2 Sitting as a sub-committee comprising 3 Members (drawn from the main 
Committee on an ad-hoc basis): 

(a) To hold hearings to determine licensing applications under the 2003 Act, 
where a representation has been received, except where there is a valid 
delegation to officers under the provisions of parts 9.2.1 and 9.2.3 of this 
Constitution insofar as they apply to the delegation of non-executive powers 
and duties set out in the 2003 Act and associated regulations; 

(b) to determine applications for a provisional statement or the grant, variation, 
or transfer of a premises licence under Part 8 of the 2005 Act where a 
representation has been received or where the Executive Director of Place 
and Economy proposes that the power under Section 169(1)(b) be exercised 
to exclude mandatory premises licence conditions; 

(c) to determine all applications for the review or summary review of a premises 
or club premises licence under the 2005 Act; 

(d) to determine applications for club gaming and club machine permits under 
the 2005 Act where objections have been received and matters relating to the 
cancellation of club gaming and club machine permits or licensed premises 
gaming machine permits; and 

Page 183



 

44 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(e) to determine all matters relating to temporary or occasional use notices under 
the 2005 Act where objections have been received. 

4.3 Taxi and General Licensing Committee 

Members 15: Quorum 5. Appointments will be made having regard to the rules on 
political proportionality. 

(a) The Taxi and General Licensing Committee is responsible for determining 
licensing policy and applications in accordance with its role and functions set 
out below. 

(b) Members shall not participate as members of the Taxi and General Licensing 
Committee or any of its sub-committees until they have received appropriate 
training in respect of their functions on the Committee or sub-committees. 

4.3.1 Role and Functions 

(a) To deal with all non-executive functions relating to licensing and registration 
as set out in Schedule 1 of the Functions and Responsibilities Regulations. 

(b) To deal with all functions relating to health and safety under any relevant 
statutory provision within the meaning of Part 1 of the Health and Safety at 
Work etc Act 1974, to the extent that those functions are discharged 
otherwise than in the Council’s capacity as an employer. 

(c) For the avoidance of doubt, the Taxi and General Licensing Committee shall 
exercise an advisory role in relation to executive functions, such as the fixing 
of fares for hackney carriages. 

(d) To approve licensing policy relating to the licensing of private hire vehicles 
and Hackney carriages in accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (the 1976 Act), the Town 
Police Clauses Act 1847 (the 1847 Act) and any associated regulations; and 
any other policy approval matters concerning schemes of licensing 
administered by the Council, either on a statutory or discretionary basis (e.g. 
Street Trading Licenses/Consents, Scrap Metal Licenses); except matters 
specifically reserved by statute to Council or the Cabinet. 

(e) The Taxi and General Licensing Committee has the power to appoint such 
sub-committees as may from time to time be necessary to discharge its 
duties.  

(f) Sub-committees will have full delegated powers to determine contested 
applications and adjudicate over the review of licences. 

(g) Each sub-committee will comprise three Members drawn from the Taxi and 
General Licensing Committee. 

4.3.2 Sitting as a sub-committee comprising 3 Members (drawn from the 
main Committee on a politically proportionate basis): 

(a) To determine all matters relating to the grant, renewal or review of taxi 
licences (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall include hackney carriage 
and private hire vehicle driver and operator licences) and to decide whether 
to suspend or revoke such licences in accordance with the 1847 and 1976 
Acts, except where there is a valid delegation to officers from the Taxi and 

Page 184



 

45 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

General Licensing Committee made in accordance with parts 9.2.1 and 9.2.3 
of this Constitution insofar as they apply to the delegation of non-executive 
powers and duties set out in the 1847 and 1976 Acts, associated regulations 
and other statutory and discretionary licensing schemes; 

(b) in cases where the Assistant Director Regulatory Services has on public 
safety grounds revoked with immediate effect a taxi licence in accordance 
with section 61 (2B) of the 1976 Act, to determine an application for the grant 
of a new licence submitted by the driver/operator whose earlier licence was 
revoked; and 

(c) to determine all matters relating to street trading licences and consents where 
representation have been received. 

4.4 Strategic Planning Committee 

Members 13: Quorum 4. Appointments will be made having regard to the rules on 
political proportionality. 

4.4.1 Members shall not participate as members of the Strategic Planning 
Committee until they have received appropriate training in respect of their functions on 
the committee 

4.4.2 Role and Functions 

(a) Functions relating to town and country planning and development control as 
specified in Part A of Schedule 1 of the Local Authorities Functions and 
Responsibilities (England) Regulations 2000 including in relation to strategic 
applications meeting the thresholds set out in (i), (ii) and (iii) below 

(i) Large-scale major developments defined (by the Government’s 
planning application statistical returns) as those of 200 houses (or 4 
hectares) or more; or 

(ii) commercial developments of 10,000 square metres (or 2 hectares) or 
more; or 

(iii) strategically important developments (as identified by the Assistant 
Director – Growth and Investment, following consultation with the Chair 
of the Local Planning Committee for the area in which the development 
is proposed). 

(b) Applications called-in that cross the boundary of two local area committees. 
(c) Any application where the Assistant Director – Growth and Investment 

considers it inappropriate to exercise delegated powers having regard to the 
public representations received and consultee responses. 

(d) There shall be no referral down of applications from Strategic Planning 
Committee to Local Area Planning committees. 

4.5 Local Area Planning Committees 

4.5.1 There are three Local Area Planning Committees in West Northamptonshire, 
which reflect the areas of the existing local plans for Daventry, South 
Northamptonshire and Northampton.  

Page 185



 

46 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

Northampton Local Area Planning Committee 

Members 11: Quorum 4. Not politically balanced. 

Daventry Local Area Planning Committee 

Members 9: Quorum 3. Not politically balanced. 

South Northamptonshire Local Area Planning Committee 

Members 9: Quorum 3. Not politically balanced. 

4.5.2 The Local Area Planning Committees are not politically balanced as they fall 
within the political balance exemption for area committees; but should reflect the political 
make-up of the relevant area. The political make up of each area is determined by the 
wards which the committee serves. The members elected to those wards determine the 
political balance for the area and the committee. 

4.5.3 Members shall not participate as members of a Local Area Planning 
Committee until they have received appropriate training in respect of their functions on 
the committee. 

4.5.4 Functions relating to town and country planning and development control as 
specified in Part A of Schedule 1 of the Local Authorities Functions and Responsibilities 
(England) Regulations 2000 that do not fall within the responsibilities of the Strategic 
Planning Committee. 

4.5.5 To consider planning applications not within the remit of the Strategic Planning 
Committee and not delegated to officers except where the Assistant Director – Growth 
and Investment considers it inappropriate to exercise delegated powers having 
considered public representations and consultee responses. These include: 

(a) Major Developments below the limits set for the Strategic Planning Committee; 
(b) Applications which do not meet the criteria for Major Development; 
(c) Change of Use; 
(d) Householder Developments; 
(e) Consent to display advertisements under the Town and Country Planning 

(Control of Advertisements) Regulations 1992 (as amended); 
(f) Shop fronts; 
(g) Listed Building Consents; 
(h) Conservation Area Consents. 

4.5.6 There shall be no referral up of applications from the Local Area Planning 
committees to the Strategic Planning Committee 

4.5.7 The Assistant Director - Growth and Investment, after consultation with the 
relevant Portfolio Holder, shall be responsible for determining whether an application 
falls within the remit of Strategic Planning Committee or the relevant Local Area Planning 
Committee. 

Page 186



 

47 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

4.6 Democracy and Standards Committee 

Members 9: Quorum 3. Appointments will be made having regard to the rules on political 
proportionality. 

4.6.1 The purpose of the Democracy and Standards Committee is: 

(a) to have overall responsibility for the Council’s Constitution and decision making 
governance;  

(b) to make necessary decisions in relation to Elections and to have responsibility for 
Community Governance and Boundary Reviews on behalf of the Council. 

(c) to oversee and develop the Council’s Code of Conduct and the overall standards of 
conduct for Council Members, co-opted Members, and Parish and Town councillors 
of West Northamptonshire.   

The Committee will have the roles and functions set out below. 

4.6.2 In relation to the Democratic functions of the Committee 

(a) Reviewing the Council’s Constitution and decision-making governance, i.e. the 
guidance and documents that support decision making, e.g. the Forward Plan 
guidance and the rules on officer records, and recommending any proposed 
changes to the Council; 

(b) Conducting polling station reviews and other election functions which it is necessary 
for the Council to decide (but not the functions delegated directly by statute to the 
Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer); 

(c) Preparing submissions on behalf of the Council to the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England in relation to the governance of the area; 

(d) Preparing submissions on behalf of the Council to the Parliamentary Boundary 
Commission for England.   

4.6.3 In relation to the Standards functions of the Committee 

(a) Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Members and co-opted 
Members of the Council, Parish and Town Councils; 

(b) Keeping the Member Code of Conduct and, where appropriate, the Planning Code 
of Conduct under review and make recommendations to Council on any amendment 
or revisions to the Codes; 

(c) Advising, training or arranging training for Members and co-opted Members of the 
Council, Parish and Town Councils on matters relating to the Member Code of 
Conduct and the Planning Code of Conduct; 

(d) Giving general guidance and advice to Members and Co-opted Members of the 
Council, Parish and Town Councils on Member’s interests and keeping under review 
the Registers of Members’ Interests maintained by the Monitoring Officer and the 
Register of Gifts and Hospitality; 

(e) Granting dispensations to Members and co-opted Members from requirements 
relating to interests; 

(f) Keeping the Council’s arrangements for dealing with standards complaints under 
review and making recommendations to Council on any amendment or revisions to 
the arrangements; 

Page 187



 

48 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(g) Assessing and/or referring for investigation allegations of misconduct on the part of 
Members and co-opted Members of the Council, Parish and Town Councils, if so 
requested by the Monitoring Officer; 

(h) Determining allegations of misconduct on the part of Members and co-opted 
Members of the Council, Parish and Town Councils; 

(i) To be a consultee in relation to the Council’s Officer Code of Conduct; 
(j) Making recommendations to Council with regard to the appointment of Independent 

Persons; 
(k) Overseeing the Council’s Protocol on Member/Officer Relations and making 

recommendations to Council on any amendment or revisions to the protocol; 
(l) Receiving an annual report from the Monitoring Officer detailing complaints 

received, complaints dealt with and resolutions achieved; 
(m) Exercising all the Council’s functions, as specified in Regulation 2 of the Local 

Authority (Functions and Responsibility) (England) Regulations 2000 insofar as such 
functions are not the responsibility of the Cabinet, Council or any other committee 
of the Council. 

4.6.4 Hearings Sub-Committee 

3 Members (drawn from the Democracy and Standards Committee on a politically 
proportional basis). In addition, where the subject member is a parish/town councillor, 
another parish or town councillor who is not connected to the subject member will be 
co-opted as a non-voting member of the Sub-Committee. 

To determine, in accordance with the Council’s Arrangements for Dealing with 
Standards Complaints, complaints referred to the sub-committee following completion 
of an investigation into allegations of misconduct on the part of Members and co-opted 
Members of the Council, Parish and Town Council. 

4.7 Audit and Governance Committee 

Members 9: Quorum 3. Appointments will be made having regard to the rules on political 
proportionality. 

Purpose: 

4.7.1 The purpose of the Audit and Governance Committee is to: 

(a) Provide independent assurance as to the Council’s governance, risk management 
framework and associated control environment; 

(b) Provide independent scrutiny of the Council’s financial and non-financial 
performance and oversee the Council’s financial reporting process; 

(c) Act as an advisory committee to the Council and the Cabinet on audit and 
governance issues. 

Terms of Reference: 

4.7.2 Audit: 

Page 188



 

49 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(a) To consider the annual report of the internal audit service and to consider a summary 
of actual and proposed internal audit activity and the levels of assurance over the 
Council's corporate governance arrangements; 

(b) To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested; 
(c) To consider and approve the Council's arrangements for the internal audit service;  
(d) To consider a report from internal audit on agreed recommendations not 

implemented within a reasonable timescale;  
(e) To consider any high priority recommendations contained in internal audit reports or 

'limited assurance' audit reports;  
(f) To consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports, and the report to 

those charged with governance; 
(g) To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor; 
(h) To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and ensure that it gives 

the Council good value for money; 
(i) Through the Executive Director of Finance liaise with the Audit Commission over the 

appointment of the council’s external auditor; 
(j) Through the Executive Director of Finance commission specific pieces of work from 

internal and external audit if there is a perceived need expressed by Committee 
members and sufficient funding available for such work.  

4.7.3 Corporate Governance: 

(a) Maintain an overview of all aspects of the Council’s Constitution, including Finance 
Reservations in the Scheme of Delegation, contract procedure rules and financial 
regulations. Any proposed changes to the Constitution shall be referred to the 
Democracy & Standards Committee; 

(b) Review any issue referred to it within these Terms of Reference by the Chief 
Executive, Section 151 Officer or any body of the Council; 

(c) Monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and corporate 
governance within the Council; 

(d) Approve and monitor the Council’s ‘whistle-blowing’, anti-fraud and anti-corruption 
policies; 

(e) Review and make recommendations on the Council’s Annual Governance 
Statement; 

(f) Consider the Council’s corporate governance arrangements and make 
recommendations to ensure compliance best practice; 

(g) Monitor the Council’s compliance with its own and other published standards and 
controls; 

(h) Consider reports dealing with risk management across the organisation and those 
reports which identify key risks the Council faces, seeking assurance of appropriate 
management action; 

(i) The Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee shall act as the Member Risk 
Champion; 

(j) To have oversight the Council’s Performance Management Framework so far as it 
relates to the Corporate Governance Functions of the committee; 

(k) Such other matters as required by law or guidance to be the proper remit of the Audit 
and Governance Committee; 

(l) To receive annually statistical reports and details of complaints received and 
investigated through the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure which have 

Page 189



 

50 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

resulted in payments or other benefits being provided by the Council in cases of 
maladministration; 

(m) Receive on behalf of the Council reports issued by the Local Government 
Ombudsman into investigations that the Council’s actions have amounted to 
maladministration causing injustice. 

4.7.4 Financial Reporting: 

(a) View the Council’s annual statement of accounts and specifically consider whether 
appropriate accounting policies have been followed, and whether there are any 
concerns arising from the financial statements, or the audit which should be brought 
to the attention of the Council; 

(b) Consider reports of the external auditor to those in charge of governance on issues 
arising from the audit of the accounts. 

4.8 Pensions Fund Committee 

1. The Pensions Fund Committee 
a. Role and Function 
b. Membership, Chair and Quorum 
c. Terms of Reference 
d. Membership breakdown 

2. The Investment Sub-Committee 
a. Role and Function 
b. Membership, Chair and Quorum 
c. Terms of Reference 
d. Membership breakdown 

3. The Joint Committee (of the ACCESS Asset Pool) 
a. Role and Function 
b. Membership, Chair and Quorum 
c. Terms of Reference 

4. The Local Pension Board 

 

1. The Pensions Fund Committee 

1.1 Role and Function 

To be responsible for the Council’s statutory function as administering authority under the 
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations and associated legislation under Sections 
7, 12 and 24 of the Superannuation Act 1972. The Committee will be established under 
s.101 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

The Pension Committee will be provided with full delegated powers to discharge the 
following functions on behalf of the Council to deal with all matters relating to the 
Northamptonshire Local Government Pension Scheme. 

Page 190



 

51 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

1.2 Membership, Chairing and Quorum 

1.3 Terms of Reference 

(a) To deal with all matters relating to the Northamptonshire Pension Fund Local 
Government Pension Scheme. 

(b) Authority to set the Pension Fund’s objectives and determine and maintain 
appropriate strategies, policies and procedures with ongoing monitoring in the 
following areas: 

(i) Funding Strategy – ongoing monitoring and management of the liabilities 
including ensuring appropriate funding plans are in place for all employers in 
the Fund. Overseeing the triennial valuation and interim valuations and 
working with the actuary in determining the appropriate level of employer 
contributions for each employer. 

(ii) Investment Strategy – to determine the Fund’s investment objectives and to 
set and review the long term high level investment strategy to ensure these 
are aligned with the Fund’s specific liability profile and risk appetite  

(iii) Administration Strategy – the administration of the Fund including collecting 
payments due, calculating and paying benefits, gathering from and providing 
information to scheme members and employers. 

(iv) Communications Strategy – determining the methods of communications with 
the various stakeholders including scheme members and employers. 

(v) Discretions – determining how the various administering authority discretions 
are operated for the Fund. 

Number of Members 13 
Chair and Vice Chair’s 
Term of Office 

Term of office will be one year. 

The appointment /removal of the Chair will be a function of 
the Council. The appointment of the Vice Chair shall be a 
function of the Pension Committee. 

The Chair and Vice Chair of the Pension Committee will 
represent the Northamptonshire Pension Fund on the 
Joint Committee of the ACCESS pool. 

Substitute Members 
Permitted 

Designated substitutes only due to the skills and 
knowledge requirements 

Political balance rules 
apply 

Yes, within West Northamptonshire Council membership 

Restrictions on 
Membership 

None 

Quorum 5 
Number of ordinary 
meetings per Council 
year 

A minimum of 4  

Voting rights All representatives have equal voting rights 
Training requirements Members may not take part on the meetings of the 

Pension Committee unless they are committed to the skills 
and knowledge requirements set out by the Chair.  

Page 191



 

52 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(vi) Risk Management Strategy – to include regular monitoring of the Fund’s key 
risks and agreeing how they are managed and/or mitigated. 

(vii) Governance – other key governance documents concerning the management 
and administration of the Northamptonshire Pension Fund such as strategies, 
policies and procedures such as the Overpayments of Pension Policy and 
Reporting Breaches of the Law to the Pensions Regulator. 

(c) Authority to approve and apply the policy on, and to take decisions relating to, 
employers joining and leaving the Fund and bulk transfers in and out of the Fund. 
This includes which employers are entitled to join the Fund, any requirements relating 
to their entry, ongoing monitoring and the basis for leaving the Fund.  

(d) Authority to consider and agree business plans at least annually and monitor 
progress against them.  

(e) Authority to develop and maintain a skills and knowledge framework for all Pension 
Committee and Investment sub-committee members and for all officers of the Fund, 
including: 

(i) Determining the Fund’s knowledge and skills framework; 
(ii) Identifying training requirements; 
(iii) Developing training plans; and 
(iv) Monitoring attendance at training events. 

(f) Authority to select, appoint, monitor and where necessary terminate advisers to the 
Fund not solely relating to investment matters. 

(g) Authority to agree the Administering Authority responses to consultations on LGPS 
matters and other matters where they may impact on the Fund or its stakeholders. 

(h) Authority to consider and determine where necessary, alternative investment 
strategies for participating employers. 

(i) Authority to oversee the work of the Investment sub-committee and consider any 
matters put to them by the Investment sub-committee. 

(j) Authority to set up sub-committees and task and finish groups including jointly with 
other LGPS Administering Authorities. 

(k) Authority to review and amend the Strategic Investment policies on an appropriate 
regular basis, in consultation with the Section 151 Officer. 

(l) Authority to manage any other strategic or key matters pertaining to the Fund not 
specifically listed above. 

(m) Production of an annual report for consideration by the Council. 
(n) Consider and review the financial accounts in advance of approval by the Audit 

Committee.  
(o) In relation to pooled asset arrangements under the ACCESS Joint Committee: 

(i) Providing a representative to sit on the Joint Committee to represent the 
interests of the Northamptonshire Pension Fund 

(ii) Determining the requirements of the Administering Authority in relation to the 
provision of services by ACCESS to enable it to execute its investment 
strategy effectively. 

(iii) Receiving and considering reports from the ACCESS Joint Committee in order 
to ensure that the Fund’s investor rights and views are represented 
appropriately. 

Page 192



 

53 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(iv) Ensuring arrangements are in place to identify and manage the risks and costs 
associated with investment pooling. 

1.4 Membership breakdown of the Pensions Fund Committee 

Representing Number of 
Representatives 

Term of 
Office 

Method of Appointment 

West 
Northamptonshire 
Council (the 
administering 
authority) 

7 4 years 
from 

Council 
election 

Determined by West 
Northamptonshire Council 

North 
Northamptonshire 
Council  

2 4 years Determined by North 
Northamptonshire Council 

All other employers 2 4 years Nominations to be determined 
by eligible employers. Details 
of the selection process to be 
determined by Chair. 

Active Scheme 
Members 

1 4 years Determined by Unison. Where 
Unison fails to nominate a 
representative for any period 
of 6 months or more, 
nominations will be requested 
from all eligible active 
members and a 
representative will be picked 
following interviews. Details of 
process to be agreed by the 
Chair. 

Deferred and 
Pensioner 
Members 

1 4 years Determined by Unison. Where 
Unison fails to nominate a 
representative for any period 
of 6 months or more, 
nominations will be requested 
from all eligible active 
members and a 
representative will be picked 
following interviews. Details of 
process to be agreed by the 
Chair. 

Total 13   

2. Investment Sub-Committee 

2.1 Role and Function 

The Investment sub-committee undertake the day to day management of the Fund’s 
investments through implementing the investment strategy, reviewing and monitoring the 

Page 193



 

54 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

asset allocation and appointing and reviewing the performance of investment managers 
outside of the ACCESS asset pool. 

2.2 Membership, Chairing and Quorum 

Number of Members 7 
Chair and Vice 
Chair’s Term of Office 

The Chair and Vice Chair of the Board shall also be the 
Chair and Vice Chair of the Investment sub-committee 

Substitute Members 
Permitted 

Designated substitutes only due to the skills and 
knowledge requirements 

Political balance rules 
apply 

Yes, within West Northamptonshire membership 

Restrictions on 
Membership 

Representatives must be derived from the membership of 
the Pension Committee  

Quorum 4 
Number of ordinary 
meetings per Council 
year 

A minimum of 4  

Voting rights All representatives have equal voting rights 
Training requirements Members may not take part on the meetings of the 

Investment sub-committee unless they are committed to 
the skills and knowledge requirements set out by the 
Chair.  

2.3 Terms of Reference 

(a) Authority to implement the Fund’s investment strategy including setting benchmarks 
and targets for the Fund’s investment managers and reviewing performance against 
those benchmarks. 

(b) Authority to review and maintain the asset allocation of the Fund within parameters 
agreed with the Pension Committee. 

(c) Authority to appoint and terminate investment managers to the Fund, including 
through divestment from holdings within the ACCESS asset pool, and to monitor the 
performance of investment managers leading to review and decisions on termination 
where necessary. 

(d) Authority to appoint and monitor and where necessary terminate external advisors 
and service providers solely relating to investment matters, for example, the Fund 
Custodian, independent investment advisers, and investment consultants. 

(e) Authority to monitor the risks inherent in the Fund’s investment strategy in relation to 
the Fund’s funding level. 

(f) Authority to monitor and review: 

(i) Legislative, financial and economic changes relating to investments and their 
potential impact on the Fund; 

(ii) The investment management fees paid by the Fund and to implement any 
actions deemed necessary; 

(iii) The transactions costs incurred by the Fund across its investment mandates 
and raise relevant issues and concerns with the investment providers as 
necessary; 

Page 194



 

55 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(iv) The investment provider’s adoption of responsible investment considerations, 
including carbon benchmarking, corporate governance matters and a review 
of compliance with the UK Stewardship Code. 

(g) Authority to receive reports from investment providers. 
(h) Authority to undertake any task as delegated by the Pension Committee. 
(i) Authority to refer any matter to the Pension Committee as they consider appropriate 

and to provide minutes and such other information as they may request from time to 
time. 

2.4 Membership breakdown of the Investment Sub-Committee 

Representing Number of 
Representatives 

Term of 
Office 

Method of Appointment 

West 
Northamptonshire 
Council (the 
administering 
authority) 

4 4 years 
from 

Council 
election 

Determined by West 
Northamptonshire Council 

North 
Northamptonshire 
Council 

1 4 years 
from 

Council 
election 

Determined by West 
Northamptonshire Council 

All other employers 1 4 years Determined by non-West 
Northamptonshire Council 
employer representatives on 
the Committee. Details of 
process to be agreed by the 
Chair. 

Scheme Members 1 4 years Determined by Unison. Where 
Unison fails to nominate a 
representative for any period 
of 6 months or more, 
nominations will be requested 
from all eligible active 
members and a 
representative will be picked 
following interviews. Details of 
process to be agreed by the 
Chair. 

Total 7   

3. The Joint Committee (of the ACCESS asset pool) 

3.1 Role and Function 

The Joint Committee is the formal decision-making body within the ACCESS asset pool. 
The Joint Committee has been appointed by the 11 administering authorities under s.102 
of the Local Government Act 1972, with delegated authority from the Full Council of each 
administering authority within the pool to be responsible for ongoing contract management 

Page 195



 

56 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

and budget management in relation to the pooling of LGPS pension fund assets. The Joint 
Committee is supported by the officer Working Group and the ACCESS Support Unit. Each 
administering authority within the ACCESS asset pool has signed and is bound by the terms 
of an Inter-Authority Agreement.  

3.2 Membership, Chairing and Quorum 

The Joint Committee consists of one elected councillor appointed by each council. The 
member so appointed must, at the time of the appointment, be an elected councillor serving 
as a member of the committee of a council which discharges the duties the functions of that 
council as Local Government Pension Scheme administering authority. 

Each council may appoint a substitute. Any substitute must meet the eligibility requirements 
above. The substitute may attend any meeting of the Joint Committee or any of its sub-
committees in place of that authority’s principal member if notice that the substitute will 
attend is given to the secretary of the Joint Committee by the council concerned. 

The Joint Committee meet at least four times each year. 

The quorum of a meeting is at least 8 members who are entitled to attend and vote. 

Each elected Member has one vote. 

Kent County Council provides secretariat support to the Joint Committee and publishes 
electronic copies of agenda and unrestricted public items on their website.  

3.3 Terms of Reference (as detailed in the Inter-Authority Agreement). 

Part 1 – Operating the Pool and taking advice 

(a) The Joint Committee (JC) shall consult with and consider the advice of the Section 
151 Officer Group (and, where requested, the Monitoring Officers and from 
appropriate professional advisers) in discharging its functions, recording, if 
appropriate, where such advice is not followed and the rationale for not doing so. It 
may decide to procure such professional advisers on such terms as it thinks fit. 
Accordingly, any procurement of advisers must comply with the constitution of the 
Council designated to undertake the procurement and that Council will enter into a 
contract with the appointed adviser on behalf of the Councils. 

(b) The JC shall decide which functions shall be performed by the ACCESS Support Unit 
(ASU). 

(c) The JC shall at all times have regards to the ACCESS Pool’s principles of governing 
and collaboration. 

Part 2 – Functions in relation to the Operator(s) 

(a) Specifying Operator services – Deciding, in consultation with the Councils, the 
specification of Services and functions that each Operator will be required to deliver 
including the sub-funds and classes of investments required to enable each Council 
to execute its investment strategy. 

Page 196



 

57 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(b) Procuring an Operator – Agreeing the method and process for the procurement and 
selection of one of more Operators. 

(c) Appointing an Operator – Making a recommendation to the Councils as to the identity 
of each Operator and the terms upon which each Operator is to be appointed. 

(d) Reviewing the Performance of an Operator – Keeping the performance of each 
Operator under review and making arrangements to ensure that the JC is provided 
with regular and sufficient reports from the ASU to enable it to do so including but not 
limited to: 

(i) The performance of an Operator against its contractual requirements and 
any other performance measures such as the Service Level Agreement and 
Key Performance Indicators and officer recommendations on any remedial 
action;  

(ii) Sub-fund investment performance; 
(iii) Investment and operational costs including the annual review of investment 

manager costs; 
(iv) Performance against the strategic business plan agreed by the Councils. 

(e) Managing the Operator(s) – the JC shall: 

(i) Make recommendations to the Councils about the termination or extension 
of the Operator Agreement(s) 

(ii) Make decisions about any other action to be taken to manage an Operator 
Agreement including the giving of any instruction or the making of any 
recommendation to the relevant Operator including but not restricted to 
recommendations on investment managers (with any regulatory constraints 
that may apply); and 

(iii) Make recommendations to the Councils about appropriate arrangements to 
replace an Operator Agreement on its termination. 

Part 3 – Functions in relation to management of Pool Assets 

(a) The joint committee shall make recommendations to the councils on the strategic 
plan for transition of assets that are to become Pool Assets. 

Part 4 – Functions Concerning Pool Aligned Assets 

(a) The JC shall make recommendations to the Councils about Pool Aligned Assets in 
accordance with this Agreement or any other delegation to the JC by the Councils. 

(b) Specifying services of Pool Aligned Assets Provider(s) – Deciding, in consultation 
with the Councils, the specification of Services which any Pool Aligned Assets 
Provider will be required to deliver including the sub-funds and classes of 
investments required to enable each Council to execute its investment strategy. 

(c) Procuring a Pool Aligned Assets Provider – Agreeing the method of and process for 
the procurement and selection of one or more Pool Aligned Assets Providers. 

(d) Appointing Pool Aligned Assets Provider – Making a recommendation to the Councils 
as to the identity of each Pool Aligned Assets Provider and the terms upon which 
each Pool Aligned Assets Provider is to be appointed.  

(e) Reviewing the Performance of a Pool Aligned Assets Provider – Keeping the 
performance of each Pool Aligned Assets Provider under review and making 

Page 197



 

58 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

arrangements to ensure that the JC is provided with regular and sufficient reports 
from the ASU to enable it do so including but not limited to: 

(i) The performance of the Pool Aligned Assets Provider against its 
contractual requirements and any other performance measures such as 
any Service Level Agreement and Key Performance Indicators and office 
recommendations on any remedial action; 

(ii) Investment performance of the Pool Aligned Assets Vehicle(s) or sub-
funds, as appropriate; 

(iii) Performance against the strategic business plan agreed by the Councils. 

Part 5 – Functions Concerning Business Planning and Budget 

(a) Having taken account of any advice from the Section 151 Officers Group (or, where 
relevant, recording the rationale for not following such advice), the JC shall: 

(i) Make recommendations to the Councils about the annual strategic 
business plan for the Pool; 

(ii) Determine the Budget necessary to implement that plan and meet the 
expenses of undertaking the Specified Functions (insofar as they will not 
be met by individual transaction costs paid by the Councils to the Operator) 
in accordance with Schedule 5 (Cost Sharing) of the Inter-Authority 
Agreement. 

(iii) Keep the structure created by this agreement under review from time to 
time and make recommendations to the Councils about: 

▪ The future of the pool 
▪ Any changes in Inter-Authority Agreement 
▪ The respective merits of continuing to procure operator services by 

means of a third party or by creation of an operator owned by the 
Councils. 

Part 6 – Functions Concerning Communications 

(a) The JC may agree a protocol for communications in respect of the Pool with third 
parties, including the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board, other LGPS administering 
authorities, press and relevant Government departments. 

Part 7 – Review of this Agreement 

(a) The JC is required to undertake a review of this agreement: 

(i) To be completed 18 months before the expiry of each and every Operator 
Agreement, including as a result of the exercise of any option to terminate 
an Operator Agreement; 

(ii) Whenever a Council gives notice of withdrawal under clause 12 
(Withdrawal from Agreement) of the Inter-Authority Agreement; or 

(iii) At such times as a Council may request under Clause 11 (Variation of 
Agreement) of the Inter-Authority Agreement. 

Page 198



 

59 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

4. The Local Pension Board 

The administering authority (West Northamptonshire Council) as scheme manager under 
Section 4 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 is required to establish a Local Pension 
Board in accordance with Section 5 of that Act and under Regulation 106 of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended).  

The Board is independent of the Pension Committee and is not a committee constituted 
under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 and therefore no general duties, 
responsibilities or powers assigned to this such committees, sub-committees or officers 
under the constitution, standing orders or scheme of delegation of the administering 
authority apply to the Board unless expressly stated.  

a. Role and Function  

The role of the Local Pension Board is to assist the administering authority (West 
Northamptonshire Council) in its role as scheme manager of the Northamptonshire Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). This covers all aspects of governance and 
administration of the LGPS, including funding and investments. The Local Pension Board’s 
responsibilities are: 

• To assist the administering authority in securing compliance with: 

o the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013; 
o other legislation relating to the governance and administration of the LGPS; and  
o the requirements imposed by the Pensions Regulator in relation to the LGPS; and  

• To ensure the effective and efficient governance and administration of the LGPS. 

b. Membership, Chairing and Quorum 

Representatives Number 
of seats 

Term of 
appointment 

Method of appointment 

Scheme 
Employers 

3 4 years One councillor representative determined 
by West Northamptonshire Council. 

One councillor representative determined 
by North Northamptonshire Council. 

One representative of any other Scheme 
Employer that participates in the 
Northamptonshire Pension Fund 
appointed via an open selection process.   

Scheme 
Members 

3 4 years Three representatives appointed via an 
open selection process. Any trade union 
members so appointed will represent 
Scheme Members. 

All Local Pension Board members shall have the right to vote in meetings. 

Page 199



 

60 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

The Local Pension Board shall meet a minimum of four times a year. The date, hour and 
place of meetings shall be fixed by the Board. The Chair may call additional meetings if 
necessary. Quorum shall be three Local Pension Board members, provided that the 
employer and member sides are both represented.  

No business requiring a formal resolution shall be transacted at any meeting of the Local 
Pension Board unless the meeting is quorate. If it arises during the course of a meeting that 
a quorum is no longer present, the Chair shall either suspend business until a quorum is re-
established or declare the meeting at an end and arrange for the completion of the agenda 
at the next meeting or at a special meeting. Only previously designated substitutes are 
permitted to attend due to the skills and knowledge requirements of Local Pension Board 
representatives. 

The Chair and Vice Chair of the Local Pension Board shall be elected by the Board at its 
annual meeting. The normal term of office for the Chair and Vice Chair of the Local Pension 
Board shall be one year, subject to earlier removal by vote of the Local Pension Board.  

Members may not be permitted to take part in meetings of the Local Pension Board unless 
they have complied with the training requirements as set out in the Public Services Pensions 
Act and in the CIPFA Skills and Knowledge requirements for Local Pension Board 
representatives. 

c. Terms of Reference 

The first core function of the Board is to assist the administering authority in securing 
compliance with the Regulations, any other legislation relating to the governance and 
administration of the Scheme, and requirements imposed by the Pensions Regulator in 
relation to the Scheme. Within this extent of this core function the Board may determine the 
areas it wishes to consider including but not restricted to: 

• Review regular compliance monitoring reports which shall include reports to and 
decisions made under the Regulations by the Committee. 

• Review management, administrative and governance processes and procedures in 
order to ensure they remain compliant with the Regulations, relevant legislation and 
in particular the Pension Regulator’s Code of Practice. 

• Review the compliance of scheme employers with their duties under the Regulations 
and relevant legislation. 

• Assist with the development of and continually review such documentation as is 
required by the Regulations including the Governance Compliance Statement, 
Funding Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy Statement. 

• Assist with the development of and continually review scheme member and employer 
communications as required by the Regulations and relevant legislation. 

• Monitor complaints and performance on the administration and governance of the 
scheme. 

• Review the implementation of revised policies and procedures following changes to 
the Scheme. 

• Review the outcome of internal and external audit reports. 
• Review draft accounts and Fund annual report. 
• Review the compliance of particular cases, projects or process on request of the 

Committee. 

Page 200



 

61 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

• Any other area within the statement of purpose (i.e. assisting the Administering 
Authority) the Board deems appropriate. 

The second core function of the Board is to ensure the effective and efficient governance 
and administration of the Scheme. Within this extent of this core function the Board may 
determine the areas it wishes to consider including but not restricted to: 

• Assist with the development of improved customer services. 
• Monitor performance of administration governance and investments against key 

performance targets and indicators. 
• Monitor internal and external audit reports. 
• Review the risk register as it relates to the scheme manager function of the authority. 
• Assist with the development of improved management, administration and 

governance structures and policies. 
• Review the outcome of actuarial reporting and valuations. 
• Assist in the development and monitoring of process improvements on request of 

Committee. 
• Any other area to ensuring effective and efficient governance of the scheme the 

Board deems appropriate. 

4.9 Health and Wellbeing Board 

Terms of Reference 

4.9.1 Accountability 

4.9.1.1 The West Northamptonshire Health and Wellbeing Board is a statutory committee 
of West Northamptonshire Council which: 

(a) Is established in accordance with section 194 of the Health and Social Care Act 
2012. 

(b) Is treated as a committee of the Council under section 102 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and provisions of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989. 

(c) Will be subject to any amendment or replacement of regulation or guidance 
applicable to any legislation relevant to the functions, powers and duties of Health 
and Wellbeing Boards. 

4.9.2 Role 

4.9.2.1 The Board is a forum that enables leaders from across West Northamptonshire 
to secure better health and wellbeing outcomes for the local population, better 
quality of care for all patients and care users, better value for the taxpayer and 
reduce health inequalities by shaping the future of services through a more 
integrated approach to commissioning health and wellbeing related services. 

4.9.2.2 The Board aims to achieve this by: 

(a) Providing a strategic lead for the local health and care system, and improving the 
commissioning of services across the NHS, local government and its partners. 

Page 201



 

62 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(b) Initiating and encouraging the integrated delivery of health, social care and other 
services with health and wellbeing related responsibilities (such as housing, leisure, 
planning community activity). 

(c) Holding the Integrated Care System to account through monitoring and assurance. 
(d) Providing a forum to increase democratic legitimacy in health, along with public and 

joint accountability of NHS, public health, social care for adults and children, and 
other commissioned services that the Board agrees are directly linked to health and 
wellbeing.   

4.9.3 Responsibilities/duties 

4.9.3.1 The statutory duties of the Board are: 

(a) The preparation of Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNAs) which assess the 
current and future health and social care needs of the local population. 

(b) The preparation of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy (HWS). 
(c) To encourage the integration of health and social care services, in particular 

providing appropriate advice, assistance or support for the purposes of integration of 
services under section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006. 

(d) To encourage close working between commissioners of health-related services 
(such as housing and many other local government services) and commissioners of 
health and social care services. 

(e) Overseeing the publication of the Directors of Public Health Annual Report. 
(f) To endorse and oversee the successful implementation of local arrangements for the 

Better Care Fund (BCF), Improved Better Care Fund (IBCF) and Disabled Facilities 
Grant (DFG). 

(g) To review NHS Northamptonshire Clinical Commissioning Group and West 
Northamptonshire Council local commissioning plans to ensure they take due regard 
of the JHWS and the JSNA, writing formally to the local authority leadership or NHS 
England as appropriate, if in its opinion the plans do not. 

(h) To advise the Care Quality Commission, NHS England, Trust Development Authority 
or NHS Improvement (as appropriate), where the Board has concerns about 
standards of service delivery or financial probity. 

(i) Publication of a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment.  
(j) To undertake any additional responsibilities as delegated by the West 

Northamptonshire Council. 

4.9.4 Authority 

4.9.4.1 The Board may seek any information it requires from any employee of a 
constituent member organisation via a Member and all constituent members and 
Members are directed to co-operate with any reasonable request made by the 
Board. 

4.9.4.2 The Board may obtain independent professional advice and to secure the 
attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it considers this 
necessary. The costs, if any, of obtaining such third party advice shall be shared 
among the constituent organisations as agreed between them. 

4.9.4.3 The Board shall receive written and oral evidence from senior staff, and other 
partners, as appropriate. 

Page 202



 

63 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

4.9.4.4 The Board shall seek to ensure there is an acceptable balance between the value 
of the information it receives and the time and other costs it takes to acquire and 
process it. 

4.9.5 Appointments 

4.9.5.1 The Chair of the Board will be recommended by the Leader of West 
Northamptonshire Council. The Chair can be an independent co-opted member. 
Vice Chairs will be appointed by the Board. 

4.9.5.2 The Chair and Vice Chairs’ term of office shall last for a maximum of two years, 
where they will be appointed or replaced as approved by Full Council. 

4.9.6 Membership 

4.9.6.1 The following are statutory members of the Board as stipulated in section 194 of 
the Health and Social Care Act 2012: 

(a) At least one elected member of the local authority nominated by the Leader 
of the local authority. 

(b) The director of adult social services for the local authority. 
(c) The director of children’s services for the local authority. 
(d) The director of public health for the local authority. 
(e) A representative of the Local Healthwatch organisation for the local authority. 
(f) A representative of each relevant clinical commissioning group (a person may, 

with the agreement of the Health and Wellbeing Board, represent more than 
one clinical commissioning group on the Board). 

4.9.6.2 The Board may appoint additional persons to become members of the Board as 
it thinks appropriate. 

4.9.6.3 West Northamptonshire Council must consult the Board before appointing a non-
statutory member to the Board. 

4.9.6.4 Members of the Board shall each name a deputy who will have the authority to 
make decisions in the event that they are unable to attend a meeting. 

4.9.6.5 In the absence of the Chair then one of the Vice Chairs shall preside. If all are 
absent the Board shall appoint, from amongst its members, an Acting Chair for 
the meeting in question. 

4.9.6.6 Individuals may be listed under membership of the Board as Special Advisors by 
invitation for specific issues and expertise.  

4.9.7 Code of Conduct 

4.9.7.1 All members of the Board are covered by West Northamptonshire Council’s Code 
of Conduct and must adhere to that Code of Conduct when acting in the capacity 
of a Board member.  

4.9.7.2 Where any Board member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or Other 
Registerable Interest, which will require them to leave the meeting for the duration 
of discussion on that item, they must make this known at the commencement of 
the meeting. They may remain and address the board on the relevant matter but 
must leave the room prior to any debate, voting or decision-making process. 

4.9.8 Quorum 

Page 203



 

64 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

4.9.8.1 A quorum for any meeting shall be one-quarter of the members of the Board 
including at least one elected Member, one officer and one representative from a 
Clinical Commissioning Group. No business requiring a decision shall take place 
where the meeting is not quorate, if this arises during a meeting the Chair must 
either suspend business until the meeting is again quorate or declare the meeting 
closed. 

4.9.9 Voting Arrangements 

4.9.9.1 Unless the Council decides otherwise, all full members of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board have voting rights; only full Board members (or nominated 
deputies in their absence) shall sit at the Board room table, or join virtually so that 
the right to vote is obvious. 

4.9.9.2 Decisions shall be made on the basis of a show of hands of a majority of voting 
members present. The Chair may exercise a second or casting vote. 

4.9.10 Meeting Frequency 

4.9.10.1 The Board shall meet on a quarterly basis. The date, hour and place of meetings 
shall be fixed by the Board. 

4.9.10.2 The Chair may convene an extraordinary meeting at short notice to consider 
matters of urgency. The notice must state the business to be transacted and no 
other business is to be transacted at the meeting.   

4.9.10.3 The Chair will be required to consider convening a special meeting of the Board 
if they are in receipt of a written requisition to do so signed by no less than three 
of the constituent members of the Board. Such requisition shall specify the 
business to be transacted and no other business shall be transacted as such 
meeting. The meeting, if convened by the Chair, must be held within seven days 
of the Chair’s receipt of the requisition. 

4.9.10.4 The Chair of the Board, or majority of those present at a Board meeting, may 
adjourn meetings of the Board at any time, to be reconvened at any other day, 
hour and place, as the Board decides. 

4.9.11 Sub-Groups 

4.9.11.1 The Board can establish sub-groups based on the Board’s priority areas which 
will be reviewed on an annual basis. The sub-groups will be informal officer 
groups, ensuring that the views of patients and service users are included. The 
sub-groups should provide an overview of work undertaken and any issues 
arising for discussion at Health and Wellbeing Board meetings to be considered 
by members. 

4.9.12 Visitors and Speakers 

4.9.12.1 As the Board is a public meeting, observers may attend and will be seated in a 
viewing area or observe via YouTube if the meetings are held virtually. 

4.9.12.2 Presenters who are not full Board Members may attend the meeting and should 
sit in the viewing area. They will be invited to address the floor by the Chair when 
their agenda item arrives. 

4.9.12.3 The public who wish to address the Board on matters listed on the agenda for a 
specific meeting may do so for a period of not exceeding 3 minutes at the 

Page 204



 

65 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

commencement of that meeting, only with the agreement of the Chair, and 
provided they have given 48 hours’ written notice of the matter to be raised to the 
Chair and Board secretariat. 

4.9.13 Meeting Administration 

4.9.13.1 The Board secretariat shall give at least five clear working days’ notice in writing 
to each member for every ordinary meeting of the Board, to include any agenda 
of the business to be transacted at the meeting.  

4.9.13.2 Papers for each Board meeting will be sent out five clear working days in 
advance. Late papers will be sent out or tabled only in exceptional circumstances, 
and not without the prior consent of the Chair.  

4.9.13.3 The Board shall hold meetings, or parts of meetings, in private session when 
deemed appropriate in view of the nature of business to be discussed.  The Board 
must first pass a resolution for the exclusion of press and public. The following 
must be stated at this time: 

“In respect of the following items the Chair moves the resolution set out below, on 
the grounds that if the public were present it would be likely that exempt information 
(information regarded as private for the purposes of the Local Government Act 1972) 
would be disclosed to them: The Committee is requested to resolve: That under 
Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the 
meeting for the following item(s) of business on the grounds that if the public were 
present it would be likely that exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to 
the Act of the descriptions against each item would be disclosed to them”. 

4.10 Senior Appointments Committee 

4.10.1 Membership 

4.10.1.1 Leader, Deputy Leader, Relevant Portfolio Holder, Leader of the Opposition, and 
three other councillors. The Committee is required to be politically balanced. 

4.10.2 Terms of Reference of the Senior Appointments Committee 

4.10.2.1 To recommend to the Council the appointment and, where appropriate, the 
dismissal of the Chief Executive, the Executive Director Finance or the Director 
of Legal and Democratic (Monitoring Officer), in accordance with the Staff 
Employment Procedure Rules (see section 9.5). 

4.10.2.2 To make appointments or dismissals as appropriate of the following roles: 

• Director of Children’s Services 
• Director of Transformation 
• Executive Director Adults, Communities and Wellbeing  
• Executive Director Place, Economy and Environment 
• Executive Director Corporate Services 
• Assistant Chief Executive 
• Director of Public Health 

Page 205



 

66 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

4.10.2.3 To take disciplinary action other than dismissal in respect of the Head of Paid 
Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer. 

4.10.2.4 To undertake associated activities, including the interview and dismissal 
processes generally for the roles outlined.   

Page 206



 

67 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

5.0 EXECUTIVE 
5.1 The Role of the Cabinet 

a. The Functions of a local authority are divided into two broad categories: Executive 
and non-Executive. The Council and its committees decide non-Executive 
matters and these are described in Parts 3 and 4 of the Constitution. All other 
decisions are made by the Executive.  

b. West Northamptonshire Council is operating a Leader and Cabinet model form of 
Executive Arrangements. This means that the Council will elect a Leader from 
among the members of the Council. The Executive will consist of the Leader and 
at least 2 other members and not more than 9 other members, one of whom must 
be appointed Deputy Leader.  

c. The function of determining Executive Portfolios sits with the Executive Leader 
and can be varied at the discretion of the Leader.   

d. The Chair and Vice Chair of the Council may not be members of the Executive. 
Further details are set out in the Cabinet Procedure Rules below.   

5.2 Cabinet Arrangements 

Cabinet Decisions 

5.2.1. The arrangements for the discharge of executive functions are determined by the 
Leader. The Leader may provide for executive functions to be discharged by: 

(a) The Leader; 

(b) The Cabinet as a whole; 

(c) A committee of the Cabinet; 

(d) An individual member of the Cabinet; 

(e) An officer; 

(f) An Area committee; 

(g) Joint Arrangements including the Community Networks; or 

(h) Another Local Authority. 

Delegation by the Leader 

5.2.2. At the Annual Meeting of the Council, the Leader shall present to the Council their 
proposals for Cabinet delegations, to the extent that they have been formulated at 
that time. The Leader shall provide to the Monitoring Officer within ten working days 
of the Annual Meeting a written record of Cabinet delegations made by them for 
publication, together with notice of the Portfolios to be established. In discharging 
these responsibilities, the Leader shall have regard to the recommendations of the 

Page 207



 

68 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Executive as to the scope and formation of the 
Portfolios. 

5.2.3. Any subsequent ‘in year’ amendments shall, as they occur, be notified by the Leader 
in writing within one working day to the Monitoring Officer who shall notify all 
Members in writing of the amendment and maintain a record of them. 

5.2.4. The document presented by the Leader shall contain the following information about 
executive functions in relation to the coming year: 

(a) the names, addresses and electoral divisions of the councillors appointed to the 
Cabinet by the Leader; 

(b) the nature of the responsibilities attached to the Portfolios allocated to those 
appointed to the Cabinet; 

(c) the extent of any authority delegated to Cabinet Members individually, including 
details of the limitation(s) on their authority; 

(d) the terms of reference and Constitution of such Cabinet committees as the Leader 
appoints and the names of Cabinet Members appointed to them; 

(e) the nature and extent of any delegation of executive functions to Area 
committees, any other authority or any joint arrangements and the names of those 
Cabinet Members appointed to any joint committee for the coming year; and 

(f) the nature and extent of any delegation to officers with details of any limitation on 
that delegation, and the title of the officer to whom the delegation is made. This 
may simply be the endorsement of the Scheme of Delegation approved by 
Council. 

Cabinet Portfolios 

5.2.5. Cabinet portfolios showing details of portfolio holders and their key areas of 
responsibility can be found on the Council’s website (Document West 
Northamptonshire Council Executive Portfolios - 2021 - West Northamptonshire 
Council (moderngov.co.uk) or by contacting Democratic Services. 

Sub-Delegation of Executive Functions 

5.2.6. Where the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or an individual member of the 
Cabinet is responsible for an executive function, they may delegate further to an area 
committee, joint arrangements or an officer. 

5.2.7. Unless the Leader directs otherwise, functions delegated to the Cabinet may be 
delegated further to a committee of the Cabinet or to an officer. 

5.2.8. Unless the Leader directs otherwise, functions delegated to a committee of the 
Cabinet may be delegated further to an officer. 

Page 208

https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD308&ID=308&RPID=629056
https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD308&ID=308&RPID=629056
https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD308&ID=308&RPID=629056


 

69 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

5.2.9. The delegation of Cabinet functions does not prevent the discharge of those functions 
by the person or body who made the delegation or a person or body with a higher 
right of delegation. 

The Council’s Scheme of Delegation and Executive Functions 

5.2.10. Subject to paragraph 5.2.11 below, the Council’s Scheme of Delegation shall 
be subject to adoption by the Council and may only be amended by the Council, save 
for delegations relating to executive functions which may be varied by the Leader or 
in accordance with the authority delegated to the Monitoring Officer. It shall comprise 
the details required in Part 9.2 of the Constitution, the Scheme of Delegation to 
officers in this Constitution and such further delegations as are made in accordance 
with this Constitution or other powers available to the Council. 

5.2.11. If the Leader decides to delegate executive functions, they may amend the 
Scheme of Delegation relating to executive functions accordingly at any time during 
the year. To do so, the Leader must give written notice to the Monitoring Officer and 
to the person, body or committee concerned. The notice must set out the extent of 
the amendment to the Scheme of Delegation and whether it entails the withdrawal of 
delegation from any person, body, committee or the Cabinet as a whole. The Leader 
shall confirm, through their announcements any changes at the next ordinary meeting 
of the Council. 

5.2.12. Where the Leader seeks to withdraw delegation from a sub-committee, notice 
shall be deemed to be served on that committee when served on its Chair. 

Planning Policy Committee 

Purpose 

5.2.13. The purpose of the Committee is to exercise the Council’s executive functions 
in relation to the preparation and, where applicable, approval of planning policy and 
neighbourhood planning documents. 

Membership 

5.2.14. The members of the Committee represent as far as possible the political 
balance of the Council as a whole but this is not a counting committee for the 
purposes of establishing political balance. 

5.2.15. Membership shall consist of: 

(a) Three Executive Members 

(b) Seven Non-Executive Members (4 Conservative, 2 Labour, 1 Liberal 
Democrat) to include the Chairs of the Local and Strategic Planning 
Committees. 

5.2.16. As this is an Executive committee only the Executive members have a vote, 
but the aim of the committee is to try to establish broad consensus about the 
development of planning policy. 

Page 209



 

70 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

Terms of Reference 

5.2.17. The exercise of the Council’s functions, powers and duties (where not 
otherwise delegated to officers) in relation to the following: 

(a) To oversee the preparation of Local Plans to ensure they meet the ‘tests of 
soundness’ set out in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

(b) To oversee the preparation of the Local Development Scheme and Statement of 
Community Involvement and approve those documents. 

(c) To consider and recommend the content of the Local Plan for consideration and 
formal approval by full Council for either public consultation (preferred options or 
pre-submission versions), submissions to the Secretary of State (to be examined 
by a Planning Inspector), or final adoption (following receipt of the Planning 
Inspector’s report). 

(d) To oversee the preparation of Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) and 
other planning documents for public consultation and, where applicable, approve 
those documents for final adoption. 

(e) To approve the preparation and subsequent publication of studies, surveys and 
other technical documents that form part of the evidence base needed to justify 
the content of the Local Plan, SPDs and other planning documents. 

(f) Approve the work programme required for the committee to undertake its 
functions effectively and in a timely manner. 

(g) Approve non-statutory planning policy and guidance to be considered by the 
Council, the Planning Committees, this committee and officers in the discharge 
of statutory planning functions. 

(h) To carry out the Executive functions of the Council in relation to the approval of 
planning documents and recommendation of planning documents by the 
Executive to Council. Matters reserved to full Council or Non-Executive approvals 
fall outside the remit of this committee. 

(i) To carry out the Executive functions of the Council in relation to Neighbourhood 
Planning, in particular to proceed to referendum and, if successful, make 
neighbourhood plans within the time limits that apply. 

(j) To oversee the designation of Conservation Area designations, additions to the 
Local List, and making of Article 4 directions.   

Meeting Times 

5.2.18. The Committee will meet at 6pm on a working day and up to 12 times per 
year. 

5.2.19. Items for Planning Policy Committee will appear on the Forward Plan and 
arrangements for the committee will comply with the Executive Procedure Rules set 
out in the Constitution. 

Page 210



 

71 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

 

5.3 Cabinet Procedure Rules 

1 Meetings of the Cabinet 

1.1 The Cabinet will meet as indicated in the Council’s programme of meetings. The 
Cabinet or the Leader may agree to change the date or time of any programmed 
meeting subject to compliance with the requirements of Part 5.4 (Access to 
Information Procedure Rules) of this Constitution, to cancel a meeting where there is 
insufficient business to be transacted and/or to arrange additional meetings as it/they 
see fit. Locations of meetings will be published in the calendar of meetings. 

1.2 The Cabinet may meet in public or in private, subject to legal requirements and the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in this Constitution. 

1.3 The Leader will chair meetings of the Cabinet or in their absence, the Deputy Leader 
will chair. Where both the Leader and Deputy Leader are absent, the Members 
present, may appoint one member of the Cabinet to chair that meeting. 

1.4 All members of the Cabinet shall be entitled to attend meetings of the Cabinet.  

1.5 Attendance by other Members of the Council or the public shall be in accordance 
with the Access to Information Procedure Rules, by invitation under Rule 1.6 below, 
or as set out in Rules 4.1 to 4.2 below. 

1.6 The Cabinet may invite any person it considers appropriate, to its meetings to discuss 
matters of mutual interest or concern, or to advise.  Such persons may only be given 
access to confidential and/or exempt information on terms to be decided by the 
Monitoring Officer so as to ensure that the Access to Information Procedure Rules 
are observed. 

2 Quorum at meetings of the Cabinet  

2.1 No business shall be transacted where at any time during the meeting of the Cabinet, 
or a committee or sub-committee established by the Cabinet, there are fewer than 
one third of members of the Cabinet, a committee or sub-committee of the Cabinet 
present.  

3 Taking of decisions by the Cabinet 

3.1 Cabinet decisions, including those taken under delegated powers, shall not take 
effect until they have been recorded in writing, as required under the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules, and shall not be implemented where the right of call-in 
has been exercised until the call-in process has been concluded. Records of Cabinet 
decisions must be confirmed at the next meeting. 

4 Members attending and speaking at Cabinet meetings 

4.1 The Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny committees shall be entitled to attend any 
formal public meeting of the Cabinet and to speak to any matter on the agenda for 
that meeting. 

Page 211



 

72 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

4.2 Other Members of the Council may also speak at such meetings, subject to the rights 
of the Leader (or person presiding in their absence) to ensure that the business of 
the Cabinet is discharged efficiently and effectively. Those members shall be 
required to provide no less than 30 minutes’ prior notice of their wish to attend and 
speak.  

5 Business at Cabinet meetings 

5.1 The business to be transacted at meetings of the Cabinet will be set out in an agenda 
for the meeting in question, subject to any requirements or exemptions under the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

5.2 The agenda may be supported by additional papers prepared by officers or by or on 
behalf of other bodies, subject to requirements in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules and disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

5.3 The Cabinet is obliged to consider matters referred to it by an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, or by the Full Council. A standing item shall be placed on agendas of 
public meetings of the Cabinet for this purpose. 

5.4 The Access to Information Procedure Rules will apply to notice of meetings, agendas, 
and access to reports and background papers. Where matters are for decision, the 
agenda must stipulate those that are Key Decisions and those that are not, in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

5.5 The Cabinet will, at each formal meeting, confirm the record of decisions taken at its 
previous meeting as a correct record. 

5.6 The Monitoring Officer or their nominee shall be responsible for preparing and 
distributing the agenda for Cabinet meetings, attending meetings for the purpose of 
advising the Cabinet on matters relating to the application and interpretation of the 
constitution, and recording decisions as required under this Constitution. 

5.7 In taking decisions, the Cabinet must satisfy itself that it has before it adequate and 
appropriate advice from its service, legal and financial advisers who shall be present 
at any meeting where a decision is being taken and that advice is taken into 
consideration in determining the matter. Where there is any doubt about vires or 
probity then advice must be obtained from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 
Officer. 

5.8 Any member of the Cabinet may require the Monitoring Officer to place an item on 
the agenda for a stipulated meeting of the Cabinet. 

5.9 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that any matters referred to the Cabinet by the 
Council or an Overview and Scrutiny committee are placed on the agenda for the 
next appropriate meeting of the Cabinet. 

5.10 Any councillor may request the Leader to place an item on the agenda of a meeting 
of the Cabinet. The Leader shall have sole discretion as to whether or not to accede 
to such a request but shall consult the Monitoring Officer prior to making a decision. 
If such a request is granted, the Leader shall have sole discretion as to whether the 
councillor in question can speak to the item at the meeting in question. 

Page 212



 

73 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

5.11 The Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and/or the Section 151 Officer can 
include an item for consideration on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting. In pursuance 
of their statutory duties, they can require that a special meeting of the Cabinet be 
convened. 

5.12 Business cannot be conducted at formal meetings of the Cabinet unless it is included 
on the agenda for the meeting. Where it is urgent, the requirements of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules must be complied with. 

5.13 The Cabinet will report to the Council as required under the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules on any matter which is classified as a Key Decision and is dealt 
with under special urgency procedures. 

5.14 Questions can be submitted by members of the public at meetings of the Cabinet in 
accordance with Council Procedure Rules. 

6 Voting at Cabinet meetings 

6.1 Voting at Cabinet meetings will be by a show of hands and any Member may require, 
immediately after the vote is taken, that the minutes of the meeting record how they 
voted or abstained. Where there are equal votes cast, the Leader or, in their absence, 
the person chairing may exercise a second or casting vote.  

6.2 Voting for any office or appointment, including any paid appointment, where more 
than one person is nominated shall be in accordance with Council Meeting Procedure 
Rule 34. 

7 Cabinet – committees and sub-committees 

7.1 The Cabinet may appoint such committees or sub-committees as it considers 
necessary and appropriate to assist in the discharge of its functions. In making such 
appointments, the Cabinet must specify the name of the Committee/sub-committee, 
its membership (including its Chair and, if appropriate, Vice Chair) and the terms of 
reference of the body. 

8 Motion under Council Meeting Procedure Rule 29 

8.1 A mover of a motion under Council Meeting Procedure Rule 29 which has been 
referred to the Cabinet for consideration may attend the meeting of the Cabinet when 
their motion is under consideration and explain the motion. The mover of the motion 
will be advised of the date and time of the meeting when the matter is to be 
considered and they will be sent an electronic copy of the relevant papers. 

9 Resolving disputes 

9.1 In the case of any dispute during the proceedings of the Cabinet, the relevant parts 
of this Constitution will apply and after considering the application of the relevant 
provisions, the person chairing the meeting will rule on the issue in question and their 
ruling will be final. 

10 Reserves/substitute members 

Page 213



 

74 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

10.1 There shall be no reserve or substitute members of the Cabinet. 

11 Approval of urgent business 

11.1 Where any matter is urgent and cannot await the next meeting, the Head of Paid 
Service may take the necessary action, provided that they have first consulted the 
Leader (or Deputy Leader if they are not available). The decision taken shall be 
reported to the next public meeting of the Cabinet. 

12 Conflicts of interest 

12.1 Where the Leader or any Cabinet Member has a conflict of interest, they will follow 
the requirements of the Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct in relation to such 
interests, including any restrictions on participating in the debate or voting upon the 
issue in question. 

12.2 If all (or a majority) of the members of the Cabinet present have a conflict of interest, 
then consideration will be given to applying to the Monitoring Officer for a 
dispensation from the provisions of the Code. 

12.3 If the discharge of a Cabinet function has been delegated to another body or 
individual and a conflict of interest arises for that body or individual, then it will fall to 
the body or individual who delegated the matter to take the decision.  

 

5.4 Access to Information Procedure Rules 

1 General 

1.1 These rules apply to all public meetings of the Cabinet, Council, its committees and 
sub-committees, joint committees. 

1.2 In these Rules the word “meeting” means a meeting or meetings of any of these 
bodies unless specified otherwise. 

1.3 These rules do not affect any other specific rights to information contained elsewhere 
in this Constitution or the law. 

1.4 Members of the public may attend all public meetings subject to the exceptions 
contained in these Rules. 

1.5 Members of the press and public are also entitled to film, audio record and report on 
meetings of the Council, committees, Cabinet and Joint committees, except in 
circumstances where the press and public have been excluded as permitted by law.  
Any such filming, audio recording or reporting shall be in accordance with any 
guidelines published by the Council on its website or made available at the meeting. 

2 Notice of meetings 

2.1 The Council will give at least five clear working days’ notice of any such meeting by 
publicising, including by electronic means, relevant details, unless Rule 13 (Special 

Page 214



 

75 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

Urgency) has been applied. 

3 Agenda and supporting papers - rights of access 

3.1 Copies of the agenda and supporting papers will be made available on the Council’s 
website, for inspection by the public at least five clear working days before the 
meeting. Where an item is added to an agenda later, a supplementary agenda will 
be made available, with any supporting papers, to the public as soon as possible. 

3.2 The Council will supply on request copies of any agenda and reports which are open 
to public inspection, and if the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, copies of any further 
documents supplied to councillors relating to that item. 

3.3 The Council may require any person to make a payment in advance covering postage 
and costs connected to the supply of the papers in Rule 3.2 above. 

4 Access to decision records, minutes, agenda and supporting papers after 
a meeting 

4.1 The Council will make electronically available, for a period of six years from the date 
of the meeting: 

(a) the minutes of the meeting where, under these rules or the Constitution 
minutes are required to be made, excluding any part of the minutes relating to the 
conduct of business when the public were not present or where exempt or 
confidential information would be disclosed; 

(b) the records of decisions taken, together with reasons by the Cabinet excluding 
any part of the record relating to the conduct of business when the public were not 
present or where exempt or confidential information would be disclosed; 

(c) where information relating to a decision is considered in private, a summary 
of the proceedings to provide a reasonably fair and coherent record, excluding any 
information which is of a confidential or exempt nature; and 

(d) the agenda and supporting papers covering items which were considered 
when the public were entitled to be present. 

5 Background documents 

5.1 The officer, in whose name an item is to be submitted for decision, will set out in the 
agenda a list of the background documents which in their opinion: 

(a) relate to the subject matter of the item in question; 

(b) discloses any facts or matters on which the agenda item or an important part 
of it has been based; and  

(c) has been relied upon to a material extent in preparing the agenda item. 

5.2 The requirements in Rule 5.1 above do not apply to or include any published works 
or any document in whole or in part which would disclose confidential or exempt 

Page 215



 

76 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

information. 

5.3 Background documents which have been made available for public inspection will 
continue to be available for a period of four years from the date the decision is made. 

6 Definition of confidential and exempt information 

6.1 For the purposes of these Rules the definitions of confidential and exempt information 
are set out below. 

6.2 Confidential Information means information supplied or given to the Council by a 
government department on terms which forbid its disclosure to the public or is 
information which cannot be disclosed to the public due to a prohibition in any 
enactment or by Order of the Courts. 

6.3 Exempt Information is information falling within any of the categories set out in 
Appendix 1 subject to the conditions noted in that Appendix. 

7 Exclusion of the press and public from meetings  

Confidential information – requirement to exclude 

7.1 The press and public will be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely, in view of 
the nature of the business to be transacted or the proceedings, that confidential 
information, as described in Rule 6.2 above will be disclosed. 

Exempt information – discretion to exclude 

7.2 In the case of exempt information, the press and public may be excluded from a 
meeting where Rule 6.3 and Appendix 1 applies. 

8 No public right of access to agenda papers 

8.1 The Monitoring Officer, where they consider it necessary, may refuse access by the 
public to any agenda or supporting papers which in their opinion relate to items during 
which, in accordance with Rule 7 above, the meeting is likely not to be open to the 
public. Any such papers will be clearly marked “Not for Publication” and will contain 
the category of information to be disclosed as set out in Appendix 1 to these Rules. 
Similar provisions apply to the disclosures of documents related to decisions of the 
Council, including the Cabinet. 

9 The Cabinet: application of these rules 

9.1 Rules 10 to 20 will apply to the Cabinet and any committees or sub-committees which 
it may establish from time to time. 

9.2 Where the Cabinet, including a committee or sub-committee of the Cabinet meet to 
discuss a Key Decision, with an officer or officers present, within 28 days of the date 
according to the Forward Plan by which it is to be decided, then the Cabinet must 
comply with Rules 1 to 8 above unless Rule 12 (general exception) or 13 (special 
urgency) apply. This requirement does not apply where the sole purpose of the 
meeting is for officers to brief councillors. 

Page 216



 

77 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

10 Definition of Key Decision and procedure before taking a Key Decision 

10.1 A Key Decision means an executive decision, which is likely: 

(a) to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings 
which are, significant having regard to the Council's budget for the service or 
function to which the decision relates; or 

(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area 
comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of the Council. 

10.2 In deciding what amounts to 'significant' in relation to paragraph 10.1a above, a 
guidance threshold figure of £500,000 is suggested, but discretion should be used 
to determine whether the amount in question is significant with regard to the 
particular budget area to which the decision relates.   

10.3 Subject to Rules 12 or 13, a Key Decision cannot be taken unless: 

(a) a notice (“the Forward Plan”) has been published in connection with the matter 
in question and made available to the public at the main office(s) of the Council; 

(b) at least 28 clear calendar days have elapsed since publication of the Forward 
Plan; and 

(c) where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet, including a 
committee or sub-committee of the Cabinet, public notice of the meeting has 
been given under Rule 2 above. 

11 The Forward Plan 

11.1 The Forward Plan will be prepared on behalf of the Leader on a monthly basis to 
cover a four-month period beginning with the first day of any month. The Forward 
Plan will be rolled forward and published each month to cover the four-month period 
beginning again with the new date of publication. There will be instances where it is 
not possible to include an item in the Forward Plan. In this case Rule 12 or 13 below 
will apply. 

11.2 The Forward Plan will contain such matters as the Leader has reason to believe will 
be Key Decisions to be taken by the Leader, the Cabinet, a Portfolio Holder, a 
committee or sub-committee of the Cabinet or an Office Holder in the course of the 
discharge of a Cabinet function during the period covered by the Forward Plan. 

11.3 The Forward Plan will describe in respect of each matter the following particulars: 

(a) that a key decision is to be made;  

(b) the matter relating to the decision to be made; 

(c) the name and title of the decision taker if an individual, or the name and 
details of the membership where the decision taker is a body; 

(d) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision will be taken; 

Page 217



 

78 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(e) the identity of the principal groups whom the decision taker proposes to 
consult before taking the decision; 

(f) the means by which any such consultation is proposed to be undertaken; 

(g) the steps any person might take to make representations to the Cabinet or 
decision taker about the matter before the decision is made, and the date by 
which those steps must be taken; 

(h) a list of the documents submitted to the decision taker for consideration in 
relation to the matter; 

(i) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their 
disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document listed in the Forward 
Plan is available; 

(j) that other documents relevant to the matter may be submitted to the decision 
taker; and  

(k) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as they 
become available. 

11.4 Where in relation to any matter where the public may be excluded from a public 
meeting under Rule 7, or documents relating to the decision need not be disclosed 
to the public, the Forward Plan must contain the particulars of the matter, but may 
not contain any confidential information, exempt information or particulars of the 
advice of a political adviser or assistant. 

12 General exception for Key Decisions 

12.1 If a matter which is likely to be a Key Decision has not been included in the Forward 
Plan then, subject to Rule 13, the decision may still be taken if: 

(a) the decision has to be taken by such a date that it is not possible to comply with 
Rules 10.3 and 11; 

(b) the Monitoring Officer has informed the Chair of the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny committee, or if there is no such person, each member of the Committee 
in writing, by notice, of the matter to which the decision is to be made; 

(c) the Monitoring Officer has made copies of that notice available to the public at the 
main office of the Council and published it on the Council’s website; and 

(d) at least five clear working days have elapsed since the Monitoring Officer 
complied with their obligations under this paragraph. 

12.2 As soon as practicable after complying with Rule 12.1, the Monitoring Officer shall 
make available at the main office of the Council and publish on the Council’s website 
a notice setting out the reasons why compliance with Rules 10.3 and 11 is not 
possible. 

12.3 Where such a decision is taken by the Cabinet, it must be taken in public subject to 

Page 218



 

79 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

any requirements relating to the disclosure of confidential or exempt information and 
the exclusion of the public. 

13 Special urgency for Key Decisions 

13.1 If by virtue of the date by which a key decision must be taken, the requirements of 
Rule 12 above cannot be followed, then the decision can only be taken if the decision 
maker (if an individual) or the Chair of the body taking the decision, obtains the 
agreement of the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny committee that the 
taking of the decision cannot be reasonably deferred. If there is no Chair of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or if they are unable to act, then the agreement of 
the Chair of the Council, or in their absence the Vice Chair will suffice. 

13.2 In addition to the requirement for the Chair to agree to the matter being dealt with as 
urgent business, the Chair and Vice Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will be consulted, and may comment, on the subject matter of the decision 
itself. 

14 Report to Council 

14.1 If an Overview and Scrutiny Committee is of the opinion that a Key Decision has been 
taken which was not: 

(a) included in the Forward Plan; or 

(b) the subject of the general exception procedure under Rule 12 above; or 

(c) the subject of an agreement with an Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair, or 
the Chair/Vice Chair of the Council under Rule 13 above; 

the Committee may require the Cabinet to submit a report to the Council within such 
reasonable time as the Committee specifies. 

14.2 In response to any requirement under Rule 14.1 above, the Cabinet will prepare a 
report for submission to the next available meeting of the Council. However, if the 
next meeting of the Council is within 7 days of the resolution of the Cabinet, then the 
report may be submitted to the subsequent meeting. The report to the Council will 
set out particulars of the decision, the individual or body taking the decision, and if 
the Cabinet is of the opinion that it was not a key decision, the reasons for that 
opinion. 

15 Record of decisions of the Cabinet 

15.1 After any meeting of the Cabinet or any of its committees or sub-committees, whether 
held in public or private, the Monitoring Officer or their nominee shall produce as soon 
as practicable a written statement of every decision taken at that meeting. The record 
will include: 

(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made; 

(b) a record of the reasons for the decision; 

Page 219



 

80 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected; 

(d) a record of any conflict of interest relating to the matter decided which is declared 
by any member of the decision-making body; and 

(e) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of any dispensation granted 
by the Monitoring Officer. 

15.2 Where an executive decision is taken by an individual member that member shall, as 
soon as reasonably practicable, produce or instruct the Monitoring Officer or their 
nominee to produce, a written statement of that decision including the matters stated 
in Rule 15.1 (a) to (c) and: 

(a) a record of any conflict of interest declared by any executive member who was 
consulted by the member who made the decision and which relates to that 
decision; and 

(b) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of any dispensation granted 
by the Monitoring Officer. 

16 Cabinet meetings relating to matters that are not Key Decisions 

16.1 Meetings of the Cabinet at which any decisions are to be taken shall be held in public, 
subject to the requirements of Rules 7 and 8 above. 

17 Meeting of the Cabinet in private 

17.1 Where a meeting of the Cabinet, including a committee or sub-committee of the 
Cabinet, is to be held in private under these Rules, at least 28 clear days before the 
meeting, the Cabinet shall make available at the main office of the Council a notice 
of its intention to hold a meeting in private giving reasons as to why the meeting is to 
be held in private. 

17.2 At least five clear days before the meeting, the Cabinet must make available at the 
main office of the Council a further notice of its intention to hold a meeting in private 
containing: the reasons as to why the meeting is to be held in private; details of any 
representations received by the Cabinet about why the meeting should be open to 
the public; and a statement of the Cabinet’s response to any such representations. 

17.3 All members of the Cabinet shall be entitled to be given five clear working days’ notice 
of the meeting, unless the meeting is convened at shorter notice on urgency grounds. 

17.4 Copies of the notices required by Rules 17.1 and 17.3 shall be sent to the Chairs of 
the Overview and Scrutiny committees. 

17.5 Where the date by which a private meeting must be held makes compliance with 
Rules 17.1 and 17.2 not possible, the meeting may only be held in private where the 
Cabinet has obtained agreement from: 

(a) the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny committee; or 

(b) if there is no such person, or if a Chair of an Overview and Scrutiny committee 

Page 220



 

81 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

is unable to act, the Chair of the Council; or 

(c) where there is no Chair of either an Overview and Scrutiny Committee or of the 
Council able to act, the Vice Chair of the Council; 

that the meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. 

17.6 As soon as reasonably practicable after the decision-making body has obtained 
agreement under Rule 17.5 it must make available at the Council’s main office and 
publish on the Council’s website a notice setting out why the meeting is urgent and 
cannot reasonably be deferred. 

18 Attendance at private meetings of the Cabinet 

18.1 Any member of the Cabinet may attend a private meeting of a committee or sub-
committee of the Cabinet whether they are members of that body unless the body 
determines otherwise. 

18.2 Any Cabinet member who is not a member of such a committee or sub-committee 
shall be entitled to speak with the consent of the person presiding but not to vote. 

19 Officer attendance at Cabinet meetings 

19.1 The Head of Paid Service, the Section 151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer, or their 
nominees, are entitled to attend any meeting of the Cabinet. The Cabinet cannot 
meet unless the Monitoring Officer has been given reasonable notice that a meeting 
is to take place. This provision also applies to committees and sub-committees of the 
Cabinet. 

19.2 A private meeting of the Cabinet, including a committee or sub-committee of the 
Cabinet, may only take place in the presence of the Monitoring Officer or their 
nominee, who shall have responsibility for recording and publishing any decisions. 

20 Key Decisions by Portfolio Holders 

20.1 Where an individual member of the Cabinet receives a report which they intend to 
take into account in making any Key Decision, then they will not make the decision 
until at least five clear working days after receipt of that report. 

20.2 On giving of such a report to a Portfolio Holder, the person who prepared the report 
will give a copy of it to the relevant Chair of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee as 
soon as reasonably practicable and make it publicly available at the same time. 

20.3 As soon as reasonably practicable after a Key Decision has been taken by a Portfolio 
Holder, a written record of the decision must be produced in accordance with Rule 
15.2 above.  

20.4 The provisions of Rules 4 and 5 will also apply to the making of decisions by Portfolio 
Holders. This does not require the disclosure of exempt or confidential information or 
advice from a political assistant. 

21 Record of Executive and Non-Executive decisions taken by officers 

Page 221



 

82 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

21.1 As soon as reasonably practicable after an officer has made a decision which is an 
Executive decision (i.e. the responsibility of the Cabinet) a written statement will be 
prepared including: 

(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made; 

(b) a record of the reasons for the decision; 

(c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the officer when 
making the decision; 

(d) a record of any conflict of interest declared by any executive member who is 
consulted by the officer which relates to the decision; and 

(e) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation granted by 
the Monitoring Officer. 

21.2 Any record prepared in accordance with Rule 21.1 and any report considered by the 
officer and relevant to the decision will be available for public inspection at the main 
office of the Council and on the Council's website. 

21.3 Rules 21.1 to 21.2 will relate to decisions taken by officers in accordance with their 
powers and duties set out within the Scheme of Delegation or otherwise under an 
express delegation from the Cabinet, Council, its committees, sub-committees or any 
joint committee in which the Council is involved. Rules 21.1 to 21.2 shall not apply to 
day-to-day administrative or operational decisions taken by officers in connection 
with the discharge of functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet. 

21.4 As soon as reasonably practicable after an officer has made a decision under an 
express delegation from the Council, its committees, sub-committees or any Joint 
Committee in which the Council is involved, or under a general delegation from one 
of these bodies where the effect of the decision is to grant a permission or licence, 
affect the rights of an individual or award a contract or incur expenditure, which in 
either case materially affects the Council’s position, a written statement will be 
prepared including: 

(a) a record of the decision including the date it was made; 

(b) a record of the reasons for the decision; 

(c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the officer when 
making the decision; and 

(d) a record of the name of any councillor who has declared an interest (for decisions 
taken under an express delegation). 

21.5 Any record prepared in accordance with Rule 21.4 together with any background 
papers considered by the officer and relevant to the decision will be available for 
public inspection at the main office of the Council and on the Council's website. 

21.6 Rules 21.4 to 21.5 do not apply to: 

Page 222



 

83 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(a) routine administrative and organisational decisions; 

(b) decisions on operational matters such as day to day variations in services; 

(c) decisions if the whole or part of the record contains confidential or exempt 
information; and 

(d) decisions that are already required to be published by other legislation, provided 
the record published includes the date the decision was taken and the reasons 
for the decision. 

22 Access to documents – Overview and Scrutiny committees 

22.1 Subject to Rule 22.4 below, any member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
entitled to copies of any document which is in the possession or control of the Leader 
and/or the Cabinet including its committees and sub-committees and which contains 
material relating to: 

(a) any business transacted at a public or private meeting of the Cabinet including 
any of its committees and sub-committees;  

(b) any decision taken by an individual member of the Cabinet; or  

(c) any executive decision taken by an officer in accordance with Part 9.2 of this 
Constitution. 

22.2 Where a member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee (including its sub-
committees) requests a document which falls within Rule 22.1 the Leader must 
provide that document as soon as reasonably practicable and, in any case, no later 
than 10 clear working days after the Leader receives the request. 

22.3 Subject to Rule 22.4 the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny committees is 
entitled to see papers in relation to private decisions of the Cabinet before the 
decision is made. 

22.4 Where the Leader so determines, a member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
will not be entitled to: 

(a) any document that is in draft form; 

(b) any such document or part of a document that contains exempt or confidential 
information, unless that information is relevant to an action or decision they are 
reviewing or scrutinising, or any review contained in any programme of work of 
the Committee. 

22.5 The Leader must provide the relevant Overview and Scrutiny committee with a 
written statement setting out the reasons for their decision. 

23 Additional rights of access for councillors 

23.1 All councillors will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the possession or 
under the control of the Leader and or the Cabinet including its committees or sub-

Page 223



 

84 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

committees and contains material relating to any business to be transacted at a 
public meeting; any business previously transacted at a private meeting; any decision 
made by an individual member; or an executive decision by an officer unless in the 
opinion of the Monitoring Officer it contains exempt information falling within the 
categories of exempt information as set out in Appendix 1; or it contains the advice 
of a political advisor. 

23.2 All councillors will be entitled to inspect any document (except those available only 
in draft form) in the possession or under the control of the Leader or the Cabinet 
including its committees and sub-committees which relates to any Key Decision 
unless Rule 23.1 above applies. 

23.3 In relation to public meetings, where a document is required to be available for 
inspection by all councillors under Rule 23.1 it must be available for at least 5 clear 
working days before the meeting except where the meeting is convened at shorter 
notice or an item is added to an agenda at shorter notice, in which case the document 
must be available for inspection when the meeting is convened or the item is added 
to the agenda. 

23.4 In relation to private meetings, decisions made by an individual member or executive 
decisions made by an officer, where a document is required to be available for 
inspection by all councillors under Rule 23.1 it must be available within 24 hours of 
the meeting concluding, or where an executive decision is made by an individual 
member or an officer, within 24 hours of the decision being made. 

23.5 These rights of a councillor are additional to any other right they may have. 

 

Appendix 1 - Descriptions of Exempt Information 

Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to any 
qualification): 

1) Information relating to any individual. 

2) Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 

3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). 

4) Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter 
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under, the authority. 

5) Information in respect of which a claim of legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings. 

6) Information which reveals that the authority proposes  

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

Page 224



 

85 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

requirements are imposed on a person; or 

(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

7) Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

Qualifications 

Information falling within paragraph 3 above is not exempt information if it is required to be 
registered under: 

(a) the Companies Acts (as defined in section 2 of the Companies Act 2006); 

(b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974; 

(c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992; 

(d) the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014; 

(e) the Building Societies Act 1986; or 

(f) the Charities Act 2011 

Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for which the 
local planning authority may grant itself planning permission or permission in principle 
pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992. 

Information which falls within any of the paragraphs 1-7 above is Exempt information if and 
so long as in all the circumstances of the case the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

There is no legal definition of ‘public interest’, but the following are relevant 
considerations in favour of disclosure: 

(a) The information would assist public understanding of an issue that is subject to 
current public debate. 

(b) Proper debate cannot take place without wide availability of all the relevant 
information. 

(c) The issue affects a wide range of individuals or companies. 

(d) Facts and analysis behind major policy decisions. 

(e) Allowing individuals to understand decisions made by public authorities 
affecting their lives and, in some cases, assisting individuals in challenging 
those decisions. 

(f) Accountability for proceeds of sale of assets in public ownership. 

(g) Openness and accountability for tender processes and prices. 

Page 225



 

86 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(h) Public interest in public bodies obtaining value for money. 

(i) Public health or public safety. 

(j) Damage to the environment. 

(k) Contingency plans in an emergency. 

(l) Promoting accountability and transparency for decisions taken by public 
authorities and the spending of public money. 

A practice of applying "Exempt" status to a report without reasons being set out and 
consideration of the public interest is not acceptable. 

  

Page 226



 

87 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

6.0 JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 
6.1 West and North Shared Services Joint Committee 

Terms of Reference of the Joint Committee 

1. The Joint Committee’s role is to oversee the management of those services which are 
provided on a Northamptonshire-wide basis on behalf of North Northamptonshire and 
West Northamptonshire Councils to ensure effective delivery of such services and to 
provide strategic direction 

2. The Joint Committee is specifically responsible for: 

(a) Developing and agreeing the strategy for each of the services. 
(b) Approving the Service Plans for the specified functions including targets for 

service quality, performance and efficiency.  
(c) Agreeing the responsibilities of each Council to deliver the Service Plans and 

agreed strategy, including any specific responsibilities of the Provider Council and 
that the responsibilities are documented within the Service Plans.  

(d) Ensuring that the services are provided within the policy and budget set by the 
councils. 

(e) Ensuring that the arrangements ensure that each Council’s statutory 
responsibilities are met. 

(f) Reviewing the performance of the services and initiating additional/remedial 
action where appropriate.  

(g) Ensuring that clear operational policies are in place and that these are complied 
with. 

(h) Ensuring the provision of adequate funds and other resources to enable delivery. 
(i) Agreeing the basis for apportioning cost between the two Councils and the 

amount to be apportioned. 
(j) Ensuring that effective risk management arrangements are in place, that the 

services are subject to adequate and independent audit and that any audit 
recommendations are acted upon.  

(k) Approving business cases for proposed changes and overseeing the progress of 
subsequent work. 

(l) Ensuring that there are robust plans for any disaggregation of services and that 
there is a smooth transition to new service delivery arrangements.  

(m) Resolving issues that are referred to the Joint Committee by relevant Chief 
Officers of the Service. 

(n) Delegating functions of the Joint Committee to officers of either Council under 
s.101 Local Government Act 1972.  

(o) Agreeing arrangements to place staff employed by one of the authorities at the 
disposal of the other authority to carry out the functions of the Joint Committee as 
described above under s.113 Local Government Act 1972.   

Page 227



 

88 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(p) Take decisions in relation to the commissioning and procurement of services 
either hosted or under a lead authority arrangement from a third party.   

(q) Providing an Annual Report to each of the two Councils on the performance, 
finances and proposed service improvements including any arrangements for 
disaggregation.   

Procedure Rules of the Joint Committee 

(a) Each council shall appoint three Members (being Executive members of that Council) 
as its nominated members of the Joint Committee. The Members appointed will have 
full voting rights. 

(b) Each council may nominate one or more substitute Members to attend any meeting in 
place of an appointed Member subject to notification being given to the Monitoring 
Officer via the relevant Democratic Services before the start of the meeting. The 
Member appointed as a substitute shall have full voting rights.   

(c) Each member of the Joint Committee shall comply with the Code of Conduct of their 
Council when acting as a member of the Joint Committee.  

(d) Each member of the Joint Committee shall serve on the Joint Committee for as long 
as they are appointed to the Joint Committee by the relevant Council but a Member 
shall cease to be a member of the Joint Committee if they cease to be a member of 
the Executive appointing them or if the relevant Council removes them from the Joint 
Committee.  

(e) Meetings of the Joint Committee shall be carried out on a rotational basis in the North 
and West Council areas or by remote means where this is permitted by law.  

(f) The Council hosting the first meeting shall appoint one of its nominated members as 
Chair and that member shall remain Chair until the first meeting taking place after the 
elapse of 6 months from the time of their appointment unless they cease to be a 
member of the Joint Committee. On the expiry of the first Chair’s term of office as 
Chair, the Council which did not appoint the first Chair shall appoint one of its 
nominated members as Chair for a period of 6 months from the time of their 
appointment. The same procedure shall be followed for the appointment of the Chair 
in subsequent years. 

(g) The Council not appointing the Chair of the Joint Committee in any year shall appoint 
one of its nominated members as Vice Chair. 

(h) Proposed key decisions of the Joint Committee will be published on the Forward Plan 
for each Council in accordance with their own Access to Information Rules. 

(i) Requirements in relation to Overview and Scrutiny will be met in each case by the 
Overview and Scrutiny committees of the relevant Council.  The relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee will be the closest to the Corporate Scrutiny Committee for 
each Council.   

(j) Meetings will be governed by the Executive Procedure Rules and the Access to 
Information Rules for each Council and where they differ by agreement between the 
Monitoring Officers of the two Councils as to which of the two sets of Rules will be 
applied.  

Page 228



 

89 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(k) The Joint Committee shall normally meet once every two months (bi-monthly) unless 
otherwise determined by the Joint Committee. Cancellation of meetings shall be 
agreed by the Joint Committee or both Leaders. 

(l) Additional meetings can be called by Monitoring Officer for the Chair by providing at 
least five clear days’ notice to members of the Joint Committee, for the purposes of 
resolving urgent matters arising between the bi-monthly meetings. Additional meetings 
may be called if either Leader requests it.  

(m) The Democratic Services for the Chair will send out the agenda, record minutes and 
arrange for the sign off of minutes in accordance with the procedure rules for the 
relevant Council.  

(n) A meeting of the Joint Committee will require a quorum of at least two members from 
each Council.  

(o) The rules of the Joint Committee will otherwise be the rules of the Council associated 
with the Chair for the time being, and where there is any conflict or uncertainty the 
relevant rules will be agreed between the Monitoring Officers for each of the Councils.  

(p) Public speaking at the Joint Committee will be at the discretion of the Chair but in any 
event limited to one speaker for or against an item on the agenda for a maximum of 
two minutes.  

6.2 Rainsbrook Crematorium Joint Committee 

In February 2011, Daventry District Council agreed to establish a Joint Committee with 
Rugby Borough Council to create and operate a crematorium facility to meet the needs of 
both areas. Rainsbrook Crematorium based in Rugby is managed by the Rainsbrook 
Crematorium Joint Committee. Each council has a 50% share and appoints two elected 
members.  

A Collaboration Agreement (March 2013) provides for the delegation of functions 
(crematoria and ancillary services) to the Joint Committee. Daventry District Council were 
responsible for the construction of the crematorium. Rugby Borough Council are responsible 
for the operation of the crematorium. The Joint Committee provides oversight and exercises 
decision-making powers. 

Terms of Reference 

(a) The committee shall comprise four members in total, two being nominated by each 
authority. All members of the Committee shall be Members of the authority by which they 
are nominated.  

(b) The committee shall appoint its own Chair and Vice Chair subject to the rules that: 

(i) each year the Chair shall be drawn from members of the committee from one 
authority, and the following year from members of the committee from the other 
authority; and  

(ii) the Vice Chair shall be a member of the committee from the authority which is not 
currently providing the Chair.  

Page 229



 

90 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(c) The quorum of the Committee shall be two members, being at least one from each 
authority.  

(d) The Chair or in their absence the Vice Chair may exercise a second or casting vote.  
(e) The Committee shall exercise on behalf of the authorities the functions of providing 

crematoria and ancillary services under the Cremation Act 1902, section 2 of the Local 
Government Act 2000, the Local Authorities (Land) Act 1963 and all other powers 
enabling the provision and operation of crematoria and related services.  

(f) The Committee shall arrange to discharge its responsibilities through officers of the 
authorities subject to the requirements that: 

(iii) administration of the Committee shall be exercised through officers of Rugby 
Borough Council;  

(iv) creation of the crematorium shall be exercised through officers of Daventry 
District Council;  

(v) practical operation of the crematorium shall be exercised through officers of 
Rugby Borough Council. 

6.3 PATROL Adjudication Joint Committee 

Representation: one Member from each Council 

Over 300 local authorities in England (outside London) and Wales who undertake civil traffic 
enforcement are members of the PATROL (Parking and Traffic Regulations Outside 
London) Adjudication Joint Committee. Such authorities are required by statute to make 
provision for independent adjudication of traffic enforcement decisions.  

The PATROL Adjudication Joint Committee has been established to enable all councils 
having Civil Enforcement Area Orders to carry out civil enforcement of parking 
contraventions, in exercise of their functions under Section 81 of the Traffic Management 
Act 2004 and Regulations 16 and 17 of the Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions 
(England) General Regulations 2007.  

The main function of the Joint Committee is to provide resources to support independent 
adjudicators and their staff, who together comprise the Traffic Penalty Tribunal. The 
relationship between the adjudicators and the Joint Committee is derived from and 
governed by the Traffic Management Act 2004 and, in the case of the Bus Lane Adjudication 
Service Joint Committee, the Transport Act 2000. 

Additional information 

Further details are available from the PATROL website: www.patrol-uk.info/patrol-joint-
committee. 

Page 230

file:///C:/Users/GWild/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/9QASBAOR/www.patrol-uk.info/patrol-joint-committee
file:///C:/Users/GWild/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/9QASBAOR/www.patrol-uk.info/patrol-joint-committee


 

91 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

6.4 Northamptonshire Police, Fire and Crime Panel 

Representation:  5 Members of West Northamptonshire Council 
5 Members of North Northamptonshire Council 
3 independent co-opted lay members  

The Police, Fire and Crime Panel is responsible for carrying out the powers and duties of 
the of the Police and Crime Panel as provided for within the Police Reform & Social 
Responsibility Act 2011 and the Police, Fire & Crime Commissioner for Northamptonshire 
(Fire and Rescue Authority) Order 2018. 

6.5 Children’s Trust Joint Committee 

Terms of Reference  

Purpose  

The West Northamptonshire and North Northamptonshire Councils have established a Joint 
Committee (The Children’s Trust Joint Committee) pursuant to powers under the Local 
Government Acts 1972 and 2000. 

The Joint Committee discharges functions on behalf of the two councils as follows and is 
convened as and when required, to:  

(a) Exercise the functions on behalf of both councils insofar as they relate to the joint 
ownership of, and commissioning of services from, the jointly owned local authority 
company ‘The Northamptonshire Children’s Trust’ (NCT) 

(b) Exercise the functions of the councils in respect of the discharge of the functions and 
the delivery of the support services to NCT under the Support Services Agreement; 

(c) Consider all matters arising in relation to the discharge of the functions, the delivery 
of the services and their financial position; 

(d) Ensure the effective, efficient discharge of the functions and delivery of the services; 
(e) Agree the responsibilities of each council required to support the discharge of the 

functions and the delivery of the services; 
(f) Monitor and review the performance of discharge of the functions and the delivery of 

the services; 
(g) Consider matters reported to the Joint Committee by the Joint Officer Boards and 

the Councils; 
(h) Determine those disputes or differences arising between the councils in respect of 

the discharge of the functions and/or delivery of the services referred to the Joint 
Committee by the Joint Officer Boards; 

(i) With the assistance, support and advice of the Joint Officer Boards and the councils, 
develop the strategies and plans for the longer-term discharge of the functions and 
the delivery of the services beyond the arrangements provided for in the Support 
Services Agreement.  

Page 231



 

92 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

The Joint Committee is not a self-standing legal entity but part of its constituent authorities. 
Any legal commitment entered into pursuant to a decision of the Joint Committee must be 
made by either of the authorities which will be indemnified appropriately. 

These terms of reference govern the conduct of meetings of the Joint Committee and 
except, where expressly stated otherwise, take precedence over the Constitutions of each 
council so far as they relate to the matters for which the Joint Committee is established. The 
Joint Committee may vary the terms of reference rules as it considers appropriate. 

Definitions 

Any reference to Access to Information legislation shall mean Part VA of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended) and The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended).” 

Functions 

The Joint Committee will discharge functions on behalf of both councils. 

Membership 

There are 6 elected members of the Joint Committee, 3 appointed from each council. 
Appointments are made in line with each council’s governance arrangements. The 
appointments should include the Leader of each council and a Member whose portfolio 
areas include responsibility for Children’s Services. 

Appointments will be made for a maximum period not extending beyond each Member’s 
remaining term of office as a councillor. 

As nominees of their respective councils, members of the Joint Committee are governed by 
the provisions of their own council’s codes and protocols including the Members’ Code of 
Conduct and the rules on disclosable pecuniary interests. 

Each council will utilise existing mechanisms for substitution as laid down in their own 
Procedure Rules. 

Chair 

Each council will appoint one Member as a Co-Chair each of whom, in rotation, presides 
over meetings of the Joint Committee. 

Meeting venues shall rotate between the councils’ main offices with the Co-Chair from the 
council which is hosting the meeting presiding over the meeting. Where the host Co-Chair 
is not present, the Joint Committee shall appoint an alternate Co-Chair from amongst its 
number to preside over the meeting.  

Page 232



 

93 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

The Joint Committee may establish sub-committees to undertake elements of its work if 
required and subject to the approval of each council. 

Delegation to Officers 

The Joint Committee may delegate specific functions to officers of either of the councils. 
Any such delegation may be subject to the requirement for the officer to consult with or 
obtain the prior agreement of an officer (or officers) of the other council. It may also be 
subject to the requirement for the officer with delegated authority to consult with the Co-
Chairs of the Joint Committee before exercising their delegated authority. 

Administration 

Organisational and clerking support for the Joint Committee will be provided for by the host 
authority.  

Budget  

The Joint Committee will not have an allocated budget.  

Agenda Management  

All prospective items of business for the Joint Committee shall be agreed by the Joint Officer 
Board in accordance with the wider NCT agreements and governance and shall be confined 
to the matters set out in these terms of reference.  

To comply with Access to Information legislation in the publication of agendas including 
Forward Plan requirements, those functions delegated to the Joint Committee for 
determination and defined as key decisions must be included in the Forward Plan for the 
Joint Committee.  

Meetings  

The Joint Committee will meet as and when required for the purposes of fulfilling its function 
with regards dispute resolution.  

The quorum for a meeting of the Joint Committee shall be at least two members from each 
council.  

Access to meetings and papers of the Joint Committee by the press and public is subject 
to Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and Part 2 of the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to information) (England) 
Regulations 2012.  

Notice of Meetings  

Page 233



 

94 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

The host authority clerk of the Joint Committee will give notice to the public of the time and 
place of any meeting in accordance with the Access to Information requirements. At least 
five clear working days in advance of a meeting the host authority clerk of the Joint 
Committee will publish the agenda via the website of the host authority and distribute a copy 
of the papers to all members of the Joint Committee. 

Member Participation  

Any Member of each council who is not a member of the Joint Committee may ask a 
question or address the Joint Committee with the consent of the Co-Chair of the meeting at 
which they wish to speak.  

Business to be Transacted 

Standing items for each meeting of the Joint Committee will include the following:  

(a) Apologies for absence 
(b) Declarations of Interest 
(c) Minutes of the Last Meeting 
(d) Substantive items for consideration 

The Co-Chair may vary the order of business and take urgent items as specified in the 
Access to Information Requirements at their discretion. An item of business may not be 
considered at a meeting unless: 

(a) A copy of the agenda included the item (or a copy of the item) is open to inspection 
by the public for at least five clear days before the meeting; or 

(b) Where the meeting is convened at shorter notice from the time the meeting is 
convened; or 

(c) By reason of special circumstances which shall be specified in the minutes the Co-
Chair of the meeting (following consultation with the other Co-Chair) is of the opinion 
that the item should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency “Special 
Circumstances” justifying an item being considered as a matter of urgency will relate 
to both why the decision could not be made at a later meeting allowing the proper 
time for inspection of documents by the public as well as why the item or report could 
not have been available for inspection for five clear days before the meeting. 

Cancellation of Meetings  

If in the event a dispute is resolved prior to the meeting of the Joint Committee called to 
resolve the issue, after consultation with all three Co-chairs the meeting will be cancelled  

Rules of Debate 

Page 234



 

95 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

Meetings shall be conducted in accordance with the Rules of Debate set out within the 
Committee Procedure Rules of West Northamptonshire Council.  

Request for Determination of Business  

Any member of the Joint Committee may request at any time that the Joint Committee move 
to vote upon the current item of consideration.  

Urgency Procedure  

Where all Co-Chairs of the Joint Committee are of a view that an urgent decision is required 
in respect of any matter within the Joint Committee’s terms of reference and it cannot wait 
until an Ordinary meeting of the Joint Committee has been called and notice been given 
under Paragraph 12 of this Schedule (Notice of Meetings), then arrangements will be made 
to call an urgent meeting of the Joint Committee.  

Voting  

With regards the Joint Committee’s function in the resolution of disputes under the conflict 
resolution mechanism, each elected member will be entitled to one vote.  

Where there is an equality of votes the Co-hair may exercise a second or casting vote. 
However, if the matter cannot be resolved between the councils then the dispute resolution 
procedure may be engaged.  

Minutes  

At the next suitable meeting of the Joint Committee, the Co-Chair presiding will move a 
motion that the minutes of the previous meeting be agreed as a correct record. The meeting 
may only consider the accuracy of the minutes. Once agreed, the Co-Chair presiding at the 
meeting will initial each page and sign the minutes.  

Exclusion of Public and Press  

Members of the public and press may only be excluded from a meeting of the Joint 
Committee either in accordance with the Access to Information requirements or in the event 
of disturbance.  

A motion may be moved at any time for the exclusion of the public from the whole or any 
part of the proceedings. The motion shall specify by reference to Section 100(A) Local 
Government Act 1972 the reason for the exclusion in relation to each item of business for 
which it is proposed that the public be excluded.  

Page 235



 

96 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely, in view of the nature of 
business to be transacted, or the nature of the proceedings that confidential information 
would be disclosed.  

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the Co-Chair may 
adjourn the meeting for as long as they think is necessary.  

To comply with the Executive Arrangements (Access to Information) Regulations 2012 all 
background papers will be published as part of the Joint Committee agenda and be made 
available to the public via the website of each authority.  

Overview and Scrutiny  

Decisions of the Joint Committee will be Executive and subject to scrutiny and call-in. For 
any Joint Committee meeting, including decisions, the minutes will be published within two 
working days. On the publication of the minutes of a meeting of the Joint Committee, 5 clear 
days must elapse (not including the date of publication and weekend days and bank 
holidays) before decisions can be implemented.  

Decisions of the Joint Committee which are defined as executive decisions will be subject 
to the “call-in” arrangements operating in each Council as set out in its constitution. Where 
a decision is called in, arrangements will be made at the earliest opportunity for it to be 
heard.  

Joint Arrangements between the NCT and West Northamptonshire Council are in 
accordance with the agreements made by Northamptonshire County Council prior to re-
organisation. These agreements are binding on the Council and cannot be altered other 
than as set out below. 

Nature of Decision  Council Executive Conditions 
In relation to the Northamptonshire 
Children’s Trust, to approve: 

a. The appointment and removal of the 
Chair and Chief Executive, or alterations 
to their terms of appointment; 

b. The appointment and removal of a 
Council Director to the Board of the 
Trust; 

c. Any changes to the membership of the 
Trust;  

d. Any changes to the Articles of 
Association;  

e. The voluntary winding up of the 
company (of the Trust) or its dissolution;  

 X In accordance 
with the limitations 
and consents 
required under the 
Articles of 
Association of the 
Trust and the 
Governance Side 
Agreement. 

Page 236



 

97 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

f. Any changes to governance 
arrangements arising from the annual 
review thereof. 

In relation to the Northamptonshire 
Children’s Trust, to annually approve the 
Business Plan and Interim Business Plan 
and any in year variation to these plans. 

 X In accordance 
with the limitations 
and consents 
required under the 
Articles of 
Association of the 
Trust and the 
Governance Side 
Agreement. 

In relation to the company of the Children’s 
Trust, to approve the entering into by the 
company (the Trust) for: any new third party 
contracts for the provision of services by the 
Company to third parties which are outside 
the scope of the Service Delivery Contract 
and/or the Business Plan or Interim Business 
Plan. 

 X a) In accordance 
with the 
limitations and 
consents 
required under 
the Articles of 
Association of 
the Trust and 
the 
Governance 
Side 
Agreement. 

b) Where the 
value exceeds 
£500,000. 

In relation to the company of the Children’s 
Trust, to approve the entering into by the 
company (the Trust):  

a. any borrowing, credit facility, or 
investment arrangements with third 
parties;  

b. any other contractual arrangement with 
the Council for the provision of other 
services to the Council;  

c. any proposal to form any legal entity or 
undertaking in which the Company 
would be a member, shareholder or hold 
any analogous position in any jurisdiction 
or acquiring shares in any other 
company;  

d. participating by the Company in any 
partnership or joint venture, 
amalgamation with another company or 
business undertaking; 

 X In accordance 
with the limitations 
and consents 
required under the 
Articles of 
Association of the 
Trust and the 
Governance Side 
Agreement. 

In relation to (a) 
other than trade 
credit in the 
ordinary course of 
business.  

In relation to (b), 
and (d) only to the 
extent that any 
such arrangement 
falls outside the 

Page 237



 

98 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

e. the Company giving any guarantee, 
suretyship or indemnity outside the 
ordinary course of its business to secure 
the liabilities of any person or assume 
the obligations of any person (other than 
the Company or a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Company); 

f. the selling or disposing of any part of the 
business (including assets) of the 
Company; 

g. dealing with any surpluses of the 
Company, other than those surpluses 
which are agreed, pursuant to the 
Business Plan or Service Delivery 
Contract, that may be retained by the 
Company;  

h. the Company acquiring, or agreeing to 
acquire, any freehold or leasehold 
interest in or licence over land;  

i. the Company creating any encumbrance 
over the whole or a significant part of its 
undertaking or assets; 

j. any changes to the company name, 
trading name or registered office of the 
Company or physically relocating the 
headquarters of the Company;   

k. the Company commencing, settling or 
defending any significant claim, 
proceedings or other litigation brought by 
or against it, except where they are a 
part of the Company's ordinary course of 
business and/or operations; and 

l. acquiring assets outside the scope of the 
Service Delivery Contract and/or the 
Business Plan or Interim Business Plan. 

scope of the 
Service Delivery 
Contract and/or 
the Business Plan 
or Interim 
Business Plan. 

In relation to (h), 
except where the 
Council is the 
seller, lessor or 
licensor of the 
land in question.  

In relation to (l), 
where the amount 
is more than 
£100,000. 

6.6 Northamptonshire Safeguarding Adults Board 

The Northamptonshire Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) is a multi-agency partnership, 
which provides strategic leadership for adult safeguarding across West and North 
Northamptonshire. It has an independent Chair and its remit is to agree objectives, set 
priorities and co-ordinate the strategic development of adult safeguarding. 

The overarching purpose of SAB is to help and safeguard adults with care and support 
needs. It does this by: 

(a) Assuring itself that local safeguarding arrangements are in place as defined by the 
Care Act 2014 and supporting statutory guidance 

Page 238



 

99 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(b) Assuring itself that safeguarding practice is person-centred and outcome-focused 
(c) Working collaboratively to prevent abuse and neglect where possible 
(d) Ensuring agencies and individuals give timely and proportionate responses when 

abuse or neglect have occurred 
(e) Assuring itself that safeguarding practice is continuously improving and enhancing 

the quality of life of adults in its area 

Safeguarding leads from agencies across the Health Economy, Local Authorities, 
Northamptonshire Police, Northamptonshire Fire & Rescue Service, Community Safety 
Partnerships, the Probation Service, and the Voluntary and Community support the 
activities of the Board. Without the hard work of its members, we would not learn, develop 
and grow. 

SAB governance arrangements are undertaken by statutory partners and a number of other 
key officers: 

(a) Kettering General Hospital 
(b) NHS Northamptonshire Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(c) North Northamptonshire Council - Adult Social Care 
(d) North Northamptonshire Council - Cabinet member responsible for Adult Social Care 
(e) North Northamptonshire Council - Opposition member 
(f) Northampton General Hospital 
(g) Northamptonshire Healthcare Foundation Trust 
(h) Northamptonshire Police 
(i) Principal Social Workers 
(j) West Northamptonshire Council – Adult Social Care 
(k) West Northamptonshire Council - Cabinet member responsible for Adult Social Care 
(l) West Northamptonshire Council - Opposition Member 

A separate multi-agency Delivery Group supports the strategic direction of the Board.  

The SAB has three core duties: 

(a) To develop and publish a strategic plan setting out how it will meet its objectives, 
what each member will do to implement the strategy and, in developing the plan, 
consult the local Healthwatch organisation and the community. 

(b) To commission safeguarding adults reviews (SARs) for any cases that meet the 
criteria for these and implement the findings. 

(c) To publish an annual report detailing how effective its work has been, as well as 
report the findings of any SARs and reference any ongoing reviews. 

Full details of the LSAB can be found on its website: Northamptonshire Safeguarding Adults 
Board (northamptonshiresab.org.uk) 

Page 239

https://www.northamptonshiresab.org.uk/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.northamptonshiresab.org.uk/Pages/default.aspx


 

100 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

6.7 Channel Panel 

The Channel Panel is established under section 36 of the Counter-Terrorism and Security 
Act 2015, which sets out the duty on local authorities and partners of local panels to provide 
support for people vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism. It is a key part of work to prevent 
extremism through supporting those who may be vulnerable to radicalisation by assessing 
the nature and extent of the potential risk and, where necessary, providing an appropriate 
support package tailored to an individual’s needs. 

Channel provides a multi-agency approach to protect people at risk of being drawn into 
extremism. It uses existing collaboration between the adults and children’s services, youth 
offending service, community safety partnership, police, health sectors (NHS and Clinical 
Commissioning Group) and probation services to: 

• Identify individuals at risk of being drawn into terrorism; 
• Assess the nature and extent of that risk; and 
• Develop the most appropriate support plan for the individuals concerned. 

As Northamptonshire is a low risk area, there is no regular standing Channel Panel. Once 
a referral has been made the panel meets every six weeks to provide early intervention to 
protect and divert the individual(s) away from extremism. 

Through its Chair, the panel regularly reports to the Chief Executive of West 
Northamptonshire Council and to the relevant Commander in Northamptonshire Police on 
Channel referrals. 

6.8 Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Partnership 

The Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Partnership (SCP) is a statutory multi-agency 
partnership established in accordance with the Children and Social Work Act 2017 and 
Working Together to Safeguard Children statutory guidance. It provides arrangements 
under which the safeguarding partners and relevant agencies work together to coordinate 
their services, identify and respond to the needs of children, commission and publish local 
safeguarding practice reviews and provide scrutiny to ensure the effectiveness of the 
arrangements. 

The three safeguarding partners in relation to the local authority’s area are defined under 
the Children Act 2004 (as amended by the Children and Social Work Act 2017) as: 

(a) the Local Authority (West and North Northamptonshire Councils) 
(b) a Clinical Commissioning Group for an area any part of which falls within the local 

authority area (Nene and Corby Clinical Commissioning Groups) 
(c) the Chief Officer of Police for an area any part of which falls within the local authority 

area (Northamptonshire Police) 

Page 240



 

101 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

The purpose of the SCP is to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in 
Northamptonshire. This is done by coordinating the work of those people and all 
organisations working in the county ensuring that what they do is effective. It is also to 
support and enable local agencies to work together in a system where: 

(a) Excellent practice is the norm 
(b) Partner agencies hold one another to account effectively 
(c) There is early identification of “new” safeguarding issues 
(d) Learning is promoted and embedded 
(e) Information is shared effectively 
(f) The public can feel confident that children are protected from harm 

In addition, the SCP’s values are: 

(a) A child-centred approach to safeguarding ensuring their voice is heard and 
understood; 

(b) Effective ways to identify and support children and families who would benefit from 
early help; 

(c) A culture of continuous review and learning; and 
(d) Constructive and mutual challenge between partners to keep children safe. 

The SCP is not an operational body. Its role is to ensure the coordination and effectiveness 
of the services provided to children, young people and their families by member 
organisations. 

Full details of the SCP can be found on its website: Home - Northamptonshire Safeguarding 
Children Board (northamptonshirescb.org.uk). 

  

Page 241

http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/
http://www.northamptonshirescb.org.uk/


 

102 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

7.0 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
7.1 Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements 

1 The Role of Overview and Scrutiny 

1.1 The Council operates an Overview and Scrutiny function that undertakes a number 
of roles including:  

(a) monitoring the decisions of the Cabinet; 

(b) advising the Council on forthcoming decisions;  

(c) the development and review of policy; and  

(d) call-in of a decision which has been made by the Cabinet but not yet 
implemented.  

1.2 The Overview and Scrutiny function will develop a work plan as well as supporting 
policy development, providing pre-decision scrutiny where appropriate, holding 
decision-makers to account and exercising the formal call-in of executive decisions 
to review any concerns about the making of the decision.  

1.3 Further details are set out in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules in this 
Constitution. 

 

7.2 Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

1 The Overview and Scrutiny committees 

1.1 The Council will have 3 Overview and Scrutiny committees: 

(a) Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(b) People Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(c) Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 
1.2 The Overview and Scrutiny committees will consult with other parts of the Council as 

appropriate, including the Cabinet, on the preparation of any work programme. 

1.3 The Overview and Scrutiny committees will take into account any views expressed 
following consultation under Rule 1.2 above in drawing-up any work programme. 
They should also take into account the resources, both officer and financial, available 
to support its proposals. 

1.4 A Co-ordinating Overview and Scrutiny Group, comprised of the Chairs and Vice 
Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny committees, shall be responsible for approving 
the work programmes prepared by the Overview and Scrutiny committees. 

1.5 Once any programme has been approved, a copy will be sent to all Members of the 
Council and all relevant officers. 

Page 242



 

103 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

1.6 The relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall respond, as soon as it may 
consider it is possible to do so, to requests from the Council and the Cabinet, to 
review particular areas of Council activities. Where it does so, it will report its findings 
and any recommendations back to the Cabinet and/or Council in accordance with 
Rule 5 below. 

2 Co-optees 

2.1 The Overview and Scrutiny committees shall be entitled to appoint non-councillors 
as voting or non-voting co-optees as required or permitted by relevant legislation. 

2.2 The People Overview and Scrutiny Committee may make provision for the 
appointment of voting co-optees in order to assist in fulfilling its responsibilities under 
the National Health Service Act 2006. 

2.3 The People Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall appoint voting representatives 
in accordance with the Education Act 1996. These representatives have the right to 
vote on any question which relates to any education functions which are the 
responsibility of the Cabinet. Parent Governor Representatives will be appointed in 
accordance with the guidance published by the relevant government department. 

3 Agenda for meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny committees 

3.1 Matters to be considered will be set out in an agenda, together with supporting 
papers. 

3.2 Any member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be entitled to request, in 
writing, that an item be included on the agenda of their committee. Any such item 
shall appear on the agenda for the next meeting of the committee in question. The 
committee will decide how the item should be considered and whether or not it can 
be included in its work programme. 

3.3 Similarly, the Leader or an individual member of the Cabinet may give notice in writing 
requesting an item to appear on an agenda of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
relating to their areas of responsibility. The relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will decide how the item should be considered and whether or not it can 
be included in its work programme. 

3.4 Subject to Procedure Rule 41 of the Meeting Procedure Rules, any other councillor 
may give notice in writing to the Monitoring Officer, requesting an item to appear on 
an agenda of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The item shall be included after 
consulting the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

4 Councillor Call for Action 

4.1 The Councillor Call for Action (CCfA) enables any member of the council to bring 
matters of community concern (including crime and disorder issues) within their ward 
to the attention of the council via the Scrutiny process. It is intended to enhance the 
council’s Scrutiny arrangements and provide a formal mechanism to enable elected 
members to seek positive outcomes for the citizens they represent, provided all other 
means of resolution have been exhausted.  

Page 243



 

104 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

4.2 A CCfA will be included on an Overview and Scrutiny Committee agenda if the Chair 
is satisfied that:  

(a) the member has made all reasonable efforts to resolve the matter via liaison with 
council officers and/or relevant partner agencies; and  

(b) the issue of concern relates to the discharge of a council function (including where 
this is undertaken with partners and other service providers); and  

(c) the issue of concern has a demonstrable impact on all or part of the member’s 
ward; and  

(d) The CCfA does not relate to:  
(i) individual complaints concerning personal grievances or commercial 

issues, for which the council’s complaints procedure should be followed;  
(ii) matters that have a statutory appeals process, e.g. planning and licensing 

applications, council tax queries, housing benefits complaints, issues 
under dispute in a court of law, etc;  

(iii) matters where there is a statutory right of review or appeal (not including 
the right to complain to the Ombudsman), e.g. a matter relating to a 
housing benefit appeal;  

(iv) matters that are vexatious, discriminatory or unreasonable;  
(v) matters of wider council policy, i.e. if an issue affects more than one ward 

it may be appropriate to refer it to the Corporate Scrutiny Committee for 
consideration of its wider strategic or policy implications, rather than 
focusing on one particular ward;  

(vi) questioning Cabinet decisions that have been taken but not yet 
implemented, for which the call-In procedure may be used. 

4.3 Having considered a CCfA, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may take one or 
more of the following actions:  

(a) ask for further information to be brought to a future meeting  
(b) require the attendance of Cabinet members or senior officers to attend a future 

meeting to answer questions  
(c) set up a Task and Finish Group to undertake an in-depth review  
(d) make a report or recommendations to full Council, the Cabinet or partner agency 

and:  
(i) publish that report  
(ii) request full Council or Cabinet to consider and respond to the report, 

setting out what action it proposes to take and to publish its response  
(iii) request a partner agency to have regard to the report when exercising 

its functions  

4.4 If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides to take any action then it will inform 
the member who raised the CCfA and provide them with a copy of any report or 
recommendations made in relation to the CCfA, together with any response received 
from full Council, the Cabinet or a partner agency.  

4.5 If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides not to consider a CCfA or on 

Page 244



 

105 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

consideration decides no further action is necessary, it will inform the member who 
raised the CCfA and explain the reasons why.  

5 Policy review and development 

5.1 Notwithstanding any policy review matters set out in the work programme of an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, in accordance with the procedure set out within 
the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules, Overview and Scrutiny has a 
key role in policy and budget development.  

5.2 The relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consider any matter referred to 
it by the Leader/Cabinet in accordance with those procedures and, having considered 
the matter, shall report to the Leader/Cabinet with comments and/or proposals. In the 
case of cross-cutting matters, the Co-ordinating Overview and Scrutiny Group may 
recommend a particular Overview and Scrutiny Committee considers such matters. 

6 Reports from an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

6.1 Once recommendations have been formed, an Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
may submit a formal report for consideration by the Cabinet (if the proposals relate 
to an executive function and are consistent with the existing budgetary and Policy 
Framework), or to the Council as appropriate (if the recommendation would require 
a departure from or a change to the agreed budget and Policy Framework). 

6.2 The Council or the Cabinet shall consider the report of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at the next available meeting. The Council or the Cabinet shall respond 
to that Overview and Scrutiny Committee within two months (or following the next 
available meeting in the case of the Council) of it being submitted. 

7 Minority Reports 

7.1 Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on a single, final report to 
the Cabinet then one minority report may be submitted to the Cabinet with the 
majority report. In order for a minority report to be produced, no fewer than three 
voting members of the committee must support such a proposal. 

7.2 Procedure for dealing with Minority Reports  

7.3.1 At the conclusion of an inquiry and at the point of agreeing a final report detailing 
the Committee’s conclusions and recommendations, an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee may be unable to reach a general consensus. Members in the 
minority may wish to express a view different from that of the majority. In these 
circumstances, Members with a minority view may choose to submit a minority 
report.  

7.3.2 The intention to submit a minority report must be declared within the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee meeting at the time the majority report is agreed. Such 
an intention must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting and referred to in 
the final report as part of the Committee’s resolutions. Where a committee has 
agreed its final report and there has been no declared intention to produce a 
minority report, a minority report cannot then be subsequently submitted.  

Page 245



 

106 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

7.3.3 Where the intention to produce a minority report has been recorded in the 
minutes, Democratic Services will contact the appropriate Member or Members 
to confirm submission dates. The minority report should be delivered to the 
Democratic Services within 5 working days after the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting.  

7.3.4 In order that a minority report is given the opportunity to be noted in context by 
the Cabinet, where it has been produced within the agreed timescale it will be 
attached as an appendix to the majority report.  

7.3.5 The Monitoring Officer will determine if a minority report should be exempt from 
publication, in which case the usual procedures for the publication of exempt 
reports apply.  

7.3.6 The drafting and submission of the minority report remains the responsibility of 
the councillors who have proposed it and not Democratic Services. The report 
will include details of the councillors who have submitted the minority report, as 
well as its issues and any alternative recommendations. 

7.3.7 It is normally expected that an Overview and Scrutiny Committee will have taken 
into account all the relevant information available and as such a minority report 
will be based on the same evidence as a majority report.  

8 Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to documents 

8.1 In addition to their rights as councillors, members of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee have the additional right of access to documents, and to notice of 
meetings as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 5 of this 
Constitution. 

9 Councillors and Officers giving account 

9.1 An Overview and Scrutiny Committee may scrutinise and review decisions made or 
actions taken in connection with the discharge of any Council function. As well as 
reviewing the documentation, in fulfilling its scrutiny role, it may require the Leader or 
any Portfolio Holder, to attend before it to explain in relation to matters within their 
remit: 

(a) any particular decision or series of decisions; 

(b) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; and/or 

(c) their performance, 

and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. 

9.2 Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee requires an officer to attend to answer 
questions or discuss issues, this will be agreed with the Monitoring Officer. 

9.3 Where it is agreed that an officer should appear to answer questions, their evidence 
should, as far as possible, be confined to questions of fact and explanation relating 
to policies and decisions. Officers may explain: - 

Page 246



 

107 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(a) what the policies are; 

(b) the justification and objectives of those policies as the Cabinet sees them; 

(c) the extent to which those objectives have been met; and 

(d) how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of policy measures 
and the manner of their implementation. 

9.4 Officers may be asked to explain and justify advice they have given to the Cabinet 
prior to decisions being taken. They may also be asked to explain and justify 
decisions they have taken under delegated powers from the Cabinet. 

9.5 Officers should not be expected and should avoid being drawn into discussions of 
politically contentious matters and any officer input should be consistent with the 
requirements for political impartiality. 

9.6 The requirements of any protocols on Member/Officer relationships and the Code of 
Conduct must be adhered to where an officer is attending an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

9.7 Where any councillor or Officer is required to attend an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee under this provision, the Chair of that Committee will inform the 
Monitoring Officer, who will inform the councillor or Officer in writing giving at least 
ten clear working days’ notice of the meeting. The notice will state the nature of the 
item on which they are required to attend to give account and whether any papers 
are required to be produced for the Committee. Where the account to be given to an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee will require the production of a report, then the 
councillor or Officer concerned will be given reasonable and sufficient notice to allow 
for its preparation. 

9.8 Where, in exceptional circumstances, the councillor or Officer is unable to attend on 
the required date, then the Committee shall, in consultation with the councillor or 
Officer, arrange an alternative date for attendance. 

10 Attendance by others 

10.1 An Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite individuals other than those referred 
to in Rules 8.1 and 8.2 to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer 
questions. 

11 Call-in 

11.1 Call-in is the exercise of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s statutory power in 
section 21(3) of the Local Government Act 2000 to review an Executive decision that 
has been made but not yet implemented. Where a decision is called in and an 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides to refer it back to the Cabinet for 
reconsideration, it cannot be implemented until the call-in procedure is complete.  

11.2 Any decision of the Cabinet, an individual member of the Cabinet or a committee of 
the Cabinet, or a Key Decision made by an officer under authority delegated by the 
Cabinet, is subject to call-in. A decision may be called in only once. A 

Page 247



 

108 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

recommendation by the Council may not be called in. 

11.3 The call-in procedure and the powers to refer a decision back for reconsideration 
may only be exercised by an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, within the remit of 
its respective terms of reference.  

11.4 Call-in of decisions which may be contrary to the Budget and Policy Framework shall 
be governed by the provisions of the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
set out elsewhere within this Constitution. 

11.5 The Call-In Procedure 

11.5.1 Once made, an Executive decision shall be published, in the form of a decision 
note, within two working days at the Council’s main offices and on its public 
website. The decisions digest will be sent to all members of the Council within 
the same timescale. 

11.5.2 The decisions digest will bear the date on which it is published and will specify 
that the decision will be effective on the expiry of 5 clear working days after 
the publication of the decision and may then be implemented, unless called in 
under this provision within that 5 clear working day period. The deadline for a 
call-in request will be specified in the decisions digest. 

11.5.3 Requests for call-in may be made by the submission of a notice in accordance 
with paragraph 11.5.4 below. A request shall only be considered to be valid if 
it is signed by at least 7 members of the Council who are not members of the 
Cabinet. One of the requestors must identify themselves as the originator of 
the request and the request must specify the nature of the grounds relied 
upon. 

11.5.4 A call-in request must be in the form of a written notice submitted to the 
Monitoring Officer and received before the published deadline. Either one 
notice containing all required signatures or up to 7 separate emails (as 
appropriate) will be acceptable. 

11.5.5 The notice must set out (a) the resolution or resolutions that the member(s) 
wish to call-in; (b) the Overview & Scrutiny Committee they wish the call-in to 
be referred to; (c) the reasons why they wish the Overview and Scrutiny 
committee to consider referring it back to the Cabinet, with particular reference 
to the principles of decision making set out elsewhere within this Constitution; 
and (d) the alternative course of action or recommendations that they wish to 
propose. 

11.5.6 The call-in request will be deemed valid unless either: 

(a) The procedures set out in Procedure Rules 11.5.3 to 11.5.5 above have 
not been properly followed; 

(b) A similar decision has been called in to the committee previously; 

(c) The Executive decision has been recorded as urgent in accordance with 
Paragraph 12 below; or 

Page 248



 

109 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(d) The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Chair of the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, considers the call-in to be frivolous, 
vexatious or clearly outside the call-in provisions; 

in which case the Monitoring Officer may reject the call-in request. 

11.5.7 Before deciding on its validity, the Monitoring Officer may seek clarification of 
the call-in request from the member(s) concerned. 

11.5.8 Upon deciding on its validity, the Monitoring Officer shall forthwith notify the 
member(s) concerned, the Executive Leader and relevant Cabinet Member, 
the Chair and Vice Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and the Head of Paid Service. 

11.6 Consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

11.6.1 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that any valid call-in is reported to the next 
available meeting of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or will 
convene a special meeting if so agreed by the Chair of the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. 

11.6.2 The originator of the request for call-in will be expected to attend the meeting 
of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny committee to explain their reasons for 
the call-in and the alternative course of action or recommendations they wish 
to propose. 

11.6.3 Having considered the call-in and the reasons given, the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee may either: 

(a) Refer it back to the decision-making person or body for reconsideration, 
normally in time for its next scheduled meeting, setting out in writing the 
nature of its concerns and any alternative recommendations; 

(b) If it considers that the decision is outside the Council’s budget and Policy 
Framework, refer the matter to full Council after seeking the advice of the 
Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) in 
accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules; or 

(c) Decide to take no further action, in which case the original Executive 
decision will be effective immediately. 

11.7 Decisions Referred Back to the Decision-Maker 

11.7.1 If a decision is referred back to the original decision maker, that person or 
body shall then reconsider the matter, taking into account any concerns and 
recommendations of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and 
make a final decision, amending the decision or not, and give reasons for the 
decision. 

11.7.2 If a decision relates to an Executive function only the Cabinet can ultimately 
decide the matter, provided that it is in accordance with the Council’s budget 
and Policy Framework. 

Page 249



 

110 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

12 Call-In and Urgency 

12.1 The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision being taken 
is urgent. A decision is urgent if: 

(a) A call-in would prevent the Council reaching a decision that is required by 
statute within a specified timescale; or 

(b) Any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would seriously prejudice 
the Council’s or the public’s interests and the reasons for urgency are reported 
to the decision-making body or person before the decision is taken. 

12.2 The decision note shall state whether the decision is an urgent one, and therefore 
not subject to call-in. 

12.3 The Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee must agree to the 
decision being treated as a matter of urgency. In the absence of the Chair, the Vice 
Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s consent shall be required. 
In the absence of that person, the Chair of the Council’s consent shall be required. 
In the absence of the Chair of the Council, the Vice Chair of the Council’s consent 
shall be required. 

12.4 Where the Cabinet has recorded a decision as urgent, the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee may retrospectively review actions arising from that decision but 
cannot delay its implementation.  

13 The Party Whip 

13.1 It is generally accepted that the Party Whip should be suspended in respect of 
Overview and Scrutiny matters. However, when considering any matter in respect of 
which a member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee is subject to a formal party 
whip, the councillor must declare the existence of the whip, and the nature of it before 
the commencement of the Committee’s deliberations on the matter. The declaration, 
and the detail of the whipping arrangements, shall be recorded in the minutes of the 
meeting. 

14 Task and Finish Panels 

14.1 An Overview and Scrutiny Committee may appoint such task and finish panels as it 
considers appropriate to undertake specific tasks on its behalf. Whilst these will be 
on a task and finish basis in most cases, the Committee is not precluded from 
establishing such Panels on a more permanent basis subject to regular review. Task 
and finish panel members do not have to be members of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee but may not be members of the Cabinet. 

14.2 Where a committee establishes any Panel under Rule 14.1 above, it will set out the 
name of the Panel, its membership (including the Chair and, if appropriate, the Vice 
Chair) and the terms of reference including relevant dates for completion of the task 
or review. 

14.3 Any such Task and Finish Panel shall have the powers set out in Paragraph 8 above 
in relation to councillors and officers giving account. 

Page 250



 

111 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

14.4 Any report prepared by a Task and Finish Panel shall be subject to review by the 
relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee prior to being submitted for consideration 
by Council or the Cabinet. 

15 Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings 

15.1 An Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall consider the following business: 

(a) record of the last meeting; 

(b) consideration of any matter referred to the Committee by the Council or by the 
Cabinet; 

(c) consideration of any matter referred to the Committee for advice in relation to 
call-in or a decision; 

(d) responses of the Cabinet on reports of that Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
and 

(e) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting. 

15.2 Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee conducts investigations (e.g. with a 
view to policy development), the Committee may also ask people to attend to give 
evidence at its meetings, which are to be conducted in accordance with the following 
principles: 

(a) the investigation be conducted fairly, and all members of the Committee be 
given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and 
speak; 

(b) those assisting the Committee by giving evidence be treated with respect and 
courtesy; and 

(c) the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency of the 
investigation or analysis. 

15.3 Following any investigation or review, the relevant Committee shall prepare a report 
for submission to the Cabinet and/or Council as appropriate and shall, unless there 
are exceptional reasons, make its report and findings public. 

  

Page 251



 

112 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

8.0 COUNCILLORS 
8.1 Roles of Councillors and Officer Holders 

Part A  All councillors 

8.1.1 Responsibilities 

1. Be at the centre of community life: 

• Spend time out and about, learning about the communities that you represent, 
supporting your residents, working with local organisations (such as GPs, 
schools, police, local businesses and voluntary organisations) developing a 
shared understanding of local issues and ensuring that communities make the 
most of all the opportunities available to them. 

• Build good working relationships and earn the trust and respect of local 
partners, other members and council officers 

• Be an active member of local networks and partnerships, for example by 
acting as a school governor. 

• Communicate regularly with your community including communicating council 
policy and decisions. 

2. Contribute actively to the formation and scrutiny of the Council’s policies, 
budgets, strategies and services. 

3. Represent effectively the whole community with a special duty to their 
constituents, including those who did not vote for them. 

4. Represent the Council on outside bodies as required. 

5. Participate constructively in the good governance of the Council. 

6. Fulfil the statutory and locally determined requirements of an elected Member of 
a local authority, including compliance with all relevant codes of conduct, 
regulations, protocols and procedures, and participation in those decisions and 
activities reserved for the full Council. 

7. Share responsibility with officers of the council to act as effective and caring 
corporate parents for looked after children. 

8.1.2 Key Tasks 

1. Attend and participate effectively as a member of any committee to which the 
councillor is appointed. 

Page 252



 

113 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

2. Participate in the activities of any outside body to which the councillor is appointed, 
providing two-way communication between the organisations, and reporting as 
required to the Council.  To develop and maintain a working knowledge of the 
Council’s policies and practices in relation to that body and of the community's needs 
and aspirations. 

3. Participate in the scrutiny or performance review of the services of the Authority 
including where the Council so decides, the scrutiny of policies and budget, and their 
effectiveness in achieving the strategic objectives of the Council. 

4. Participate in any advisory group to which the councillor is appointed, as convened 
by the Cabinet from time to time. 

5. Participate, as appropriate, in consultation with the community and with other 
organisations. 

6. Develop and maintain a working knowledge of the Council’s services, management 
arrangements, organisation and activities, powers/duties, and constraints. 

7. Contribute constructively to open government and democratic renewal through active 
encouragement to the community to participate in the governance of the West 
Northamptonshire area. 

8. Maintain professional working relationships with all Members and Officers. 

9. Identify and participate in opportunities for further development and training as a 
councillor and keep abreast of developments in national and local government. 

8.1.3 Additional Responsibilities and Tasks for Cabinet councillors 

These role profiles should be read in conjunction with the role profile for all councillors. 

Part B  Executive Leader 

8.1.4 Responsibilities 

1. Ensure efficient and effective services, where they are relevant to the needs of the 
community and the responsibility of the West Northamptonshire Council, in the short, 
medium and long term. 

2. Provide visible political leadership in relation to citizens, stakeholders and partners 
in the overall co-ordination of policies, strategies and service delivery affecting the 
locality. 

3. Lead the Cabinet in its work to develop the Policy Framework and budget and take 
overall political control of the Council within the agreed Policy Framework. 

4. Lead the development of local and regional strategic partnerships. 

Page 253



 

114 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

5. Ensure the appropriate representation of the Council on key outside bodies. 

8.1.5 Key Tasks 

1. Provide leadership to the Council and its political administration, and lead the 
presentation of the recommendations, plans, policies and decisions of the Cabinet 
and the Council. 

2. Represent the Council’s political and strategic decision-making in the community and 
in discussions with regional, national and international organisations and others in 
order to pursue matters of interest to the Council and its communities and to keep 
the Council and the Cabinet informed accordingly. 

3. Appoint members of the Cabinet and allocate Cabinet portfolios.   

4. Develop and maintain good working relations and effective channels of 
communication with the Chair of each Scrutiny Committee  

5. Direct, manage and chair meetings of the Cabinet and to take responsibility, 
individually and/or collectively for any specific portfolio, including providing a political 
lead in proposing new policy, strategy, budget and service standards and reviews, 
as well as acting as spokesperson for the Council. 

6. Direct and manage the Chief Executive, and to meet regularly (with or without the 
Cabinet) with the Chief Executive and other relevant senior officers to consider and 
recommend action within approved policies and strategies. 

7. Consider the development and training needs of the Cabinet and members generally 
and arrange for training sessions or suitable briefings as appropriate. 

8. Receive and act as appropriate upon representations from councillors, the public, 
organisations and senior officers. 

Part C  All Cabinet councillors with Portfolio 

8.1.6 Responsibilities 

1. Take responsibility within the Cabinet on the basis of collective decision making and 
such individual delegation that may apply, for a portfolio of services or functions of 
the Council. 

2. Input into the Cabinet any information, intelligence or factors considered relevant to 
the issues under consideration by the Cabinet. 

3. Contribute actively through the portfolio and membership of the Cabinet to the 
formation, implementation, monitoring and scrutiny of the Council’s policies, budgets, 
strategies and services. 

Page 254



 

115 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

8.1.7 Key Tasks 

1. Participate in the Cabinet and to implement agreed policies by taking responsibility 
individually and/or collectively for any portfolio allocated by the Executive Leader, 
including proposing new policy, strategy, programming, budget and service 
standards, and leading performance review. 

2. Develop a clear understanding and in depth knowledge of the respective portfolio, 
the scope and range of the relevant services for which they are responsible and an 
awareness of current agreed policies and budgetary implications in respect of those 
services. 

3. Consult and communicate with all members, council officers, key partners and the 
community as appropriate to ensure policies, strategies, budgets and decisions are 
well informed and that Council policies are widely understood and positively 
promoted. 

4. Ensure that the Council is briefed at the appropriate time on significant issues within 
the respective portfolio – i.e. those which have financial or other major resource 
implications or which will result in a change to established policy. 

5. Act as spokesperson for the Council and answer and account to the Council and the 
community on matters within the portfolio. 

6. Work closely with the Chief Executive, Director and other senior officers responsible 
for the services within the portfolio and the relevant Overview Committee Chair. 

7. Work with officers on the implementation of agreed plans, policies and programmes 
within the portfolio and inform the Cabinet of progress and performance. 

8. Participate in scrutiny or performance reviews of services as requested by a Scrutiny 
Committee. 

9. Represent the Council and the Cabinet in the community and elsewhere as required 
by the Leader. 

8.1.8 Additional Responsibilities and Tasks for Non-Cabinet councillors 

Part D  Chair of the Council 

8.1.9 Responsibilities 

1. Uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution and to interpret the Constitution 
when necessary. 

2. Preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can be carried out efficiently 
and with regard to the rights of councillors and the interests of the community. 

Page 255



 

116 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

3. Ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of concern to 
the local community and the place at which members are able to hold the Cabinet to 
account. 

4. Promote public involvement in the Council's activities. 

5. Be the conscience of the Council, and act impartially. 

6. Attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council and/or they determine 
appropriate and take precedence at formal occasions. 

7. Ensure that the dignity of the office and Council is maintained at all times. 

8.1.10  Key Tasks 

1. Chair all meetings of the full Council. 

2. Chair major consultation meetings organised by the Council, as appropriate. 

3. Set the standard of conduct to be expected from all councillors. 

4. Help represent the Council in the community and in discussions with regional, 
national and international organisations and others. 

5. Attend functions appropriate to the position of Chair of the Council. 

6. Act as host to visiting Royalty, civic dignitaries and other important visitors. 

7. Meet with relevant officers to ensure the receipt of appropriate advice to enable 
effective decisions. 

  

Page 256



 

117 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

8.2 Members’ Code of Conduct 

PART 1: THE CODE 

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION 

The Members’ Code of Conduct is intended to promote high standards of behaviour 
amongst councillors of West Northamptonshire Council. 

The Code is underpinned by the following seven Nolan principles of public life, which should 
be adhered to when interpreting the meaning of the Code.  councillors should behave with: 

1. Selflessness – and act solely in terms of the public interest.  They should not act in 
order to gain financial or other benefits for themselves, their family or their friends. 

2. Integrity – and should not place themselves under any financial or other obligation 
to outside individuals or organisations that might seek to influence them in the 
performance of their official duties. 

3. Objectivity – in carrying out public business, including making public appointments, 
awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits; choices 
should be made on merit. 

4. Accountability – and are accountable for their decisions and actions to the public 
and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office. 

5. Openness – and should be as open as possible about all the decisions and actions 
that they take.  They should give reasons for their decisions and restrict information 
only when the wider public interest clearly demands. 

6. Honesty – and declare any private interests relating to their public duties and to take 
steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest. 

7. Leadership – and should promote and support these principles by leadership and 
example. 

 

SECTION 2: GENERAL PROVISIONS 

1. Introduction and Interpretation 

1.1 This Code applies to all councillors and co-opted members of West 
Northamptonshire Council. It is your responsibility to comply with the provisions of 
this Code. 

1.2 In this Code: 

(a) “the Council” refers to West Northamptonshire Council. 

Page 257



 

118 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(b) “Councillor" means any person being a Member of West Northamptonshire 
Council. 

(c) “Meeting” means any meeting of: 

(i) the Council 

(ii) the Cabinet 

(iii) any of the Council’s or the Cabinet’s committees, sub-committees, joint 
committees, joint sub-committees, or area committees 

(iv) any of the Council’s advisory groups and executive boards, working 
parties and panels. 

2. Scope 

2.1 This Code applies to you whenever you are acting in the capacity as a Member of 
the Council: not only when attending meetings. For example, it will also include 
Members’ dealings with officers, Members’ dealings with the public, when Members 
represent the Council on outside bodies, any statements made by a Member on 
behalf of the Council, etc. 

3. General Obligations  

3.1 You must treat others with respect. 

3.2 You must not do anything which may cause the Council to fall foul of UK equalities 
legislation. 

3.3 You must not bully or intimidate any person or do anything which compromises the 
independence of those who work for the Council. 

3.4 For the purposes of this paragraph, bullying is defined as: “offensive, intimidating, 
malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power through means that 
undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Examples of bullying include: 

(a) spreading malicious rumours, or insulting someone by word or behaviour. 

(b) copying communications that are critical about someone to others who do not 
need to know. 

(c) ridiculing or demeaning someone – picking on them or setting them up to fail. 

(d) exclusion or victimization. 

(e) unfair treatment. 

Page 258



 

119 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(f) overbearing supervision or other misuse of power or position. 

(g) unwelcome sexual advances – touching, standing too close, display of offensive 
materials, asking for sexual favours, making decisions on the basis of sexual 
advances being accepted or rejected. 

(h) making threats or comments about job security without foundation. 

(i) deliberately undermining a competent worker by overloading and constant 
criticism. 

(j) preventing individuals progressing by intentionally blocking promotion or training 
opportunities. 

3.5 You must not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or may be: 

(a) a complainant; 

(b) a witness; or 

(c) involved in the administration of this Code. 

3.6 You must not make trivial or malicious allegations against others. 

3.7 You must not do anything which compromises or may compromise the impartiality of 
those who work for, or on behalf of, the Council. 

3.8 You must not conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as 
bringing your office or the Council into disrepute. 

3.9 You must not accept any gifts or hospitality that could be seen by the public as likely 
to influence your judgement in relation to any matter that you deal with in your official 
capacity. 

3.10 You must not pass on information given to you in confidence by anyone, or 
information acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is 
of a confidential nature, unless: 

(a) you have the consent of a person authorised to give it 

(b) you are required by law to do so 

(c) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining professional 
advice, provided that they agree not to pass on the information to any other 
person; or  

(d) the disclosure is: 

Page 259



 

120 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(i) reasonable and in the public interest; and  

(ii) made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements 
of the Council.  

3.11 You must not prevent another person from gaining access to information to which 
that person is entitled by law. 

3.12 You must not use or attempt to use your position as a councillor improperly to confer 
on, or secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage. 

3.13 You must, when using, or authorising the use by others of, the resources of the 
Council: 

(a) act in accordance with the Council's reasonable requirements 

(b) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes 
(including party political purposes).  

3.14 You must have regard to any Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local 
Government Act 1986.  

3.15 You must comply with any formal standards investigation into your conduct or the 
conduct of another councillor. 

3.16 You must, when reaching decisions on any matter, have regard to any relevant 
advice provided to you by: 

(a) the Council's Chief Finance Officer; or  

(b) the Council's Monitoring Officer 

3.17 You must give reasons for all decisions in accordance with any statutory 
requirements and any reasonable additional requirements imposed by the Council. 

 

SECTION 3: INTERESTS 

1. Registration of Interests 

1.1 Within 28 days of this Code being adopted by your Council or your election or 
appointment to office (where that is later) you must register with the Monitoring 
Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out in Appendix A (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) and Appendix B (Other Registerable Interests). 

1.2 You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28 days 
of becoming aware of any new interest in Appendix A or B, or of any change to a 

Page 260



 

121 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer. 

1.3 The register of interests of all councillors is a public record and must be available 
online for members of the public to view. 

1.4 Under the provisions of the Localism Act 2011 and the Relevant Authorities 
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, you must give the Monitoring 
Officer written notice of any pecuniary or other interests (and any changes), which 
apply to you or where it is an interest of your spouse or partner (a person with whom 
you are living as a husband and wife; or a person with whom you are living with as if 
you are civil partners) within 28 days of: 

(a) election or appointment to office (if that is later); 
(b) any change to the interests; 
(c) disclosing an interest at a meeting (where not otherwise entered on the register); 
(d) becoming aware of the interest when solely discharging a function of the authority 

as a member of the council’s Cabinet. 

1.5 It is a prosecutable offence to fail to notify the Monitoring Officer of your interests or 
knowingly/recklessly provide false or misleading information. 

2. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

2.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting in which you have an interest in Appendix A, you 
must declare the interest (unless it is sensitive - see section 5 below), not participate, 
or participate further, in any discussion or vote further on the matter and must not 
remain in the room unless granted a dispensation. 

3. Other registerable interests 

3.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting in which you have an interest in Appendix B, you 
must declare the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public 
are also allowed to speak at the meeting but must not take part in any vote on the 
matter unless you have been granted a dispensation. 

4. Non-registerable interests 

4.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to your own financial interest (and 
is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest) or your own wellbeing or is otherwise to your 
advantage or relates to a financial interest or wellbeing or is otherwise to the 
advantage of a relative, friend or close associate, you must disclose the interest and 
not vote on the matter unless granted a dispensation. You may speak on the matter 
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting.   

4.2 Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects your own financial interest or a 
financial interest of a relative, friend, close associate or body covered by Appendix B 

Page 261



 

122 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

you must disclose the interest;  

4.3 Where the matter referred to in paragraph 4.2 affects the financial interest to a greater 
extent than if affects the financial interests of the majority of inhabitants of the area 
affected by the decision and a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts 
would believe that it would affect your view of the wider public interest, you must not 
vote on the matter unless granted a dispensation. You may speak on the matter only 
if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. 

5. Sensitive Interests 

5.1 Where you consider (and the Council’s Monitoring Officer agrees) that the nature of 
a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, or other interest is such that disclosure of the details 
of the interest could lead to you or a person connected with you being subject to 
intimidation or violence, it is a “sensitive interest” for the purposes of the Code. The 
details of the sensitive interest do not need to be disclosed to a meeting, although 
the fact that you have a sensitive interest must be disclosed. 

5.2 In granting any dispensation, the overriding concern should be the safety and welfare 
of the councillor and their family. If the Monitoring Officer is satisfied that there is a 
genuine and well-founded threat of violence or intimidation to the councillor if their 
details were published by the Council, then such details should not be published. 
Receiving criticism or complaint may not amount to such and may be seen as simply 
part of the expected role of an elected politician. The Monitoring Officer will usually 
ask for evidence to substantiate the threat to hold on record. 

5.3 It should be noted that, even if a dispensation is granted, the Register shall still show 
the existence of an interest with an explanatory note saying that the details have 
been withheld under these provisions. 

6. Single Member Action 

6.1 If you are empowered to discharge functions of the Council acting alone (for example, 
as a member of the Cabinet), and: 

(a) have and are aware that you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter 
to be dealt with by you in that role, you must not take any action, or further action 
on the matter (except for the purposes of enabling the matter to be dealt with by 
other means);   

(b) have and are aware that you have an interest in any matter dealt with by you in 
that role, which relates to an interest in Appendix B (‘Other Registerable Interest’), 
you must not take any action, or further action, on the matter (except for the 
purposes of enabling the matter to be dealt with by other means);   

Page 262



 

123 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(c) the matter to be dealt with by you in that role relates to your own financial interest 
(and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest) or your own wellbeing or is otherwise 
to your advantage or relates to a financial interest or wellbeing or is otherwise to 
the advantage of a relative, friend or close associate, you must not take any action 
or further action on the matter (except for the purposes of enabling the matter to 
be dealt with by other means) and you must notify the Monitoring Officer; 

(d) the matter to be dealt with by you in that role affects your own financial interest or 
a financial interest of a relative, friend close associate or body covered by 
Appendix B, you must notify the Monitoring Officer before taking any action or 
further action, and if the Monitoring Officer determines that the matter affects the 
financial interest to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the 
majority of inhabitants of the area affected by the decision and a reasonable 
member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it would affect your 
view of the wider public interest, you must not take any action or further action.     

 

APPENDIX A – DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

1. Breaches of the rules relating to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests may lead to criminal 
sanctions being imposed. 

2. You have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest if it is of a description specified in 
regulations made by the Secretary of State and either: 

2.1 it is an interest of yours, or 

2.2 it is an interest of: 

(a) your spouse or civil partner 

(b) a person with whom you are living as husband and wife, or 

(c) a person with whom you are living as if you were civil partners; and 

(d) you are aware that that other person has the interest. 

3. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests are: 

INTEREST DESCRIPTION 
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried 
on by you for profit or gain.  

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the Council) made or provided within the relevant 
period in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying 
out duties as a Member, or towards your election expenses. 

Page 263



 

124 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract which is made between you (or a body in which 
you have a beneficial interest) and the Council 

(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and 

(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
Council. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in 
the area of the Council for a month or longer. 

Corporate 
tenancies 

Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) 

(a) the landlord is the Council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial 

interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or 
land in the area of the Council; and 

(b) either 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds 
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body; or 

(ii) where the share capital of that body is of more than 
one class, the total nominal value of the shares of any 
one class in which you have a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the 
relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a director, 
or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest; 

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of a registered society within 
the meaning given by section 1(1) of the co-operative and community benefit Societies Act 
2014, other than a society registered as a credit union. 

“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry 
with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to 
receive income; 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 

Page 264



 

125 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building 
society. 

 

APPENDIX B - OTHER REGISTERABLE INTERESTS 

1. Any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which 
you are appointed or nominated by the Council; 

2. Any body- 

(a) exercising functions of a public nature; 

(b) directed to charitable purposes; or 

(c) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
(including any political party or trade union) of which you are a member or in a 
position of general control or management; 

3. Any gifts or hospitality worth more than an estimated value of £10 which you have 
received by virtue of your office, or a series of gifts or hospitality, from the same source 
within any 12-month period which together are worth more than an estimated value of 
£10.   

 

PART 2: GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY OFFERED TO COUNCILLORS 

1. General Principles 

1.1 Councillors should treat with caution any offer of a gift, favour or hospitality that is 
made to them. Whilst the person or organisation making the offer may be doing so 
entirely without expectation of gain, the public may see it differently if that person or 
organisation is doing business, or seeking to do business with the Council. councillors 
should ask themselves “Would I have been given this if I was not on the Council?” 

1.2 It is essential that any suggestion of improper influence should be avoided. When 
receiving offers of gifts and hospitality, councillors should be particularly sensitive as 
to their timing in relation to decisions which the Council may be taking. For example, 
hospitality must not be accepted knowingly from interested parties during the tendering 
period of a contract, or whilst an application for planning permission or some other 
kind of permission/decision is being considered by the Council. 

1.3 councillors may come into contact with individuals seeking to enhance the prospects 
of their business. Sometimes suppliers (or potential suppliers/tenderers for services) 
make approaches to councillors with a view to demonstrating a particular product or 
service. In order to avoid suspicion of unhealthy influence, councillors should ensure 

Page 265



 

126 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

that such offers are advised to appropriate officers. 

1.4 As with all other aspects of this Code, councillors should be confident that whatever 
they do should be seen to be an example to the community of proper conduct and 
behaviour. 

2. Registering Gifts and Hospitality 

2.1 This Code of Conduct sets out the requirement for councillors to register the receipt of 
any gift or hospitality worth £10 or over that they receive in connection with their official 
duties as a councillor. If in doubt as to the value, the councillor should register the offer 
anyway. An accumulation of gifts from the same source over a short period that adds 
up to £10 or more should also be registered. The Member must register the gift or 
hospitality and its source by completing a written declaration within 28 days of 
receiving it. 

2.2 The Council will maintain a register of gifts and hospitality received by councillors 
where the value is £10 or more in value. The register is maintained by Democratic 
Services on behalf of the Monitoring Officer. Members should immediately notify 
Democratic Services of any such gifts or hospitality received and enter the relevant 
details in the register. The register will be made available to the public via the Council’s 
website. It will be updated at least quarterly. 

2.3 Councillors do not need to register gifts and hospitality that are not related to their role 
as a councillor. 

 

8.3 Member Complaints Procedure 

1. Context 

1.1 These “Arrangements” set out how you may make a complaint that a Member of this 
Council has failed to comply with the Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct, or in the 
case of a Parish or Town Councillor, that Parish or Town Council’s Code of Conduct, 
and sets out how the Council will deal with it. 

1.2 These Arrangements include the appointment of at least two Independent Persons, 
whose views must be sought by the Council before it takes a decision on an allegation 
which it has decided warrants investigation, and whose views can be sought by the 
Council at any other stage, or by a Member against whom an allegation has been 
made. 

2. The Code of Conduct 

2.1 The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members, which is set out elsewhere 
within the constitution. 

Page 266



 

127 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

3. Making a complaint 

3.1 If you wish to make a complaint, please write to: 

The Monitoring Officer 
West Northamptonshire Council 
One Angel Square 
Angel Street 
Northampton 
NN1 1ED 

 or e-mail the Monitoring Officer at: monitoringofficer@westnorthants.gov.uk. 

3.2 The Monitoring Officer is a senior officer of the Council who has statutory 
responsibility for maintaining the Register of Members’ Interests and who is 
responsible for administering the process in respect of complaints of alleged Member 
misconduct. 

3.3 In order to ensure that we have all the information which we need to be able to 
process your complaint, please use the complaint form, which is available on request 
or can be downloaded from the Council’s website, next to the Code of Conduct. 

3.4 You are required to provide us with your name and a contact address or email 
address, so that we can acknowledge receipt of your complaint and keep you 
informed of its progress. If you want to keep your name and address confidential, 
please indicate this in the space provided on the complaint form, in which case we 
will not disclose your name and address to the Member against whom you make the 
complaint, without your prior consent.  The Council does not normally investigate 
anonymous complaints, unless there is a clear public interest in doing so. 

3.5 The Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of your complaint as soon as 
possible after receiving it and will keep you informed of the progress of your 
complaint. 

4. Initial Assessment of Complaints Received 

4.1 The Monitoring Officer will review all complaints received by the Council and may 
consult with at least one of the Independent Persons (see section 13 below) at this 
stage.  In assessing the complaint, the Monitoring Officer will apply the following 
‘public interest’ test: 

‘CAN’ we investigate your complaint? 

(a) Is the person you are complaining about a councillor? 

(b) Did the conduct occur within the last six months? 

Page 267



 

128 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(c) Is the conduct something that is covered by the code? 

4.2 If a complaint has been made but does not fall within the scope or intent of these 
arrangements, the Monitoring Officer may still decide to take informal action in order 
to resolve the matter.   

4.3 If the Monitoring Officer determines the complaint can be investigated, the following 
test will be applied: 

‘SHOULD’ we investigate your complaint? 

(a) Is there evidence which supports the complaint? 

(b) Is the conduct something which it is possible to investigate? 

(c) Would an investigation be proportionate and in the public interest? 

4.4 If the Monitoring Officer determines the complaint should be investigated, they will 
then decide whether the complaint: 

(a) warrants investigation or,  

(b) may be suitable for alternative resolution without investigation, 

4.5 For the complaint to be admissible it must be in a legible format and relate to an 
existing Member of the Council. 

4.6 In determining whether or not the complaint should be referred for investigation or to 
seek alternative resolution the Monitoring Officer and Independent Persons will have 
regard to a range of factors including the following: 

(a) Whether there is sufficient information upon which to base a decision; 

(b) How serious is the alleged complaint; 

(c) Is the complaint politically motivated, vexatious or tit for tat; 

(d) Did the action complained about occur recently or not; 

(e) Do the allegations relate to actions occurring whilst the Member was acting in 
their official capacity or do they relate to their private life; 

(f) Whether the matter is considered suitable for alternative resolution and whether 
either the Member concerned or the complainant is not prepared to accept this 
as a solution. 

4.7 The initial assessment of the complaint will be held as soon as possible after receipt 
of your complaint and you will be informed, in writing, of the outcome by the 

Page 268



 

129 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

Monitoring Officer. You will be informed on progress throughout the process.  

4.8 Unless exceptional circumstances exist that indicate otherwise, the Monitoring 
Officer will inform the Member concerned of the receipt and nature of the complaint 
and invite their comments. 

4.9 Where the Monitoring Officer requires additional information in order to come to a 
decision, they may come back to you for such information, and may request 
information from the Member against whom your complaint is directed.  

4.10 If, during the assessment of the initial complaint, it becomes clear that either the 
Monitoring Officer or the Independent Person have a conflict of interest in relation to 
the complaint, they will not play any further role in the assessment of the complaint. 
In order that the complaint can be assessed, steps will be taken to appoint a 
Monitoring Officer (or suitably qualified person) or an Independent Person from 
another authority to assess the complaint and take any further steps required under 
this procedure.  

5. Alternative Resolution 

5.1 In appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer may seek to resolve the complaint 
informally, without the need for a formal investigation. The Monitoring Officer must 
consult with an Independent Person about this course of action. Such informal 
resolution may involve the Member accepting that their conduct was unacceptable 
and offering an apology, or other remedial action by the Council. Where the Member 
or the Council makes a reasonable offer of informal resolution, but you are not willing 
to accept that offer, the Monitoring Officer (and Independent Person) will take 
account of this in deciding whether the complaint warrants a formal investigation. 

5.2 If your complaint identifies criminal conduct or breach of other regulation by any 
person, the Monitoring Officer has the power to call-in the Police and other regulatory 
agencies. 

6. If the Complaint is referred for Investigation how is the investigation 
conducted? 

6.1 If the Monitoring Officer decides that a complaint merits formal investigation, they will 
appoint an Investigating Officer, who may be another senior officer of the Council, an 
officer of another Council or an external investigator. The Monitoring Officer will agree 
an investigation plan with the Investigating Officer. The Investigating Officer will 
decide whether they need to meet or speak to you to understand the nature of your 
complaint.  If so, then you can explain your understanding of events and suggest 
what documents the Investigating Officer needs to see and who the Investigating 
Officer needs to interview.  The Monitoring Officer will consult with an Independent 
Person about the need for a formal investigation. 

Page 269



 

130 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

6.2 The Investigating Officer would normally write to the Member against whom you have 
complained and provide them with a copy of your complaint.  The Member would be 
asked to provide their explanation of events. The Investigating Officer will identify 
what documents they need to see and who they need to interview.  In exceptional 
cases, where it is appropriate to keep your identity confidential, or disclosure of 
details of the complaint to the Member might prejudice the investigation, the 
Monitoring Officer can delete your name and address from the papers given to the 
Member, or delay notifying the Member until the investigation has progressed 
sufficiently. 

6.3 At the end of their investigation, the Investigating Officer will produce a draft report 
and will send copies of that draft report, in confidence, to you and to the Member 
concerned, to give you both an opportunity to identify any matter in that draft report 
which you disagree with or which you consider requires further consideration. 

6.4 Having received and taken account of any comments which you may make on the 
draft report, the Investigating Officer will send it to the Monitoring Officer. 

7. What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is no evidence 
of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct? 

7.1 The Monitoring Officer will, in consultation with the Independent Persons, review the 
Investigating Officer’s report and, if they are satisfied that the Investigating Officer’s 
report is sufficient, the Monitoring Officer will write to you and to the Member 
concerned, notifying you that no further action is required.  

8. What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is evidence of a 
failure to comply with the Code of Conduct? 

8.1 The Monitoring Officer will, in consultation with an Independent Person, review the 
Investigating Officer’s report and will then either send the matter for local hearing 
before the Hearings Sub-Committee made up of councillors from the Council’s 
Democracy and Standards Committee or seek an alternative resolution. 

8.2 Local Resolution 

The Monitoring Officer and Independent Person may consider that the matter can be 
resolved without the need for a hearing. Such resolution may include the Member 
accepting that their conduct was unacceptable and offering an apology, and/or other 
remedial action by the Council. If the Member complies with the suggested resolution, 
the Monitoring Officer will report the matter to the Democracy and Standards 
Committee for information, but will take no further action.  

8.3 Local Hearing 

Page 270



 

131 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

If the Monitoring Officer and Independent Person consider that local resolution is not 
appropriate or it isn’t possible to achieve, the Monitoring Officer will report the 
Investigating Officer’s report to the Hearings Sub-Committee, which will conduct a 
local hearing in private to decide whether the Member has failed to comply with the 
Code of Conduct and, if so, whether to take any action in respect of the Member. 

In summary, the Monitoring Officer will conduct a “pre-hearing process”, requiring the 
Member to give their response to the Investigating Officer’s report. This is in order to 
identify what is likely to be agreed and what is likely to be contentious at the hearing. 
The Chair of the Hearings Sub-Committee may issue directions as to the manner in 
which the hearing will be conducted. At the hearing, the Investigating Officer will 
present their report, call such witnesses as they consider necessary and make 
representations to substantiate their conclusion that the Member has failed to comply 
with the Code of Conduct. For this purpose, the Investigating Officer may ask you as 
the complainant to attend and give evidence to the Hearings Sub-Committee.  

The Member will then have an opportunity to give their evidence, to call witnesses 
and to make representations to the Hearings Sub-Committee as to why they consider 
that they did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct.  

The Hearings Sub-Committee, with the benefit of any advice from an Independent 
Person, may conclude that the Member did not fail to comply with the Code of 
Conduct and so dismiss the complaint. Alternatively, if the Hearings sub-committee 
finds that the Member did fail to comply with the Code of Conduct, the Chair will 
inform the Member of this finding and the Hearings Sub-Committee will then consider 
what action, if any, the Hearings Sub-Committee should take as a result of the 
Member’s failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.  In doing this, the Hearings 
Sub-Committee will give the Member an opportunity to make representations to the 
Panel and will consult an Independent Person. 

If the Member wishes to make representations to the Panel and/or consult with an 
Independent Person the Hearing will adjourn, normally for one week, and reconvene 
to hear any representation or statement from the Member before either confirming or 
amending their decision.  If the Member does not wish to make representations to 
the Panel, or consult with an Independent Person, the decision of the Panel will stand 
as announced. 

9. What action can the Hearings Sub-Committee take where a Member has failed 
to comply with the Code of Conduct? 

9.1 The Council has delegated to the Hearings Sub-Committee such of its powers to take 
action in respect of individual members (including town and parish council members) 
as may be necessary to promote and maintain high standards of conduct.  

9.2 If, following an investigation and hearing, it is established that a member has failed 

Page 271



 

132 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

to comply with their council’s Member Code of Conduct, one or more of the following 
sanctions may be applied:  

(a) Publish findings in respect of the member’s conduct;  

(b) Report findings to the relevant council for information; 

(c) Recommend to the relevant council that the member be issued with a formal 
censure or be reprimanded; 

(d) Recommend to the member’s Group Leader (or in the case of un-grouped 
members, recommend to the relevant Council or committees) that they be 
removed from any or all committees or sub-committees of the council;  

(e) Where Executive arrangements exist, recommend to the Executive Leader 
that the member be removed from Cabinet, or removed from particular 
portfolio responsibilities;  

(f) Instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange or recommend training for the 
member;  

(g) Instruct the Monitoring Officer to mediate between the complainant and the 
Member; 

(h) Remove or recommend the removal of the member from any outside 
appointments to which they have been appointed or nominated by their council 
where the complaint relates to that appointment and for a specified period of 
time;  

(i) Withdraw or recommend withdrawal of facilities provided to the member by 
their council, such as a computer, website and/or email and internet access, 
which may have been abused or improperly used; 

(j) Exclude or recommend the exclusion of the member from their council’s 
offices or other premises, with the exception of meeting rooms as necessary 
for attending full Council, committee and sub-committee meetings.  

(k) Recommend that the member concerned makes a formal written or oral 
apology to the full Council. 

9.3 There are no powers that allow the Council to suspend or disqualify a Member or to 
withdraw Members’ basic allowances. However, removing a Member from the 
Cabinet or other Committee may lead to a loss of a Special Responsibility Allowance 
that position was entitled to for the period of the suspension. 

10. What happens at the end of the hearing? 

Page 272



 

133 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

10.1 At the end of the hearing, the Chair will state the decision of the Hearings Sub-
Committee as to whether the Member failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and 
as to any actions which the Hearings Sub-Committee resolves to take. 

10.2 As soon as reasonably practicable thereafter and subject to any adjournment as set 
out in 8.3 above, the Monitoring Officer shall prepare a formal decision notice in 
consultation with the Chair of the Hearings Sub-Committee and send a copy to you 
and to the Member. The decision notice will be made available for public inspection 
after 20 working days have elapsed from the date the decision notice was issued 
(provided there has not been a request for a review under paragraph 11 of these 
Arrangements) and the decision reported to the next convenient meetings of the 
Democracy and Standards Committee and of the Council. 

11. Appeals and Reviews 

11.1 There is no right of appeal for you as complainant or for the Member against a 
decision of the Monitoring Officer. 

11.2 However, a review of the decision of the Hearings Sub-Committee may be sought by 
you or the Member concerned in the following circumstances: 

(a) where you or the Member concerned consider that the Local Hearing was 
not conducted in accordance with the process set out in these Arrangements 
or the principles of natural justice (see below); or 

(b) where significant new evidence is available which has not been considered 
by the Hearings Sub-Committee. 

11.3 Any such request for a review should be made to the Monitoring Officer in writing (by 
letter or e-mail) within 20 working days from the date the decision notice was issued 
to the parties and: 

(a) if made pursuant to paragraph 11.2a above, must set out specifically how it 
is considered the Local Hearing was not conducted in accordance with the 
process set out in these Arrangements or the principles of natural justice; or 

(b) if made pursuant to paragraph 11.2b above, must include copies of the new 
evidence or explain what the evidence is. 

11.4 The Monitoring Officer may reject the request for a review if after consultation with 
an Independent Person they conclude that substantive reasons have not been 
provided to support the request or the further evidence provided is insufficient to 
support a request for a review. Simply expressing disagreement with the Hearings 
Sub-Committee’s decision or repeating the original complaint will result in the request 
for review being rejected. If the request for review is rejected, you and the Member 
will be advised in writing of the reasons for rejection.   

Page 273



 

134 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

11.5 If a request for a review is received (provided it is not rejected), the Monitoring Officer 
will notify the complainant and Member concerned and convene a meeting of the 
Review Panel. 

11.6 The Review Panel will review the Hearings Sub-Committee’s decision in private. The 
Review Panel will have the documentation considered by the Hearings Sub-
Committee and the decision notice of the Hearings Sub-Committee before it. It will 
not conduct a re-hearing. It will only consider the request for the review, (including 
any new evidence presented with the request for review) together with the 
complainant or subject Member’s response to the request for the review and 
response to any new evidence. The Review Panel will also have the discretion to re-
hear any of the original evidence if it considers this necessary 

11.7 The Review Panel will either: 

(a) confirm the original decision of the Hearings Sub-Committee; or 

(b) disagree with the original decision of the Hearings Sub-Committee and 
substitute its own decision (which may only be a decision that was open to the 
Hearings Sub-Committee). 

11.8 At the end of the review, the Chair of the Review Panel will explain the Review 
Panel’s reasons for its decision. Within 5 working days of the decision of the Review 
Panel, the Monitoring Officer shall prepare a formal decision notice in consultation 
with the Chair of the Review Panel and send a copy to you and to the Member. The 
decision notice will be made available for public inspection and will be reported to the 
next convenient meeting of the Democracy and the Council. 

11.9 Unless in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer in consultation with an Independent 
Person exceptional circumstances exist, the Review Panel must make a decision 
within two calendar months of the receipt of the request for a review. 

11.10 There is no right of appeal of the decision of the Review Panel which is final. 

11.11 If you feel that the Council has failed to deal with your complaint properly, you may 
make a complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman or take your own legal 
advice as to options that might be open to you. 

12. What is the Hearings Sub-Committee? 

12.1 The Hearings Sub-Committee is a sub-committee of the Council’s Democracy and 
Standards Committee. It will comprise three members of the Democracy and 
Standards Committee. 

12.2 Independent Persons are invited to attend all meetings of the Hearings Sub-
Committee and their views are sought and taken into consideration before the 

Page 274



 

135 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

Hearings Sub-Committee takes any decision on whether the Member’s conduct 
constitutes a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct and as to any action to be 
taken following a finding of failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

13. What is the Review Panel? 

13.1 The Review Panel is a sub-committee of the Council’s Democracy and Standards 
Committee. It will comprise three members of the Democracy and Standards 
Committee who did not sit on the Hearings Sub-Committee, have not previously been 
involved in the matter concerned and who do not otherwise have any conflict of 
interest. 

13.2 Independent Persons are invited to attend all meetings of the Review Panel and their 
views are sought and taken into consideration before the Review Panel takes any 
decision on whether the Member’s conduct constitutes a failure to comply with the 
Code of Conduct and as to any action to be taken following a finding of failure to 
comply with the Code of Conduct. 

14. Who are the Independent Persons? 

14.1 The Council has five Independent Persons. 

14.2 A person cannot be “independent” if they: 

(a) are, or have been within the past five years, a Member, co-opted Member or 
officer of the Council or of a parish council within the Council’s area; or 

(b) are a relative or close friend of a person involved in making or determining the 
complaint.  For this purpose, “relative” means: 

(i) the other person’s spouse or civil partner; 

(ii) living with the other person as husband and wife or as if they were civil 
partners; 

(iii) a grandparent of the other person; 

(iv) a lineal descendant of a grandparent of the other person; 

(v) a parent, sibling or child of a person within paragraphs (i) or (ii); 

(vi) the spouse or civil partner of a person within paragraph (iii), (iv) or (v); or 

(vii) living with a person within paragraph (iii), (iv) or (v) as husband and wife or 
as if they were civil partners. 

15. Being accompanied at a Local Hearing or Review Panel meeting 

Page 275



 

136 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

15.1 Both the complainant and the Member complained about may choose to bring 
another person with them to the Local Hearing and any Review Panel meeting (if one 
takes place) to support (but not represent) them. It shall be a matter for the Chair of 
the Hearings Sub-Committee and the Chair of the Review Panel to issue directions 
as to the manner in which a supporting person may participate in the Local 
Hearing/Review Panel meeting, to ensure there is a balance between a party’s need 
to be supported and the need for the Hearings Sub-Committee and/Review Panel to 
conduct its business fairly and efficiently.     

16. Principles of Natural Justice 

16.1 For the avoidance of doubt, it is expressly stated that the procedures in these 
Arrangements must be conducted in accordance with the principles of natural justice.  
In summary, this means that each party has the right to a fair hearing, the right to 
make their case to an impartial person/group of people, and that the decision makers 
in this process act without bias or apparent bias, act impartially and do not create any 
procedural irregularities. 

17. Service 

17.1 Where it is necessary for any documentation to be sent to a member against whom 
an allegation of breach of the Code has been made, those documents may be sent 
by recorded delivery post to that member’s usual address and/or by e-mail to the e-
mail address notified to the Council. Any documents sent by such a method are 
deemed to be served for the purpose of these arrangements. 

18. Revision of these arrangements 

18.1 The Council may by resolution agree to amend these arrangements and has 
delegated to the Chair of the Hearings Sub-Committee (and the Chair of the Review 
Panel in cases where there is a review), the right to depart from these arrangements 
where they consider that it is expedient to do so in order to secure the effective and 
fair consideration of any matter. 

  

Page 276



 

137 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

8.4 Member/Officer Protocol 

1. Introduction 

1.1 A good relationship between councillors and officers is characterised by mutual 
respect and trust and is essential to the successful working of the organisation. 
councillors and officers should speak to each other openly and honestly; they are 
indispensable to each other. Nothing in this Protocol is intended to change that 
relationship. 

1.2 The purpose of this Protocol is to help councillors and officers perform effectively by 
giving guidance on their respective roles and expectations and on their relationship 
with each other. It is intended to promote clarity and the smooth running of the Council, 
and ensure that impartial and objective advice is obtained. 

1.3 The Protocol also gives guidance on what to do on the rare occasions when things go 
wrong. Responsibility for the operation of this Protocol lies with the Chief Executive of 
the Council and the Monitoring Officer. 

1.4 The Protocol must be read and operated in the context of all relevant legislation, 
national and local Codes of Conduct, the Council’s Codes of Conduct and other 
supporting procedures such as the Complaints and Whistleblowing procedures, 
commissioning and procedure for confidential reporting. Breach of this protocol may 
also constitute a breach of the councillor, and the Employee, Codes of Conduct. 

2. Roles of councillors and Officers 

2.1 Councillors and officers are servants of the public and they are indispensable to one 
another. Their responsibilities are distinct. councillors are responsible to the electorate 
and set policy and direction. They are elected to serve a term of office. Officers are 
employed by and responsible to the whole Council. An officer’s job is to give advice to 
the Council, and to carry out the Council’s work under the direction and control of the 
Council, the Cabinet, and relevant committees, etc. Mutual respect and co-operation 
between councillors and officers are essential to good local government. 

Councillors 

2.2 Councillors have the following main areas of responsibility: 

(a) contributing to determining the policy of the Council and giving it leadership; 

(b) monitoring and reviewing the performance of the Council in implementing that 
policy and delivering services; 

(c) representing the Council in their local areas and externally; 

(d) acting on behalf of their constituents.  

Page 277



 

138 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

2.3 All councillors must respect the impartiality of officers’ information and advice, must 
not ask them to undertake work of a party-political nature, or to do anything that would 
put them in difficulty in the event of a change in the political composition of the Council. 

2.4 Councillors must recognise that no officer should be expected to give political advice, 
and those that are in ‘politically restricted’ posts are specifically debarred from 
engaging in active political work. 

2.5 When dealing with Council business, councillors must be mindful of the provisions 
relating to interests in the councillor Code of Conduct and avoid involvement in matters 
that could be deemed to be breaches of these provisions. councillors should also be 
aware of legislative constraints on their behaviour. For example, they should not visit 
certain Council establishments without the appropriate checks having been 
completed.  

Members of the Cabinet and Committee Chairs 

2.6 Members of the Cabinet and Chairs and Vice Chairs of committees, Boards, Panels 
etc, have additional responsibilities and their relationships with officers whilst carrying 
out those roles may be different from, and more complex than those of councillors 
without those responsibilities. 

Officers 

2.7 An officer’s role is: 

(a) to give advice and information to all councillors on an impartial basis, using 
their professional expertise and 

(b) to implement the policies determined by the Council, provided the policies are 
within the law. 

2.8 In all advice, including reports, it is the responsibility of the officer to express their own 
advice in an objective and professional manner, and make recommendations based 
on this. An officer may report the views of individual councillors on an issue. If the 
councillor wishes to express a view contrary to the recommendation, they must not 
pressure the officer to make a recommendation contrary to the officer’s professional 
view. 

2.9 Certain officers e.g. Chief Executive of the Council, Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) have responsibilities in law over and above their 
obligations to the Council and to individual councillors. These obligations should be 
respected. These officers must not be obstructed in the discharge of these 
responsibilities, and/or be victimised for discharging these responsibilities. 

2.10 Officers who are professionally qualified may be bound to observe professional 

Page 278



 

139 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

standards in giving advice and councillors must respect this. Officers will also be bound 
by the limits of their authority in the Council. 

3. Expectations 

3.1 Councillors can expect from officers: 

(a) A commitment to the Council as a whole, and not to any political group; 

(b) A working partnership; 

(c) An understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and pressures; 

(d) Timely response to enquiries and complaints; 

(e) Objective advice, not influenced by political views or preference, which does not 
compromise the political neutrality of officers; 

(f) Regular, up to date information on matters that can reasonably be considered 
appropriate and relevant to their needs, having regard to any individual 
responsibilities that they have and positions that they hold; 

(g) Awareness of and sensitivity to the political environment; 

(h) Respect, courtesy and dignified behaviour appropriate to the occasion; 

(i) Training and development in order to carry out their role effectively; 

(j) A high level of integrity and confidentiality, appropriate to the situation; 

(k) Not to have officers’ personal issues raised with them outside the agreed 
procedures; 

(l) That they will not attempt to influence improperly any councillor to advance 
officers’ personal interests, those of others, or influence improperly a decision; 

(m) At all times compliance with the Code of Conduct for Officers; 

(n) Support for the role of councillors as the local representatives of the Council, 
within any scheme of support for councillors, which may be approved by the 
Council. 

3.2 Whenever a public meeting is organised by the Council to consider a local issue, all 
the councillors representing the ward or wards affected should, as a matter of course, 
be invited to attend the meeting unless a lead Councillor has been agreed. Similarly, 
whenever the Council undertakes any form of consultative exercise on a local issue, 
the ward councillors should be notified at the outset of the exercise. 

Page 279



 

140 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

3.3 Correspondence between an individual councillor and an officer should not normally 
be copied by the officer to any other councillor without that councillor’s consent. 
Officers should not be copied into political group correspondence. 

3.4 Officers can expect from councillors: 

(a) A working partnership; 

(b) An understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and pressures; 
and of officer work/life balance; 

(c) Leadership and direction; 

(d) Respect, courtesy and dignified behaviour appropriate to the occasion;  

(e) A high level of integrity and confidentiality, appropriate to the situation; 

(f) Not to be subject to intimidation, harassment or bullying; 

(g) Not to have councillors’ personal issues raised with them outside the agreed 
procedures; 

(h) Not attempt to influence improperly any officer to advance their personal 
interests, or those of others, or influence improperly a decision; 

(i) That councillors will at all times comply with the Council’s councillors Code of 
Conduct; 

(j) That councillors will not comment adversely on the conduct or capability of an 
individual Council employee or officer at meetings held in public; 

(k) The councillors will not ask for support other than to assist in carrying out their 
roles in the Council. 

4. Limitations on Behaviour 

4.1 The distinct roles of councillors and officers necessarily impose limitations upon 
behaviour. By way of illustration, and not as an exclusive list: 

(a) Close personal relationships between councillors and officers can confuse these 
separate roles and get in the way of the proper discharge of the Council’s 
functions, not least in creating the perception in others that a particular councillor 
or officer may secure advantageous treatment for themselves, their group or 
otherwise. Where close personal relationships do exist, it is necessary to ensure 
that confidential knowledge is respected and not discussed inappropriately; 

(b) The need to maintain these separate roles means that there are limits to the 
matters on which officers should be expected to give advice. Officers are unlikely 

Page 280



 

141 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

to be able to give advice on personal matters and should not give advice on 
party political matters; 

(c) Relationships with particular individuals or party groups should not be such as to 
give cause for suspicion that an officer favours that councillor or group above 
others. The issue of officer attendance and advice to political groups is 
specifically covered below. 

5. Political Groups 

5.1 The operation of political groups is an integral feature of local government, and such 
political groups have an important part to play in the development of policy and the 
political management of the Council. It is in the interests of the Council to support the 
effective operation of political groups, but the operation of political groups can pose 
difficulties in terms of the impartiality of officers (note: the Cabinet is not a political 
group even if all members are from a single party). 

6. Officer Attendance 

6.1 Any political group may request the Statutory Officers, Executive Directors or Assistant 
Directors to attend a meeting of the group to advise on any particular matter relating 
to the Council. 

6.2 An officer may decline a request to attend if they are of the opinion that the particular 
issue is of such a political nature that it would be inappropriate to attend. 

6.3 Officers’ advice to political groups will be limited to a statement of material facts and 
identification of options and the merits and demerits of such options for the Council. 
Advice will not deal with any political implications of the matter or any option, and 
officers will not make any political recommendation to a political group. 

6.4 Where an officer attends a political group, the Chief Executive of the Council will advise 
all other groups that the officer has attended and the subject upon which they have 
advised and ensure that other groups are afforded the same opportunity. 

6.5 Where officers provide information and advice to a party group meeting in relation to 
a matter of Council business, this cannot act as a substitute for providing all necessary 
information and advice to the Cabinet, relevant committee or sub-committee where 
the matter in question is concerned. 

6.6 Officers will respect the confidentiality of any lawful matter, which they hear in the 
course of attending a political group meeting.  

8. When Things go Wrong 

7.1 From time to time the relationship between councillors and officers may break down 
or become strained. If this is the case, issues will be dealt with informally where 

Page 281



 

142 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

possible, or through conciliation by an appropriate senior manager or councillor.  

7.2 Procedure for officers 

Formal complaints against councillors must follow the Code of Conduct processes 
found elsewhere in the Constitution. Before an officer initiates a complaint under the 
Code of Conduct or the Whistleblowing Procedure, they should consider raising their 
concerns about the behaviour of a given councillor with the Monitoring Officer.  

7.3 Procedure for councillors 

(a) In the event that a councillor remains dissatisfied with the conduct, behaviour or 
performance of an officer, the matter should be raised with an appropriate 
Executive Director, usually one with authority over the officer concerned. Where 
the officer concerned is an Executive Director, the matter should be raised with 
the Chief Executive. Where the officer concerned is the Chief Executive, the 
matter should be raised with the Monitoring Officer. 

(b) Prior to a councillor approaching the relevant Executive Director, the councillor 
should consider discussing the issue informally with the Leader or Deputy 
Leader or another appropriate Executive Director. 

(c) If the matter cannot be resolved informally, it may be necessary to invoke the 
Council’s Disciplinary Procedure. 

  

Page 282



 

143 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

8.5 Planning Protocol 

1 Background and Scope 

1.1 This Planning Protocol should be read in conjunction with the terms of reference 
provided for the Strategic Planning Committee and the Local Area Planning 
committees. 

1.2 The Planning Protocol takes into account the ethical framework introduced by the 
Localism Act 2011, the National Planning Policy Framework and relevant planning 
practice guidance, and the Code of Conduct for Members adopted by West 
Northamptonshire Council. 

1.3 The aim of this Protocol is to ensure that: 

(a) Planning decisions are made openly, impartially with sound judgement, and for 
justifiable planning reasons; and 

(b) Throughout the planning process there are no grounds for suggesting that a 
decision has been biased, not impartial or not well founded in any way. 

1.4 The Planning Protocol applies to members of the Planning committees and officers.  

2 Introduction 

2.1 The Planning committees operate in a quasi-judicial manner. There is recourse 
through the courts and the Planning Inspectorate if a decision on a regulatory 
planning matter is not correctly made - with possible financial penalties for the 
Council. This places an important responsibility on those who serve on the Planning 
committees. 

2.2 The role of a Member on a Planning Committee involves balancing representing the 
needs and interests of the council area as a whole, with the need to maintain the 
ethic of impartial decision making on what can be highly controversial proposals. This 
Protocol has therefore been established to provide guidance for Members and 
officers in dealing with planning matters to avoid grounds for allegations of 
malpractice. 

2.3 All Members serving on a Planning Committee are required to abide by this Protocol.  

3. General Roles and Conduct 

3.1 The basis of the planning system is the consideration of private proposals against 
wider public interests, with often strongly opposing views. Whilst Members should 
take account of those views, they should not favour any person, company, group or 
locality; nor put themselves in a position where they appear to do so. Decisions 

Page 283



 

144 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

should clearly be based upon the development plan and material planning 
considerations. 

3.2 The role of Members at a Planning Committee is not to represent the views of their 
constituents, but to consider planning applications in the interests of the whole 
Council area. When voting on applications, Members may therefore decide to vote 
against the views expressed by their constituents. 

3.3 Members who do not feel that they can act in this way should consider whether they 
are best suited to serving on a Planning Committee. 

3.4 Members whose business or other interests bring them into frequent contact with the 
planning system should consider whether it is appropriate or practical to accept 
appointment to a Planning Committee: nor should other Members seek to appoint 
such a Member to a Planning Committee. 

3.5 The role of officers at Planning Committee is to advise the Members on professional 
matters, and to assist in the smooth running of the meeting.  

3.6 If Members have questions about a development proposal, they are encouraged to 
contact the case officer in advance. The officer will then provide advice and answer 
any questions about the report and the proposal, which will result in more efficient 
use of the Planning Committee’s time and more transparent decision making. 

4. Training 

4.1 No Member shall attend any meeting of a Planning Committee as a committee 
Member or a substitute for a committee Member unless they have undergone such 
mandatory training in planning procedures as the Council requires. 

4.2 Members should endeavour to attend any other specialised training or informal 
briefing sessions provided, to improve and keep up-to-date knowledge of planning 
law, regulations, procedures, Codes of Practice and the Development Plans beyond 
the minimum referred to above. 

5. General Principles for Dealing with Planning Matters 

5.1 A Member should consider the interests of local residents and businesses as a whole 
and should not favour any individuals or groups. They should also act in the interests 
of the whole Council area. 

5.2 A Member shall not accept a nomination to serve on a Planning Committee unless 
they agree to abide by the terms of the Planning Protocol. 

5.3 Members (and officers) should not act as paid agents or consultants on planning 
matters within the jurisdiction of the Council as local planning authority. 

Page 284



 

145 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

5.4 Planning applications will be determined in a transparent, fair and open manner and 
Members should have regard only to the development plan and material planning 
considerations and should disregard all other factors. 

5.5 Members participating at meetings should ensure that they are present for the whole 
presentation by officers and subsequent debate on a particular matter. This is to 
ensure that they are able to hear all the relevant evidence and debate in relation to 
a proposal. In the event that a Member misses part of an item being discussed then 
they must not vote.  

5.6 Members should retain an open mind about planning matters until they are in 
possession of all the relevant information to be presented. 

5.7 Members should pay full regard to officers’ professional recommendations, relevant 
national/regional planning statements and guidance, and relevant Development Plan 
Policies.  

5.8 Members are recommended to be cautious of social contact with applicants and 
agents. 

5.9 Members should not disclose to a third party information submitted to them or a 
committee on a confidential basis. 

6. Determination of Planning Applications 

6.1 Members determining applications will take account of all the relevant information 
presented before reaching a decision and should not commit themselves to a final 
opinion before having done so.  

6.2 In considering the merits of planning applications Members should have regard only 
to relevant planning matters and should disregard all other factors and 
considerations. 

6.3 Members should pay full regard to the professional officer recommendation, relevant 
national/regional planning guidance and relevant Development Plan Policies.  

6.4 Members can always ask for clarification from officers. However, if there are issues 
which require factual clarification, preferably these should be directed to the case 
officer before the committee meeting, not at the meeting itself.  

6.5 Members will then debate the application, including giving an indication of how they 
intend to vote. 

6.6 After Members have debated the application, a vote will be taken. 

6.7 Whilst officers will provide professional advice and a recommendation on every 
application and matter considered, it is the responsibility of Members, acting in the 

Page 285



 

146 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

interests of the whole Council, to decide what weight to attach to the advice given 
and to the considerations of each individual application. In this way, Members may 
decide to apply different weight to certain issues and may reach a decision contrary 
to officer advice.   

6.8 If, in moving contrary to the advice and/or recommendation in an officer’s report, 
Members require further advice about the details of the motion, the meeting can be 
adjourned for a short time to allow Members and officers to draft the motion. This 
may include reasons for the decision that are relevant to the planning considerations 
on the application, and which are capable of being supported and substantiated 
should an appeal be lodged.  

6.9 Where Members propose to determine a planning matter contrary to officers’ advice, 
full and proper reasons based on material planning considerations must be given at 
decision time. 

6.10 Members may move that any vote should be recorded at any meeting of the Planning 
Committee. This means that a formal record is taken of how each individual Member 
voted (For, Against, or Abstain). 

7. Officer Reports to Committee 

7.1 Reports should be accurate and cover, among other things, the relevant planning 
matters of objections and the relevant planning matters raised by people who have 
been consulted in respect of an application. 

7.2 Relevant points will include a clear exposition of the site or related history, the 
relevant Development Plan Policies and all other relevant material planning 
considerations. 

7.3 Reports should include a clear written recommendation of action. 

7.4 Reports should list the topics that will be addressed by conditions and if possible also 
include draft Heads of Terms (where applicable) to a legal agreement, if the 
recommendation is to grant planning permission. 

7.5 Reports should contain a technical appraisal which clearly justifies the 
recommendation made by the officer. 

7.6 If the recommendation in the report is contrary to the provisions of the Local Plan, 
the material considerations which justify this must be clearly stated. 

7.7 Where an application is recommended for refusal the reasons will be set out in full in 
the officer’s report.  

8. Disclosable Pecuniary and Personal Interests 

Page 286



 

147 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

8.1 The Code of Conduct sets out requirements for Members on declaring personal and 
disclosable pecuniary interests and the consequences of having such interests. 
These must be followed scrupulously and Members should review their situation 
regularly. 

8.2 Members should avoid membership of the Planning committees if it entails, or would 
entail, frequent declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests. 

8.3 A Member with a disclosable pecuniary interest in respect of a particular planning 
matter must declare it and take no part in the discussion or the determination of the 
proposal. The Member may in their personal capacity and if registered to speak make 
representations and answer questions prior to any debate on the matter but 
thereafter should leave the room while the item is considered and determined. The 
responsibility for this rests with each Member and they may wish to consult with the 
Monitoring Officer or legal advisor to the committee at the earliest opportunity if in 
any doubt. 

8.4 Ward Members who are also members of a Planning committee may participate in 
the committee debate on an application in their ward and subject to any disclosable 
pecuniary interest will normally be allowed to vote on the application.  

8.5 A Member who has a disclosable interest in a planning matter is still able to represent 
the interests of their Ward constituents at committee meetings in respect of that 
matter, subject to the Council’s rules on public participation at committees. 
Alternatively, the Member could advise constituents to address their representations 
to another ward Member or a Member of an adjacent ward who is not so affected. 

9. Pre‐determination and Predisposition 

9.1 Members of the Planning Committees need to take account of the general public’s 
expectation that a planning application will be processed and determined in a 
transparently open and fair manner, in which members taking the decision will take 
account of all the evidence presented before arriving at a decision, not take into 
account irrelevant evidence or representations and that to commit themselves one 
way or the other before hearing all the arguments and evidence makes them 
vulnerable to an accusation of partiality. A Member may voice their concerns publicly 
before a meeting but they should make it clear that they will not form a final opinion 
until they have considered all the information. 

9.2 Members must not prejudice their ability to participate in planning decisions at a 
Planning committee by making up their mind, or clearly appearing to have made up 
their mind (particularly in relation to an external interest or lobby group), on how they 
will vote on any planning matter prior to formal consideration of the matter at the 
relevant Planning committee and hearing the officer’s presentation and evidence and 
arguments on both sides. 

Page 287



 

148 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

9.3 Pre-determining a matter in this way and then taking part in the decision will put the 
Council at risk of a finding of maladministration and of legal proceedings on the 
grounds of there being a danger of bias or a failure to take into account all of the 
factors enabling the proposal to be considered on its merits. 

9.4 If a Member has made up their mind prior to the meeting, or have made public 
comments which indicate that they might have done, and is not able to reconsider 
their previously held view, then they will not be able to participate on the matter. 

9.5 Members who are members of a Planning committee and who in that capacity attend 
any ancillary meeting or committee/sub‐committee need to avoid any appearance of 
bias or of having predetermined their views before taking a decision on a planning 
application or on planning policies. Section 25 of the Localism Act 2011 provides that 
a Member should not be regarded as having a closed mind simply because they 
previously did or said something that, directly or indirectly, indicated what view they 
might take in relation to any particular meeting, provided they remain open to listening 
to all the arguments and changing their mind in the light of all the information 
presented at a relevant meeting. A Member in this position will always be judged 
against an objective test of whether the reasonable onlooker with knowledge of the 
relevant facts, would consider that the Member was biased. 

9.6 Circumstances may also arise where a Member has had significant personal 
involvement with an applicant, agent or interested party, (whether or not in 
connection with the particular matter before the Planning Committee), which could 
lead an observer who knows the relevant facts to reasonably think the Member’s 
interest is so significant that it is likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the 
public interest. In these circumstances the Member should declare a disclosable 
interest, observe the Council’s rules on Public Participation at committees, and 
withdraw from the meeting. 

9.7 Members must be aware that they are likely to have pre-determined a matter where 
the Council is the landowner, developer or applicant and they have acted as, or could 
be perceived as being, a chief advocate for the proposal. 

9.8 For advice on predetermination and predisposition, Members should seek the advice 
of the Monitoring Officer. 

10. Lobbying of Councillors 

10.1 Lobbying is a normal part of the planning process. It is recognised that those affected 
by a proposal will often seek to influence the decision by an approach to their local 
Member or to members of a Planning Committee. However, such lobbying can lead 
to the impartiality and integrity of a member being called into question. The 
information provided by lobbyists may represent a selective and incomplete picture 
of the relevant considerations in respect of a planning matter. 

Page 288



 

149 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

10.2 Members of a Planning committee are free to listen to any point of view about a 
planning proposal. Even though they may agree with a particular view, members of 
a Planning committee should take care not to express an opinion which may be taken 
by the public as indicating that they or the authority had already made up their mind 
on the issue before they have been exposed to all the evidence and arguments.  In 
such situations, Members should restrict themselves to giving procedural advice, 
including suggesting to those who are lobbying, that they should speak or write to the 
relevant officer in order that their opinions can be included in the officer's report to 
the committee. If they do express an opinion, it should be made clear that the Member 
will only be in a position to take a final decision after having heard all the relevant 
evidence and arguments at committee. 

10.3 Members can raise with officers issues which have been raised by their constituents, 
It is always good practice that they make it clear that they can only make a final 
decision after hearing all the relevant arguments and taking into account all relevant 
material and planning considerations at Planning committees. 

10.4 If a member of a Planning committee responds to lobbying by deciding to go public 
in support of a particular outcome; or actively campaigns for it, they should make 
clear in their public comments and/or at committee when the decision is under 
consideration that the views expressed are/were provisional and they will come to a 
final view once they have weighed all the evidence and listened to all the arguments 
presented at the committee meeting. If a Member is of the view that they are unable 
to make an unbiased decision they should not participate in the decision. If they 
consider the public comments they have made mean the public perception is that 
they will be unable to make a decision without bias, they may in the interests of 
maintaining public confidence decide not to participate in a decision. 

10.5 If any Member, whether or not a committee member, speaks on behalf of a lobby 
group at the decision making committee, they must withdraw once they have spoken 
in order to counter any suggestion that their presence may have some influence on 
the said committee in making its final decision. 

10.6 If a Member requires advice about being lobbied, they should seek advice from the 
Monitoring Officer as soon as possible and preferably well before any meeting takes 
place at which they think the issue might arise. 

11. Political Influence 

11.1 Given that the point at which a decision on a planning application is made cannot 
occur before a Planning committee meeting, when all available information is to hand 
and has been duly considered, any political group meeting prior to the committee 
meeting should not be used to decide how Members should vote and political whips 
must not be used. 

Page 289



 

150 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

11.2 Members of the Planning committees should avoid organising support for or against 
a planning application and avoid lobbying other Members. Such actions can easily 
be misunderstood by parties to the application and by the general public. Where a 
member of a Planning committee wishes to act as a facilitator to a local group 
regarding a particular application, they should indicate that they will need to absent 
themselves from the vote on that particular application when it was being considered. 

12. Pre-application Discussions 

12.1 Discussions between a potential applicant and the Council prior to the submission of 
an application can be of considerable benefit to both parties. Such discussions 
should not, however, become or be seen to become, part of a lobbying process. Any 
such discussions should take place within clear guidelines. 

12.2 Where Members are involved in pre-application discussions, at least one officer 
should attend any meetings and a follow-up letter is advisable, particularly when 
documentary material has been left with the Council. A written note should be made 
of all meetings. 

12.3 All officers taking part in such discussions should make clear whether or not they are 
the decision-maker. 

12.4 Any advice that is given should not be partial, nor seen to be partial, by any party 
involved. It should always be made clear at the outset that the discussions will not 
bind a Council to making a particular decision and that any views expressed are 
personal and provisional. Advice and observations should be based on the adopted 
plan and material considerations. 

12.5 The following terms of engagement shall apply: 

(a) Presentations by applicants should be limited to the development proposal 
and a question and answer session on factual matters. The understanding 
must be that the engagement is in order to improve understanding. Where 
appropriate such meetings may take place on site and incorporate a site visit. 
Officers of appropriate seniority should attend presentations. 

(b) Members should maintain an impartial listening and questioning role and 
avoid expressing an opinion or giving advice beyond outlining the adopted 
local policies. Questions to clarify aspects of a proposal, or the expressions 
of policy concerns are legitimate as long as they do not develop into 
negotiations. It should be made clear at the outset of the meeting that 
discussions are not binding, and that views expressed are not part of the 
determination process. It should be made clear in introductory remarks that 
any statements should be categorised as 'without prejudice'. 

Page 290



 

151 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(c) If the applicant requests the views of the authority, these will be 
communicated subsequently and in writing by officers. In such 
communication, officers will make it clear that any views expressed prior to 
formal determination of an application are preliminary. 

(d) A written note of the proceedings should be kept - to include a record of 
officer attendance and follow up. 

(e) Follow up to the meeting should occur with a letter emphasising the 
informative nature of the meeting. 

(f) A note should also be taken of any potentially contentious telephone 
discussions in respect of an application. 

13. Site Visits 

13.1 When deciding whether a site visit is appropriate prior to the meeting at which the 
planning application is to be considered, all circumstances should be considered 
including whether: 

(a) Matters of judgement are involved on the context of the site such as the effect 
on landscape, impact on character, residential amenity, or highway 
considerations rather than purely on principle; 

(b) It is a finely balanced case; or 

(c) It is a contentious application where there are strong local views. 

13.2 Members are expected to register their request for a site inspection in connection 
with a particular application or proposal with the Assistant Director: Growth, Climate 
& Regeneration within 25 days of notification of receipt of a planning application (by 
email to planning.ddc@westnorthants.gov.uk (Daventry Area), 
planning.nbc@westnorthants.gov.uk (Northampton area) or 
planning.snc@westnorthants.gov.uk (South Northamptonshire area) or by post to 
Assistant Director: Growth, Climate & Regeneration, Place & Growth Directorate, 
West Northamptonshire Council, One Angel Square, Angel Street, Northampton 
NN1 1ED). 

13.3 The site visits will normally be held once the officer report has been prepared and 
prior to the meeting of the Planning committee. 

13.4 Where visits are arranged, they must be undertaken in a consistent manner, and 
Members should not enter into any conversation with other people on site and must 
avoid any comment which could be construed as bias. 

13.5 Members should not carry out unaccompanied site inspections (other than for the 
purpose of seeing the site), contact landowners themselves or arrange to go onto 

Page 291

mailto:planning.ddc@westnorthants.gov.uk
mailto:planning.nbc@westnorthants.gov.uk
mailto:planning.snc@westnorthants.gov.uk


 

152 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

sites without a Planning Officer present. Members need to exercise caution with 
regard to being lobbied on such site inspections. 

13.6 The primary aim of a site visit is to enable Members to judge for themselves the likely 
impacts of the proposed development and appreciate the issues involved. All 
members of a Planning committee are encouraged to attend the site visits. 

13.7 Site visits should only be attended by Members and officers. No representations will 
be permitted during the site visit from parishes, members of the public, applicants or 
agents.  

13.8 Ward Members are welcome to attend all site visits and invited to attend the Planning 
committee meeting in respect of applications within or affecting their wards. 

13.9 Where a Member proposes deferral of a planning application at a Planning committee 
meeting in order that a site inspection may be carried out, the planning reason for 
conducting such an inspection should be clearly stated. 

13.10 Any of the Members responsible for calling an application into a Planning committee 
may wish to attend the site visit to explain why they called the application in to 
Planning committee. 

14. Call‐Ins 

14.1 Planning applications can be ‘called‐in’ to a Planning committee for determination. 

14.2 Applications can be called in by any Member of the Council. 

14.3 Call‐in requests must be submitted in writing to the Assistant Director: Growth, 
Climate & Regeneration within 21 days from the beginning of the consultation period, 
or within 7 days from the beginning of any subsequent re-consultation period. 

14.4 Call‐ins have to be based on valid and relevant planning grounds. Any issue relating 
to the propriety of the specified planning grounds will be determined by the Monitoring 
Officer. 

14.5 By making a call-in request, a Member is indicating that they consider the issues 
require debate by the Planning Committee. 

14.6 A Member who has called-in a planning application is expected to attend the Planning 
Committee meeting at which the application they referred is to be discussed, to 
address the Planning Committee and explain their views on the application and 
expand on their call-in reasons. 

14.7 The Member who has called-in an application is required to register to speak on the 
item in accordance with the Planning Protocol on Speaking at Planning Committees. 

Page 292



 

153 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

14.8 If a Member who has called-in an application does not register to speak on the item 
or having registered to speak is not present at the start of the Planning Committee 
meeting at which the application is to be considered, then the item will be withdrawn 
from the agenda and determined by an officer in accordance with the Council’s 
scheme of delegations. 

15. Where a Member Represents Two Councils 

15.1 A Member is able to take part in the debate on a proposal by a consultee body (for 
example as a member of a parish council) provided: 

(a) The proposal does not substantially affect the wellbeing or financial standing 
of the consultee body; 

(b) The Member makes it clear to the consultee body that: 

(i) Their views are expressed on the limited information before them only; 

(ii) They must reserve judgement and the independence to make up their 
own mind based on their overriding duty to the whole community and not 
just to the people in that area, ward or parish. 

15.2 Members will disclose the interest regarding their membership or role when the 
relevant Planning Committee comes to consider the proposal. 

15.3 Members may take the opportunity to exercise their separate speaking rights as a 
local Member.  

15.4 When exercising this right, they should: 

(a) Advise the committee that they wish to speak in this capacity in accordance 
with the Public Speaking Arrangements; 

(b) Remove themselves from the Member seating area for the duration of that 
item; and 

(c) Ensure that their actions are recorded. 

16. Conduct of Ward Members (non-members of the Planning Committee) 

16.1 Ward Members have an important role to play as representatives of their 
communities and to bring local information to the decision-making process. Ward 
Members may therefore become involved in discussions with officers about individual 
applications. However, they should remember that it is very easy to create the 
impression that they are using their position to influence the progress of the 
application. Any discussions with officers should be seen to be open and above 
board. Officers should make a note on the file of any such discussions. 

Page 293



 

154 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

16.2 Ward Members who are not members of a Planning committee can make 
representations on planning applications in their Ward and may attend meetings of a 
Planning committee and, with the Chair’s agreement, may address the committee on 
such applications in accordance with the rules on public speaking. 

16.3 Any representations or address should relate to the planning merits of a planning 
application. This will not apply if the Member is also a Parish/Town Councillor and 
the Parish/Town Council is the applicant. In that circumstance, if the Member wishes 
to address the committee directly, they should register to speak in their capacity as 
the applicant. 

16.4 When making representations on behalf of their constituents, Members should make 
it clear that it is their constituents’ views and not their own that are being expressed. 
Furthermore, any representations on behalf of constituents must be expressed in 
such a way that no individual or group feels that they have been unfairly represented. 

16.5 If a Ward Member speaks on behalf of a lobby group at the decision-making 
committee, they should withdraw from the meeting once any public or Ward Member 
speaking opportunities have been completed. 

16.6 A Member who has declared a prejudicial interest in a planning application, and is 
therefore unable to represent the interests of their Ward in respect of that application, 
should advise constituents to address their representations to another Member who 
is not so affected. 

16.7 Being a Member of another Council that has expressed a view on an application does 
not prevent a Planning Committee Member reaching the same or a different view 
when the application is considered on its merits by the Planning committee. However, 
the Member should approach the decision making process afresh and not express a 
final view in advance of the committee meeting or act as an advocate for another 
Council. To do so would give an appearance of bias. 

17. Development Proposals submitted by Councillors and Officers 

17.1 A Member who acts as an agent to people pursuing a planning matter or who has 
submitted, or intends to submit, or is closely connected with someone (e.g. a spouse, 
close relative or close social acquaintance) who has submitted, or intends to submit, 
a planning application should play no part in the decision making process for that 
proposal. This includes refraining from any form of lobbying of other Members. Nor 
should such a Member: 

(a) Use their position to gain access to officers to pursue their interest; or  

(b) Bring improper pressure to bear on officers. 

Page 294



 

155 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

17.2 They should preferably appoint an agent to act on their behalf in negotiations or 
discussions, particularly in respect of major or controversial developments. 

17.3 Members should notify the Assistant Director of Economic Growth and Regeneration 
and/or the Monitoring Officer of any application with which they are connected directly 
or indirectly before it is submitted to the Council. 

17.4 Where a Member or officer or their agent submits an application in a personal 
capacity (either as an individual or through a company, firm or body with which they 
are connected) it shall always be considered by the Planning Committee. The 
Monitoring Officer shall be notified of the application and confirm in the report to 
Committee that the application has been dealt with in accordance with this Protocol. 

17.5 A member of a Planning Committee contemplating making a planning application for 
development which is clearly contrary to approved planning policies should consider 
whether they should resign from the committee before submitting it. 

17.6 A Member who has received (or is closely connected with someone who has 
received) a planning permission should ensure that the terms of that planning 
permission are scrupulously observed, both in respect of compliance with the 
submitted documents and in respect of compliance with the conditions imposed. 

18. Planning Applications by the Council 

18.1 The Council itself requires planning permission to carry out or authorise certain types 
of development on land it owns. Where these are major applications, they will be 
determined by the relevant Planning Committee. Proposals for the Council’s own 
development will be treated with the same transparency and impartiality as those by 
private developers. 

19. Regular Review of Decisions 

19.1 Members should visit a sample of implemented planning permissions on a regular 
basis to assess the quality of the decisions made. Such a review should be 
undertaken at least annually. 

  

Page 295



 

156 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

8.6 Protocol on Speaking at Planning Committees 

This Protocol details the rules on public speaking at the Strategic Planning 
Committee and each of the Council’s three Local Area Planning Committees. 

As an overarching, guiding principle, decisions should always be taken in a fair and 
transparent manner to ensure there are no grounds for suggesting that a planning decision 
has in any way been biased, partial, or not well founded. 

The separate Planning Protocol (see above) applies to Members at all times when they are 
involving themselves in the planning process. The Monitoring Officer can also provide 
guidance to Members in relation to conduct on planning matters, as necessary. 

1. Speaking at Planning Committee Meetings 

1.1 The following can speak at Planning Committee Meetings 

(a) The applicant or their agent. 

(b) Up to two persons who wish to object up to two persons who wish to support an 
individual planning application, an enforcement recommendation or any other 
quasi-judicial matter on the Agenda. If there are more than two 
objectors/supporters, each group may organise a spokesperson to speak on their 
behalf. 

(c) Ward Councillors who are not members of the Planning Committee. (If Ward 
Councillors sit on the Planning Committee, they may nominate a substitute 
councillor to speak).  

(d) Members of Parliament with the whole or part of their constituency within West 
Northamptonshire Council’s boundaries. 

(e) A representative of a parish council in whose area the application relates. 

1.2 Additional speakers may be allowed at the discretion of the Chair of the Committee.   

1.3 Arrangements for Speaking 

It is necessary to register with Democratic Services as soon as possible and in any 
event not later than midday on the last working day before the Committee. This 
applies to all speakers, including Ward Councillors.  Speakers are required to indicate 
whether they will be speaking against or in support of an application. 

Speakers may register by telephone, email or in writing using the following contact 
details:  

Contact details for registration 

Planning 
Committee 

E-mail address Tel. no. Postal 
Address 

Page 296



 

157 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

Daventry Local 
Area Planning 
Committee 

MemberSupport.ddc@westnorthants.gov
.uk 

01327 
302324
/ 
302236 

Democratic 
Services, 
Lodge Road, 
Daventry 
NN11 4FP 

Northampton Local 
Area Planning 
Committee 

democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.
uk 

01604 
837722 

Democratic 
Services, 
One Angel 
Square, 
Angel Street, 
Northampton 
NN1 1ED, 
for the 
attention of 
The 
Democratic 
Services 
Officer, 
Planning 
Committee. 

South 
Northamptonshire 
Local Area 
Planning 
Committee 

democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.
uk 

01327 
322043 

Democratic 
Services, 
The Forum, 
Moat Lane, 
Towcester 
NN12 6AD 

Strategic Planning 
Committee 

democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.
uk 

01327 
322195 

Democratic 
Services, 
The Forum, 
Moat Lane, 
Towcester 
NN12 6AD 

Late representations will not be heard. If there are several objectors/supporters, each 
group should organise a spokesperson to speak on their behalf. In the absence of 
agreement, the Council will operate a “first come first served” policy. In the event that 
more than two people have already registered, a person wishing to make their views 
known to the Committee may contact their Ward Councillor to request that they put 
across their points. 

Where a member of the public has registered to speak but fails to attend the meeting, 
the Chair shall have discretion to reallocate that speaking place to another member 
of the public present who would otherwise have wished to speak. For the avoidance 
of doubt, such reallocation will be on a like-for-like basis, i.e. if the original registration 
was ‘for’, the reallocated place will also be ‘for’. 

If objectors intend to speak, the applicant will be contacted to ensure that they have 
the opportunity to reply. 

2. Procedure at the Meeting 

Page 297

mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk


 

158 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

The discussion on applications will be in the following order: 

(a) The Chair of the Committee will announce the application 
(b) the [Head of Planning tbc] or their representative may present the item and will 

add any further information relevant to the application and report 
(c) Members of the public can then speak in the following order: 

(i) Objector 
(ii) Parish or Town Council(s) 
(iii) MP 
(iv) Ward Councillor(s) 
(v) Supporter 
(vi) Applicant/agent 

(d) A planning officer may summarise issues before the matter is debated by the 
Planning Committee Members and a vote taken.  

The Chair has discretion to permit questions from the Planning Committee Members 
to the various speakers, after the end of their allotted 3 minutes. 

A planning officer may summarise issues before the matter is debated by the 
Planning Committee Members and a vote taken.  

In the event of any dispute over these procedures or the protocol, the Chair’s decision 
is final. 

2.1 Time 

All speakers either in support or against the application or speaking on behalf of the 
applicant will be allowed a maximum of three minutes to address the Committee. 
Participants addressing the Committee will be advised when they have 60 seconds 
of their allotted three minutes remaining and will be expected to cease talking 
immediately on being advised that their three minutes is up. 

2.2 Notes 

(a) Any speakers who are not members of the Committee are only allowed to 
make statements. They may not ask questions of officers, the Committee or 
each other and must take no further part in the procedure once they have 
finished their address to the Committee. 

(b) Consideration of an application will not be delayed simply because someone 
who has registered to speak is unable to attend the meeting.  

(c) Addresses should only be about planning issues and should not refer to non-
planning issues, such as private property rights, moral issues, loss of views 
or effects on property values.  

(d) Fresh material may not be circulated to the councillors, which has not first 
been seen by Planning officers.  

(e) Speakers may speak about material planning considerations and relevant 
facts pertinent to any planning application submitted to the Council that they 
have made a written representation on, and which is on the agenda for 
determination at the Committee. Some examples of material planning 

Page 298



 

159 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

considerations include: 
(i) the environmental impact of the development 
(ii) the impact of the development on the highway network 
(iii) any policy in the Council’s Local Development Framework, or the 

relevant Local Plan for your area. 
(iv) central and regional Government planning policy guidance, circulars, 

orders and statutory instruments 
(f) Issues that may be taken into account by the Committee include: 

(i) planning laws and previous decisions 
(ii) noise, disturbance, smells 
(iii) residential amenity 
(iv) design, appearance and layout 
(v) impact on trees, listed buildings and conservation areas 
(vi) public open space 

(g) Issues that will not be taken into account by the Committee include: 
(i) boundary disputes 
(ii) private rights of way, private covenants or agreements 
(iii) the applicant’s conduct, private affairs or how a business is run 
(iv) the applicant’s motives (including profit) 
(v) the impact on property values 
(vi) suspected further development 
(vii) loss of views over other people’s land 
(viii) land ownership 

(h) The circulation of plans, photographs, or other material at the Committee 
meeting will not be permitted. Any such documentation should be submitted 
to the Assistant Director Economic Growth and Regeneration marked for the 
attention of the relevant Planning Officer as part of the existing consultation 
arrangements. 

  

Page 299



 

160 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

8.7 Scheme of Members’ Allowances 

1. Allowances for the period 11 May 2021 to 31 March 2022 

Post Holder Amount 

Basic Allowance (All Members) £13,750 

Leader £34,375 

Deputy Leader £24,063 

Cabinet Members £20,625 

Lead Member for Children’s Services £22,825 

Chair of the Council £10,313 

Vice Chair of the Council £6,875 

Chair of Strategic Planning Committee £13,750 

Chair of Area Planning committees £13,750 

Chair of Planning Policy Committee * £nil 

Chair of Licensing Committee £13,750 

Chair of Audit Committee £13,750 

Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee £13,750 

Vice Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee  £2,750 

Chair of Pension Fund Committee  * £nil 

Chair of Senior Appointments Committee * £nil 

Chair of Democracy and Standards Committee £13,750 

Party Group Leaders:    

Leader of the Largest Opposition Group £11,000 

Leader of the second largest Opposition Group £5,500 

Leader of the third largest Opposition Group £2,750 

Leader of the fourth largest Opposition Group £1,375 

Co-Optees and Independent Persons: 

Page 300



 

161 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

Co-opted members of the People Overview and Scrutiny Committee £500 
Co-opted members of the Northamptonshire Police and Crime Panel    £500 
Independent Persons to the Democracy and Standards Committee £500 

 *Cabinet members will be appointed to these roles. 

2. Limitations on Payment of Special Responsibility Allowances (SRA):  

Members may not receive more than one SRA, and where a Member occupies 
multiple roles with an SRA they shall be entitled to receive the higher SRA from the 
roles they hold.  

3. Indexation 

Allowances shall be adjusted annually by an amount equivalent to the officers’ 
annual pay award. Adjustment to the Scheme of Allowances by indexation is limited 
to a maximum period of four years, however Members may request the 
Independent Remuneration Panel to review allowances at an earlier time.  

4. Other Allowances 

Members may make claims for the following expenditure when undertaking official 
Council business. The approved duties are the categories contained in the Local 
Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 shown in Part 5.  

4.1 Travelling  

4.1.1 Sustainable modes of transport are encouraged where possible. The use of a 
Member’s car, motorcycle or bicycle for approved duties (see Part 5 for list of 
approved duties) will be paid at the same rate as the officers, i.e. the rate published 
from time to time by HM Revenue and Customs: www.hmrc.gov.uk/rates/travel.htm.  

4.1.2 The agreed rates as at February 2021 are as follows, including electric and hybrid 
models:  

Cars and vans* 45p per mile  

Motor cycles* 24p per mile  

Bicycles (includes e-bikes) 20p per mile  

4.1.3  Public Transport  

(a) Train fares for approved duties to be paid at standard fare. Officers of the 
Council to book train fares for the Member. 

(b) Bus fares for approved duties to be paid on production of a receipt/ticket.  

Page 301

file:///D:/Users/Tracy%20Tiff/Documents/Tracy/Documents/IRP/www.hmrc.gov.uk/rates/travel.htm


 

162 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(c) Approved taxi fares to be paid on production of a receipt. Officers of the Council 
to book a taxi for the Member where possible. 

(d) Parking fees to be paid upon production of a receipt/ticket.  

4.2 Subsistence 

Allowance Activity Amount 
Subsistence 
Allowance 

Breakfast (more than 4 hours away before 11am).  
Lunch (business journeys entailing working away from 
normal place of work between 12 and 2pm).  
Dinner (can be claimed when required to work outside of 
usual rostered requirements and away from usual place 
of work after 8.30pm). 

£6.00 
£8.00 
 
£12.00 

Overnight 
expenses 

Accommodation (if a member is required to stay 
overnight); overnight accommodation bookings to be 
made by officers of the Council. 

 

4.3  Dependent Carers’ Allowance  

4.3.1 The maximum rates at which dependent care may be claimed is:  

(a) Where professional care is provided, an hourly rate of £20 per hour will be paid.  

(b) Where care is provided by friends or relatives an hourly rate of £10 per hour will 
be paid. 

There is no upper limit for a claim. 

5. Forgoing Allowances and Part-Year Entitlements 

5.1 A councillor, co-opted member or independent person may elect to give up any part 
of their entitlement to an allowance under this scheme by notifying Democratic 
Services in writing. 

5.2 Where a Member ceases to be a member of West Northamptonshire Council, or 
ceases to occupy a role attracting an SRA, that the Member only receives pro-rata 
payment for the period that they are entitled to receive an allowance. The authority 
may require that such part of any allowance as relates to any such period be repaid 
to the authority where an overpayment is made.  

6. Approved Duties  

6.1 Members may make claims for travel, subsistence and dependant carers’ 
allowance when undertaking official Council business in line with the approved 
duties categories contained in the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) 
(England) Regulations 2003 set out below:  

Page 302



 

163 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

(a) the attendance at a meeting of the authority or of any committee or 
subcommittee of the authority, or of any other body to which the authority 
makes appointments or nominations, or of any committee or subcommittee of 
such a body;  

(b) the attendance at any other meeting, the holding of which is authorised by the 
authority, or a committee or sub-committee of the authority, or a joint committee 
of the authority and one or more local authority within the meaning of section 
270(1) of the Local Government Act 1972, or a subcommittee of such a joint 
committee provided that:  

(i)  where the authority is divided into two or more political groups it is a 
meeting to which members of at least two such groups have been 
invited, or 

(ii)  if the authority is not so divided, it is a meeting to which at least two 
members of the authority have been invited;  

(c) the attendance at a meeting of any association of authorities of which the 
authority is a member; (d) the attendance at a meeting of the executive or a 
meeting of any of its committees, where the authority is operating executive 
arrangements;  

(d) the performance of any duty in pursuance of any standing order made under 
section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972 requiring a member or members 
to be present while tender documents are opened;  

(e) the performance of any duty in connection with the discharge of any function of 
the authority conferred by or under any enactment and empowering or requiring 
the authority to inspect or authorise the inspection of premises; 

(f) the performance of any duty in connection with arrangements made by the 
authority for the attendance of pupils at any school approved for the purposes of 
section 342 (approval of non-maintained special schools) of the Education Act 
1996, and  

(g) the carrying out of any other duty approved by the authority, or any duty of a 
class so approved, for the purpose of, or in connection with, the discharge of the 
functions of the authority or of any of its committees or sub-committees. The law 
prevents payment for:  

(i) Members' surgeries  
(ii) Political activities  
(iii) School Governor meetings (Section 58 of the Education (No. 2) Act 

1986)  

 

Page 303



 

 

9.0 OFFICERS 
9.1 Management Structure 

 

 

P
age 304



 

165 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

 

 
 

P
age 305



 

166 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

 

 

P
age 306



 

167 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

 

 

P
age 307



 

168 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

 

 

P
age 308



 

169 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for approval on 29 September 2022 

 

 

P
age 309



 

170 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – December 2021 

9.2 Scheme of Delegation to Officers  

INTRODUCTIONS AND PERMISSIONS 

Introduction 

1. The West Northamptonshire Council has adopted vision and values supporting a 
Corporate Plan. To support the delivery of the Corporate Plan, managerial and 
operational decisions are taken, within a framework of democratic accountability, at the 
most appropriate level, which is usually the closest point of contact to the citizen. This 
scheme is to be interpreted widely to give effect to this overall purpose by empowering 
staff to carry out their functions and deliver the Council’s services within the Budget and 
Policy Framework set by the Council, and subject to the guidelines set by the Council, 
the Cabinet and the Council’s management team.  

Overall Limitations 

2. Any exercise of delegated powers is subject to the following overriding limitations.  

Member Consultation 

3. Officers set out in the scheme are expected to:  

(a) maintain a close liaison with the appropriate portfolio holder or in their absence the 
Leader;  

(b) consult relevant portfolio holders when exercising temporary or project specific 
delegations; 

(c) ensure the Ward Councillor(s) is/are consulted or advised of the exercise of any 
delegated powers that particularly affect their area ; and  

(d) ensure that the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service), Executive Director of Finance 
(s.151 Officer) and the Director of the Legal and Democratic (Monitoring Officer) are 
consulted and advised of any decisions as necessary.  

4. Portfolio holders for the relevant area should be consulted on the exercise of a delegated 
power in all cases where:  

(a) there is likely to be opposition from members of the public;  

(b) where there are political sensitivities;  

(c) there is likely to be media (including social media) interest; or  

(d) expenditure is unusual for the Budget area.  

Page 310



 

171 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

5. Before exercising any delegated power, officers must consider whether to consult with 
the relevant portfolio holder on the exercise of delegated powers or not to exercise 
delegated powers but to refer the matter to the relevant member or member body to 
decide.  

6. The Leader or any Cabinet Member may at any time, following consultation with the Chief 
Executive and relevant officer, require a particular issue or any aspect of delegated 
powers to be referred to the appropriate member body for a decision.  

7. This does not limit the general requirements set out elsewhere in the constitution to 
consult with relevant ward members, scrutiny chairs and interested groups in reaching 
decisions.  

Reservations 

8. The scheme does not delegate to officers: 

(a) any matter reserved to full Council;  

(b) any matter which by law may not be delegated to an officer;  

(c) any Key Decision; or  

(d) any matter expressly withdrawn from delegation by the Council, committees, Leader 
or Cabinet. 

Restrictions 

9. Any exercise of delegated powers is subject to  

(a) any statutory restrictions;  

(b) the Budget and Policy Framework;  

(c) any provision contained in this Constitution including the Procedure Rules;  

(d) any financial limits set out in the revenue or capital budgets except as set out in the 
Financial Procedure Rules;  

(e) any policy set by the Council or its committees, the Cabinet or the Chief Executive; 
and 

(f) the Code of Conduct for Employees.  

Permissions 

10. This scheme delegates to the Assistant Chief Executive, Executive Directors and 
Directors all the powers and duties relevant to those areas of responsibility detailed within 

Page 311



 

172 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

the areas of responsibility below that rest with the Council or which have been delegated 
or granted to the Council, subject to the limitations, restrictions, reservations and 
requirements for consultation set out above. This includes all powers and duties under 
all legislation present and future within those descriptions and all powers and duties 
incidental to that legislation including but not limited to:  

a. Powers in relation to staff 

Take any action in accordance with the Council’s agreed policies and procedures 
with respect to the recruitment, appointment, promotion, training, grading, 
discipline, determination of wages and salary scales, determination of 
allowances, determination and application of conditions of service, including but 
not limited to allocation of leave, honorariums, ill health retirement and 
determination of establishment except as detailed in the Staff and Employment 
Exceptions chart.  

b. Powers in relation to contracts and property 

Powers in relation to contracts and property agreements to negotiate, put out to 
tender, bid, submit tenders, vary, terminate, dispute, extend and renew and in 
relation to contracts to buy and sell and in relation to property to acquire, dispose 
of, let and licence except as detailed in the Contracts and Property Exceptions 
Charts.  

c. Powers in relation to planning  

Powers to determine applications, grant permission, refuse permission, to 
publicise applications, to comment or make representations on applications, 
notifications and consultations, to raise objections, to require documentation and 
information, to take appropriate action on enforcement, to negotiate, complete, 
vary, discharge or amend planning obligations and agreements, process and 
determine all decisions relating to neighbourhood planning under the Localism 
Act 2011, other than as detailed in the Legal Exceptions Chart.   

d. Powers in relation to finance  

Powers to incur capital and revenue expenditure, to seek recovery of amounts 
owed, to exercise discretion in recovery, alter or waive repayment periods, or 
approve exemptions in relation to repayments, agree refunds, reduce or remit 
payments and waive fines, except as detailed in the Finance Exceptions Chart.  

e. Powers in relation to legal action  

Powers to authorise, appoint or nominate officers and to investigate, prosecute, 
enforce, lay informations, require individuals to disclose information, serve 
requisitions for information, publish information, apply to a court, sign notices, 

Page 312



 

173 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

issue, serve, vary, revoke and publish notices, including fixed penalty notices and 
serve documents, make prohibition orders, suspend or vary a prohibition order, 
take emergency remedial action, carry out works in default, issue certificates, 
issue consents, issue and grant licenses and license applications, issue permits, 
refuse, vary or revoke licensing applications, issue temporary exemption notices, 
obtain, introduce, operate, amend, extend, vary and revoke orders, impose 
conditions, introduce and maintain registers, exercise powers of entry without 
force, apply for a warrant, make, vary or revoke and in relation to land relevant to 
service functions to note applications for licences, planning, consents and 
approvals, a declaration and grant, vary, revoke and attach conditions to 
consents, except as detailed in the Legal Exceptions Chart.  

The Chief Executive  

11. The Chief Executive may carry out the powers and duties of the Assistant Chief Executive 
and Executive Directors and Director of Legal and Democratic in their absence or in 
consultation with them and will also have the following additional powers:  

(a) to carry out the powers and duties of any of the officers in their absence or in 
consultation with them;  

(b) to incur expenditure in the event of a civil emergency;  

(c) in cases of emergency to take any decision which could be taken by the Council, 
the Cabinet or a committee, in consultation with the Leader; emergency to include 
cases which fall short of a declared emergency but are nevertheless situations in 
which there will be a risk of significant detriment to the wellbeing of residents if 
action is not taken.  

(d) to alter the areas of responsibility of the Assistant Chief Executive, Executive 
Directors and Directors set out in the Areas of Responsibility section of this 
scheme;  

(e) to make arrangements for the appointment of Chief Officer roles and to make 
appointments to Deputy Chief Officer roles. 

(f) to agree the Human Resources Policies following relevant consultation.  

(g) to make any changes necessary to the Employee Code of Conduct following 
relevant consultation.   

The Monitoring Officer  

12. The Monitoring Officer has delegated authority to:  

Page 313



 

174 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

(a) grant dispensations to councillors in accordance with the Localism Act 2011 
with the power to refer any request for a dispensation back to the Democracy 
and Standards Committee.  

(b) To make consequential amendments to the Constitution to give effect to a 
lawful decision; as a direct consequence of a change made outside the council 
e.g. a change in legislation and to correct an error or resolve an inconsistency.  
All such changes to be reported to Council.   

(c) To Interpret the Constitution where the meaning is uncertain or there is a 
dispute about its meaning.   

The Section 151 Officer  

13. In addition to any powers delegated under section 2.10 above the Section 151 Officer 
has delegated authority to carry out those responsibilities set out as delegated to them in 
the Financial Procedure Regulations within this Constitution.  

14. The Section 151 Officer has delegated authority to: 

(a) Manage the Council’s responsibilities in its capacity as Lead Authority (in 
conjunction with North Northamptonshire Council) in providing the following 
services to other councils in accordance with a Shared Services Agreement 
dated 16 April 2016 made between Cambridgeshire County Council, 
Northamptonshire County Council, and Milton Keynes Council (‘the 
“Agreement’): 

(i) Business Systems 

(ii) Performance and Governance 

(iii) HR transactions and payroll 

(iv) Pensions 

(b) Negotiate the Shared Services Plan required by the Agreement and make 
recommendations to the Councils party to that Agreement as to the provision 
of financial and other resources. 

(c) Authorise and manage delegations to other Councils made in accordance with 
the Agreement, including: 

(i) Internal Audit and Risk Management 

(ii) Insurance Services 

(iii) Accounts Payable and Finance Helpdesk 

Page 314



 

175 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

(iv) Debt and Income 

Assistant Chief Executive and Executive Directors and Director 

15. The Assistant Chief Executive, Executive Directors and Directors may carry out the 
powers and duties of any direct reports within their area of responsibility in their absence 
or in consultation with them.  

Officer Delegation  

16. West Northamptonshire Council operates an ‘executive’ form of governance, under which 
most decisions are taken by a Leader and a small Executive or Cabinet of elected 
members. These members take decisions on executive functions. Other decisions - non-
executive decisions - are taken by full Council, committees and sub-committees. In both 
cases, decisions can be delegated to officers. The non-executive functions are listed in 
legislation, principally The Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Authorities 
(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 (as amended) and includes 
decisions by full Council and committees on planning, licensing, staffing, audit, member 
conduct and other miscellaneous matters. Anything not in the list is an executive function. 

17. Any delegation to an officer includes authority for any further delegation within the 
relevant Area of Responsibility. Officers shall devolve responsibilities for service delivery 
and management to those staff who represent the nearest practicable point of delivery to 
the service user.  

Recording and Publishing Officer Decisions 

18. This protocol establishes a system to document certain decisions taken by officers under 
delegated authority. 

Types of officer decisions 

19. An ‘Executive decision’ is one made in connection with the discharge of a function which 
is the responsibility of the Leader and Cabinet and which has been delegated to officers. 

20. A ‘Non-Executive decision’ is one made in connection with the discharge of a function 
that is the responsibility of Full Council and its committees and which has been delegated 
to officers. 

21. The significance of decisions taken under delegated powers will vary, and officers 
authorised to make delegated decisions need to exercise judgment in determining 
whether decisions are significant enough to require formal recording and publishing. 

22. Although administrative and operational decisions are not required to be formally 
reported, they must be recorded within the service area so as to provide an audit trail. 

Page 315



 

176 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

23. Key Decisions, Material Decisions, Significant Decisions and Urgent Decisions are 
defined below: 

24. Key Decisions are Executive decisions that are likely to:  

(a) result in expenditure or savings of £500k or more; or  

(b) have a significant effect on communities living or working in an area comprising two 
or more wards.  

25. Material Decisions are Executive decisions (other than purely operational or 
administrative in nature) taken by officers under delegated powers by a specific resolution 
of the Cabinet/Cabinet Member or under the Scheme of Delegation: 

(a) That are contentious, controversial or politically sensitive; or 

(b) Where there is likely to be a strong public interest; or 

(c) Where there is significant variance in expenditure outside the agreed scope or 
budget for a project or issue; or 

(d) Raise new issues of policy 

26. Significant Decisions are Non-Executive decisions (other than purely operational or 
administrative in nature) taken by officers under powers delegated by a specific resolution 
of Full Council, a committee or under the Scheme of Delegation and having wide public 
impact/interest; where the effect of the decision: 

(a) is to grant a permission or licence 

(b) affects the legal rights of an individual 

(c) is to award a contract or incur expenditure which ‘materially’ affects the authority's 
financial position 

27. Urgent Decisions are decisions made in circumstances where: 

(a) a decision is required by statute or otherwise within a specified timescale; or 

(b) any delay likely to be caused by not making the decision would seriously prejudice 
the Council’s or the public’s interests; or 

(c) any delay likely to be caused by not making the decision would be likely to expose 
the Council, its members or the public to a significant level of risk, loss, damage or 
disadvantage 

28. The following types of officer decision must be formally recorded and published subject 
to the exceptions set out: 

Page 316



 

177 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Type of Officer Decision Exception Publication 

Key Decisions 

Executive decisions that are 
likely to result in spending 
or savings that are 
‘significant’: 

• in relation to the budget 
for the service or function in 
question or 

• in terms of the effect on 
communities living or 
working in two or more 
electoral divisions 

Officers are only to take 
Key Decisions under the 
urgency provisions. 

Material Decisions 

Executive decisions under 
powers delegated by a 
specific resolution of the 
Cabinet/Cabinet Member or 
under the Scheme of 
Delegation: 

• That are contentious, 
controversial or politically 
sensitive; or 

• Where there is likely to be 
a strong public interest; or 

• Where there is significant 
variance in expenditure 
outside the agreed scope or 
budget for a project or 
issue; or 

• That raise new issues of 
policy. 

Does not apply: 

(i) To routine operational, 
organisational or 
administrative decisions; 

(ii) Where the expenditure 
or saving has already been 
approved by Cabinet or 
Cabinet Member and the 
decision has been 
published; 

(iii) Confidential or Exempt 
Information; or 

(iv) Where the expenditure 
or saving is already 
recorded and published 
under separate statutory 
requirements. 

Significant Decisions Does not apply: 

As soon as reasonably 
practicable after an officer 
has made a Key, Material 
or Significant decision, they 
must produce a written 
statement, available for 
inspection at County Hall 
and published on the 
Council’s website, that 
includes details of: 

• the decision and the date 
it was made; 

• the reasons for it; 

• any alternative options 
considered and rejected; 

• any conflicts of interests 
declared by any Cabinet 
Member consulted by the 
officer and any 
dispensations granted by 
the Chief Executive in 
respect of any declared 
conflict; 

• the report considered by 
the decision-maker; 

• any background 
documents disclosing facts 
or matters on which the 
decision was based and 
which were relied on to a 
material extent in making 
the decision. 

The decision record must 
be kept for inspection for 6 
years and the background 
papers for 4 years. 

Page 317



 

178 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Non-Executive decisions 
under powers delegated by 
a specific resolution of Full 
Council, a committee or 
under the Scheme of 
Delegation and having wide 
public impact/ interest; 
where the effect of the 
decision: 

• is to grant a permission or 
licence 

• affects the legal rights of 
an individual 

• is to award a contract or 
incur expenditure which 
‘materially’ affects the 
authority's financial position 

(i) To routine operational, 
organisational or 
administrative decisions; 

(ii) Confidential or Exempt 
information; 

(iii) Where the date, details 
of and reasons for the 
decision are already 
required to be produced 
under a statutory 
requirement; 

(iv) If only the rights of an 
individual or business are 
affected, unless there is a 
wider public impact/ interest 
in the action. 

 

AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY 

See Management Structure charts above for a detailed list of functions. Further details of 
the contents of each heading is in the list held by the Chief Executive, which they have 
authority to change and responsibility for keeping up to date. 

Chief Officer Main Functions and Areas of Responsibility 
Assistant Chief 
Executive  

• Communications and Engagement 
• Policy and Performance 
• Business Intelligence 
• Executive Support 
• Lord Lieutenant Support 

Executive Director 
Adults, Communities 
and Wellbeing (DASS) 

• Commissioning and Performance 
• Adults Services 
• Safeguarding and Wellbeing 
• Public Health 

Director of Children’s 
Services (DCS) 

• Children’s Social Care 
• Education 
• Commissioning and Partnerships 

Executive Director of 
Corporate Services 

• Human Resources 
• Programme Management Office 
• Customer and Emergency Planning 
• Digital, Technology and Innovation 
• Legal and Democratic 

Page 318



 

179 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Executive Director 
Finance 

• Finance and Accountancy 
• Finance and Strategy 
• Audit and Risk 
• Revenues and Benefits 
• Procurement 
• Pensions 

Executive Director 
Place Economy and 
Environment 

• Regulatory Services 
• Highways and Waste 
• Assets and Environment 
• Growth, Climate & Regeneration 
• Housing and Communities 

Director of Legal and 
Democratic 

• Registration of Births, Marriages and Deaths 
• Coroners 
• Elections Administration 
• Legal and Democratic Services 
• Information Governance 

Director of Public 
Health 

• Public Health 
• Intelligence and Local Sustainability and 

Transformation Partnerships 
• Management & Commissioning 
• Wellbeing Advisors 
• Adults Learning 

Director of 
Communities and 
Opportunities 

• Community Partnerships 
• Housing, Communities, Sport & Leisure 
• Adult Learning 
• Regeneration & Economic Development 
• Libraries 
• Culture 

 
A. EXCEPTIONS – CONTRACTING 
(In exercising delegated powers, officers are reminded to take account of the overall 
limitations of the scheme, as detailed in the introduction to the scheme) 
All contracts and procurement must be in accordance with the Contract Rules in 
Part 9.6 

*Contract value is over the whole contract and any extension provision not the annual 
spend 
 

Process Over the 
Regulations 
Threshold 

£100,000 to 
Regulations 
Threshold 

£25,000 - 
£100,000 

Over £5,000 
- £25,000  

1. Pre-Procurement 
Authorisation 

Officer and 
Procurement 
Team. 
PGG Group. 
Executive 
Process if Key 
Decision  

Officer and 
Procurement 
Team. 
Executive 
Process if Key 
Decision  

Officer. 
Executive 
Process if Key 
Decision. 

Officer. 
Executive 
Process if 
Key 
Decision.  

Page 319



 

180 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

2. Advertising Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team 

Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team 

None None 

3. Procurement 
Process 

Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team must be 
consulted 

Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team must be 
consulted 

Officer  Officer  

4. Contract Execution Written 
contract 
signed/sealed. 
Terms 
approved by 
Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic. 

Written 
contract 
signed/sealed. 
Terms 
approved by 
Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic. 

Written 
contract 
signed by one 
(1) Chief 
Officer or 
Officer with 
appropriate 
authority to 
enter into a 
Contract. 
Standard 
terms 
approved by 
Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic. 

Officer 
Contract 
terms issued 
via purchase 
order. 

5. Contract Register Officer or 
Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team if 
leading 
procurement.  

Officer or 
Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team if 
leading 
procurement. 

Officer Officer 

6. Framework 
Agreements or 
DPSs 

Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team.  
Executive 
Process if Key 
Decision 

Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team. 
Executive 
Process if Key 
Decision 

Officer. 
Executive 
Process if Key 
Decision  

Officer. 
Executive 
Process if 
Key Decision 

Page 320



 

181 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

7. Waive Contract 
Procedure Rules 

Chief Officer, 
Head of 
Procurement, 
s.151 Officer 
and 
Monitoring 
Officer. 
Executive 
Process if Key 
Decision 

Chief Officer, 
Head of 
Procurement, 
s.151 Officer 
and 
Monitoring 
Officer. 
Executive 
Process if Key 
Decision 

Chief Officer, 
Head of 
Procurement, 
s.151 Officer. 
Executive 
Process if Key 
Decision 

Chief Officer 
Approval. 
Executive 
Process if 
Key Decision 

8. Emergencies Chief Officer 
on advice of 
Head of 
Procurement, 
s.151 Officer 
and 
Monitoring 
Officer.  
If Key 
Decision 
Executive 
Process. 

Chief Officer 
on advice of 
Head of 
Procurement, 
s.151 Officer 
and 
Monitoring 
Officer.  
If Key 
Decision 
Executive 
Process. 

Chief Officer 
on advice of 
Head of 
Procurement, 
s.151 Officer 
and Monitoring 
Officer  
If Key 
Decision 
Executive 
Process. 

Chief Officer 
on advice of 
Head of 
Procurement, 
s.151 Officer 
and 
Monitoring 
Officer  
If Key 
Decision 
Executive 
Process. 

9. Apply an exemption 
– use of negotiated 
procedure 

Officer on 
advice of 
Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team and if 
Key Decision 
Cabinet 

Officer on 
advice of 
Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team and if 
Key Decision 
Cabinet 

Officer on 
advice of 
Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team 

Officer on 
advice of 
Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team  

10. Notification of 
Award 

Officer on 
advice of 
Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team 

Officer on 
advice of 
Head of 
Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team 

Officer Officer 

11. Contract Variations 
(material change) 

Not permitted. 
A new 
Procurement 
is required. 

Officer with 
the agreement 
of Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic 

Officer with 
the agreement 
of Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic 

Officer with 
the 
agreement of 
Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic  

12. Non recovery of 
liquidated 
damages/settlement 
of formal claims 

Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic  
and with the 
approval of 
s.151 Officer. 

Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic 
and with the 
approval of 
s.151 Officer.  

Officer with 
the approval of 
s151 Officer 
and Monitoring 
Officer.  

With the 
agreement of 
the Executive 
Director 

Page 321



 

182 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

13. Extension of Fixed 
Term Contracts 
with option to 
extend 

With the 
agreement of 
Head of 
Procurement 
and Director 
of Legal and 
Democratic. If 
over the Key 
Decision 
threshold, 
Cabinet 
approval may 
be required. 

With the 
agreement of 
Head of 
Procurement 
and Director 
of Legal and 
Democratic.  

With the 
agreement of 
Head of 
Procurement 
and Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic.  

With the 
agreement of 
Head of 
Procurement 
and Director 
of Legal and 
Democratic. 

14. Termination of 
Contract 

Termination 
prior to its 
expiry date 
without first 
obtaining 
advice from 
Head of 
Procurement 
and Director 
of Legal and 
Democratic. 

Authorised 
Officer in 
consultation 
with Director 
of Legal and 
Democratic. 

Authorised 
Officer in 
consultation 
with Director 
of Legal and 
Democratic.  

Authorised 
Officer in 
consultation 
with Director 
of Legal and 
Democratic. 

15. Execution of 
Contracts 

 £1,000,000 or 
over shall be 
in writing 
sealed by 
affixing the 
Common Seal 
of the Council 
and attested 
by the 
Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic. 

Over £250,000 
but less than 
£1,000,000 
shall be in 
writing and 
signed by the 
appropriate 
Chief Officer 
and the s.151 
Officer or their 
nominated 
representative. 

Up to 
£250,000 
shall be in 
writing 
signed by the 
Chief Officer. 

 
 
B. EXCEPTIONS – INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
(In exercising delegated powers, officers are reminded to take account of the overall 
limitations of the scheme, as detailed in the introduction to the scheme) 
All contracts and procurement must be in accordance with the Contract Rules in 
Part 9.6 

*Contract value is over the whole contract and any extension provision not the annual 
spend 

Process Over £100,000 £5,000 - £100,000 Under £5,000 

Page 322



 

183 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

1. IT Hardware 
Any devices which store or 
process personal data and 
their associated 
peripherals. Including, but 
not limited to: printers, 
laptops, mobile phones, 
monitors, tablets, etc 

2. Enterprise 
Application and 
Systems 

Any digital system, 
whether hosted internally 
or software-as-a-service 
(SaaS) that stores and 
uses council data; whether 
purchased directly as a 
system or outsourced to a 
third-party to run. 

Chief 
Information 
Officer and Head 
of Procurement 
through the 
Procurement 
Team.  

Executive 
Process if Key 
Decision 

Chief Information 
Officer acting on 
the advice of the 
relevant officer from 
the service in 
question, and via 
the CIO’s delegated 
team and ordering 
processes 

Requests 
authorised by the 
Chief Information 
Officer and via 
the CIO’s 
delegated team 
and ordering 
processes 

 
C. EXCEPTIONS PROPERTY 

(In exercising delegated powers, officers are reminded to take account of the overall 
limitations of the scheme, as detailed in the introduction to the scheme). NB The term 
Property/Land includes all interests in Land including (wayleaves, easements, buildings). 
Values relate to ‘the interest disposed of value’ not ‘the unrestricted value’ of the land). 
 

Process Officer Delegation Cabinet 
Approval 

Council 
Approval 

Secretary 
of State 
Approval 

Disposal and Acquisition of Land 
1. Asset Management 

Plan 
No Yes No No 

2. Acquisition over 
£500,000 

No Yes and a 
key decision 

Where it 
exceeds the 
Capital or 
Revenue 
Budget 

No 

3. Acquisition under 
£500,000 

Assistant Director 
Assets and 
Environment in 
consultation with 
the s151 Officer 
and Portfolio Holder 

Not unless 
required by 
the Portfolio 
Holder 

No No 

4. Disposal where the 
estimated value of 
the combined 

No Yes and a 
key decision 

No  No unless 
required by 
law  

Page 323



 

184 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

properties is over 
£500,000 

5. Disposal at an 
undervalue 

No (unless already 
set out in agreed 
policy) 

Yes and a 
key decision 

No  No unless 
required by 
law 

6. Disposal of or 
allowing the 
occupation of or 
sharing the use of 
any property under 
£500,000 

Assistant Director 
Assets and 
Environment in 
consultation with 
s151 Officer over 
£100k 

No No No 

7. Leases Grant of leases up 
to 10 years or with 
discretion to break 
not exceeding 10 
years 

Grant of 
leases over 
10 years 

No No 

8. Non-Land Based 
Asset Disposal 

Yes in accordance 
with the Finance 
Procedure Rules 

No No No 

 
D. EXCEPTIONS FINANCE 

(In exercising delegated powers, officers are reminded to take account of the overall 
limitations of the scheme, as detailed in the introduction to the scheme.) 
 

Exception Over £500k Up to £500k Up to £100k Up to £25k Up to £1k 
1. Capital 

Expenditure 
outside the 
Capital 
Programme 

Council Cabinet CFO Cabinet Cabinet 

2. Unbudgeted 
Revenue 
Expenditure 

Council Cabinet CFO Budget 
Manager 

Budget 
Manager 

3. Virements Cabinet CFO in 
consultation 
with Cabinet 
Portfolio 

CFO CFO CFO 

4. Ex gratia 
payments 

N/A N/A N/A N/A CFO 

5. Write off 
debts 

Cabinet Cabinet Cabinet CFO CFO 

6. Negotiate 
and Approve 
Borrowing 
Limits 

Council Cabinet Cabinet Cabinet  Cabinet 

7. Submit bids 
for funding to 

Executive 
Director in 

Executive 
Director in 

Executive 
Director in 

Executive 
Director in 

Executive 
Director in 

Page 324



 

185 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

the relevant 
body 

consultation 
with CFO 

Consultation 
with CFO 

Consultation 
with CFO 

Consultation 
with CFO 

Consultation 
with CFO 

8. To agree 
conditions 
and approve 
agreements 
in relation to 
grant funding 
to be 
received by 
the Council 

CFO CFO CFO CFO CFO 

9. Write off any 
surplus or 
deficiencies 
in respect of 
items of stock 

Cabinet CFO CFO CFO Budget 
Manager 

10. Negotiate 
leasing 
arrangements 

Executive 
Director 
Place and 
Economy in 
Consultation 
with CFO 

Executive 
Director 
Place and 
Economy in 
Consultation 
with CFO 

Executive 
Director 
Place and 
Economy in 
Consultation 
with CFO 

Executive 
Director 
Place and 
Economy 

Executive 
Director 
Place and 
Economy 

11. Invest any 
temporary 
surplus of 
monies until 
such monies 
are required 

CFO in 
accordance 
with 
Treasury 
Management 
Statement 

CFO in 
accordance 
with 
Treasury 
Management 
Statement 

CFO in 
accordance 
with 
Treasury 
Management 
Statement 

CFO in 
accordance 
with 
Treasury 
Management 
Statement 

CFO in 
accordance 
with 
Treasury 
Management 
Statement 

12. Effect 
necessary 
insurances 

CFO CFO CFO CFO CFO 

13. Settle 
insurance 
claims 

CFO and 
MO 

CFO and 
MO 

CFO and 
MO 

CFO and 
MO 

CFO 

14. To vary the 
scale of fees 
and charges 
within year to 
reflect market 
conditions 

Budget 
Manager 
and CFO 

Budget 
Manager 
and CFO 

Budget 
Manager 
and CFO 

Budget 
Manager 
and CFO 

Budget 
Manager 

15. To set new 
fees and 
charges 
within year 

Council 
(except 
where 
delegated) 

Cabinet Cabinet CFO CFO 

 
E. EXCEPTIONS – STAFF AND EMPLOYMENT 
NB This element of the scheme is dictated by 2 LGHA 1989 and the Standing Orders 
Regulations 

Page 325



 

186 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

 Officer 
Delegation 

Statutory 
Cabinet 
Member 
Consultation 

Member 
Decision 

Council 
Decision 

1. Appointment 
of Chief 
Executive 

No (cannot be 
carried out by 
officers.  

Yes, through 
the MO 

Yes must be 
made by Full 
Council 

On 
recommendation 
from Senior 
Appointments 
Committee 

2. Appointment 
of Chief 
Officers 
(Executive 
Directors) 

No (possible 
exception 
where there is 
change 
management 
and the 
appointment 
is internal) 

Yes, through 
the MO 

Senior 
Appointments 
Committee 

Only if required 
by Council 

3. Appointment 
of Deputy 
Chief 
Officers 
(Service 
Directors) 

Yes No No  No 

4. Appointment 
below 
Deputy Chief 
Officer 
(DCO) 

Yes Members 
cannot be 
involved in the 
appointments 
below DCO 

Members 
cannot be 
involved in the 
appointments 
below DCO 

Members cannot 
be involved in 
the 
appointments 
below DCO 

5. Dismissal of 
Chief 
Executive (as 
Head of Paid 
Service) 

Cannot be 
delegated to 
officers 

Yes An 
independent 
report must be 
prepared 
before a 
decision can 
be made 

Special Meeting 
of Council must 
be convened 

6. Dismissal of 
Statutory 
Chief 
Officers 

Cannot be 
delegated 
solely to 
officers 

No In accordance 
with 
prescribed 
procedure 

In accordance 
with prescribed 
procedure 

7. Dismissal of 
non-Statutory 
Chief Officer 

Not delegated 
solely to 
officers 

No In accordance 
with 
prescribed 
procedure 

In accordance 
with prescribed 
procedure 

8. Dismissal by 
way of 
redundancy 
or voluntary 
redundancy 
for Chief 
Officers  

No No In accordance 
with 
prescribed 
procedure 

In accordance 
with prescribed 
procedure 

Page 326



 

187 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

9. Dismissal of 
staff below 
Chief Officer  

Chief 
Executive for 
DCOs, and 
Executive 
Directors 
below DCO 

No No No 

10. Determine 
Appeals 
against final 
written 
warnings 
below DCO 

Relevant 
authorised 
managers.  

No No No 

11. Issue HR1 
notices in 
respect of 
potential 
redundancies 

Assistant 
Director HR 

No No No 

12. To carry out 
powers and 
duties under 
the Health 
and Safety at 
Work Act 

Chief 
Executive 

No No No 

13. Issue 
‘certificates 
of opinion’ as 
to whether or 
not the duties 
of a post fall 
within the 
criteria of 
political 
sensitivity 

Assistant 
Director HR  

No No No 

F. EXCEPTIONS - LEGAL 

In exercising delegated powers, officers are reminded to take account of the overall 
limitations of the scheme, as detailed in the introduction to the scheme. 

Function Officer 
1. Determine all applications made under 

powers and duties of the local planning 
authority and planning legislation in 
relation to applications and 
enforcement  

Executive Director Place and Economy 
except where: 

a) The decision would lead to a 
significant departure from the local 
plan 

b) Where called in by at least 1 
member 

c) Major applications to develop the 
Council’s own land 

Page 327



 

188 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

d) Applications by relevant officers 
employed by the Council 

Applications deemed by the Executive 
Director to require a member decision.  

2. Make applications to the Court of 
Protection for Receivership Orders in 
relation to clients lacking mental 
capacity to carry out their financial 
affairs  

Executive Director of Adults, Communities 
and Wellbeing  

3. Apply to become an appointee in 
relation to clients lacking capacity to 
carry out their financial affairs  

Executive Director of Adults, Communities 
and Wellbeing   

4. Carry out the health functions 
delegated to the Authority by an NHS 
body under arrangements between 
NHS bodies and local authorities 
pursuant to section 31 Health Act 1999  

Executive Director of Adults, Communities 
and Wellbeing   

5. Determine liability, demand payment, 
make arrangements for collection and 
take action for recovery of Council Tax 
and Non-Domestic Rates  

Executive Director of Finance 

6. Defend and/or settle all claims made 
against the Council up to £100,000  Director Legal and Democratic 

7. Determine details required by 
conditions imposed on any permission.  Executive Director of Place and Economy 

8. Determine minor amendments to 
approved plans where these do not 
materially alter the form of the 
approved development  

Executive Director of Place and Economy 

9. All powers and functions of the 
Authority in respect hackney carriage 
and private hire licensing matters  

Executive Director of Place and Economy, 
except where an applicant has relevant 
convictions/cautions or a current licence 
holder is similarly convicted/cautioned 
and/or where an applicant for, or the 
current holder of a Hackney 
Carriage/Private Hire drivers licence has 
nine or more points on their DVLA driving 
licence 

10. All powers and functions in respect of 
the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013.  Executive Director of Place and Economy 

11. To approve Public Spaces Protection 
Orders (PSPOs), unless they are likely 
to be considered to be sensitive or 
significant.  

Executive Director of Adults, Communities 
and Wellbeing  

12. To attest the seal of the Council (and 
to authorise any other Solicitor of the 
Council to attest the seal) and hold a 
book kept for the purpose that contains 
a consecutively numbered entry of 

Director of Legal and Democratic 

Page 328



 

189 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

every sealing initialled by the person 
who has attested the seal. 

13. To sign any document on behalf of the 
Council for any purpose unless signing 
the document has otherwise been 
delegated to an Executive Director, the 
Chief Executive, the Assistant Chief 
Executive, Director or Proper Officer 
within this constitution or by 
law. Reference to signing documents 
includes by electronic signature of 
documents where this improves the 
efficiency of the council and removes 
the requirement for hard copy printing.   

Director of Legal and Democratic 

14. Under section 91 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 to appoint by 
order persons to fill vacancies in the 
office of parish [or community] 
councillor.  

Director of Legal and Democratic 

15. Issue proceedings, prosecute, defend, 
conduct, withdraw, settle or appeal any 
legal proceedings or process on behalf 
of the Council unless otherwise 
delegated. 

Director Legal and Democratic 

16. Institute criminal proceedings in 
respect of offences against any 
legislation (including byelaws) which 
the Council is allowed to enforce. 

Director Legal and Democratic 

17. Exercise the powers and functions of 
the local authority under the Proceeds 
of Crime Act 2002 or any variation or 
amendment thereof or regulations 
made thereunder.  

Director of Legal and Democratic.  

18. Authorise any officer of the Council to 
prosecute, or defend on its behalf, or 
to appear on its behalf in, proceedings 
before a Magistrates Court, in 
accordance with Section 223 of the 
Local Government Act 1972  

Director Legal and Democratic 

19. Make orders or take any other steps in 
relation to any legislation when 
instructed by the officer with the 
relevant area of responsibility  

Director Legal and Democratic  

20. Appoint Education Appeal Panel 
members, in accordance with the 
provisions of the Education (Admission 
Appeals Arrangements) (England) 
(Regulations 2002), as amended, such 
appointments to last for a period of 
three years then membership be re-

Director Legal and Democratic  

Page 329



 

190 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

assessed and re-appointments made 
as appropriate  

21. Determining applications affecting the 
registers of commons and village 
greens (under the Commons Act 2006 
and any subsequent legislation).  

Director of Legal and Democratic  

In the case of contested matters, or 
Matters which require oral representation 
or an inquiry, an Independent Inspector 
shall be appointed to determine the 
application.  

22. To carry out powers in relation to 
assets of community value under Part 
5 Chapter 3 of the Localism Act 2011.  

Powers to determine whether an asset 
should be placed on the list – Executive 
Director of Place and Economy 

Powers to determine reviews – Director of 
Legal and Democratic 

 

G. EXCEPTIONS - PENSIONS 

(In exercising delegated powers, officers are reminded to take account of the overall 
limitations of the scheme, as detailed in the introduction to the scheme) 
 

Officer  Function 
Chief Finance Officer 
(Section 151 Officer) 
(Further delegations to 
Head of Pensions can 
be found in the 
administering authority’s 
discretions or within 
individual policy or 
strategy documents 
published on the 
Pension Fund’s website 
as approved by the 
Pension Committee). 

Management and administration of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme  
Authority to maintain West Northamptonshire Council’s 
responsibility for the management and administration of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations with regard 
to overriding legislation and guidance including statutory 
guidance, including the exercise of the administering 
authority’s discretions.  
Membership of the ACCESS Asset Pool Section 151 
Officers Group 
In relation to the Joint Committee (JC), a s102 committee of 
the Local Government Act 1972, of the ACCESS Asset Pool, 
the Section151 Officer shall be bound by the terms of 
reference for the Section 151 Officer Group as detailed in the 
Inter-Authority Agreement: 
Part 1 – Governing Principles 
• The Section 151 Officers will co-operate to support the 

activities of the Pool in providing advice to or in 
consultation with the JC and they shall always act in line 
with the Governing Principle and Principles of 
Collaboration as set out in the Inter-Authority Agreement 
except to the extent that it is inconsistent with the 
discharge of their personal statutory duties. 

Page 330



 

191 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Part 2 - Functions in relation to the Pool 
• In response to decisions made by the JC, the Section 151 

Officers shall (in addition and without prejudice to their 
existing statutory responsibilities in relation to the proper 
administration of the financial affairs of their own 
Councils) ensure the appropriate resourcing, support, 
advice and facilitation to the JC including, without 
limitation, in the following ways: 
Discharging Section 151 Officer Functions 

o Staffing and Resourcing: in relation to the 
provision of staff and resources to assist the JC in 
the exercise of its functions under this Agreement. 

o Cost Sharing: in accordance with any local 
arrangements within their Councils, ensuring that 
their Councils’ share of costs is provided to the 
relevant parties, whether under the business plan, 
budget or otherwise under Schedule 5 from time to 
time. 

o Pool Aligned Assets: providing the JC, the ASU 
(ACCESS Support Unit) and any other relevant 
staff resources with such support as is reasonably 
required to engage with Pool Aligned Assets 
Providers. 

Advising the Joint Committee 
o Budget and Business Planning: making 

recommendations to the JC on budget and 
business plan matters, following input from the 
ASU in accordance with Schedule 5 of the Inter-
Authority Agreement (Cost Sharing). 

o Reviewing and advising on budget variations 
throughout each financial year. 

o Risk and Performance: advising the JC on the 
identification of, and mitigation of any risk to the 
operation or success of the Pool. 

o Host Authority and Procurement Lead 
Authority Roles: making recommendations to the 
JC regarding the Host Authority and Procurement 
Lead Authority roles from time to time as 
necessary. 

o Amendments to the Inter-Authority Agreement: 
reviewing, in consultation with their respective 
Councils’ Monitoring Officers, any material 
changes to the Inter-Authority Agreement, in 
accordance with provisions of clause 11 of the 

Page 331



 

192 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Inter-Authority Agreement (Variation of 
Agreement).  

 

H. EXCEPTIONS – NORTHAMPTON PARTNERSHIP HOMES LTD 

Function Delegated to 
Northampton 
Partnership 
Homes Ltd 

Retained 
by the 

Council 

Shared Comments 

1. Repairs and 
Maintenance 

Y   Planned, cyclical and 
responsive. 

2. Tenancy 
Management 

Y   Housing management 
(including 
successions and 
exchanges), tenancy 
management, 
leaseholder 
management 

3. Lettings   Y Via choice-based 
lettings scheme in 
accordance with 
Council’s lettings 
policy. 

4. Supporting 
Tenants 

Y   Sheltered 
accommodation, 
supported living and 
related advice. 

5. Ecton Lane 
Travellers Site 

Y   Details included 
within Schedule 1 of 
Service Specification 

6. Consultation   Y Council has statutory 
duties here and may 
wish to consult direct; 
generally expected 
that NPH would carry 
out consultations 
whether for itself or 
the Council. 

7. Estate 
Management 

Y   Details included 
within Schedule 1 of 
the service 
specification 

8. Right to buys   Y NPH to deal with 
applications, Council 
(via Pathfinder) to 
process legal work.  

9. Management of 
non-housing 

  Y Council or deal with 
the commercial 
elements; shared 

Page 332



 

193 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

assets on 
estates 

where buildings 
contain both housing 
and commercial 
elements. 

10. Housing advice 
and 
homelessness 

 Y  Council retains 
statutory functions – 
NPH to provide 
advice to tenants and 
homelessness 
prevention 

11. Private sector 
initiatives 

 Y  Including private 
sector empty homes 

12. Community 
initiatives 

  Y Council to retain 
community safety and 
rough sleepers 
functions; parties to 
co-operate on 
community initiatives 
generally 

13. Regeneration   Y Parties to work 
together on 
regeneration plans to 
the housing estates 

14. Policy 
development 

  Y NPH will be required 
to comply with 
relevant new policies 
developed by the 
Council. 

15. Stock surveys Y   As per the Housing 
Asset Management 
Strategy 

16. Aids and 
adaptations 

  Y For all council homes 
– DFGs for private 
sector homes remains 
with Council 

17. Insurance  Y  Subject to the 
provisions of clause 
30 of the Agreement. 

18. Management of 
HRA 

  Y Council’s statutory 
responsibility.  

19. Empty Homes   Y Details included 
within Schedule 1 
service specification.   

20. Housing 
litigation 
(conduct) 

 Y  

21. Housing 
litigation 
(representation) 

Y   

Local Practice 
Direction dated 18 
August 20201 from 
HHJ Hedley - 
Permitted rights of 
audience before 
District Judges and 

Page 333



 

194 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Deputy District 
Judges in the County 
Court at Northampton 
at rent possession 
claims and claims for 
the recovery rent, 
mesne profits, 
damages or any other 
sum claimed in 
respect of the 
occupation of a 
residential property 
belonging to and for 
claims brought by 
West 
Northamptonshire 
Council provided that 
they have written 
authorisation from 
West 
Northamptonshire 
Council to appear 
before the court.   

 

 

Page 334



 

195 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

9.3 List of Proper Officers 
 
SCHEDULE OF APPOINTMENTS 

PURPOSE OF APPOINTMENT PROPER OFFICER 
Any reference to the Clerk of a council which, by virtue of 
the Local Government Act 1972, is to be construed as a 
reference to the Proper Officer of the Council 

Director of Legal and 
Democratic 

Any reference to the Treasurer of a council which, by 
virtue of the Local Government Act 1972, is to be 
construed as reference to the Proper Officer of the 
Council 

Director of Finance 

 
PUBLIC HEALTH ACT 1936 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
85(2) Serving a notice requiring action to deal with 

verminous people and things 
Director of Public 
Health 

 
REGISTRATION SERVICE ACT 1953 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
9(1) and (2) Appointment of interim superintendent registrars and 

registrars 
Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

13(2)(h) 
and 3(b) 

Powers under the local scheme of organisation Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

20 Proper officer to be subject to regulations made by 
the Registrar General 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

 

AGRICULTURE ACT 1970 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
67(3) Appointment as Agricultural Analyst Assistant Director: 

Regulatory 
Services 

 

LOCAL AUTHORITY SOCIAL SERVICES ACT 1970 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
6(A1) Director of Adult Social Services Executive Director: 

Adults, 
Communities and 
Wellbeing 

 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1971 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
54(4) Appointment as clerk of the local planning 

authority 
Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

Page 335



 

196 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
13 (3) Parish Trustee where no Parish Council Director of Legal 

and Democratic 
All 
appointments 
under 
sections 83, 
84, 86, 88(2), 
89(1)(b), 99 
and Sch.12, 
100A to F 

To witness and receive declarations of acceptance 
of office of Chair, Vice Chair or councillor, 
resignations of councillors, vacancy in office, 
convening meetings to declare a vacancy, receipt 
of notice from electors regarding a vacancy, to 
issue a summons for a council meeting, all matters 
concerning agenda, papers and reports and 
minutes of meetings 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

115 (2) Person to whom all officers shall pay monies 
received by them and due to Council 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

137(a) Gives the Proper Officer power to require a 
voluntary organisation or similar body to supply 
information to them, where a local authority uses 
its powers under Section 137 to give financial 
assistant to that voluntary organisation or similar 
body above a relevant minimum 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

146(1)(a) Statutory declarations and issue any certificate in 
relation to securities on change of name of 
authority or change or area 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

151 To be responsible for the administration of the 
financial affairs of the Council 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

All 
appointments 
191, 204(3), 
210(6) and 
(7), 223, 
225(1), 
228(3), 
229(5), 233, 
234, 236(9)-
(10), 238, 
248(2), 
Sch.12 para 
4(2)(b) and 
4(3) and 
Sch.14 para 
25(7)  

Receipt of notices from Ordnance Survey in 
relation to boundaries, powers in respect of 
charities, authorising officers to attend court, 
receipt of documents to be deposited, certification 
of photographic copies, receipt of service, signing 
of notice order or other document required by law, 
certifying copies of byelaws and keeping the roll of 
freemen. Provisions in relation to summons for 
meetings and copy resolutions  

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

Sch.29, Para 
4 

Undertake duties at council elections which, under 
the Representation of the People Acts, are 
required to be undertaken not by the Returning 
Officer but by the Proper Officer 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

Sch.29 Pt.I 
Para.4(1)(b) 

Adaptation, modification and amendment of 
enactments 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

Sch.29 Para 
41 

Proper Officer for Births, Marriages and Deaths Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

Page 336



 

197 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1974 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
30(5) Provides that the Proper Officer must give public 

notice of the ombudsman’s reports 
Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

 
LOCAL ELECTIONS (PRINCIPAL AREA) RULES 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
 Retention and public inspection of documents after 

an election 
Returning Officer 
(Chief Executive) 

 

LOCAL LAND CHARGES ACT 1975 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
3 Requires each registering authority to maintain a 

local land charges register. This duty falls on the 
local authority itself and not on the “Proper Officer” 

Executive 
Director of Place 
and Economy  

19 The officer to act as Local Registrar as defined in 
Section 3  

Executive 
Director of Place 
and Economy  

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
16 Notices requiring details of interest in land Any Chief Officer 

of the Council 
41(1) The officer to certify copies of any resolution, 

order, report or minutes of proceedings of the 
Authority as evidence in any legal proceedings 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES CEMETERIES ORDER 1977   
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
10  To sign exclusive rights of burial Executive 

Director of Place 
and Economy  

 
RENT ACT 1977 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Officer 
63 Appointment of rent officers under a scheme Assistant Director 

Housing and 
Communities 

Schedule 15, 
Part IV, para 7 

Certification of provision of suitable alternative 
accommodation 

Assistant Director 
Housing and 
Communities 

Page 337



 

198 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

HIGHWAYS ACT 1980 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
59(1) Certify that extraordinary expenses have been 

incurred in maintaining the highway by reason of 
damage caused by excessive weight  

Assistant 
Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

193 (1) Certify that additional expenses have been 
incurred in the execution of wider than normal 
street works 

Assistant 
Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

205 (3)-(5)  Undertake duties as specified in the schedules in 
relation to private street works 

Assistant 
Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

210(2) Certify amendments to estimated costs and 
provisional apportionment of costs under the 
private street works code  

Assistant 
Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

211(1), 
212(4), 
216(2)-(3) 

Make final apportionment of costs as detailed in 
the schedules under the private street works code  

Assistant 
Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

295(1) Issue notice requiring removal of materials from 
non - maintainable streets in which works are due 
to take place  

Assistant 
Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

321 Authenticate notices and other documents Assistant 
Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

Sch.9 para 4 Sign plans showing proposed prescribed 
improvement or building lines 

Assistant 
Director: 
Highways and 
Waste 

 

REPRESENTATION OF THE PEOPLE ACT 1983 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
8(1) and 
(2)(a) 

Appointment as Electoral Registration Officer Chief Executive 

35(1) Appointment as Returning Officer Chief Executive 

67(7)(b) Receipt of notice of an election agent for local 
elections 

Returning Officer 

82 and 89 Receipt of election expense declarations and 
returns and the holding of those documents for 
public inspection 

 Returning 
Officer 

128 Provides that a copy of any petition questioning a 
local government election shall be sent to proper 
officer who shall publish it in the local authority 
area 

 Returning 
Officer 

Page 338



 

199 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

131 Providing accommodation for holding election 
count 

Chief Executive 

 

BUILDING ACT 1984 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
61 Provides that the proper officer or any other 

authorised officer to be given free access to works 
or repairs to an underground drain 

Executive 
Director of Place 
and Economy 

78 To take action in relation to dangerous buildings 
and structures 

Executive 
Director of Place 
and Economy 

93 Provides that notices and other documents under 
this Act may be signed by the Proper Officer or by 
an officer authorised by them in writing 

Executive 
Director of Place 
and Economy  

 
PUBLIC HEALTH (CONTROL OF DISEASES) ACT 1984 AS AMENDED BY THE 
HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE ACT 2008 AND THE MILK AND DAIRIES (GENERAL) 
REGULATIONS 1959 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
48 Preparation of certificate to Justice of Peace for 

removal of body to mortuary and for burial within a 
prescribed time or immediately 

Director of Public 
Health 

59 Authentication of documents Director of Public 
Health 

61-62 Right to enter premises to ascertain whether there 
has been a contravention of a provision of the 
1984 Act or a Part 2A order made pursuant to the 
1984 Act 

Director of Public 
Health 

 Requirement to appoint a suitably qualified person 
as the Council’s Medical Advisor on Environmental 
Health and Proper Officer for notifiable diseases 

Director of Public 
Health 

74 To act for such of the functions relating to 
notification, investigations, prevention and control 
of notifiable diseases and food poisoning. 

Director of Public 
Health 

 

WEIGHTS AND MEASURES ACT 1985 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
72(1)(a) Chief Inspector of Weights and Measures Head of Trading 

Standards 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE ACT 1988 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
114, 115, 
115A and 
115B 

Responsibility for Chief Financial Officer Reports Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

116 Notification to auditor of date, time and place of 
meeting to consider Section 114 report and of 
decision of such meeting 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

Page 339



 

200 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

139A Provision of information to the Secretary of State 
in relation to the exercise of their powers under 
this Act as and when required 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

Sch.4 (10)(1) 
Paragraphs 6 
– 8 (10)(1) 
Paragraph 9 

Where notice has to be served on the Council 
concerning: 

• The acquisition of way leaves over Council-
owned land  

• The felling and lopping of trees, etc 

Executive 
Director of Place 
and Economy  

Sch. 8, 36(8) 
Para 1, 36(8) 
Para 2 

Where applications have to be made for consent 
to construct generating stations on Council-owned 
land 
Where applications for consent have to be served 
on the local planning authority 

Executive 
Director of Place 
and Economy  

 

PUBLIC HEALTH (INFECTIOUS DISEASES) REGULATIONS 1988 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
6 Reporting of infectious diseases to the Chief 

Medical Officer 
Director of Public 
Health 

8 Submission of weekly or quarterly returns to the 
Registrar General 

Director of Public 
Health 

10 Arrangements for immunisation and vaccination Director of Public 
Health 

Sch.3 and 4 Reporting and issuing notices to prevent the 
spread of infection 

Director of Public 
Health 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND HOUSING ACT 1989 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
2(4), 3A, 15 -
17 

Officer with whom the list of politically restricted 
posts shall be deposited; to grant exemptions 
from political restriction and matters relating to 
the establishment of political groups. Any 
responsibilities under the Local Government 
(committees and Political Groups) Regulations 
1990 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

4 Designation as Head of Paid Service Chief Executive 
5(1) Designation as Monitoring Officer Director of Legal 

and Democratic 
18 Receipt of notice in writing that a councillor 

wishes to forego any part of entitlement to an 
allowance 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

19(1) and (4) Receipt of notice of direct and indirect pecuniary 
interests 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT 1990 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
149 Discharging the functions in this section for Assistant 

Page 340



 

201 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

dealing with stray dogs Director 
Regulatory 
Services 

 

FOOD SAFETY ACT 1990 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
5 Authorised officer to act in matters arising under 

the Act 
Assistant 
Director 
Regulatory 
Services 

27(1) Appointment of Public Analyst Assistant 
Director 
Regulatory 
Services 

49(3) Any document which a food authority are 
authorised or required by or under this Act to give, 
make or issue may be signed on behalf of the 
authority (a) by the proper officer of the authority 
as respects documents relating to matters within 
their province; or (b) by any officer of the authority 
authorised by them in wiring to sign documents of 
the particular kind, or, as the case may be, the 
particular document 

Assistant 
Director 
Regulatory 
Services 

 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (COMMITTEES AND POLITICAL GROUPS) 
REGULATIONS 1990 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
8(1), 8(5), 
9(b), 10, 
13(1), 14, 15 
and 17 

Notifications to and by the Proper Officer 
Give effect to the wishes of political groups in 
making appointments of members to committees 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

 
CIVIL EVIDENCE ACT 1995 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
9 To certify Council records for the purposes of 

admitting the document in evidence in civil 
proceedings 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

 

PARTY WALL ETC. ACT 1996 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
 To select a third surveyor, if required, during a 

neighbour dispute about building projects 
Executive 
Director of Place 
and Economy  

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (CONTRACTS) ACT 1997 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

Page 341



 

202 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

 Certification of relevant powers to enter into 
contracts 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

 

CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
12 To apply for the discharge or variation of a Child 

Safety Order 
Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

17 and 37 To have regard to effect of the exercise of any 
function on the need to prevent crime and disorder 
and offending by children and young persons 

Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

 
CRIME AND DISORDER (FORMULATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF STRATEGY) 
REGULATIONS 2007/1830 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
4(3) Primary Designated Officer for information sharing Director of Legal 

and Democratic 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
3 Producing a written statement of Executive 

decisions made at meetings 
Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

5 Making a copy of written statements of Executive 
decisions and associated reports available for 
inspection by the public 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

6 Making available for inspection a list of 
background papers 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

9FB Designation as Scrutiny Officer Executive 
Director 
Corporate 
Services 

11(2) Exclusion of whole or part of any report to the 
Cabinet where meeting is likely not to be open to 
the public 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

11(7)(c) Provision to the press of other documents supplied 
to members of the Cabinet in connection with the 
item discussed 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

81 Establish and maintain a Register of Interests Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) (MEETINGS AND ACCESS 
TO INFORMATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 

CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998, SECTION 115 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 SECTIONS 9G, 9GA AND 22  

Page 342



 

203 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
7 Exclusion of whole or part of any reports to the 

Cabinet or Cabinet Member where they relate only 
to items during which the meeting is likely not to 
be open to the public 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

9FB Designation as Scrutiny Officer Executive 
Director 
Corporate 
Services 

10 Inform the relevant Select Committee Chair or the 
committee members by notice in writing of 
decisions to be made, where it has been not 
possible to comply with the publicity requirements 
(in the “Key Decisions Plan”) and make available 
for public inspection notices relating to this 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

12 Produce a written statement of Cabinet decisions 
made at meetings 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

13 Produce a written statement of decisions made by 
individual Cabinet Members 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

14 Make a copy of written statements of Cabinet and 
Cabinet Member and officer executive decisions 
and associated reports available for inspection by 
the public 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

15 and 2 Make available for inspection a list of background 
papers 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

16(5) Determine whether certain documents contain 
exempt information 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

16(7) Determine whether certain documents contain 
advice provided by a political adviser or assistant 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

20 Determine whether documents contain confidential 
information, exempt information or the advice of a 
political adviser or assistant 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES (REFERENDUMS) (PETITIONS AND DIRECTIONS) 
REGULATIONS 2000 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
34 Publishing the verification number of local 

government electors for the purpose of petitions 
under the Local Government Act 2000 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

 

 
 
REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 as amended 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
32A Grant authorisation of directed surveillance and 

covert human intelligence sources: criminal 
conduct and safeguards for juveniles and 
vulnerable adults.   To make an application to a 
Justice of the Peace,  for an order approving the 
grant or renewal of an authorisation for use of 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

Page 343



 

204 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

directed surveillance or use of covert human 
intelligence source in accordance with the 
Protection of Freedoms Act 2012, seeking an 
order approving the grant or renewal of a RIPA 
authorisation or notice and to represent the 
Council in making such an application. 

 
INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2016 
THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS (COVERT SURVEILLANCE AND 
PROPERTY INTERFERENCE: CODE OF PRACTICE) ORDER 2010 
THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS (COVERT HUMAN 
INTELLIGENCE SOURCES: CODE OF PRACTICE) ORDER 2010 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
60A, 73 Designated Senior Responsible Officer for the use 

of surveillance and the acquisition and disclosure 
of communications data 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

60A, 73 Grant authorization and to give notice to the Office 
for Communications Data Authorisation in 
consultation with the  National Anti-Fraud Network 
to obtain or disclose communications data for the 
purpose of preventing or detecting crime or of 
preventing disorder. 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

 

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 2000 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
36 Person to confirm or deny whether the disclosure 

of information is likely to prejudice the effective 
conduct of public affairs 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

 

ACCESS TO THE COUNTRYSIDE (MAPS IN DRAFT FORM) (ENGLAND) 
REGULATIONS 2001 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
9-11 Authorised officer to receive deposit of reduced 

scale maps 
Executive 
Director Place 
and Economy 

 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES (STANDING ORDERS) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2001 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
Sch.1 Part II 
paras 5 and 
6 

Functions in relation to notifying Executive 
appointments, dismissals etc . 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

 

 

MONEY LAUNDERING REGULATIONS 2003 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 

Page 344



 

205 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

7(1)(a) Nominated officer to receive disclosures of 
suspected money laundering 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2003 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
25 When the annual budget report is considered by 

Cabinet or by the County Council, the Chief 
Financial Officer must make a report on the 
robustness of the estimates made in determining 
the budget requirement and on the adequacy of the 
proposed level of financial reserves 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance 

 

CHILDREN ACT 2004 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
18 To carry out the role of the proper officer function of 

Director of Children’s Services 
Director of 
Children’s 
Services 

 

THE HOUSING ACT 2004  
 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
4(2) and 249 In relation to the inspection of premises and 

endorsing of a certificate of evidence. 
Assistant 
Director of 
Housing & 
Communities 

 

TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT ACT 2004 
 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
17 Appointment as Traffic Manager to perform such 

tasks as the authority considers will assist it to 
perform its network management duty 

Executive 
Director Place 
and Economy 

 

MARRIAGES AND CIVIL PARTNERSHIPS (APPROVED PREMISES) REGULATIONS 
2005 (AS AMENDED) 
 
Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
 Proper Officer for the purposes of the Registration 

Act 1953, the Marriage Act 1949 (as amended by the 
Marriage Act 1994), the Civil Partnership Act 2004, 
the Marriages and Civil Partnerships (Approved 
Premises) Regulations 2005 as amended and 

Director Legal 
and Democratic 

Page 345



 

206 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

receive applications, set fees and offer discounts, 
where applicable 

 

NATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE ACT 2006 
 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
73A Appointment as Director of Public Health Director of Public 

Health 
 

HEALTH ACT 2006 
 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
10(3) Duty of an enforcement authority to enforce, as 

respects the premises, places and vehicles in 
relation to which it has enforcement functions, the 
provisions of this Chapter (smoke free premises) 
and regulations made under it 

Assistant 
Director: 
Regulatory 
Services 

10(5) In this Chapter, “authorised officer”, in relation to an 
enforcement authority, means any person (whether 
or not an officer of the authority) who is authorised 
by it in writing, either generally or specially, to act in 
maters arising under this Chapter 

Authorised 
Officers 

10(7) Refers to Schedule 2 which lists the powers of 
entry, etc. 

Assistant 
Director: 
Regulatory 
Services 

10(9)(1)  An authorised officer of an enforcement authority 
(see section 10) who has reason to believe that a 
person has committed an offence under section 
6(5) or 7(2) on premises, or in a place or vehicle, in 
relation to which the authorised officer has 
functions may give them a penalty notice in respect 
of the offence 

Authorised 
Officer 

 

SMOKE-FREE (PREMISES AND ENFORCEMENT) REGULATIONS 2006 
 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
3 To carry out the functions of an enforcement 

authority under Regulation 3 
Assistant 
Director: 
Regulatory 
Services 

 

LOCAL ELECTIONS (PARISHES AND COMMUNITIES) RULES 2006 
 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
 Retention and public inspection of documents after 

an election 
Returning Officer 

 

Page 346



 

207 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

THE LOCAL ELECTIONS (PRINCIPAL AREAS) (ENGLAND AND WALES) RULES 
2006 
 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
Rule 50 and 
Sch.2 

Receipt from Returning Officer of the names and 
persons elected to the Council 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

54 Registration officer for the retention and destruction 
of documents following an election 

Director of Legal 
and Democratic 

 

CRIME AND DISORDER (FORMULATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF STRATEGY) 
REGULATIONS 2007/1830 
 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
4(3) Nominated officer to facilitate the sharing of 

information under an information sharing protocol 
Assistant 
Director Housing 
and 
Communities 

 

WORKING TOGETHER TO SAFEGUARD CHILDREN: A GUIDE TO INTER-AGENCY 
WORKING TO SAFEGUARD AND PROMOTE THE WELFARE OF CHILDREN (DFE 
GUIDANCE, MARCH 2010) 
 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
- Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) Executive 

Director Adults 
Communities 
and Wellbeing 

- Caldicott Guardian Executive 
Director Adults 
Communities 
and Wellbeing 

 

THE HEALTH PROTECTION (NOTIFICATION) REGULATIONS 2010 
 
Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
2, 3 and 6 Receipt and disclosure of notification of suspected 

notifiable disease, infection or contamination in 
patients and dead persons 

Director of 
Public Health 

 
LOCALISM ACT 2011 
 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
29 Establish, maintain and publish a Register of Interests Director Legal 

and Democratic 
31 Receipt of notice of members’ disclosable pecuniary 

interests and entering such interests in the authority’s 
register 

Director Legal 
and Democratic 

Page 347



 

208 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

32 Consideration of whether a member’s interest is a 
sensitive interest 

Director Legal 
and Democratic 

33(1) Receiving applications for dispensations Director Legal 
and 
Democratic 

33(2) Grant dispensations to members to speak only or to 
speak and vote on matters where they have a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 

Director Legal 
and Democratic 

Sch.2, Pt1, 
Para.9FB 

Designation as Scrutiny Officer Executive 
Director 
Corporate 
Services 

 

THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES (REFERENDUMS) (PETITIONS) REGULATIONS 2011 
 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
7, 8, 11 
and 13 

Various steps relating to petitions Director Legal 
and Democratic 

 

THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) (MEETINGS AND 
ACCESS TO INFORMATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 
 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
2, 7, 10, 
12, 13-16, 
20 

Functions relating to the recording and publication of 
information relating to Executive decisions, including 
exclusion of information from agenda and reports 
relating to private meeting matters 

Director Legal 
and Democratic 

12-13 Grant dispensations in respect of conflicts of interest 
declared by an Executive member making a 
decision, or declared by an Executive member 
consulted by a member or officer taking such a 
decision 

Director Legal 
and Democratic 

12-14 Recording of executive decisions and by individual 
members and making documents available for 
inspection by members of the public 

Director Legal 
and Democratic 

 
NHS BODIES AND LOCAL AUTHORITIES (PARTNERSHIP ARRANGEMENTS, CARE 
TRUSTS, PUBLIC HEALTH AND LOCAL HEALTHWATCH) REGULATIONS 2012 
 
Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
22(4) Designated as Responsible Person for ensuring 

compliance with the regulations 
Executive 
Director Adults 
Communities 
and Wellbeing 

22(5) Designated as Complaints Manager for managing 
the procedures for handling complaints 

Executive 
Director Adults 
Communities 
and Wellbeing 

Page 348



 

209 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

 

HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE ACT 2012 
 

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
 Responsible person for ensuring that the Council 

complies with statutory requirements relating to 
complaints made to the Council about its public health 
functions and, where necessary, action is taken in light 
of the outcome of such complaints 
 

Director of 
Legal and 
Democratic 

73A(1)(a) The exercise by the authority of its functions under 
section 2B, 111 or 249 or Schedule 1 – health 
improvement duties to take steps to improve the health 
of the people in the area 

 

Director of 
Public Health 

73A(1)(b) The exercise by the authority of its functions by virtue 
of section 6C(1) or (3) – The exercise of the Secretary 
of State’s public health protection or health 
improvement functions that they delegate to local 
authorities, either by  arrangement or under 
regulations – these include services mandated by 
regulations 

Director of 
Public Health 

73A(1)( c) Anything done by the authority in pursuance or 
arrangements under section 7A – Any public health 
activity undertaken by the local authority under 
arrangements with the Secretary of State 

Director of 
Public Health 

73A(1)(d) The exercise by the authority of any of its functions 
that relate to planning for, or responding to, 
emergencies involving a risk to public health 

Director of 
Public Health 

73A(1)(e) The functions of the authority under section 325 of the 
Criminal Justice Act 2003 -  the local authority’s role in 
co-ordinating with the police, the probation service and 
the prison service to assess the risks posed by violent 
and sex offenders 

Director of 
Public Health 

73A(1)(f) Other public health functions that the Secretary of 
State may specific in regulations 

Director of 
Public Health 

 

 

 

COUNTER-TERRORISM AND SECURITY ACT 2015 
 

Page 349



 

210 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Regulation Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
 The officer responsible for ensuring that the Council, 

in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 
need to prevent people vulnerable from being drawn 
into terrorism 

Executive 
Director Adults, 
Communities 
and Wellbeing 

 

DATA PROTECTION ACT 2018 
 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
69, 70 and 
71 

The designated Data Protection Officer to discharge 
functions associated with the Data Protection Act 
2018 

Data Protection 
Officer and 
Information 
Manager 

 

LANDLORD AND TENANTS ACTS 
 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
 To be the Proper Officer to serve and receive notices 

on behalf of the Council for the purposes of s.23 of 
the Landlord and Tenant Act 1927 and s.66 of the 
Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 

Executive 
Director of Place 
and Economy  

 

OTHER MISCELLANEOUS PROPER OFFICER FUNCTIONS 
 

Section Brief Details of Responsibility Proper Officer 
 Any other miscellaneous proper or statutory officer 

functions not otherwise delegated by the Authority 
Chief Executive 
or their nominee 

 
 
IN THE ABSENCE OF THE DESIGNATED PROPER OFFICER: 

• In the event of the Head of the Paid Service not being available to deal with matters 
for which they have been designated the proper officer, an Executive Director may 
be authorised by them to act as proper officer in their absence.  

• In the event of any other designated officer being unable to fulfil their duties as proper 
officer, their deputy may be authorised to undertake such duties.  

• Notwithstanding the above, a proper officer may at any time delegate or authorise 
other officers to perform the designated duties on their behalf.  

 
  

Page 350



 

211 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

9.4 Employee Code of Conduct 

Code of conduct 

The Council Code of Conduct sets out the general standards expected of all employees; 
these are in addition to any rules which apply in Service areas. The Code is not 
exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with other Council policies. 

It is your responsibility to read this Code and to make sure your conduct meets its 
provisions at all times.  

Some service areas will have their own service specific rules about behaviour, usually in 
relation to their service users. Employees must ensure that they understand the service 
specific rules, and discuss them with their line manager if they do not understand how 
they apply. 

1. What are the principles? 

The public have the right to expect the highest standards of integrity from our employees. 

Employees should: 

(a) always conduct themselves in a proper manner 

(b) not allow personal or private interests to influence their conduct 

(c) not do anything as an employee which they could not justify to the Council 

(d) tell management of any breach of standards or procedure without fear of recrimination. If 
appropriate employees should use the Whistleblowing policy 

(e) engage in any investigations about actual or potential breaches of this code 

If employees fail to follow this code they may be liable to disciplinary action which 
could lead to termination of employment. 

2. What are the rules about gifts and hospitality? 

There are no hard and fast rules about accepting hospitality or gifts offered on a personal 
basis.  However, employees should treat any offers with extreme caution. The person or 
organisation making the offer may be: 

(a) doing, or hoping to do, business with the Council; or 

(b) applying to the Council for some kind of decision 

In some cases, accepting the offer may constitute a criminal offence. 

Employees should seek permission before any offers of gifts or hospitality above the value 
of £25 are accepted. 

It is important that such offers of a gift or hospitality are recorded, even where the employee 
or their line manager, has decided to decline the offer. As a public service there is a need 

Page 351



 

212 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

to demonstrate impartiality and merit in remaining totally open about anything received and 
understand the perception of the general public regarding offers of gifts or hospitality.  
Please note that if there have been separate or previous offers from the same organisation 
or individual within the past three months which combined would total over £25.00 it is 
appropriate to declare the cumulative total.  

If employees have any doubts about whether to accept a gift below £25, they should talk 
to their line manager. Guidance is provided in the Gifts and Hospitality Form. Managers 
should maintain a record of gifts and hospitalities received by their staff. 

Hospitality or Gifts over the value of £25 should be declared through the Gifts and 
Hospitality form. 

3. What are the rules about use of Council facilities? 

Employees should only use Council premises, facilities or other resources for Council 
business, unless you have been given prior approval through your line manager.  This 
includes: 

• transport 

• stationery  

• secretarial services 

4. What are the rules about the use of Information Technology? 

Employees should use information technology in compliance with the Council’s relevant 
Use of IT Policy. In addition to this policy, employees should make sure they understand 
and comply with the Council’s guidance on Information Technology. 

5. What are the rules about confidential and private information? 

Employees may come into contact with confidential information during the course of their 
work and have a responsibility to maintain confidentiality and ensure their actions comply 
with the Data Protection Act and General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). 

Confidential information includes any information regarding other employees, service 
users, financial information, information regarding business plans or other commercially 
sensitive information and any information or matter which relates to the affairs and/or 
services of the Council that should not be in the public domain. 

Employees must never:  

• disclose or share such information (oral, written or electronic) given in confidence or, 
information acquired during the course of their work to other people without a clear, legal 
basis for doing so e.g. safeguarding or crime prevention, and only when the identity of the 
individual requesting has been verified. 

• access or use any information obtained in the course of their employment for personal gain 
or, to disadvantage or discredit the Council or anyone else. 

Page 352

http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Gifts%20and%20Hospitality%20Form.doc
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Gifts%20and%20Hospitality%20Form.doc
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Use%20of%20IT%20Policy.doc


 

213 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

The Council has specific rules on data security, outlined in the relevant Information 
Security Policy which you need to read and familiarise yourself with.  You are required to 
comply with these rules when handling information. There are set procedures for releasing 
personal information and guidance for relevant Information Sharing.  It is essential that 
employees follow these procedures and must seek advice from their line manager if 
unsure before releasing information or personal data. 

6. What are the rules about financial conduct? 

Employees must ensure that they use funds and resources entrusted to them for the 
purpose intended, and in a responsible and lawful manner. They should seek to safeguard 
such funds and resources from abuse, theft or waste and should strive to ensure value for 
money for the Council, service users and any public or charitable funds.  

Employees should be aware that it is a serious criminal and disciplinary offence to 
corruptly receive or give any gift, loan, fee, reward or other advantage in return for doing 
(or not doing) anything,, or showing favour (or disfavour) to any person or organisation. If 
an allegation of corrupt behaviour is made, this will be fully investigated.  

Any form of bribery, either direct or indirect, is prohibited. Allegations of bribery or 
wrongdoing can be reported confidentially through the Whistleblowing policy. See also the 
Anti-Fraud policy.  

Employees should manage the organisation’s finances in compliance with the Council’s 
financial procedure rules. This sets out individual financial responsibilities and provides 
more information on the Whistleblowing and Anti-Fraud policy.  

7. What are the rules about declaring financial/personal interests in other 
organisations Which deal with the Council? 

Employees must declare any financial/personal interest that they or their partner have or 
may have in any contract or proposed contract with the Council or its partners, including 
any interest they may have in tendering for a contract from the Service Area/Group – this 
interest may be direct or indirect. 

Employees should also consider declaring non-financial interests.  For example, they may 
do voluntary work for an organisation in receipt of grant aid from the Council. 

An employee wishing to make a declaration should complete the Declaration of Conflict of 
Interest form providing as much detail as possible and submit this to their line manager. 

See section 21 – Making a Declaration. 

8. What are the rules about buying goods for personal use? 

Employee should not use an official order, or the Council’s name to buy goods for their 
personal use. To do so could lead to prosecution under the Theft Act and disciplinary 
action being taken which could result in termination of employment. 

9. What are the rules about discount schemes offered to employees? 

Employees should take care before accepting discounts or special terms from someone: 

Page 353

https://staff-intranet.northamptonshire.gov.uk/information-management/using-information-and-data/Documents/20171108-InformationSecurityPolicy%20v5.doc
https://staff-intranet.northamptonshire.gov.uk/information-management/using-information-and-data/Documents/20171108-InformationSecurityPolicy%20v5.doc
https://staff-intranet.northamptonshire.gov.uk/information-management/using-information-and-data/Pages/information-sharing.aspx
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Form.docx
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Form.docx


 

214 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

(a) who normally supplies the Council and,  

(b) who is not offering this discount to members of the public   

This does not apply if the supplier has an agreement with the Unions or the Council to 
supply goods or services on special terms.  If an employee has doubts as to how to 
proceed, they should refer to their line manager in the first instance who will then discuss 
with their Executive Director who may refer to Legal Services where necessary. 

10. What are the rules about equality issues? 

Employees must ensure that they follow the Council’s Equality, Inclusion and Diversity 
policies and conduct themselves in accordance with expected practice. 

Managers must ensure that employees are aware of these policies, expected practice and 
how this applies to the work that the employee undertakes. 

11. What are the rules about employees having other jobs? 

Some contracts specify that an employee cannot undertake other jobs without written 
permission or, there are service specific or other circumstances that would prevent 
undertaking other jobs. 

Where this does not apply, employees should make sure that any additional work they 
undertake does not: 

(a) relate to their duties as an employee 

(b) impact or affect the hours of work in their role with the Council and does not 
contravene any provisions under the Working Time Regulations or, their health and 
safety 

(c) impact on their duties and effectiveness 

(d) conflict with the interests of the Council (are they a competitor organisation, engaged in 
similar business or a customer of the Council.  Do they provide or receive goods or 
services from the Council and is there any contractual arrangement with the Council) 

(e) weaken public confidence in the Council 

If you have any doubt as to whether a conflict exists you should complete a Declaration of 
conflict of interest form and submit this to your line manager. 

In order to sustain service delivery and core functions, employees may be asked to curtail 
any other private work they have been carrying out when the Critical Incident Policy is 
invoked. 

See section 21 – Making a Declaration 

12. What are the rules about employee conduct outside work? 

Page 354

http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Form.docx
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Form.docx


 

215 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Generally, what employees do outside work is their own concern.  However, they should 
avoid doing anything which might adversely affect the reputation of the Council, this 
includes comments on social media. 

Further information and guidance is provided in the Council’s relevant Use of IT Policy 
which covers Facebook, Social Media and use of mobile devices. 

13. What are the rules about political impartiality? 

Employees must be politically neutral when carrying out their work.  This does not affect 
their right to be a member of a political party, unless they work within a specified politically 
restricted post. 

Politically restricted posts fall into two categories -‘specified posts’, and ‘sensitive posts’. 
Specified posts include Tier 2 and above, and Political Assistants. Sensitive posts apply in 
Democratic Services and the Communications and Marketing team, based on their link to 
journalists and broadcasters. Further information and guidance is provided in the Council’s 
document Politically restricted posts. 

Employees can stand for election to local authorities, other than Northamptonshire County 
Council. They should complete a Declaration of conflict of interest form and submit this to 
their line manager to resolve any potential conflicts of interest and consideration of any 
requirements for time off.   

See section 21 – Making a Declaration. 

If an employee holds a politically restricted post, they can only be a member of a parish 
council. 

14. What are the rules about employment of people who are relatives, partners, 
or have a close relationship? 

Employees should not be involved in taking significant decisions where it involves a 
relative, partner or close friend.   

This includes: 

(a) recruitment or appointment 

(b) disciplinary situations 

(c) promotional opportunities 

(d) pay related adjustments 

Employees are expected to maintain professional relationships with colleagues. The general 
principle is that an outsider should not be able to detect any difference in the professional working 
relationship of people who have a close relationship to those who are not. 

15. What are the rules about how employees interact with customers? 

Employees should never allow any personal relationship with a customer to conflict with 
the duties of their employment, or the best interests of any customer or service user. They 

Page 355

http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Use%20of%20IT%20Policy.doc
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Politically%20Restricted%20Posts.doc
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Form.docx


 

216 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

must never allow themselves to be compromised by, or take advantage of, their 
relationship with a customer.  

Some service areas will have their own service specific rules about behaviour in relation to 
their service users. This may be underpinned by professional Codes of Conduct or 
Guidance in relation to client group needs. Employees must ensure that they understand 
such service specific rules, and discuss them with their line manager if they do not 
understand how they apply. 

16. What are the rules about employees’ relationships with colleagues or Elected 
Members? 

Mutual respect and trust between employees and councillors is essential to the effective 
operation of the Council.  Any close personal familiarity can damage the relationship.  It 
can also prove embarrassing to other employees and therefore, such familiarity should be 
avoided. 

Any personal relationships that develop, which may conflict with the impartial performance 
of your duties, should be declared by completing a Declaration of conflict of interest form 
and submitting this to your line manager for consideration. 

See section 21 – Making a Declaration. 

17. What are the rules about media activities? 

If an employee is contacted by the media, they should not respond individually, as media 
inquiries need to be directed immediately to the communications team.  

Media includes any kind of published or broadcast material, including items published on 
the internet. Employees should contact the Communications Team for clarification if they 
are unsure about the rules regarding speaking to the media or sharing information 
externally. 

In addition, employees should be aware of relevant Guidance on Social Networking Sites 
and Personal Internet Presence. The aim of this Guidance is: 

(a) to protect the reputation of the Council and its employees from intended or 
unintended abuse via personal employee usage of social networking and personal 
internet sites, and: 

(b) ensure that employees are aware of the potential legal implications of material 
which could be considered abusive or defamatory. 

18. What are the rules about smoking? 

In order to help support the health of our staff, deliver our services and maintain legal 
compliance the Council has a Smoke-free policy. For reputational and health reasons, 
smoking is prohibited within, or on Council controlled sites, including areas outside and 
around buildings where smokers should not be visible to the public and customers visiting 
council buildings, or be identifiable by their lanyards or ID badges. More information is 
provided in the relevant Smoke-free policy.  

Page 356

http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Form.docx
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Social%20Media%20Guidance,%20Networking%20Sites%20and%20Personal%20Internet%20Presence%20NCC.pdf
http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Social%20Media%20Guidance,%20Networking%20Sites%20and%20Personal%20Internet%20Presence%20NCC.pdf


 

217 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

19. What are the rules about clothing and appearance? 

Employees are expected to dress in a manner that is appropriate to the job role they 
undertake, and the environment in which they work. All employees are ambassadors for 
the organisation and therefore need to maintain a professional appearance, appropriate to 
their role.  There are a variety of settings and roles within the organisation; for some areas 
health and safety issues will determine what constitutes appropriate dress, therefore 
employees should refer to any service specific rules, including those on personal 
protective clothing where relevant.  

Managers are responsible for applying this in their specific setting; should an employee 
wear clothing that is inappropriate for the role they are undertaking, they can reasonably 
expect their manager to point this out to them. Managers can get support from the HR 
Advisory Team on what constitutes inappropriate clothing. 

20. What are my responsibilities as a line manager? 

As a line manager it is your responsibility to read this Code and to make sure you and 
your employees conduct meets its provision at all times.  You are responsible for: 

(a) making sure that your staff are aware of the Code of Conduct 

(b) abide by the Code and thereby set your staff an example 

(c) taking appropriate action if any member of staff fails to follow this Code  

(d) seeking the advice of your HR Advisor if you have any doubt about how to proceed 

(e) keeping a record of gifts or hospitability received by your staff 

(f) reviewing any Declaration of conflict of interest form (whether at recruitment stage or 
following employment), escalating to your Executive Director 

(g) advising the employee of the outcome and retaining the information  

It is also the line manager’s responsibility to review the information and ensure: 

(a) where circumstances have changed and no longer relevant for the role the employee 
is undertaking or their involvement has ceased - the form should no longer be 
retained 

(b) If the employee moves to another role or service area, the information should be 
reviewed to ensure no conflict exists and where this remains relevant it is transferred 
and retained within that new role/service area 

(c) If the line manager leaves or moves to another role or service area, the information 
must be provided to the new manager where this remains relevant   

For employees working in a social care setting – please also refer to the Adult Social Care 
and Healthcare Support Workers Code of Conduct – Skills for Care. 

21. Making a Declaration 

Page 357



 

218 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

There are two instances in which a Declaration can be made; 

(a) New recruits – as part of the recruitment process and,  

(b) Where a conflict or potential conflict has been identified by an existing employee 

Declarations will normally be made in circumstances of; 

(a) Financial/personal interests in other organisations which deal with the Council 

(b) Undertaking other jobs or engaging in other jobs or business 

(c) Political impartiality 

(d) Personal relationships 

Conflict identified by existing employee 

Where a conflict or potential conflict has been identified by an existing employee they 
should complete a Declaration of conflict of interest form and submit this to their line 
manager.  

The employee’s line manager will assess the contents of the form to ensure that sufficient 
information has been provided in order to determine whether the request is likely to be in 
conflict with or have a detrimental impact on the employee’s or the Council’s work.   

The line manager may seek to consult their HR Advisor as required and then refer to the 
Executive Director for consideration. In circumstances that relate to financial/personal 
interests in other organisations the Executive Director will refer this to the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer. 

Declaration and levels of approval 

Officer Form 
submitted to: 

Decision maker: 

Employees Line Manager Executive Director (and Monitoring 
Officer if involves Financial/Personal 
interests) 

Assistant Director or 
Head of Service 

Line Manager Executive Director (and Monitoring 
Officer if involves Financial/Personal 
interests) 

Director/Executive 
appointment 

HR Assistant 
Director 

Monitoring Officer 

Failure to disclose a Conflict of Interest 

If you fail to inform the Council of a possible conflict of interest could result in disciplinary 
action being taken and your employment being terminated. 

22. Potential outcome of a Declaration 

Page 358

http://sharepoint.lgss.local/sites/ptt/policy/LGSS%20Direct%20Content%20OPEN/Conflict%20of%20Interest%20Form.docx


 

219 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Any outcome as a result of a declaration being made must be advised and discussed with 
the employee to ensure they understand any implications and agreed actions where 
necessary. 

Where it is found that the employees’ involvement or actions are deemed unacceptable to 
continue, the employee may be asked to withdraw from that interest or the responsibilities 
may need to be changed. 

 
Declaration of Conflict of Interest Form 
 

Subject Make a Declaration Responsibility 

Gifts & Hospitality Record on Gifts & 
Hospitality form 

Line Manager 

Council facilities No Line Manager 

Confidential & private 
information 

No Line Manager 

Financial/Personal 
interests 

Yes Line Manager, Executive 
Director and Monitoring 
Officer 

Buying Goods No Line Manager 

Discount Schemes No Line Manager 

Equality No Line Manager 

Other jobs Yes Line Manager, Executive 
Director 

Conduct outside work No Line Manager 

Political Impartiality Yes Line Manager, Executive 
Director 

Employment of relatives No Line Manager 

Personal relationships Yes Line Manager, Executive 
Director 

 
  

Page 359



 

220 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

9.5 Staff Employment Procedure Rules 

1. Definitions 

In these Rules: 

“The 1989 Act” means the Local Government and Housing Act 1989; “the 2000 Act” 
means the Local Government Act 2000; 

“The 2001 Regulations” means the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) Regulations 
2001; 

“The 2015 Regulations” means the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2015; 

“Head of Paid Service”, “Chief Finance Officer”, “Monitoring Officer” and “disciplinary 
action” have the same meanings as set out in regulation 2 of the 2001 Regulations; 

“Member of staff” means a person appointed to or holding paid office or employment to 
the Council; 

“Independent Person” means a person appointed by the Council under section 28(7) of 
the Localism Act 2011 or, where there are fewer than two such persons, such 
independent persons as have been appointed by another authority or authorities as the 
Council considers appropriate; 

“Independent Persons Panel” means a committee appointed by the Council under 
section 102(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 for the purposes of advising the 
authority on matters relating to the dismissal of relevant officers in accordance with 
Schedule 3 of the 2001 Regulations, including or comprising at least two Independent 
Persons who have accepted an invitation to be considered for appointment to the Panel 
and who have been appointed to it in accordance with the following priority order: 

(a) an independent person who has been appointed by the Council and who is a 
local government elector in the Council’s area; 

(b) any other independent person who has been appointed by the Council; 

(c) an independent person who has been appointed by another council or councils. 

“Statutory Chief Officer” has the same meaning as set out in section 2(6) of the 1989 
Act and for this council will be: 

(a) Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) 

(b) Executive Director Finance (Chief Finance Officer) 

(c) Director of Legal and Democratic (Monitoring Officer) 

(d) Executive Director Adults, Communities and Wellbeing and Deputy Chief 
Executive (Director of Adult Services)  

(e) Director of Children’s Services 

Page 360



 

221 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

(f) Director of Public Health;  

“Non-Statutory Chief Officer” means a person who reports or who is directly 
accountable to the Head of Paid Service, to the Council, or any committee or sub-
committee of the Council as set out in section 2(7) of the 1989 Act (other than persons 
whose duties are solely secretarial or clerical or are otherwise in the nature of support 
services) and for this council will be any other Executive Director, Director or Assistant 
Chief Executive appointed by the Council who are not Statutory Chief Officers;  

“Deputy Chief Officer” are people who report directly or are directly accountable to one 
or more of the Statutory or Non-Statutory Chief Officers (other than persons whose 
duties are solely secretarial or clerical or are otherwise in the nature of support 
services) as set out in section 2(8) of the 1989 Act, and for this council will be its 
Assistant Directors. 

2. Responsibility for Appointing, Dismissing and Disciplining Employees 

2.1 Staff are employed, appointed, designated or engaged on behalf of the whole council 
and not by parts of the organisation or individuals. 

2.2 The employment, appointment, designation or engagement of all staff will be in 
compliance with the law and any policies and practices of the Council. 

2.3 The appointment or dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, the Chief Executive, the 
Executive Director Finance and the Director of Legal and Democratic may only be 
made by a meeting of the Full Council, which may either be direct or as confirmation 
of a recommendation from the Senior Appointments Committee. 

2.4 The Senior Appointments Committee is responsible for the appointment and dismissal 
of Chief Officers apart from the Chief Executive, the Executive Director Finance and 
the Director of Legal and Democratic and for this purpose the Senior Appointments 
Committee must include at least one member of the Cabinet.  

2.5 The Chief Executive or by an officer nominated by them is responsible for all 
appointments and dismissals in respect of staff positions that are not Chief Officers. 

2.6 The procedures for such appointments and dismissals are set out in paragraphs 3 to 
6 of these Rules. It should be noted that the designation of statutory officers such as 
the Section 151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer must be authorised by full Council 
before the offer of employment is made. 

2.7 The Senior Appointments Committee is responsible for the function of taking 
disciplinary action other than dismissal in respect of the Head of Paid Service, Chief 
Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer. 

2.8 With regard to recruitment, the Council will draw up a statement requiring any 
candidate for appointment as an officer to state in writing whether they are the parent, 
grandparent, partner, child, stepchild, adopted child, grandchild, brother, sister, uncle, 

Page 361



 

222 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

aunt, nephew, niece of an existing councillor or officer of the Council, or the partner of 
such persons. A candidate who deliberately fails to disclose such a relationship shall 
be disqualified from appointment and if appointed shall be liable to dismissal. 

2.9 The Assistant Director HR shall ensure that the provisions contained in Clause 2.8 are 
reflected in application forms or in any accompanying detailed procedures for any post 
advertised. 

2.10 The Assistant Director HR in consultation with the Leader shall be responsible for the 
suspension of the Head of Paid Service. The Head of Paid Service shall be responsible 
for the suspension of any Chief Officer. The appropriate Chief Officer (statutory or non-
statutory) shall be responsible for the suspension of any Deputy Chief Officer. 

3. Appointment of the Head of Paid Service 

3.1 Where the Council proposes to appoint the Head of Paid Service, the Senior 
Appointments Committee will oversee the arrangements for filling the vacancy. 

3.2 The Senior Appointments Committee shall: 

(a) draw up a statement specifying the duties and salary of the post of the Head 
of Paid Service and any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to 
be appointed; 

(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to 
bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; 

(c) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned above to be sent 
to any person on request; 

(d) select from the applications a short list of qualified candidates and interview 
those included in the short list. 

3.3 Following the interview of candidates, the committee will come to a view as to the most 
suitable person for the position. 

3.4 The committee must advise the Assistant Director HR of: 

(a) the name of the person in question: 

(b) any other particulars that the committee consider are relevant to the 
appointment. 

3.5 Within five clear working days of receiving the notification in 3.4 above, the Assistant 
Director HR will notify each member of the Cabinet of: 

(a) the information notified in paragraph 3.4 above; 

Page 362



 

223 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

(b) the period within which any objection to the making of the offer is to be made 
by the Leader on behalf of the Cabinet to the Assistant Director HR; such 
period shall not exceed five clear working days. 

3.6 An offer of appointment must wait until: 

(a) the Leader has, within the period of the notice under paragraph 3.5 above, 
notified the committee through the Assistant Director HR that neither they 
nor any member of the Cabinet has any objection to the making of the offer; 

(b) the Assistant Director HR has notified the committee that no objections have 
been received by them within the period of notice under 3.5 above; 

(c) the committee is satisfied that any objection received from the Leader within 
the notice period is not well founded. In this regard, where necessary the 
advice of the Director of Legal and Democratic (or if appropriate an 
alternative legal adviser) should be sought. 

3.7 Where following the above procedure there are no objections to the proposed 
appointment or any objections are not upheld, the committee will recommend that 
person for appointment at the next meeting of the Full Council or at a specially 
convened meeting of the Council. If Full Council approves the recommendation, then 
a formal appointment can be made. 

3.8 Where following interviews the committee is of the view that there is no suitable 
candidate, it will re-advertise the post. 

3.9 Where Full Council does not approve the recommendation of the committee, it shall 
indicate how it wishes to proceed. 

4. Appointment of Chief Officers (Statutory or Non-Statutory) and Deputy Chief 
Officers 

4.1 Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief Officer (statutory or non-statutory) or 
a Deputy Chief Officer, then: 

(a) the Senior Appointments Committee shall oversee the arrangements for 
filling the vacancy of a Chief Officer; 

(b) the appropriate Chief Officer (statutory or non-statutory) shall be responsible 
for the appointment of a Deputy Chief Officer. 

4.2 The Senior Appointments Committee or the Chief Officer shall: 

(a) draw up a statement specifying the duties and salary of the officer concerned 
and any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be appointed; 

(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to 
bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; 

Page 363



 

224 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

(c) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in (a) above to be 
sent to any person on request; 

(d) select from the applications a short list of qualified candidates and interview 
those included in the short list. 

4.3 Following the interview of candidates, the Senior Appointments Committee or the Chief 
Officer will come to a view as to the most suitable person or the position. 

4.4 The Senior Appointments Committee or the Chief Officer must advise the Assistant 
Director HR of: 

(a) the name of the person in question; 

(b) any other particulars that the committee or Chief Officer consider are 
relevant to the appointment. 

4.5 Within five clear working days of receiving notification in 4.4 above, the Assistant 
Director HR will notify each member of the Cabinet of: 

(a) the information notified under paragraph 4.4 above; 

(b) the period in which any objection to the making of the offer is to be made by 
the Leader on behalf of the Cabinet to the Assistant Director HR; such period 
not to exceed five clear working days. 

4.6 An offer of appointment must wait until: 

(a) the Leader has within the period of notice under paragraph 4.5 above, 
notified the Senior Appointments Committee or the Chief Officer through the 
Assistant Director HR that neither they nor any member of the Cabinet has 
any objection to the making of the offer; or 

(b) the Assistant Director HR has notified the Senior Appointments Committee 
or the Chief Officer that no objections have been received by them within the 
period of notice set out in 4.5 above; or 

(c) the Senior Appointments Committee or the Chief Officer is satisfied that any 
objection received from the Leader within the notice period is not material or 
not well founded. In this regard, where necessary, the advice of the Director 
of Legal and Democratic (or if appropriate an alternative legal adviser) 
should be sought; or 

(d) In respect of the Section 151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer, until Full 
Council has approved the statutory designation. 

4.7 Once the conditions in 4.6 above have been satisfied, a formal offer of appointment 
may be made to the successful candidate. 

4.8 Where following interviews the Senior Appointments Committee or the Chief Officer is 
of the view that there is no suitable candidate the post must be re-advertised. 

Page 364



 

225 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

5. Dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring 
Officer 

5.1 The Senior Appointments Committee is designated as the committee discharging, on 
behalf of the Council, the function of dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, Chief 
Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer. Full Council must, however, approve that 
dismissal before notice of dismissal is given to them. 

5.2 Notice of dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring 
Officer must not be given until: 

(a) the Senior Appointments Committee has notified the Assistant Director HR 
that it wishes to dismiss the officer and any other particulars that the Senior 
Appointments Committee considers are relevant to the dismissal; 

(b) the Assistant Director HR has notified every member of the Cabinet of: 

(i) the fact that it wishes to dismiss the officer; 

(ii) any other particulars relevant to the dismissal which the Senior 
Appointments Committee has notified to the Assistant Director HR; 

(iii) the period within which any objection to the dismissal is to be made 
by the Leader on behalf of the Cabinet to the Assistant Director HR; and 

(c) either: 

(i) the Leader has within the period specified in the notice under 
subparagraph (b)(iii), notified the Assistant Director HR that neither they nor 
any member of the Cabinet has any objection to the dismissal; 

(ii) the Assistant Director HR has notified the Senior Appointments 
Committee that no objection was received by them within that period from 
the Leader on behalf of the Cabinet; 

(iii) the Senior Appointments Committee is satisfied that any objection 
received from the Leader within that period is not well founded or material. In 
this regard, where necessary, the advice of the Director of Legal and 
Democratic (or if appropriate an alternative legal adviser) should be sought. 

5.3 Where following the above procedure there are no objections to the proposed 
dismissal or the objections are not upheld, the Senior Appointments Committee will: 

(a) follow the procedure set out in paragraph 5.5; and 

(b) recommend the dismissal to a meeting of Full Council 

5.4 (a) This procedure applies if the Senior Appointments Committee proposes 
disciplinary action involving the dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance 
Officer or Monitoring Officer. 

Page 365



 

226 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

(b) Where this procedure applies, the Senior Appointments Committee will provide 
the Independent Persons Panel with the matters provided to members of the 
Cabinet and any other particulars relevant to the dismissal that the Senior 
Appointments Committee considers appropriate or that the Panel may reasonably 
require. 

(c) The Independent Persons Panel will meet to consider what, if any, advice, 
views or recommendations to give to Full Council. 

(d) The Council may pay such remuneration, allowances or fees to an Independent 
Person appointed to the Panel as it thinks appropriate but the payment must not 
exceed the level of remuneration, allowances or fees payable to that Independent 
Person in respect of their role as an independent person under the Localism Act 
2011. 

(e) Full Council will not meet to consider whether or not to approve the proposal of 
the Senior Appointments Committee to dismiss the officer until a period of at least 
20 working days has elapsed from the appointment of the Independent Persons 
Panel. 
(f) Before Full Council takes a vote at a meeting on whether or not to approve such 
a dismissal, they must take into account, in particular: 

(i) any advice, views or recommendations of the Independent Persons Panel; 

(ii) the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal; and 

(iii) any representations from the officer. 

5.5 If Full Council approves the recommendation of the Senior Appointments Committee, 
then notice of dismissal can be issued. Where Full Council does not approve the 
recommendation, it shall indicate how it wishes to proceed. 

6. Dismissal of Chief Officers (Statutory and Non-Statutory) and Deputy Chief 
Officers 

6.1 Subject to the rules relating to the dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance 
Officer or Monitoring Officer, the Senior Appointments Committee is designated as the 
committee discharging, on behalf of the Council, the function of dismissal of Chief 
Officers (statutory and non-statutory) and the appropriate Chief Officer (statutory and 
non-statutory) is responsible for the dismissal of a Deputy Chief Officer. 

6.2 Notice of dismissal of any such Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer must not be given 
until: 

(a) the Senior Appointments Committee or Chief Officer has notified the 
Assistant Director HR of the name of the person they wish to dismiss; 

(b) any other particulars which the Senior Appointments Committee or Chief 
Officer considers are relevant to the dismissal; 

(c) The Assistant Director HR has notified every member of the Cabinet of: 

Page 366



 

227 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

(i) the name of the person the Senior Appointments Committee or Chief 
Officer wishes to dismiss; 

(ii) any other particulars relevant to the dismissal which the Senior 
Appointments Committee or Chief Officer has notified to the Assistant 
Director HR; 

(iii) the period within which any objection to the dismissal is to be made 
by the Leader on behalf of the Cabinet to the Assistant Director HR; and 

(d) either: 

(i) the Leader has within the period specified in the notice under 
subparagraph (b)(iii), notified the Assistant Director HR that neither they nor 
any member of the Cabinet has any objection to the dismissal; 

(ii) the Assistant Director HR has notified the Senior Appointments 
Committee or Chief Officer that no objection was received by them within 
that period from the Leader on behalf of the Cabinet; 

(iii) the Senior Appointments Committee or Chief Officer is satisfied that 
any objection received from the Leader within that period is not well 
founded or material. In this regard, where necessary, the advice of the 
Director of Legal and Democratic (or if appropriate an alternative legal 
adviser) should be sought. 

6.3 Where following the above procedure there are no objections to the proposed 
dismissal or the objections are not upheld, the Senior Appointments Committee or 
Chief Officer may issue the notice of dismissal. 

7. Saving Regarding the Hearing of Appeals 

7.1 Nothing in these rules shall prevent a person from serving as a member of any 
committee or sub-committee established by the Council to consider an appeal by: 

(a) another person against any decision relating to the appointment of that 
other person as a member of staff of the authority; or 

(b) a member of staff of the authority against any decision relating to the 
dismissal of, or taking disciplinary action against, that member of staff. 

8. Director of Public Health 

8.1 The appointment of the Director of Public Health who is appointed in pursuance of 
section 73A(7) of the National Health Service Act 2006 (inserted by section 30 of the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012) is the responsibility of the Senior Appointments 
Committee, subject to the approval of the appointment by the Secretary of State for 
Health. 

Page 367



 

228 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

8.2 The Senior Appointments Committee may terminate the appointment of the Director 
of Public Health having followed the relevant procedures and following prior 
consultation with the Secretary of State for Health. 

9. Policies and Procedures 

9.1 The Council’s suite of HR procedures (as updated from time to time) set out in more 
detail the procedures for managing Disciplinary; Capability; Health and Attendance; 
Redundancy and the expiry of Fixed Term Contract matters in compliance with the 
2001 & 2015 Regulations, which set out some particular matters with relation to 
employment processes for Chief Officers.  

  

Page 368



 

229 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

9.6 Contract Procedure Rules 

Part 1 – Introduction, Scope and Responsibilities 

1. Introduction 

1.1. These Rules are part of the Council’s Constitution and apply to all procurement 
activities (the purchase of goods, services and works) undertaken by the Council. They 
must be read in conjunction with any other relevant laws, regulations, policies and/or 
procedures.  

1.2. Anyone making procurement decisions on behalf of the Council must be familiar with 
these Rules.  

1.3. These Rules are required by law and failure to comply with them could lead to 
disciplinary action. Officers have a duty to report breaches of these Rules to their line 
manager and/or the Monitoring Officer. 

1.4. If there is any conflict between these Rules and relevant law, the legislation shall take 
precedence. The Council also reserves the right to consider the application of 
intervening government guidance when making decisions about the application of 
these Rules. 

2. Basic Principles 

2.1. Whether or not a procurement is subject to the UK Procurement Regulations, it must 
be conducted in accordance with the Agreement on Government Procurement (GPA). 
This means all procurements must be carried out in a fair, open and transparent way. 

2.2. These Rules are designed to ensure that procurements: 

(a) Achieve Value for Money for public money spent; 

(b) Are consistent with the highest standards of integrity; 

(c) Ensure fairness and transparency; 

(d) Ensure that the Council complies with all legal requirements and established 
government and commercial codes of conduct; 

(e) Comply with the Council’s associated policies; 

(f) Manage the Council’s risk effectively; 

(g) Are proportionate in regard to value and risk; and 

(h) Ensure that Non-Commercial Considerations e.g. prior knowledge of contractors 
do not influence any contracting decision. 

Page 369



 

230 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

3. Advice and Guidance 

3.1. Advice and guidance on all procurement activities equal to and above £100,000 must 
be sought in the first instance from the Purchasing Gateway Group (PGG). 

3.2. Notwithstanding 3.1 above, advice and guidance can be obtained from the PGG by 
any officer who wishes to participate in a procurement activity of any value. 

3.3. Advice on compliance with legislative requirements may be obtained from Legal 
Services, who will liaise with the Head of Procurement as necessary. 

4. Responsibilities 

4.1. Chief Officers 

(a) Chief Officers are responsible for all procurement activity in their Directorates. 
They must ensure sufficient oversight and governance is in place to satisfy 
themselves of compliance with these Rules; 

(b) Chief Officers must ensure that procurement activities are undertaken by 
authorised Officers who can demonstrate knowledge and understanding of 
these Rules and have the skills appropriate to the task. 

(c) Chief Officers must ensure that: 

(i) Staff within their Directorates are adequately trained and that their 
procurements are in compliance with these Rules; 

(ii) They have in place and keep up to date a scheme of delegation that 
records in writing what action officers in their Directorates are authorised to 
take under these Rules; 

(iii) There is full budgetary provision for the contract and that the sources of 
funding are fully detailed before starting the procurement process; 

(iv) Value for Money is achieved in all procurements within their Directorates; 

(v) They keep a register of contracts completed by signature (rather than by 
the Council’s Seal) within their Directorate and arrange for their safe 
keeping; and 

(vi) They maintain records of all waivers or exemptions of these Rules. 

4.2. Officers 

(a) The officer responsible for the procurement must comply with these Rules, the 
Financial Regulations and relevant legislation (including any treaties 
incorporated into UK law); 

Page 370



 

231 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

(b) The officer is responsible for ensuring that agents acting on behalf of the 
Council must comply with these Rules; 

(c) Officers must keep records of all quotations, tender documentation and 
contracts, including those documents relating to unsuccessful bids and quotes 
in accordance with the relevant legislation and the Council’s policy on the 
retention of documents; 

(d) Officers must ensure that the contracts for which they are responsible are 
effectively managed and monitored to ensure that they deliver the requirement 
as intended; 

(e) When any employee of the Council or of an external service provider may be 
affected by a transfer arrangement, the officer must ensure that TUPE issues 
are considered and obtain advice from Legal Services before proceeding with 
any procurement; 

(f) Where an officer has a potential conflict of interest with a supplier from whom a 
quotation/tender is being sought, the officer must declare this immediately to the 
Monitoring Officer. The officer may be required to withdraw from the 
procurement process; 

(g) Any officer who fails to declare a conflict of interest may be subject to 
disciplinary proceedings and sanctions and risks being prosecuted under the 
Bribery Act 2010; 

(h) Officers must ensure that no contract commences without a purchase order 
being raised for the goods, services and/or works in accordance with the 
provisions detailed in the Financial Procedure Rules. 

5. Amendments to these Rules 

5.1. The Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Head of Procurement shall have the 
power to make incidental amendments from time to time to these Rules, to ensure 
that they remain consistent with legislation, the Council’s organisational structure and 
generally with best practice. 

6. Exemptions to the Rules 

6.1. These Rules do not apply to the following transactions: 

(a) Any contracts entered through collaboration with another contracting authority 
and/or public body, where the person awarding the contract (the lead authority) 
can demonstrate the arrangements comply with the requirements for Value for 
Money and applicable legislation, including where relevant UK Procurement 
Regulations; 

Page 371



 

232 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

(b) Employment contracts; 

(c) Land transactions to acquire or dispose of some interest in land, even if these 
also contain provisions relating to works, goods or services; 

(d) Lending or borrowing of money; 

(e) For existing goods, services or works where there is no genuine satisfactory 
alternative available such as public utility infrastructure providers, e.g. gas 
mains, sewerage and water supply. 

7. Exceptions for Care Placements 

7.1. Exceptions are granted for Adult Social Care and Children Care Placements when 
underpinned by the following tiered placing of contractual arrangements. This must 
be approved by the Chief Officer of the relevant Directorate: 

(a) Tier 1: Placements from Block Contracts – when a supplier is procured with 
guaranteed service levels and pre-agreed prices; 

(b) Tier 2: Placements made from a Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) or 
Framework Agreement – must contain fixed or average rates. Tier 2 is utilised 
only when Tier 1 is unable to meet the required needs; or 

(c) Tier 3: Spot Placements – may be awarded when the required needs cannot be 
met by Tier 1 or Tier 2 and if the placement is urgent, complex and unique to 
the receiver of the care. Tier 3 Placements must be reviewed by the Chief 
Officer and will form part of a quarterly report to the relevant Member detailing 
the following: 

(i) The nature, extent and value of spot contracts entered into in the previous 
quarter; 

(ii) The specific rationale for utilising Rule 7.1; and 

(iii) Append a summary of the previous instances where this Rule is used in 
the current financial year. 

8. Requesting A Waiver from these Rules 

8.1. Subject to the UK Procurement Regulations and any other relevant legislation, an 
officer may seek a waiver where they are unable to comply with these Rules. 

8.2. Officers must follow the procedure for obtaining a waiver detailed in Appendix 3. 

Page 372



 

233 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

8.3. A waiver will only be granted in exceptional or unavoidable circumstances. Lack of 
appropriate planning will not be considered as sufficient justification to be granted a 
waiver. 

8.4. In cases of emergency and where there is a significant risk of danger to life, or 
damage to property or a major impact on the Council or its service users, the 
Monitoring Officer or their nominee may choose to waive these Rules. 

8.5. Where a waiver is to be used, the waiver must be formally completed and signed 
prior to entering into any contract for goods, services and/or works. 

9. Prevention of Corruption and Conflicts of Interest 

9.1. The officer responsible for the procurement must comply with the Council’s Code of 
Conduct and must not invite or accept any gift or reward in respect of the award or 
performance of any contract. 

9.2. Officers must have regard to and comply with the Council’s Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption Policy when undertaking a procurement exercise. 

9.3. Officers are advised that any inappropriate behaviour that is deemed contrary to the 
Bribery Act 2010 could result in dismissal and the matter may be reported to the 
police. 

10. Grants 

10.1. Where a grant is received or issued please refer to the Council’s policy on Grants. 

11. Recommended Reading 

11.1. It is strongly recommended that Officers and Chief Officers read the following 
documents in conjunction with these Rules: 

(a) Financial Procedure Rules; 

(b) Procurement Best Practice Guide; 

(c) The Council’s policies and processes relevant to the procurement; 

(d) Contract Register guidance, system instructions and protocol. 

 

Part 2 – Pre-Procurement 

1. Competition Requirements 

Page 373



 

234 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

1.1. Officers must establish the Total Value of the procurement for the life of the contract, 
including any potential extension periods which may be awarded. 

1.2. Officers shall not sub-divide goods, services and/or works that could reasonably be 
treated as a single contract to avoid these Rules, thresholds, or any legal 
requirements. 

1.3. Based on the Total Value, Quotations or Tenders must then be invited in line with the 
financial thresholds detailed in Appendix 2. 

2. Steps Prior to Procurement 

2.1. Where a procurement is required, the officer must establish: 

(a) The contract term: this must not exceed four years in total (including any 
optional extension period(s)) unless otherwise agreed by the PGG. 

(b) The size, scope, term and specification of the goods, services and/or works 
required; 

(c) The duration of the contract that will provide the most economically 
advantageous outcome for the Council. This decision must be made in advance 
of the procurement process and done in accordance with these Rules; 

(d) That they have the appropriate authority to start the procurement activity under 
the scheme of delegation; 

(e) That they have the relevant budget approval to cover the Total Value of the 
contract; and 

(f) A project plan to allow sufficient time for Bidders to prepare and submit Tenders 
or Quotations to maximise the opportunity for Value for Money to be achieved. 

2.2. The officer must consult the PGG where the procurement is of an innovative or 
specialist nature or poses a new potential material risk to the Council, to discuss the 
potential risks to ensure they are adequately mitigated. 

3. Pre-Tender Market Research and Consultation 

3.1. The officer responsible for the procurement may consult potential Suppliers in 
general terms about the nature, level and standard of the contract packaging and 
other relevant matters, provided this does not prejudice any potential Bidder. 

3.2. The officer must not adopt any technical advice in the preparation of an Invitation to 
Tender or Quotations from anyone where this may prejudice the equal treatment of 
all potential Bidders or otherwise distort competition. 

Page 374



 

235 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

3.3. Pre-tender consultation with service users on what is being procured is encouraged 
and is considered good practice to ensure the Specification correctly addresses what 
is required. 

3.4. When considering undertaking any of these activities, the officer must seek advice 
from the Procurement Team. 

4. Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 

4.1. The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 requires the Council to consider at the 
pre-procurement stage: 

(a) How the proposed procurement might improve the economic, social, and 
environmental well-being of the area; 

(b) How the Council may act with a view to securing that improvement in 
conducting the process of the procurement; and 

(c) Whether it should undertake any community consultation on the above. 

4.3 Officers must consult the Procurement Team for advice on specifying requirements 
under Social Value and how to evaluate this as a part of any bids received. 

5. Corporate Contracts and Corporate Frameworks 

5.1. The Council has a selection of Corporate Contracts, Frameworks and DPSs created 
by the Procurement Team for goods, services and works where the prices and terms 
have been negotiated to achieve Value for Money for the Council as a whole. 

5.2. Before undertaking a procurement exercise, officers must check if a Corporate 
Contract, Framework or DPS exists and, where they do, the officer must use the 
relevant Corporate Contract, Framework or DPS. 

5.3. Where the officer is conducting a collaborative procurement, the Council’s financial 
value alone will be the amount the officer must use to determine the Key Decision 
threshold. 

6. Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems (DPS) 

6.1. Any officer intending to use an externally-let Framework Agreement or DPS must 
ensure that they have approval from the Procurement Team before they call-off any 
goods, services and/or works from the Framework or DPS. 

7. Contracts Reserved for Social Enterprises and Mutuals 

7.1. Officers must contact the Procurement Team and Legal Services for advice where 
they are considering using this procedure. 

Page 375



 

236 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

8. Consultants, Temporary Agency and/or External Subject Matter Experts 

8.1. Officers must follow the Council’s Consultants Policy and Agency Worker Policy 
published on the Council’s intranet when considering the appointment of consultants 
or external subject matter experts to assist in the preparation of procurement 
documents and/or providing advice throughout the procurement process. The 
procurement of consultants and/or external subject matter experts must be 
conducted in accordance with the appropriate procurement rules, as determined by 
cost threshold. 

9. Setting up a Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) 

9.1. Officers must contact the Procurement Team and Legal Services for support and 
advice if they intend to create a DPS. 

10. Electronic Auctions 

10.1. Officers must contact the Procurement Team and Legal Services for support and 
advice if they intend to enter into an Electronic Auction. 

11. Concession Contracts 

11.1. The Council may wish to enter into contracts where the Supplier receives payment 
from a third party, or where the Supplier receives non-monetary benefits. Such 
contracts must be let in accordance with these Rules and where relevant the 
Concession Contracts Regulations 2016. 

11.2. Officers must contact Legal Services for advice if they intend to enter into such 
contracts. 

 

Part 3 – Procurement Thresholds 

1. General Requirements 

1.1. Please see Appendix 2 for the procurement thresholds and the process to be 
followed. 

2. Purchases over the Regulation Threshold  

2.1. All goods, services and/or works over the Regulation Threshold are covered by the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015. These Regulations govern the processes for 
advertising, timetabling and Supplier selection. 

2.2. The latest thresholds and regulations can be found at the following site: 
https://www.ojec.com/Thresholds.aspx. 

Page 376

https://www.ojec.com/Thresholds.aspx


 

237 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

2.3. Officers must consult with the Procurement Team and Legal Services before 
commencing the procurement or any soft market testing over the Regulation 
Threshold. 

2.4. The officer, in collaboration with the Procurement Team, shall decide the 
procurement process which is most appropriate (e.g. quotation or another compliant 
competitive model) where the procurement is identified as falling in the scope of the 
Light Touch Regime in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and is under the Light 
Touch Regime threshold. 

 

Part 4 – Procurement Documents 

1. Invitations to Tender and Quotations 

1.1. All Invitations to Tender or Quote must: 

(a) Clearly specify the goods, services or works that are required. The specification 
must describe the requirements in sufficient detail to ensure the submission of 
competitive bids which may easily be compared; 

(b) Include evaluation methodology, such as the selection and award criteria which 
details the cost and quality split; 

(c) Cleary and unambiguously specify the award procedure on which Tenders or 
Quotations will be evaluated, such as on the most economically advantageous 
tender; 

(d) Attach a copy of the contract terms and conditions that will apply; 

(e) Ensure that the same information is issued or made available to Bidders at the 
same time and on the same terms;  

(f) Any additional information or amendments must be provided to the Bidders on 
the same basis; and 

(g) Quotations sought over £25,000 must follow the Council’s formal Request For 
Quotation (RFQ) quotation process as per guidance in the Procurement Best 
Practice Guide or the procurement pages of the intranet for quotations. 

2. Local Providers 

2.1. For requirements up to £100,000, the officer must obtain at least one quote from a 
local provider. 

3. Advertising Requirements 

Page 377



 

238 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

3.1. Under these Rules it is not mandatory for procurements valued below £100,000 to be 
advertised unless the officer decides that the procurement would benefit from this. If 
the opportunity is advertised anywhere, it must also be advertised on Contracts 
Finder. 

3.2. Procurements over £100,000 must be advertised on Contracts Finder and any other 
relevant media portal. 

3.3. Procurements above the Regulation Threshold must be advertised in accordance 
with the UK Procurement Regulations. 

3.4. Contracts valued over £5,000 must be recorded on the Contract Register. 

4. Submission of Tenders or Quotations 

4.1. Bidders must be given sufficient time to prepare and submit a proper Tender or 
Quotation, consistent with the urgency and complexity of the contract requirements. 

5. Late Tenders 

5.1. Late Tenders or Tenders that are not submitted in accordance with these Rules will 
be disqualified unless approved by the Monitoring Officer. 

6. Evaluation 

6.1. Tenders and Quotations must be evaluated in accordance with the pre-determined 
evaluation criteria set out in the procurement documents. 

6.2. The evaluation must be carried out by a panel consisting of the officer and at least 
one other officer of appropriate seniority, supported and moderated by the 
Procurement Team. 

6.3. If, despite all reasonable efforts having been made to obtain the required minimum 
number of responses, fewer respond to the Council’s requirement, then the 
procurement may progress with the Bidders who have provided a valid response. 

6.4. The officer must keep a record of the efforts made to obtain the minimum number of 
responses. 

6.5. The officer must retain the results of the Tender evaluation. 

6.6. Officers shall ensure the successful Bidder has any required insurance cover in 
place before performance of the contract begins and shall further ensure, at 
appropriate intervals, that such cover is maintained by the Supplier throughout the 
contract period. 

7. Clarification Procedures 

Page 378



 

239 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

7.1. Officers may ask Bidders for clarifications to any of the details submitted as part of 
their bid. However, such clarifications must not result in a significant change to the 
bid or related documentation. 

7.2. Prior to making any request for clarifications from a Bidder, the officer must discuss 
this with the Procurement Team, where the requirement is over £100,000. 

7.3. Full written records of all clarification decisions must be made and retained by the 
officer. These records must be provided to the Procurement Team, where the 
Procurement Team have led the procurement. 

8. Notification of Award 

8.1. Following contract award the officer must inform successful and unsuccessful 
Bidders simultaneously in writing whether or not their bid was successful. 

8.2. Where the value of the contract is over £25,000, the officer must also publish an 
award notice on Contracts Finder. 

8.3. Where a Tender is subject to the UK Procurement Regulations, the Procurement 
Team will adhere to the relevant Standstill Period.  

8.4. If a Bidder requests in writing a further debrief in relation to the award, the lead 
officer is responsible for providing the appropriate response. 

8.5. Any complaints from unsuccessful Bidders must be provided in writing. Officers must 
submit these to the Procurement Team for review, in order that appropriate action 
may be taken. 

9. Legal Challenge 

9.1. If there is a formal legal challenge to the award of a contract, then the officer must 
immediately notify their Chief Officer, the Monitoring Officer and the Head of 
Procurement. 

 

Part 5 – Contract Formalities 

1. Principles Relevant to Contracts at all Values 

1.1. Every contract must be in writing and must clearly state: 

(a) The goods, services and/or works to be provided; 

(b) The start and end date or the means by which these are to be ascertained; 

(c) The agreed programme of delivery; 

Page 379



 

240 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

(d) The price and terms of payment; 

(e) All other terms that are agreed, e.g. insurance; 

(f) Exit procedures, for when the contract comes to its natural end; and 

(g) Termination procedures for early termination of the contract, including when the 
Supplier has not fulfilled its contractual obligations. 

2. Execution of Contracts 

2.1. Contracts let under the UK Procurement Regulations may only be signed/sealed after 
the mandatory standstill period has elapsed without any challenge being received. 

2.2. Reference to signing contracts includes by electronic signature of documents where 
this improves the efficiency of the council and removes the requirement for hard copy 
printing.  

2.3. Contracts may only be executed by officers with delegated powers, as detailed below: 

(a) Up to £250,000 shall be in writing signed by the Chief Officer; 

(b) Over £250,000 but less than £1,000,000 shall be in writing and signed by the 
appropriate Chief Officer and the s.151 Officer or their nominee; 

(c) £1,000,000 or over shall be in writing sealed by affixing the Common Seal of the 
Council and attested by the Director of Legal and Democratic or their nominee. 

2.4. If, after acceptance of its Tender or Quotation, a Supplier fails within a reasonable 
period of time and without reasonable justification to sign or otherwise enter into a 
formal written contract, the Council shall reserve the right to withdraw the contract from 
the Supplier. This decision shall be made by the relevant Chief Officer in consultation 
with Legal Services. 

3. Commencement of Contracts 

3.1. No supply of goods, services or works shall commence until all contract documents 
have been completed. 

4. Social Impact Bonds 

4.1. Details of Social Impact Bonds (SIBs) are available in the Financial Regulations.  

5. Contract Register 

5.1. The Procurement Team will provide access to the Contract Register of current 
contracts and framework agreements. The Contract Register will be published on the 
Council’s website in accordance with Local Government Transparency Code 2015. 

Page 380



 

241 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

5.2. The Procurement Team will enter any contracts they have led the procurement 
process for on the Contract Register. However, it is the officer’s responsibility to 
ensure these details are correct and updated with any changes and/or extensions. 

6. Letters of Intent 

6.1. Letters of Intent shall only be used in exceptional circumstances and where 
approved by the Chief Officer in consultation with Legal Services. 

7. Bonds and Parent Company Guarantees 

7.1. Performance bonds or parent company guarantees may be required: 

(a) Where the Total Value of the contract exceeds £500,000; and 

(b) Where it is proposed to make stage or other payments in advance of receiving 
the whole of the subject matter of the Contract; and 

(c) Where there is concern about the stability of the Supplier, regardless of value. 

7.2. Where a performance bond or parent company guarantee is required, this must be 
clearly stated in the Invitation to Tender or Quotation and must be in place before the 
contract is completed by the Council. 

7.3. Where a bidder or bidders appeal the Councils request for a performance bond or 
parent company guarantee, an exception can be made if agreed in writing with the 
Chief Officer and s.151 Officer. 

8. General Requirements 

8.1. During the contract period, the officer must monitor the overall performance of the 
contract closely to ensure any issues of under-performance are addressed as soon 
as possible and that the contract remains in-budget. 

9. Contract Monitoring, Evaluation and Review 

9.1. The Procurement Team will provide a high-level contract governance function that 
can offer a helicopter view of the Councils’ contract management to ensure better 
strategic procurement delivery across the organisation. This is not a substitute for 
sound contract management and governance by the relevant officer, but seeks to 
nurture, support and enhance that function. 

9.2. The Procurement Team must have sight of the final contract and everything that has 
been agreed between the officer and the Supplier, including: 

(a) Service Level Agreements; and 

(b) Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and/or Key Milestones. 

Page 381



 

242 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

9.3. Where the Supplier defaults on the Contract it shall be the duty of the officer to take 
appropriate action and, in the case of a significant default, to report any such action 
to the Chief Officer and Legal Services. 

9.4. Officers shall ensure that Suppliers maintain adequate insurance for the duration of 
the contract period and shall verify this at appropriate intervals throughout the term. 

10. Variations 

10.1. Where a variation means that the value of a contract would exceed the relevant 
Regulation Threshold, or where there is any material change to the contract, the 
contract must be treated as a new procurement under these Rules. 

10.2. A change will not be deemed material if the value of the modification is both below 
the Regulation Threshold and below 10% of the original contract value (15% for 
works) after any contract indexation. 

10.3. Officers must consult with and gain the approval of Legal Services if they intend to 
make variations to their contracts. 

10.4. All variations must be kept with the officer’s signed copy of the contract and, once 
agreed, all variations on contracts with a Total Value of £5,000 or more must be 
noted on the Contract Register. 

10.5. Officers must be satisfied that they have sufficient budget to cover any variation and 
that the variation will achieve Value for Money and be reasonable in all the relevant 
circumstances. 

11. Assignments and Novations 

11.1. Officers must contact Legal Services where it is proposed that an assignment or 
novation should take place. 

12. Termination of Contract 

12.1. Officers must consult with Legal Services if they are considering the early termination 
of their contracts.  

 

Appendix 1 – Definitions, Abbreviations and Glossary 

Term Definition 
Bidder A potential Supplier, vendor or organisation who responds to 

an invitation to Tender or Quote or any person who asks or is 
invited to submit a Quotation or Tender.  

Page 382



 

243 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Chief Officer An officer(s) as defined in the Constitution. 
Contract Register A register managed by the Procurement Team that stores 

details of the Council’s Contracts such as duration and expiry 
dates. The register is published on the Council’s intranet. 

Corporate 
Contract and/or 
Corporate 
Framework 

Contract let by a central team in the Council (such as 
Procurement).  

Financial 
Regulations 

The financial regulations outlining officer responsibilities for 
financial matters issued by the Chief Finance Officer in 
accordance with the Constitution. 

Framework 
Agreement 

A formal tendered arrangement which sets out terms and 
conditions under which specific purchases can be made from 
the successful Bidders in unpredicted quantities at different 
times during the term of the Framework Agreement. 

Invitation Invitation to Tender or Quote in the form required by these 
Rules. 

Light Touch 
Regime 

Refers to social and other specific services covered by Part 2 
Chapter 3, Section 7 of the Public Contract Regulations 2015. 

Local Areas within the West Northamptonshire boundary. 
Non-Commercial 
Considerations 

Those that are listed in section 17(5) of the Local Government 
Act 1988. 

Officer An officer of the Council designated by the Chief Officer to be 
responsible for undertaking the procurement exercise and for 
the administration of the contract to include ensuring 
compliance with its terms and conditions and implementation 
of any required variations. 

Parent Company 
Guarantee 

A Contract which binds the parent of a subsidiary company as 
follows: If the subsidiary company fails to do what it has 
promised under a Contract with the Council, they can require 
the parent company to do so instead. 

Performance 
Bond 

An agreement that if the Supplier does not do what it has 
promised under a contract with the Council, the Council can 
claim from the Bondsman the sum of money specified in the 
Bond (usually 10% of the contract sum). It is intended to 
protect the Council against a level of cost arising from the 
Suppliers failure to comply with the terms of the contract. 

Procurement Best 
Practice 
Guidance 

The relevant procurement guidance document issued by the 
Procurement Team. 

UK Procurement 
Regulations 

The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and any successor 
public regulations which specify in detail the procedures by 
which public authorities shall undertake their procurements. 

Purchasing 
Gateway Group 
(PGG) 

An identified group of officers, comprising the Head of 
Procurement, the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer 
or their duly appointed representatives, that is responsible for 
reviewing, approving and advising on proposed procurements 
and procurement issues. 

Page 383



 

244 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Quotation A quotation of price and any other relevant matter (without the 
formal issue of an Invitation to Tender). 

Regulation 
Threshold 

The Total Value threshold at which PCR2015 public 
procurement directives must be applied. The current 
procurement thresholds and regulations can be found at the 
following site https://www.ojec.com/Thresholds.aspx 

Request for 
Quotation 

A formal quotation of price and any other relevant matter 
(without the formal issue of an Invitation to Tender). 

Rules These Contract Procedure Rules 
Supplier Any person or organisation, including companies or other 

bodies of persons providing, or seeking to provide, goods, 
services or works to the Council, 

Tender A Bidder's proposal submitted in response to an Invitation to 
Tender. 

Total Value The whole of the value or estimated value (in terms of money 
or equivalent value) for a single purchase, whether or not the 
purchase comprises several lots or stages across the Council 
as a whole and whether or not it is to be paid or received by 
the Council or a discrete operational unit within the Council. 
The Total Value shall be calculated as follows: 
1. Where the contract is for a fixed period, by taking the 

total price to be paid or which might be paid during the 
whole of the proposed contract period; 

2. Where the contract is for an uncertain duration, by 
multiplying the monthly payment by forty-eight or the 
maximum permitted duration in months if less; 

3. For nominated Suppliers and sub-contractors, the Total 
Value shall be the value of that part of the main contract 
to be fulfilled by the nominated Supplier or sub-
contractor; 

4. Where an in-house service provider is involved, by taking 
into account redundancy and similar/associated costs; 
and/or 

5. In the case of a Framework Agreement, the estimated 
call off during the period of the contract. 

TUPE The Transfer of Undertaking (Protection of Employment) 
Regulations 2006. 

Value for Money 
(VfM) 

The most advantageous combination of cost, quality and 
sustainability to meet customer requirements, in accordance 
with the principles of the National Audit Office; Economy, 
Efficiency and Effectiveness. 

 

Appendix 2 – Summary of Procurement Thresholds 

Page 384

https://cmis.northamptonshire.gov.uk/cmis5live/Home.aspx


 

245 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Value of 
Contract 

Pre-Procurement 
Authorisation Advertising Procurement 

Process 
Contract 

Execution 
Under 
£5,000 

Officer. 
If Key Decision, 
relevant Officer 
and 
Cabinet/Committee 
approval. 

No 
requirement to 
advertise. 

At least one 
written 
quotation 
required. 
Officers 
should 
ensure they 
achieve value 
for money 

Contract 
terms issued 
via purchase 
order. 

£5,000 to 
£25,000 

Officer. 
If Key Decision, 
relevant Officer 
and 
Cabinet/Committee 
approval. 

No 
requirement to 
advertise. 

Seek to 
obtain at 
least three 
written 
Quotations 
(at least one 
from a Local 
provider). 

Contract 
terms issued 
via purchase 
order. 
Contract must 
be published 
on the 
Contract 
Register. 

£25,000 to 
£100,000 

Officer. 
If Key Decision, 
relevant Officer 
and 
Cabinet/Committee 
approval. 

No 
requirement to 
advertise.  

Seek to 
obtain at 
least three 
formal 
quotations 
from the 
Council’s 
RFQ process 
(at least one 
from a Local 
provider). 

Written 
contract 
signed by one 
Chief Officer 
or Officer with 
appropriate 
authority to 
enter into a 
Contract. 
Standard 
terms 
approved by 
Legal 
Services. 
Contract must 
be published 
on the 
Contract 
Register and 
Contracts 
Finder 

£100,000 to 
Threshold 

Officer and the 
Procurement 
Team. 
If Key Decision, 
relevant Officer 
and 
Cabinet/Committee 
approval. 

Advertising on 
Contracts 
Finder is 
mandatory. 

Seek to 
obtain at 
least three 
formal 
quotations 
from the 
Council’s 
RFQ process. 

Written 
contract 
signed/sealed. 
Standard 
terms 
approved and 
contract 
prepared by 
Legal 

Page 385



 

246 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

 

Appendix 3 – Procurement Waiver Process Flowchart 

Requirement to 
present 
requirement to 
PGG. 

Services. 
Contract must 
be published 
on the 
Contract 
Register and 
Contracts 
Finder. 

Above 
Threshold 

Officer and 
Procurement 
Team. 
If Key Decision, 
relevant Officer 
and 
Cabinet/Committee 
approval. 
Requirement to 
present 
requirement to 
PGG. 

All 
procurement 
Notices must 
be issued by 
the 
Procurement 
Team. 

Procurement 
must be run 
in 
accordance 
with the 
Regulations. 

Written 
contract 
signed/sealed. 
Standard 
terms 
approved and 
contract 
prepared by 
Legal 
Services. 
Contract must 
be published 
on the 
Contract 
Register and 
Contracts 
Finder. 

Framework 
Agreements 

Officer (and 
Council’s 
Procurement Team 
if over £100,000). 
If Key Decision, 
relevant Officer 
and 
Cabinet/Committee 
approval. 

Not applicable Follow call-off 
procedure 
within 
Framework 
Agreement. 
The number 
of Tenders 
will be 
determined 
by the 
Framework. 

Written 
Contract 
created from 
Framework 
Agreement. 
Sign-off as 
per above 
thresholds. 
Contract must 
be published 
on the 
Contract 
Register and 
Contracts 
Finder. 

Page 386



 

247 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

 

  

Value Under £25k? Chief Officer 
Approves

Officer 
enters on 
contracts 
register

Value from £25k up 
to £100k?

Chief Officer 
Approves

Head of 
Procurement 

Approves

Chief Finance 
Officer 

Approves

Officer 
enters on 
contracts 
register

Value from £100k 
to Key Decision 

Threshold?

Chief Officer 
Approves

Head of 
Procurement 

comments

Chief Finance 
Officer 

Approves

Monitoring 
Officer 

Approves

Officer 
enters on 
contracts 
register

Value from Decision 
Threshold?

Must go to 
Executive for 

approval

Page 387



 

248 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

9.7 Financial Procedure Rules 

1 Introduction 

1.1 In order to conduct its business efficiently, this council recognises the need to ensure 
that it has sound financial management policies in place and that they are strictly 
adhered to.  

1.2 The Financial Procedure Rules provide the framework for managing the Council’s 
financial affairs, in order to ensure that they are conducted in a sound and proper 
manner, constitute value for money and minimise the risk of legal challenge to the 
Council. They are an integral part of the Council’s Constitution and must be used in 
conjunction with those sections of the Constitution that apply generally to the 
management of the Council’s business and affairs 

1.3 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 states that “every local authority shall 
make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and shall 
secure that one of their officers has responsibility for the administration of those 
affairs”.  The officer designated by the Council as having the statutory responsibility 
set out in Section 151 of the 1972 Act is the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). 

1.4 The Financial Procedure Rules apply to every councillor, officer, person acting on 
the Council’s behalf in undertaking Council business, and any employee of a 
commissioned service within any organisation partly or wholly owned by the Council. 

1.5 The term ‘officer’ in this document refers to Council employees and employees within 
a commissioned organisation partly or wholly owned by the Council.  The term 
‘Council’ in this document refers to the Council and all commissioned organisations 
partly or wholly owned by the Council. 

1.6 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that all staff in their Service are aware of 
the existence, location and content of the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and 
other internal regulatory documents and that they comply with them.  

1.7 All financial decisions and decisions with financial implications must have regard to 
proper financial control. Any doubt as to the appropriateness of a financial proposal 
or correctness of a financial action must be clarified in advance of the decision or 
action with the CFO. 

1.8 The CFO is responsible for reporting, where appropriate, breaches of the Financial 
Procedure Rules to the Chief Executive and to the Cabinet. 

1.9 The Financial Procedure Rules shall only be suspended on the resolution of the full 
Council, or as varied by any part of the Scheme of Delegation approved by the 
Council or Executive as appropriate. A written record shall be kept if this was to occur. 

1.10 The CFO is responsible for maintaining a continuous review of the Financial 
Procedure Rules and submitting any additions or changes necessary to the full 
Council for approval.   

2 Financial Management  

Page 388



 

249 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

2.1 Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to the running 
of the council, including the Budget and Policy Framework. The process of financial 
management involves:  

2.1.1 Complying with statutory requirements  

2.1.2 Development and approval of policy and management frameworks, the 
Constitution and financial plans including the revenue and capital budgets  

2.1.3 Establishing protocols and standards  

2.1.4 Implementing policies, protocols and standards  

2.1.5 Monitoring compliance  

2.1.6 Maintaining records  

2.1.7 Reporting and providing advice  

2.1.8 Specific financial techniques and functions e.g. virements, year end balances, 
statements of account.  

3 Responsibilities  

3.1 This section of the Financial Procedure Rules provides an overview of the 
responsibility and accountability of officers and councillors in respect of financial 
management, governance and the use of Council resources. 

3.2 All officers and councillors are responsible for ensuring that they use Council 
resources and assets entrusted to them in a responsible and lawful manner.  
Consideration of value for money needs to be embedded in every financial decision 
made. These responsibilities apply equally to councillors and officers when 
representing the Council on outside bodies. 

3.3 Failure to comply with these Regulations and associated policies, instructions and 
processes may constitute misconduct or gross misconduct, depending on the 
circumstances of the case in question and may well result in disciplinary action being 
taken in accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary Procedures. 

3.4 Any person charged with the use or care of the Council’s resources and assets is 
responsible for reading the requirements within the Financial Procedure Rules.  If 
anyone is unsure as to their obligations, they should seek advice from the CFO. 

3.5 The financial instructions and processes that support these Regulations, as approved 
by the Chief Financial Officer, must be followed and carry the same weight as the 
Financial Regulations. 

3.6 Any employee must report immediately to their manager, supervisor or other 
responsible officer any illegality, impropriety, serious breach of procedure or serious 
deficiency in the provision of service they suspect or become aware of. Employees 
are able to do this without fear or recrimination providing they act in good faith via 

Page 389



 

250 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

the Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy. In such circumstances managers must record 
and investigate such reports and take appropriate action.  

3.7 Compliance with any Anti-Fraud and Corruption policy, Code of Conduct for 
councillors or Employees which the council has in place is mandatory. 

4 Head of Paid Service 

4.1 The Head of Paid Service is the Chief Executive. They have responsibilities set out 
s.4 Local Government and Housing Act 1989. These include providing members with 
a report about the staffing resources that are required for the delivery of the Council’s 
plans.  The Chief Executive is also responsible for the corporate and overall strategic 
management of the Council as a whole. They must report to and provide information 
for the Cabinet, the full Council, Scrutiny committees and other committees.  

4.2 They are responsible for establishing a framework for management direction, style 
and standards and for monitoring the performance of the organisation.  

5 Monitoring Officer  

5.1 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining high standards 
of financial conduct. They are also responsible for reporting any actual or potential 
breaches of the law or maladministration to the full Council and/or to the Cabinet.   

5.2 They are also responsible for ensuring that procedures for recording and reporting 
key decisions are operating effectively. They must also ensure that Council Members 
are aware of decisions made by the Cabinet 

5.3 The Monitoring Officer must ensure that executive decisions and the reasons for 
them are made public. They must also ensure that Council Members are aware of 
decisions made by Officers who have delegated executive responsibility. 

5.4 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising all officers and councillors 
regarding where the authority to take a particular decision resides. 

5.5 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising the Cabinet or full Council about 
whether a decision is likely to be considered contrary to or not wholly in accordance 
with the Policy Framework. 

6 Chief Finance Officer (CFO) (Section 151 Officer) 

6.1 The responsibilities of this post are described in Part 9.2 of the Constitution. It has 
specific statutory duties in relation to the financial administration and stewardship of 
the council. This statutory responsibility cannot be overridden.  

6.2 The CFO is responsible for the proper administration of the council’s financial affairs 
and reports to Council and committees on the discharge of this responsibility. This 
includes: 

6.2.1 Maintaining strong financial management underpinned by effective financial 
controls 

Page 390



 

251 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

6.2.2 Contribute to corporate management and leadership 

6.2.3 Providing financial information and advice 

6.2.4 Setting and monitoring compliance with financial management standards 

6.2.5 Advising on the corporate financial position 

6.2.6 Advising on the key financial controls necessary to secure sound financial 
management 

6.2.7 Preparing the revenue budget and capital programme 

6.2.8 Treasury management 

6.2.9 Leading and managing an effective and responsive financial service. 

6.3 The CFO has a statutory responsibility for ensuring that adequate systems and 
procedures exist to account for all income due and expenditure made on behalf of 
the council and that controls operate to protect the council’s assets from loss, waste, 
fraud or other impropriety. The CFO shall discharge that responsibility in part by the 
issue and maintenance of Financial Procedures and Operational Procedures with 
which all councillors and staff of the council shall comply. 

6.4 The CFO is the ‘responsible financial officer’ for the purposes of Sections 114 and 
114A of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2003. 

6.5 Section 114 requires the CFO to make a report and inform the External Auditor if it 
appears that (full) Council, a committee or officers: 

6.5.1 Has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves incurring unlawful 
expenditure; 

6.5.2 Has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action which has resulted or would 
result in a loss or deficiency to the council; or 

6.5.3 Is about to make an unlawful entry in the council’s accounts 

6.6 Section 114A makes equivalent provision in respect of actions taken by or on behalf 
of the council. Under both sections the report must be sent to every Councillor as 
well as the External Auditor. 

6.7 Section 114 also requires: 

6.7.1 The CFO to nominate a properly qualified member of staff to deputise should 
they be unable to perform the duties under Section 114 personally. 

6.7.2 The council provide the CFO with sufficient staff, accommodation and other 
resources, including legal advice where necessary, to carry out the duties 
under Section 114 and make similar arrangements for the purposes of the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2006 

Page 391



 

252 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

6.8 The CFO will have overall responsibility for the operation of internal audit throughout 
the authority.  Internal Auditors will operate as a management control by examining, 
evaluating and reporting upon the effective of internal financial and operational 
controls and the efficient use of the Authority’s resources. 

6.9 The CFO and Internal Audit shall have full and unrestricted access to all council 
assets, systems, accounts, contracts, documents, information, officers, and 
councillors. 

6.10 The CFO is responsible for providing appropriate financial information to enable 
budgets to be monitored effectively. They must monitor and control the net 
expenditure of the council against budget allocations and report to the Cabinet on 
the overall position as appropriate. 

6.11 The CFO is responsible for monitoring compliance with the virement scheme to 
ensure the scheme operates effectively and in accordance with the agreed budgetary 
and Policy Framework. 

6.12 The CFO will consider and approve reports requesting virements between £10,000 
and £500,000, in accordance with the scheme of virement (see section 9). Decisions 
on virements over £50,000 will be made in consultation with the relevant portfolio 
holder. 

6.13 Reference to the CFO within the Finance Procedure Rules includes those authorised 
by them to undertake the various functions concerned. 

7.0 Chief Officers  

7.1 Chief Officers are individually responsible to ensure that all staff in their Service are 
aware of the existence of the Council’s Constitution and Financial Procedure Rules, 
and have systems of control in place to monitor compliance, with any non-compliance 
by either officers, or partners reported to the CFO. 

7.2 They are accountable for the overall financial stewardship of all Council resources 
allocated to them, and must seek approval from the Cabinet for any actions likely to 
materially affect the Council’s finances by virtue of being a key decision. In such 
instances, consultation with the CFO will also be necessary. 

7.3 They must ensure that the CFO is supplied with all information they feel is necessary 
to meet their statutory obligations. 

7.4 Chief Officers must ensure that the relevant Cabinet members are advised of the 
financial implications of all significant budget proposals and service changes, which 
have been previously agreed by the CFO and Chief Executive. 

7.5 They are responsible for ensuring the accuracy and deliverability of all budget 
estimates, which should be congruent with the strategic priorities set out in their 
annual Business Plans submitted as part of the annual budget.  These estimates are 
to be prepared in line with guidance and timelines issued by the CFO. 

7.6 With regard to the in-year financial monitoring against budget, it is the Chief Officer’s 
responsibility to ensure that there are suitably competent Budget Managers in place 

Page 392



 

253 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

within their Service who are aware of their budget allocation, including any savings 
requirement, as defined in the annual budget.  These budget managers are also 
required to operate a robust system of control in order to monitor and report 
commitments and actuals throughout the year.  This process will also ensure value 
for money decisions are made and that risk is minimised.  Any non-compliance must 
be escalated to the CFO in a timely manner. 

7.7 Each Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring that the CFO is consulted about any 
information provided to councillors, external partners or members of the public which 
concerns the finances of the Council and that they are to be given adequate time to 
comment in advance of the agenda / deadline date.  

7.8 Committee reports shall only be submitted once the CFO has validated and agreed 
the financial aspects of the report. The onus is on the report sponsor to obtain the 
agreement of the CFO. 

7.9 If a Chief Officer, having regard to the CFO’s views, does not wish to amend a 
committee report, the CFO may require inclusion of their comments within the report 
before it is finalised. 

7.10 Chief Officers may delegate decision making powers relating to financial 
management to their Deputy Chief Officer or below. A record of all such delegations 
must be kept by the officers concerned.  

7.11 All Chief Officer Functions are described in the Scheme of Delegation, Part 9 of the 
Constitution. 

8 Councillors and Officers 

8.1 All officers and councillors will contribute to the general stewardship, honesty and 
integrity in the council’s financial affairs and comply with these regulations and any 
system, financial procedure or policy relating to the financial management of the 
council. 

8.2 Before making any decision or voting on any decision the person responsible shall 
consider the financial implications and the effect on the council’s financial position. 

8.3 councillors or officers shall bring to the attention of the CFO any act or omission that 
is contrary to the financial regulations and/or the financial procedures. 

8.4 councillors and officers should maintain the highest standards of financial probity and 
provide information or explanations on matters within their responsibility to the 
Monitoring Officer, the Governance and Audit Committee, the CFO, and the council’s 
internal and external auditors. 

8.5 Any Chief Officer, Head of Service or councillor who is involved in, or who has an 
interest in, a transaction between the council and a third party shall declare the nature 
and extent of this interest to the CFO. These will be reported in the council’s accounts 
in accordance with the Accountancy Standards Board (ASB) Reporting Standards 
and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of 
Accounting Practice. 

Page 393



 

254 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

8.6 A Budget Manager is an officer with the overall responsibility of managing the 
commissioning of direct service or externalised service(s) for an area.  This 
responsibility is specifically delegated to this Officer, using any document required 
by the Section 151 Officer or under the Part 9 Scheme of Delegation to Officers.  A 
Budget Manager cannot delegate the overall responsibility for managing budgets 
under their jurisdiction.  A Budget Manager must be an employee of the Authority. 

8.7 A Project Manager, in relation to capital, is the Budget manager responsible for 
delivering a capital project.  

9 The Full Council 

9.1 Full Council is responsible for adopting and approving the principles of financial 
governance and approving the council’s budgetary and Policy Framework within 
which committees and the Executive operate  

9.2 The full Council is also responsible for monitoring compliance with related executive 
decisions and is responsible for approving procedures for recording and reporting 
decisions taken. This includes those key decisions delegated and decisions taken by 
the Council and its committees.  

10 The Cabinet 

10.1 West Northamptonshire Council operates a Leader and Cabinet model of Executive 
arrangements. The majority of financial decisions are taken by the Executive. In 
accordance with the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended) the Leader can take 
all Executive decisions alone or with Cabinet in accordance with the Executive 
Procedure Rules set out in part 5 of the Constitution.  The Executive can take all 
decisions not specifically identified as non-executive within the Budget and Policy 
Framework as described in Part 3 of the Constitution. 

10.2 The Cabinet also: 

(a) monitors revenue and capital spending against agreed limits 
(b) agrees externally funded initiatives 
(c) approves the commencement of tender processes where the value of the 

proposed contract is in excess of £500,000 or is otherwise a key decision 
(d) approves the termination of contracts where the value is in excess of £500,000 
(e) approves the introduction of charges, or changes to charges for services 
(f) approves the acquisition, retention or disposal of assets with a value in excess 

of £500,000 
(g) approves the write-off of individual debts deemed to be uncollectable over 

£25,000 
(h) approves virements in excess of £500,000 

10.3 Executive decisions can be exercised by the Leader, by the Leader and Cabinet, 
delegated to a committee of the Cabinet, an individual Cabinet Portfolio Holder, an 
officer or joint committee. 

11 The Audit and Governance Committee  

Page 394



 

255 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

11.1 The Audit and Governance Committee is charged with ensuring correct governance 
of the council.  

11.2 The Committee will contribute to the development of and review of the effectiveness 
of the Medium Term Financial Strategy, the annual budget and capital programme.  

11.3 The Committee will consider reports from the internal and external auditors in respect 
of performance issues in relation to the Medium Term Financial Strategy or financial 
processes, where considered appropriate by the CFO.  

11.4 The Committee is also responsible for approving the council’s risk management 
policy statement and strategy and for reviewing the effectiveness of risk 
management.  

11.5 The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for approving the Annual 
Statement of Accounts in accordance with the Account and Audit Regulations. 

12 Regulatory committees  

12.1 Regulatory committees include:  

12.1.1 Licensing Committee  

12.1.2 Planning Management Committee  

12.2 Regulatory committees do not have delegated to them specific financial 
management responsibilities but due consideration must be given to the 
general stewardship, integrity and confidence in the council’s financial affairs.  

12.3 Decisions made by these committees could materially affect the council’s financial 
position and/or expose the council to financial risk. The committees, and individual 
councillors, should ensure that proper consideration has been given to any exposure 
to risk in determining matters delegated to the committee. 

13 Other committees 

13.1 The Overview and Scrutiny committees has responsibility for the oversight of 
financial matters for the Council and for holding the Cabinet to account. 

13.2 The Pension Committee sets the Pension Funds objectives and determines the 
appropriate strategies, policies and procedures for funding, investment, 
administration, communication, discretions, governance and risk management.  This 
committee also has the power to manage any key matter pertaining to the Pension 
Fund. 

13.3 Pensions Investment sub-committee implements the Pension Funds investment 
strategy and monitors fund performance against target. 

13.4 West/North Northamptonshire Health and Wellbeing Board has the responsibility for 
preparing the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment. 

Page 395



 

256 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

13.5 All Council, Cabinet and Committee functions and powers are described in the 
relevant section of the Constitution for the decision maker or in Scheme of Delegation 
to officers in Part 9 of the Constitution.  All delegated functions within the Scheme of 
Delegation must be exercised within approved budgetary provision and abide by the 
Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure Rules. 

13.6 The CFO is responsible for reviewing and monitoring all financial aspects of the 
Council’s decision making. 

14 Urgency Procedure 

14.1 The Urgency Procedure is designed to deal with unexpected events which cannot be 
dealt with under the other clauses contained within Constitution, including these 
Financial Regulations and which require such urgent attention that they do not allow 
for referral to the next available committee meeting. Examples include significant 
financial expense following an accident or disaster, protecting the council against any 
legal challenge and the ability seek advantage from an opportunity which would 
otherwise disappear if immediate action is not taken. 

14.2 The urgency procedure is only designed to deal with items costing in excess of 
£100,000, which are within our existing Policy Framework but which are not covered 
by the approved budget. 

14.3 Items greater than £100,000 but less than £500,000 can be approved by the CFO 
(or Deputy CFO in their absence) after consultation with the Portfolio Member for 
Finance.  

14.4 For sums over £500,000, the Chief Executive who has wider responsibilities for 
Emergencies as set out in the scheme of delegation in Part 9 of the Constitution will 
be responsible for deciding on applying the Urgency Procedure and will do so only 
on the advice of the CFO and in consultation with the Leader of Council and Portfolio 
Member for Finance (or in their absence their deputies). Expenditure over £500,000 
outside the Budget should be reported to the next available ordinary Council meeting.   

14.5 Under the above provisions, authorisation to approve such items will require a written 
report from the Chief Executive, countersigned by the CFO. 

14.6 Reports approved under this scheme shall include not only the details under 
consideration but also the reasons why they need to be dealt with under the urgency 
procedure.  

14.7 The introduction of new systems could fundamentally change the systems of control 
in some areas.  The Council recognises that this may require a variation to the 
Regulations that cannot be achieved with Cabinet approval, due to time constraints.  
Therefore, the Chief Finance Officer may, in consultation with the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer approve temporary dispensation / amendment. 

14.8 This scheme shall not be used for expenditure on items outside the council’s existing 
Policy Framework or where, in the opinion of the CFO, the decision will result in 
significant ongoing expenditure. 

15  Financial Strategies and Guidance 

Page 396



 

257 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

15.1 The CFO is responsible for developing/approving the Council’s financial strategies, 
issuing advice, guidance and policies to underpin the Financial Procedure Rules that 
councillors, officers and others acting on behalf of the Council are required to follow. 

15.2 The Council will have a number of key financial strategies and policies some of which 
are listed below, but this is not an exhaustive list;   

15.2.1 Contract Procedure Rules 

15.2.2 Medium Term Financial Plan 

15.2.3 Medium Term Capital Plan 

15.2.4 Risk Management Policy and Strategy 

15.2.5 Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy 

15.2.6 Whistleblowing Policy 

15.2.7 Anti Money Laundering Policy 

15.2.8 Treasury Management Strategy (including the Investment Strategy, 
Prudential Indicators and MRP Policy) 

15.2.9 Financial procedures for schools (note: this is a collection of documents). 

15.2.10Security and control of assets.   

16 Medium Term Financial Planning and the Annual Budget 

16.1 The Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) provides a four year overview of 
the Council’s anticipated resources, expenditure commitments, and resulting savings 
requirement.  The MTFP allows resources to be prioritised to achieve the vision set 
out in the Council Plan, which is underpinned by the Council’s priority objectives 
included within individual Service Business Plans. 

16.2 The MTFP, therefore, is the financial framework that informs the annual Budget 
setting process and is integral within the Council’s business planning. 

16.3 Various internal and external factors will influence the planning assumptions 
underpinning the MTFP and these include the following variables: 

16.3.1 corporate priorities 

16.3.2 levels of Council Tax 

16.3.3 likely impact on inflation in the current and future economic climate 

16.3.4 future Spending Reviews and funding allocations to councils  

16.4 The Medium Term Financial Plan considers the following key underlying principles; 

Page 397



 

258 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

16.4.1 spending is aligned to the priority objectives set out in the Council Plan and 
each Service Business Plan 

16.4.2 emerging pressures are managed within existing approved resources in the 
first instance 

16.4.3 future liabilities are anticipated 

16.4.4 savings proposals are supported by project plans and the impact on service 
delivery is clear 

16.4.5 funding forecasts are prudent  

16.4.6 exit plans are formulated for specific grant funded areas to ensure that funding 
withdrawal does not lead to revenue budget pressures 

16.4.7 capital and revenue planning is integrated to ensure implications are fully 
anticipated 

16.4.8 earmarked reserves are sufficient to address risks identified in future years 

16.5 The CFO will set an annual timetable to enable the development of the MTFP, 
Revenue Budget and Capital Programme for the consideration of Cabinet and 
approval by the full Council.   

16.6 The integrated process of business planning and the development of budget 
proposals shall be prepared by Chief Officers in the form required by the CFO, in 
accordance within the agreed timetable, so information can be examined and 
challenged before submission to the Cabinet.  

16.7 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring; 

16.7.1 the completion of integrated business and financial plans  

16.7.2 the development of sufficient budget proposals as instructed by the CFO, to 
ensure the Council can set a balanced Budget 

16.7.3 that all budget proposals are lawful and that the necessary consultation has 
taken place, subject to approval with the relevant Portfolio Holder  

16.7.4 that all existing services and all new budget proposals demonstrate value for 
money 

16.7.5 external funding opportunities are fully explored  

16.7.6 the availability of an annually updated list of fees and charges 

16.8 The MTFP will cover the annual budget year, plus at least three future years.  These 
documents will be developed and approved in accordance with the Budget and Policy 
Framework set out at Part 4 (c) of the constitution. 

17 Medium Term Capital Strategy  

Page 398



 

259 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

17.1 Investment in capital assets shapes future service delivery and creates future 
financial commitments. The Medium Term Capital Programme is laid out within the 
Council’s Capital Strategy and is at least a four-year programme of estimated capital 
expenditure and associated funding. 

17.2 The Cabinet will receive proposals for inclusion in the Council’s Capital Programme 
and will submit a proposed programme (including block provisions where 
appropriate) to the full Council for approval. The programme will include all capital 
schemes including those proposed to be financed from revenue resources or 
external funding sources. 

17.3 In year, the CFO may approve new schemes estimated to cost less than £100,000, 
and the Cabinet may approve new schemes estimated to cost less than £500,000, 
which have not previously been included in the Capital Programme. New schemes 
estimated to cost more than £500,000 must be approved by full Council. 

17.4 Before a scheme in the Medium Term Capital Programme receives final approval 
from the Cabinet to proceed, Chief Officers must put forward to Cabinet their 
recommendation based on a Capital Programme Board project appraisal covering 
the following elements as a minimum requirement: 

16.13.1 Description 

16.13.2 Justification 

16.13.3 Deliverable outcomes 

16.13.4 Feasibility study/options appraisal 

16.13.5 Financial analysis including revenue implications and appropriate 
measures of investment appraisal 

16.13.6 Budget including life cycle cost 

16.13.7 Project plan 

16.13.8 Risk evaluation 

16.13.9 Source of funding 

17.5 Capital Programme Board approval must include sign off by the CFO, the Chief 
Officer for Capital and Proper, or delegated officers as directed. 

17.6 Any officer proposing to award or vary a contract for works, goods or services in 
connection with a scheme must refer to the Contract Procedure Rules. 

18 Forecasting and Monitoring 

18.1 Revenue 

18.1.1 The financial management and budgetary control of each Service budget is 
the overall responsibility of the appropriate Chief Officer.  

Page 399



 

260 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

18.1.2 Each Chief Officer must ensure that there is a designated Budget Manager 
who is accountable to the Assistant Director for the detailed management and 
financial monitoring of all budgets. The CFO should be notified of any changes 
to Budget Managers, so that all budgets continue to have a named manager 
at all times.  

18.1.3 Chief Officers need to ensure that expenditure is contained within approved 
budget allocations, there is a robust control environment and that accurate 
financial forecasting is completed on a monthly basis within the Council’s 
financial system. 

18.1.4 The CFO will take budget monitoring reports to Cabinet and the relevant 
Scrutiny Committee on a regular basis.  These reports will contain updates on 
both revenue and capital budgets as well as any management actions being 
taken where variances have been identified from these reports. 

18.2 Capital 

18.2.1 The financial management and budgetary control of each Capital Scheme is 
the overall responsibility of the appropriate Chief Officer.  

18.2.2 Each Chief Officer must ensure that there is a designated Budget Manager 
who is accountable to their Assistant Director for the detailed management 
and financial monitoring of all Capital Schemes. The CFO should be notified 
of any changes to Budget Managers, so that all capital budgets continue to 
have a named manager at all times.  

18.2.3 Budget Managers must submit regular monitoring returns in line with their 
Budget Management responsibilities and make the CFO aware of slippage in 
scheme costs between financial years at the earliest point possible, in order 
to support the Council’s Treasury Management. 

18.2.4 There is no authority for any officer to overspend their allocated budget and if 
there are variations in contract costs when compared with the provision in the 
Medium Term Capital Programme, the relevant Officer must alert the CFO.  

18.2.5 Chief Officers must seek cabinet approval, following consultation with the 
CFO, for any proposed amendment to an approved capital scheme. 

18.2.6 The CFO will report to the Cabinet on the monitoring of the Council’s approved 
Capital schemes, including projected expenditure and income. 

18.2.7 Officers must ensure that no contracts or commitments are entered into 
without project approval or scheme of delegation’s authority provided. 

18.2.8 Where the replacement of capital assets is financed by insurance monies, 
Chief Officers may authorise additional capital expenditure subject to 
subsequent report to the Cabinet and amendment to the Medium Term Capital 
Programme. 

19 Virements (Revenue & Capital) 

Page 400



 

261 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

19.1 A virement is the balanced transfer of spending power [or budget] from one place to 
another, i.e. the overall budget does not change. Virements should support the Council’s 
policies and not result in enhanced service levels or budget commitments beyond the base 
budget.  A virement should not be used for cosmetic purposes within the same budget code. 
Virements can be revenue or capital in nature. 

19.2 Virements will only apply to a current year’s revenue or capital budget, and should 
not involve: 

a. a new policy or policy change 

b. an increasing commitment in future years that cannot be contained 
within existing approved budget allocations. 

19.3 Virements will not be permitted from: 

a. Capital to revenue, capital charges and financing costs 

b. Interest earnings and income generated from investments 

c. Government grants and grant related expenditure to other payments 

d. Inter-authority payments 

e. Ring fenced grants 

19.4 Transfers from a capital project should not materially limit the approach or scope of 
the capital project, but should arise from cost reductions in progressing the scheme e.g. 
arising through the tendering process, also a capital virement may only apply to a scheme 
which has been admitted to the approved capital programme. 

19.5 Where it is intended that the virement will affect future years then this must be built 
into the base budget through the Medium Term Financial Planning process. 

19.6 Virements up to £100,000 cumulative require CFO approval.   

19.7 Virements between £100,000 to £500,000 require agreement with the CFO in 
consultation with the relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder. 

19.8 Virements in excess of £500,000 require Cabinet approval. 

20 Carry Forward of Budget between Financial Years 

20.1 Revenue budget not utilised by the end of the financial year will not normally be 
transferred to the following year, except in exceptional circumstances approved by the CFO.  

21 Maintenance of Reserves 

21.1 The Council must determine the level of general reserves it wishes to maintain when 
setting the Budget. Reserves must be sufficient to meet unexpected events and 
protect the Council from over spends should they occur. Earmarked reserves may 
also be established for specific purposes. 

Page 401



 

262 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

21.2 The CFO will advise the Council on the levels of reserves that it is prudent to 
maintain, and will account for the Council’s reserves in accordance with the Reserves 
Policy and relevant Codes of Practice, ensuring the purpose and usage of reserves 
is clearly identified. 

22 Closure of Accounts 

22.1 The CFO is responsible for the timely production and publication of the Council’s final 
accounts in accordance with the relevant accounting policies, standards and statute. 

22.2 The CFO shall produce and circulate to all relevant officers of the Council a set of 
guidance notes for the production of final accounts. These notes shall detail the 
timetable for the final accounts production, the information and action required from 
Services and any other details necessary to ensure that the responsibilities under 
this paragraph are properly discharged.  Chief Officers must comply with accounting 
guidance provided, and supply information when required. 

22.3 The CFO is responsible for establishing a good professional working relationships 
with the Council’s external auditors and must satisfy any reasonable requests for 
information with regard to the Councils financial affairs.  

22.4 The Local Audit and Accountability Act grants the Council’s external auditors the right 
to inspect any document that they deem necessary for the purpose of performing 
their duties. 

22.5 The CFO shall present the Statement of Accounts for the year to the Council’s 
external auditor and Audit and Governance Committee within the agreed timescales. 

22.6 The CFO and the Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee are responsible for 
signing the annual accounts to confirm that they present a true and fair view of the 
Council’s financial position. 

22.7 The CFO will hold copies of the Council’s audited Statement of Accounts, including 
the external auditors signed certificate and opinion. 

23 Banking 

23.1 The CFO will be responsible for the opening of all bank accounts in the name of, and 
on behalf of, the Council.  No employee of the Council shall open any bank (or 
equivalent) account on the Council’s behalf or in its name without the express 
agreement of the CFO. 

23.2 The CFO will ensure that sound, adequate arrangements are in place for the safe 
and efficient operation of all its bank accounts, and will effect, or cause to be effected, 
proper and timely reconciliations. 

23.3 All investments of money under its control shall be made in the name of the Authority 
unless otherwise approved by the CFO. 

23.4 All securities, being the property of, or in the name, of the Authority, or its nominees, 
and the title deeds of all property in its ownership, shall be held in the custody of the 
CFO or under arrangements agreed by them. 

Page 402



 

263 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

23.5 All borrowings shall be effected in the name of the Authority. 

24 Financial Accounting and Systems 

24.1 The Council’s financial accounting systems is required to provide data that is 
accurate and adequate for the published final accounts and for the provision of 
management information for the Council to conduct its business affairs in an efficient 
and effective manner; as such all officers are responsible for ensuring that financial 
information is accurate, consistent and delivered in a timely manner. 

24.2 The CFO is responsible for keeping the principal accounting records for all services 
of the Council. 

24.3 The CFO will; 

24.3.1 determine accounting policies, systems and procedures and the form of 
financial records and statements in accordance with statute and best practice, 
informed by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs); and 
International Accounting Standards (IAS) 

24.3.2 provide guidance and advice on all accounting matters 

24.3.3 monitor accounting performance to ensure an adequate standard for all 
services 

24.3.4 certify all financial returns, grant funding applications and claims and other 
periodic financial reports required of the Council 

24.3.5 be required to approve the development, acquisition and implementation of all 
financial IT systems 

24.4 Each Chief Officer is required to; 

24.4.1 implement accounting procedures and adopt the form of financial records and 
statements as determined by the Chief Financial Officer  

24.4.2 obtain the approval of the Chief Financial Officer prior to introducing or 
changing the form or method of existing accounting systems and procedures, 
financial records or statements.  

24.4.3 complete and pass to the Chief Financial Officer financial returns and other 
financial reports requiring certification in good time 

24.4.4 keep a proper segregation of duties for staff with financial responsibilities. 

24.4.5 ensuring that their staff receive relevant financial training and guidance that 
has been approved by the CFO. 

24.4.6 ensuring that systems which provide a feed into financial systems and 
reporting are maintained on an accurate and timely basis. 

Page 403



 

264 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

24.4.7 ensuring a complete management/audit trail is maintained, to ensure financial 
transactions can be traced from the accounting records to the original 
document, and vice versa. 

25 Procurement Arrangements 

25.1 All Council procurement activity and contract/supplier management must adhere to 
the Contract Procedure Rules set out in Part 9.6 of the Constitution and any 
associated guidance to officers which set out the rules and procurement thresholds 
for buying, renting, and leasing of goods, services and works for the Council. 

26 Orders for Goods and Services 

26.1 Each Chief Officer shall be responsible for all orders issued from their Service for 
goods or for services rendered. Official orders must be issued for all work, goods or 
services to be supplied to the Council, except periodical payments, petty cash 
purchases, acceptable purchases under the Corporate Credit Card (GPC) policy or 
such other exceptions as may be approved.  Before orders are made the authorised 
officer must ensure: 

26.1.1 that there is adequate budget provision before committing expenditure; 

26.1.2 any necessary Chief Officer or Cabinet approvals have been obtained as set 
out in the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules or these financial procedure 
rules 

26.2 If goods are to be ordered on behalf of another Service then a written requisition must 
be received from the Chief Officer of that Directorate, authorised by them or one of 
their nominated officers. 

26.3 Official orders shall be in a form approved by the CFO and are to be approved only 
by nominated officers authorised by the Chief Officer. 

26.4 Each order shall conform to the policies of the Council with respect to procurement 
and any standardisation of supplies and materials. 

27 Payment of Account 

27.1 The Chief Officers are responsible to ensure that all payments made by the Council 
are: 

27.1.1 lawful; 

27.1.2 properly authorised by an appropriate officer 

27.1.3 within the amount provided in the Council’s budget 

27.2 All invoices shall be retained for at least 6 years. In the case of invoices relating to 
grant claims these must be kept until after the grant claim has been audited even if 
this exceeds 6 years.  

Page 404



 

265 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

27.3 Each designated Officer shall as soon as possible after 31st March in each year 
notify the CFO of all outstanding expenditure relating to the previous financial year 
which has not been accrued for within the financial ledger. 

27.4 Where grants can be claimed on expenditure incurred, Chief Officers must be aware 
of the appropriate grant conditions and ensure that payments meet these conditions 
with regard to types of expenditure, payment date, etc.  

27.5 The CFO is responsible for approving and reviewing the allocation of individual 
employee’s financial limits for GPC usage, Accounts Payable and Accounts 
Receivable transactions.   

27.6 Each Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring that the list of GPC holders and 
purchase approvers is updated in a timely manner and that all users and approvers 
are aware of the GPC User Guide, which sets out the rules of usage. The GPC 
holders, their individual approval limits and the GPC approvers should be subject to 
an annual review by each Chief Officer and the CFO.   

27.7 The Accounts Payable and Receivable transactional approval limits are administered 
by the Council’s financial system (ERP Gold) which assigns a financial approval limit 
to an individual employee based on the seniority of their job role.   

27.8 Any change to these limits requires the agreement of the Chief Officer and CFO. 

27.9 The table below sets out the Council’s Accounts Payable and Receivable approval 
limits. These are distinct from the limits of financial delegation set out in Part 9 of the 
constitution and the key decision threshold set out in Part 5 of the constitution. 

Transaction 
Type 

Budget 
Support 
TIER4 

Budget 
Manager 

(Proj 
Mger for 
Capital) 
TIER4 

Head 
of 

Service 

TIER3 

Assistant 
Director 
TIER2 

Corporate 
Director 
TIER1 

Chief 
Executive 

TIER0 

Section 
151 

Officer 
 

Official order 
for 
procurement 
of goods, 
services, 
grants, 
benefits 

Up to 
£5k 

Up to 
£200k 

Up to 
£500k 

Up to 
£1m 

Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited  

Sales order 
invoices 

Up to 
£5k 

Up to 
£200k 

Up to 
£500k 

Up to 
£1m 

Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited  

Credit Note 
Approval 

Up to 
£5k 

Up to 
£200k 

Up to 
£500k 

Up to 
£1m 

Unlimited Unlimited Unlimited  

Write Off 
Authority - 
Non Adult 
Social Care 
Debt 

n/a Up to £2k Up to 
£5k 

Up to £5k   Up to £5k  Up to £5k Up to 
£25k 

Page 405



 

266 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Write Off 
Authority - 
Adult Social 
Care Debt 
Only 

n/a Up to £2k Up to 
£2k 

Up to £2k Up to £5k Up to £5k Up to 
£25k 

27.10 Where operational approval to manage the establishment and associated 
reimbursement of staff travel and subsistence is required at a potentially lower level 
than a Budget Manager, this will be approved using the HR position approval 
hierarchy within ERP Gold.  

27.11 All approvers are responsible to ensure they have undertaken the necessary financial 
due diligence required, before approving any transactions with a financial 
consideration. 

28 Payments to Employees and councillors 

28.1 All staff must be appointed in accordance with the Council’s recruitment policies. 

28.2 The CFO is responsible for the arrangements for salary and pension payments to all 
current, former staff and for payment of allowances to councillors.  The key areas of 
responsibility are: 

28.2.1 arranging and controlling the secure and reliable payment of salaries, 
compensation, other emoluments and allowances to existing and former 
employees.  

28.2.2 recording and making arrangements for the accurate and timely payment of 
tax, pension contributions and other deductions. 

28.2.3 ensuring there are adequate arrangements for administering pensions 
matters on a day-to-day basis. 

28.2.4 advising Chief Officers, in the light of guidance issued by appropriate bodies 
and relevant legislation, on all taxation issues that affect the Council. 

28.3 Chief Officers are responsible for: 

28.3.1 ensuring appointments are made in accordance with the Council’s 
Recruitment and Selection Policy 

28.3.2 notifying the CFO of all appointments, terminations or variations which may 
affect the pay or pension of an employee or former employee, in the form and 
to the timescale required by the CFO 

28.3.3 ensuring that adequate and effective systems and procedures are operated 
to ensure that payments to staff are made accurately, timely and to bona fide 
employees 

28.3.4 ensuring that payroll transactions are processed only through the payroll 
system.  Chief Officers should give careful consideration to the employment 

Page 406



 

267 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

status of individuals employed on a self-employed consultant or subcontract 
basis. 

29 Income 

29.1 All budget managers are responsible for raising and collecting income in a timely and 
accurate manner. 

29.2 Wherever possible services should be billed and paid for in advance and no service 
delivered until payment has been received. 

29.3 There are two types of income, income and un-invoiced income, the requirements of 
these income streams are set out below: 

30 Cash/Uninvoiced income 

30.1 Where monies are received for a service at the point of delivery this income should 
be treated as un-invoiced income. 

30.2 A record should be maintained of all individual payments, including the amount, time 
and date of the receipt. This should be compared to the income held, with appropriate 
segregation of duties, to ensure all income is banked and verified. Verification of 
records should be by an appropriate second officer. 

30.3 Cash handling should be kept to a minimum. Officers should only collect income as 
cash when other payment routes are not available, and must put in place additional controls 
if any income is to be collected as cash, to ensure that; 

30.3.1 officers are appropriately trained in income collection, accounting and cash 
handling arrangements 

30.3.2 sufficient separation of duties is in place, in particular between billing income, 
processing payments and banking payments 

30.3.3 official receipts are available on request for payments made in person 

30.3.4 proper records are kept 

30.3.5 all money received is banked as soon as practicable. All insurance limits on 
safes shall be adhered to and all cash/cheques shall be banked no later than 
one week after receipt 

30.3.6 VAT is properly accounted for  

30.3.7 where it is necessary for cash to be held prior to it being paid into the Council’s 
bank account, it should be recorded and kept in an appropriate secure 
environment 

30.3.8 security of staff shall be maintained when cash collections are involved 

30.4 Personal cheques must not be cashed out of money held on behalf of the Council. 

31 Invoiced Income 

Page 407



 

268 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

31.1 Invoiced income falls into two categories, payments in advance and payments in 
arrears. Wherever possible, users of services should be billed in advance of the 
provision of the service.  

31.2 For all billed income it is the responsibility of the Budget Manager to ensure that any 
debts raised are accurate, appropriate and due to the authority.   

31.3 Chief Officers have responsibility for ensuring their Service has suitable controls in 
place with regards to its income generation, and their officers are compliant with 
these rules. 

32 Bad Debts/ Write- Offs/ Loss of Income 

32.1 The Authority has a duty to maximise revenue collection. However, circumstances 
may arise in which amounts due must, for all practical purposes, be deemed 
uncollectable.  

32.2 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that, in such circumstances, a 
decision to write-off an amount must be taken with the authority of the CFO, whether 
exercised personally or properly delegated by them to a member of their staff. The 
amounts involved, and approval granted, should be recorded in the accounting 
records. 

32.3 No such provisions apply where debts are “cancelled” i.e. because they were 
incorrectly raised (e.g. wrong amount, wrong debtor) or “waived” i.e. because an 
authorised policy decision was taken not to charge or to reduce the charge of an 
amount otherwise properly payable by a debtor. 

32.4 The Cabinet is responsible for approving write-offs over £25,000. The delegated 
write-off limits to officers is set out in the table within paragraph 27 of these rules. 

33 Taxation 

33.1 The CFO is responsible for maintaining the Council’s Tax records, ensuring all tax 
payments are made, the receipt of all tax credits and the submission of tax returns 
by their due date as appropriate. 

33.2 The CFO, or their delegated representative will issue mandatory guidance on Value 
Added Tax (VAT) matters. 

34 Treasury Management: 

34.1 The Council has adopted CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 
Local Authorities. 

34.2 The CFO is responsible for making all decisions on borrowing, investment or 
financing (including finance leasing) in accordance with the approved Treasury 
Management Strategy and CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 
Local Authorities 

34.3 The Council will approve the Treasury Management Policy Statement which sets out 
the matters detailed in CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in Local 

Page 408



 

269 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Authorities.  The Policy Statement is proposed annually.  The CFO has delegated 
responsibility for implementing and monitoring the statement. 

34.4 This policy will be reviewed whenever legislative, regulatory or best practice changes 
materially affect the effectiveness of the current policy. The Council will approve on 
an annual basis an Annual Treasury Management Strategy, which includes a 
statement on Prudential Indicators, the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy and 
Investment Strategy. 

34.5 The CFO is responsible for reporting to the Cabinet a proposed treasury 
management strategy for the coming financial year at or before the start of each 
financial year and will report to the Cabinet at least quarterly on the activities of 
treasury management and the exercise of their delegated powers. One such report 
will comprise an annual report on treasury management for presentation by 30 
September of the succeeding financial year. 

34.6 All money in the hands of the authority is controlled by the CFO as the officer 
designated for the purposes of Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. They 
are responsible for authorising and operating the Council’s banking arrangements 
including determining arrangements for the signing and security of cheques. All Chief 
Officers will comply with the detailed rules set for the banking of income and 
operation of bank accounts. 

35 Internal Audit 

35.1 The Council is required to maintain an adequate and effective Internal Audit Service 
in accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and in line with the 
CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government and Professional 
Auditing Standards.  Consequently, it is the responsibility of Internal Audit to review, 
arrange and report upon: 

35.1.1 whether operations are being carried out as planned and objectives and goals 
are being met.  

35.1.2 the adequacy of systems established to ensure compliance with policies, 
plans, procedures, laws and regulations, i.e. rules established by the 
management of the organisation, or externally 

35.1.3 the completeness, reliability and integrity of information, both financial and 
operational 

35.1.4 the extent to which the Council’s assets, data and interests are properly 
accounted for and safeguarded from losses of all kinds, including fraud and 
corruption, waste, extravagance, abuse, ineffective management and poor 
value for money 

35.1.5 the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which resources are employed 

35.1.6 the effectiveness of its system of internal control, and prepare an Annual 
Governance Statement 

Page 409



 

270 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

35.2 Internal Audit has an unrestricted range of coverage of the Council’s operations and, 
therefore, has authority to: 

35.2.1 enter council premises or land at any time, subject to any statutory or 
contractual restrictions that may apply, e.g. health and safety 

35.2.2 access all records, documents, correspondence, information and data relating 
to all areas of the Council regardless of how the information is held and to 
remove any such records as is necessary for the purposes of their work 
(including that of the Council’s agents and contractors) 

35.2.3 require and receive such explanations as are necessary concerning any 
matter under examination 

35.2.4 require any employee or agent of the Council to produce cash, stores or any 
other Council property under their control 

35.3 This access also applies to: 

35.3.1 organisations which are wholly or partly owned by the Council 

35.3.2 organisations to whom the Council has given grants; 

35.3.3 organisations with whom the Council contracts and 

35.3.4 partner organisations in any scheme for which the Council has responsibility 
as lead body. 

35.4 Internal Audit has direct access and the right of report to the Chief Executive, Chief 
Officers, Heads of Service, the Monitoring Officer, the Council’s External Auditors, 
the Cabinet, the Leader, the Cabinet member with responsibility for Audit and the 
Chair of the Audit Committee. 

36 Annual Governance Statement 

36.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 established requirements related to the 
systems of internal control and the review and reporting of those systems. CIPFA 
has issued guidance to assist authorities to establish proper practices and 
procedures to satisfy these requirements. 

36.2 The council’s objectives, its internal organisation and the environment in which it 
operates are continually evolving and, as a result, the risks faced are continually 
changing. A sound system of internal control, therefore, depends on a thorough and 
regular evaluation of the nature and extent of the risks to which the council is 
exposed. 

36.3 The CFO is responsible for ensuring that the financial management of the council is 
adequate and effective and that the council has a sound system of internal control 
which facilitates the effective exercise of the council’s functions and which includes 
arrangements for the management of risk. 

Page 410



 

271 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

36.4 The CFO will conduct a review, at least annually, of the effectiveness of the Council’s 
system of internal control and include a statement that outlines the outcome of that 
review within the Annual Governance Statement. 

36.5 The Council’s Annual Governance Statement will be signed by the Chief Executive 
and the Executive Leader.  The Audit Committee shall oversee its production and 
recommend its adoption as part of the Annual Accounts. 

37 Risk Management  

37.1 The CFO is responsible for the development, monitoring and review of the Council’s 
risk management policy, which will be approved by Cabinet, and is the Council’s 
principal risk management adviser and co-ordinator.  

37.2 Each Chief Officer is responsible for identifying, assessing, controlling and recording 
risks on a quarterly basis within their Service. 

37.3 The Head of Internal Audit, working with each Chief Officer, will review Service risks 
on an annual basis. 

38 Preventing Fraud and Corruption 

38.1 All Council officers, councillors, agents, contractors and strategic partners have 
responsibilities to protect the funds they administer on behalf of the Council. Council 
resources must be administered to the benefit of the taxpayer and not for the 
inappropriate personal benefit of any of the above. 

38.2 The CFO will be consulted by the chief internal auditor on the development and 
review of any Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy. 

38.3 Officers, councillors, agents or contractors of the Council have a responsibility to 
bring any suspected fraud, corruption or to the attention of the chief internal auditor, 
the CFO or any Chief Officer as set out in any Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy which 
the Council has in place. 

38.4 Chief Officers will notify the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer, and the CFO of 
any suspected fraud, theft, irregularity, improper use or misappropriation of council 
property or resources.  Any suspected fraud, bribery, corruption or loss will be 
investigated in accordance with the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption Policy. 

39 Insurance 

39.1 The Council arranges and manages insurance cover for specific risks and 
determines what is the most appropriate package of internal (self-funded) and 
external insurance. This statement must be qualified by noting that School Governing 
Bodies are able to exercise choice over how they purchase insurance (subject to 
meeting minimum standards and limits of indemnity laid down by the Council) and 
are not bound to remain within the centrally arranged insurance policies or self-
funded provisions if they wish to effect separate arrangements. The Council’s rights 
and interests must be named on all insurance policies held, irrespective of who has 
made the original arrangements. 

Page 411



 

272 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

39.2 The Council purchases insurance for the following classes of insurable risk; 

39.2.1 fire and associated risks for all buildings which the Council owns, or for which 
it has accepted legal responsibility by way of a lease or licence 

39.2.2 all public and employers' liabilities, including libel and slander, professional 
indemnity, officials' indemnity and land charges 

39.2.3 personal accident cover for risk of assault on employees of the Council and 
for injury to Council Members and authorised volunteers 

39.2.4 motor vehicles – comprehensive cover on all Council vehicles, together with 
contingent liability cover for use of privately owned vehicles used on official 
business 

39.2.5 pecuniary loss (money, fidelity guarantee and cheques indemnity) 

39.2.6 costs of reinstatement and recovery of ICT infrastructure and systems 

39.3 Under the direction of the Chief Financial Officer, the Insurance Section is 
responsible for preparing specifications, obtaining quotations, procuring cover, 
negotiating claims and maintaining the necessary records in line with the insurance 
strategy and for ensuring that the contracting process is conducted in accordance 
with the prescribed requirements.  A register of all insurance policies held and a full 
record of what property and risks are covered is held within the insurance service. 

39.4 Chief Officers must ensure that prompt notification is provided to the Insurance 
Manager of all new risks, property, vehicles and other assets or contractual 
obligations which require to be insured and alterations that may affect existing 
insured risks (including closure of buildings, sale of vehicles or disposals of other 
insured assets).  

39.5 Chief Officers are responsible for reporting any event, loss, liability or damage that 
may result in an insurance claim and give full and timely assistance with the conduct 
of any investigation that may follow.  

39.6 Advice must be sought immediately from Insurance Team if there is a suspicion that 
a civil legal action is in prospect.  Civil procedure rules and protocols must be strictly 
adhered to in order to avoid cost penalties or unnecessary litigation expenses. 
Employees and other persons must not attempt to negotiate a settlement, give 
interviews, make statements or offer to pay compensation in any way that may 
prejudice any subsequent civil legal action that may be brought against the Council. 

40 Asset Management 

40.1 The responsible Chief Officer will produce a five-year Corporate Asset Management 
Plan for the purpose of the overall strategic management of the Council’s assets. 
This will be updated on an annual basis. 

40.2 The responsible Chief Officer will ensure that procedures are put in place for the 
safeguarding and security of the Council’s assets, including the keeping of asset 

Page 412



 

273 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

registers; a terrier of land and property; inventories of furniture, fittings and 
equipment; and stores records. 

40.3 Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring the proper use and safeguarding of assets 
owned by the Council or for which the Council has responsibility. This requirement 
applies to all assets, including stocks, stores, furniture, equipment, vehicles, cash, 
land and buildings, software and information that are owned by, or are in the 
possession of the Council and for which the Council is responsible. 

40.4 The responsible Chief Officer will ensure that detailed arrangements are put in place 
for the disposal of assets. All sales or purchases of land and buildings will be 
undertaken in accordance with the scheme of delegation.  

40.5 Valuation of Assets will be in line with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom.  Sale of Assets will be at market value unless 
special circumstances have been agreed. 

40.6 The relevant Chief Officer must consult with the CFO before the purchase of land 
and buildings, which is then subject to relevant member approval. 

40.7 Officers with access to the Councils Assets will undertake the following: 

40.7.1 ensure no assets are subject to personal use without proper authority 

40.7.2 ensure cash holdings or valuable items on premises is kept to a minimum and 
held securely 

40.7.3 where safes or similar are in place keys should be kept on the responsible 
person and any loss reported as soon as possible 

41 Disposal of Land, Property and Surplus Assets 

41.1 All land and property except for former Council houses sold to tenants, or other 
property likely to exceed £5,000 in value, which have been declared surplus to 
requirements must be sold either by auction with a reserve price, or by competitive 
tender, unless the Council specifically determines otherwise. 

41.2 Before inviting tenders or instructing an auctioneer for the sale of land or property, a 
valuation shall be obtained from the Estates function or an independent qualified 
Valuer, and in the case of a sale by auction, this valuation shall be the reserve price. 

41.3 Competitive tender shall normally dispose of all other surplus assets unless the CFO 
determines otherwise in a particular case. 

42 External Arrangements 

42.1 Local authorities provide an important leadership role for the community and bring 
together the contributions of the various stakeholders. They must also act to promote 
and improve the economic, social and environmental wellbeing of their respective 
areas. 

Page 413



 

274 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

42.2 The Cabinet is the focus for forming partnerships with other local public, private, 
voluntary and community sector organisations to address local needs. 

42.3 Cabinet functions including those related to partnerships can be delegated to officers. 
These are set out in the scheme of delegation that forms part of the Constitution. 
Where functions are delegated, the Cabinet remains accountable for them to full 
council.  

43 Work for Third Parties 

43.1 The CFO or their nominee must be advised of all work for third parties opportunities 
available to the Council and of the lead officer in each circumstance. 

43.2 The lead officer must provide such information as requested by the CFO, including 
copies of proposed agreements and conditions and any financial implications 
(including match funding requirements or ongoing revenue costs). 

43.3 All work for third parties must be authorised by the CFO, or their nominee prior to 
agreement to undertake this work by the Council. Approvals for this work must be in 
accordance with the Contract Procedure Rules in Part 9.6 Constitution.   

43.4 The CFO or their nominee must be notified of the outcome of any bids to work for 
third parties at the earliest opportunity and successful bids to work for third parties 
will be reported to Cabinet as part of the normal monitoring reports. 

43.5 The CFO is responsible for ensuring that all income receivable from third parties is 
received and properly recorded in the Council’s accounts. 

43.6 The Chief Officer responsible for the lead officer must ensure that all contractual 
conditions are met. 

44 Significant Partnerships 

44.1 A significant partnership is one that is material in terms of the amount of money 
involved and/or the level or nature of service delivery concerned and/or the level of 
control exercised. 

44.2 The purpose of this protocol is to enable the council, with its Partners, to ensure that 
the partnerships it works in are appropriate and have good governance. 

44.3 This protocol identifies: 

44.3.1 how the Council defines a partnership 

44.3.2 why the Council enters and engages in partnerships 

44.3.3 definition of a partnership and what constitutes a significant partnership 

44.3.4 tools for identifying, managing and supporting partnerships arrangements 
including good governance 

Page 414



 

275 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

44.4 Where the Council is the lead authority for a partnership the Council’s Financial 
Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure Rules will apply to operation of the 
business of that partnership. 

44.5 The CFO will ensure that: 

42.5.1 the accounting arrangements for partnerships and joint ventures are 
satisfactory, that the governance and legal issues have been satisfactorily 
addressed, and that the risks have been fully appraised 

42.5.2 the Partnership Agreements contain details of how resources will be pooled 
and what controls will be operated in respect of partnership spending to avoid 
waste 

42.5.3 that the Council’s budgets contain sufficient provision for its match funding 
obligations and that all external funding due to the Council is received and 
properly recorded 

44.6 Chief Officers are responsible and accountable for the governance arrangements, 
performance and financial monitoring of each partnership and will ensure that: 

44.6.1 a record of the partnership arrangement is produced 

44.6.2 all necessary approvals have been secured before concluding any 
negotiations with external parties 

44.6.3 Any financial relationship must be documented and approved along with a risk 
assessment 

44.6.4 that conditions attached to any external funding are properly complied with, 
that such conditions have been agreed with the CFO or Cabinet as 
appropriate, and that claims are processed by the due date 

44.6.5 the CFO has access to the accounts and records, and has the right to seek 
explanations in order to monitor deployment of the Council’s funding 

44.6.6 Internal Audit has access rights to all officers, buildings, information in order 
to fulfil its role 

44.6.7 a register is maintained of all contracts entered into  

44.7 Prior to any appointments being made to any third party organisation (whether as a 
member, trustee, shareholder, director or similar position), advice should be sought 
from the Monitoring Officer and the CFO. 

45 Stores & Inventories 

45.1 Each Chief Officer or Head of Service of each department shall be responsible for 
the care and custody of stores in their department and shall have all such stores 
checked independently of the storekeeper at least on one occasion in each financial 
year. 

Page 415



 

276 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

45.2 Stores shall not be held in excess of reasonable requirements. 

45.3 Adjustments to write-off deficiencies over £1,000 in value shall be subject to the 
approval of the CFO. Cabinet will be required to write-off sums over £25,000. 

45.4 Competitive tender shall dispose of surplus or obsolete stores unless the Chief 
Executive decides otherwise in a particular case. 

45.5 Inventories of the Council’s furniture, fittings, equipment and machinery shall be kept 
and checked on at least one occasion in each financial year by the member of the 
Corporate Management Team responsible for the service concerned. (Individual 
items with a value of £1,000 or less need not be included therein). 

46 External Funding 

46.1 Before committing the Council to any externally funded projects, Chief Officers must 
consult with the CFO on the anticipated financial, risk and probity implications of the 
projects and ensure adherence to any subsequent terms laid down by the CFO. 

46.2 The Chief Officer is responsible for ensuring that all necessary approvals are 
obtained before external funding agreements are concluded, and that subsequent 
grant claims submitted to external funders are lawful, accurate, in accordance with 
the funders eligibility criteria and submitted with due regard to the Council’s 
continuing commitment to the project. 

46.3 Where the use of external funding for projects requires a financial commitment from 
the Council and budget provision is not available, or where the acceptance of 
external funding would lead to a financial commitment beyond the current year, the 
Chief Officer, in conjunction with the CFO, will provide a written report to the Cabinet 
giving a full appraisal of the financial implications for the Council of the scheme both 
in the current year and beyond.  This report should also set out the ways that the 
external funding sought supports the Council’s service priorities. 

46.4 Once agreed, written approval must be obtained from the funder which clearly shows 
the approved allocation, the purpose of the grant and the financial period to which it 
relates. 

46.5 Each Chief Officer will nominate a named responsible officer to be accountable for 
the performance and financial monitoring of each project. The named responsible 
officer will ensure that, prior to submission of a grant claim, all expenditure declared 
is eligible in accordance with the relevant funder’s criteria, including purposes and 
deadlines and there is sufficient time for the CFO to certify the grant claim.  

46.6 Where funding is used to support additional service provision or contributes to 
existing service provision then the Chief Officer responsible should have an exit 
strategy in place to deal with the expiry of the grant. 

46.7 Grant claim working papers should be maintained in a form agreed by the CFO. 

47 Organisations Partly or Wholly Owned by the Council (trusts, not-for-profit 
organisations, charities) 

Page 416



 

277 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

47.1 This requirement applies to the development and ongoing business undertakings of 
an organisation which is to be partly or wholly owned by the Council, and includes 
company structures such as a Limited Liability Partnership, Private Company limited 
by Guarantee, Community Interest Company, Not-for-profit Entity and Charity.  

47.2 When developing any organisation which is partly or wholly owned by the Council, 
the relevant Chief Officer, Monitoring Officer and the Chief Financial Officer will need 
to satisfy themselves that the constitution of the relevant body is adequate to 
safeguard the interests of the Council, and that councillors and officers are 
constrained in their decision making powers while participating in such bodies by Part 
9 of the Constitution, or any other formal delegation.  

47.3 The relevant Chief Officer must ensure a full business case is prepared in the 
development any new organisation partly or wholly owned by the Council, which must 
consider all short term and medium term financial aspects of operation.   

47.4 Before the Business Case is submitted for approval by Cabinet, the CFO must be 
satisfied that the new organisation will be affordable, offers value for money, has 
suitable tax planning arrangements, and manages risk appropriately. 

47.5 Prior to any appointments being made to any third party organisation (whether as a 
member, trustee, shareholder, director or similar position), advice should be sought 
from the Monitoring Officer and the CFO.   

47.6 Once operational, these organisations are required to follow these key financial 
principles: 

47.6.1 compliance with the Councils Constitution and Finance Procedure Rules 

47.6.2 compliance with the Council’s MTFP, Capital Strategy and Budget setting 
process as instructed by the form and timetable set out from the Council’s 
CFO 

47.6.3 the appointment of a Finance Director reporting to the Council’s CFO. 

47.6.4 an annual agreement with the Council’s CFO on any matters relating to risk 
share, earmarked reserve policy and distribution of dividends 

47.6.5 supporting the Council through its commissioning arrangements when 
necessary to identify ways to reduce costs and become more efficient 

47.6.6 to be both aware and compliant with the Council’s statutory and financial 
duties where relevant and applicable to their various service functions and 
obligations. 

47.7 Where these organisations are separate legal entities and the Council is required to 
purchase services from these entities. Transactions should therefore be undertaken 
in the same way as with an external provider. 

47.8 The contract value and ongoing services relating to these organisations will be set 
out in service level agreements. Any services to be purchased from the Council will 
be delivered in accordance with the service level agreements.  

Page 417



 

278 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

47.9 Additional services may be requested either by the Council or the organisation 
outside of these service agreements.  Additional services will require payments to be 
made between the Council and the organisation, and work should always reflect 
value for money and be approved by the Chief Officer and CFO and be approved by 
the relevant Chief Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of the Council. 

47.10 The CFO and Monitoring Officer will have unfettered access to all financial 
information requested required to fulfil their statutory obligations. 

48  Voluntary Funds and Trustees 

48.1 The CFO is responsible for trust funds and ensures that funds are only drawn down 
for the purposes intended by the Trustees and that accounts are prepared and 
audited each year. 

48.2 All trust funds, funds held for third parties and other voluntary (unofficial) funds must 
be approved by the CFO. A voluntary fund is defined as any fund, other than an 
official fund for the Council, which is controlled wholly or in part by an officer by 
reason of their employment by the Council. Such funds should be separately 
identified but held, where possible, in the name of the Council. 

49 Schools 

49.1 The Financial Procedure Rules for Schools applies to maintained schools within 
West Northamptonshire and these schools should conduct their financial affairs in 
accordance with the Financial Procedures for Schools.  

50 Business Continuity & Emergency Planning 

50.1 Chief Officers through their managers are responsible for ensuring the continuity of 
their services and providing guidance on the appropriate service priorities to aid 
planning and recovery of services, if a critical incident was to occur. 

50.2 All officers should follow the council’s requirements in relation to Emergency 
Planning which set out the minimum standards required to help deliver and maintain 
Emergency Planning and Business Continuity within the Council, with the objective 
to effectively and efficiently mitigate against, prepare for, respond to, and recover 
from any critical incident. 

50.3 Nothing in these Rules or financial procedures shall prevent expenditure being 
incurred where an emergency or disaster involving destruction of, or danger to, life 
or property occurs or is imminent.  

50.4 Where the relevant Chief Officer considers, where possible following consultation 
with the relevant Portfolio Holder, Chief Executive and the CFO, the urgency of the 
situation will not permit delay, necessary expenditure may be incurred. Action under 
this paragraph shall be reported at the next available meeting of the Chief Officers, 
Cabinet, and Audit Committee.    

Page 418



 

279 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

GLOSSARY 
This glossary explains key terms used in the Council’s Constitution but is not part of the 
Constitution.  

Adjourned  

To suspend (i.e. a meeting) with the intention to resume it later.  

Annual Governance Statement  

A public statement which reviews how well the Council has kept to its governance rules.  

Annual Statement of Accounts  

See Statement of Accounts.  

Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy  

The Council’s strategy for protecting its valuable resources which describes the 
expectations and practices to avoid their loss.  

Asset Management Strategy  

The Council’s approach to getting the best possible value and revenue from things it owns 
(assets), such as buildings, land, roads and technology.  

Approved Supplier List  

A list of suppliers which have met specific criteria to enable them to provide particular goods 
or services to the Council.  

Balance Sheet  

A statement of the Council’s assets, liabilities and capital at a particular point in time which 
details the balance of the Council’s income and expenditure over the preceding period.  

Budget  

Every year the Council puts a financial plan in place which describes how and where the 
Council will spend money to provide services and deliver the aims which it set out in its 
Corporate Plan. It also sets the level of council tax which it will charge in the next financial 
year.   The Budget sets out the money which the Council intends to spend during the year 
against the money available which has been received in council tax, income and grants.   

Cabinet  

Also known as the Executive, the Cabinet is the Council’s decision-making body responsible 
for making the majority of decisions.  The Cabinet makes decisions within a Policy 
Framework and budget set by the whole Council.  The Cabinet is made up of the Leader 
and up to nine other Members, including a Deputy Leader.  

Cabinet Member  

An elected Member appointed to the Cabinet by the Leader. Some Cabinet Members are 
assigned responsibility for a specific portfolio and are sometimes referred to as Portfolio 

Page 419



 

280 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Holders. Cabinet Members can also make decisions when powers to do so are delegated 
to them by the Cabinet or Leader.  

Capital and Investment Strategy  

The Council’s medium to long term plan for investing in its asset base.  

Capital Programme  

Part of the Medium Term Financial Plan which sets out capital projects approved by full 
Council over a medium term, multi-year period.  

Chair of the Council  

The Chair of the Council is an elected Member who chairs meetings of the Council and 
carries out a variety of civic and ceremonial duties. The Chair is elected to be the Chair by 
the other Members, usually at the Council’s Annual Meeting. The Chair cannot be a 
Cabinet Member and is assisted in their work by the Vice Chair. The term Chair or 
Chairman may be used in this constitution and relevant documents to describe the role 
referred to as Chairman in s3 Local Government Act 1972.   As such the holder may 
express a preference for how they wish to be addressed and described during their term 
of office.  

Chief Executive  

The Council’s most senior Officer who is responsible for the management and direction of 
the Council’s staff. The Chief Executive is accountable to the Executive Leader, the Cabinet 
and the Council as a whole. The Chief Executive is also generally designated as the 
Council’s Head of Paid Service - a statutory role.  The postholder has powers set out in law 
as well as the powers given to them by this Constitution.  

Chief Finance Officer  

The Chief Finance Officer (CFO) is a Statutory Officer and the powers held by the CFO are 
set out in statute.  The CFO is also referred to as the Section 151 Officer – this is because 
the role is given powers by section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.  Every Council 
must appoint a CFO. The CFO is responsible for managing the Council’s finances and 
providing expert financial advice to the Council. The CFO must be a qualified accountant 
and must ensure that the Council does not intend to spend more money than it has to carry 
out its plans (this is called a balanced budget).    

Clear Days  

Does not include the starting or finishing day. Example: for 5 clear days’ notice: do not 
include the day when notice was given. If this was on a Tuesday, time starts to run on 
Wednesday. Notice would not be completed until 12.01am the following Wednesday. 
Saturday, Sunday or bank holidays are not counted.  

Code of Conduct (Councillor Code of Conduct / Officer Code of Conduct)  

A set of rules which elected and co-opted councillors and officers must follow.  

Commercial Agreement  

Page 420



 

281 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

A type of contract for goods or services in exchange for something in return, usually money. 

Commissioning  

Within the Council, the process of buying services from outside the Council and monitoring 
and managing the purchase and carrying out of those services. 

Committee  
A Committee is a formal group of elected Members whose remit, terms of reference and 
operating rules are set out in the Council’s Constitution. There are many different 
committees. Each one makes decisions about a specific area of responsibility – for example 
planning or licensing.  

Confidential Information  

In relation to meetings and reports this is information which the Council has received from 
a Government department on terms which cannot be disclosed publicly.  

It can also be information which (i) the Council cannot disclose due to a court order or 
legislation or (ii) is not public, or (iii) is information which was given to the Council in such a 
way that made it clear it was meant to be kept confidential.  

Constitution  

This governance document, or ‘rule book’, which sets out how the Council will make 
decisions and who will make those decisions.  It also sets out how residents and others can 
participate.   

Contract  

An agreement which: may be oral, written, partly oral and partly written or implied from 
conduct between the Council and another person; gives rise to obligations which are 
enforceable or recognised by law (i.e. legally binding) and commits the Council to paying or 
doing something.  

A reference to a contract may also include a contract to which the Contract Procedure Rules 
apply and a “call off contract” means an order made or call off contract entered into under 
a Framework Agreement.  

Contractors  

See suppliers.  

Contract Management  

The process of ensuring the contract results in the benefits and outcomes envisaged and 
that the advantages secured during the tendering phase are realised and improved through 
further proactive performance management during its term.  

Contract Management System  

The IT system and associated processes used to support supplier and contract 
management, providing visibility and a single view of all Council contracts. It is also the 
Council’s contract register.  

Page 421



 

282 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Contract Procedure Rules  

The part of the Constitution that sets out the procedures to be followed when seeking to 
establish a contract with an external supplier.  

Council  

The term often used to refer to the whole organisation (i.e. councillors and officers); but see 
full Council below. West Northamptonshire Council is led by councillors who are elected by 
the public. They set the priorities and the Budget for the organisation. Staff working for the 
Council (officers) deliver the day to day operations. The word Council is used to refer both 
to the organisation as a whole and specifically to the decision-making body.  

Council Body  

May include any Committee, Board, Panel or informal working group.  

Council Tax  

The income collected from residents based on banded property values and which funds a 
significant proportion of council services.  

Councillor 

A councillor is elected and is a member of the Council. councillors stand for election normally 
every four years and are accountable to the residents of a specific area (their electoral ward) 
but are responsible for making decisions for the entire council area. councillors do not have 
to be a member of a political party, but most are. Those who are not, are known as ‘un-
grouped’ or ‘independent’ councillors.  

Councillor Call for Action  

The councillor Call for Action allows councillors to refer matters of concern within the 
community to the relevant Board or Committee. The aim is to provide councillors with 
additional powers that enable them to respond to local community concerns which have 
proved difficult to resolve.  

Debt Management Strategy  

The Council’s strategy to manage and recover the sums of money it is owed.  

Decisions  

The choices and agreements made on a particular issue. The Council’s Constitution sets 
out the rules on how formal decisions are to be taken in compliance with the law (see also 
Key Decisions). The Constitution also sets out how decisions are to be recorded and 
published.  

Development Plan  

Means the Council’s local plans and other documents that set out the policies and proposals 
for the development and use of land within the administrative area of West 
Northamptonshire Council.  

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest  

Page 422



 

283 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

A disclosable interest means something which an elected Member must declare in a 
meeting relating to their role outside the Council which could impact on their decisions for 
the Council.  A pecuniary interest is a financial interest as defined in ‘The Relevant 
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.  

Elected Member  

See Councillor.  

Executive  

See Cabinet.  

Executive Director  

The Council’s most senior officers report directly to the Chief Executive and are accountable 
to Members and the Cabinet. These posts include the statutory Director of Adult Social 
Services (DASS) and the Director of Children’s Services (DCS).  

Exempt Information  

In relation to meetings and reports this means information which can be withheld from the 
public. It must pass one of seven tests in order for it to be exempt and it must also be in the 
public interest to do so. If an item is deemed to be exempt during a public meeting, then 
members of the public and any press have to leave the meeting while exempt information 
is being discussed. We set out the rules in the Access to Information Procedure Rules at 
Part 5 Section 4 of this Constitution.  

EU Procurement Regulations  

The Agreement on Government Procurement (GPA) entered into under the auspices of the 
World Trade Organisation, the European Community Treaty (EU Treaty)* and any relevant 
regulations, directives or decisions of the European Community*; any Acts of Parliament or 
statutory instruments implementing the above for the time being in force in the United 
Kingdom; and any relevant judgments of the European Court of Justice* or UK courts.  

*These will continue to be followed at the present time even though the United Kingdom has 
left the European Union.  

External Auditors  

An independent auditor appointed to review the Council’s financial and management 
arrangements.  

Financial Year  

The financial year for the Council is not the same as the calendar year. Our financial year 
starts on 1 April and ends on 31 March.  

Financial Procedure Rules  

The rules which set out how the Council will manage its financial affairs (in Part 9 Section 7 
of this Constitution).  

Financial Scheme of Delegation  

Page 423



 

284 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

The financial limits on spend set up by service area. More details are in Part 9 Section 7.  

Follow On Decisions  

Means a decision on consequential matters following a decision to approve a Planning 
Application. These include, but are not limited to: approval or discharge of planning 
conditions, legal agreements and non-material amendments.  

Forward Plan  

A list of the ‘key decisions’ the Council will make over the next one to four months. The 
Forward Plan also includes a summary of any reports which will be presented to the Cabinet. 
You can view the Forward Plan for West Northamptonshire Council on its website.  

Framework  

A term used in different ways which refers to the way that the Council operates - for example, 
Policy Framework, commissioning framework, governance framework.  

Full Council  

The full Council is all the Members who make up West Northamptonshire Council. Full 
Council meets throughout the year with the meeting being chaired by the Chair. Full Council 
takes specific decisions, including setting the Budget. It also appoints committees to make 
decisions about specific issues such as planning and licensing.  

Function  

Within the Council, a function is a service which the Council provides or an activity which it 
undertakes; or which it is has a duty to deliver - for example housing and education.  

Head of Paid Service  

The Head of Paid Service is a Statutory Officer with overall responsibility for the employment 
of Council officers (generally the Chief Executive).  

Impracticable 

This is not practically possible to achieve, e.g. there is insufficient staffing to support the 
proposal, or the proposal would incur additional unbudgeted costs that cannot reasonably 
be justified.  

Independent Person  

The Council has to have at least one designated independent person who is not a councillor 
or a member of staff. The independent person is consulted about complaints made against 
councillors and also about the dismissal of any of the Council’s statutory officers.  

Key Decision  

Key decisions are executive decisions (not those made by committee) and are defined in 
the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) (Regulations) 2012 and are decisions which:-  

Page 424



 

285 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

• Result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or making savings which are, 
significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which 
the decision relates; or  

• Are deemed significant in terms of their effect on communities living or working within 
the area of the Council.  

The Council has decided that other significant decisions will be treated as key decisions. 
There are rules that set out how key decisions must be taken which are in Part 5. Key 
decisions are taken by the Cabinet or a Cabinet Member under delegated authority.  

Leader (of the Council)  

Members elect a person who will be the Executive Leader. Usually this is the leader of the 
largest political group on the whole Council. The Executive Leader is also the Leader of the 
Cabinet and will appoint up to nine other Members to form the Cabinet to take Executive 
decisions on behalf of the Council. The Leader can appoint up to two Deputy Leaders from 
the Members appointed to the Cabinet.  

Legal Professional Privilege  

Confidential communications between lawyers and their clients can be withheld from a court 
or from a third party using legal professional privilege.  

Legislation  

The Law which can be made by Parliament which takes the form of an Act of Parliament (a 
Statute) or Statutory Regulations or By-laws which can be made by the Council.  

Light Touch Rules  

A more relaxed set of rules for awarding contracts for certain services in relation to health 
and social care.  

Local Provider 

A provider from within the boundaries of West Northamptonshire. 

Medium Term Financial Plan  

Sets out the Council’s budget (revenue and capital) over a period of more than one year 
and is linked to the Corporate Plan and Service Plans.  

Member  

See Councillor.  

Minutes  

The formal written record of a meeting. minutes of West Northamptonshire Council meetings 
are available on the Council’s website.  

Monitoring Officer  

Page 425



 

286 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

The Monitoring Officer is a Statutory Officer responsible for the lawful and good governance 
of the Council, in particular the Constitution, decision-making and the conduct of councillors 
(including Town and Parish councillors) and officers.  

Motion  

A proposal for a discussion or debate.  

Municipal Year  

The period between annual meetings of the Council. The municipal year is not the same as 
the Council’s financial year, which starts on 1 April. The municipal year usually starts in May 
but is not a fixed date and as such the number of days in a municipal year varies slightly.  

Natural Justice  

The right of all parties in proceedings to a fair hearing before an impartial tribunal.  

Officer  

Someone employed by the Council.  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Specialist committees which support and challenge the work of the Cabinet and help hold it 
to account. Overview and Scrutiny committees are made up of Members who are not part 
of the Cabinet.  

Permission in Principle (PIP)  

Means an application by a developer to the Council to determine whether a housing 
development is acceptable in principle only and does not include technical details. A 
Permission in Principle is not a grant of planning consent.  

Planning Applications  

Means planning applications for full and outline consent as well as applications for reserved 
matters approvals and, for the avoidance of doubt, excludes Permission in Principle (PIP) 
and Related Matters.  

Planning Officer  

Means an employee of the Council tasked with processing and evaluating planning 
applications.  

Policy  

A policy sets out a strategic objective for the Council and provides a framework of principles 
and guidelines which must be followed to achieve those objectives.  

Policy Framework  

Refers to the Council’s strategies and policies as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution.  

Point of Order  

Page 426



 

287 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Where a Member considers that a breach of the Procedure Rules or legislation has occurred 
within a debate.  

Portfolio  

Within the Council, a portfolio is a specific area of responsibility - for example housing. You 
can view the portfolios and which Councillor is responsible for each area (the Portfolio 
Holders) in Part 5 of the Constitution and on the website.  

Procedure  

The means by which a strategy or policy will be implemented or a process which must be 
followed.  

Procurement  

How the Council identifies, sources, selects and manages the resources it needs to buy in 
to deliver services or meet its strategic objectives.  

Proper Officer  

A term used to refer to the Council’s lead Officer for a particular function. The list of Proper 
Officers is in Part 9 of this Constitution.  

Quorum  

The minimum number of attendees who have to be present at a meeting of the Council, a 
committee or sub-committee etc to conduct its business.  

Regulation Threshold 

The Total Value threshold at which public procurement directives must be applied.  The 
current procurement thresholds and regulations are the EU thresholds available from the 
OJEC website.   

Related matters  

Means applications for permitted development, prior approvals, advertisement consent, tree 
preservation orders, high hedges and listed building consent.  

Representations  

Members of the public can give their views on any Cabinet or Cabinet Member reports or 
on any proposed decision by informing Democratic Services by the deadline outlined on the 
meeting agenda.  

Reserves  

Sums of money set aside on the Council’s balance sheet. The Council has ‘general 
reserves’, and ‘earmarked reserves’ which are set aside for a specific purpose.  

Scheme of Delegation  

The Scheme of Delegation sets out how the Council and the Cabinet have delegated 
authority to a committee or another body, or to an individual Member or officer to exercise 
their powers or perform their functions. The officer Scheme of Delegation concerns those 

Page 427



 

288 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

powers and functions delegated to officers. The Scheme of Delegation will also specify any 
limits on the delegated authority.  

Section 151 Officer (s.151 Officer)  

See Chief Finance Officer.  

Standards Complaint  

Refers to a complaint made against an elected or co-opted councillor, or Town or Parish 
councillor, that the councillor concerned has failed to comply with the relevant Councillor 
Code of Conduct.  

Statement of Accounts  

A document required by law which sets out the Council’s financial position at 31 March each 
year and includes the Council’s income and expenditure for a given financial year.  

Statute  

An Act of Parliament – the law.  

Statutory  

Required by law. Councils have statutory duties including preventing homelessness, 
managing community safety and determining planning applications.  

Statutory Officers  

The Council is required by law to appoint officers in certain key roles. The Statutory Officers 
are the Head of Paid Service; the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer. The 
Council must also appoint other officers including a Director for Children’s Services, a 
Director for Adult Social Services, a Director of Public Health and a Scrutiny Officer.  

Sub-committee  

A group of elected Members from the committee in question convened to undertake a 
particular task or perform a particular function. The sub-committee then reports back and is 
accountable to the committee.  

Suppliers  

Also known as contractors, suppliers are those parties which enter into a contract with the 
Council to provide goods or services.  

Trading Account  

Services which are funded by generating income from internal and external sources.  

Treasury Management Strategy  

The way in which the Council manages its cash, borrowing, lending and investments, and 
associated risks.  

Virement  

The movement of money from one budget heading to another.  

Page 428



 

289 
West Northamptonshire Council Constitution – Draft for Approval on 29 September 2022  

Vires (intra vires/ultra vires)  

A Latin phrase which means ‘powers’. Within the Council, vires concerns the power or lawful 
authority to make a decision, perform a function or undertake an action. A decision made, 
function performed or action undertaken will be ‘intra vires’ if the Council has the power and 
lawful authority to do it and ‘ultra vires’ if it does not.  

Ward  

A ward is an electoral area. West Northamptonshire Council has 31 wards.  

Ward Councillor  

One of the councillors representing a specific ward.  

Page 429



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

                                   
WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL 

 
 29 September 2022 

 
Cabinet Member for HR & Corporate Services: 

 Councillor Mike Hallam 
 

Report Title  Annual Reports 2021/2022 of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees – Corporate, Place and People 

 
Report Author                       Tracy Tiff, Deputy Democratic Services Manager, 

tracy.tiff@westnorthants.gov.uk   
 

 
Contributors/Checkers/Approvers 

 Monitoring Officer 
 

Catherine Whitehead 
 

28 July 2022 

Legal Gina Clarke, Governance 
Lawyer 

27 July 2022 

Section 151 Officer  Martin Henry  27 July 2022 
 
 

List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A –  Annual Report 2021/2022 of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Appendix B  -   Annual Report 2021/2022 of People Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Appendix C  -   Annual Report 2021/2022 of Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to  present to full Council the Annual Reports of the three 

Overview and Scrutiny  Committees (Corporate, People and Place)  for 2021/2022. The 
report notes the work undertaken by the Committees over their first year. 
 

1.2 At their recent meetings,  the Overview and Scrutiny Committees approved their 
Annual Reports 2021/2022 for  submission to full Council at its meeting on 29 
September 2022.  Page 431

Agenda Item 12

mailto:tracy.tiff@westnorthants.gov.uk


 
 

 
 

2. Executive Summary 
 
2.1 The purpose of this report is for  full Council to note the Annual Reports 2021/2022 of 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committees (Corporate, People and Place). 
 

 Recommendations 
 
3.1 Full Council is recommended to:  
 

a)  Note the Annual Reports 2021/2022 of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees – 
Corporate, People and Place. 

 
3.2     Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3.2.1 To highlight and raise awareness the work carried out by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees over the year 2021/2022. 
   

 
4  Report Background 
 
4.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committees have completed their first year and the Annual 

Reports details the scrutiny activities undertaken during 2021/2022.  
 
4.2 It is good practice for an Overview and Scrutiny Committee to report to Council on the 

way in which it has carried out its duties each year to allow the wider membership to 
comment or make suggestions.  This is the first year of the three Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees. The Committees held their inaugural meetings  in June 2021, and 
the Annual Reports cover the period June 2021 to May 2022.   

 
5    Issues and Choices 
 
5.1     Full Council is asked to note the Annual Reports 2021/2022 of the Overview and Scrutiny  

Committees – Corporate, People and Place.  
 

6   Implications (including financial implications) 
 
6.1       Resources and Financial 

 
6.1.1 There are no immediate financial implications arising from the proposals.  
 
6.1.2 There are no direct manpower implications arising from this report. 
 
 
 

 Page 432



 
 

 
6.2 Legal  

 
6.2.1 It is a statutory requirement that the Council’s executive arrangements has one or more 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees (OSC) which is responsible for overseeing and 
scrutinising Council decisions, financial arrangements, performance of the Council, 
including its budget and accounting processes and matters which may affect the 
Council’s area/ inhabitants. The relevant OSC of the Council operates within the 
provisions as set out in: 

 
• the Local Government Act 2000 
• the Health and Social Care Act 2001 
• the Local Government Act 2003, the Police and Justice Act 2006 
• the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
• the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 
• the Localism Act 2011 
• the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
• the Overview and Scrutiny (Reference by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) 

(England) Order 2012 
• the Health and Social Care Act 2012 
• the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 

Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 
• Statutory guidance 

 
6.2.2 Statutory Guidance states that authorities should, take steps to ensure all members and 

officers are made aware of the role the scrutiny committee plays in the organisation, its 
value, and the outcomes it can deliver, the powers it has, its membership and, if 
appropriate, the identity of those providing officer support. The presentation of the 
Annual Reports of the OSC reports to Council supports this purpose.  

 
  
6.3          Risk  

 
6.3.1       There are none specifically.   

 
6.4          Consultation  

 
6.4.1      Corporate, People and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committees were  consulted on 

the draft Annual Reports 2021/2022 at their meetings on 21 June,  4 July and 12 
September  2022. 

 
6.4.2 All Members of West Northamptonshire Council will receive a copy of the Annual 

reports at the meeting of full Council on 29 September 2022.    
 
 
 
  Page 433



 
 
6.5          Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny 
 
6.5.1 Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered their draft Annual Reports as 

detailed at paragraph 6.4.1. 
 
6.6         Climate Impact 
 
6.6.1      There are no immediate climate change implications arising from this report. 
 
 
6.7        Community Impact 
 
6.7.1      There are no immediate climate change implications arising from this report. 

 
 
7      Background Papers 
 
Meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees – Corporate, People and 
Place June  2021 to May 2022 

Page 434



   

  
 

 
 
 

 
 

West Northamptonshire Council 
 
 

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
 

Annual Report 2021/2022 
 

Page 435



   WestWest  NorthamptonshireNorthamptonshire  CouncilCouncil  CorporateCorporate  OverviewOverview  andand  ScrutinyScrutiny  AnnualAnnual  ReportReport  2021/20222021/2022 

 
 
 

 Page 2 

A Message from Councillor Danielle Stone, Chair, Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 2021-2022 
 
This Annual Report highlights some of the work that Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee has undertaken during its 
first year and what issues the Committee will concentrate on next year.  
 
Overview and Scrutiny is a vital part of local democracy and good governance. It is really important that the work of scrutiny 
adds value and improvement and I feel that the budget scrutiny work undertaken by the Committee really demonstrated 
that.  I was pleased to attend the February 2022 meeting of Cabinet and highlight the recommendations of the Budget 
Scrutiny report. 
 
Before the Committee held its first meeting in June 2022, as part of the Council’s comprehensive Councillor induction 
programme, specific training for Overview and Scrutiny was held.  This key training delivered by the Deputy Chief 
Executive of the Centre for Public Scrutiny and Governance to make sure that all Scrutiny Councillors were furnished with 
the knowledge prior to the inaugural meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees. The Committee developed an 
interim short-term work programme ahead of the three Overview and Scrutiny Committees agreeing the Work 
Programming process for 2021-2022. We asked the citizens of West Northamptonshire to suggest topics for future Scrutiny 
reviews.  There were in excess of fifty suggestions from the public and the Committee values and encourages the input 
from the public into its work programming process.  Similarly, to Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee and People 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, this Committee held a workshop in the winter 2021 and carefully considered the 
suggestions.  These suggestions, Cabinet’s priorities for the year and ideas put forward by the Committee formed the basis 
of the Committee’s work programme 2021-2022. There has been public interest in the work of the Committee, with some 
members of the public addressing a meeting, or observing the proceedings of the meetings. I hope that this increased in 
2022-2023. 
 
The work of the Committee has been varied and in particular, I would like to thank my colleagues who sat with me on 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee during 2021/2022.   
 
This report is not a complete commentary of everything the Committee has achieved but is a summary of some key 
highlights of the work undertaken in 2021-2022.  I do hope that you enjoy reading it. 
 
 
 

 
 
Councillor Danielle Stone 
Chair, Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
  
 
 
 
 

Page 436



   WestWest  NorthamptonshireNorthamptonshire  CouncilCouncil  CorporateCorporate  OverviewOverview  andand  ScrutinyScrutiny  AnnualAnnual  ReportReport  2021/20222021/2022 

 
 
 

 Page 3 

Purpose of Overview and Scrutiny 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny function at West Northamptonshire Council helps to improve the 
quality of services provided to local residents and supports and challenges the work of the 
Council’s Cabinet.  
 
Overview and Scrutiny carries out a number of roles, including: 
 
(a) monitoring the decisions of the Cabinet 
(b) advising the Council on forthcoming decisions 
(c) contributing to the development and review of Council policy 
(d) reviewing decisions that have been taken by the Cabinet but not yet implemented that are 

‘called in’ for further consideration 
 

At West Northamptonshire Council these roles are carried out by three Overview and Scrutiny 
committees: Place, People and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committees. These Committees 
are made up of Councillors from different political groups, known as non-Executives, and who are 
not part of the Cabinet.  
 
The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny is a national organisation that promotes effective 
governance in the public, private and voluntary sectors. The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny 
states that good scrutiny involves four fundamental principles: 
 
(a) it provides constructive ‘critical friend’ challenge 
(b) it amplifies the voice and concerns of the public 
(c) it is led by independent people who take responsibility for their role 
(d) it drives improvement in public services 
 
Remit of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for scrutinising issues and services in 
the following areas:  
 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee membership 
 
The membership of the Corporate O&S Committee was made up of 17 non-Executives during 
2021/2022: 
 
Councillor Danielle Stone (Chair) 
Councillor Sam Rumens  (Vice Chair)   May 2021 – November 2021 
Councillor Andrew Grant (Vice Chair)   from November 2021 
Councillors: 
 

Page 437



   WestWest  NorthamptonshireNorthamptonshire  CouncilCouncil  CorporateCorporate  OverviewOverview  andand  ScrutinyScrutiny  AnnualAnnual  ReportReport  2021/20222021/2022 

 
 
 

 Page 4 

Aziz Rahman (Aziz) 
Sally Beardsworth             from November 2021 
Councillor Michael Brown  
Paul Clarke 
Maggie Clubley 
Terrie Eales      May 2021 -  November 2021 
Rupert Frost 
Keith Holland Delamere   from November 2021 
Mark Hughes 
David James 
Koulla Jolley 
Ian McCord      from November 2021 
Dennis Meredith    May 2021 -  November 2021 
Colin Morgan 
Ken Pritchard 
Brian Sargeant 
Walter Tarasiewicz 
 
 
How does Overview and Scrutiny make a difference? 
 
Overview and Scrutiny ensures that decision-making processes are clear and accessible to the 
public and that the people taking decisions are held accountable for those decisions. 
 
Effective Scrutiny 
 
As stated by the Centre of Governance and Scrutiny, effective scrutiny: 
 

• provides “critical friend” challenge to executive policy-makers and decision-makers  
• enables the voice and concerns of the public and its communities 
• is carried out by “independent minded governors” who lead and own the scrutiny process  
• drives improvement in public services. 

 
Terms of Reference for Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
   
The terms of reference of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
➢ Finance and resources 
➢ Corporate services 
➢ Shared services under the WNC and NNC Shared Services Joint Committee (the WNC 

Constitution assigns this focus area to the Corporate Scrutiny Committee or equivalent at each 
authority). 

➢ Corporate Strategy and priorities 
 

Page 438



   WestWest  NorthamptonshireNorthamptonshire  CouncilCouncil  CorporateCorporate  OverviewOverview  andand  ScrutinyScrutiny  AnnualAnnual  ReportReport  2021/20222021/2022 

 
 
 

 Page 5 

What has Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee achieved during 2021-2022 and how 
was this impact made during 2021-2022? 
 
The Committee held seven formal meetings during 2021/22 as well as one informal workshop style 
meeting in respect of the draft budget for the Council 2022-2023.  The Committee set up three 
Task and Finish Groups during 2021-2022 and these are scheduled to commence their work in the 
Municipal year 2022-2023.  Some key areas of work by the Committee and the outcomes resulting 
from this work are detailed below. The Committee’s work programme, meeting details and papers 
can be located on West Northamptonshire Council’s website 
 
Training 
 
As stated on page 1, early in the municipal year 2021/2022, the Committee received 
comprehensive training delivered by an expert of the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny.  The 
training was particularly valued as it focussed on work programming and the role of Overview and 
Scrutiny.  Overview and Scrutiny Chairs and Officers supporting the Scrutiny function have 
continued to ensure the knowledge base is development and examples of best practice built during 
the year, examples being attendance at the Centre for Scrutiny and Governance annual 
Conference and attendance at the East Midlands Scrutiny network meetings and various webinars 
offered by the Centre for Scrutiny and Governance.    I am pleased to report that Councillor Stone, 
Chair of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 2021-2022 will be attending the East 
Midlands Scrutiny network in the spring to talk about the budget scrutiny process that the 
Committee adopted for 2021-2022. 
 
What has Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee achieved during 2021 - 2022 
 
The following are examples of the scrutiny work which has been undertaken by Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee during 2021/2022: 
 
Contract Management and Procurement 
Social Values Act 2013 
Budget monitoring   - Revenue Monitoring Report 
School Budgets 
The Council’s Draft Budget 2022-2023 
Transformation Projects 
The work of the Association for Public Excellence (APSE)  
Convening three Task and Finish Groups - Treasury Management, Modernising Systems and  
Expenses Policy 
 
Contract Management and Procurement 
 
The Committee scrutinised contract management and procurement and the links to social value. 
The Committee was provided with key information from the Head of Procurement and constructive 

Page 439

https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s5909/Work%20Programme.pdf


   WestWest  NorthamptonshireNorthamptonshire  CouncilCouncil  CorporateCorporate  OverviewOverview  andand  ScrutinyScrutiny  AnnualAnnual  ReportReport  2021/20222021/2022 

 
 
 

 Page 6 

challenge was provided on the role of procurement.  This information formed background evidence 
gathering for the Committee’s work on Social Value. 
 
Social Value 
 
The Committee considered and provided Scrutiny input into the development of social value and 
how the Council could positively affect communities by considering socio-economic and 
environmental factors when planning and implementing decisions and processes.  The Committee 
also heard from a representative of the University of Northampton regarding the Social Value 
Framework that had been designed to support and fund the voluntary, charity and social enterprise 
sectors and extract social impact research; which was a collaborative exercise including various 
key partners such as the NHS, Police and other organisations. The County Framework is designed 
to:  Define, Sustain and Measure Socioeconomic Development within Northamptonshire. The 
Committee scrutinised the Social Value Framework and the positives of the social value approach 
was emphasised but concern was highlighted regarding businesses allocating a percentage of 
profits to the social sector and whether this may raise prices to customers, meaning that residents 
would be paying more to cover costs.  
 
Association for Public Services (APSE) 
 
The Committee received a presentation from a representative of APSE on how APSE can help 
Scrutiny Committees to review contracts, including social value. The presentation included details 
of the role of local Councils in delivering social value and community level economic outcomes, 
social value in outsourced contracts and reviewing the performance of contracts and the 
performance of services.  The Committee welcomed that West Northamptonshire Council had set 
up a Social Value Task and Finish Group made up of Officers of the Council in order that a greater 
understanding of how Social Value links into contract reviews and reviews of service. The 
Committee recommended that this Task and Finish Group should receive similar input on Social 
Value from APSE to maximise Social Value across all of the Council’s activities. 
 
School Budgets 
 
The Committee provide scrutiny input into school budgets around the four-block funding model for 
the Dedicated Schools Grant:   Schools Block, High Needs Block, Early years Block and the 
Central Schools Services Block.  The Committee welcomed this funding model, providing 
constructive challenge on the progress made on the budget, welcoming the fact that an overall 
deficit was not predicted.  The Committee requested that two Members attend all meetings of the 
schools Forum as observers on behalf of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Revenue Monitoring Report 
 
Prior to Cabinet receiving the report Q1 – Revenue Monitoring Report 2021 – 2022 the Committee 
considered and provided Scrutiny input into it. This was the Council’s first public finance document 

Page 440



   WestWest  NorthamptonshireNorthamptonshire  CouncilCouncil  CorporateCorporate  OverviewOverview  andand  ScrutinyScrutiny  AnnualAnnual  ReportReport  2021/20222021/2022 

 
 
 

 Page 7 

since West Northamptonshire Council was formed.  The Committee considered the new build 
programme as part of the Housing Revenue Account, the financial status of the predecessor 
Councils that detailed the carried forward balances and the actual expenditure and income for 
2020-21 prior to being audited.  The level of reserves for the Authority was considered along with 
the financial pressures associated with delivering services during the Covid19 pandemic. 
  
Budget Scrutiny 
 
The Committee scrutinised the Council’s draft 2022/23 budget in detail and provided scrutiny input. 
Budget Scrutiny was undertaken by the whole Committee in the form of a “Spotlight” Scrutiny 
Review.  The Committee focussed its budget Scrutiny on three key areas: 
 

• Carbon neutrality and Highways   
•   Children’s Trust  
•   Strength Based Working model and financial savings associated with it 

 
The Committee broke into three Groups, each one providing critical challenge to one of the above 
key areas. 
 
The Committee’s recommendations included that there was a need for a costed plan which clearly 
sets out how the Council can be Carbon neutral by 2030. The Committee welcomed the 
investment in highways services and the increase of 19 new FTEs.  After robust challenge to the 
Children’s Trust budget, the Committee supports the long-term view of aiming for zero based 
budgeting in future years. Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee supports the Strength 
Based working model and commends the savings detailed in the draft Budget 2022/2023.  
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee proposed a move to the Living Wage Foundation’s 
living wage of £9.90 for all staff employed by the Council from 1 April 2022 and that care staff 
should be similarly remunerated. 
As part of its budget scrutiny process, the Committee asked for and received information about 
how the budget aligns to the corporate plan. The Committee further asked for this to become the 
practice for budget setting and for Corporate Overview and  Scrutiny Committee to be involved at 
an earlier stage. The Committee agreed that the budget Scrutiny process would start in October 
2022.   
 
 The Committee’s  report was appended to the report on the budget that was considered by 
Cabinet at its meeting on 15 February 2022.  Comprehensive responses were received by the 
Committee to further queries that were raised at the meeting. 
 
Task and Finish Groups 
 
During 2021-2022 the Committee set up three Task and Finish Groups that, due to timing reasons, 
will commence their review work in the Municipal year 2022-2023: 
 

Page 441

https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s4653/Final%20Budget%202022-23%20and%20Medium%20Term%20Financial%20Plan.pdf


   WestWest  NorthamptonshireNorthamptonshire  CouncilCouncil  CorporateCorporate  OverviewOverview  andand  ScrutinyScrutiny  AnnualAnnual  ReportReport  2021/20222021/2022 

 
 
 

 Page 8 

➢ Expenses Policy 
➢ Treasury Management 
➢ Modernising Systems 

 
Critical Friend to Cabinet 
 
Cabinet Members and Senior Officers attended various meetings of Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and provided the detailed reasoning behind the various key issues.  These are 
summarised at pages 6 and 7 of this Annual Report. By doing this, it provided comprehension and 
clarity for the Committee on the issues detailed in its work programme.  
 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programme 2021/2022 
 
The Committee has addressed key issues as detailed at pages 6- 7, and other subjects that were 
considered during 2021/22. The Committee’s work programme was put together by the Committee 
which was then approved by the Co-ordinating Overview and Scrutiny Group, that comprises the 
Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the three Overview and Scrutiny committees.  As previously stated, the 
development of the Committee’s work programme was informed by a public consultation exercise 
carried out by the Overview and Scrutiny function in autumn 2021. This enabled members of the 
public and representatives from community groups to suggest issues for scrutiny review. 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered all suggestions within its remit alongside 
other potential priorities to produce its final work programme.  
 
Looking ahead 
 
The work of the three Task and Finish Groups (Expenses Policy, Treasury Management, 
Modernising Systems) will commence in the Municipal year 2022-2023.  There are a number of 
key issues contained within the work programme for example, budget monitoring and budget 
scrutiny and these will continue to be key focus areas for Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 
5 

Page 442



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

West Northamptonshire Council 
 
 

People Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

Annual Report 2021/22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 443



 

 

Introduction from the Chair 
 
I am pleased to present this Annual Report, which aims to give an overview of the work 
done by the People Overview and Scrutiny Committee during the past year, including some 
areas that will continue to be a focus into the future. 
 
West Northamptonshire Council started 2021/22 as a brand new authority and the 
Overview and Scrutiny function needed to develop from this point. This has involved getting 
used to new ways of working and building new working relationships. Councillors involved in 
Overview and Scrutiny have continued to learn as we have gone along. At the same time, 
Overview and Scrutiny has already started to make a contribution to the effectiveness of 
local services, as I hope this Annual Report helps to demonstrate.  
 
The People Overview and Scrutiny Committee has a broad remit covering some vital public 
services at a time when they are subject to significant changes and demands, including 
those resulting from the continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Committee has 
to make some difficult decisions about the topics it selects for scrutiny. The Committee’s 
work programme for 2021/22 was informed by suggestions from public consultation as well 
as engagement with relevant Cabinet Members about key priorities in their portfolio areas. 
The work programme ultimately represented the Committee’s view about how its efforts 
could be focussed to best effect.  
 
I would like to thank the members of the People Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the 
commitment and knowledge that they have shown during the year. I would also like to 
thank all those who have been involved in supporting the Committee’s work. This 
particularly includes the expert advisors who have offered their valuable input on issues 
under investigation.  
 
Overview and Scrutiny is intended to be a collaborative and constructive process that makes 
a difference to the residents of West Northamptonshire. I think that during 2021/22 the 
People Overview and Scrutiny Committee has largely found a willingness to engage with 
Overview and Scrutiny. In turn, I think that the Committee has shown the ability to provide 
constructive challenge as well as to recognise effective performance. This should provide a 
good basis for building further into the year ahead.    
 
 

 
 
Councillor Rosie Herring 
Chair, People Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Page 444



 

 

Purpose of Overview and Scrutiny 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny function at West Northamptonshire Council helps to improve the 
quality of services provided to local residents and supports and challenges the work of the 
Council’s Cabinet. Overview and Scrutiny carries out a number of roles, including: 
(a) monitoring the decisions of the Cabinet 
(b) advising the Council on forthcoming decisions 
(c) contributing to the development and review of Council policy 
(d) reviewing decisions that have been taken by the Cabinet but not yet implemented that 

are ‘called in’ for further consideration 
 
At West Northamptonshire Council these roles are carried out by three Overview and 
Scrutiny committees: the People, Place and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny committees. 
These committees are made up of councillors from different political groups and who are 
not part of the Cabinet.  
 
The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny is a national organisation that promotes effective 
governance in the public, private and voluntary sectors. The Centre for Governance and 
Scrutiny states that good scrutiny involves four fundamental principles: 
(a) it provides constructive ‘critical friend’ challenge 
(b) it amplifies the voice and concerns of the public 
(c) it is led by independent people who take responsibility for their role 
(d) it drives improvement in public services 
 
Remit of the People Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
The People Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for scrutinising issues and 
services in the following areas:  
• Adult social care, public health and wellbeing  
• Housing and communities 
• Children, families and education 
• Health services 
 
People Overview and Scrutiny Committee membership 
 
The People Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been made up of the following councillors 
during 2021/22: 
• Councillor Rosie Herring (Chair) 
• Councillor Karen Cooper (Vice-Chair) 
• Councillor Azizur Rahman 
• Councillor Harry Barrett  
• Councillor Imran Ahmed Chowdhury BEM  
• Councillor Fiona Cole (to August 2021) 
• Councillor Raymond Connolly (from September 2021)  
• Councillor Nigel Hinch  
• Councillor Greg Lunn  
• Councillor Bob Purser  

Page 445



 

 

• Councillor Wendy Randall 
•  Councillor Emma Roberts  
• Councillor Sue Sharps  
• Councillor Nick Sturges-Alex  
• Councillor Mike Warren 
 
What has the People Overview and Scrutiny Committee achieved and influenced 
 
The Committee held six formal meetings during 2021/22 as well as one informal workshop-
style meeting open to all Committee members. Two task-and-finish scrutiny panels have 
operated during the year. Some key areas of work by the Committee and the outcomes 
resulting from them are highlighted below. The Committee’s full work programme and 
agenda papers are available on the West Northamptonshire Council website at Committee 
details - People Overview and Scrutiny Committee - West Northamptonshire Council 
(moderngov.co.uk) 
 
Children and Young People’s Mental Health 
 
The Committee established a scrutiny panel to examine the services and support available in 
West Northamptonshire to support the mental health and wellbeing of children and young 
people experiencing problems that might otherwise escalate to the point where they could 
lead to self-harm. The Committee prioritised this topic as an area for in-depth scrutiny. The 
scrutiny panel has gathered information on the topic from different perspectives, including 
from young people themselves, NHS service providers, voluntary organisations and schools. 
The scrutiny panel is pursuing lines of enquiry concerning the waiting time for statutory 
services, how well services provided by different organisations link together, and the 
amount of support available in different parts of West Northamptonshire. The scrutiny 
panel is due to present its final report later in 2022.  
 
Integrated care across Northamptonshire (iCAN)  
 
The Committee scrutinised the aims and impact of the iCAN programme, which is a joint 
health and social care transformation programme intended to improve community-based 
care for older people in the county in order to provide better outcomes for them and to 
reduce reliance on acute hospital care. The full Committee considered this topic initially 
before establishing a scrutiny panel to review the outcomes being delivered at key stages in 
the programme contract. The scrutiny panel has provided constructive challenge about 
progress, informed by performance data and input from service users about how lived 
experience was informing the programme. The scrutiny panel has recognised examples of 
new ways of working making a difference. The scrutiny panel has also highlighted potential 
areas for further attention around support for residents living on the borders of the county 
who go to neighbouring areas for acute care and around the provision of 24/7 services for 
vulnerable people.   
 
 
 
 

Page 446

https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=146
https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=146
https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=146


 

 

Children’s services performance 
 
The Committee considered the delivery and continuing development of children’s services 
in West Northamptonshire twice during the year, meeting with the Chief Executive of the 
Northamptonshire Children’s Trust. This scrutiny has covered areas including the outcomes 
of recent Ofsted visits, recruitment and retention of social workers and improvements to 
practice standards. The Committee has provided constructive challenge on the progress 
being made. The Committee has also ensured that Overview and Scrutiny councillors have 
access to regular information about children’s services performance against key targets that 
is provided to the Council as the commissioning authority for the Children’s Trust. This will 
help to inform and focus future scrutiny of this area. 
 
Anti-Poverty Strategy 
 
The Committee provided Overview and Scrutiny input into the development of the Council’s 
new Anti-Poverty Strategy before it was agreed by the Cabinet. The Committee considered 
the vision and key priorities to be included in the proposed Strategy, how local community 
groups would be engaged in the development process, and how the impact of the Strategy 
would be measured in future. The Committee encouraged that the Strategy should take into 
account issues including the need to support both urban and rural areas, the impact of 
wider attitudes to poverty and the issue of in-work poverty. Overall, the Committee 
welcomed the positive approach being taken by the Council on this matter. The Committee 
also recommended that consideration should be given to carrying out an anti-poverty 
impact assessment on all new policies to be adopted by the Council in future.   
 
Integrated Care System (ICS) 
 
The Committee was advised about the aims of the ICS model and emerging organisational 
structures in Northamptonshire. The Committee provided Overview and Scrutiny input to 
Council senior leaders involved in the development process about how local partners should 
go about identifying operating future arrangements at the local authority (‘place’) and 
neighbourhood (‘sub place’) levels of the ICS. The Committee also highlighted the need for 
effective oversight of the ICS, including local involvement in its governance, and for barriers 
between separate organisations to be addressed to achieve the collaboration and 
integration proposed. The establishment of the Northamptonshire ICS in July 2022 will 
provide a significant part of the context in which the Committee scrutinises health and 
social care issues in the year ahead.  
 
Adult Social Care service delivery  
 
The Committee reviewed the outcomes being achieved by Adult Social Care services 
following the adoption of a new Target Operating Model late in 2020. The Committee 
sought reassurance about the sustainability of the TOM if service outcomes declined or 
financial pressures increased; about how it linked into services provided by the voluntary 
sector; and about how individual service users’ needs and wellbeing were monitored within 
a more flexible approach to service provision. The Committee ultimately took the view that 
the TOM did seem to put West Northamptonshire ahead of the national direction and to be 

Page 447



 

 

delivering better outcomes for service users whilst also using resources more effectively. 
Separately during the year the Committee also sought confirmation that the Council was 
making full use of funding provided to support Adult Social Care workforce recruitment and 
retention as part of the government’s COVID-19 winter plan for 2021.  The Committee was 
satisfied with the position reported to it.  
 
Housing Strategy 
 
The Committee was informed about plans for developing the Council’s future Housing 
Strategy to provide a single approach following local government reorganisation. The 
Committee considered the Council’s picture of housing needs and housing provision in the 
authority. The Committee went on to identify a range of points that could be incorporated 
into the headline themes for the proposed Strategy, including the need for housing 
development to be supported by related infrastructure and access to services. The 
Committee aims to carry out pre-decision scrutiny of the full draft Strategy in 2022/23.  
 
Northampton Partnership Homes 
 
The Committee considered an overview of the services provided by Northampton 
Partnership Homes in the former Northampton borough area, its current strategic priorities 
and challenges. The Committee sought to understand how NPH was responding to issues 
such as demand for different types of homes and the impact of financial pressures on 
tenants. The Committee generally welcomed the range of services that NPH provided 
beyond just acting as a landlord and noted examples of good practice such as partnership 
working with Adult Social Care to provide supported housing for people with specific needs. 
The Committee made representations to the relevant Council portfolio holders encouraging 
the Council and NPH to work together on issues relating to the operation of the planning 
process and traveller site provision, as well as on opportunities to bring empty homes back 
into use and to develop commercial sites for residential use.   
 
Residential and nursing care for older people 
 
The Committee scrutinised the current provision of residential and nursing care for older 
people in West Northamptonshire and planning towards meeting future needs. The 
Committee considered performance and occupancy of current care homes and sought 
reassurance about how the Council maintained oversight of service quality, worked with the 
providers concerned to support improvement, and acted to safeguard the wellbeing of 
residents where necessary. The Committee also provided Overview and Scrutiny input on 
issues relating to future service needs and the Council’s role in shaping the local care 
market. The Committee supported the Cabinet in making representations to the 
government concerning the need for adult social care to be funded at a level that reflects 
actual pressures on services. The Committee also recommended that in cases when a care 
home in West Northamptonshire was due to be closed the Council should advise the 
relevant ward councillors in advance as standard. 
 
 
 

Page 448



 

 

School Effectiveness 
 
The Committee considered local authority powers and duties relating to school 
effectiveness, the arrangements made to carry out this function in West Northamptonshire 
and the latest Ofsted outcomes for maintained and academy schools in the authority. The 
Committee heard that Ofsted outcomes for maintained schools in the authority compared 
well to national and regional averages. The position for academy schools was less good, 
although this reflected that a significant number of these schools had become academies in 
response to concerns about previous performance. The Committee noted how the Council 
sought to engage with academy schools regarding performance. It also emphasised that an 
academy trust should be challenged appropriately about the performance of a sponsored 
academy that it had been running for a reasonable time. The Committee has since made 
various efforts to secure a meeting with the Regional Schools Commissioner for West 
Northamptonshire to discuss performance in relation to academy schools.  
 
People Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programme 
 
The Committee has dealt with the topics listed above and other matters considered in 
2021/22 within an overall work programme for the year. This work programme was drawn 
up by the Committee and subject to final approval by the Co-ordinating Overview and 
Scrutiny Group, made up of the chairs and vice-chairs of the three Overview and Scrutiny 
committees. The development of the Committee’s work programme was informed by a 
public consultation exercise carried out by the Overview and Scrutiny function in autumn 
2021. This enabled members of the public and representatives from community groups to 
suggest issues that they would like to see scrutinised during 2021/22. The People Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee considered all suggestions within its remit alongside other potential 
priorities to produce its final work programme.    
 
Training for Overview and Scrutiny councillors 
 
West Northamptonshire Council provided training for councillors on effective Overview and 
Scrutiny as part of the councillor induction programme that followed the Council elections in 
May 2021. This training was led by an expert from the national Centre for Governance and 
Scrutiny. The Overview and Scrutiny function has taken further opportunities to build 
knowledge of good practice through the year, for example, through attendance at the 
Centre for Governance and Scrutiny’s national conference in December 2021.  
 
Looking Ahead 
 
The creation of an Integrated Care System in Northamptonshire will involve significant 
changes to the planning and delivery of health and social care services with the aim of 
improving health outcomes and making better use of overall resources. It is important that 
Overview and Scrutiny establishes its place in the new model so as to be able to provide an 
appropriate level of scrutiny and this will be a key focus area for the Committee. The 
Committee will also seek to increase the number of recommendations resulting from its 
work in future as part of continuing effort to develop its overall effectiveness as a critical 
friend that carries out meaningful, productive scrutiny work. 

Page 449



This page is intentionally left blank



   

  
 

 
 
 

 
 

West Northamptonshire Council 
 
 

Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
 

Annual Report 2021/2022 
 

 

Page 451



   WestWest  NorthamptonshireNorthamptonshire  CouncilCouncil  PlacePlace  OverviewOverview  andand  ScrutinyScrutiny  AnnualAnnual  ReportReport  2021/20222021/2022 

 
 
 

 Page 2 

A Message from Councillor Dermot Bambridge, Chairman, Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee   
 
This Annual Report is a summary of just some of the work that Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) has 
undertaken during its first year and what issues the Committee needs to concentrate on next year. 
 
I would like to commend the induction programme for Overview and Scrutiny and the development sessions for Overview 
and Scrutiny as well as Chairing skills which took place early in the Municipal year 2021/2022.  This ensured all Scrutiny 
Councillors were equipped with all the relevant knowledge prior to the inaugural meetings of the committee.  Following 
training from the national body - Centre for Governance and Scrutiny - the work of this Committee started in the summer 
2021 with the completion of an interim short term work programme.  This soon developed into the Committee’s annual work 
programme after consulting with the general public for their ideas for future Scrutiny review and Cabinet Members on their 
priorities for the year. 
 
Public interest in the work of the O&S Committees is increasing and I am pleased that members of the public and 
Councillors who were not members of Place OSC have attended meetings and spoken on various agenda items.  The 
public was invited to, and made a number of suggestions, to inform our Work Programme for 20212022, further details 
are contained with the body of this report. 
 
Instead of a complete commentary of all that Place OSC has achieved over the year this Annual Report provides a short 
summary of the key highlights of the work that O&S has been engaged in during 2021/2022.   I hope that you find this 
report informative and interesting. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny work is Member led and evidence based and it is important that the work of Scrutiny adds value and 
makes a difference.  The review work from 2021/2022 will be concluded during 2022 and I will be pleased to present the 
findings and recommendations of these to Cabinet. 
   
I would like to thank all those who have been involved in and have supported Scrutiny over the past year. In particular, I 
would like to thank my colleagues who sat with me on Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee during 2021/2022. 
 
I would also like to convey my thanks to the many expert advisors that have contributed to the work of Place OSC this year. 
Their participation brings knowledge, ideas and enthusiasm to the work of Place OSC.  I emphasise that the support of all 
those involved in Scrutiny Reviews is required for a successful outcome. 
 
 

 
 
Councillor Dermot Bambridge, Chairman 
Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
  
 
 
 
 

Page 452



   WestWest  NorthamptonshireNorthamptonshire  CouncilCouncil  PlacePlace  OverviewOverview  andand  ScrutinyScrutiny  AnnualAnnual  ReportReport  2021/20222021/2022 

 
 
 

 Page 3 

Purpose of Overview and Scrutiny 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny function at West Northamptonshire Council helps to improve the 
quality of services provided to local residents and supports and challenges the work of the 
Council’s Cabinet.  
 
Overview and Scrutiny carries out a number of roles, including: 
 
(a) monitoring the decisions of the Cabinet 
(b) advising the Council on forthcoming decisions 
(c) contributing to the development and review of Council policy 
(d) reviewing decisions that have been taken by the Cabinet but not yet implemented that are 

‘called in’ for further consideration 
 

At West Northamptonshire Council, these roles are carried out by three Overview and Scrutiny 
committees: Place, People and Corporate OSCs. These committees are made up of councillors 
from different political groups, known as non-Executives, and who are not part of the Cabinet.  
 
The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny is a national organisation that promotes effective 
governance in the public, private and voluntary sectors. The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny 
states that good scrutiny involves four fundamental principles: 
 
(a) it provides constructive ‘critical friend’ challenge 
(b) it amplifies the voice and concerns of the public 
(c) it is led by independent people who take responsibility for their role 
(d) it drives improvement in public services 
 
Remit of Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) 
 
Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for scrutinising issues and services in the 
following areas:  
 
Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee membership 
 
The membership of the Place O&S Committee was made up of 15 non-Executives who were 
during 2021/2022: 
 
Councillor Dermot Bambridge (Chairman) 
Councillor Jo Gilford (Vice Chairman) 
 
 
 
 

Page 453



   WestWest  NorthamptonshireNorthamptonshire  CouncilCouncil  PlacePlace  OverviewOverview  andand  ScrutinyScrutiny  AnnualAnnual  ReportReport  2021/20222021/2022 

 
 
 

 Page 4 

Councillors: 
 
Rufia Ashraf 
Antony Bagot Webb 
William Barter 
Pinder Chauhan 
Janice Duffy 
Paul Dyball 
Terrie Eales 
Louisa Fowler 
Enam Haque 
Paul Joyce 
Charles Morton 
Kevin Parker 
Richard Solesbury-Timms 
 
How does Overview and Scrutiny make a difference? 
 
Overview and Scrutiny ensures that decision-making processes are clear and accessible to the 
public and that the people taking decisions are held accountable for those decisions. 
 
Effective Scrutiny 
 
As stated by the Centre of Governance and Scrutiny, effective scrutiny: 
 

• provides “critical friend” challenge to executive policymakers and decision-makers  
• enables the voice and concerns of the public and its communities 
• is carried out by “independent minded governors” who lead and own the scrutiny process  
• drives improvement in public services. 

 
Terms of Reference for Place OSC 
   
The terms of reference of Place OSC: 
 
Built and natural environment 
Transport and highways 
Community safety and regulatory services (including statutory crime and disorder scrutiny 
Economic development, regeneration and growth 
Statutory scrutiny of flood risk management 
 
 
 

Page 454



   WestWest  NorthamptonshireNorthamptonshire  CouncilCouncil  PlacePlace  OverviewOverview  andand  ScrutinyScrutiny  AnnualAnnual  ReportReport  2021/20222021/2022 

 
 
 

 Page 5 

What has Place OSC achieved during 2021-2022 and how was this impact made during 
2021-2022? 
 
The Committee held seven formal meetings during 2021/22 as well as one informal workshop style 
meeting. One Task and Finish Group has undertaken a comprehensive review during the year and 
is due to report in the summer of 2022.  The Committee has set up an Oversight Group to provide 
Scrutiny input into a key Policy which will meet at the key milestones.  Some key areas of work by 
the Committee and the outcomes resulting from this work are detailed below. The Committee’s 
work programme, meeting details and papers can be located on West Northamptonshire Council’s 
website 
 
Training 
 
Early in the municipal year 2021/2022, the Committee received comprehensive training delivered 
by an expert of the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny.  The training was particularly valued as it 
focussed on work programming and the role of Overview and Scrutiny.  Overview and Scrutiny 
Chairs and Officers supporting the Scrutiny function have continued to ensure the knowledge base 
is development and examples of best practice built during the year, examples being attendance at 
the Centre for Public Scrutiny annual Conference and attendance at the East Midlands Scrutiny 
network meetings.   
 
Call-In 
 
During the year the Committee received two Call-ins.  One of these was withdrawn, regarding the 
Cabinet decision of 12 October 2021 - Old Lion Pub and St Peter’s Church, Northampton Town, 
the second call in in relation to the Cabinet decision of 9 November 2021 – Harmonisation of the 
Garden Waste Collection Service across West Northamptonshire was upheld by the Committee. 
 
Focussed and Targeted Scrutiny work during 2021/2022 
 
To give a flavour of the types of issues and the work that the Committee dealt with this year, the 
following provides examples of focussed and targeted assurance and scrutiny work which has 
been undertaken by Place OSC: 
 
➢ North West Relief Road 
➢ Tree Policy and Strategy for the Council (pre-decision Scrutiny) 
➢ Farthinghoe Bypass 
➢ Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
➢ Northampton Town Plan (Planning and growth) 
➢ Flood Risk Management 
➢ Active Travel Strategy 
➢ Draft Fly tipping Policy 

 

Page 455

https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=338


   WestWest  NorthamptonshireNorthamptonshire  CouncilCouncil  PlacePlace  OverviewOverview  andand  ScrutinyScrutiny  AnnualAnnual  ReportReport  2021/20222021/2022 

 
 
 

 Page 6 

North West Relief Road 
 
The Committee reviewed the funding gap for the North West Relief Road project, monitoring the 
current processes including quality and change. The Committee was mindful of the historical 
funding methodology for scheme developments and welcomed the funding methodology going 
forward for scheme developments, particularly welcoming the various gateways. 
 
 
Farthinghoe Bypass 
 
The Committee received a comprehensive update on the Farthinghoe Bypass and offered 
challenge where necessary, highlighting the need for public consultation to be taken with 
completion estimated at the autumn/winter 2023. 
 
Tree Policy and Strategy for West Northamptonshire Council 
 
The Committee agreed to undertake pre-decision Scrutiny into a Tree Policy and Strategy for the 
Council.  A Task and Finish Group was established and an in-depth review took place during 
2021/2022 with the final report of the Group expected to be received by the Committee in the 
autumn of 2022. The Group received a wealth of information and data from desktop research as 
well as from a number of expert advisors and will make a number of recommendations around the 
content of the Tree Policy and Strategy. 
 
Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
 
Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee acts as the Council’s Crime and Disorder Committee under 
Sections 19 & 20 of the Police and Justice Act 2006.  The Committee can review the work of the 
Community Safety Partners in relation their crime and disorder functions and can also deal with 
Councillor Calls for Action in relation to Crime and Disorder matters. An annual report from the 
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) informs the O&S Committee of work undertaken; non-Executives 
decide whether further review or scrutiny is required. This report focuses on the levels of performance 
in the light of reduced resources and what measures have been taken to meet any shortfall in 
performance. This demonstrates excellent working relationships between non-Executives and 
partners.  The Committee will receive a report each year from the CSP to continue to inform its crime 
and disorder role.  
 
Regeneration of Northampton Town Centre, including culture 
 
The Committee provided scrutiny input and challenge into the Northampton Town Plan particularly 
in relation to the development of parking, transport and highways. Members commended the 
impressive Northampton Town Plan and highlighted the need to involve community groups.  The 
Committee will receive a progress report in the Municipal year 2022/2023., scheduled within its 
Work Programme, which will enable the Committee to provide further input and challenge on the 
progress of the Transformation and Finance Programme. The Committee scrutinised the proposal 

Page 456



   WestWest  NorthamptonshireNorthamptonshire  CouncilCouncil  PlacePlace  OverviewOverview  andand  ScrutinyScrutiny  AnnualAnnual  ReportReport  2021/20222021/2022 

 
 
 

 Page 7 

to devise a ‘Future Use of Capital Receipts’ Policy to allow the Authority to potentially transfer the 
funding of these costs into capital. The Committee expressed concerns that there should have 
been further input into this Policy, particularly from Councillors. 
 
Flood Risk Management 
 
Flood Risk Management Overview and Scrutiny Committee (England) Regulations 2011 were 
introduced under the Local Government Act 2000.  The Local Government Act 2000 permits 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees to review and scrutinise Risk Management Authorities in 
relation to their flood management work.  The scrutiny of Flood Risk Management is within the 
remit of the Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The Committee provided challenge to the 
process for flood risk management for West Northamptonshire Council and welcomed the series of 
ongoing future projects and capital works designed to improve flood resilience in West 
Northamptonshire communities.  The Committee was pleased to hear that flood risk management 
was being improved and that the resource would be brought in-house to enable all contracted work 
to be delivered.  The Committee will undertake the scrutiny of risk management authorities 
annually.   
 
Active Travel Strategy 
 
The Committee was made aware of Council’s plans for an Active Travel Strategy and the health 
and environmental benefits of such a Strategy.  It was expected that the Strategy would be in 
place by the end of 2023.  Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee was keen to undertake pre-
decision scrutiny of this Strategy and will therefore have an important role in providing input into 
the Strategy.  The Committee set up the Active Travel Oversight Group that will provide scrutiny 
input at key milestones of Strategy. The Oversight Group will be convened during 2022/2023 and 
will provide input and challenge at key milestones: 

 
Review the Ambition Statement 
Review the first draft of the Strategy 
Review consultation feedback and the final Strategy 
Review specific scheme proposals prior to public consultation 
 

Draft Fly-Tipping Strategy 
 
The Committee contributed to the proposed charter and action plan of the draft Fly-Tipping 
Strategy.  Constructive challenge on the progress that had been made was provided, overall, the 
Committee welcomed the proposed charter and action plan.   The Committee will further consider 
progress of the actions outlined in the Action Plan at a future meeting in 2023. 
 
 
 
 

Page 457



   WestWest  NorthamptonshireNorthamptonshire  CouncilCouncil  PlacePlace  OverviewOverview  andand  ScrutinyScrutiny  AnnualAnnual  ReportReport  2021/20222021/2022 

 
 
 

 Page 8 

 
Critical Friend to Cabinet 
  
Cabinet Members and Senior Officers attended various meetings of the shadow O&S Committee   
and provided the detailed reasoning behind the various key issues.  By doing this, it provided 
comprehension and clarity for the Committee on the issues detailed in its work programme.  
 
These are excellent examples of the Committee’s critical friend role and the healthy relationship 
that exists between Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet. They emphasise also 
the robust challenge offered by scrutiny. 
 
 
Place Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme 2021/2022 
 
The Committee has dealt with key issues as detailed at pages 5, 6 and 7 of this Annual report, and 
other matters that were considered during 2021/22. The Committee’s work programme was put 
together by the Committee which was then approved by the Co-ordinating Overview and Scrutiny 
Group, that comprises the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the three Overview and Scrutiny committees. 
The development of the Committee’s work programme was informed by a public consultation 
exercise carried out by the Overview and Scrutiny function in the autumn 2021. This made sure 
that the public and representatives of various community groups were able to suggest issues for 
scrutiny review. Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered all suggestions within its 
remit alongside other potential priorities to produce its final work programme for 2021/2022. 
 
Looking ahead 
 
The work of the Active Travel Oversight Group will commence in the Municipal year 2022-2023.  A 
further Oversight Group to scrutinise the highways contract has been appointed to look into this 
very important matter that will affect all residents in one way or another,  As well as the highways 
contract, there are a number of other key issues contained within the work programme for 
example, crime and disorder scrutiny, scrutiny of flood risk management, and the Waste Strategy 
and these will continue to be key focus areas for Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Page 458



 

 

WEST NORTHAMPTONSHIRE COUNCIL 
COUNCIL 

29th SEPTEMBER 2022 

CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN, FAMILIES and EDUCATION – CLLR FIONA BAKER 

Contributors/Checkers/Approvers 

Monitoring Officer Catherine Whitehead 1 Sept 2022  

Chief Finance Officer/S151  Martin Henry 30 August 2022  

Other Director/SME Ben Pearson 30 August 2022  

Head of Communications communications@westnorthants.gov.uk 30 August 2022  

 

List of Appendices 

Appendix A – New free school specification 

Appendix B – Free school presumption guidance 

To view the appendices, please refer to the documents attached to the report considered by Cabinet on 13th 
September 2022, available here: Agenda for Cabinet on Tuesday 13th September 2022, 6.00 pm - West 
Northamptonshire Council (moderngov.co.uk) 

1. Purpose of report 

1.1 This report follows the cabinet report of 13 September 2022, which highlighted the current and predicted 
demand for SEND places across West Northants in the coming academic years.  

1.2 Subsequently, Cabinet approved progressing the new special school under the free schools presumption 
process (appendix b) with a planned opening date of September 2024.  The school will cater for pupils on 
the autistic spectrum continuum (ASC), with speech, language and communication needs (SLCN) and with 
severe learning difficulties (SLD).  

1.3 This report sets out the Council’s procurement process for selecting an academy trust to run the new 
school and the estimated capital costs for procuring and funding the building works. 

Report Title 

 

Establishing a new 250 place, ‘all-through’ special educational needs and disability 
(SEND) School for pupils with autistic spectrum condition (ASC), with speech, language 
and communication needs (SLCN) and severe learning difficulties (SLD) at Tiffield St 
John’s site, Tiffield, West Northamptonshire. 

Report Author Shazia Umer, Head of Place planning and pupil admissions 

Page 459

Agenda Item 13

mailto:communications@westnorthants.gov.uk
https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=689
https://westnorthants.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=689


 

 

 

 

2 Executive Summary 

2.1 In accordance with section 6A of the Education and Inspections Act, 2006 (the ‘free school presumption’) 
where a local authority identifies the need to establish a new school it is required to seek proposals to 
establish an academy.   

2.2 Council officers followed the government’s statutory guidance on the procurement of an academy trust to 
open and operate the school.  Following a consultation exercise, which opened on 4 May and closed on 10 
June, proposals to establish and run the school were invited.  The invitation was published on 17 June and 
closed on 29 July.  The published specification is attached as appendix a. 

2.3 During August, an assessment panel considered the proposals submitted by the deadline.  The panel was 
observed by the DfE, and included an independent subject matter expert, the head teacher of a local 
maintained special school, a representative of the parent forum and five senior managers from the 
council’s education service.   

2.4 The panel advised the cabinet member for children, families and education, who had the delegated power 
to determine the council’s preferred proposer.  The final decision on the trust selected to establish and 
operate the school is made by the secretary of state for education.  However, in practice the decision-
maker is the regional director for the department’s East Midlands region. 

 2.5 The cabinet member determined her preferred provider, having considered the advice of the assessment 
panel members, on 31 August 2022.  The assistant director for education informed the regional director for 
the East Midlands about this preference the same day.  We expect the regional director to inform us of the 
government’s determination of the preferred bidder in late October or early November 2022.   It should be 
noted that while we expect this to be the cabinet member’s preferred bidder, the government has the 
power to put in place another trust – which does not have to be one that put in a proposal to the council. 

2.6 Initial feasibility works carried out on the proposed land for the new school, St John Tiffield Site, suggests a 
scheme budget of £23m will be required for building works. This includes contingency funds of £555,000, 
which equates to 3% of the capital costs. The LA has existing capital grant funding available of £13m leaving 
a shortfall of just under £10m. As a result, £10m was requested at cabinet, as a borrowing amount to fund 
the building of the new school.  It’s important to note that these costs may increase in line with inflationary 
increases. 

 
2.7 From the first year of its establishment, the new school will result in net cost savings and cost avoidance to 

the high needs block (HNB) of the dedicated schools grant (DSG), as a result of fewer children attending 
more expensive, independent placements. There will also be savings due to the following being reduced: 

1. out of county placements requiring funding for residential provision due to the distance from home 
(rather than an educational need for residential provision)  

2.  out of county placements requiring higher transport costs (although different funding source/budget)  

3.  Council funding additional places over and above pre funded places at existing special schools when 
over PAN  

2.8 A further paper will be presented to cabinet once the full feasibility work for building the new school has 
been completed. This is due by early September 2022.  Details of the preferred St John site, and the Page 460



 

 

planned lease arrangement, are set out in the separate cabinet report, ‘St John Tiffield property 
arrangements’, which was considered by cabinet on 13 September 2022. 

2.9 The provision of a new special school provides an extremely exciting opportunity for WNC families to have 
access to excellent and dynamic provision for children with ASC, SLC and SLD. The new school will enable 
these children to achieve their full potential and have access to valuable learning pathways that will 
enhance their entire futures. It will complement the expansion of five state-funded special schools and 
expanded and new resourced places in mainstream schools to provide over 500 new places by 2024. 

3 Recommendations 

3.1 The council is asked to: 

a) Note that the selection process for the new school involves the Council putting forward a 
recommendation to the DfE for the preferred trust, following a rigorous selection process.   

b) Note the linked paper considered by Cabinet on 13th September 2022, ‘St John Tiffield property 
arrangements’ on the use of the St John’s Tiffield Site, St. John’s Road, Tiffield, NN12 8AA for the new 
school.   

c) Agree in principle borrowing of approximately £10,000,000 will be required to make up the shortfall 
for the cost of building the new school, which is expected to be £23m, with delegated authority to the 
s151 officer to amend the capital programme once full feasibility works are completed.  Note that the 
remaining cost of the build will be met through capital grant funding received by the Council.   

Note: the estimated building and capital required is subject to construction cost inflation.  This has been 
estimated at one per cent per month currently.  Compounded, this could be as much as 13-14 per cent a 
year.  Delay in construction work will lead to further risk of cost rises. 

4 Reason for recommendations  

4.1 The proposed new school will help to ensure that the council is able to fulfil its statutory obligation of 
providing a sufficiency of ASC, SLCN and SLD SEND places within West Northamptonshire in future years. It 
will also provide new learners with access to excellent specialist provision that will significantly improve 
future lifelong outcomes. 

4.2 The establishment of a new ‘all-through’ special school can also be considered a benefit to all of West 
Northamptonshire’s mainstream primary and secondary schools. It will reduce placements at a mainstream 
school setting where a child’s needs can only be appropriately met at a special school.   

4.3 The new school will also reduce pressure on the high needs block (HNB) element of the dedicated schools 
grant (DSG) via a reduction in the number of children being required to be placed in out of county and 
independent provisions to meet their individual needs.  The average cost of an independent placement is 
£61,000 whilst the average cost at a non-independent school is £25,000 – a reduction on average of 
£36,000 per place.   

4.4 Based on previous placements, around 50 per cent of the expected new school intake, would have been 
placed at an independent placement due to the lack of state-sector funded special schools or resourced 
provisions.  Placements at the new school will result in approximate net cost avoidance of £4,000,000 once 
the school is full.  A reduction in spend against the revenue general fund is also expected to be secured 
through reduced home to school transport costs as a result of fewer further away placements being made. 

Page 461



 

 

Note: cost avoidance is NOT the same as a cost-saving.  It is not cashable as the council will be spending more 
money each year on the extra costs of pupils who have significant additional needs.  For example, 100 pupils 
with the level of need requiring a place at the new free special school will cost approximately £2,500,000.  This 
is an extra cost to the high needs budget.  However, if these places are not available, independent schools 
places will be required, at a cost of £6,100,000.  While this enables a large cost avoidance of £3,600,000, it is still 
additional expenditure.   

4.5 The new free school will enable the Council to make savings where a child is currently placed in an 
independent or out of county school and the parent agrees to a transfer of their child to a state-funded 
special school.  For every 10 who do this, a cost saving of £360,000 will be made (independent cost of 
£610,000 becomes a £250,000 cost in a state-funded special school). 

4.6 The new free school should reduce the number of appeals lodged to the First-tier Tribunal (Special 
Educational Needs and Disability) by families in WNC requesting a special school place. In turn, this will 
reduce the cost of defending appeals.  

 

5 Issues and choices 

5.1 If the capital funding required to fund and build the school was not approved: this option would have 
resulted in the failure of WNC fulfilling its statutory obligation of providing a sufficiency of ASC, SLCN and 
SLD SEND places in West Northamptonshire in future years. It would have resulted in the requirement to 
utilise places in increasingly distant and more expensive places within the independent sector, which would 
place a further strain on the HNB of the DSG and the home to school transport budget, which is a strain on 
the general fund. If WNC cannot demonstrate that it is able to manage its DSG allocation in a balanced 
position (or have plans to do so) this would result in intervention by the DfE.  This will prevent WNC from 
addressing issues relating to the timely provision of places in an appropriate setting for pupils in receipt of 
an education, health and care (EHC) plan. This option was discounted for these reasons. 

5.2 It might be possible to site the school elsewhere.  However, this is likely to be a more expensive option  - 
potentially several million pounds – as there will be a significant capital cost attached to any alternative 
land.  The St John’s Tiffield site will be run on a 125 year lease with no capital costs incurred through a site 
purchase. 

6 Implications (including financial implications) 

6.1 Resources and financial 
6.1.1 The table below sets out the capital cost, capital grant funding and resultant borrowing required over the 

medium term as informed by initial feasibility studies. Final costs will be determined through the 
procurement process and will be detailed in the final feasibility study. 

 

 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 Total 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Total cost  1,150 17,250 4,600 0 0 23,000 

Capital grant funding 0 -12,000 -1,000 0 0 -13,000 

Borrowing requirement 1,150 5,250 3,600 0 0 10,000 
Page 462



 

 

6.1.2 The total interest costs on borrowing £10m over a term of 25 years is £4.1m.  The revenue costs and cost 
avoidance to both the revenue general fund and the high needs block of the DSG over the medium term 
are set out in the table below. 

 
2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 Total 

 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Revenue General Fund              

Cost of borrowing             

Repayment of principal 0 0 0 153 156 309 

Interest 37 203 313 302 289 1,144 

Total 37 203 313 455 445 1,453 

Dedicated Schools Grant             

Cost of new places     857 2,283 2,183 5,323 

Cost avoidance through new places     -1,340 -3,840 -3,707 -8,887 

Net position     -483 -1,557 -1,523 -3,563 

6.1.3  The cumulative full year effect of the creation of 250 new special school places is £3,563,000 net cost 
avoidance to the high needs block of the DSG to be achieved by 2027-28. 

6.1.4  There are also savings and cost avoidance anticipated on the home to school transport general fund 
budget because of fewer further away placements being made.   

7 Legal  
7.1   WNC has a statutory duty under the Education Act 1996: the sufficiency duty.  Under section 14 of the 

Education Act 1996, a local authority shall secure that sufficient schools for providing primary and 
secondary education are available in their area.  Sufficient means sufficient in number, character and 
equipment to provide for all pupils the opportunity of appropriate education.  Appropriate education 
means education which offers such variety of education and training as may be desirable in view of the 
pupils’ different ages, abilities, aptitudes and for different periods for which they may be expected to 
remain at school , including practical instruction and training appropriate to their different needs.  In 
meetings this duty, WNC must do so with a view to securing diversity in the provision of schools and 
increasing opportunities for parental choice. 

7.2  WNC is required by section 6A of the Education and Inspections Act, 2006 (the ‘free school presumption’) to 
seek proposals to establish an academy where the need for a new school has been identified.  The DfE 
guidance regarding the free school presumption states that under the presumption the local authority is 
responsible for providing the site for the new school, with the DfE’s expectation that the site will be made 
available free or on a peppercorn basis by the local authority to the trust.  The local authority is also 
responsible for meeting the associated capital and pre/post-opening revenue costs. 

7.3  The decision on all free school proposals lies with the secretary of state (via the regional director).  
Secretary of state approval is required as the secretary of state will enter into a funding agreement with the 
trust chosen to run the free school.   

Page 463



 

 

7.4  The process for which this report is seeking approval is in full compliance with this legislation and no further 
legal implications are associated with this decision.  

8.0 Risk  
8.1   Failure of WNC to fulfil its statutory obligations of providing a sufficiency of SEND places from September 

2024 onwards and compromise its ability to allocate specialist school places to pupils in receipt of an 
education, health and care (EHC) plan in a timely manner from the same date. It would also prevent the 
cost avoidance benefits to the HNB of the DSG identified in section 7.1.2 being realised. 

9.0 Consultation  
9.1  As part of the ‘free school presumption’ process required by section 6A of the Education and Inspections Act 

2006, WNC conducted an informal period of consultation on this matter during May 2022. All responses 
received were broadly supportive of the need for a new special school in West Northamptonshire. 

9.2  Consideration by Overview and Scrutiny: the proposal has not been considered specifically by overview and 
scrutiny.  However the need for the new specialist places formed a part of the SEND report to the 
committee in January 2022. 

9.3 In accordance with the DfE guidance, the chosen provider will conduct a statutory consultation period in the 
pre-opening phase. 

10.0  Climate impact 
10.1   The current Northamptonshire Climate Change strategy which runs from 2020 – 2023, has three 

objectives - Raising awareness of the issues of climate change and its impact on Northamptonshire; 
Reducing emissions of greenhouse gases across the County and; Planning for and adapting to the impacts 
of climate change. Since the formation of WNC, the more ambitious targets of net zero own emissions by 
2030 and those of residents and businesses by 2045, have been set. It is therefore expected that this 
building will not adversely impact upon the net zero emissions target and will be designed in a way that 
enables adaptation to future climate change.  

11.0 Community impact 
11.1 An established and successful trust, running a new special school, will help provide a high quality and 

number of SEND places across West Northamptonshire in future years. This can be considered to represent 
a huge community benefit, once delivered. 

12.0 Communications  
12.1  The communication of the consultation was through a web-based page (see here), and promoted via the 

council’s multiple channels including social media, media releases and newsletter.  Any procurement will be 
put onto the council’s, DfE’s websites and undertaken in accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 (as amended).   

13.0 Background papers 

No further background papers 

Page 464

https://www.westnorthants.gov.uk/news/views-sought-council-prepares-boost-number-special-needs-school-places-further-250


Document is Restricted

Page 465

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Council
	7 Cabinet Reports and Record of Decisions Taken by the Cabinet
	Item 07b - Housing, Culture & Leisure Cllr Adam Brown
	Councillor Adam Brown
	Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Housing, Culture & Leisure

	Item 07c - Strategic Planning, Built Environment & Rural Affairs Cllr Rebecca Breese
	Item 07d - Environment, Transport, Highways and Waste Services Cllr Phil Larratt
	Item 07e - Community Safety, engagement, and regulatory services Cllr David Smith
	Item 07f - Economic Development, Town Centre Regeneration and Growth Cllr Lister
	Mulberry Place, Daventry
	Councillor Daniel Lister
	Cabinet Member for Economic Development, Town Centre Regeneration & Growth

	Item 07g - Adult Social Care and Public Health Matthew Golby
	Item 07h - Finance Cllr Malcolm Longley
	Item 07i - HR & Corporate Services Mike Hallam
	We now have a rolling programme of outreach surgeries in several locations (Brackley, Brixworth, Weston Favell, Moulton, St James), with more locations in the near future. These are proving very popular, and we are collating the learning and working with colleagues in other departments (Housing, Revenues and Benefits etc) as well as partner organisations (Citizen Advice, Community Law Service) to ensure we have the right representation to service the communities we interact with. It has been very positive to see parish councillors and community leads reaching out to ask for our attendance at various events, as this has allowed us to engage with people who would otherwise be harder to reach.

	Item 07j - Children, Families & Education Fiona Baker
	Item 07k - Decisions 12 07 2022 Cabinet
	Item 07l - Decisions 13 09 2022 Cabinet

	8 Cost of Living increase: How West Northamptonshire Council is supporting residents
	Contributors/Checkers/Approvers

	9 Annual Report from the Pensions Committee
	Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
	Key Governance Activities of the Pension Committee
	6.1	Approval of the Pension Fund Annual Business Plan and Medium-Term Strategy
	6.9	Approval of the Annual Report and Statement of Accounts
	6.10	Decisions surrounding Asset Pooling
	6.10.1	The Northamptonshire Pension Fund has continued to work with 10 other Local Government Pension Funds in the ACCESS Pool to meet the Government’s asset pooling agenda; to deliver scale, strong governance, reduced costs and improved capacity to invest in infrastructure.
	6.10.2	A Pension Committee representative of each ACCESS Fund sits on a Joint Committee, which meets quarterly and has oversight of the work of the Pool and delegated authority with regards to specific asset pooling functions. Listed assets held within the ACCESS Pool are run by Link Fund Solutions, a Financial Conduct Authority regulated “Operator”.
	6.10.3	ACCESS funds have total assets of £60bn (as of 31 March 2022), of which over £35bn (58.5%) has been pooled or is under pool governance, serving 3,500 employers with 1.2 million members including 310,000 pensioners, delivering net savings since inception in excess of £27m.
	6.10.4	In December 2021, MJ Hudson were appointed as implementation advisor for the ACCESS Pool alternative / non-listed assets. This covers the four areas set out below:
	6.10.5	The Northamptonshire Pension Fund transferred its first active fund to the Pool in 2018-19. As of 31st March 2022, the Fund has pooled over 75% of the Fund’s assets, generating annualised fee savings for the 2021/22 financial year resulting from the asset pooling agenda in excess of £2.1m.
	6.11	Russia, Ukraine Belarus Exposure
	6.11.1	As at March 2022, direct exposure to Russian, Ukrainian and Belarusian investments was estimated at £0.8m across the Northamptonshire Fund’s pooled and non-pooled investments. This represents 0.02% of the Fund’s assets. The Fund will continue to review and monitor its investments including approaches to exiting Russian-based investments when it is practicable.
	6.11.2	As of 1 March 2022, the extent of direct Russian-based investment accounted for 0.05% of ACCESS Authorities’ pooled assets.
	Key Service Activities of the Pension Committee
	6.15	Valuation of the Fund
	6.15.1 Work has been undertaken with the Fund’s actuarial advisors to prepare for the triennial valuation of the Pension Fund. The valuation date is 31 March 2022 with results to be published by 31 March 2023 and new employer contribution rates effective from 1 April 2023. The Pension Committee have received information via the Business Plan update reports and dedicated papers where additional information was required.
	6.16	Age Discrimination Remedy
	6.17	Reports noted by the Pension Committee

	10 Annual Report from the Local Pension Board
	Contributors/Checkers/Approvers

	11 Updates to the Constitution
	Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
	Item 11 - Appendix A Constitution (final accessible) 29 09 2022
	1.0	SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION
	2.0	PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
	3.0	FULL COUNCIL
	3.1	Role
	3.2	Executive and Non-Executive Functions
	3.3	Local Choice Functions
	3.4	Budget and Policy Framework
	3.5	Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules
	3.6	Council Meeting Procedure Rules
	3.7	Committee and Sub-Committee Meeting Procedure Rules
	3.8	General Provisions

	4.0	COMMITTEES
	4.1	Committee Structure
	4.2	Alcohol and Gambling Licensing Committee
	4.3	Taxi and General Licensing Committee
	4.4	Strategic Planning Committee
	4.5	Local Area Planning Committees
	4.6	Democracy and Standards Committee
	4.7	Audit and Governance Committee
	4.8	Pensions Fund Committee
	4.9	Health and Wellbeing Board
	4.10	Senior Appointments Committee

	5.0	EXECUTIVE
	5.1	The Role of the Cabinet
	5.2	Cabinet Arrangements
	5.3	Cabinet Procedure Rules
	5.4	Access to Information Procedure Rules

	6.0	JOINT ARRANGEMENTS
	6.1	West and North Shared Services Joint Committee
	6.2	Rainsbrook Crematorium Joint Committee
	6.3	PATROL Adjudication Joint Committee
	6.4	Northamptonshire Police, Fire and Crime Panel
	6.5	Children’s Trust Joint Committee
	6.6	Northamptonshire Safeguarding Adults Board
	6.7	Channel Panel
	6.8	Northamptonshire Safeguarding Children Partnership

	7.0	OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
	7.1	Overview and Scrutiny Arrangements
	7.2	Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules

	8.0	COUNCILLORS
	8.1	Roles of Councillors and Officer Holders
	8.1.2	Key Tasks
	Part C		All Cabinet councillors with Portfolio
	Part D		Chair of the Council

	8.2	Members’ Code of Conduct
	8.3	Member Complaints Procedure
	8.4	Member/Officer Protocol
	8.5	Planning Protocol
	8.6	Protocol on Speaking at Planning Committees
	8.7	Scheme of Members’ Allowances

	9.0	OFFICERS
	9.1	Management Structure
	9.2	Scheme of Delegation to Officers
	9.3	List of Proper Officers
	9.4	Employee Code of Conduct
	9.5	Staff Employment Procedure Rules
	9.6	Contract Procedure Rules
	9.7	Financial Procedure Rules

	GLOSSARY


	12 Annual Reports from Overview and Scrutiny
	Item 12 - Appendix A Final Annual Report Corporate OSC
	Item 12 - Appendix B People_OS_Cttee_Annual Report_Final-Agreed
	Item 12 - Appendix C Place OSC Annual Report

	13 Proposal to establish a new 250 place, ‘all-through’ Special Educational Needs & Disability (SEND) School for pupils with Autistic Spectrum Condition (ASC) at Tiffield St John’s site, Tiffield
	Contributors/Checkers/Approvers
	6.1	Resources and financial
	8.0	Risk
	9.0	Consultation
	10.0  Climate impact
	11.0 Community impact
	12.0 Communications


	15 Death management and related services

